Anatoly G. Kusraev Zhanna D. Totieva Editors

Operator Theory and Differential Equations





Trends in Mathematics

Trends in Mathematics is a series devoted to the publication of volumes arising from conferences and lecture series focusing on a particular topic from any area of mathematics. Its aim is to make current developments available to the community as rapidly as possible without compromise to quality and to archive these for reference.

Proposals for volumes can be submitted using the Online Book Project Submission Form at our website www.birkhauser-science.com.

Material submitted for publication must be screened and prepared as follows:

All contributions should undergo a reviewing process similar to that carried out by journals and be checked for correct use of language which, as a rule, is English. Articles without proofs, or which do not contain any significantly new results, should be rejected. High quality survey papers, however, are welcome.

We expect the organizers to deliver manuscripts in a form that is essentially ready for direct reproduction. Any version of T_EX is acceptable, but the entire collection of files must be in one particular dialect of T_EX and unified according to simple instructions available from Birkhäuser.

Furthermore, in order to guarantee the timely appearance of the proceedings it is essential that the final version of the entire material be submitted no later than one year after the conference.

More information about this series at http://www.springer.com/series/4961

Anatoly G. Kusraev • Zhanna D. Totieva Editors

Operator Theory and Differential Equations



Editors Anatoly G. Kusraev Southern Mathematical Institute of Vladikavkaz Scientific Center Russian Academy of Sciences Vladikavkaz, Russia

Zhanna D. Totieva Southern Mathematical Institute of Vladikavkaz Scientific Center Russian Academy of Sciences Vladikavkaz, Russia

ISSN 2297-0215 ISSN 2297-024X (electronic) Trends in Mathematics ISBN 978-3-030-49762-0 ISBN 978-3-030-49763-7 (eBook) https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-49763-7

Mathematics Subject Classification: 35L40, 35Q74, 41A10, 46E30, 47B37, 53C20, 76B47

© The Editor(s) (if applicable) and The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

This work is subject to copyright. All rights are solely and exclusively licensed by the Publisher, whether the whole or part of the material is concerned, specifically the rights of translation, reprinting, reuse of illustrations, recitation, broadcasting, reproduction on microfilms or in any other physical way, and transmission or information storage and retrieval, electronic adaptation, computer software, or by similar or dissimilar methodology now known or hereafter developed.

The use of general descriptive names, registered names, trademarks, service marks, etc. in this publication does not imply, even in the absence of a specific statement, that such names are exempt from the relevant protective laws and regulations and therefore free for general use.

The publisher, the authors, and the editors are safe to assume that the advice and information in this book are believed to be true and accurate at the date of publication. Neither the publisher nor the authors or the editors give a warranty, expressed or implied, with respect to the material contained herein or for any errors or omissions that may have been made. The publisher remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

This book is published under the imprint Birkhäuser, www.birkhauser-science.com, by the registered company Springer Nature Switzerland AG.

The registered company address is: Gewerbestrasse 11, 6330 Cham, Switzerland

Preface

This volume contains the proceedings of the conference *Order Analysis and Related Problems of Mathematical Modeling*, which took place at the Vladikavkaz Scientific Center of the Russian Academy of Sciences (Russia) in July 2019. The conference was jointly organized by the Southern Mathematical Institute of the Vladikavkaz Scientific Centre of the Russian Academy of Sciences and Southern Federal University (Russia) with the support of Ministry of Science and Higher Education of the Russian Federation. Its aim is to make current developments in operator theory and differential equations available to the community as rapidly as possible. Moreover, one of the purposes of this conference was to bring together some young and beginning researchers in order to connect people from different schools and generations, give them the opportunity to exchange ideas, and try to attract more young mathematicians to this fascinating area of research. Among the conference participants were mathematicians from Belarus, China, Germany, Israel, Italy, Iran, Russia, Turkey, UK, USA, and Uzbekistan.

The collection presents a wide range of new and interesting problems in operator theory and its applications reflecting the current state of mathematical research in Southern Russia. We believe that the reader will find this book to be a delightful and valuable state-of-the-art account on some fascinating areas of operator theory ranging from various classes of operators (positive operators, convolution operators, backward shift operators, singular and fractional integral operators, and partial differential operators) to important applications.

The articles presented in this collection can be divided into two approximately equal parts. The first part contains articles on general operator theory related to the following topics: positive operators on vector and Banach lattices (Emel'yanov E. Y., Marabeh M. A. A., Pliev M., and Polat F.); Boolean valued analysis of operators (Kusraev A. G. and Kutateladze S. S.); structural properties of linear operators on spaces of holomorphic and ultradifferentiable functions (Ivanova O. A., Melikhov S. N., and Polyakova D.A.); metric theory of surfaces and Killing vector fields on Riemannian manifolds (Klimentov D. S. and Nikonorov Yu. G.); linear operators in approximation theory (Gadzhimirzaev R. M., Magomed-Kasumov M. G., Shakh-Emirov T. N., and Sultanakhmedov M.). The second part consists of articles devoted

to the extinction in a finite time for a singular parabolic equation on a Riemannian manifold (Andreucci D. and Tedeev A.F.); regularity of solutions to the linear singular integral equations (Klimentov S. B.); explicit solutions to Darboux system for the Christoffel symbols (Kulaev R. Ch. and Shabat A. B.); spectral analysis of the boundary value problems of incompressible hydrodynamics (Chernish A., Morgulis A. B., and II'in K.) and the energy operator of five-electron system (Tashpulatov S. M.); asymptotics of self-oscillations of viscous incompressible fluid (Revina S.V.); properties of fractional integral operator (Shishkina E. L.); inverse problems for evolution equations (Babich P.V. and Levenshtam V.B.); heat conduction and reconstructing the inhomogeneity laws for piecewise gradient functions (Nesterov S. A., Vatulyan A. O., and Yurov V. O.); continuous social stratification models (Kazarnikov A.V.).

We are grateful to the authors of this volume for their contribution and to all the anonymous referees for their professional and time-consuming work.

Vladikavkaz, Russia Vladikavkaz, Russia Anatoly G. Kusraev Zhanna D. Totieva

Contents

Extinction in a Finite Time for Parabolic Equations of Fast	
Diffusion Type on Manifolds D. Andreucci and A. F. Tedeev	1
Inverse Problems in the Multidimensional Hyperbolic Equation with Rapidly Oscillating Absolute Term P. V. Babich and V. B. Levenshtam	7
On the Brezis–Lieb Lemma and Its Extensions E. Y. Emelyanov and M. A. A. Marabeh	25
On the Commutant of the Generalized Backward Shift Operator in Weighted Spaces of Entire Functions O. A. Ivanova and S. N. Melikhov	37
Global Boundedness of Solutions of Continuous Social Stratification Model A. Kazarnikov	49
Stochastic Test of a Minimal Surface D. S. Klimentov	61
On Isomorphism of Some Functional Spaces under Action of Two-dimensional Singular Integral Operators S. B. Klimentov	69
On One Class of Solutions of the Darboux System R. C. Kulaev and A. B. Shabat	79
Boolean Valued Analysis: Background and Results A. G. Kusraev and S. S. Kutateladze	91
Approximation Properties of Vallée Poussin Means for SpecialSeries of Ultraspherical Jacobi PolynomialsM. G. Magomed-Kasumov	107

Laplace's Integrals and Stability of the Open Flows of Inviscid Incompressible Fluid	121
Spectral Properties of Killing Vector Fields of Constant Length and Bounded Killing Vector Fields	143
The Radon-Nikodým Theorem for Disjointness Preserving Orthogonally Additive Operators M. Pliev and F. Polat	155
On the Continuous Linear Right Inverse for a Convolution Operator D. A. Polyakova	163
Long Wavelength Asymptotics of Self-Oscillations of Viscous Incompressible Fluid S. V. Revina	185
The Convergence of the Fourier–Jacobi Series in Weighted Variable Exponent Lebesgue Spaces	205
Hyperbolic B-Potentials: Properties and Inversion E. L. Shishkina	229
Some Properties of Sobolev Orthogonal Polynomials Associated with Chebyshev Polynomials of the Second Kind M. S. Sultanakhmedov	259
Structure of Essential Spectrum and Discrete Spectrum of the Energy Operator of Five-Electron Systems in the Hubbard Model—Doublet States	275
On Coefficient Inverse Problems of Heat Conduction for Functionally Graded Materials A. O. Vatulyan and S. A. Nesterov	303
A Study of the Waves Processes in Inhomogeneous Cylindrical Waveguides A. O. Vatulyan and V. Yurov	317
Solution of a Class of First-Order Quasilinear Partial Differential Equations M. Yu. Zhukov and E. V. Shiryaeva	331

Extinction in a Finite Time for Parabolic Equations of Fast Diffusion Type on Manifolds



D. Andreucci and A. F. Tedeev

Abstract We prove extinction in a finite time for a singular parabolic equation on a Riemannian manifold, under suitable assumptions on the Riemannian metric and on the inhomogeneous coefficient appearing in the equation. The result relies on a suitable embedding theorem, of which we present a new proof.

MSC Classification 35B33, 35B40, 35K92, 46E35

1 Introduction

We consider the Cauchy problem for the nonlinear parabolic equation:

$$\rho(x)\frac{\partial u}{\partial t} = \operatorname{div}(u^{m-1}|\nabla u|^{p-2}\nabla u), \qquad (x,t) \in S_T = M \times (0,T), \qquad (1)$$

$$u(x, 0) = u_0(x),$$
 $x \in M.$ (2)

We assume that

$$p+m-3 < 0, \qquad N > p > 1,$$
 (3)

that is, we consider the fast diffusion case. Here M is a noncompact complete connected Riemannian manifold of topological dimension N, whose measure is

D. Andreucci

A. F. Tedeev (🖂)

South Mathematical Institute of VSC RAS, Vladikavkaz, Russian Federation

The first author is a member of Italian G.N.F.M.-I.N.d.A.M.

Department of Basic and Applied Sciences for Engineering, University of Rome La Sapienza, Rome, Italy

[©] The Editor(s) (if applicable) and The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

A. G. Kusraev, Z. D. Totieva (eds.), *Operator Theory and Differential Equations*, Trends in Mathematics, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-49763-7_1

denoted here by μ . We denote by d(x) for $x \in M$ the distance from a fixed point $x_0 \in M$, and by V(R) the volume of the geodesic ball $B_R(x_0)$, R > 0.

Assume that the following isoperimetrical inequality holds true for all measurable subsets $U \subset M$ with a Lipschitz continuous boundary ∂U

$$|\partial U|_{N-1} \ge g(\mu(U)), \tag{4}$$

where g(s) is an increasing function for s > 0. In addition we assume that the function ω defined as

$$\omega(s) := \frac{s^{\frac{N-1}{N}}}{g(s)}, \qquad s > 0,$$
(5)

is non decreasing.

In what follows we denote with a slight abuse of notation $\rho(x) = \rho(d(x))$, where we assume $\rho(s)$ to be a continuous decreasing function for $s \ge 0$, $\rho(0) = 1$. We use the function $\rho^*(s)$, s > 0, defined as the decreasing rearrangement of $\rho(d(x))$.

We also need the following assumption, to prove a kind of Hardy inequality:

$$\int_0^s y^{-p} g(y)^p \, \mathrm{d}y \le c s^{-p+1} g(s)^p \,, \qquad s > 0 \,, \tag{6}$$

for a given constant c > 0.

Remark 1.1 In the Euclidean case $g(s) = s^{(N-1)/N}$ it is easily seen that (6) is equivalent to p < N.

Taking for example *M* as one of the manifolds with cylindrical end of [2], whose metric is (out of a compact set) $dt^2 + t^{2k} dM_0$, where dM_0 is the metric of a compact manifold M_0 , 0 < k < 1, one could see that assumption (6) amounts essentially to the non-parabolicity of *M* in the sense of [2], i.e., to k > (p - 1)/(N - 1). In this case, $g(s) = \gamma \min\{s^{\frac{N-1}{N}}, s^{\alpha}\}, \alpha = k(N - 1)/(k(N - 1) + 1)$, and such condition is equivalent to the restriction $\alpha > (p - 1)/p$.

In this note we prove two results. First we prove the following embedding result. Below we set $p^* = Np/(N-p)$ and $\beta = N(p+m-3) + p$.

Theorem 1.2 Assume $1 , (4)–(6). Then for all <math>u \in W^{1,p}(M)$ we have the weighted Sobolev inequality

$$\left(\int_{M} |u|^{p^*} \omega(V(d(x)))^{-p^*} \,\mathrm{d}\mu\right)^{\frac{N-p}{N}} \leq C \int_{M} |\nabla u|^p \,\mathrm{d}\mu\,,\tag{7}$$

for a suitable constant C > 0 independent of u.

The result above was proved in [3], in a different framework. Our proof uses a different technique, relying on a symmetrization approach and on the use of Hardy inequality, which seems to us to be sharp and very straightforward.

Next we apply the weighted inequality in (7) to the proof of our extinction result. Let us note, however, that the embedding may be also employed to prove for example sup bounds and blow up estimates; this will be pursued elsewhere. We refer to [5] for a definition of weak solution to our problem (the definition given there carries over straightforwardly to our setting).

Theorem 1.3 Let u be a nonnegative weak solution to (1)–(2), where we assume (3), (4), (5), (6) and

$$\int_{M} \left\{ \rho(x) \omega^{\delta} \left(V(d(x)) \right) \right\}^{\frac{p^{*}}{p^{*} - \delta}} \mathrm{d}\mu < \infty \,. \tag{8}$$

Here $\delta > p$ may be any value in (p, p^*) if $\beta \leq 0$, and any value $p < \delta < p/(p+m-2) < p^*$ if $\beta > 0$.

Then u becomes identically zero in M in a finite time.

Similar extinction results are well known in the literature, when $\rho = 1$ and the equation is singular, see [1]. In this note we consider the case of the inhomogeneous fast diffusion equation, for which we quote [6]. Our extinction result reduces to the one there for the special cases of Euclidean metric; that is, when ω is constant, and of $\rho(s) = (1 + s)^{-\ell}$, $\beta > 0$; i.e., we have extinction if $\ell > \ell^* = \beta/(p + m - 2)$.

2 Proof of the Weighted Sobolev Inequality

We have by Hardy-Littlewood inequality

$$I := \left(\int_{M} |u|^{p^{*}} \omega(V(d(x)))^{-p^{*}} d\mu \right)^{\frac{N-p}{N}} \leq \left(\int_{0}^{\infty} (u^{*}(s))^{p^{*}} \left(\omega(V(d(x)))^{-p^{*}} \right)^{*} ds \right)^{\frac{N-p}{N}}.$$
 (9)

By definition

$$\int_0^\infty (u^*(s))^{p^*} \left(\omega(V(d(x)))^{-p^*} \right)^* \mathrm{d}s = \int_0^\infty (u^*(s))^{p^*} (\omega(s))^{-p^*} \mathrm{d}s$$

Next we have by the properties of Lorentz spaces (see [4])

$$\left(\int_0^\infty (u^*(s))^{p^*}(\omega(s))^{-p^*} \,\mathrm{d}s\right)^{\frac{N-p}{N}} \le c \int_0^\infty (u^*(s))^p s^{\frac{p}{p^*}-1}(\omega(s))^{-p} \,\mathrm{d}s$$
$$= c \int_0^\infty (u^*(s))^p s^{-p}(g(s))^p \,\mathrm{d}s \,. \tag{10}$$

Next we prove the Hardy inequality

$$\int_0^\infty (u^*(s))^p s^{-p}(g(s))^p \, \mathrm{d}s \le c \int_0^\infty (-u^*_s(s))^p (g(s))^p \, \mathrm{d}s \,. \tag{11}$$

We have

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial s} \left[(u^*(s))^p \left(\int_0^s y^{-p}(g(y))^p \, \mathrm{d}y \right) \right] = p(u^*(s))^{p-1} u^*_s(s) \int_0^s y^{-p}(g(y))^p \, \mathrm{d}y \\ + (u^*(s))^p s^{-p}(g(s))^p \, .$$

Integrating this equality between 0 and ∞ we deduce

$$\int_{0}^{\infty} (u^{*}(s))^{p} s^{-p}(g(s))^{p} ds$$

= $p \int_{0}^{\infty} \left((u^{*}(s))^{p-1} (-u^{*}_{s}(s)) \int_{0}^{s} y^{-p}(g(y))^{p} dy \right) ds$. (12)

By the Hölder inequality we obtain

$$p \int_{0}^{\infty} \left((u^{*}(s))^{p-1} (-u_{s}^{*}(s)) \int_{0}^{s} y^{-p}(g(y))^{p} \, \mathrm{d}y \right) \, \mathrm{d}s \leq \left(\int_{0}^{\infty} (u^{*}(s))^{p} s^{-p}(g(s))^{p} \, \mathrm{d}s \right)^{\frac{p-1}{p}} \\ \times \left(\int_{0}^{\infty} (-u_{s}^{*}(s))^{p} \left(\int_{0}^{s} y^{-p}(g(y))^{p} \, \mathrm{d}y \right)^{p} [s^{-p}(g(s))^{p}]^{-(p-1)} \, \mathrm{d}s \right)^{\frac{1}{p}}.$$
(13)

Applying (6) to the right-hand side of (13) and combining it with (12) we arrive at (11). Finally, from Polia-Szego principle we obtain

$$I \le c \int_0^\infty (-u_s^*(s))^p (g(s))^p \, \mathrm{d}s \le c \int_M |\nabla u|^p \, \mathrm{d}\mu \,, \tag{14}$$

where the last inequality is proved below. Following Talenti's approach we estimate by Hölder inequality

$$\frac{1}{h} \int_{\{t < |u| \le t+h\}} |\nabla u| \, \mathrm{d}\mu \le \left(\frac{1}{h} \int_{\{t < |u| \le t+h\}} |\nabla u|^p \, \mathrm{d}\mu\right)^{\frac{1}{p}} \left(\frac{1}{h} |\{t < |u| \le t+h\}|\right)^{\frac{p-1}{p}} \, .$$

On letting $h \to 0$, we obtain

$$P(t) := |\{|u| = t\}|_{N-1} = \left(-\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \int_{\{t < |u|\}} |\nabla u|^p \,\mathrm{d}\mu\right)^{\frac{1}{p}} \left(-\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}v(t)\right)^{\frac{p-1}{p}}, \quad (15)$$

where $v(t) := |\{t < |u|\}|$. Next, by the isoperimetrical inequality (4) we have

$$P(t) \ge g(v(t)). \tag{16}$$

When we set s = v(t) we get $t = u^*(s)$, and

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}v}{\mathrm{d}t}(t) = u_s^*(s) \,.$$

Thus (15), (16) imply

$$g(s)^p (-u_s^*(s))^p \leq -\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}s} \int_{\{u^*(s) < |u|\}} |\nabla u|^p \,\mathrm{d}\mu$$

Finally, on integrating the last inequality over $(0, \infty)$, we arrive at the desired result. The proof is complete.

3 Extinction in Finite Time: Proof of Theorem 1.3

On multiplying both the sides of equation (1) by u^{θ} with $\theta > 0$ such that $p+m+\theta > 2$ and integrating by parts yields

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \int_{M} \rho v^{\delta} \,\mathrm{d}\mu = -\gamma \int_{M} |\nabla v|^{p} \,\mathrm{d}\mu \,, \tag{17}$$

where, owing to (3), we have

$$v = u^{\frac{p+m+\theta-2}{p}}, \qquad \delta = \delta(\theta) = \frac{(1+\theta)p}{p+m+\theta-2} > p$$

We select θ so that the value of δ is the one given in (8); the requirement $p^* > \delta$ translates into $\theta > \theta_0 := (3 - p - m)N/p - 1$; note that $\theta_0 > 2 - p - m$ under

. 1

our assumptions. If $\theta_0 \ge 0$ then no requirement is needed on δ other than $\delta < p^*$; otherwise one must impose $\delta < \delta(0+) = p/(p+m-2)$ which belongs to (p, p^*) , when $\theta_0 < 0$.

Applying Hölder inequality and the embedding in (7) to v we get

$$\int_{M} \rho v^{\delta} \, \mathrm{d}\mu \leq C \left(\int_{M} |\nabla v|^{p} \, \mathrm{d}\mu \right)^{\frac{\delta}{p}} \left(\int_{M} \left(\rho(x) \omega^{\delta} \left(V(d(x)) \right) \right)^{\frac{p^{*}}{p^{*} - \delta}} \, \mathrm{d}\mu \right)^{\frac{p^{*} - \delta}{p^{*}}} \, .$$
(18)

On setting

$$E(t) := \int_M \rho(x) v^{\delta}(x, t) \,\mathrm{d}\mu \,,$$

and taking into account (8) we arrive at the inequality

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}E(t) \leq -\gamma E(t)^{\frac{p}{\delta}}.$$

Since $\frac{p}{\delta} < 1$, the last inequality leads to extinction in finite time: $E(t) \rightarrow 0$ as $t \rightarrow \bar{t}$ for some $\bar{t} < +\infty$.

References

- DiBenedetto, E., Urbano, J.M., Vespri, V.: Current issues on singular and degenerate evolution equations. In: Evolutionary Equations. Handb. Differ. Equ., vol. I, pp. 169–286. North-Holland, Amsterdam (2004)
- Gol' dshtein, V., Troyanov, M.: The Kelvin-Nevanlinna-Royden criterion for *p*-parabolicity. Math. Z. 232(4), 607–619 (1999)
- Minerbe, V.: Weighted Sobolev inequalities and Ricci flat manifolds. Geom. Funct. Anal. 18(5), 1696–1749 (2009)
- 4. Stein, E.M., Weiss, G.: Introduction to Fourier Analysis on Euclidean Spaces. Princeton University Press, Princeton (1971)
- 5. Sturm, S.: Existence of weak solutions of doubly nonlinear parabolic equations. J. Math. Anal. Appl. **455**(1), 842–863 (2017)
- 6. Tedeev, A.F.: The interface blow-up phenomenon and local estimates for doubly degenerate parabolic equations. Appl. Anal. **86**(6), 755–782 (2007)

Inverse Problems in the Multidimensional Hyperbolic Equation with Rapidly Oscillating Absolute Term



P. V. Babich and V. B. Levenshtam

Abstract The paper is devoted to the development of the theory of inverse problems for evolution equations with terms rapidly oscillating in time. A new approach to setting such problems is developed for the case in which additional constraints are imposed only on several first terms of the asymptotics of the solution rather than on the whole solution. This approach is realized in the case of a multidimensional hyperbolic equation with unknown absolute term.

Keywords Multidimensional hyperbolic equation · Rapidly oscillating absolute term · Asymptotics of solution · Inverse problem

Mathematics Subject Classification Primary 35B40, 35R30; Secondary 35L10, 35L15

1 Introduction

We consider some problems of recovering rapidly oscillating in time absolute term from certain data on a partial asymptotics of the solution. Hence we study some of the coefficient inverse problems. The theory of inverse problems was the subject of many monographs (see, e.g. [1-14]) and papers (see, e.g. [15-17]). But there are almost no problems with rapidly oscillating data in the classical theory of inverse problems.

P. V. Babich

Southern Federal University, Rostov-on-Don, Russia

V. B. Levenshtam (⊠) Southern Federal University, Rostov-on-Don, Russia

Southern Mathematical Institute of the Vladikavkaz Scientific Centre of the Russian Academy of Sciences, Vladikavkaz, Russia e-mail: vleven@math.rsu.ru

[©] The Editor(s) (if applicable) and The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

A. G. Kusraev, Z. D. Totieva (eds.), *Operator Theory and Differential Equations*, Trends in Mathematics, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-49763-7_2

This paper as paper [18] was motivated by the paper [15], in which inverse problems for the one-dimensional wave equation with unknown absolute term was posed and solved. In [15] right-hand side represented in the form f(x)r(t), where r is unknown. An additional condition in [17] was the value of q(t) of the solution at a fixed point $x = x_0$. In [18] we have the same form of the right-hand side of multidimensional hyperbolic equation, but the unknown term rapidly oscillate: $r = r(t, \omega t), \omega \gg 1$. This brings up the question, should we impose an additional condition on the whole solution, as in [15]. In paper [18] it was established that the additional condition may be imposed only on several first coefficients of the asymptotics of the solution rather than on the whole solution. In the present paper the following inverse problems are solved: (1) f is unknown; (2) f and fast component of r are unknown.

In conclusion, we mention that, problems with data rapidly oscillating in time model many physical (and other) processes (in particular, related to high-frequency mechanical, electromagnetic, and other actions on a medium) see, for example, [19–24]. The inverse problems with such specificity have been studied in [18, 25, 26] by us.

This paper consist of four section. In Sect. 2 some principal symbols are listed that we use in follows. In Sect. 3 important auxiliary results are given. In Sect. 4 we state the main results. In Sect. 5 the main results are proved.

2 Principal Symbols

Let Ω denote a bounded domain in \mathbb{R}^n , $n \in \mathbb{N}.S$ its boundary. We denote the open cylinder $\Omega \times (0, T) \subset \mathbb{R}^{n+1}$ by Q_T , its closure \overline{Q}_T . Consider the following hyperbolic initial boundary-value problem with a large parameter ω :

$$\frac{\partial^2 u}{\partial t^2} = Lu + f(x,t)r(t,\omega t), (x,t) \in Q_T,$$
(2.1)

$$u|_{t=0} = 0, \quad \frac{\partial u}{\partial t}\Big|_{t=0} = 0, \tag{2.2}$$

$$u|_{x\in S} = 0, (2.3)$$

All functions are real. We consider that the symmetric differential expression

$$Lu = \sum_{i,j=1}^{n} \frac{\partial}{\partial x_i} \left[a_{ij}(x) \frac{\partial u}{\partial x_j} \right] - c(x)u -$$
(2.4)

is defined in Ω and satisfies the ellipticity condition, so that

$$a_{ij}(x) = a_{ji}(x), \sum_{i,j=1}^{n} a_{ij}(x)\xi_i\xi_j \ge \gamma \sum_{i=1}^{n} \xi_i^2, \text{ where } \gamma = const > 0,$$
 (2.5)

for all $x \in \Omega$ and any real vector $\xi = (\xi_1, \xi_2, \dots, \xi_n)$.

We shall assume that the function $r(t, \tau)$ is defined and is continuous on the set $D = \{(t, \tau) : (t, \tau) \in [0, T] \times [0, \infty)\}$ and 2π -periodic in τ . Let us represent it as the sum:

$$r(t, \tau) = r_0(t) + r_1(t, \tau),$$

where $r_0(t)$ —is the mean value of $r(t, \tau)$ over τ :

$$r_0(t) = \langle r(t, \cdot) \rangle = \langle r(t, \tau) \rangle_{\tau} \equiv \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_0^{2\pi} r(t, \tau) d\tau.$$

3 The Auxiliary Results

3.1 The Results of V.A. Il'in [27]

Consider the problem

$$\frac{\partial^2 u}{\partial t^2} = Lu + F(x, t), (x, t) \in Q_T,$$
(3.1)

$$u|_{t=0} = \varphi(x), \left. \frac{\partial u}{\partial t} \right|_{t=0} = \psi(x),$$
 (3.2)

$$u|_{x\in S} = 0, (3.3)$$

Let domain Ω , the coefficients of the expression *L* (2.4), right-hand side *F* and initial conditions φ and ψ satisfy the following conditions.

I. Ω is bounded connected domain in \mathbb{R}^n , $n \in \mathbb{N}$, contained, together with its boundary *S*, in an open domain $C \in \mathbb{R}^{n}$.¹

¹Recall that a domain is said to be normal if the Dirichlet problem for the Laplace equation in this domain is solvable for continuous boundary function.

II. Coefficients $a_{ij}(x)$ and c(x) ensure existence of full orthonormal in $L_2(\Omega)$ system classic eigenfunctions of problem

$$\begin{cases} Lu = \lambda u, \\ u|_S = 0. \end{cases}$$

To do this, since [27] it suffices to provide further conditions. Functions $a_{ij}(x), c(x)$ can be continued to domain *C* so that $a_{ij} \in C^{1+\mu}(C), c \in C^{\mu}(C), \mu \geq 0$. Moreover, $a_{ij} \in C^{[\frac{n}{2}]+2}(\overline{\Omega}), c \in C^{[\frac{n}{2}]+1}(\overline{\Omega})$. Let $y_m, \lambda_m, m = 1, 2, \ldots$, denote eigenfunctions and eigenvalues noted above. We shall assume that $\{\lambda_m\}$ is nondecreasing sequence: $0 < \lambda_1 \leq \lambda_2 \leq \ldots$

- that $\{\lambda_m\}$ is nondecreasing sequence: $0 < \lambda_1 \le \lambda_2 \le \dots$ III. Initial functions $\varphi \in C^{\left[\frac{n}{2}\right]+3}(\overline{\Omega}), \psi \in C^{\left[\frac{n}{2}\right]+2}(\overline{\Omega})$ and $\varphi|_{x\in S} = L\varphi|_{x\in S} = \dots = L^{\left[\frac{n+4}{4}\right]}\varphi\Big|_{x\in S} = 0, \ \psi|_{x\in S} = L\psi|_{x\in S} = \dots = L^{\left[\frac{n+2}{4}\right]}\psi\Big|_{s\in S} = 0$. Let φ_m, ψ_m denote the coefficients of the Fourier expansion of functions $\varphi(x), \psi(x)$
- in the basis of y_m . IV. The right-hand side $F \in C([0, T], C^{\left[\frac{n}{2}\right]+2}(\overline{\Omega})), F|_{x \in S} = Lf|_{x \in S} = \dots = L^{\left[\frac{n+2}{4}\right]}f\Big|_{x \in S} = 0$. Let $F_m(t)$ denote the coefficients of the Fourier expansion of function F(x, t) in the basis of y_m

Theorem 1 (V.A. II'in) If conditions I-IV hold, the series

$$u(x,t) = \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} y_m(x) \left[\varphi_m \cos \sqrt{\lambda_m} t + \frac{\psi_m}{\sqrt{\lambda_m}} \sin \sqrt{\lambda_m} t \right]$$
$$+ \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} y_m(x) \frac{1}{\sqrt{\lambda_m}} \int_0^t F_m(\tau) \sin \sqrt{\lambda_m} (t-\tau) d\tau$$
(3.4)

and the series u_t , u_{tt} obtained by single and double differentiation of (3.4) with respect to t are converge uniformly in $\overline{Q_T}$. The series u_{x_i} , u_{tx_i} , $u_{x_ix_j}$ obtained by single and double differentiation of (3.4) with respect to any two variables are converge uniformly in any domain that is strictly contained in Q_T . At the same time, (3.4) is classic solution of (3.1)–(3.3).

This result can be found in [27, Theorems 6, 8].²

Lemma 1 If conditions I, II, III hold, then the bilinear series for eigenfunctions $\sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \frac{y_m^2(x)}{\lambda_m^{\lfloor \frac{n}{2} \rfloor+1}}$ converge uniformly in $\overline{\Omega}$, the bilinear series $\sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \frac{\left|\frac{\partial v_m(x)}{\partial x_i}\right|^2}{\lambda_m^{\lfloor \frac{n}{2} \rfloor+2}}$ and

²Here and in what follows, we use results of [27] in "classical" terms (see [27, Remark 3, p. 114 of the Russian original]). In [27], such classical versions are not stated explicitly, but when referring to results of [27], we always mean their classical versions.

 $\sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \frac{\left|\frac{\partial^2 y_m(x)}{\partial x_i \partial x_j}\right|^2}{\lambda_m^{\left\lceil \frac{n}{2} \right\rceil+3}} \text{ converge uniformly in any domain that is strictly contained in } \Omega' \subset \Omega.$

Lemma 2 Let the coefficients $a_{ij}(x)$ be continuous together with their derivatives up to order k, and c(x) is continuous together with its derivatives up to order k - 1. We also assume that a function $\Phi(x), x \in \overline{\Omega}$ satisfies the following conditions:

(1) $\Phi \in C^{k+1}(\overline{\Omega}),$

(2)
$$\Phi|_{x\in S} = L\Phi|_{x\in S} = \ldots = L^{\left\lfloor \frac{k}{2} \right\rfloor} \Phi\Big|_{x\in S} = 0$$

Then for Φ inequality of Bessel type holds true:

$$\sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \Phi_m^2 \lambda_m^{k+1} \leq \begin{cases} \int \left[\sum_{i,j=1}^n a_{ij} \frac{\partial}{\partial x_i} (L^{\frac{k}{2}} \Phi) \frac{\partial}{\partial x_j} (L^{\frac{k}{2}} \Phi) + c (L^{\frac{k}{2}} \Phi)^2 \right] dx, k \text{ is even,} \\ \int \left[\int_{\Omega} \left[L^{\frac{k+1}{2}} \Phi \right]^2 dx, k \text{ is odd.} \end{cases}$$

3.2 The Problem 1

The Direct Problem 1. The Three-Term Asymptotics

Consider problem (2.1)–(2.3), where domain Ω , elliptic differential expression *L* are the same as in Theorem 1.

Concerning the function f(x, t) defined at $(x, t) \in \overline{Q}_T$, we assume that there exist continuous functions f, Lf, f_t , f_{tt} , f_{tt} , and Lf_t , such that all of them belong to the space of functions $C_{t,x}^{0,[\frac{n}{2}]+2}(\overline{Q}_T)$ and, moreover,

$$f|_{x \in S} = Lf|_{x \in S} = \ldots = L^{\left\lfloor \frac{n+6}{4} \right\rfloor} f \bigg|_{x \in S} = 0.$$

For brevity, we refer to functions r with these properties as functions of class F_1 .

We shall assume that the function $r(t, \tau)$ is defined and is continuous on the set $D = \{(t, \tau) : (t, \tau) \in [0, T] \times [0, \infty)\}$ and 2π -periodic in τ . As in Sect. 2 let us represent *r* as the sum of slow and oscillating components:

$$r(t, \tau) = r_0(t) + r_1(t, \tau);$$

we shall assume that $r_0 \in C([0, T])$, and the functions r_1, r_{1t}, r_{1tt} , and r_{1ttt} belong to the class C(D). We denote function r with such properties as function of class **R**₁.

In the present paper, by a solution of problem (2.1)–(2.3) we mean its classical solution, i.e., a function $u \in C(\overline{Q}_T)$, which has continuous derivatives $u_t \in C(\overline{Q}_T)$, u_{tt} , and $u_{x_ix_j} \in C(Q_T)$, $i, j = \overline{1, n}$, and satisfies relations (2.1)–(2.3). Under our assumptions, the solution of problem (2.1)–(2.3), exists and is unique according to Theorem 1.

Below we define functions and constants needed in what follows:

$$\rho_0(t,\tau) = \int_0^\tau \left(\int_0^p r_1(t,s)ds - \left\langle \int_0^\tau r_1(t,s)ds \right\rangle_\tau \right) dp - \left\langle \int_0^\tau \left(\int_0^p r_1(t,s)ds - \left\langle \int_0^\tau r_1(t,s)ds \right\rangle_\tau \right) dp \right\rangle_\tau$$
(3.5)
$$\rho_1(t,\tau) = \left\langle \int_0^\tau \rho_0(t,s)ds \right\rangle_\tau - \int_0^\tau \rho_0(t,s)ds.$$

$$b_{1,m} = -\rho_{0\tau}(0,0) f_m(0), \qquad (3.6)$$

$$d_m = -\rho_0(0,0) f_m(0), \qquad (3.7)$$

$$b_{2,m} = -(2\rho_1(0,0) + \rho_0(0,0))f'_m(0) - (2\rho_{1t}(0,0) + \rho_{0t}(0,0))f_m(0), \qquad (3.8)$$

where the $f_m(t)$ are the coefficients of the Fourier expansion of f(x, t) in the basis of y_m .

Let us represent the solution of problem (2.1)–(2.3) in the form:

$$u_{\omega}(x,t) = U_{\omega}(x,t) + W_{\omega}(x,t), \quad \omega \gg 1,$$
(3.9)

$$U_{\omega}(x,t) = u_0(x,t) + \omega^{-1}u_1(x,t) + \omega^{-2} \big[u_2(x,t) + v_2(x,t,\omega t) \big], \omega \gg 1,$$
(3.10)

$$u_0(x,t) = \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \frac{y_m(x)}{\sqrt{\lambda_m}} \int_0^t f_m(s) r_0(s) \sin \sqrt{\lambda_m} (t-s) ds,$$
(3.11)

$$u_1(x,t) = \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \frac{b_{1,m}}{\sqrt{\lambda_m}} y_m(x) \sin \sqrt{\lambda_m} t, \qquad (3.12)$$

$$v_2(x, t, \tau) = f(x, t)\rho_0(t, \tau),$$
 (3.13)

$$u_2(x,t) = \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} y_m(x) \left(d_m \cos \sqrt{\lambda_m} t + \frac{b_{2,m}}{\sqrt{\lambda_m}} \sin \sqrt{\lambda_m} t \right).$$
(3.14)

Note that, in view of Theorem 1, the series (3.11)–(3.14) converge uniformly and absolutely.

Theorem 2 The solution $u_{\omega}(x, t)$ of problem (2.1)–(2.3) can be expressed in the form (3.9)–(3.14), where

$$\left\|W_{\omega}(x,t)\right\|_{C(\overline{Q}_{T})} = o(\omega^{-2}), \omega \to \infty.$$
(3.15)

The Inverse Problem 1

Suppose that the function f(x, t) in the initial boundary-value problem (2.1)–(2.3) is the function of class $\mathbf{F_1}$ and the function $r \in \mathbf{R_1}$ is unknown. Choose a point $x^0 \in \Omega$ at which $f(x^0, t) \neq 0, t \in [0, T]$, and functions $\varphi_0(t)$ and $\chi(t, \tau)$ satisfying the conditions:

$$\varphi_0 \in C^1([0, T]), \ \varphi_0(0) = 0, \ \varphi'_0(0) = 0;$$

 $\chi \in C^{3,2}(D)$

where the function $\chi(t, \tau)$ is 2π -periodic in τ and has zero mean $(\langle \chi(t, \cdot) \rangle = 0)$. Consider the functions $\varphi_1(t)$ and $\varphi_2(t)$ defined by

$$\varphi_1(t) = \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \frac{b_{1,m}}{\sqrt{\lambda_m}} y_m(x^0) \sin\sqrt{\lambda_m} t, \qquad (3.16)$$

$$\varphi_2(t) = \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} y_m(x^0) \left(d_m \cos \sqrt{\lambda_m} t + \frac{b_{2,m}}{\sqrt{\lambda_m}} \sin \sqrt{\lambda_m} t \right), \qquad (3.17)$$

where the $b_{1,m}$, $b_{2,m}$ and d_m are the same as in (4.12)–(4.13), but $\rho_0(t, \tau)$ is now defined by

$$\rho_0(t,\tau) = \frac{1}{f(x^0,t)} \left(\int_0^\tau \left(\int_0^p \chi_{ss}(t,s) ds - \left\langle \int_0^\tau \chi_{ss}(t,s) ds \right\rangle_\tau \right) dp - \left\langle \int_0^\tau \left(\int_0^p \chi_{ss}(t,s) ds - \left\langle \int_0^\tau \chi_{ss}(t,s) ds \right\rangle_\tau \right) dp \right\rangle_\tau \right).$$

The inverse problem 1 is to find a function $r \in \mathbf{R}_1$ for which the solution $u_{\omega}(x, t)$ of problem (2.1)–(2.3) satisfies the condition

$$\left\| u_{\omega}(x^{0},t) - \left[\varphi_{0}(t) + \frac{1}{\omega} \varphi_{1}(t) + \frac{1}{\omega^{2}} (\varphi_{2}(t) + \chi(t,\omega t)) \right] \right\|_{C([0,T])} = o(\omega^{-2}), \ \omega \to \infty.$$
(3.18)

Theorem 3 For any pair of functions χ , φ_0 and point x^0 satisfying the conditions specified above inverse problem 1 is uniquely solvable.

Remark Finding the function r_0 reduces to solving a Volterra equation of the second kind

$$f(x^{0},t)r_{0}(t) + \int_{0}^{t} K(t,s)r_{0}(s) \, ds = \varphi_{0}^{\prime\prime}(t), \qquad (3.19)$$

$$K(t,s) = -\sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \sqrt{\lambda_m} f_m(s) \sin\left(\sqrt{\lambda_m}(t-s)\right) y_m(x^0).$$

Function r_1 calculated by

$$r_1(t,\tau) = \frac{1}{f(x^0,t)} \frac{\partial^2}{\partial \tau^2} \chi(t,\tau), \qquad (3.20)$$

Remark Theorems 2 and 3 can be found together with their proof in paper [18].

3.3 The Lemma of Krasnosel'skii et al. [28, Sec. 22.1]

Suppose that Ω is bounded connected domain in \mathbb{R}^n and *S* is its boundary. We denote $k_0 > \frac{n}{4}$ is natural value such that $S \in C^{2k_0}$ and functions $b_{ij}, d \in C^{2k_0-2}(\overline{\Omega})$. Moreover, boundary smoothness meant in the same manner as in [29, Theorem 15.2]. In space $L_2(\Omega)$ consider elliptic differential operator

$$L_0 u = \sum_{i,j=1}^n b_{ij}(x) \frac{\partial^2 u}{\partial x_i \partial x_j} - d(x)u, \ u \in D(L_0) \equiv \dot{W}_2^2(\Omega), \tag{3.21}$$

where $\dot{W}_2^2(\Omega)$ is closure in $W_2^2(\Omega)$ of set of smooth finite in Ω function. We shall assume that coefficient d(x) is so large that L_0 is invertible operator. Results of [29] imply the estimate

$$\left\|L_0^{k_0} u\right\|_{L_2} \ge c \left\|u\right\|_{W_2^{2k_0}}, \ u \in D(L_0^{k_0}), c\text{--positive value.}$$
(3.22)

We assume that the domain Ω satisfies Sobolev's imbedding Theorem:

$$\|u\|_{C^{l}(\overline{\Omega})} \le c \|u\|_{W_{2}^{s}(\Omega)}, \ u \in W_{2}^{s}(\Omega),$$
(3.23)

where $s - l > \frac{n}{2}$, *c* is positive value. Classic condition for this Theorem is that Ω is star domain.

The above leads to the following result:

Lemma 3 For any integer $|r| \in [0, 2k_0 - \frac{n}{2}]$ operator $D^r L_0^{-k_0}$ continuously acts from $L_2(\Omega)$ to $C^{2k_0-r-\frac{n}{2}}(\overline{\Omega})$, where $D^r u = \frac{\partial^r u}{\partial x_1^{r_1} \dots x_n^{r_n}}$, $r = (r_1, \dots, r_n)$ is multiindex with length $|r| = r_1 + \dots + r_n$.

Lemma 3 can be found in [28, Sec.22.2] without specialization of some requirements to coefficients and boundary.

4 The Main Results

4.1 The Problem 2

The Direct Problem 2. The Main Term of Asymptotics

Let, as in Sect. 3.2, domain Ω and differential expression *L* satisfy Theorem 1 conditions.

Let us consider the problem (2.1)–(2.3). From this point onward function f(x, t) is invariant with t h.e. $f(x, t) = f(x), x \in \Omega$. We also assume that $f \in C^{\left[\frac{n}{2}\right]+2}(\overline{\Omega})$,

$$f|_{x\in S} = Lf|_{x\in S} = L^2 f\Big|_{x\in S} = \dots = L^{\left[\frac{n+2}{4}\right]}f\Big|_{x\in S} = 0.$$
 (4.1)

Let us denote the class of such functions by F_2 .

We shall also assume that function $r(t, \tau)$ is defined and is continuous on the set $D = \{(t, \tau) : (t, \tau) \in [0, T] \times [0, \infty)\}$ and 2π -periodic in τ . As above let represent it as the sum:

$$r(t, \tau) = r_0(t) + r_1(t, \tau),$$

where r_0 is slow component and r_1 is oscillating component. Let us assume that $r_0 \in C([0, T]), r_1 \in C(D)$.

Theorem 4 The following asymptotic formula holds

$$\left\|u_{\omega} - u_{0}\right\|_{C(\overline{\Pi})} = o(1), \ \omega \to \infty, \tag{4.2}$$

where u_{ω} is solution of problem (2.1)–(2.3).

The Inverse Problem 2

Consider the problem (2.1)–(2.3) in bounded connected normal domain Ω with boundary $S \in C^{2\left[\frac{n}{2}\right]+4}$. Let coefficients of expression *L* belong to the following Holder classes:

$$a_{ij} \in C^{3\left[\frac{n}{2}\right]+6}(\overline{\Omega}), c \in C^{3\left[\frac{n}{2}\right]+5}(\overline{\Omega}), \text{ where } \alpha \in (0,1), c(x) \ge 0, x \in \Omega.$$

$$(4.3)$$

We shall assume that function $r(t, \tau)$ is known, satisfies Theorem 4 conditions, and, moreover, $r_0 \in C^1([0, T])$. Suppose there exists a point $t_0 \in (0, T]$ such that

$$|r_0(t_0)| > |r_0(0)|. \tag{4.4}$$

Let \mathbf{R}_2 denote the class of functions *r* satisfying the above mentioned conditions. We assume that function *f* is unknown and belong to the class \mathbf{F}_2 .

Following lemma holds, where

$$\Lambda_m(t) \equiv \int_0^t r_0(s) \sin \sqrt{\lambda_m} (t-s) ds, t \in [0, T].$$

Lemma 4 For any function $r \in \mathbf{R}_2$ there exist values $c_0 > 0$ and $m_0 \in \mathbb{N}$ such that for every number $m \ge m_0$ we have $\Lambda_m(t_0) > \frac{c_0}{\lambda_m}$.

For brevity, we shall assume that set $M_0 \equiv \{m : \Lambda_m(t_0) = 0\} = \emptyset$.

Concerning the system (2.1)–(2.3) with unknown function f, we supplement the problem with function ψ such that

$$\psi \in C^{3\left[\frac{n}{2}\right]+7}(\overline{\Omega}), \ \psi|_{x \in S} = L\psi|_{x \in S} = L^2\psi\Big|_{x \in S} = \dots = L^{3\left[\frac{n}{4}\right]+3}\psi\Big|_{x \in S} = 0.$$
(4.5)

The inverse problem 2 is to find function $f \in \mathbf{F}_2$ for which the solution $u_{\omega}(x, t)$ of problem (2.1)–(2.3) satisfies the condition:

$$\|u_{\omega}(x,t_0) - \psi(x)\|_{C([0,\pi])} = o(1), \omega \to \infty.$$
(4.6)

Theorem 5 Let functions r_0 , ψ and point t_0 satisfy the conditions specified above. Then inverse problem 2 is uniquely solvable. At the same time, the function f(x) calculated by $f(x) = \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} f_m y_m(x), f_m = \frac{\psi_m}{\Lambda_m}$.

4.2 The Inverse Problem 3

In this section we consider again problem (2.1)–(2.3). Assume that domain Ω and coefficients of differential expression *L* are the same as in previous subsection, e.g.

coefficients satisfying to conditions (4.3), domain Ω is bounded, is connected, is normal, and its boundary $S \in C^{2\left[\frac{n}{2}\right]+4}$.

Let function f and r belong to (**F**₃ and **R**₃) respectively:

$$\mathbf{F}_{\mathbf{3}}: f, Lf \in C^{\left[\frac{n}{2}\right]+2}(\overline{\Omega}), \ f|_{x \in S} = Lf|_{x \in S} = \ldots = L^{\left\lfloor\frac{n+6}{4}\right\rfloor}f\Big|_{x \in S} = 0;$$

R₃ : $r(t, \tau)$ is 2π -periodic in τ . As above let represent it as the sum:

$$r(t, \tau) = r_0(t) + r_1(t, \tau),$$

where

$$r_0 \in C^1([0, T]); r_1, r_{1t}, r_{1tt}, r_{1tt} \in C(D)$$

and a point $t_0 \in (0, T]$ such that $|r_0(t_0)| > |r_0(0)|$ there exist.

We shall assume that function r_0 is known, and functions f and r_1 are unknown. For brevity, as in Sect. 4.1 suppose that set $M_0 \equiv \{m, \Lambda_m(t_0) = 0\} = \emptyset$. Choose a 2π -periodic with zero mean in second variable $\chi(t, \tau), \chi \in C^{3,2}(D), D = [0, T] \times [0, \infty)$, and function $\psi \in C^{3[\frac{n}{2}]+9}(\overline{\Omega})$ satisfying the conditions

$$\psi|_{x\in S} = L\psi|_{x\in S} = L^2\psi\Big|_{x\in S} = \dots = L^{3\left[\frac{n}{4}\right]+4}\psi\Big|_{x\in S} = 0.$$
 (4.7)

And let $x^0 \in \Omega$ is a point at which $\tilde{f}(x^0) \neq 0$, where

$$\widetilde{f}(x) = \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \widetilde{f}_m y_m(x), \quad \widetilde{f}_m = \frac{\psi_m}{\Lambda_m}$$
(4.8)

Consider the functions $\varphi_0(t)$, $\varphi_1(t)$, $\varphi_2(t)$, defined as follows. Function $\varphi_0(t)$ is solution of Cauchy problem

$$\begin{cases} \varphi_0''(t) = \tilde{f}(x^0)r_0(t) + \int_0^t K(t,s)r_0(s) \, ds, \\ \varphi_0(0) = \varphi_0'(0) = 0, \end{cases}$$
(4.9)

where

$$K(t,s) = -\sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \sqrt{\lambda_m} \widetilde{f}_m \sin \sqrt{\lambda_m} (t-s) y_m(x^0).$$

Functions φ_1, φ_2 satisfying the conditions

$$\varphi_1(t) = \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \frac{\widetilde{b}_{1,m}}{\sqrt{\lambda_m}} y_m(x^0) \sin \sqrt{\lambda_m} t, \qquad (4.10)$$

$$\varphi_2(t) = \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} y_m(x^0) \left(\widetilde{d}_m \cos \sqrt{\lambda_m} t + \frac{\widetilde{b}_{2,m}}{\sqrt{\lambda_m}} \sin \sqrt{\lambda_m} t \right), \tag{4.11}$$

where

$$\widetilde{b}_{1,m} = -\rho_{0\tau}(0,0)\,\widetilde{f}_m,\tag{4.12}$$

$$\widetilde{d}_m = -\rho_0(0,0)\,\widetilde{f}_m,\tag{4.13}$$

$$\widetilde{b}_{2,m} = -(2\rho_{1t}(0,0) + \rho_{0t}(0,0))\widetilde{f}_m.$$
(4.14)

The inverse problem 3 is to find a functions f and r_1 such that $f \in \mathbf{F}_3$, r_1 is 2π -periodic in τ and, moreover, r_1 , r_{1t} , r_{1tt} , r_{1tt} , c(D) for which the solution $u_{\omega}(x, t)$ of problem (2.1)–(2.3) satisfies the conditions

$$\left\| u_{\omega}(x^{0},t) - \left[\varphi_{0}(t) + \frac{1}{\omega} \varphi_{1}(t) + \frac{1}{\omega^{2}} (\varphi_{2}(t) + \chi(t,\omega t)) \right] \right\|_{C([0,T])} = o(\omega^{-2}),$$
(4.15)

$$\left\| u_{\omega}(x,t_0) - \psi(x) \right\|_{C(\overline{\Omega})} = o(1), \omega \to \infty.$$
(4.16)

Theorem 6 Let functions r_0 , ψ , χ and points x^0 , t_0 satisfy the conditions specified above. Then inverse problem 3 is uniquely solvable. At the same time, the function $f(x) = \tilde{f}(x)$ calculated by (4.8), and

$$r_1(t,\tau) = (f(x^0))^{-1} \frac{\partial^2}{\partial \tau^2} \chi(t,\tau).$$
(4.17)

5 Proofs of the Main Results

Proof of Theorem 4 Consider the function

$$W_{\omega}(x,t) = u_{\omega}(x,t) - u_{0}(x,t) = \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \frac{f_{m} y_{m}(x)}{\lambda_{m}} \int_{0}^{t} \sin \sqrt{\lambda_{m}} (t-s) r_{1}(s,\omega s) ds,$$
(5.1)

Note that, in view of Lemmas 1, 2 and Cauchy–Schwarz inequality, the series in right-hand side of (5.1) converges uniformly with respect to $t \in [0, T]$. Represent $W_{\omega}(x, t)$ in the form

$$W_{\omega}(x,t) = \sum_{m=1}^{m_0} \frac{f_m y_m(x)}{\lambda_m} \int_0^t \sin \sqrt{\lambda_m} (t-s) r_1(s,\omega s) ds +$$
$$\sum_{m=m_0+1}^{\infty} \frac{f_m y_m(x)}{\lambda_m} \int_0^t \sin \sqrt{\lambda_m} (t-s) r_1(s,\omega s) ds \equiv S_{\omega,1} + S_{\omega,2}, m_0 \in \mathbb{N}.$$

Let ε is arbitrary value. Taking into account uniform convergence of the series (5.1), we take number m_0 sufficiently large such that for all $m, m \ge m_0$, and $\omega > 0$

$$\|S_{\omega,2}\|_{C(\overline{\Omega})} < \frac{\varepsilon}{2}.$$
(5.2)

For the estimation of $S_{\omega,1}$ choose $\delta > 0$ so small that

$$\int_{0}^{\delta} \sin \sqrt{\lambda_m} (t-s) r_1(s, \omega s) ds < \frac{\varepsilon}{2m_0 s_0},$$
(5.3)

where $s_0 = \max_{1 \le i \le m_0} \left| \frac{f_i}{\lambda_i} \right| \|y_i\|_{C(\overline{\Omega})}$. Further, considering $t \in (s, T]$, we divide the interval $[\delta, t]$ into k equal parts $[t_j, t_{j+1}), j = \overline{0, k-1}$, and apply the relation

$$\int_{\delta}^{t} \sin \sqrt{\lambda_m} (t-s) r_1(s, \omega s) ds =$$

$$\sum_{j=0}^{k-1} \left[\int_{t_j}^{t_{j+1}} \sin \sqrt{\lambda_m} (t-s) r_1(s, \omega s) ds - \int_{t_j}^{t_{j+1}} \sin \sqrt{\lambda_m} (t-t_j) r_1(t_j, \omega s) ds \right] +$$

$$\sum_{j=0}^{k-1} \int_{t_j}^{t_{j+1}} \sin \sqrt{\lambda_m} (t-t_j) r_1(t_j, \omega s) ds = S_1 + S_2.$$

Choose k = k(t) so large that

$$|S_1| < \frac{\varepsilon}{4m_0 s_0} \tag{5.4}$$

for all $m : m < m_0$ and $\omega > 0$.

Further, in view of equality $\langle r_1(t, \tau) \rangle_{\tau} = 0$, we choose ω_0 sufficiently large that

$$|S_2| < \frac{\varepsilon}{4m_0 s_0} \tag{5.5}$$

for given $k, t \in [0, T]$, and any $\omega > \omega_0$.

Since inequalities (5.4), (5.5) there exists a number $\omega_0 > 0$ such that

$$|S_{\omega,1}| < \frac{\varepsilon}{2} \tag{5.6}$$

for any $\omega > \omega_0$. Relations (5.2), (5.6) imply the relation (4.2). This completes the proof of Theorem 4.

Proof of the Lemma 4 Choose t_0 that $|r_0(t_0)| > |r_0(0)|$ and apply the relation

$$\Lambda_m(t_0) = \int_0^{t_0} \frac{\sin\sqrt{\lambda_m}(t_0 - s)}{\sqrt{\lambda_m}} r_0(s) ds = \frac{r_0(t_0) - r_0(0)\cos\sqrt{\lambda_m}t_0}{\lambda_m} + \int_0^{t_0} \frac{\cos\sqrt{\lambda_m}(t_0 - s)}{\lambda_m} r_0'(s) ds.$$

Taking into account the condition (4.4), note that $|r_0(t_0)| \neq |r_0(0) \cos \sqrt{\lambda_m} t_0|$ for all $m \in \mathbb{N}$. Thus there exist positive values c_0 and m_0 such that

$$|\Lambda_m(t_0)| > \frac{c_0}{\lambda_m}$$

for $m > m_0$. The Lemma is proved.

Proof of Theorem 5 Choose t_0 that $|r_0(t_0)| > |r_0(0)|$. We assume that the function $f \in \mathbf{F_2}$ is found. It follows from Theorem 4 and conditions (3.11), (4.6) that

$$\sum_{m=1}^{\infty} f_m y_m(x) \Lambda_m(t_0) = \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \psi_m y_m(x).$$

For $\Lambda_m \neq 0, m \in \mathbb{N}(M_0 = \emptyset)$ we obtain

$$f(x) = \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} f_m y_m(x), f_m = \frac{\psi_m}{\Lambda_m(t_0)}.$$

It remains to show that f belongs to class \mathbf{F}_2 .

In the first place we shall show that function $f \in C^{\left[\frac{n}{2}\right]+2}(\overline{\Omega})$. Let us consider the series

$$L^{\left[\frac{n}{2}\right]+2}f(x) = \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \frac{\psi_m}{\Lambda_m(t_0)} L^{\left[\frac{n}{2}\right]+2} y_m(x) =$$
$$\sum_{m=1}^{m_0} \frac{\psi_m}{\Lambda_m(t_0)} L^{\left[\frac{n}{2}\right]+2} y_m(x) + \sum_{m=m_0+1}^{\infty} \frac{\psi_m}{\Lambda_m(t_0)} \lambda_m^{\left[\frac{n}{2}\right]+2} y_m(x) = Y_1 + Y_2,$$

In view of Lemmas 1, 2, 4 and Cauchy–Schwarz inequality, series Y_2 may be estimate as follows

$$\|Y_2\|_{L_2(\Omega)} \le \frac{1}{c_0} \sqrt{\sum_{m=m_0+1}^{\infty} \frac{y_m^2(x)}{\lambda_m^{\lfloor \frac{n}{2} \rfloor + 1}} \cdot \sum_{m=m_0+1}^{\infty} \psi_m^2 \lambda_m^{3\lfloor \frac{n}{2} \rfloor + 7}}$$

where c_0 and m_0 are the same as in Lemma 4.

Further, let g denote the function $g(x) = L^{\left[\frac{n}{2}\right]+2} f(x), g \in L_2(\Omega)$. Thus

$$f = L^{-\left[\frac{n}{2}\right]-2}g.$$

As in the Lemma 3 consider $D^{\left[\frac{n}{2}\right]+2}$ is the derivative of order $\left[\frac{n}{2}\right]+2$, and then apply it to the function f, we obtain

$$D^{\left[\frac{n}{2}\right]+2}f = D^{\left[\frac{n}{2}\right]+2}L^{-\left[\frac{n}{2}\right]-2}g.$$

From the Lemma 3 it follows that function $D^{\left[\frac{n}{2}\right]+2}f$ is continuous.

Note that, since proved smoothness of the function f and properties of the eigenfunctions $y_m(x)$ it follows that for founded function f(x) conditions (4.1) are hold. This completes the proof of Theorem 5.

Proof of Theorem 6 Let the hypotheses of current theorem holds. Then according to Theorem 5 the inverse problem 2 with given functions r_0 , ψ and point t_0 is uniquely solvable, and function \tilde{f} calculable by (4.8) is the inverse problem 2 solution. Providing similar to Theorem 5 reasoning we obtain that $f \in \mathbf{F}_3$.

Further, consider system (2.1)–(2.3) with $f(x, t) = \tilde{f}(x)$, and also the inverse problem 1 with given functions χ , φ_i , $i = \overline{0, 2}$ and point x^0 . In view condition (4.9), the function $r_0(t)$ satisfies Volterra equation of the second kind

$$\varphi_0''(t) = \widetilde{f}(x^0)r_0(t) + \int_0^t K(t,s)r_0(s)\,ds,$$
$$K(t,s) = -\sum_{m=1}^\infty \sqrt{\lambda_m}\,\widetilde{f}_m\,\sin\sqrt{\lambda_m}(t-s)y_m(x^0).$$

From Theorem 3 it follows that the inverse problem 1 with given data is uniquely solvable, moreover, its solution may be represented in form $r(t, \tau) = r_0(t) + r_1(t, \tau)$, where r_1 calculated by (4.17). Because of the conditions on function r_0 the inverse problem 1, e.g. solution r, belongs to the class **R**₃.

Hence pair of functions f, r_1 is solution of the inverse problem 3. This completes the proof of this Theorem.

References

- 1. Lavret'ev, M.M., Reznitskaya, K.G., Yakhno, V.G.: One-Dimensional Inverse Problems of Mathematical Physics. Nauka, Novosibirsk (1982, in Russian)
- 2. Romanov, V.G.: Inverse Problems of Mathematical Physics. Nauka, Moscow (1984, in Russian)
- 3. Denisov, A.M.: Introduction to the Theory of Inverse Problems. Nauka, Moscow (1994, in Russian)
- 4. Anikonov, Jn.E.: Multidimensional Inverse and Ill-Posed Problems for Differential Equations. VSP, Utrecht (1995)
- 5. Anikonov, Jn.E.: Formulas in Inverse and Ill-Posed Problems. VSP, Utrecht (1997)
- Anikonov, Jn.E., Bubhov, B.A., Erokhin, G.N.: Inverse and Ill-Posed Source Problems. VSP, Utrecht (1997)
- Prilepko, A.I., Orlovsky, D.G., Vasin, I.A.: Methods for Solving Inverse Problems in Mathematical Physics. Marcel Dekker, New York (1999)
- 8. Anikonov, Jn.E.: Inverse Problems for Kinetic and Other Evolution Equations. VSP, Utrecht (2001)
- 9. Belov, Jn. Ya.: Inverse Problems for Partial Differential Equation. VSP, Utrecht (2002)
- 10. Lavrentiev, M.M.: Inverse Problems of Mathematical Physics. VSP, Utrecht (2003)
- 11. Megrabov, A.G.: Forward and Inverse Problems for Hyperbolic, Elliptic and Mixed Type Equations. VSP, Utrecht (2003)
- 12. Ivanchov, M.: Inverse Problems for Equations of Parabolic Type. VNTL, Lviv (2003)
- 13. Romanov, V.G.: Stability in Inverse Problems. Nauchnyi Mir, Moscow (2005, in Russian)
- 14. Kabanikhin, S.I.: Inverse and Ill-Posed Problems. Sib. Nauchn. Izd., Novosibirsk (2008, in Russian)
- Denisov, A.M.: Asymptotic expansions of solutions to inverse problems for a hyperbolic equation with a small parameter multiplying the highest derivative. Zh. Vychisl. Mat. Mat. Fiz. 53(5), 744–752 (2013) [Comput. Math. Math. Phys. 53(5), 580–587 (2013)]
- Kamynin, V.L.: Inverse problem of simultaneously determining the right-hand side and the coefficient of a lower order derivative for a parabolic equation on the plane. Differ. Uravn. 50(6), 795–806 (2014) [Differ. Equ. 50(6), 792–804 (2014)]
- Denisov, A.M.: Problems of determining the unknown source in parabolic and hyperbolic equations. Zh. Vychisl. Mat. Mat. Fiz. 55(5), 830–835 (2015) [Comput. Math. Math. Phys. 55(5), 829–833 (2015)]
- Babich, P.V., Levenshtam, V.B.: Recovery of a rapidly oscillating absolute term in the multidimensional hyperbolic equation. Math. Notes 104(4), 489–497 (2018)
- Zen'kovskaya, S.M., Simonenko, I.B.: On the influence of a high-frequency vibration on the origin of convection. Izv. Akad. Nauk SSSR Ser. Mekh. Zhidk. Gaza 5, 51–55 (1966)
- Simonenko, I.B.: A justification of the averaging method for a problem of convection in a field of rapidly oscillating forces and for other parabolic equations. Mat. Sb. 87(129)(2), 236–253 (1972) [Math. USSR-Sb. 16(2), 245–263 (1972)]

- Levenshtam, V.B.: The averaging method in the convection problem with high-frequency oblique vibrations. Sibirsk. Mat. Zh. 37(5), 1103–1116 (1996) [Sib. Math. J. 37(5), 970–982 (1996)]
- Levenshtam, V.B.: Asymptotic expansion of the solution to the problem of vibrational convection. Zh. Vychisl. Mat. Mat. Fiz. 40(9), 1416–1424 (2000) [Comput. Math. Math. Phys. 40(9), 1357–1365 (2000)]
- Levenshtam, V.B.: Asymptotic integration of a problem of convection. Sibirsk. Mat. Zh. 30(4), 554–559 (1989) [Sibirsk. Mat. Zh. 30(4), 69–75 (1989)]
- Levenshtam, V.B.: Justification of the averaging method for the convection problem with high-frequency vibrations. Sibirsk. Mat. Zh. 34(2), 280–296 (1993) [Sibirsk. Mat. Zh. 34(2), 92–109 (1993)]
- 25. Babich, P.V., Levenshtam, V.B.: Direct and inverse asymptotic problems high-frequency terms. Asymptot. Anal. **97**, 329–336 (2016)
- Babich, P.V., Levenshtam, V.B., Prika, S.P.: Recovery of a rapidly oscillating source in the heat equation from solution asymptotics. Comput. Math. Math. Phys. 57(12), 1908–1918 (2017) [57(12), 1955–1965 (2017)]
- Il'in, V.A.: The solvability of mixed problems for hyperbolic and parabolic equations. Uspekhi Mat. Nauk 15(2(92)), 97–154 (1960) [Russian Math. Surv. 15(1), 85–142 (1960)]
- Krasnoselskii, M.A., Zabreiko, P.P., Pustylnik E.I., Sobolevskii, P.E.: Integral Operators in Spaces of Summable Functions. Noordhoff International Publishing, Leyden (1976)
- 29. Agmon, S., Douglis, A., Nirenberg, L.: Estimates Near the Boundary for Solutions of Elliptic Partial Differential Equations Satisfying General Boundary Conditions. Interscience Publishers, New York (1959)

On the Brezis–Lieb Lemma and Its Extensions



E. Y. Emelyanov and M. A. A. Marabeh

Abstract Based on employing the unbounded order convergence instead of the almost everywhere convergence, we identify and study a class of Banach lattices in which the Brezis–Lieb lemma holds true. This gives also a net-version of the Brezis–Lieb lemma in L^p for $p \in [1, \infty)$. We discuss an operator version of the Brezis–Lieb lemma in certain convergence vector lattices.

Keywords *a.e.*-convergence · Brezis–Lieb lemma · Banach lattice · *uo*-convergence · Brezis–Lieb space · Pre-Brezis–Lieb property

2010 Mathematics Subject Classification 46A19, 46B42, 46E30

1 Introduction

Throughout this paper, (Ω, Σ, μ) stands for a measure space in which every set $A \in \Sigma$ of nonzero measure has a subset $A_0 \subseteq A$, $A_0 \in \Sigma$, such that $0 < \mu(A_0) < \infty$. It is known that the Fatou lemma is the following implication

$$f_n \xrightarrow{\text{a.e.}} f \implies \int |f| d\mu \leqslant \liminf \int |f_n| d\mu,$$
 (1)

E. Y. Emelyanov (⊠)

M. A. A. Marabeh

25

Middle East Technical University, Ankara, Turkey

Sobolev Institute of Mathematics, Novosibirsk, Russia e-mail: eduard@metu.edu.tr,emelanov@math.nsc.ru

Department of Applied Mathematics, College of Sciences and Arts, Palestine Technical University-Kadoorie, Tulkarem, Palestine e-mail: mohammad.marabeh@ptuk.edu.ps

[©] The Editor(s) (if applicable) and The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

A. G. Kusraev, Z. D. Totieva (eds.), *Operator Theory and Differential Equations*, Trends in Mathematics, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-49763-7_3

where (f_n) is a sequence in $\mathcal{L}^0(\mu)$. The Brezis–Lieb lemma [2, Thm.2] is a refinement of the Fatou lemma.

Theorem 1 (The Brezis–Lieb Lemma) Let $j : \mathbb{C} \to \mathbb{C}$ be a continuous function with j(0) = 0 such that, for every $\varepsilon > 0$, there exist two continuous functions $\phi_{\varepsilon}, \psi_{\varepsilon} : \mathbb{C} \to \mathbb{R}_+$ with

$$|j(x+y) - j(x)| \leq \varepsilon \phi_{\varepsilon}(x) + \psi_{\varepsilon}(y) \quad (\forall x, y \in \mathbb{C}).$$
⁽²⁾

Let f be a \mathbb{C} -valued function in $\mathcal{L}^{0}(\mu)$ and (g_{n}) be a sequence of \mathbb{C} -valued functions in $\mathcal{L}^{0}(\mu)$ such that $g_{n} \xrightarrow{\text{a.e.}} 0$; j(f), $\phi_{\varepsilon}(g_{n})$, $\psi_{\varepsilon}(f) \in \mathcal{L}^{1}(\mu)$ for all $\varepsilon > 0$, $n \in \mathbb{N}$; and let

$$\sup_{\varepsilon>0,\ n\in\mathbb{N}}\int\phi_{\varepsilon}(g_n(\omega))d\mu(\omega)\leqslant C<\infty.$$

Then

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \int |j(f+g_n) - (j(f) + j(g_n))| d\mu = 0.$$
(3)

Two measure-free versions of Theorem 1 were proved in vector lattices in [5, 9]. The following fact is a corollary of Theorem 1 (see [2, Thm.1]).

Theorem 2 (The Brezis–Lieb Lemma for \mathcal{L}^p $(0) Suppose <math>f_n \xrightarrow{\text{a.e.}} f$ and $\int |f_n|^p d\mu \leq C < \infty$ for all n and some $p \in (0, \infty)$. Then

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \int (|f_n|^p - |f_n - f|^p) d\mu = \int |f|^p d\mu.$$
 (4)

Proof We reproduce short and instructive arguments from [2]. Take $j(z) = \phi_{\varepsilon}(z) := |z|^p$ and $\psi_{\varepsilon}(z) = C_{\varepsilon}|z|^p$ for a sufficiently large C_{ε} . Theorem 1 applied to the sequence (g_n) , where $g_n = f_n - f$, gives

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \int (|f_n|^p - (|f|^p + |f_n - f|^p)) d\mu = 0.$$
(5)

The uniform boundedness assumption on the sequence (f_n) together with (5) ensure

$$\int |f|^p d\mu \leq \limsup_{n \to \infty} \int (|f|^p + |f_n - f|^p) d\mu \leq C.$$
(6)

Formula (6) allows us to rewrite (5) as (4).

The Fatou lemma (in the case of a uniformly \mathcal{L}^p -bounded sequence (f_n)) follows from Theorem 2, since

$$f_n \xrightarrow{\text{a.e.}} f \Rightarrow \int |f|^p d\mu = \lim_{n \to \infty} \int (|f_n|^p - |f_n - f|^p) d\mu \leq \liminf \int |f_n|^p d\mu$$
$$\Rightarrow \int |f| d\mu \leq \liminf \int |f_n| d\mu.$$

The next theorem is an immediate corollary of Theorem 2. Notice that the case p > 1 was obtained by Frigyes Riesz [11, p.59].

It is known that almost everywhere equality of measurable functions is an equivalence relation. An equivalence class is denoted by **f**. The notion L^p means the collection of all equivalence classes **f** for which $\int |f|^p < \infty$, $f \in \mathbf{f}$.

Theorem 3 (The Brezis–Lieb Lemma for L^p $(1 \leq p < \infty)$) Let (\mathbf{f}_n) be a sequence in $L^p(\mu)$ such that $\mathbf{f}_n \xrightarrow{\text{a.e.}} \mathbf{f}$ in $L^p(\mu)$ and $\|\mathbf{f}_n\|_p \to \|\mathbf{f}\|_p$, where $\|\mathbf{f}_n\|_p := \left(\int_{\Omega} |f_n|^p d\mu\right)^{1/p}$ with $f_n \in \mathcal{L}^p(\mu)$ and $f_n \in \mathbf{f}_n$. Then $\|\mathbf{f}_n - \mathbf{f}\|_p \to 0$.

The fact that Theorem 3 becomes a Banach-lattice-result by replacing *a.e.*-convergence with *uo*-convergence, motivates investigation of the class of Banach lattices in which Theorem 2 yields for *uo*-convergence. One more important reason for this investigation lies at the sequential nature of *a.e.*-convergence, which makes obstacles in obtaining net-versions of the Brezis–Lieb lemma. To show this, we include [6, Example 1]. Let μ be the Lebesgue measure on [0, 1], $\mathcal{P}_{fin}[0, 1]$ the family of all finite subsets of [0, 1] ordered by inclusion, and \mathbb{I}_F the indicator

function of $F \in \mathcal{P}_{fin}[0, 1]$. Then $\mathbb{I}_F \xrightarrow{\text{a.e.}} \mathbb{I}_{[0,1]}$ and $\int_{0}^{1} |\mathbb{I}_F| d\mu = 0$, however

$$\lim_{F \to \infty} \int_{0}^{1} (|\mathbb{I}_{F}| - |\mathbb{I}_{F} - \mathbb{I}_{[0,1]}|) d\mu = \lim_{F \to \infty} \int_{0}^{1} (-|\mathbb{I}_{[0,1]}|) d\mu = -1 \neq 1 = \int_{0}^{1} |\mathbb{I}_{[0,1]}| d\mu.$$

Proposition 2 below may serve as a net extension of Theorem 3.

After introducing Brezis–Lieb spaces, we present and discuss an internal geometric characterization of Brezis–Lieb spaces in Theorem 4 [6, Thm.4]. Possible extensions of Theorem 4 to locally solid vector lattices are also considered. In the last part of the paper, we prove Theorem 5 which is an operator version of Theorem 1 in convergence spaces.

In the paper, we consider normed lattices over the complex field \mathbb{C} which are *complexifications* of uniformly complete real normed lattices. More precisely, the modulus of $z = x + iy \in E = F \oplus iF$ is defined by

$$|z| = \sup_{\theta \in [0, 2\pi)} [x \cos \theta + y \sin \theta],$$

and its norm is defined by $||z|| = ||z||_E := ||z||_F$. We also adopt notations $E_+ = F_+, z = [z]_r + i[z]_i, x = \mathbb{R}e[z]$, and $y = \mathbb{I}m[z]$ for z = x + iy in E. A net (v_α) in a vector lattice E is said to be *uo*-convergent to $v \in E$ whenever, for every $u \in E_+$, the net $(|v_\alpha - v| \land u)$ converges in order to 0.

2 Brezis–Lieb Spaces

We begin with the following definition [6, Def.1] that is motivated by Theorem 3.

Definition 1 A normed lattice $(E, \|\cdot\|)$ is said to be a *Brezis–Lieb space (shortly, a BL-space)* (resp. σ -*Brezis–Lieb space* (σ -*BL-space*)) if, for any net (x_{α}) (resp, for any sequence (x_n)) in X such that $||x_{\alpha}|| \rightarrow ||x_0||$ (resp. $||x_n|| \rightarrow ||x_0||$) and $x_{\alpha} \xrightarrow{\text{uo}} x_0$ (resp. $x_n \xrightarrow{\text{uo}} x_0$), there holds $||x_{\alpha} - x_0|| \rightarrow 0$ (resp. $||x_n - x_0|| \rightarrow 0$).

Clearly, any *BL*-space is a σ -*BL*-space, and any finite-dimensional normed lattice is a *BL*-space. Since the *a.e.*-convergence for sequences in L^p coincides with the *uo*-convergence [8, Prop.3.1], Theorem 3 says that L^p is a σ -BL-space for $1 \leq p < \infty$. The Banach lattice c_0 is not a σ -BL-space. Indeed, let (x_n) be a sequence in c_0 given by $x_n = e_{2n} + \sum_{k=1}^n \frac{1}{k} e_k$, and let $x = \sum_{k=1}^\infty \frac{1}{k} e_k$ in c_0 . Then $||x|| = ||x_n|| = 1$ for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$, and $x_n \xrightarrow{u_0} x$, however $1 = ||x - x_n||$ does not converge to 0. A minor change of a *BL*-space may turn it into a normed lattice which is not even a σ -BL-space [6, EX.4]. Indeed, take any infinite dimensional BLspace E and consider $E_1 = \mathbb{R} \oplus_{\infty} E$. Take a disjoint sequence (y_n) in E such that $||y_n||_E \equiv 1$. Then $y_n \xrightarrow{uo} 0$ in E [8, Cor.3.6]. For each $n \in \mathbb{N}$, let $x_n = (1, y_n) \in E_1$. Then $||x_n||_{E_1} = \sup(1, ||y_n||_E) = 1$ and $x_n = (1, y_n) \xrightarrow{\text{uo}} (1, 0) =: x$ in E_1 , however $||x_n - x||_{E_1} = ||(0, y_n)||_{E_1} = ||y_n||_E = 1$ and so, (x_n) does not converge to x in $(E_1, \|\cdot\|_{E_1})$. Therefore $E_1 = \mathbb{R} \oplus_{\infty} E$ is not a σ -Brezis–Lieb space. It could be interesting to construct an example of a σ -BL-space which is not a BL-space. The following result of Vladimir Troitsky gives a condition under which a σ -BL-space is a *BL*-space (see [6, Prop.2]).

Proposition 1 A Banach lattice with the countable sup property and a weak unit is a BL-space iff it is a σ -BL-space.

The next definition [6, Def.2] will be used for characterizing *BL*-spaces.

Definition 2 A normed lattice $(E, \|\cdot\|)$ is said to have the *pre-Brezis–Lieb property* (*shortly, pre-BL property*), whenever $\limsup_{n\to\infty} \|u_0 + u_n\| > \|u_0\|$ for any disjoint normalized sequence $(u_n)_{n=1}^{\infty}$ in E_+ and for any $u_0 \in E$, $u_0 > 0$.

Every finite dimensional normed lattice has the pre-BL property. The Banach lattice c_0 obviously does not possess the pre-BL property. The mentioned modification of the norm in an infinite-dimensional Banach lattice E as above turns it to a Banach
lattice $E_1 = \mathbb{R} \oplus_{\infty} E$ without pre-*BL* property. Indeed, take a disjoint normalized sequence $(y_n)_{n=1}^{\infty}$ in E_+ . Let $u_0 = (1, 0)$ and $u_n = (0, y_n)$ for $n \ge 1$. Then $(u_n)_{n=0}^{\infty}$ is a disjoint normalized sequence in $(E_1)_+$ with $\limsup \|u_0 + u_n\| = 1 = \|u_0\|$.

The real version of the following result is included in [6, Thm.4]. Here we provide its complex version.

Theorem 4 For a σ -Dedekind complete Banach lattice E, the following conditions are equivalent:

- (1) E is a BL-space;
- (2) *E* is a σ -*BL*-space;
- (3) *E possesses the pre-BL property and has order continuous norm.*

Proof (1) \Rightarrow (2) It is trivial.

(2) \Rightarrow (3) We show first that *E* has the pre-*BL* property. Suppose that there exist a disjoint normalized sequence $(u_n)_{n=1}^{\infty}$ in E_+ and $u_0 \in E_+$ with $\limsup \|u_0 + u_n\| = \|u_0\|$. Since $\|u_0 + u_n\| \ge \|u_0\|$, then $\lim_{n \to \infty} \|u_0 + u_n\| = \|u_0\|$. Denote $v_n := u_0 + u_n$. By Gao et al. [8, Cor.3.6], $u_n \stackrel{u_0}{\to} 0$ and hence $v_n \stackrel{u_0}{\to} u_0$. Since *E* is a σ -*BL*-space and $\lim_{n \to \infty} \|v_n\| = \|u_0\|$, then $\|v_n - u_0\| \to 0$, which is impossible in view of $\|v_n - u_0\| = \|u_0 + u_n - u_0\| = \|u_n\| = 1$. In this part of the proof, both σ -Dedekind and norm completeness of *E* were not used.

If the norm in *E* is not order continuous then, by the Fremlin-Meyer-Nieberg theorem (see e.g. [1, Thm.4.14]), there exist $y \in E_+$ and a disjoint sequence (e_k) in [0, y] such that $||e_k|| \neq 0$. Without loss of generality, we may assume $||e_k|| = 1$ for all $k \in \mathbb{N}$. By σ -Dedekind completeness of *E*, for any sequence (α_n) in \mathbb{R}_+ , there exist

$$x_0 = \bigvee_{k=1}^{\infty} e_k, \quad x_n = \alpha_{2n} e_{2n} + \bigvee_{k=1, k \neq n, k \neq 2n}^{\infty} e_k \quad (\forall n \in \mathbb{N}).$$
(7)

Now, we choose $\alpha_{2n} \ge 1$ in (7) such that $||x_n|| = ||x_0||$ for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$. Clearly, $x_n \xrightarrow{u_0} x_0$. Since *E* is a σ -*BL*-space, then $||x_n - x_0|| \to 0$, violating

$$||x_n - x_0|| = ||(\alpha_{2n} - 1)e_{2n} - e_n|| = ||(\alpha_{2n} - 1)e_{2n} + e_n|| \ge ||e_n|| = 1.$$

The obtained contradiction shows that the norm in *E* is order continuous.

(3) \Rightarrow (1) If *E* is not a *BL*-space, then there exists a net $(x_{\alpha})_{\alpha \in A}$ in *E* such that $x_{\alpha} \xrightarrow{uo} x$ and $||x_{\alpha}|| \rightarrow ||x||$, but $||x_{\alpha} - x|| \not\rightarrow 0$. Then $|x_{\alpha}| \xrightarrow{uo} |x|$ and $|||x_{\alpha}||| \rightarrow ||x|||$.

Note that $|||x_{\alpha}| - |x||| \neq 0$. Indeed, if $|||x_{\alpha}| - |x||| \to 0$, then, for any $\varepsilon > 0$, $(|x_{\alpha}|)_{\alpha \in A}$ is eventually in $[-|x|, |x|] + \varepsilon B_E$. Thus $(|x_{\alpha}|)_{\alpha \in A}$, and hence $(\mathbb{Re}[x_{\alpha}])_{\alpha \in A}$ and $(\mathbb{Im}[x_{\alpha}])_{\alpha \in A}$ are both almost order bounded. Since *E* is order continuous and $x_{\alpha} \xrightarrow{u_0} x$, then $\mathbb{Re}[x_{\alpha}] \xrightarrow{u_0} \mathbb{Re}[x]$ and $\mathbb{Im}[x_{\alpha}] \xrightarrow{u_0} \mathbb{Im}[x]$. By Gao and Xanthos [7, Pop.3.7.], $||\mathbb{Re}[x_{\alpha} - x]| \to 0$ and $||\mathbb{Im}[x_{\alpha} - x]|| \to 0$, and hence $||x_{\alpha} - x|| \to 0$,

that is impossible. Therefore, without loss of generality, we may assume $x_{\alpha} \in E_+$ and—by normalizing— $||x_{\alpha}|| = ||x|| = 1$ for all α .

Passing to a subnet, denoted by (x_{α}) again, we may assume

$$\|x_{\alpha} - x\| > C > 0 \quad (\forall \alpha \in A).$$
(8)

Notice that $x \ge (x - x_{\alpha})^+ = (x_{\alpha} - x)^- \xrightarrow{\text{uo}} 0$, and hence $(x_{\alpha} - x)^- \xrightarrow{\text{o}} 0$. Order continuity of the norm in *E* ensures

$$||(x_{\alpha} - x)^{-}|| \to 0.$$
 (9)

Denoting $w_{\alpha} = (x_{\alpha} - x)^+$ and using (8) and (9), we assume

$$||w_{\alpha}|| = ||(x_{\alpha} - x)^{+}|| > C \quad (\forall \alpha \in A).$$
(10)

In view of (10), we obtain

$$2 = \|x_{\alpha}\| + \|x\| \ge \|(x_{\alpha} - x)^{+}\| = \|w_{\alpha}\| > C \quad (\forall \alpha \in A).$$
(11)

Since $w_{\alpha} \xrightarrow{u_0} (x - x)^+ = 0$, for any fixed $\beta_1, \beta_2, \dots, \beta_n$,

$$0 \leqslant w_{\alpha} \wedge (w_{\beta_1} + w_{\beta_2} + \ldots + w_{\beta_n}) \stackrel{o}{\to} 0 \quad (\alpha \to \infty).$$
(12)

Since $x_{\alpha} \xrightarrow{uo} x$, then $x_{\alpha} \wedge x \xrightarrow{uo} x \wedge x = x$ and so $x_{\alpha} \wedge x \xrightarrow{o} x$. Due to order continuity of the norm in *E*, there exists an increasing sequence of indices (α_n) in *A* with

$$\|x - x_{\alpha} \wedge x\| \leq 2^{-n} \quad (\forall \alpha \ge \alpha_n).$$

By (12), we also suppose

$$\|w_{\alpha} \wedge (w_{\alpha_1} + w_{\alpha_2} + \ldots + w_{\alpha_n})\| \leq 2^{-n} \quad (\forall \alpha \geqslant \alpha_{n+1}).$$

Since

$$\sum_{k=1,k\neq n}^{\infty} \|w_{\alpha_n} \wedge w_{\alpha_k}\| \leqslant \sum_{k=1}^{n-1} \|w_{\alpha_n} \wedge (w_{\alpha_1} + \ldots + w_{\alpha_{n-1}})\| + \sum_{k=n+1}^{\infty} \|w_{\alpha_k} \wedge (w_{\alpha_1} + \ldots + w_{\alpha_{k-1}})\| \leqslant (n-1) \cdot 2^{-n+1} + \sum_{k=n+1}^{\infty} 2^{-k+1} = n2^{-n+1}, \quad (13)$$

the series $\sum_{k=1,k\neq n}^{\infty} w_{\alpha_n} \wedge w_{\alpha_k}$ converges absolutely and hence in norm for any $n \in \mathbb{N}$. Take

$$\omega_{\alpha_n} := \left(w_{\alpha_n} - \sum_{k=1, k \neq n}^{\infty} w_{\alpha_n} \wedge w_{\alpha_k} \right)^+ \quad (\forall n \in \mathbb{N}).$$

First, we show that the sequence $(\omega_{\alpha_n})_{n=1}^{\infty}$ is disjoint. Let $m \neq p$, then

$$\begin{split} \omega_{\alpha_m} \wedge \omega_{\alpha_p} &= \left(w_{\alpha_m} - \sum_{k=1, k \neq m}^{\infty} w_{\alpha_m} \wedge w_{\alpha_k} \right)^+ \wedge \left(w_{\alpha_p} - \sum_{k=1, k \neq p}^{\infty} w_{\alpha_p} \wedge w_{\alpha_k} \right)^+ \\ &\leq (w_{\alpha_m} - w_{\alpha_m} \wedge w_{\alpha_p})^+ \wedge (w_{\alpha_p} - w_{\alpha_p} \wedge w_{\alpha_m})^+ \\ &= (w_{\alpha_m} - w_{\alpha_m} \wedge w_{\alpha_p}) \wedge (w_{\alpha_p} - w_{\alpha_m} \wedge w_{\alpha_p}) \\ &= 0 \end{split}$$

It follows by (13), that

$$\|w_{\alpha_{n}} - \omega_{\alpha_{n}}\| = \left\| w_{\alpha_{n}} - \left(w_{\alpha_{n}} - \sum_{k=1, k \neq n}^{\infty} w_{\alpha_{n}} \wedge w_{\alpha_{k}} \right)^{+} \right\|$$
$$= \left\| w_{\alpha_{n}} - \left(w_{\alpha_{n}} - w_{\alpha_{n}} \wedge \sum_{k=1, k \neq n}^{\infty} w_{\alpha_{n}} \wedge w_{\alpha_{k}} \right) \right\|$$
$$= \left\| w_{\alpha_{n}} \wedge \sum_{k=1, k \neq n}^{\infty} w_{\alpha_{n}} \wedge w_{\alpha_{k}} \right\|$$
$$\leqslant \| \sum_{k=1, k \neq n}^{\infty} w_{\alpha_{n}} \wedge w_{\alpha_{k}} \|$$
$$\leqslant n2^{-n+1}, \quad (\forall n \in \mathbb{N}).$$
(14)

Combining (14) with (11) gives

$$2 \ge \|w_{\alpha_n}\| \ge \|\omega_{\alpha_n}\| \ge C - n2^{-n+1} \quad (\forall n \in \mathbb{N}).$$

Passing to the further increasing sequence of indices, we may assume that

$$||w_{\alpha_n}|| \to M \in [C, 2] \quad (n \to \infty).$$

Now

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \left\| M^{-1}x + \|\omega_{\alpha_n}\|^{-1} \omega_{\alpha_n} \right\| = M^{-1} \lim_{n \to \infty} \|x + \omega_{\alpha_n}\| \quad \text{by (14)}$$
$$= M^{-1} \lim_{n \to \infty} \|x + w_{\alpha_n}\| \quad \text{by (9)}$$
$$= M^{-1} \lim_{n \to \infty} \|x + (x_{\alpha_n} - x)\|$$
$$= M^{-1} \lim_{n \to \infty} \|x_{\alpha_n}\|$$
$$= M^{-1}$$
$$= \|M^{-1}x\|,$$

violating the pre-*BL* property for $u_0 = M^{-1}x$ and $u_n = \|\omega_{\alpha_n}\|^{-1}\omega_{\alpha_n}$, $n \ge 1$. The obtained contradiction completes the proof.

A special case of Theorem 4 was proved by Nakano [10, Thm.33.6]. The following result, which follows from Theorem 4, can be considered as a *lemma of Brezis–Lieb* type for nets in L^p .

Proposition 2 Let $\mathbf{f}_{\alpha} \xrightarrow{\text{uo}} \mathbf{f}$ and $\|\mathbf{f}_{\alpha}\|_{p} \to \|\mathbf{f}\|_{p}$ in $L^{p}(\mu)$, $1 \leq p < \infty$. Then $\|\mathbf{f}_{\alpha} - \mathbf{f}\|_{p} \to 0$.

It is not clear whether or not implication $(2) \Rightarrow (3)$ of Theorem 4 holds without the assumption that *E* is σ -Dedekind complete. Since any σ -Brezis–Lieb Banach lattice has the pre-*BL* property, for dropping σ -Dedekind completeness assumption in Theorem 4, it is sufficient to have the positive answer to the following weaker question.

Question 1 Does the pre-BL property imply order continuity of the norm?

In the end of this section we mention some possible generalizations of Brezis– Lieb spaces and pre-Brezis–Lieb property. To avoid overloading the text, we restrict ourselves to the case of multi-normed Brezis–Lieb spaces.

A multi-normed vector lattice (shortly, MNVL) $E = (E, \mathcal{M})$ (see [4]):

(a) is said to be a *Brezis–Lieb space* if

$$[x_{\alpha} \xrightarrow{\text{uo}} x_0 \& m(x_{\alpha}) \to m(x_0) \ (\forall m \in \mathcal{M})] \Rightarrow [x_{\alpha} \xrightarrow{\mathcal{M}} x_0];$$

(b) has the *pre-Brezis–Lieb property* if, for any disjoint sequence $(u_n)_{n=1}^{\infty}$ in E_+ such that (u_n) does not converge in \mathcal{M} to 0 and for any $u_0 > 0$, there exists $m \in \mathcal{M}$ such that $\limsup_{n \to \infty} m(u_0 + u_n) > m(u_0)$.

A σ -Brezis–Lieb MNVL is defined by replacing of nets with sequences.

By using the above definitions one can derive from Theorem 4 the following result.

Corollary 1 For an MNVL E with a separating order continuous multinorm M, the following conditions are equivalent:

- (1) E is a BL-space;
- (2) *E* is a σ -*BL*-space;
- (3) *E* has the pre-BL property.

3 Operator Version of the Brezis–Lieb Lemma in Convergent Vector Spaces

In this section we discuss an operator extension of the Brezis–Lieb lemma in convergent vector spaces. Firstly, let us remind some definitions [3]. A *convergence* " \xrightarrow{c} " for nets in a set X is defined by the following conditions:

(a) $x_{\alpha} \equiv x \Rightarrow x_{\alpha} \stackrel{c}{\rightarrow} x$, and (b) $x_{\alpha} \stackrel{c}{\rightarrow} x \Rightarrow x_{\beta} \stackrel{c}{\rightarrow} x$ for every subnet (x_{β}) of (x_{α}) .

A mapping f from a convergence set (X, c_X) into a convergence set (Y, c_Y) is said to be $c_X c_Y$ -continuous (or just continuous), if $x_\alpha \xrightarrow{c_X} x$ implies $f(x_\alpha) \xrightarrow{c_Y} f(x)$ for every net (x_α) in X. Under a convergence vector space (X, c_X) , we understand a vector space X with the convergence c_X such that the linear operations in X are c_X -continuous. (E, c_E) is a convergence vector lattice if (E, c_E) is a convergence vector space that is a vector lattice, where the lattice operations are also c_E continuous. Motivated by the proof of the famous lemma of Brezis and Lieb [2, Thm.2], we present its operator version in convergent spaces.

The following hypotheses will be used in the next theorem.

- (H1) Let (X, c_X) be a convergence complex vector space.
- (H2) Let (E, c_E) and (F, c_F) be two convergence complex vector lattices, with F is Dedekind complete.
- (H3) Let E_0 be an order ideal in $E_+ E_+$.
- (*H*4) Let $T : E_0 \to F$ be a $c_{E_0}o_F$ -continuous positive linear operator, where o_F stands for the order convergence in F.
- (H5) Let $J: X \to E$ be a $c_X c_E$ -continuous function with J(0) = 0.
- (*H*6) For every $\varepsilon > 0$, there exist two $c_X c_E$ -continuous mappings $\Phi_{\varepsilon}, \Psi_{\varepsilon} : X \to E_+$ satisfying

$$|J(x+y) - Jx| \leqslant \varepsilon \Phi_{\varepsilon} x + \Psi_{\varepsilon} y \quad (\forall x, y \in X).$$
(15)

Theorem 5 (An Operator Version of the Brezis–Lieb Lemma for Nets) Suppose hypotheses (H1) - (H6) are satisfied. Let $(g_{\alpha})_{\alpha \in A}$ be a net in X satisfying $g_{\alpha} \xrightarrow{c_X} 0$,

let $f \in X$ *be such that* |Jf|, $\Phi_{\varepsilon}g_{\alpha}$, $\Psi_{\varepsilon}f \in E_0$ *for all* $\varepsilon > 0$, $\alpha \in A$, *and let some* $u \in F_+$ *exist with* $T\Phi_{\varepsilon}g_{\alpha} \leq u$ *for all* $\varepsilon > 0$, $\alpha \in A$. *Then*

$$T\left(|J(f+g_{\alpha})-(Jf+Jg_{\alpha})|\right) \xrightarrow{\mathrm{o}_{\mathrm{F}}} 0 \quad (\alpha \to \infty).$$

Proof It follows from (15) that

$$|J(f+g_{\alpha}) - (Jf+Jg_{\alpha})| \leq |J(f+g_{\alpha}) - Jg_{\alpha}| + |Jf| \leq \varepsilon \Phi_{\varepsilon} g_{\alpha} + \Psi_{\varepsilon} f + |Jf|,$$

and hence

$$|J(f+g_{\alpha}) - (Jf+Jg_{\alpha})| - \varepsilon \Phi_{\varepsilon} g_{\alpha} \leq \Psi_{\varepsilon} f + |Jf| \quad (\varepsilon > 0, \alpha \in A).$$

Thus

$$0 \leqslant w_{\varepsilon,\alpha} := \left(|J(f + g_{\alpha}) - (Jf + Jg_{\alpha})| - \varepsilon \Phi_{\varepsilon} g_{\alpha} \right)_{+} \leqslant \Psi_{\varepsilon} f + |Jf|$$
(16)

for all $\varepsilon > 0$ and $\alpha \in A$. It follows from (16) and from $c_X c_E$ -continuity of J and Φ_{ε} , that $E_0 \ni w_{\varepsilon,\alpha} \xrightarrow{c_E} 0$ as $\alpha \to \infty$. Furthermore, (16) implies

$$|J(f+g_{\alpha}) - (Jf+Jg_{\alpha})| \leq w_{\varepsilon,\alpha} + \varepsilon \Phi_{\varepsilon} g_{\alpha} \quad (\varepsilon > 0, \alpha \in A).$$
(17)

Since $T \ge 0$ and $T \Phi_{\varepsilon} g_{\alpha} \le u$, we get from (17)

$$0 \leq T \left(|J(f + g_{\alpha}) - (Jf + Jg_{\alpha})| \right) \leq T w_{\varepsilon,\alpha} + \varepsilon T \Phi_{\varepsilon} g_{\alpha} \leq T w_{\varepsilon,\alpha} + \varepsilon u \quad (18)$$

for all $\varepsilon > 0$ and $\alpha \in A$. Since *F* is Dedekind complete and *T* is $c_{E_0}o_F$ -continuous, $Tw_{\varepsilon,\alpha} \xrightarrow{o_F} 0$, and in view of (18)

$$0 \leq (o_F) - \limsup_{\alpha \to \infty} T\left(|J(f + g_\alpha) - (Jf + Jg_\alpha)| \right) \leq \varepsilon u \quad (\forall \varepsilon > 0).$$

Then
$$T\left(|J(f+g_{\alpha})-(Jf+Jg_{\alpha})|\right) \xrightarrow{\mathrm{o}_{\mathrm{F}}} 0.$$

We end up by the following remarks on Theorem 5.

- 1. Replacing nets by sequences one can obtain a sequential version of Theorem 5, whose details are left to the reader.
- 2. In the case of $F = \mathbb{R}$ and $X = E = L^0(\mu)$ with the almost everywhere convergence, $E_0 = L^1(\mu)$, $Tf = \int f d\mu$, and $J : X \to E$ given by $Jf = j \circ f$,

where $j : \mathbb{C} \to \mathbb{C}$ is continuous with j(0) = 0 such that for every $\varepsilon > 0$ there exist two continuous functions $\phi_{\varepsilon}, \psi_{\varepsilon} : \mathbb{C} \to \mathbb{R}_+$ satisfying

$$|j(x+y) - j(x)| \leq \varepsilon \phi_{\varepsilon}(x) + \psi_{\varepsilon}(y) \quad (\forall x, y \in \mathbb{C}),$$

we obtain Theorem 1 from Theorem 5 by letting $\Phi_{\varepsilon}(f) := \phi_{\varepsilon} \circ f$ and $\Psi_{\varepsilon}(f) := \psi_{\varepsilon} \circ f$.

Acknowledgments The research of the first author was partially supported by the Science Support Foundation Program of the Siberian Branch of the Russian Academy of Sciences; No. I.1.2, Project No. 0314-2019-0005. The second author thanks Palestine Technical University-Kadoorie (PTUK) for their support.

References

- Aliprantis, C.D., Burkinshaw, O.: Locally Solid Riesz Spaces with Applications to Economics. Mathematical Surveys and Monographs, vol. 105, 2nd edn. American Mathematical Society, Providence (2003)
- Brezis, H., Lieb, E.: A relation between pointwise convergence of functions and convergence of functionals. Proc. Am. Math. Soc. 88(3), 486–490 (1983)
- Dabboorasad, Y.A.M., Emelyanov, E.Y.: Survey on unbounded convergence in the convergence vector lattices. Vladikavkaz Math. J. 20(2), 49–56 (2018)
- Dabboorasad, Y.A.M., Emelyanov, E.Y., Marabeh, M.A.A.: um-Topology in multi-normed vector lattices. Positivity 22(2), 653–667 (2018)
- 5. Emelyanov, E.Y., Marabeh, M.A.A.: Two measure-free versions of the Brezis–Lieb lemma. Vladikavkaz Math. J. **18**(1), 21–25 (2016)
- Emelyanov, E.Y., Marabeh, M.A.A.: Internal characterization of Brezis–Lieb spaces. Positivity (2019). https://doi.org/10.1007/s11117-019-00695-z
- Gao, N., Xanthos, F.: Unbounded order convergence and application to martingales without probability. J. Math. Anal. Appl. 415, 931–947 (2014)
- Gao, N., Troitsky, V.G., Xanthos, F.: Uo-convergence and its applications to Cesáro means in Banach lattices. Isr. J. Math. 220, 649–689 (2017)
- 9. Marabeh, M.: Brezis–Lieb lemma in convergence vector lattices. Turk. J. Math. **42**, 1436–1442 (2018)
- 10. Nakano, H.: Linear Lattices. Wayne State Univ. Press, Detroit (1966)
- 11. Riesz, F.: Sur la convergence en moyenne. Acta Sci. Math. 4(1), 58-64 (1928-1929)

On the Commutant of the Generalized Backward Shift Operator in Weighted Spaces of Entire Functions



O. A. Ivanova and S. N. Melikhov

Abstract We study continuous linear operators, which commute with the generalized backward shift operator (a one-dimensional perturbation of the Pommiez operator) in a countable inductive limit E of weighted Banach spaces of entire functions. This space E is isomorphic with the help of the Fourier-Laplace transform to the strong dual of the Fréchet space of all holomorphic functions on a convex domain Q in the complex plane, containing the origin. Necessary and sufficient conditions are obtained for an operator of the mentioned commutant to be a topological isomorphism of E. The problem of factorization of nonzero operators of this commutant is investigated. In the case when the function determining the generalized backward shift operator, has zeros in Q, the commutant is divided into two classes: the first one consists of isomorphisms and surjective operators with finite-dimensional kernels and the second one contains finite-dimensional operators. Using obtained results, we study the generalized Duhamel product in Fréchet space of all holomorphic functions on Q.

Keywords Backward shift operator \cdot Commutant \cdot Weighted space of entire functions \cdot Duhamel product

Mathematical Subject Classification (2010) Primary 46E10, 47B37; Secondary 47A05, 30D15

O. A. Ivanova

Southern Federal University, Vorovich Institute of Mathematics, Mechanics and Computer Sciences, Rostov on Don, Russia e-mail: neo_ivolga@mail.ru

S. N. Melikhov (🖂)

Southern Federal University, Vorovich Institute of Mathematics, Mechanics and Computer Sciences, Rostov on Don, Russia

Southern Institute of Mathematics, Vladikavkaz Scientific Centre of RAS, Vladikavkaz, Russia e-mail: melih@math.rsu.ru; snmelihov@sfedu.ru

[©] The Editor(s) (if applicable) and The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

A. G. Kusraev, Z. D. Totieva (eds.), *Operator Theory and Differential Equations*, Trends in Mathematics, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-49763-7_4

1 Introduction

Let Q be a convex domain in \mathbb{C} , containing the origin; H(Q) be the Fréchet space of all holomorphic functions on Q; E be a countable inductive limit of weighted Banach spaces which with the help of Fourier-Laplace transform is topologically isomorphic to the strong dual of H(Q). A function $g_0 \in E$ satisfying the condition $g_0(0) = 1$ defines the generalized backward shift operator $D_{0,g_0}(f)(t) = \frac{f(t)-g_0(t)f(0)}{t}$, which is continuous and linear in E. If $g_0 \equiv 1$, then D_{0,g_0} is the usual backward shift operator (Pommiez operator) D_0 . In the general case D_{0,g_0} is a one-dimensional perturbation of D_0 .

The problem we solve in this article, is to investigate the structure of the set $\mathcal{K}(D_{0,g_0})$ of all continuous linear operators in E commuting with D_{0,g_0} in E. The set $\mathcal{K}(D_{0,g_0})$ has been described in [5]. In the main results we assume that the function g_0 has a finite number of zeros or has no zeros, i.e., $g_0(z) = P(z)e^{\lambda z}$ for some $\lambda \in Q$ and some polynomial P, such that P(0) = 1. In Theorems 4.1 and 4.2 it is shown that $\mathcal{K}(D_{0,g_0})$ is divided into two classes. The first one consists of isomorphisms and surjective operators with finite-dimensional kernels and the second one contains finite-dimensional operators. If g_0 has no zeros, i.e., $g_0(z) = e^{\lambda z}$ for some $\lambda \in Q$, then the second class is empty. Previously V.A. Tkachenko [11] investigated properties of the commutant of the operator of generalized integration in a space of analytic functionals. This space is the dual of a countable inductive limit of weighted Banach spaces of entire functions, the growth of which is defined by a ρ -trigonometrically convex function ($\rho > 0$). The operator of generalized integration is the adjoint map of D_{0,g_0} , defined by the function $g_0 = e^{\mathcal{P}}$ for some polynomial \mathcal{P} . Such function g_0 has no zeros.

In the dual E' of E shift operators for D_{0,g_0} define a product \otimes by the convolution rule. If we identify the strong dual of E with H(Q) with the help of the adjoint map of the Fourier-Laplace transform, then the operation \otimes is realized in H(Q) as the generalized Duhamel product. In the case of $g_0 \equiv 1$ it coincides with the Duhamel product (with the derivative of the Mikusinski convolution product). The Duhamel product is closely related to the Volterra operator. It was studied quite intensively (see the paper of M.T. Karaev [8]). This multiplication is used in the theory of ordinary differential equations with constant coefficients, in the boundary value problems of mathematical physics (in the sloping beach problem), in the spectral theory of direct sums of operators. Investigations of the Duhamel product in the space of all holomorphic functions on a domain in \mathbb{C} go back to N. Wigley [12]. In this article we prove a criterion for a multiplication operator defined by generalized Duhamel product to be an isomorphism of H(Q).

Note that the situation, when g_0 has zeros, differ significantly from one when g_0 has no zeros. Namely, our proofs use essentially the description of the lattice of proper closed D_{0,g_0} -invariant subspaces of E, obtained in [7]. If g_0 has no zeros, D_{0,g_0} is unicellular. If g_0 has zeros, then this lattice is not linearly ordered, moreover, the family of finite-dimensional closed D_{0,g_0} -invariant subspaces of H(Q) is also

not linearly ordered. The mixed structure of this lattice implies the existence of two "extreme" subsets of $\mathcal{K}(D_{0,g_0})$.

2 Preliminary Information

Let Q be a convex domain in \mathbb{C} containing the origin, $(Q_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ be a sequence of convex compact subsets of Q with $Q_n \subset \operatorname{int} Q_{n+1}$ for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$, and $Q = \bigcup_{n \in \mathbb{N}} Q_n$. The symbol int M denotes the interior of a set $M \subset \mathbb{C}$ in \mathbb{C} . For a bounded set $M \subset \mathbb{C}$ let H_M be the support function of M defined as $H_M(z) := \sup_{t \in \mathbb{C}} \operatorname{Re}(zt)$,

 $z \in \mathbb{C}$. We set $H_n := H_{Q_n}, n \in \mathbb{N}$.

Define weighted Banach spaces

$$E_n := \left\{ f \in H(\mathbb{C}) \mid ||f||_n := \sup_{z \in \mathbb{C}} \frac{|f(z)|}{\exp(H_n(z))} < +\infty \right\}, \ n \in \mathbb{N}.$$

Here $H(\mathbb{C})$ is the space of all entire functions on \mathbb{C} . Note that E_n is embedded continuously in E_{n+1} for each $n \in \mathbb{N}$. Put $E := \bigcup_{n \in \mathbb{N}} E_{Q,n}$ and endow E with the topology of the inductive limit of the sequence of Banach spaces $E_n, n \in \mathbb{N}$, with respect to embeddings E_n in E (see [10, Ch. III, § 24]); in symbols, $E := \inf_{n \in \mathbb{N}} E_n$.

Let H(Q) be the space of all holomorphic functions on Q with the compact convergence topology. For a locally convex space F we denote by F' the dual of F. We put $e_z(t) := e^{zt}$, $z, t \in \mathbb{C}$. The Fourier-Laplace transform $\mathcal{F}(\varphi)(z) := \varphi(e_z)$, $z \in \mathbb{C}$, $\varphi \in H(Q)'$, is a topological isomorphism of the strong dual of H(Q) onto E [3, Theorem 4.5.3].

Fix a function $g_0 \in E$ with $g_0(0) = 1$. The generalized backward shift operator is defined by

$$D_{0,g_0}(f)(t) := \begin{cases} \frac{f(t) - g_0(t)f(0)}{t}, & t \neq 0, \\ f'(0) - g'_0(0)f(0), & t = 0, \end{cases}$$

 $f \in E$. Following [1, 2], we introduce shift operators for the operator D_{0,g_0} by putting

$$T_{z,g_0}(f)(t) := \begin{cases} \frac{tf(t)g_0(z) - zf(z)g_0(t)}{t-z}, & t \neq z, \\ zg_0(z)f'(z) - zf(z)g'_0(z) + f(z)g_0(z), & t = z, \end{cases}$$

 $z \in \mathbb{C}, f \in E$. Set

$$\widetilde{T}_{z,g_0}(f)(t) := \begin{cases} \frac{f(t)g_0(z) - f(z)g_0(t)}{t-z}, & t \neq z, \\ g_0(z)f'(z) - f(z)g'_0(z), & t = z, \end{cases}$$

 $f \in E, z \in \mathbb{C}$. For $z \in \mathbb{C}$ the Pommiez operators D_z are defined by

$$D_{z}(f)(t) := \begin{cases} \frac{f(t) - f(z)}{t - z}, \ t \neq z, \\ f'(z), \ t = z, \end{cases}$$

 $f \in E$. All operators $T_{z,g_0}, \widetilde{T}_{z,g_0}, D_z, z \in \mathbb{C}$, are continuous and linear in E.

For an integer $n \ge 0$ by $\mathbb{C}[z]_n$ we denote the space of polynomials of degree at most *n*. Note that Ker $D_{0,g_0}^n = g_0 \mathbb{C}[z]_{n-1}$ for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$.

With the help of shift operators for D_{0,g_0} in E' one can define a multiplication \otimes by $(\varphi \otimes \psi)(f) = \varphi_z(\psi(T_{z,g_0}(f)), \varphi, \psi \in E', f \in E$. By Ivanova and Melikhov [5, 2.2] the space E' is an associative and commutative algebra with the multiplication \otimes .

Let $\mathcal{K}(D_{0,g_0})$ be the set of all continuous linear operators B in E, such that $BD_{0,g_0} = D_{0,g_0}B$ in E. This set an algebra with the operation of composition of operators taken as multiplication. Note that $T_{z,g_0} \in \mathcal{K}(D_{0,g_0})$ for every $z \in \mathbb{C}$. For a functional $\varphi \in E'$ we define the operator $B_{\varphi}(f)(z) := \varphi(T_{z,g_0}(f)), z \in \mathbb{C}$, $f \in E$. It is continuous and linear in E.

In [5, Lemma 17] the following result is proved:

Theorem 2.1 The map $\varphi \mapsto B_{\varphi}$ is an isomorphism of the algebra (E', \otimes) onto $\mathcal{K}(D_{0,g_0})$.

From Theorem 2.1 it follows that the algebra $\mathcal{K}(D_{0,g_0})$ is commutative.

From the commutativity of \otimes it follows that for each $\varphi \in E'$ the convolution operator $S_{\varphi} : E' \to E', \psi \mapsto \varphi \otimes \psi$, is the adjoint of the operator $B_{\varphi} : E \to E$ with respect to the dual system (E, E').

Remark 2.1 We will use the following well known properties of support functions H_n :

(i) For each $n \in \mathbb{N}$ there is $\varepsilon > 0$, such that

$$\sup_{z\in\mathbb{C}} \left(H_n(z) + \varepsilon |z| - H_{n+1}(z)\right) < +\infty.$$

(ii)
$$\lim_{|t|\to+\infty} \left(\left(\sup_{|\xi-t|\leq\delta} H_n(\xi) \right) - H_{n+1}(t) \right) = -\infty \text{ for each } n \in \mathbb{N} \text{ and } \delta > 0.$$

Let $\mathcal{F}^t : E' \to H(Q)$ be the adjoint of the operator $\mathcal{F} : H(Q)' \to E$ with respect to dual systems (H(Q)', H(Q)) and (E', E). Then $\mathcal{F}^t(\varphi)(z) = \varphi(e_z)$,

 $z \in Q, \varphi \in E'$. In addition, \mathcal{F}^t is a topological isomorphism of the strong dual of E onto H(Q) (see [6, 3.2]). We will write $\widehat{\varphi} := \mathcal{F}^t(\varphi)$ for $\varphi \in E'$.

By M we will denote the operator of multiplication by the independent variable.

Remark 2.2

(i) By Ivanova and Melikhov [6, Lemma 14] the equality

$$T_{z,g_0}(f) = g_0(z)D_z(M(f)) - M(f)(z)D_z(g_0), \ z \in \mathbb{C}, \ f \in E,$$

holds.

(ii) For $f \in E \setminus \{0\}$, $h \in H(Q)$ let $\omega_f(z, h)$ be the Leont'ev's interpolating function (see [9]). Using the equality [4, Example 1] $\omega_f(z, h) = \mathcal{F}^{-1}(D_z(f))(h)$, $z \in \mathbb{C}$, we rewrite the equality in (i) for $\varphi \in E'$ as follows:

$$B_{\varphi}(f)(z) = g_0(z)\omega_{M(f)}(z,\widehat{\varphi}) - M(f)(z)\omega_{g_0}(z,\widehat{\varphi}), \ z \in \mathbb{C}, \ f \in E \setminus \{0\}.$$
(2.1)

(iii) Let $f \in E \setminus \{0\}$, $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$ and $f(\lambda) = 0$. By Leont'ev [9, Lemma 2] for the function $f_1(t) := \frac{f(t)}{t-\lambda}$

$$\omega_f(z,h) = (z-\lambda)\omega_{f_1}(z,h) - \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_C \gamma_f(t)h(t)dt, \ z \in \mathbb{C}, \ h \in H(Q).$$
(2.2)

Here C is a closed convex curve in Q, which surrounds the conjugate diagram of f, γ_f is the Borel transform of f.

(iv) For each $\varphi \in E'$, $f \in E$ the equality $\varphi(f) = \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{C} \gamma_f(t) \widehat{\varphi}(t) dt$ holds, where *C* is a closed convex curve in *Q*, which surrounds the conjugate diagram of *f*.

The main purpose of this article is to describe operators of $\mathcal{K}(D_{0,g_0})$, which are isomorphisms of *E*, and to classify operators of $\mathcal{K}(D_{0,g_0})$, which are not isomorphism of *E*.

3 Auxiliary Results

We put $B_n := \{f \in E_n \mid ||f||_n \le 1\}$ and $||\varphi||_n^* := \sup_{\substack{f \in B_n \\ f \in B_n}} |\varphi(f)|, \varphi \in E', n \in \mathbb{N}.$

For $\varphi \in E'$ the operator $A_{\varphi}(f)(z) := \varphi_t \left(t \widetilde{T}_{z,g_0}(f)(t) \right), z \in \mathbb{C}, f \in E$, is continuous and linear in *E*. For each $\varphi \in E'$ the equality $B_{\varphi}(f) = \varphi(g_0)f + A_{\varphi}(f)$, $f \in E$, holds. This enables us to study the properties B_{φ} using the theory of compact operators in Banach spaces. The key tool to this is the following result.

Lemma 3.1 Let $g_0 \in E_m$ for some $m \in \mathbb{N}$. For each functional $\varphi \in E'$, each $n \ge m$ the operator A_{φ} is compact in E_n .

Proof The proof is similar to the one by V.A. Tkachenko [11, Theorem 2]. Since the restriction of φ on each space E_k is continuous on E_k , for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$, $h \in E_{n+2}$ we have

$$|\varphi(h)| \leq ||\varphi||_{n+2}^* ||h||_{n+2}.$$

Fix $n \ge m$ and $\varepsilon > 0, z \in \mathbb{C}, f \in B_n$. For $t \in \mathbb{C}$ such that $|t - z| \ge 1/\varepsilon$ we obtain

$$\frac{|t||f(t)g_{0}(z) - f(z)g_{0}(t)|}{|t - z|\exp(H_{n+2}(t))} \leq \varepsilon \left(\frac{|t||f(t)||g_{0}(z)|}{\exp(H_{n+2}(t))} + \frac{|t||f(z)||g_{0}(t)|}{\exp(H_{n+2}(t))}\right) \leq \varepsilon (C_{1}||g_{0}||_{n} \exp(H_{n}(z)) + C_{2}\exp(H_{n}(z))) = \varepsilon (C_{1}||g_{0}||_{n} + C_{2})\exp(H_{n}(z)),$$
(3.1)

where

$$C_1 = \sup_{h \in B_n} \sup_{t \in \mathbb{C}} \frac{|t||h(t)|}{\exp(H_{n+2}(t))} < +\infty, \ C_2 = \sup_{t \in \mathbb{C}} \frac{|t||g_0(t)|}{\exp(H_{n+2}(t))} < +\infty$$

Let now $|t - z| \leq 1/\varepsilon$. Applying the maximum modulus principle to the holomorphic function $\frac{f(t)g_0(z) - f(z)g_0(t)}{t-z}$, we conclude that there exists $t_0 \in \mathbb{C}$ with $|t_0 - z| = 1/\varepsilon$ and

$$\frac{|t||f(t)g_{0}(z) - f(z)g_{0}(t)|}{|t - z|\exp(H_{n+2}(t))} \leq \varepsilon C_{3} \frac{|f(t_{0})||g_{0}(z)| + |f(z)||g_{0}(t_{0})|}{\exp(H_{n+1}(t)))} \leq 2\varepsilon C_{3} ||g_{0}||_{n} \exp(H_{n}(t_{0}) + H_{n}(z) - H_{n+1}(t)) \leq 2\varepsilon C_{3} ||g_{0}||_{n} \exp(H_{n}(z) + \beta(z)),$$
(3.2)

where $C_3 = \sup_{t \in \mathbb{C}} (\exp(\log(1+|t|) + H_{n+1}(t) - H_{n+2}(t))) < +\infty$ and

$$\beta(z) = \sup_{|\eta - z| \le 1/\varepsilon} \left(\left(\sup_{|\xi - \eta| \le 2/\varepsilon} H_n(\xi) \right) - H_{n+1}(\eta) \right).$$

From inequalities (3.1), (3.2) and Remark 2.1 it follows, that

$$\lim_{|z|\to\infty}\sup_{f\in B_n}\frac{|A_{\varphi}(f)(z)|}{\exp(H_n(z))}=0.$$

Hence the set $A_{\varphi}(B_n)$ is relatively compact in E_n .

Lemma 3.2 Let $\varphi \in E'$. If the operator $B_{\varphi} : E \to E$ is injective and $\varphi(g_0) \neq 0$, then it is a topological isomorphism E onto E.

Proof Let $g_0 \in E_m$ for some $m \in \mathbb{N}$. By Lemma 3.1 the operator A_{φ} is compact in each Banach space E_n , $n \ge m$. Since the equality $B_{\varphi}(f) = \varphi(g_0)f + A_{\varphi}(f)$, $f \in E$, holds and $\varphi(g_0) \ne 0$, by the Fredholm alternative the restriction of B_{φ} on each space E_n , $n \ge m$, is a topological isomorphism E_n on itself. From this it follows that $B_{\varphi} : E \rightarrow E$ is a topological isomorphism E onto E.

In the next part of this section let $g_0 = Pe_{\lambda}$ for some $\lambda \in Q$ and some polynomial P such that P(0) = 1. By $\mathcal{D}(P)$ we denote the set of all polynomials q, dividing P and such that q(0) = 1.

We will use the characterization of proper closed D_{0,g_0} -invariant subspaces of E, obtained in [5, Corollary 20] and [7, Theorem 2].

Lemma 3.3 ([5, 7]) For a subspace S of E the following assertions are equivalent:

- (i) S is a proper closed D_{0,g_0} -invariant subspace of E.
- (ii) There exists a polynomial $q \in \mathcal{D}(P)$ of degree greater or equal to 1, such that S = qE, or there exist a polynomial $q \in \mathcal{D}(P)$ and an integer $n \ge 0$, such that $n \ge deg(P) deg(q) 1$ and $S = qe_{\lambda}\mathbb{C}[z]_n$.

Lemma 3.4 Let $\varphi \in E'$ and the operator $B_{\varphi} : E \to E$ be not injective. Then $B_{\varphi}(g_0) = 0$.

Proof For $\varphi = 0$ this statement obvious. Let $\varphi \neq 0$ and $S := \text{Ker } B_{\varphi}$. Then S is a proper closed D_{0,g_0} -invariant subspace of E. We will apply Lemma 3.3.

If there exists a polynomial $q \in \mathcal{D}(P)$ of degree greater or equal to 1 such that S = qE, then $g_0 \in S$. We assume now that there are a polynomial $q \in \mathcal{D}(P)$ and an integer $n \ge 0$ with $n \ge \deg(P) - \deg(q) - 1$ for which $S = qe_{\lambda}\mathbb{C}[z]_n$. If $\deg(q) = \deg(P)$, then q = P and $g_0 = Pe_{\lambda} \in S$. Consider the case $\deg(q) < \deg(P)$. In this case there exists $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$, such that $P(\lambda) = 0$ and $q(z)(z - \lambda)$ divides P(z). Note that the degree of the polynomial $P_1(z) = \frac{P(z)}{q(z)(z-\lambda)}$ is equal to $\deg(P) - \deg(q) - 1$. Hence the function $g_1(z) = q(z)e^{\lambda z}P_1(z) = \frac{P(z)}{z-\lambda}e_{\lambda}$ belongs to *S*. From $B_{\varphi}(g_1) = 0$, by (2.1), it follows that

$$g_0(z)\omega_{M(g_1)}(z,\widehat{\varphi}) - M(g_1)\omega_{g_0}(z,\widehat{\varphi}) = 0.$$
 (3.3)

for all $z \in \mathbb{C}$ and $0 = B_{\varphi}(g_1)(0) = \varphi(g_1)$. By Remark 2.2, this implies that $\frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{C} \gamma_{g_1}(t)\widehat{\varphi}(t)dt = 0$ (a closed convex curve *C* in *Q* surrounds the conjugate diagram of g_1). Multiplying (3.3) by $z - \lambda$ and using the equality (2.2), we infer

$$g_0(z)\omega_{M(g)}(z,\widehat{\varphi}) - M(g)\omega_{g_0}(z,\widehat{\varphi}) = 0$$

for all $z \in \mathbb{C}$. Consequently, by (2.1), $B_{\varphi}(g_0) = 0$.

Lemma 3.5 The following assertions are equivalent:

- (i) The operator $B_{\varphi}: E \to E$ is injective.
- (*ii*) $\varphi(g_0) \neq 0$.

Proof (i) \Rightarrow (ii): From $B_{\varphi}(g_0) = \varphi(g_0)g_0$ it follows that $\varphi(g_0) \neq 0$.

(ii) \Rightarrow (i): Suppose that B_{φ} is not injective. By Lemma 3.4 $B_{\varphi}(g_0) = 0$ and, consequently, $0 = B_{\varphi}(g_0)(0) = \varphi(g_0)$. A contradiction.

For $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$ and an integer $k \ge 0$, we introduce the functional $\delta_{\lambda,k}(f) := f^{(k)}(\lambda)$, $f \in E$. All these functionals are continuous and linear on E.

Lemma 3.6 Let $deg(P) \ge 1$, $k(\lambda)$ be the multiplicity of a zero λ of P. Then the following assertions hold:

- (*i*) $\delta_{\lambda,k} \otimes \delta_{\mu,l} = 0$ for all zeros λ, μ of *P* and for all integers *k*, *l* with $0 \le k \le k(\lambda) 1, 0 \le l \le k(\mu) 1$.
- (ii) $B_{\delta_{\lambda,k}}B_{\delta_{\mu,l}} = 0$ for all zeros λ, μ of P and for all integers k, l with $0 \le k \le k(\lambda) 1, 0 \le l \le k(\mu) 1$.

Proof The assertion (i) is verified directly (see, for example, [5, the proof of Lemma 6]).

The equality in (ii) follows from $B_{\varphi}B_{\psi} = B_{\varphi\otimes\psi}, \varphi, \psi \in E'$ (see Theorem 2.1).

Suppose that deg(*P*) \geq 1. For a polynomial $q \in \mathcal{D}(P)$ of degree greater or equal to 1 let λ_j , $1 \leq j \leq m$, be all different zeros of q, k_j be the multiplicity of the zero λ_j of q. We define the "canonical" functional, corresponding to q, by

$$\delta(q) := \sum_{j=1}^{m} \sum_{k=0}^{k_j-1} \delta_{\lambda_j,k}.$$

Lemma 3.7 Let $deg(P) \ge 1$. For each polynomial $q \in D(P)$ of degree greater or equal to 1 the equality Ker $B_{\delta(q)} = qE$ holds.

Proof Employing standard calculations, for $f \in E$ we obtain:

$$B_{\delta(q)}(f)(z) = \delta(q)_t \left(f(t)g_0(z) + z \frac{f(t)g_0(z) - f(z)g_0(t)}{t - z} \right) =$$

$$g_0(z) \sum_{j=1}^m \sum_{k=0}^{k_j-1} f^{(k)}(\lambda_j) + zg_0(z) \sum_{j=1}^m \sum_{k=0}^{k_j-1} \sum_{s=0}^k C_k^s f^{(k-s)}(\lambda_j) \frac{(-1)^s s!}{(\lambda_j - z)^{s+1}} =$$

$$g_0(z) \sum_{j=1}^m \sum_{s=1}^{k_j} \frac{1}{(\lambda_j - z)^s} \sum_{l=0}^{k_j-s} \beta_{s,l} f^{(l)}(\lambda_j), \qquad (3.4)$$

where all constants $\beta_{l,s}$ are independent of $f \in E$ and $\beta_{s,k_j-s} \neq 0, 1 \leq s \leq k_j$, $0 \leq l \leq k_j - s$.

Let $B_{\delta(q)}(f) = 0$ for some $f \in E$. From (3.4) it follows that $\sum_{l=0}^{k_j-s} \beta_{s,l} f^{(l)}(\lambda_j) = 0$, $1 \le s \le k_j$, $1 \le j \le m$. Hence $f^{(l)}(\lambda_j) = 0$, $0 \le l \le k_j - 1$, $1 \le j \le m$, and, consequently, $f \in qE$. Vice versa, if $f \in qE$, then (3.4) implies $B_{\delta(q)}(f) = 0$. \Box

4 Main Results

In this section we fix a point $\lambda \in Q$ and a polynomial P with P(0) = 1 and put $g_0 := Pe_{\lambda}$.

Theorem 4.1 For $\varphi \in E'$ the following assertions are equivalent:

(i) The operator B_{φ} is a topological isomorphism E onto E.

(*ii*) $\varphi(g_0) \neq 0$.

Proof (i) \Rightarrow (ii): If B_{φ} is a topological isomorphism *E* onto *E*, then the operator B_{φ} is injective. Hence $\varphi(g_0) \neq 0$ by Lemma 3.5.

(ii) \Rightarrow (i): By Lemma 3.5 B_{φ} is injective in *E*. By Lemma 3.2 B_{φ} : $E \rightarrow E$ is a topological isomorphism "onto".

We will prove a result on the factorization of nonzero operators B_{φ} . Note, that the lattice of proper closed D_{0,g_0} -invariant subspaces of *E* is not linearly ordered in the case when the function g_0 has zeros [7, Theorem 2]. This significantly affects factorization.

For polynomials $q, r \in \mathcal{D}(P)$ we denote by $(q, r)_1$ the greatest common divisor d of q and r with d(0) = 1.

Theorem 4.2 Let $\varphi \in E'$, $\varphi \neq 0$ and $\varphi(g_0) = 0$. Then either there exist $\psi \in E'$, $n \in \mathbb{N}$, for which B_{ψ} is a topological isomorphism E onto E and $B_{\varphi} = D_{0,g_0}^n B_{\psi}$, or there are a polynomial $q \in \mathcal{D}(P)$ of degree greater or equal to 1, an integer $n \geq 0$, $\psi \in E'$, such that B_{ψ} is a topological isomorphism E onto E and $B_{\varphi} = B_{\delta(q)} D_{0,g_0}^n B_{\psi}$.

Proof We will exploit Lemma 3.3. First of all, $S = \text{Ker } B_{\varphi}$ is a proper closed D_{0,g_0} -invariant subspace of H(Q). We suppose that $S = qe_{\lambda}\mathbb{C}[z]_n$ for some $q \in \mathcal{D}(P)$ and some integer $n \ge 0$ for which $n \ge \deg(P) - \deg(q) - 1$. We will show that q = P. Assume that $\exp(q) < \deg(P)$. Since $\varphi(g_0) = 0$, we have $B_{\varphi}(g_0) = \varphi(g_0)g_0 = 0$. Consequently, $g_0 \in S$ and hence $Pe_{\lambda}\mathbb{C}[z]_0 \subset S$. Choose the greatest integer $m \ge 0$ such that $Pe_{\lambda}\mathbb{C}[z]_m \subset S$. Since the space $\text{Ker } D_{0,g_0}^{m+1} = Pe_{\lambda}\mathbb{C}[z]_m$ is finite-dimensional and the operator $D_{0,g_0}^{m+1} : E \to E$ is surjective, there exists a continuous linear right inverse $R : E \to E$ to D_{0,g_0}^{m+1} [10, Theorem 10.3]. Then $RD_{0,g_0}^{m+1}(f) - f \in \text{Ker } D_{0,g_0}^{m+1}$ for all $f \in E$. Note that $\varphi = 0$ on $\text{Ker } B_{\varphi}$, since

 $\varphi(f) = B_{\varphi}(f)(0)$ for each $f \in E$. Consequently, $\gamma D_{0,g_0}^{m+1} = \varphi$ for the functional $\gamma := \varphi R \in E'$. For each $z \in \mathbb{C}$, $f \in E$ we obtain:

$$B_{\varphi}(f)(z) = \varphi(T_{z,g_0}(f)) = \gamma \left(D_{0,g_0}^{m+1} \left(T_{z,g_0}(f) \right) \right) = \gamma \left(T_{z,g_0} \left(D_{0,g_0}^{m+1}(f) \right) \right) =$$
$$B_{\gamma} \left(D_{0,g_0}^{m+1}(f) \right)(z) = D_{0,g_0}^{m+1} B_{\gamma}(f)(z),$$

i.e. $B_{\varphi} = D_{0,g_0}^{m+1} B_{\gamma}$. In addition, $\gamma(g_0) = 0$. In fact, otherwise B_{γ} is injective by Lemma 3.5 and Ker $B_{\varphi} = \text{Ker } D_{0,g_0}^{m+1} = Pe_{\lambda}\mathbb{C}[z]_m$. A contradiction with Ker $B_{\varphi} = qe_{\lambda}\mathbb{C}[z]_n$. Hence there exist $s \in \mathbb{N}$ and $\xi \in E'$ for which $B_{\gamma} = D_{0,g_0}^s B_{\xi}$, and consequently, $B_{\varphi} = D_{0,g_0}^{m+s+1} B_{\xi}$. This is a contradiction with the maximality of m. Thus, q = P. By Theorem 4.1 B_{ψ} is a topological isomorphism E onto E.

Let now S = qE for a polynomial $q \in \mathcal{D}(P)$ of degree greater or equal to 1. By Lemma 3.7 Ker $B_{\delta(q)} = qE$. Since Ker $B_{\delta(q)}$ has the finite codimension, the image $B_{\delta(q)}(E)$ is finite-dimensional. From this it follows that $B_{\delta(q)}(E)$ is a Fréchet space with the topology induced from E. Consequently, there is a continuous linear right inverse $R_0 : B_{\delta(q)}(E) \to E$ to $B_{\delta(q)} : E \to B_{\delta(q)}(E)$. Define a functional ξ_0 on $B_{\delta(q)}(E)$ as $\xi_0 := \varphi R_0$. Then ξ_0 is continuous and linear on $B_{\delta(q)}(E)$ with the topology, induced from E. By the Hahn-Banach Theorem ξ_0 can be extended to a continuous linear functional ξ on E. Since $R_0 B_{\delta(q)}(f) - f \in$ Ker $B_{\delta(q)} =$ Ker B_{φ} for all $f \in E$, we have $\xi_0 B_{\delta(q)} = \varphi$ and also $\xi B_{\delta(q)} = \varphi$. As in the first case, from this we infer $B_{\varphi} = B_{\delta(q)} B_{\xi}$. If $\xi(g_0) \neq 0$, then the lemma is proved (with $\psi = \xi$ and n = 0). If $\xi(g_0) = 0$, then we factorize B_{ξ} in the form $B_{\xi} = D_{0,g0}^n B_{\psi}$, where $n \in \mathbb{N}, \psi \in E', \psi(g_0) \neq 0$, or $B_{\xi} = B_{\delta(r)} B_{\tau}, \tau \in E', r \in \mathcal{D}(P)$. Second decomposition is not valid, since otherwise $B_{\varphi} = B_{\delta(q)} B_{\delta(r)} B_{\tau} = 0$ by Lemma 3.6. In addition, B_{ψ} is a topological isomorphism E onto E by Theorem 4.1.

Corollary 4.1 Each nonzero operator from $\mathcal{K}(D_{0,g_0})$, which is not finitedimensional, is surjective and has a continuous linear right inverse.

Remark 4.1 Let Lat(D_{0,g_0}, E) be the lattice of all closed D_{0,g_0} -invariant subspaces of *E*. From the proof of Theorem 4.2 it follows, that the set of kernels of all operators $B_{\varphi}, \varphi \in E'$, coincides with Lat(D_{0,g_0}, E) if and only if the function $g_0 = Pe_{\lambda}$ has no zeros, i.e. $P \equiv 1$.

Remark 4.2 V.A. Tkachenko [11] investigated properties of the commutant of the operator of generalized integration \mathcal{I} in the strong dual of a countable inductive limit of weighted Banach spaces of entire functions, whose growth is determined with the help of a ρ -trigonometric convex function ($\rho > 0$) with values in $(-\infty, +\infty]$. The operator \mathcal{I} is the dual map (we use notations of this article) to the operator D_{0,g_0} for a function $g_0 = e^{\mathcal{P}}$, where \mathcal{P} is a polynomial. This function has no zeros in \mathbb{C} . The operator \mathcal{I} is unicellular. In the unicellular case of our article, if $g_0(z) = e^{\lambda z}$, Theorems 4.1 and 4.2 follow from statements, proved by V.A. Tkachenko [11, § 4, Property d); Theorem 2].

5 The Generalized Duhamel Product

We will apply Theorem 4.1 to a multiplication in H(Q). Let $g_0 = Pe_{\lambda}$, where $\lambda \in Q$ and P is a polynomial such that P(0) = 1. By Ivanova and Melikhov [7, § 4] $\mathcal{F}^t(\varphi \otimes \psi) = \mathcal{F}^t(\varphi) * \mathcal{F}^t(\psi)$ for all $\varphi, \psi \in E'$, where * is an associative and commutative multiplication in H(Q).

For a polynomial $r(z) = \sum_{j=0}^{n} b_j z^j$ we define the differential operator $r(D)(f) := \sum_{j=0}^{n} b_j f^{(j)}$. Note, that $\varphi(Pe_{\lambda}) = P(D) \left(\mathcal{F}^t(\varphi) \right)(\lambda), \varphi \in E'$. Let $m := \deg(P) \ge 1$. We introduce polynomials $p_j, 0 \le j \le m - 1$, for which $\sum_{j=0}^{m-1} p_j(t) z^j = \frac{P(t) - P(z)}{t-z}$. Set $\widetilde{p}_j(t) := tp_j(t), 0 \le j \le m - 1, t \in \mathbb{C}$. As shown in [7, § 4], for all $f, h \in H(Q), z \in Q$

$$(f * h)(z) =$$

$$h(\lambda)P(D)(f)(z) + \int_{\lambda}^{z} P(D)(f)(\xi)h'(z+\lambda-\xi)d\xi - \sum_{j=0}^{m-1} \widetilde{p}_{j}(D)(f)(z)h^{(j)}(\lambda),$$

where the integral is taken along the line segment from λ to *z*. Employing integration by parts and substitution $\eta = z + \lambda - \xi$, for $f, h \in H(Q), z \in Q$, we infer

$$(f * h)(z) =$$

$$P(D)(f)(\lambda)h(z) + \int_{\lambda}^{z} (P(D)(f))'(\eta)h'(z+\lambda-\eta)d\xi - \sum_{j=0}^{m-1} \widetilde{p}_{j}(D)(f)(z)h^{(j)}(\lambda).$$

This expression for the multiplication * emphasizes the significance of the factor $P(D)(f)(\lambda)$. For $P \equiv 1$

$$(f*h)(z) = f(\lambda)h(z) + \int_{\lambda}^{z} f'(\eta)h(z+\lambda-\eta)d\eta, \ z \in Q, \ f,h \in H(Q).$$

If $P \equiv 1$, $\lambda = 0$, then f * h is the Duhamel product. In the space of all holomorphic functions on a domain in \mathbb{C} , star-shaped with respect to the origin, this product was investigated for the first time by Wigley [12].

Define for $f \in H(Q)$ the Duhamel operator $G_f(h) := f * h, h \in H(Q)$, which is continuous and linear in H(Q). Note that $\widehat{S_{\varphi}(\psi)} = G_{\widehat{\varphi}}(\widehat{\psi})$ for all $\varphi, \psi \in E'$. Applying standard dual arguments to Theorem 4.1, we get the following result:

Corollary 5.1 For $f \in H(Q)$ the operator G_f is a topological isomorphism H(Q) onto H(Q) if and only if $P(D)(f)(\lambda) \neq 0$.

In the case $g_0 \equiv 1$, i.e. $P \equiv 1$, $\lambda = 0$, this statement was proved by Wigley [12] (for a domain Q, which is star-shaped with respect to the origin).

References

- 1. Binderman, V.G.: Functional shifts induced by right invertible operators. Math. Nachr. 157, 211–224 (1992)
- Dimovski, I.N., Hristov, V.Z.: Commutants of the Pommiez operator. Int. J. Math. Math. Sci. 8(8), 1239–1251 (2005)
- Hörmander, L.: An Introduction to Complex Analysis in Several Variables. North-Holland Math. Library, vol. 7. North-Holland, Amsterdam (1973)
- Ivanova, O.A., Melikhov, S.N.: On A. F. Leont'ev's interpolating function. Ufa Math. J. 6(3), 17–27 (2014)
- Ivanova, O.A., Melikhov, S.N.: On operators which commute with the Pommiez type operator in weighted spaces of entire functions. St. Petersburg Math. J. 28(2), 209–224 (2017)
- Ivanova, O.A., Melikhov, S.N.: On the completeness of orbits of a Pommiez operator in weighted (LF)-spaces of entire functions. Compl. Anal. Oper. Theory 11, 1407–1424 (2017)
- Ivanova, O.A., Melikhov, S.N.: On invariant subspaces of the Pommiez operator in the spaces of entire functions of exponential type. J. Math. Sci. 241(6), 760–769 (2019)
- 8. Karaev, M.T.: Duhamel algebras and applications. Funct. Anal. Appl. 52(1), 1-8 (2018)
- 9. Leont'ev, A.F.: On the uniqueness property. Math. USSR-Sbornik 1, 209-220 (1967)
- 10. Meise, R., Vogt, D.: Introduction to Functional Analysis. Clarendon, Oxford (1997)
- 11. Tkachenko, V.A.: Operators that commute with generalized integration in spaces of analytic functionals. Math. Notes **22**(2), 141–146 (1979)
- 12. Wigley, N.: The Duamel product of analytic functions. Duke Math. J. 41, 211-217 (1974)

Global Boundedness of Solutions of Continuous Social Stratification Model



A. Kazarnikov

Abstract We consider the continuous social stratification model in the special case when the influence of negative factors is uniformly spread among the society. We first obtain spatially homogeneous solutions of the problem. Next we employ the comparison theorems for nonlinear parabolic equations to derive sufficient conditions of global boundedness and blow up for the solutions which correspond to spatially inhomogeneous initial data. Finally we perform numerical and analytical study of the strain localization effect in the case of no external influence on the society.

Keywords Continuous social stratification model · Nonlinear diffusion equation · Global boundedness · Blow up

MSC Code 35K55

1 Introduction

Mathematical modelling of social phenomena is actively studied in literature. The methodology of statistical physics is being successfully applied to models describing social dynamics [1, 2], human cooperation [3] and crime hotspots [4]. In the limit of large populations it becomes possible to apply continuous models, based on partial differential equations [4, 5].

In the paper [6], the quantitative assessment of the social strain has been suggested. In the same paper the authors have developed a simple mathematical model for short-range prediction of the background social strain level. This approach has been consequently successfully applied to the modelling of various social phenomena: strike movement in Russia during the end of the nineteenth century

A. Kazarnikov (🖂)

Southern Mathematical Institute of the Vladikavkaz Scientific Centre of the Russian Academy of Sciences, Vladikavkaz, Russia

[©] The Editor(s) (if applicable) and The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

A. G. Kusraev, Z. D. Totieva (eds.), *Operator Theory and Differential Equations*, Trends in Mathematics, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-49763-7_5

and the beginning of the nineteenth century, social strain in the post-war USSR [7], the interaction of elite and workers [8] and protest activities [9].

Mathematical models, considered in [6-10] contain a low number of interacting social groups. The complexity of the equations, however, grows as the number of social groups increases, which makes qualitative analysis extremely difficult. In this case it is natural to consider a model of continuous medium. This means that instead of the discrete set of interacting social groups one can consider their continuous distribution on some finite interval and arrive at a model of continuous social stratification

$$\frac{\partial P}{\partial t} = U(x,t) - \gamma P + \mu(x)P^2 + \frac{\partial}{\partial x} \left(C(x) \frac{P}{1-P} \frac{\partial P}{\partial x} \right), \tag{1}$$

where $P = P(x, t) \in [0, 1)$ is the normalized background social strain level (see [6]), $x \in (0, 1)$ is the stratification variable, C(x) is the stratification diffusion of social strain, $\mu(x)$ is the autoexitation of society, U(x, t) is the external influence on society, $\gamma > 0$ is the strain dissipation coefficient and $t \ge 0$ is dimensionless time. This model may be considered as a spatially distributed generalization of those studied in [6–10]. The term $\frac{P}{1-P}$ here express the assumption that the speed at which the social strain spreads to the "neighbouring" social groups grows with the local level of strain (see [8] for details).

Let us assume that the influence of negative factors is uniformly spread among the society and put $U \equiv U_0 \ge 0$, $C \equiv C_0 > 0$, $\mu \equiv \mu_0 > 0$. Then the Eq. (1) can be written as

$$\frac{\partial P}{\partial t} = U_0 - \gamma P + \mu_0 P^2 + C_0 \frac{\partial}{\partial x} \left(\frac{P}{1 - P} \frac{\partial P}{\partial x} \right).$$
(2)

It is also assumed, that the ends of the interval (0, 1) are supplied with homogeneous Neumann boundary conditions

$$\frac{\partial P}{\partial x}|_{x=0,1} = 0. \tag{3}$$

The main purpose of the present work can be formulated as follows: to find the sufficient conditions of boundedness for the solutions of continuous social stratification model (2) and to start the numerical and analytical investigation of the strain localization effect in the Eq. (2) in the special case of no external influence.

2 The Change of Variables

In the Eq. (2) the normalized background social strain level P(x, t) is defined on the half-closed interval [0, 1). Let us introduce the change of variables, which transforms the half-closed interval [0, 1) into the half-line $[0, +\infty)$. Let us define a

Global Boundedness of Solutions of Continuous Social Stratification Model

function T(x, t) by

$$P(x,t) = \frac{T(x,t)}{1+T(x,t)}.$$
(4)

Then $T(x, t) \xrightarrow{P \to 1} +\infty$, $T(x, t) \xrightarrow{P \to 0} 0$ and the Eq.(2) could be written in the form

$$\frac{\partial T}{\partial t} = U_0(1+T)^2 - \gamma T(1+T) + \mu_0 T^2 + C_0(1+T)^2 \frac{\partial}{\partial x} \left(\frac{T}{(1+T)^2} \frac{\partial T}{\partial x} \right), \quad (5)$$

while Neumann boundary conditions (3) are expressed by the formula

$$\frac{\partial T}{\partial x}|_{x=0,1} = 0. \tag{6}$$

3 Spatially Homogeneous Solutions

By putting T = T(t) in (5) we arrive at the ordinary differential equation

$$\frac{\partial T}{\partial t} = U_0 + (2U_0 - \gamma)T + (\mu_0 + U_0 - \gamma)T^2.$$
(7)

The equilibria of (7) could be obtained from the equation

$$(\mu_0 + U_0 - \gamma)T^2 + (2U_0 - \gamma)T + U_0 = 0.$$
(8)

Let us define $U^* = \gamma - \mu_0$, then for $U_0 \neq U^*$ the leading coefficient of the polynomial (8) is not equal to zero and there exists a pair of roots

$$T_0^{1,2} = \frac{\gamma - 2U_0 \pm \sqrt{\gamma^2 - 4U_0\mu_0}}{2(\mu_0 + U_0 - \gamma)},\tag{9}$$

which are real when $U_0 \leq U_{cr}$, $U_{cr} = \frac{\gamma^2}{4\mu_0}$. If $\mu_0 > \gamma$, then $T_0^{1,2} \geq 0$, otherwise the sign of constant solutions of (7) differs with respect to values of μ_0 and γ (see Table 1). If $U_0 = U^*$ then the Eq. (8) becomes a first-order equation. In the case when $\gamma \neq 2\mu_0$ there exists a root $T^* = -\frac{\gamma - \mu_0}{\gamma - 2\mu_0}$, otherwise if $\gamma = 2\mu_0$ we get that $U^* = U_{cr}$ and as a result the Eq. (8) has no roots.

Condition	$0 \le U_0 < U^*$	$U = U^*$	$U^* < U \leq U_{cr}$
$\gamma < 2\mu_0$	$T_0^1 < 0$ $T_0^2 \ge 0$	$T^* = -\frac{\gamma - \mu_0}{\gamma - 2\mu_0} \ge 0$	$T_0^1 > 0, T_0^2 > 0$
$\gamma = 2\mu_0$		$ \exists T^* $	—
$\gamma > 2\mu_0$		$T^* = -\frac{\gamma - \mu_0}{\gamma - 2\mu_0} < 0$	$T_0^1 < 0, T_0^2 < 0$

Table 1 Steady state solutions of the Eq. (5) when $\mu_0 \leq \gamma$

Let us find the solutions of (7) which are different from steady states. First assume that $U_0 \neq U^*$ and $U_0 < U_{cr}$. Then the general solution of this equation can be written as

$$T(t) = T_0^1 + \frac{B}{A(1 - C_0 e^{Bt})}, \ A = \mu_0 + U_0 - \gamma \neq 0, \ B = \sqrt{\gamma^2 - 4U_0\mu_0},$$
(10)

where $C_0 = 1 - \frac{B}{A(T(0) - T_0^1)}$. If $0 < C_0 < 1$, which corresponds to the case $T(0) > C_0$ T_0^1 for A > 0 and $T(0) < T_0^1$ for A < 0, then $T(t) \rightarrow +\infty, t \rightarrow t^*$, where $t^* = \frac{1}{B}ln(\frac{1}{C_0})$. Otherwise $T(t) \to T_0^1$ when $t \to +\infty$. If $U = U_{cr}$ then the Eq. (8) has one multiple root and the general solution of (7) can be written as

$$T(t) = \frac{\gamma - 2U_0}{2(\mu_0 + U_{cr} - \gamma)} + \frac{1}{A(C_0 - t)},$$
(11)

where $C_0 = \frac{1}{A(T(0)+T_0^1)}$, and the constant A was defined in (10).

In the case $U > U_{cr}^{\circ}$ the general solution of (7) can be written as

$$T(t) = \frac{\gamma - 2U_0}{4A} + \sqrt{G}tg(\frac{A}{\sqrt{G}}t + C_0), \ G = \frac{4U_0\mu_0 - \gamma^2}{4A^2},$$
(12)

where $C_0 = \operatorname{arctg}(\frac{T(0) + \frac{2U_0 - \gamma}{4A}}{\sqrt{G}})$ and for any initial data $T(t) \to +\infty$ when $t \to t^*$. Let us assume that $U_0 = U^*$ and $\gamma \neq 2\mu_0$. Then the general solution of (7) is

given by

$$T(t) = \frac{\gamma - \mu_0}{\gamma - 2\mu_0} + C_0 e^{(\gamma - 2\mu_0)t},$$
(13)

where $C_0 = T(0) - \frac{\gamma - \mu_0}{\gamma - 2\mu_0}$. If $\gamma = 2\mu_0$, then we get

$$T(t) = T(0) + \mu_0 t.$$
(14)

4 Sufficient Conditions for Global Boundedness

Spatially homogeneous solutions of the Eq. (5) can be used for studying the properties of solutions, which correspond to spatially inhomogeneous initial data. Let us assume that $\mu_0 > \gamma$. If $U_0 \leq U_{cr}$ then there exists a pair of non-negative steady states $T_0^{1,2}$ and Propositions 1–6 hold. These propositions follow from existing comparison theorems for nonlinear parabolic partial differential equations (see. [11-13]).

Proposition 1 Let $\mu_0 > \gamma$ and $U_0 \le \frac{\gamma^2}{4\mu_0}$ and consider a solution T(x, t) of the problem (5)–(6). Then the following assertions hold:

1. If $T(x, 0) < T_0^1$ then $T(x, t) \to T_0^2$ as $t \to +\infty$. 2. If $T(x, 0) > T_0^1$ then there exists such $t^* > 0$ that $T(x, t) \to +\infty$ as $t \to t^*$.

3. If
$$H_0 = \int_0^1 \frac{T(x,0)}{1+T(x,0)} dx > \frac{T_0^1}{1+T_0^1}$$
 then there exists such $t^* > 0$ that $T(x,t) \to +\infty$
as $t \to t^*$.

Let us consider the case when $U_0 > U_{cr}$. Then $T_0^{1,2} \in \mathbb{C}$ and all solutions of the Eq. (5) blow up.

Proposition 2 Let $\mu_0 > \gamma$ and $U_0 > \frac{\gamma^2}{4\mu_0}$. Let us consider a solution T(x, t) of the problem (5)–(6). Then there exists such $t^* > 0$ that $T(x, t) \to +\infty$ as $t \to t^*$.

Let $\mu_0 < \gamma$. Then for $0 \le U_0 < U^*$ solutions of the Eq. (5) are bounded and tend to the steady state T_0^2 as $t \to +\infty$.

Proposition 3 Let $\mu_0 \leq \gamma$ and $U \leq U^* = \gamma - \mu$. Let us consider a solution T(x, t) of the problem (5)–(6). Then $T(x, t) \to T_0^2$ as $t \to +\infty$.

Proposition 4 Let $\mu_0 \leq \gamma$ and $U = U^* = \gamma - \mu$. Consider a solution T(x, t) of the problem (5)–(6). Then the following assertions hold:

1. If $\mu_0 \leq \gamma < 2\mu_0$ then $T(x, t) \rightarrow T^* = -\frac{\gamma - \mu_0}{\gamma - 2\mu_0}$. 2. If $\gamma \geq 2\mu_0$ then $T(x, t) \rightarrow +\infty$ as $t \rightarrow +\infty$.

Let $U^* < U_0 < U_{cr}$. Then the following propositions hold.

Proposition 5 Let $U^* < U_0 < U_{cr}$ and $\mu_0 \leq \gamma \leq 2\mu_0$. Consider a solution T(x, t) of the problem (5)–(6). Then the following assertions hold:

- 1. If $T(x, 0) < T_0^1$ then $T(x, t) \to T_0^2$ as $t \to +\infty$. 2. If $T(x, 0) > T_0^1$ then there exists such $t^* > 0$ that $T(x, t) \to +\infty$ as $t \to t^*$.
- 3. If $H_0 = \int_0^1 \frac{T(x,0)}{1+T(x,0)} dx > \frac{T_0^1}{1+T_0^1}$ then there exists such $t^* > 0$ that $T(x,t) \to +\infty$ as $t \to t^*$

Proposition 6 Let $\gamma \ge 2\mu_0$ and $U > U^* = \gamma - \mu$. Consider a solution T(x, t) of the problem (5)–(6). Then there exists such $t^* > 0$ that $T(x, t) \to +\infty$ as $t \to t^*$.

5 Social Strain Localization in the Case of No External Influence

The diffusion term in the Eq. (5) can be written as

$$C_0(1+T)^2 \frac{\partial}{\partial x} \left(\frac{T}{(1+T)^2} \frac{\partial T}{\partial x} \right) = C_0 \frac{\partial}{\partial x} \left(T \frac{\partial T}{\partial x} \right) - 2C_0 \frac{T}{1+T} \left(\frac{\partial T}{\partial x} \right)^2.$$
(15)

Let us consider the auxiliary equation

$$\frac{\partial T}{\partial t} = (\mu_0 + U_0 - \gamma)T^2 + (2U_0 - \gamma)T + U_0 + C_0 \frac{\partial}{\partial x} \left(T \frac{\partial T}{\partial x}\right), \quad (16)$$

then the solutions of (16) are at the same time the upper solutions of the Eq. (5). Let us put $U_0 = 0$. Then the Eq. (16) can be written as

$$\frac{\partial T}{\partial t} = (\mu_0 - \gamma)T^2 - \gamma T + C_0 \frac{\partial}{\partial x} \left(T \frac{\partial T}{\partial x}\right).$$
(17)

Let us assume that $\mu_0 > \gamma$. Then the Eq. (17) possess a family of automodel solutions (see [14]):

$$T_F(x, t, \phi_0) = \begin{cases} \frac{1}{1 - Fe^{\gamma T}} A_T \cos^2(\omega_T(x - \phi_0)), \ |\omega_T(x - \phi_0)| \le \frac{\pi}{2};\\ 0, \qquad \qquad |\omega_T(x - \phi_0)| > \frac{\pi}{2}, \end{cases}$$
(18)

where $A_T = \frac{4\gamma}{3(\mu_0 - \gamma)}$, $\omega_T = \frac{\sqrt{\mu_0 - \gamma}}{2\sqrt{2C_0}}$, $\phi_0 \in [\frac{\pi}{2\omega_T}, 1 - \frac{\pi}{2\omega_T}]$. If F < 0 then $T_F(x, t, \phi_0) \to 0$ as $t \to +\infty$. If F = 0 then $T_0(x, \phi_0)$ is a spatially inhomogeneous stationary solution of the Eq. (17). If $F \in (0, 1)$ then $T_F(x, t, \phi_0) \to +\infty$ as $t \to t^*$.

The solutions $T_F(x, t, \phi_0)$ are localized in space, which means that for every t > 0 we have $supp T_F(x, t, \phi_0) = supp T_F(x, 0, \phi_0)$ and these solutions are generalized solutions of (17) because there are two degenerate points $x = \phi_0 \pm \frac{\pi}{2\omega_T}$. Therefore, for sufficiently small C_0 it is possible to consider combinations of $T_F(x, t, \phi_0)$, which correspond to different shift values ϕ_0 . Since $\frac{\partial}{\partial x}T_F(\phi_0, t, \phi_0) = 0$, it is also possible to consider $T_F(x, t, \phi_0)$ which correspond to $\phi_0 = 0, 1$, as these functions also satisfy Neumann boundary conditions (6).

Proposition 7 Let $\mu_0 > \gamma$. Consider a solution T(x,t) of the problem (5)–(6) such that $T(x,0) < \sum_{k=1}^{N} T_0(x,\phi_k)$ for some ϕ_1, \ldots, ϕ_N with $supp(T_0(x,\phi_i)) \cap supp(T_0(x,\phi_j)) = \emptyset \ \forall i \neq j : 1 \leq i, j \leq N$. Then $T(x,t) \to 0$ as $t \to +\infty$.

We performed numerical experiments to study the behaviour of the solutions of the Eq. (5) in the case when $T(x, 0) > T_0(x, \phi_0)$. The calculations were done in MATLAB, the discretization of infinite-dimensional system was performed by the Method of Lines (MOL) and the numerical integration of ODE system was done by the Dormand–Prince method. The experiments were performed for different values of diffusion coefficient C_0 . The value of strain dissipation coefficient γ was taken from the literature (see [8]): $\gamma = 0.1$, while the value of autoexcitation coefficient μ_0 was taken as $\mu_0 = 0.3$. Initial data were considered in the form: $T(x, 0) = \sigma [\sum_{k=1}^{N} T_0(x, \phi_k)]$, where $\sigma > 1$.

Let us consider $C_0 = 0.00012$ and $T(x, 0) = \sigma[T_0(x, 0) + T_0(x, 0.5) + T_0(x, 1)]$. For $1 < \sigma < \sigma_0 \approx 1.08$ we observed the convergence of the solution to zero as $t \to +\infty$; for $\sigma \ge \sigma_0$ we observed a local blow up regime (see Fig. 1).

Next consider $C_0 = 0.0055$ and $T(x, 0) = \sigma T_0(x, 0)$. In that case the behaviour of the system was similar to the previous case. However, the critical value σ_0 was lower: for $1 < \sigma < \sigma_0 = 1.07$ the numerical solution decayed in time; otherwise monotonous growth of the solution was observed (see Fig. 2).

Let us set T(x, 0) = 10T(x, 0.5) and consider the numerical solution of (5) for the different values of C_0 . In this case the social strain T(x, t) spreads uniformly over the whole localization region, which is followed by monotonous growth of the solution (see Fig. 3).



Fig. 1 Social strain level P(x, t) which corresponds to the numerical solution of the Eq. (5) for different values of σ . Initial data: $T(x, 0) = \sigma[T_0(x, 0)+T_0(x, 0.5)+T_0(x, 1)]$. Model parameters: $\mu_0 = 0.3, \gamma = 0.1, C_0 = 0.00012$. (a) $\sigma = 1$, (b) $\sigma = 1.08$, (c) $\sigma = 1.081$



Fig. 2 Social strain level P(x, t) which corresponds to the numerical solution of the Eq.(5) for different values of σ . Initial data: $T(x, 0) = \sigma T_0(x, 0)$. Model parameters: $\mu_0 = 0.3$, $\gamma = 0.1$, $C_0 = 0.0055$. (a) $\sigma = 1$. (b) $\sigma = 1.07$. (c) $\sigma = 1.071$



Fig. 3 Social strain level P(x, t) which corresponds to the numerical solution of the Eq. (5) for different values of C_0 . Initial data: T(x, 0) = 10T(x, 0.5). Parameter values: $\mu_0 = 0.3$, $\gamma = 0.1$. (a) $C_0 = 0.00012$. (b) $C_0 = 0.0012$. (c) $C_0 = 0.0025$

6 Concluding Remarks

In the present work we have considered the continuous social stratification model in the special case when the influence of negative factors is uniformly spread among the society. The introduction of auxiliary variable change has enabled us to apply existing comparison theorems for nonlinear parabolic equations and derive the sufficient conditions of global boundedness and blow up for the solutions which correspond to the spatially inhomogeneous initial data.

It was shown that in the case when the autoexcitation coefficient μ_0 is greater than the strain dissipation coefficient γ the model (2) can demonstrate the localization and decay of social strain if there is no external influence on the society and initial strain is localized and bounded, so there exists such constant ϕ_0 that $P(x, 0) \leq P_0(x, \phi_0) = \frac{T_0(x, \phi_0)}{1+T_0(x, \phi_0)}$. This effect may persist in the model only for small enough values of diffusion coefficient C_0 . It was observed from numerical experiments that a localized blow up regime may exist in the system when $P(x, 0) > P_0(x, \phi_0)$. In this case the social strain first spreads uniformly over the localization region, which is followed by monotonous growth of the numerical solution.

References

- C. Castellano, S. Fortunato, V. Loreto: Statistical physics of social dynamics. Rev. Mod. Phys. 81, 591–646 (2009). https://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/RevModPhys.81.591
- M.R. D'Orsogna, M. Perc: Statistical physics of crime: A review. Phys. Life Rev. 12, 1–21 (2015). http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1571064514001730
- M. Perc, J.J. Jordan, D.G. Rand, Z. Wang, S. Boccaletti, A. Szolnoki: Statistical physics of human cooperation. Phys. Rep. 687, 1–51 (2017)
- M.B. Short, M.R. D'orsogna, V.B. Pasour, G.E. Tita, P.J. Brantingham, A.L. Bertozzi, L.B. Chayes: A statistical model of criminal behavior. Math. Models Methods Appl. Sci. 18(supp01), 1249–1267 (2008). https://doi.org/10.1142/S0218202508003029
- M.B. Short, P.J. Brantingham, A.L. Bertozzi, G.E. Tita: Dissipation and displacement of hotspots in reaction-diffusion models of crime. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 107(9), 3961–3965 (2010). https://www.pnas.org/content/107/9/3961
- E.K. Basaeva, E.S. Kamenetsky, Z.K. Khosayeva: Kolichestvennaya otsenka fonovoi sotsial'noi napryazhennosti [quantitative assessment of the background social strain]. Inf. Wars 2, 25–28 (2015)
- E.K. Basaeva, E.S. Kamenetsky, Z.K. Khosayeva: Matematicheskoe modelirovanie izmeneniya sotsial'noi napryazhennosti v SSSR v poslevoennye gody [mathematical modelling of the social stress dynamics in post-war USSR]. Historical Inf. Inf. Technol. Math. Methods Historical Res. Educ. 1–2, 12–19 (2016)
- E.K. Basaeva, E.S. Kamenetsky, Z.K. Khosayeva: O vliyanii nelineinykh effektov na stabil'nost' obshchestva [about the influence of nonlinear effects on the social stability]. Math. Notes of NEFU 22(3), 78–83 (2015)
- 9. Z.K. Khosayeva: Matematicheskaya model' protestnykh aktsii [mathematical model of protest activities]. Comput. Res. Model. **7**(6), 1331–1341 (2015)
- E.K. Basaeva, E.S. Kamenetsky, Z.K. Khosayeva: Matematicheskaya model' stachechnogo dvizheniya v Rossii v kontse XIX—nachale XX veka [Mathematical model of strike movement in Russia at the end of the XIX century and at the beginning of the XX century]. Historical Inf. 1(1), 52–62 (2017)
- A.Friedman: Partial Differential Equations of Parabolic Type. Prentice-Hall, Englewood Cliffs (1964)
- 12. R.P. Sperb, Maximum Principles and Their Applications. Academic Press, New York (2012)
- 13. M.H. Protter, H.F. Weinberger, Maximum Principles in Differential Equations. Springer, New York (1984)
- A.A. Samarskii, V.A. Galaktionov, S.P. Kurdyumov, A.P. Mikhailov: Blow-Up in Quasilinear Parabolic Equations. Walter de Gruyter, Berlin (1995)

Stochastic Test of a Minimal Surface



D. S. Klimentov

Abstract The paper aims to obtain a stochastic test for minimal surfaces. Such a test is formulated in terms of transition densities of stochastic processes. Two fundamental forms of the surface generate these processes. This work exhausts the problem of stochastic test for regular minimal surfaces.

Keywords Diffusion process · Minimal surface

Mathematical Subject Classification 53A05, 60J25

1 Introduction

A stochastic analogue of the main theorem of surface theory was obtained in [1, 2]. In [1] it was done for the surfaces of positive curvature and in [2] for the surfaces of nonzero mean curvature.

The purpose of the present paper is to establish a stochastic test for surfaces with zero mean curvature (minimal surfaces). The technique from [1, 2] is used.

It is assumed that the reader is familiar with the concepts of a stochastic process and a strictly Markov process, as well as with the basic concepts of the theory of surfaces in three-dimensional Euclidean space.

D. S. Klimentov (🖂)

Southern Federal University, Rostov-on-Don, Russia

Southern Mathematical Institute of the Vladikavkaz Scientific Centre of the Russian Academy of Sciences, Vladikavkaz, Russia

[©] The Editor(s) (if applicable) and The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

A. G. Kusraev, Z. D. Totieva (eds.), *Operator Theory and Differential Equations*, Trends in Mathematics, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-49763-7_6

2 Some Definitions from the Theory of Random Processes

We denote by $(\Omega, \mathfrak{F}, P)$ some given random space.

Consider a the manifold (phase space) (E, \mathfrak{B}) , where \mathfrak{B} is a σ -field of Borel's sets in *E*. One can find a detailed definition of a random process on a manifold in [4].

We introduce some necessary definitions and notation.

Definition 1 ([3, p. 74]) Say that $P(t, x, \Gamma)$ ($t > 0, x \in E, \Gamma \in \mathfrak{B}$) is a transition function if the following conditions are fulfilled:

- 1. If t and x are fixed, then the function $P(t, x, \Gamma)$ is a measure on the σ -algebra \mathfrak{B} .
- 2. If t and Γ are fixed, then $P(t, x, \Gamma)$ is \mathfrak{B} -measurable function of the point x.
- 3. $P(t, x, \Gamma) \le 1$.
- 4. $P(0, x, E \setminus x) = 0.$
- 5. $P(s+t, x, \Gamma) = \int_E P(s, x, dy) P(t, y, \Gamma)$

Let μ be some measure on the phase space (E, \mathfrak{B}) .

Definition 2 ([3, p. 75]) Say that p(t, x, y) ($t > 0, x, y \in E$) is a transition density if the following conditions are fulfilled:

- 1. $p(t, x, y) \ge 0$.
- 2. If *t* is fixed, then p(t, x, y) is $\mathfrak{B} \times \mathfrak{B}$ -measurable function in (x, y).
- 3. $\int_{F} p(t, x, y) \mu(dy) \le 1$.
- 4. $p(s+t, x, z) = \int_E p(s, x, y) p(t, y, z) \mu(dy).$

It is easy to verify [3, p. 75] that if p(t, x, y) is a transition density then the formula

$$P(t, x, \Gamma) = \int_{\Gamma} p(t, x, y) dy, t > 0, P(t, x, \Gamma) = \chi_{\Gamma}, t = 0$$

defines a transition function.

Every transition function generates the contractive semigroup T_t by the following formula [3, p. 80]:

$$T_t f(x) = \int_E P(t, x, dy) f(y),$$

where $f \in B$, and *B* is a set of bounded measurable functions with natural linear operations and the norm $||f|| = \sup_{x \in E} |f(x)|$.

Definition 3 ([3, p. 214]) An operator *A* is called an infinitesimal operator of the semigroup T_t (the transition function $P(t, x, \Gamma)$) if

$$Af(x) = \lim_{t \to +0} \frac{T_t f(x) - f(x)}{t}.$$

The domain of the operator A consists of all functions f for which the limit in the right-hand side exists.

Let a phase space be a smooth manifold. If we contract an infinitesimal operator to C^2 -functions, then it is called a generator of stochastic process. In the local coordinate (x^i) for a generator we have

$$Af(x) = a^{ij}\partial_i\partial_j f(x) + b^i\partial_i f(x) - Cf(x),$$

where $\partial_i = \frac{\partial}{\partial x^i}$, a^{ij} is a positive definite matrix.

The Kolmogorov backward equation takes place [3, p. 238]:

$$\frac{\partial p}{\partial t} = Ap.$$

Here A is the generator, and p is the transition density of a stochastic process.

In [3, Ch. 1, 2] it is shown that every Markov process uniquely defines the contractive semigroup, the transition function and the infinitesimal operator.

3 Main Result

Let $F \in C^3$ be a simply connected two-dimensional surface in the threedimensional Euclidian space. We assume *F* is conformal equivalent to a unite disc and has zero mean curvature. We denote by $I = g_{ij}dx^i dx^j$, $II = b_{ij}dx^i dx^j$ and $III = f_{ij}dx^i dx^j$ the first, second and third fundamental form of *F* respectively. Here x^1, x^2 are the local coordinates on the surface *F*. Without lost of generality we can assume that the coordinates x^1, x^2 are isothermal, i. e. $I = ds^2 = \lambda (dx^{12} + dx^{22})$ [5, p. 193].

Consider three stochastic processes on F; namely, X_t , Y_t and Z_t with the generators $A_X = g^{ij}\partial_i\partial_j$, $A_Y = b^{ij}\partial_i\partial_j$ and $A_Z = f^{ij}\partial_i\partial_j$, respectively. We denote by $p^1(t, x, y)$, $p^2(t, x, y)$, $p^3(t, x, y)$ the transition densities of X_t , Y_t and Z_t , respectively.

The next assertions take place.

Theorem 1 If the transition densities p^1 and p^3 satisfy the relations

$$\frac{\partial_t p^1}{2\Delta p^1} \Delta \ln \frac{\partial_t p^1}{2\Delta p^1} \le 0,$$
$$\frac{\Delta p^3}{\partial_t p^3} = -\frac{\partial_t p^1}{2\Delta p^1} \Delta \ln \frac{\partial_t p^1}{2\Delta p^1} \cdot \frac{\Delta p^1}{\partial_t p^1},$$

where Δ is the Laplace operator and ∂_t is a partial time derivative, then the surface *F* is minimal.

Theorem 2 Let the conditions of Theorem 1 are satisfied. If the transition density p^1 of the process X_t and a time derivative of the transition function P^3 of Z_t at the moment t = 0 satisfy the system¹

$$\begin{split} \left(\frac{\Delta p^{1}}{\partial p^{1}}\right)^{-2} \times \\ \times \left[\frac{1}{4H^{2}}\left(\left(K\frac{\Delta p^{1}}{\partial p^{1}} + \left(\frac{\Delta p^{1}}{\partial p^{1}}\right)^{2} \int P_{0}^{3}\left(t, x, dy\right) \frac{y_{1}^{2}}{2}\right) \left(K\frac{\Delta p^{1}}{\partial p^{1}} + \left(\frac{\Delta p^{1}}{\partial p^{1}}\right)^{2} \int P_{0}^{3}\left(t, x, dy\right) \frac{y_{2}^{2}}{2}\right) - \right)\right] \\ = \frac{\partial_{t}p^{1}}{2\Delta p^{1}} \Delta \ln \frac{\partial_{t}p^{1}}{\partial p^{1}} + \left(\frac{\Delta p^{1}}{\partial p^{1}}\right)^{2} \int P_{0}^{3}\left(t, x, dy\right) y_{1}y_{2}\right)\right)^{2} \\ = \frac{\partial_{t}p^{1}}{2\Delta p^{1}} \Delta \ln \frac{\partial_{t}p^{1}}{\partial p^{1}}, \\ \frac{\partial}{\partial x^{k}} \left[\left(\frac{\Delta p^{1}}{\partial_{t}p^{1}}\right)^{2} \cdot \left(K\frac{\Delta p^{1}}{\partial_{t}p^{1}} + \int P_{0}^{3}\left(t, x, dy\right) \frac{y_{1}y_{j}}{1 + \delta_{ij}}\right) \frac{1}{2H}\right] - \\ -\Gamma_{ik}^{\alpha} \left(\frac{\Delta p^{1}}{\partial_{t}p^{1}}\right)^{2} \cdot \left(K\frac{\Delta p^{1}}{\partial_{t}p^{1}} + \int P_{0}^{3}\left(t, x, dy\right) \frac{y_{0}y_{j}}{1 + \delta_{ij}}\right) \frac{1}{2H} = \\ = \frac{\partial}{\partial x^{j}} \left[\left(\frac{\Delta p^{1}}{\partial_{t}p^{1}}\right)^{2} \cdot \left(K\frac{\Delta p^{1}}{\partial_{t}p^{1}} + \int P_{0}^{3}\left(t, x, dy\right) \frac{y_{0}y_{k}}{1 + \delta_{ik}}\right) \frac{1}{2H}\right] - \\ -\Gamma_{ij}^{\alpha} \left(\frac{\Delta p^{1}}{\partial_{t}p^{1}}\right)^{2} \cdot \left(K\frac{\Delta p^{1}}{\partial_{t}p^{1}} + \int P_{0}^{3}\left(t, x, dy\right) \frac{y_{0}y_{k}}{1 + \delta_{ik}}\right) \frac{1}{2H} - \\ -\Gamma_{ij}^{\alpha} \left(\frac{\Delta p^{1}}{\partial_{t}p^{1}}\right)^{2} \cdot \left(K\frac{\Delta p^{1}}{\partial_{t}p^{1}} + \int P_{0}^{3}\left(t, x, dy\right) \frac{y_{0}y_{k}}{1 + \delta_{ik}}\right) \frac{1}{2H}, \\ \\ where \Gamma_{ij}^{l} = \frac{1}{2} \frac{\delta^{lk}\partial_{t}p^{1}}{\Delta p^{1}} \left[\frac{\partial\left(\delta_{ik}\frac{\Delta p^{1}}{\partial_{t}p^{1}}\right)}{\frac{\partial x^{j}}} + \frac{\partial\left(\delta_{jk}\frac{\Delta p^{1}}{\partial_{t}p^{1}}\right)}{\frac{\partial x^{i}}} - \frac{\partial\left(\delta_{ij}\frac{\Delta p^{1}}{\partial_{t}p^{1}}\right)}{\frac{\partial x^{k}}{\partial x^{k}}}\right], K = \frac{\partial_{t}p^{1}}{2\Delta p^{1}}\Delta \ln \frac{\partial_{t}p^{1}}{\Delta p^{1}}, \\ \\ H^{2} = \frac{\frac{\Delta p^{1}}{\partial p^{1}} \left[\int P_{0}^{3}(t, x, dy)\frac{y_{2}^{2}}{2} - \int P_{0}^{3}(t, x, dy)\frac{y_{2}^{2}}{2}}\right]}{4}, \quad \text{then the stochastic processes } X_{i} \text{ and } Z_{i}$$

¹We denote by P_0^3 a time derivative $\frac{\partial P^3}{\partial t}(0)$.

3.1 Auxiliary Statements

Lemma 1 ([1]) The Gauss curvature K of the surface F and the transition density $p^{1}(t, x, y)$ satisfy the following relation:

$$K = \frac{\partial_t p^1}{2\Delta p^1} \Delta \ln \frac{\partial_t p^1}{2\Delta p^1},$$

where $\Delta = \frac{\partial^2}{\partial x^{1^2}} + \frac{\partial^2}{\partial x^{2^2}}$, $x = (x^1, x^2)$.

Lemma 2 If the mean curvature H of the surface F equals zero, then the first and the third fundamental forms of F are proportional.

Proof The following relation is well-known [6, p. 232]:

$$K \cdot I + H \cdot II + III = 0, \tag{1}$$

In the case under consideration it has the next form:

$$K \cdot I + III = 0.$$

Lemma 3 If on *F* we have $H \neq 0$, *I* and *III* are proportional, then *F* is a sphere. **Proof** We can rewrite (1) as

$$II = \frac{-K \cdot I - III}{H}.$$

From here we see that I and II are proportional. Hence, F is a sphere [6, p. 212].

It is obvious that the Gauss curvature is non-positive if the mean curvature equals zero. From this fact and the previous lemmas, we have the next assertion.

Lemma 4 If the Gauss curvature of the surface F is non-positive and I and III are proportional then the mean curvature H = 0.

3.2 Proof of Main Result

Let us show that the transition density p^1 of the stochastic process generating by the first fundamental form *I* of *F* satisfies to the equation:

$$\frac{\partial p^1}{\partial t} = \frac{1}{\lambda} \Delta p^1,$$

where λ is the isothermal element of *F*. Similarly, for p^3 we have

$$\frac{\partial p^3}{\partial t} = \frac{1}{\mu} \Delta p^3,$$

where $\mu = -\frac{\partial_t p^1}{2\Delta p^1} \Delta \ln \frac{\partial_t p^1}{2\Delta p^1} \cdot \frac{\Delta p^1}{\partial_t p^1}$ is the coefficient of *III*. It follows from the relation

$$\frac{\Delta p^3}{\partial_t p^3} = -\frac{\partial_t p^1}{2\Delta p^1} \Delta \ln \frac{\partial_t p^1}{2\Delta p^1} \cdot \frac{\Delta p^1}{\partial_t p^1},$$

that for p^3 the Kolmogorov backward equation takes place:

$$\partial_t p^3 = rac{1}{-rac{\partial_t p^1}{2\Delta p^1}\Delta \ln rac{\partial_t p^1}{2\Delta p^1} \cdot rac{\Delta p^1}{\partial_t p^1}} \Delta p^3.$$

From the method of constructing a stochastic process by quadratic form [3, 7], we have

$$III = \mu(dx^{1^2} + dx^{2^2}).$$

We note that the third fundamental form of a surface is nonnegative and defines the stochastic process [7, p. 19].

Thus, we receive that *I* and *III* are proportional.

By Lemma 1 the relation

$$\frac{\partial_t p^1}{2\Delta p^1} \Delta \ln \frac{\partial_t p^1}{2\Delta p^1} \le 0,$$

is equivalent to non-positivity of the Gauss curvature of F. Now the main result follows from Lemma 4 in an obvious way.

From [2] we can deduce a result that is more general.

As above we denote by Z_t the stochastic process with transition density p^3 and by P_0^3 a time derivative of the transition function of Z_t at the moment t = 0. By literately repeating the reasoning from [2], we get

66
Theorem 3 Let the assumptions of Theorem 1 be satisfied and let the transition density p^1 of the process X_t and the transition function P^3 of the process Z_t satisfy the system:

uniquely define some minimal surface.

References

- 1. Klimentov, D.S.: Stochastic analogue of the main theorem of surfaces for surfaces with positive curvature. Izvestia VUZov Sev. Kav. Reg. Nat. Sci. **6**, 24–27 (2013, Russian)
- Klimentov, D.S.: Stochastic analogue of the main theorem of surfaces for surfaces with nonzero mean curvature. Izvestia VUZov Sev. Kav. Reg. Nat. Sci. 1, 15–18 (2014, Russian)
- 3. Dynkin, E.B.: Markov Processes. Fizmatlit, Moscow (1963, Russian)
- Ikeda, N., Watanabe, S.: Stochastic Differential Equations and Diffusion Processes. Noth-Holland Publishing Company/Kodansha LTD, Amsterdam/Oxford/New York/Tokyo (1981)
- 5. Vekua, I.N.: Foundations of tensor analysis and theory of covariants. Nauka, Moscow (1978, Russian)
- 6. Finikov, S.P.: The couse of differential geometry. Gostechizdat, Moscow (1952, Russian)
- 7. Fukushima, M., Oshima, Y., Takeda, M.: Dirishlet forms and symmetric Markov processes. Walter de Gruyter, Berlin (1994)

On Isomorphism of Some Functional Spaces under Action of Two-dimensional Singular Integral Operators



S. B. Klimentov

Abstract We address two-dimensional singular integral equations widely used for constructing and investigating the solutions to the general linear first-order elliptic systems in the 2D domains. Proving the solvability of such integral equations with the use of the Calderón–Zygmund theorem brings us at the statements about the existence of the solution belonging to the spaces of summable functions whose summability exponents have to be close to the value of two, and the increase of regularity of the problem's data does not eliminate this restriction automatically. In this article, we prove a regularity result for the solutions to two-dimensional singular integral equations with the use of the representations of the second kind for the solutions to the first-order general linear elliptic systems discovered by the author in his prior work.

Keywords Two-dimensional singular integral equations

Mathematics Subject Classification 45E99 + 30E20 + 44A15

1 Introduction and Formulation of Results

Two-dimensional singular integral equations are widely used in constructing and investigating of solutions to the general linear first-order elliptic systems in the 2D domains, see, for example, articles [1–6]. Proving the solvability of such integral equations with the use of the Calderón–Zygmund theorem brings us at the statements about the existence of the solution belonging to the spaces of summable functions which the summability exponents have to be close to the value of two, and

S. B. Klimentov (🖂)

Southern Federal University, Rostov-on-Don, Russia

Southern Mathematical Institute of the Vladikavkaz Scientific Center of the Russian Academy of Sciences, Vladikavkaz, Russia e-mail: sbklimentov@sfedu.ru

 $[\]textcircled{0}$ The Editor(s) (if applicable) and The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

A. G. Kusraev, Z. D. Totieva (eds.), *Operator Theory and Differential Equations*, Trends in Mathematics, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-49763-7_7

the increase of regularity of the problem's data does not eliminate this restriction automatically. We know of only one result [4] which refines the regularity of the solutions. We'll be discussing this result in Remark 1 below, for now we only note that the constructions used by [4] substantially rely on considering the equations in the special domain which is the unit disk.

In this article, we prove the regularity of solutions to the linear singular integral equations in the bounded simply connected domain provided that the problem's data are sufficiently regular. The proofs employ the representations of the second kind for the solutions to the general first-order linear elliptic systems reported by the author in articles [5, 6].

We now proceed to precise formulations. Let $D = \{\zeta : |\zeta| < 1\}$ be the unit disk in the complex ζ -plane $E, z = x + iy, i^2 = -1; \Gamma = \partial D$ is the boundary of D; and $\overline{D} = D \cup \Gamma$ and G is the simply connected bounded domain in the complex ζ -plane; $\partial G = \mathcal{L}; \overline{G} = G \cup \mathcal{L}$. Throughout the article, we use the following function spaces with standard norms:

- the space of functions summable in \overline{D} with exponent $p \ge 1$ denoted as $L_p(\overline{D})$;
- the Sobolev space of functions having generalized derivatives of order k = 0, 1, ... in \overline{D} summable with exponent $p \ge 1$, denoted as $W_p^k(\overline{D})$, at that, we set $W_p^0(\overline{D}) \equiv L_p(\overline{D})$;
- the Hölder space of functions continuously differentiable up to order k = 0, 1, ...in \overline{D} which senior derivatives are Hölder-continuous in \overline{D} with exponent $\alpha \in (0, 1)$ denoted as $C_{\alpha}^{k}(\overline{D})$ in addition, put $C_{\alpha}^{0}(\overline{D}) \equiv C_{\alpha}(\overline{D})$ and denote by $C_{\alpha}^{k}(\Gamma)$ the same spaces but consisting of the functions defined on Γ .

The notation $C_{\alpha}^{k}(\overline{G})$, $L_{p}(\overline{G})$, $W_{p}^{k}(\overline{G})$, $C_{\alpha}^{k}(\mathcal{L})$ has the same meaning as in the case G = D or $\mathcal{L} = \Gamma$. By the Sobolev–Kondrashov embedding theorem, we always identify the elements of $W_{p}^{k}(\overline{G})$ with the continuous functions for $k \geq 1$, p > 2. A reader can refer to monograph [2] for more details on the mentioned function spaces. We also employ the space $W_{p}^{k-\frac{1}{p}}(\mathcal{L})$ of the traces of the functions belonging to space $W_{p}^{k}(\overline{G})$ (see [7, Ch. 5], [3, Ch. 6, §1])). Let $k \geq 1, 0 < \alpha \leq 1, l \geq 2$ and p > 2. Let \mathcal{L} denote a simple closed curve. We

Let $k \ge 1, 0 < \alpha \le 1, l \ge 2$ and p > 2. Let \mathcal{L} denote a simple closed curve. We say that $\mathcal{L} \in C_{\alpha}^{k}$ ($\mathcal{L} \in W_{p}^{l-\frac{1}{p}}$) if there exists a diffemorphism $\mathcal{L} \to \Gamma$ belonging to C_{α}^{k} ($W_{p}^{l-\frac{1}{p}}$).

We define the following integral operators:

$$Tf(\zeta) = T_G f(\zeta) = -\frac{1}{\pi} \iint_G \frac{f(z)}{z - \zeta} dx dy, \quad z = x + iy$$

$$f(\zeta) \in L_p(\overline{G}), \quad p \ge 1, \quad \partial_{\overline{\zeta}} Tf(\zeta) = f(\zeta), \quad \partial_{\overline{\zeta}} = \frac{\partial}{\partial \overline{\zeta}};$$

$$\overline{T}f(\zeta) = \overline{\left(T\overline{f(\zeta)}\right)}, \quad \partial_{\zeta} \overline{T}f(\zeta) = f(\zeta), \quad \partial_{\zeta} = \frac{\partial}{\partial \zeta},$$

For more details, see [2]. We set

$$\Pi f(\zeta) = \partial_{\zeta} T f(\zeta) = -\frac{1}{\pi} \iint_{G} \frac{f(z)}{(z-\zeta)^{2}} dx dy,$$
$$\overline{\Pi} f(\zeta) = \partial_{\overline{\zeta}} \overline{T} f(\zeta) = -\frac{1}{\pi} \iint_{G} \frac{f(z)}{(\overline{z}-\overline{\zeta})^{2}} dx dy,$$

where the integral is understood in the sense of the Cauchy principal value.

We define two-dimensional singular integral operators:

$$S_1 f(\zeta) \equiv f(\zeta) + q_1(\zeta) \Pi f(\zeta) + q_2(\zeta) \overline{\Pi f(\zeta)} + A(\zeta) T f(\zeta) + B(\zeta) \overline{T f(\zeta)};$$
(1)

$$S_2 f(\zeta) \equiv f(\zeta) + \Pi[q_1(\zeta)f(\zeta) + q_2(\zeta)\overline{f(\zeta)}] + \\ + \Pi[A(\zeta)\overline{T}f(\zeta) + B(\zeta)T\overline{f(\zeta)}],$$
(2)

where $q_1(\zeta)$, $q_2(\zeta)$, $A(\zeta)$, $B(\zeta)$, are some complex-valued functions.

The main results of the present work read as follows.

Theorem 1 Let $q_1(\zeta), q_2(\zeta) \in C(\overline{G})$. Assume that

$$|q_1(\zeta)| + |q_2(\zeta)| \le q_0 = const < 1, \ \zeta \in G,$$
(3)

 $A(\zeta), B(\zeta) \in L_p(\overline{G}), p > 2, \ \partial G = \mathcal{L} \in C^1_{\alpha}, 0 < \alpha < 1$. Then the operators S_1 and S_2 are linear isomorphisms of the real Banach space $L_p(\overline{G})$.

In what follows, let inequality (3) hold by default.

Theorem 2 Assume that $q_1(\zeta)$, $q_2(\zeta)$, $A(\zeta)$, $B(\zeta) \in C^k_{\alpha}(\overline{G})$, $k \ge 0, 0 < \alpha < 1$, $\partial G = \mathcal{L} \in C^{k+1}_{\alpha}$. Then the operators S_1 and S_2 are linear isomorphisms of the real Banach space $C^k_{\alpha}(\overline{G})$.

Theorem 3 Assume that $q_1(\zeta)$, $q_2(\zeta)$, $A(\zeta)$, $B(\zeta) \in W_p^k(\overline{G})$, $k \ge 1$, p > 2, $\partial G = \mathcal{L} \in W_p^{k+1-\frac{1}{p}}$. Then the operators S_1 and S_2 are linear isomorphisms of the real Banach space $W_p^k(\overline{G})$.

Remark 1 The result obtained in [4] is a particular case of Theorem 1 which addresses only operator S_1 and G = D. In [4], the author did not used operators T and $\Pi = \partial_{\zeta} T$. Instead, he employed the following operators

$$T_0 f(\zeta) = -\frac{1}{\pi} \iint_D \left[\frac{f(t)}{t-\zeta} + \frac{\zeta \overline{f(t)}}{1-\zeta \overline{t}} \right] dx dy, \text{ Re } T_0 f(\zeta)|_{|\zeta|=1} = 0, \quad \Pi_0 = \partial_{\zeta} T_0.$$

These definitions stick the considerations of the article [4] to the unit disk too firmly which prevents them from being extended to an arbitrary simply connected domain.

2 Auxiliary Statements

We assume that $\partial G = \mathcal{L} \in C^1_{\alpha}$ by default, and while discussing the spaces $C^k_{\alpha}(\overline{G})$ $(W^k_p(\overline{G}), k \ge 1)$, we assume that $\mathcal{L} \in C^{k+1}_{\alpha}$ ($\mathcal{L} \in W^{k+1-\frac{1}{p}}_p$). We need the following assertions. For their proofs, see [2, Ch. 1, §8] and [6].

Lemma 1 The singular operator Π acts continuously in the spaces $C_{\alpha}^{k}(\overline{G})$, $k \ge 0$, $0 < \alpha < 1$, and $W_{p}^{k}(\overline{G})$, $k \ge 0$, p > 2. Moreover, $\|\Pi\|_{L_{2}} = 1$ and for each $q_{0}: 0 < q_{0} < 1$ there exists $s_{0} = s_{0}(q_{0}) > 2$ such that $q_{0}\|\Pi\|_{L_{s}} < 1$ as $2 < s < s_{0}$. The same assertions hold true for the operator $\overline{\Pi}$.

Lemma 2 The operator T acts $C_{\alpha}^{k}(\overline{G}) \rightarrow C_{\alpha}^{k+1}(\overline{G})$ and $W_{p}^{k}(\overline{G}) \rightarrow W_{p}^{k+1}(\overline{G})$ continuously for every $k \ge 0, 0 < \alpha < 1, p > 2$, and, hence, compactly $C_{\alpha}^{k}(\overline{G}) \rightarrow C_{\alpha}^{k}(\overline{G})$ and $W_{p}^{k}(\overline{G}) \rightarrow W_{p}^{k}(\overline{G})$. For every p > 2 and $f \in L_{p}(\overline{G})$, function $Tf \in C_{\beta}(E)$ $\beta = \frac{p-2}{p}$ is holomorphic in the exterior of domain G, and $Tf(\infty) = 0$. The same assertions hold true for the operator \overline{T} .

Also, we need several regularity results proved in [6] regarding the following operator

$$\Omega w(\zeta) \equiv w(\zeta) + T(q_1 \partial_\tau w + q_2 \partial_{\bar{\tau}} \overline{w} + Aw + B\overline{w})(\zeta).$$
⁽⁴⁾

Lemma 3 Let p > 2, $A(\zeta)$, $B(\zeta) \in L_p(\overline{G})$. Let $q_1(\zeta)$, $q_2(\zeta)$ be bounded measurable functions satisfying (3). Then the operator Ω is continuously invertible in the space $W_s^1(\overline{G})$ for some s with $2 < s \le p$.

Theorem 4 Let all the assumptions of Lemma 3 be satisfied. Assume, in addition, that $q_1(\zeta), q_2(\zeta) \in C(\overline{G})$. Then Ω is the linear isomorphism of real Banach space $W_p^1(\overline{G})$.

Theorem 5 Let $k \ge 0$ and $0 < \alpha < 1$. Let all the assumptions of Lemma 3 be satisfied. Assume, in addition, that $q_1(\zeta)$, $q_2(\zeta)$, $A(\zeta)$, $B(\zeta) \in C^k_{\alpha}(\overline{G})$, $\partial G = \mathcal{L} \in C^{k+1}_{\alpha}$. Then Ω is a linear isomorphism of the real Banach space $C^{k+1}_{\alpha}(\overline{G})$.

Theorem 6 Let $k \ge 1$, p > 2. Let all the assumptions of Lemma 3 be satisfied. Assume, in addition, that $q_1(\zeta)$, $q_2(\zeta)$, $A(\zeta)$, $B(\zeta) \in W_p^k(\overline{G})$, $\partial G = \mathcal{L} \in W_p^{k+1-\frac{1}{p}}$. Then Ω is the linear isomorphism of real Banach space $W_p^{k+1}(\overline{G})$. Consider now the general linear first-order elliptic system, which we write in the complex form

$$\partial_{\overline{\zeta}}w + q_1(\zeta)\partial_{\zeta}w + q_2(\zeta)\partial_{\overline{\zeta}}\overline{w} + A(\zeta)w + B(\zeta)\overline{w} = R(\zeta).$$
(5)

In (5), $\zeta = \xi + i\eta$, $w = w(\zeta) = u(\zeta) + iv(\zeta)$ is an unknown complex-valued function, and $\partial_{\zeta} = 1/2(\partial/\partial\xi + i\partial/\partial\eta)$, $\partial_{\zeta} = 1/2(\partial/\partial\xi - i\partial/\partial\eta)$. We are about to formulate the regularity results for solutions to Eq. (5). For this purpose we define the auxiliary transformation

$$\frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\mathcal{L}} \frac{w(t)}{t-\zeta} dt \equiv \mathcal{K}w(\zeta) = \mathcal{K}_{\mathcal{L}}w(\zeta).$$
(6)

Lemma 4 Let s > 2 and let $w = w(\zeta) \in W_s^1(\overline{G})$ be a solution to Eq. (5), where $q_1(\zeta), q_2(\zeta) \in C(\overline{G}), A(\zeta), B(\zeta), R(\zeta) \in L_p(\overline{G})$ for some p > 2. Let $\partial G = \mathcal{L} \in C_{\alpha}^1$ for some $0 < \alpha < 1$. Assume in addition that

$$\Phi(\zeta) = \mathcal{K}_{\mathcal{L}} w(\zeta) \in W_n^1(\overline{G}).$$
(7)

Then $w(\zeta) \in W_p^1(\overline{G})$.

Lemma 5 Let s > 2, $k \ge 0$, p > 2 and $0 < \alpha < 1$. Let $w = w(\zeta) \in W_s^1(\overline{G})$ be a solution to Eq. (5), where $q_1(\zeta)$, $q_2(\zeta)$, $A(\zeta)$, $B(\zeta)$, $R(\zeta) \in C_{\alpha}^k(\overline{G})$ $(W_p^k(\overline{G}))$. Let $\partial G = \mathcal{L} \in C_{\alpha}^{k+1}(W_p^{k+1-\frac{1}{p}})$. Assume in addition that function Φ defined by equality (7) belongs to $C_{\alpha}^{k+1}(\overline{G})(W_p^{k+1}(\overline{G}))$. Then $w \in C_{\alpha}^{k+1}(\overline{G})(W_p^{k+1}(\overline{G}))$.

Proof of Lemma 4 By Pompeiu's formula [2, p. 41, 57, 69],

$$w(\zeta) = \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\mathcal{L}} \frac{w(t)}{t-\zeta} dt - \frac{1}{\pi} \iint_{G} \frac{\partial w}{\partial \bar{t}} \cdot \frac{dxdy}{t-\zeta}, \ t = x + iy.$$
(8)

The use of equality (8) brings us at the integro-differential equation

$$\Omega(w) = TR + \Phi$$

where $TR \in W_p^1(\overline{G})$ by Lemma 2. Hence, $w(\zeta) \in W_p^1(\overline{G})$ by Theorem 4. \Box

Proof of Lemma 5 repeats the proof of Lemma 4 almost literally but with replacing Theorem 4 by Theorems 5 and 6.

3 Proof of Theorems 1–3

First, we prove all assertions of the three theorems regarding operator S_1 and then regarding operator S_2 .

3.1 Operator S₁

Consider equation

$$S_1 f(\zeta) = R(\zeta) \in L_p(\overline{G}) \ (C^k_\alpha(\overline{G}), \ W^k_p(\overline{G})).$$
(9)

It follows from the results of [1, §4, Sec. 3], [2, Ch. 3, §17, Sec. 4] that Eq. (9) has a unique solution $f(\zeta) \in L_s(\overline{G})$ for some *s* with $2 < s \leq p$. Moreover, it follows from Lemmas 1 and 2 that S_1 acts continuously in space $L_p(\overline{G})$ ($C^k_\alpha(\overline{G})$, $W^k_p(\overline{G})$). Hence, by the Banach theorem, we have reduced the proof to inspecting whether $f(\zeta)$ belongs to $L_p(\overline{G})$ ($C^k_\alpha(\overline{G})$, $W^k_p(\overline{G})$). To do so, we put $w(\zeta) = Tf(\zeta)$. Given Eq. (9), we see that *w* is the solution to Eq. (5). At that, $w \in W^1_s(\overline{G})$ by Lemma 2. Finally, $\mathcal{K}w(\zeta) \equiv 0$ since function *w* is holomorphic in the exterior of domain *G* and $w(\infty) = 0$. Given the listed observations and Lemma 4 (respectively Lemma 5), we conclude that $w \in W^1_p(\overline{G})$ ($C^{k+1}_\alpha(\overline{G})$, $W^{k+1}_p(\overline{G})$), and hence

$$f(\zeta) = \partial_{\zeta} w(\zeta) \in L_p(\overline{G}) \ (C^k_{\alpha}(\overline{G}), \ W^k_p(\overline{G})).$$

Thus, the case of the operator S_1 is completed.

3.2 Operator S₂

Define

$$S_2^0 f(\zeta) = f(\zeta) + \Pi[q_1(\zeta) f(\zeta) + q_2(\zeta) f(\zeta)]$$

and

$$Pf(\zeta) = \Pi[A(\zeta)\overline{T}f(\zeta) + B(\zeta)T\overline{f(\zeta)}].$$

Consider the equation

$$S_2f(\zeta) \equiv S_2^0 f(\zeta) + Pf(\zeta) = R(\zeta) \in L_p(\overline{G}) \ (C^k_\alpha(\overline{G}), \ W^k_p(\overline{G})).$$
(10)

By Lemma 1, operator S_2^0 acts continuously in space $L_p(\overline{G})$. Moreover, it is continuously invertible in $L_s(\overline{G})$ for some *s* with $2 < s \leq p$, see [6, proof of Lemma 8].

By Lemmas 1 and 2, the operator P is compact in space $L_p(\overline{G})$. Thus, the proof of existence and uniqueness of solutions to Eq.(10) in the space $L_s(G)$ we have reduced to the problem of uniqueness of the zero solution to the corresponding homogeneous equation

$$S_2 f(\zeta) = 0. \tag{11}$$

Such a reduction is a consequence to the Fredholm theorem, see, e.g., [8, Ch. 13, §5, Theorem 1].

Let $f(\zeta) \in L_s(\overline{G})$ be a solution to the Eq. (11). We set $w(\zeta) = \overline{T} f(\zeta)$, and put $\beta = \frac{s-2}{s}$. By Lemma 2, $w \in C_\beta(\overline{G})$, and w is anti-holomorphic in the exterior of \overline{G} with

$$w(\infty) = 0. \tag{12}$$

Let $D_R = \{\zeta : |\zeta| < R\}$, let $G \subset D_R$. We put $\Gamma_R = \partial D_R$, $\overline{D}_R = D_R \cup \Gamma_R$. We extend the solution f to Eq. (11) and every coefficient of the operator S_2 from domain \overline{G} to the disk D_R with the zero value. Given such an extension, we consider Eq. (11) in D_R . We rewrite equation (11) as

$$\partial_{\zeta} \Omega w(\zeta) = 0.$$

It follows from the last equation that

$$\Omega w(\zeta) = \Psi(\zeta) \tag{13}$$

where $\Psi(\zeta) \in W_s^1(\overline{D}_R)$ is anti-holomorphic in D_R . It is clear that the values of this function do not depend on R when $\zeta \in G$. Let us show that $\Psi(\zeta) \equiv 0$. Set

$$g(\zeta) = T(q_1\partial_{\zeta}w + q_2\overline{\partial_{\zeta}w} + Aw + B\overline{w})(\zeta).$$

Without loss of generality, we assume $0 \in G$. By Lemma 2, function $g(\zeta)$ is holomorphic outside of G and $g(\infty) = 0$. Define

$$g^*(\zeta) = g\left(\frac{R^2}{\overline{\zeta}}\right), \ \zeta \in \overline{D}_R.$$

Function g^* delivers the anti-holomorphic extension of function g from the exterior of disk D_R to the interior of it.

We apply the operator $\overline{\mathcal{K}}_{\Gamma_R}$ ($\overline{\mathcal{K}}_{\Gamma_R} f = \overline{\mathcal{K}}_{\Gamma_R} \overline{f}$) to (13). Note that $\Psi(\zeta)$ and $g^*(\zeta)$ are anti-holomorphic in D_R , and $w(\zeta)$ is anti-holomorphic in the exterior of D_R and satisfies (12). Hence, we get

$$\Psi(\zeta) = g^*(\zeta), \ \zeta \in D_R.$$
(14)

It follows from Eq. (14) that the absolute values of $\Psi(\zeta)$ in some neighborhood of zero become arbitrary small when $R \to +\infty$. At the same time, the values of function $\Psi(\zeta)$ are independent of R in some neighborhood of zero. Hence $\Psi(\zeta) \equiv$ 0. Then $w(\zeta) \equiv 0$ and $f(\zeta) = \partial_{\zeta} w(z) \equiv 0$ by (13) and Lemma 3.

Thus, Eq. (10) has a unique solution $f(\zeta) \in L_s(\overline{G})$, $s : 2 < s \leq p$. From Lemmas 1 and 2, it follows that S_2 acts continuously in the space $L_p(\overline{G})$ $(C^k_{\alpha}(\overline{G}), W^k_p(\overline{G}))$. According to Banach theorem, it remains to show that $f(\zeta)$ belongs to $L_p(\overline{G})$ $(C^k_{\alpha}(\overline{G}), W^k_p(\overline{G}))$.

Again, we denote $w(\zeta) = \overline{T} f(\zeta)$ and rewrite equation (10) as

$$\partial_{\zeta}[\Omega w(\zeta) - \overline{T}R(\zeta)] = 0.$$

Then

$$\Omega w(\zeta) - \overline{T} R(\zeta) = \Psi(\zeta), \qquad (15)$$

where $\Psi(\zeta) \in W^1_s(\overline{G})$ is anti-holomorphic in G and $\overline{T}R(\zeta)$ is anti-holomorphic outside of G.

By arguing in the way similar to the previous step, we find out that $\Psi(\zeta) \equiv 0$ in Eq. (15). Since $\overline{T}R(\zeta) \in W_p^1(\overline{G})$ $(C_{\alpha}^{k+1}(\overline{G}), W_p^{k+1}(\overline{G}))$, we conclude that $w(\zeta) \in W_p^1(\overline{G})$ $(C_{\alpha}^{k+1}(\overline{G}), W_p^{k+1}(\overline{G}))$ by Theorem 4 (5, 6). Hence

$$f(\zeta) = \partial_{\zeta} w(\zeta) \in L_p(\overline{G}) \ (C^k_\alpha(\overline{G}), \ W^k_p(\overline{G})),$$

and this completes the case of operator S_2 .

References

- Bojarski, B.V.: Generalized solutions to a first order system of differential equations of elliptic type with discontinuous coefficients. Mat Sb. 43(4), 451–503 (1957, Russian). English translation in Rep. Univ. Jyväskylä Dept. Math. Stat. 118 (2009)
- Vekua, I.N.: Generalized Analytic Functions, vol. XXIX, p. 668S. Pergamon Press, Oxford/London/New York/Paris (1962)
- Monakhov, V.N.: Boundary value problems with free boundaries for elliptic systems of equations. In: Translations of Mathematical Monographs, vol. 57. American Mathematical Society, Providence (1983)

- 4. Vinogradov, V.S.: Construction of Regularizers for Elliptic Boundary Problems on the Plane, vol. 26(1), pp. 16–23 (1990, Russian). English translation Differ. Equ. **26**(1), 14–20 (1990)
- Klimentov, S.B.: On isomorphism of some functional spaces under action of integro-differential operators. Ufa Math. J. 11(1), 39–60 (2019)
- Klimentov, S.B.: Representations of the second kind for the solutions to the first order general linear elliptic system in the simply connected plane domain. Global Stochastic Anal. 6(1), 9–24 (2019)
- Agmon, S., Douglis, A., Nirenberg, L.: Estimates near the boundary for solutions of elliptic partial differential equations satisfying general boundary conditions. I. Commun. Pure Appl. Math. XII, 623–727 (1959)
- 8. Kantorovich, L.V., Akilov, G.P.: Functional Analysis. Pergamon Press, Oxford (2014)

On One Class of Solutions of the Darboux System



R. C. Kulaev and A. B. Shabat

Abstract We construct a reduction of the three-dimensional Darboux system for the Christoffel symbols, which describes orthogonal curvilinear coordinate systems. We show that the class of solutions of the Darboux system is parametrized by six functions of one variable (two for each of three independent variables). We give an explicit formulas for Darboux system solutions. In addition, we study the linear system associated with the Darboux system. This system reduces to a threedimensional Goursat problem for a third-order equation with data on coordinate planes. It is shown that the solution to the Goursat problem admits the separation of variables and is determined by its values on the coordinate lines.

Keywords Darboux three-dimensional system \cdot Integrated system \cdot Goursat problem with three variables \cdot Hydrodynamic type system \cdot Hamiltonian system

Mathematics Subject Classification 35L40, 37K15

We consider a system of six differential equations (Darboux system)

$$\left(\partial_j + \Gamma_{kj}\right)\Gamma_{ki} = \Gamma_{ki}\Gamma_{ij} + \Gamma_{kj}\Gamma_{ji}, \quad i \neq j \neq k, \quad 1 \le i, j, k \le 3, \tag{0.1}$$

R. C. Kulaev (🖂)

South Mathematical Institute VSC RAS, Vladikavkaz, Russia

North Ossetia State University, Vladikavkaz, Russia

Institute of Mathematics, Ufa Federal Research Centre RAS, Ufa, Russia e-mail: kulaev@smath.ru

A. B. Shabat Landau Institute for Theoretical Physics RAS, Chernogolovka, Russia

Institute of Mathematics, Ufa Federal Research Centre RAS, Ufa, Russia e-mail: shabatab@mail.ru

[©] The Editor(s) (if applicable) and The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

A. G. Kusraev, Z. D. Totieva (eds.), *Operator Theory and Differential Equations*, Trends in Mathematics, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-49763-7_8

with respect to the functions Γ_{ij} of three variables $(x, y, z) \in \mathbb{R}^3_+$. Here and below we follow the notation $\partial_1 = \partial_x = \frac{\partial}{\partial x}$, $\partial_2 = \partial_y = \frac{\partial}{\partial y}$, $\partial_3 = \partial_z = \frac{\partial}{\partial z}$. We are interested in issues related to the integrability of the system (0.1) and, in particular, constructing its explicit solutions.

The modern interest in the system (0.1) is due to its close connection to differential geometry. It occurs when describing conjugate curvilinear coordinate systems. In the terminology of differential geometry, the unknown functions Γ_{ij} are the Kristoffel symbols $\Gamma_{ij} \equiv \Gamma_{ij}^i$, $i \neq j$, Levi-Civita connections (see, for example [1]). Today, there are several approaches to the problem of constructing conjugate and orthogonal coordinate systems. An approach based on the inverse problem method in the theory of integrable equations was developed in [2–5]. In the works of Dubrovin-Novikov [6], Zakharov [3], Tsarev [1], and Krichever [7], an approach to the construction of such coordinates was proposed, which is based on the methods of the theory of hydrodynamic type systems. In particular, it was found that an arbitrary orthogonal coordinate system corresponds to a family of diagonal Hamiltonian systems of hydrodynamic type. That systems determined from the system

$$u_{y} = \Gamma_{12}(v - u), \quad v_{z} = \Gamma_{23}(w - v), \quad w_{x} = \Gamma_{31}(u - w),$$

$$u_{z} = \Gamma_{13}(w - u), \quad v_{x} = \Gamma_{21}(u - v), \quad w_{y} = \Gamma_{32}(v - w).$$
(0.2)

with respect to the functions u, v, w of three variables $(x, y, z) \in \mathbb{R}^3_+$.

Unfortunately, the solution of the systems (0.1), (0.2) is not possible without introducing additional conditions. In the works [8, 9] the system (0.2) corresponding to weakly nonlinear systems of hydrodynamic type was considered. It is characterized by the fact that the functions u, v, and w do not depend on the variables x, y, and z, respectively. This feature makes it possible to obtain explicit formulas for the solutions of the system (0.2):

$$u = \frac{g_2(y) - g_3(z)}{f_2(y) - f_3(z)}, \quad v = \frac{g_3(z) - g_1(x)}{f_3(z) - f_1(x)}, \quad w = \frac{g_1(x) - g_2(y)}{f_1(x) - f_2(y)}, \tag{0.3}$$

where f_i , g_i are arbitrary functions. In [10] a class of solutions of the Darboux system satisfying the reduction condition

$$\partial_j \Gamma_{jk} = \partial_k \Gamma_{kj} = \Gamma_{jk} \Gamma_{kj}, \quad i \neq j \neq k.$$
 (0.4)

was introduced. Such reduction provided (local) solvability of the system (0.1) on the Christoffel symbols in terms of their values on the coordinate axes, allowed to obtain explicit formulas for solutions of the associated system (0.2). In particular (see the paper [11]), it was shown that the solutions of the system (0.2) are parametrized by nine functions of one variable (three for each variable x, y, z). In addition, the reduction to a weakly nonlinear system (see formulas (0.2)) is a special case of the approach under consideration.

In this paper, we give another approach to finding explicit solutions of the systems of Eqs. (0.1), and (0.2). In Sect. 2, we construct a reduction of the threedimensional Darboux system (0.1) with one additional algebraic condition on the functions Γ_{ij} . The corresponding class of solutions is characterized by the fact that the function Γ_{ij} does not depend on the *k*-th variable, where the indices *i*, *j*, *k* are pairwise different. It is shown that the selected class of solutions is parametrized by six functions of one variable (two for each of the three variables). There is also some ideological connection with the formulas (0.3). However, we note at once that the class of solutions corresponding to the reduction (0.4). It is determined by the associated systems (0.2), which, generally speaking, are not related to the property of weak nonlinearity.

1 Linear System (0.2)

It is well known (see, for example, [1, 3, 6]) that the Darboux system (0.1) occurs when determining the compatibility conditions of the first order system (0.2). Substitution of Eqs. (0.2) in the system of Darboux equations (0.1) reduces equations with quadratic nonlinearity to linear equations of the second order on the function u, v, w.

Lemma 1 If the functions Γ_{ij} and u, v, w are related by the Eqs. (0.2), then the functions Γ_{ij} satisfy the equation system (0.1), and the functions u, v, w satisfy the second-order equation system,

$$w_{xy} + (\Gamma_{32} - \Gamma_{32}\Gamma_{21}/\Gamma_{31}) w_x + (\Gamma_{31} - \Gamma_{31}\Gamma_{12}/\Gamma_{32}) w_y = 0,$$

$$u_{yz} + (\Gamma_{13} - \Gamma_{13}\Gamma_{32}/\Gamma_{12}) u_y + (\Gamma_{12} - \Gamma_{12}\Gamma_{23}/\Gamma_{13}) u_z = 0,$$

$$v_{zx} + (\Gamma_{21} - \Gamma_{21}\Gamma_{13}/\Gamma_{23}) v_z + (\Gamma_{23} - \Gamma_{23}\Gamma_{31}/\Gamma_{21}) v_x = 0.$$

(1.1)

Proof Let us consider the pair of Eqs. (0.2):

$$w_{v} + \Gamma_{32}w = \Gamma_{32}v, \qquad w_{x} + \Gamma_{31}w = \Gamma_{31}u.$$

Differentiating first equation with respect to y, and second equation with respect to x, we get

$$w_{xy} + \Gamma_{32,x}w + \Gamma_{32}w_x - \Gamma_{32,x}v - \Gamma_{32}v_x = 0,$$

$$w_{xy} + \Gamma_{31,y}w + \Gamma_{31}w_y - \Gamma_{31,y}u - \Gamma_{31}u_y = 0.$$
(1.2)

To the first derivatives of the function w, on the left hand side, we attract the equations of this system, and for the derivatives of the functions u, v, on the right hand side, we attract equations from other pairs:

$$\Gamma_{32}w_x = \Gamma_{32}\Gamma_{31}(u-w), \quad \Gamma_{31}w_y = \Gamma_{31}\Gamma_{32}(v-w), \Gamma_{32}v_x = \Gamma_{32}\Gamma_{21}(u-v), \quad \Gamma_{31}u_y = \Gamma_{31}\Gamma_{12}(v-u).$$

Then, subtracting the first equation in (1.2) from the second one, we get a pair of equations with respect to the functions Γ_{ij}

$$\Gamma_{32,x} = \Gamma_{31,y}, \quad \Gamma_{32,x} = \Gamma_{32}\Gamma_{21} + \Gamma_{31}\Gamma_{12} - \Gamma_{32}\Gamma_{31}.$$

From the latter in turn the equations for the functions u, v, w are obtained. Indeed, taking the first equality in (1.2), we have

$$w_{xy} + \Gamma_{32}w_x - \Gamma_{32,x}(v - w) - \Gamma_{32}v_x$$

= $w_{xy} + \Gamma_{32}w_x - \Gamma_{32,x}(v - w) - \Gamma_{32}\Gamma_{21}(u - v)$
= $w_{xy} + \Gamma_{32}w_x - \frac{\Gamma_{32,x}}{\Gamma_{32}}w_y - \Gamma_{32}\Gamma_{21}(u - w) + \Gamma_{32}\Gamma_{21}(v - w)$
= $w_{xy} + \left(\Gamma_{32} - \frac{\Gamma_{32}\Gamma_{21}}{\Gamma_{31}}\right)w_x + \left(\Gamma_{31} - \frac{\Gamma_{31}\Gamma_{12}}{\Gamma_{32}}\right)w_y.$

The remaining equations can be obtained similarly.

Lemma 2 If the functions Γ_{ij} and u, v, w are related by the Eqs. (0.2), then the function u satisfies the second-order system

$$u_{xy} + \Gamma_{12}u_x + \left(\Gamma_{21} - \frac{\Gamma_{12,x}}{\Gamma_{12}}\right)u_y = 0,$$

$$u_{xz} + \Gamma_{13}u_x + \left(\Gamma_{31} - \frac{\Gamma_{13,x}}{\Gamma_{13}}\right)u_z = 0.$$
(1.3)

The proof is similar to the proof of Lemma 1. To derive the first equation, it is necessary to consider a pair of equations of the system (0.2) with the functions Γ_{12} and Γ_{21} , whilst the pair of functions Γ_{13} and Γ_{31} should be considered in case of the second equation.

Remark 1 From (1.3) by cyclic permutations

$$x \to y \to z \to x, \quad 1 \to 2 \to 3 \to 1.$$
 (1.4)

one can obtain two more systems of the same form for the functions v and w. Consequently, each of the functions u, v, w satisfies a system of three second order hyperbolic equations.

Remark 2 Darboux equations (0.1) admit "conformal" transformations:

$$x \to X(x), \quad y \to Y(y), \quad z \to Z(z)$$

which translate the solution Γ_{ij} of the system (0.1) into the following set of functions:

$$\frac{\Gamma_{21}}{X'(x)}, \frac{\Gamma_{31}}{X'(x)}, \frac{\Gamma_{12}}{Y'(y)}, \frac{\Gamma_{32}}{Y'(y)}, \frac{\Gamma_{13}}{Z'(z)}, \frac{\Gamma_{23}}{Z'(z)}$$

In particular, constant solution of the system (0.1) is transferred to the system of functions of one variable.

2 Reduction of the Darboux System

This section deals with the reduction of the Darboux system. It is determined by the following property: for $i \neq j \neq k \neq i$, the function Γ_{ij} does not depend on the *k*-th variable. It is obvious that in the class of functions Γ_{ij} under consideration, all constant solutions of the system (0.1) are contained. It is easy to verify that in this case the Darboux system (0.1) reduces to a system of three algebraic equations

$$\frac{\Gamma_{21}}{\Gamma_{31}} + \frac{\Gamma_{12}}{\Gamma_{32}} = 1, \quad \frac{\Gamma_{32}}{\Gamma_{12}} + \frac{\Gamma_{23}}{\Gamma_{13}} = 1, \quad \frac{\Gamma_{13}}{\Gamma_{23}} + \frac{\Gamma_{31}}{\Gamma_{21}} = 1.$$
(2.1)

In our further considerations, the key role will be played by determinant of the matrix

$$\mathbf{\Gamma} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \Gamma_{12} & \Gamma_{13} \\ \Gamma_{21} & 0 & \Gamma_{23} \\ \Gamma_{31} & \Gamma_{32} & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad \det \mathbf{\Gamma} = \Gamma_{12}\Gamma_{23}\Gamma_{31} + \Gamma_{13}\Gamma_{32}\Gamma_{21}.$$
(2.2)

Therefore, before proceeding to solving the Darboux system, we first establish the relationship of the system (2.1) with the determinant of the matrix Γ .

Lemma 3 The general solution of algebraic equations (2.1) depends on four free parameters. Moreover, any solution of the system (2.1) satisfies the condition

$$\det \mathbf{\Gamma} = 0. \tag{2.3}$$

Proof Let Γ_{12} , Γ_{21} and Γ_{13} , Γ_{31} be selected as free parameters. From the first and third equations of the system (2.1) we get

$$\Gamma_{23} = \frac{\Gamma_{13}\Gamma_{21}}{\Gamma_{21} - \Gamma_{31}}, \quad \Gamma_{32} = \frac{\Gamma_{12}\Gamma_{31}}{\Gamma_{31} - \Gamma_{21}}.$$
 (2.4)

Substituting in the second equation (2.1) instead of Γ_{23} , Γ_{32} , the right-hand sides of the Eqs. (2.4), we obtain the identity. Therefore, the Eqs. (2.4) are equivalent to the three Eqs. (2.1).

To prove the second part of the assertion of the lemma, we note that (2.4) implies the equality (2.4)

$$\frac{\Gamma_{13}\Gamma_{21}}{\Gamma_{23}} = -\frac{\Gamma_{12}\Gamma_{31}}{\Gamma_{32}}.$$

Now condition (2.3) is obvious by virtue of formulas (2.2).

Remark 3 The "conformal" transformations $x \to X(x)$, $y \to Y(y)$, $z \to Z(z)$ preserve the form of Eqs. (2.1). Moreover, they do not change the value of the determinant of the matrix Γ .

Example 1 It is easy to verify that if $\Gamma_{12} = \Gamma_{13} = \Gamma_{21} = 1$, $\Gamma_{31} = 2$, $\Gamma_{23} = s$ and $\Gamma_{32} = -2s$, then the matrix Γ is degenerate for any $s \in \mathbb{R}$. At the same time, the substitution of these values in the left parts of the first and third equations in (2.1) gives

$$\frac{1}{2} + \frac{1}{-2s} = \frac{s-1}{2s}, \qquad \frac{1}{s} + \frac{2}{1} = \frac{2s+1}{s}.$$

Note that the Eqs. (2.1) are satisfied only for s = -1.

Further, we will show that solutions of the system of three algebraic equations (2.1) are parametrized by six functions of one variable (two for each of the variables x, y, z).

Since for $k \neq i \neq j \neq k$, the function Γ_{ij} does not depend on the *k*-th variable, then from Lemma 3, we have

$$\frac{\Gamma_{21}\Gamma_{32}}{\Gamma_{12}\Gamma_{23}} = -\frac{\Gamma_{31}}{\Gamma_{13}} \quad \Rightarrow \quad \frac{\Gamma_{21}}{\Gamma_{12}} = \frac{X'(x)}{Y'(y)}, \quad \frac{\Gamma_{32}}{\Gamma_{23}} = \frac{Y'(y)}{Z'(z)},$$

$$\frac{\Gamma_{21}\Gamma_{13}}{\Gamma_{12}\Gamma_{31}} = -\frac{\Gamma_{23}}{\Gamma_{32}} \quad \Rightarrow \quad \frac{\Gamma_{21}}{\Gamma_{12}} = \frac{X'(x)}{Y'(y)}, \quad \frac{\Gamma_{13}}{\Gamma_{31}} = -\frac{Z'(z)}{X'(x)}.$$
(2.5)

where X, Y, Z—arbitrary functions of one variable.

Using first equation from (2.1) and (2.5), we get

$$\frac{X'\Gamma_{12}}{Y'\Gamma_{31}} + \frac{Z'\Gamma_{12}}{Y'\Gamma_{23}} = 1 \quad \Rightarrow \quad \frac{\Gamma_{12}}{Y'} \left(\frac{X'}{\Gamma_{31}} + \frac{Z'}{\Gamma_{23}}\right) = 1 \quad \Rightarrow \quad \frac{\Gamma_{12}}{Y'} \left(-\frac{Z'}{\Gamma_{13}} + \frac{Y'}{\Gamma_{32}}\right) = 1,$$

therefore,

$$\frac{X'}{\Gamma_{31}} + \frac{Z'}{\Gamma_{23}} = \frac{Y'}{\Gamma_{12}}, \qquad \qquad \frac{Z'}{\Gamma_{13}} + \frac{Y'}{\Gamma_{12}} = \frac{Y'}{\Gamma_{32}}.$$
 (2.6)

Attracting other equations of system (2.1), we obtain another pair of equations

$$\frac{X'}{\Gamma_{21}} + \frac{Z'}{\Gamma_{13}} = \frac{Z'}{\Gamma_{23}}, \qquad \qquad \frac{X'}{\Gamma_{31}} + \frac{Y'}{\Gamma_{32}} = \frac{X'}{\Gamma_{21}}.$$
 (2.7)

Since each fraction in (2.6), (2.7) depends only on two variables, we have

$$\frac{X'}{\Gamma_{31}} = f_3 - f_1, \qquad \frac{Z'}{\Gamma_{23}} = f_2 - f_3, \qquad \frac{Y'}{\Gamma_{12}} = f_2 - f_1,$$
$$\frac{Z'}{\Gamma_{13}} = f_1 - f_3, \qquad \frac{Y'}{\Gamma_{32}} = f_2 - f_3, \qquad \frac{X'}{\Gamma_{21}} = f_2 - f_1,$$

where f_i are arbitrary functions, each of which depends only on the *i*th variable from the ordered set $\{x, y, z\}$. From this, we finally obtain the solution of the Darboux system (0.1), which, taking into account the arbitrariness of f_i and remark 1, can be written as

$$\Gamma_{31} = \frac{X'}{f_3(Z) - f_1(X)}, \qquad \Gamma_{23} = \frac{Z'}{f_2(Y) - f_3(Z)}, \qquad \Gamma_{12} = \frac{Y'}{f_2(Y) - f_1(X)},$$

$$\Gamma_{13} = \frac{Z'}{f_1(X) - f_3(Z)}, \qquad \Gamma_{32} = \frac{Y'}{f_2(Y) - f_3(Z)}, \qquad \Gamma_{21} = \frac{X'}{f_2(Y) - f_1(X)}.$$

(2.8)

By virtue of Lemma 3 condition (2.3) is a consequence of the algebraic system (2.1), and Example 1 indicates that condition (2.3) and the system (2.1) are not the same. Further, we show that if we supplement system (0.1) with the condition (2.3), then the solutions Γ_{ij} of the resulting system will not depend on the *k*-th variable, i.e. the system of relations (0.1), (2.3) is reduced to an algebraic system (2.1).

Lemma 4 The solutions of the Darboux system (0.1) satisfy equality (2.3) if and only if the condition

$$\partial_x(\Gamma_{32}\Gamma_{23}) = \partial_y(\Gamma_{13}\Gamma_{31}) = \partial_z(\Gamma_{12}\Gamma_{21}) = 0 \tag{2.9}$$

holds.

Proof From Eqs. (0.1), we get

$$\partial_x (\Gamma_{32}\Gamma_{23}) = \Gamma_{32}\partial_x \Gamma_{23} + \Gamma_{23}\partial_x \Gamma_{32}$$

= $\Gamma_{32}(\Gamma_{23}\Gamma_{31} + \Gamma_{21}\Gamma_{13} - \Gamma_{23}\Gamma_{21}) + \Gamma_{23}(\Gamma_{32}\Gamma_{21} + \Gamma_{31}\Gamma_{12} - \Gamma_{32}\Gamma_{31})$
= $\Gamma_{32}\Gamma_{21}\Gamma_{13} + \Gamma_{23}\Gamma_{31}\Gamma_{12}.$

Consequently, we arrive at the equivalence

$$\partial_x(\Gamma_{32}\Gamma_{23}) = 0 \quad \Leftrightarrow \quad \Gamma_{32}\Gamma_{21}\Gamma_{13} + \Gamma_{23}\Gamma_{31}\Gamma_{12} = 0.$$

The rest of the statement of the lemma can be obtained by cyclic permutations of the indices $\{1, 2, 3\}$ and variables $\{x, y, z\}$.

Let Γ_{ij} be solutions of the Darboux system satisfying (2.3). Then from Lemma 4 it follows that the product $\Gamma_{12}\Gamma_{21}$ does not depend on *z*. Hence, there are functions $a_{12}(x, y)$, $a_{21}(x, y)$ and c(z) such that

$$\Gamma_{12} = a_{12}c, \quad \Gamma_{21} = \frac{a_{21}}{c}.$$
 (2.10)

Similarly, one can show that

$$\Gamma_{13} = a_{13}b, \quad \Gamma_{31} = \frac{a_{31}}{b},$$

 $\Gamma_{23} = a_{23}a, \quad \Gamma_{32} = \frac{a_{32}}{a},$
(2.11)

where the functions a_{ij} depend only on the *i* and *j* variables, and the functions *a* and *b* depend only on *x* and *y*, respectively. There are two possible options: either a'(x)b'(y)c'(z) = 0 or $a'(x)b'(y)c(z) \neq 0$. Consider each of them separately.

Let a'(x)b'(y)c'(z) = 0. Since the functions Γ_{ij} satisfy the semi-Hamiltonian conditions $\Gamma_{ij,k} = \Gamma_{ik,j}$ for any triple $i \neq j \neq k \neq i$ (see formula (0.1)), the equality

$$a_{12}c' = a_{13}b' \tag{2.12}$$

holds. It follows from (2.12) that c(z) = c, b(y) = b, where *c* and *b* are nonzero constants. Then, from the equality $\Gamma_{31,y} = \Gamma_{32,x}$, in turn, it follows that the function a(x) does not depend on *x*. Consequently, the function Γ_{ij} does not depend on the *k*th variable, $k \neq i \neq j \neq k$. Therefore Γ_{ij} satisfy system 2.1.

Now suppose that $a'(x)b'(y)c'(z) \neq 0$. Then from (2.12) it follows that

$$\frac{a_{12}}{b'} = \frac{a_{13}}{c'}.$$

The left side does not depend on z, and the right side does not depend on y. Consequently

$$a_{12} = a_1(x)b', \quad a_{13} = a_1(x)c'.$$

Hence, Γ_{12} and Γ_{13} admit presentation

$$\Gamma_{12} = a_1(x)b'(y)c(z), \quad \Gamma_{13} = a_1(x)b(y)c'(z).$$

Using similar reasoning we obtain equalities for the remaining four functions Γ_{ii}

$$\Gamma_{23} = b_1(y)a(x)c'_2(z), \quad \Gamma_{21} = b_1(y)a'(x)c_2(z),$$

$$\Gamma_{31} = c_1(z)a'_2(x)b_2(y), \quad \Gamma_{32} = c_1(z)a_2(x)b'_2(y).$$

Comparing the obtained expressions for Γ_{ij} with the formulas (2.10) and (2.11), we obtain that the Darboux system solution (0.1) is parametrized by the procession of functions of one variable and can be represented as

$$\Gamma_{12} = \frac{\widetilde{X}(x)Y'(y)Z(z)}{Y^{2}(y)}, \quad \Gamma_{23} = \frac{\widetilde{Y}(y)X(x)Z'(z)}{Z^{2}(z)}, \quad \Gamma_{31} = \frac{\widetilde{Z}(z)X'(x)Y(y)}{X^{2}(x)},$$
$$\Gamma_{13} = -\frac{\widetilde{X}(x)Z'(z)}{Y(y)}, \quad \Gamma_{21} = -\frac{\widetilde{Y}(y)X'(x)}{Z(z)}, \quad \Gamma_{32} = -\frac{\widetilde{Z}(z)Y'(y)}{X(x)},$$
(2.13)

where

$$X'(x)Y'(y)Z'(z) \neq 0.$$
 (2.14)

Moreover, in view of the Darboux equations (0.1), all six functions of one variable, defining the parametrization, are interconnected by one functional equation

$$\frac{X\widetilde{Y}}{Z} + \frac{Y\widetilde{Z}}{X} + \frac{Z\widetilde{X}}{Y} = 1,$$
(2.15)

which is invariant under cyclic permutations of symbols $\{X, Y, Z\}$.

Let us show that the system of relations (2.14), and (2.15) is incompatible. To do this, we rewrite the Eq. (2.15) as

$$X^2 Y \widetilde{Y} + Y^2 Z \widetilde{Z} + Z^2 X \widetilde{X} = X Y Z.$$

Differentiating this equation with respect to x, we get

$$2XX'Y\widetilde{Y} + Z^2(X\widetilde{X})' = X'YZ.$$

Further, differentiating the obtained equality with respect to z, we have

$$2ZZ'(X\widetilde{X})' = X'YZ' \quad \Rightarrow \quad Z'(2Z(X\widetilde{X})' - X'Y) = 0.$$

It follows that Z(z) = const, which contradicts (2.14).

We summarize the results of this section in the form of the following theorem.

Theorem 1 Let the condition (2.3) be satisfied. Then the Darboux system solutions are parametrized by six functions of one variable (two for each, each of the variables x, y, z) and represented by formulas (2.8).

Example 2 It is easy to show that following collection of functions

$$\Gamma_{31} = \frac{1}{e^x + e^{-z}} = -\Gamma_{13}, \quad \Gamma_{23} = \frac{1}{2e^y - e^{-z}} = \Gamma_{32}, \quad \Gamma_{12} = \frac{1}{e^x + 2e^y} = \Gamma_{21}$$

is a solution of the system (0.1). Moreover, the equality (2.3) holds and the reduction condition (0.4) is not satisfied.

Acknowledgments This work is supported by Russian Science Foundation (grant no. 15-11-20007).

References

- Tsarev, S.P.: The geometry of Hamiltonian systems of hydrodynamic type. The generalized hodograph method. Math. USSR Izv. 37(2), 397–419 (1991). [Transl. from Izv. Akad. Nauk SSSR, Ser. Mat. 54(5), 1048–1068 (1990)]
- Zakharov, V.E., Manakov, S.V.: Construction of higher-dimensional nonlinear integrable systems and of their solutions. Funct. Anal. Appl. 19, 89–101 (1985)
- Zakharov, V.E.: Description of the *n*-orthogonal curvilinear coordinate systems and hamiltonian integrable systems of hydrodynamic type. Part 1. Integration of the Lame equations. Duke Math. J. 94(1), 103–139 (1998)
- Dryuma, V.S.: Geometrical properties of the multidimensional nonlinear differential equations and the Finsler metrics on the phase space of dynamical systems. Theor. Math. Phys. 99(2), 241–249 (1994)
- Bogdanov, L.V., Konopelchenko, B.G.: Generalized integrable hierarchies and Combescure symmetry transformations. J. Phys. A Math. Gen. 30(5), 1591–1604 (1997)
- Dubrovin, B.A., Novikov, S.P.: Hydrodynamics of weakly deformed soliton lattices. Differential geometry and Hamiltonian theory. Russ. Math. Surv. 44(6), 35–124 (1989)
- Krichever, I.M.: Algebraic-geometric n-orthogonal curvilinear coordinate systems and solutions of the associativity equations. Funct. Anal. Appl. 31, 25–39 (1997)
- 8. Ferapontov, E.V.: Systems of three differential equations of hydrodynamic type with hexagonal 3-web of characteristics on the solutions. Funct. Anal. Appl. 23, 151–153 (1989)
- 9. Pavlov, M.V.: Integrable systems of equations of hydrodynamic type. Cand. Sci. (Phys. Math.) Dissertation (Lebedev Phys. Inst. Russ. Acad. Sci., Moscow, 1992)

- Kulaev, R.Ch., Pogrebkov, A.K., Shabat, A.B.: Darboux System: Liouville Reduction and an Explicit Solution. In: Proceedings of the Steklov Institute of Mathematics, vol. 302, pp. 268– 286 (2018)
- Kulaev, R.Ch., Pogrebkov, A.K., Shabat, A.B.: Darboux system as three-dimensional analog of Liouville equation. Russ. Math. 12, 60–69 (2018)

Boolean Valued Analysis: Background and Results



A. G. Kusraev and S. S. Kutateladze

Abstract The paper provides a brief overview of the origins, methods and results of Boolean valued analysis. Boolean valued representations of some mathematical structures and mappings are given in tabular form. A list of some problems arising outside the theory of Boolean valued models, but solved using the Boolean valued approach, is given. The relationship between the Kantorovich's heuristic principle and the Boolean valued transfer principle is also discussed.

Keywords Vector lattice \cdot Kantorovich's principle \cdot Gordon's theorem \cdot Boolean valued analysis \cdot Boolean valued representation

Mathematics Subject Classification (2000) 06F25, 46A40.

1 Introduction

In 1977, Eugene Gordon, a young teacher of Lobachevsky Nizhny Novgorod State University, published the short note [13] which begins with the words:

This article establishes that the set whose elements are the objects representing reals in a Boolean valued model of set theory $\mathbb{V}^{(\mathbb{B})}$, can be endowed with the structure of a vector

A. G. Kusraev (🖂)

S. S. Kutateladze

Southern Mathematical Institute, Vladikavkaz Scientific Center of the RAS, Vladikavkaz, Russia e-mail: kusraev@smath.ru

Sobolev Institute of Mathematics, Siberian Branch of the RAS, Novosibirsk, Russia e-mail: sskut@math.nsc.ru

[©] The Editor(s) (if applicable) and The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

A. G. Kusraev, Z. D. Totieva (eds.), *Operator Theory and Differential Equations*, Trends in Mathematics, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-49763-7_9

space and an order relation so that it becomes an extended K-space¹ with base² \mathbb{B} . It is shown that in some cases this fact can be used to generalize the theorems about reals to extended K-spaces.

His note has become the bridge between various areas of mathematics which helps, in particular, to solve numerous problems of functional analysis in "semiordered vector spaces" [36] by using the techniques of Boolean valued models of set theory [6].

In the same year, at the Symposium on Applications of Sheaf Theory to Logic, Algebra, and Analysis (Durham, July 9–11, 1977), Gaisi Takeuti, a renowned expert in proof theory, observed that if \mathbb{B} is a complete Boolean algebra of orthogonal projections in a Hilbert space H, then the set whose elements represent reals in the Boolean valued model $\mathbb{V}^{(\mathbb{B})}$ can be identified with the vector lattice of selfadjoint operators in H whose spectral resolutions take values in \mathbb{B} ; see [93].

These two events marked the birth of a new section of functional analysis, which Takeuti designated by the term *Boolean valued analysis*. The history and achievements of Boolean valued analysis are reflected in [56–58].

It should be mentioned that in 1969 Dana Scott foresaw that the new nonstandard models must be of mathematical interest beyond the independence proof, but he was unable to give a really good evidence of this; see [87]. In fact Takeuti found a narrow path whereas Gordon paved a turnpike to the core of mathematics, which justifies the vision of Scott.

Boolean valued analysis signifies the technique of studying the properties of an arbitrary mathematical object by comparison between its representations in two different Boolean valued models of set theory. As the models, we usually take the von Neumann universe V (the mundane embodiment of the classical Cantorian paradise) and the *Boolean valued universe* $\mathbb{V}^{(\mathbb{B})}$ (a specially-trimmed universe whose construction utilizes a complete Boolean algebra \mathbb{B}). The principal difference between \mathbb{V} and $\mathbb{V}^{(\mathbb{B})}$ is the way of verification of statements: There is a natural way of assigning to each statement ϕ about $x_1, \ldots, x_n \in \mathbb{V}^{(\mathbb{B})}$ the Boolean truthvalue $\llbracket \phi(x_1, \ldots, x_n) \rrbracket \in \mathbb{B}$. The sentence $\phi(x_1, \ldots, x_n)$ is called true in $\mathbb{V}^{(\mathbb{B})}$ if $[\phi(x_1, \ldots, x_n)] = 1$. All theorems of Zermelo-Fraenkel set theory with the axiom of choice are true in $\mathbb{V}^{(\mathbb{B})}$ for every complete Boolean algebra \mathbb{B} . There is a smooth and powerful mathematical technique for revealing interplay between the interpretations of one and the same fact in the two models $\mathbb V$ and $\mathbb V^{(\mathbb B)}.$ The relevant ascending-and-descending machinery rests on the functors of canonical embedding $X \mapsto X^{\wedge}$, descent $X \mapsto X^{\downarrow}$, and ascent $X \mapsto X^{\uparrow}$ acting between \mathbb{V} and $\mathbb{V}^{(\mathbb{B})}$, see [56, 57]. Everywhere below \mathbb{B} is a complete Boolean algebra and $\mathbb{V}^{(\mathbb{B})}$ the corresponding Boolean valued model of set theory; see [6, 99]. A partition of *unity* in \mathbb{B} is a family $(b_{\xi})_{\xi \in \Xi} \subset \mathbb{B}$ such that $\bigvee_{\xi \in \Xi} b_{\xi} = \mathbb{1}$ and $b_{\xi} \wedge b_{\eta} = \mathbb{O}$

¹A *K*-space or a *Kantorovich space* is a Dedekind complete vector lattice. An *extended K*-space is a universally complete vector lattice, cp. [4] and [104].

²The *base* of a vector lattice is the inclusion ordered set of all of its bands (that forms a complete Boolean algebra) [36, 104].

whenever $\xi \neq \eta$. The unexplained terms of vector lattice theory can be found in [4, 70, 71, 85, 104].

2 Kantorovich's Heuristic Principle

Definition 1 A vector lattice or a Riesz space is a real vector space X equipped with a partial order \leq for which the *join* $x \lor y$ and the *meet* $x \land y$ exist for all $x, y \in X$, and such that the *positive cone* $X_+ := \{x \in X : 0 \leq x\}$ is closed under addition and multiplication by positive reals and for any $x, y \in X$ the relations $x \leq y$ and $0 \leq y - x$ are equivalent. A *band* in a vector lattice X is the *disjoint complement* Y' of any set $Y \subset X$ where $Y' := \{x \in X : (\forall y \in Y) | x | \land | y | = 0\}$. Let $\mathbb{P}(X)$ stand for the complete Boolean algebra of all band projections in X.

Definition 2 A subset $U \subset X$ is order bounded if U lies in an order interval $[a, b] := \{x \in X : a \le x \le b\}$ for some $a, b \in X$. A vector lattice X is Dedekind complete (respectively, laterally complete) if each nonempty order bounded set (respectively, each nonempty set of pairwise disjoint positive vectors) U in X has a least upper bound $\sup(U) \in X$. The vector lattice that is laterally complete and Dedekind complete simultaneously is referred to as *universally complete*.

Definition 3 An *f*-algebra is a vector lattice X equipped with a distributive multiplication such that if $x, y \in X_+$ then $xy \in X_+$, and if $x \wedge y = 0$ then $(ax) \wedge y = (xa) \wedge y = 0$ for all $a \in X_+$. An *f*-algebra is *semiprime* provided that xy = 0 implies $x \perp y$ for all x and y. A *complex vector lattice* $X_{\mathbb{C}}$ is the complexification $X_{\mathbb{C}} := X \oplus iX$ (with *i* standing for the imaginary unity) of a real vector lattice X.

Leonid Kantorovich was among the first who studied operators in ordered vector spaces. He distinguished an important instance of ordered vector spaces, a Dedekind complete vector lattice, often called a *Kantorovich space* or a *K*-space. This notion appeared in Kantorovich's first fundamental article [35] on this topic where he wrote:

In this note, I define a new type of space that I call a semiordered linear space. The introduction of such a space allows us to study linear operations of one abstract class (those with values in such a space) as linear functionals.

Here Kantorovich stated an important methodological principle, the *heuristic transfer principle* for *K*-spaces, claiming that the elements of a *K*-space can be considered as generalized reals. Essentially, this principle turned out to be one of those profound ideas that, playing an active and leading role in the formation of a new branch of analysis, led eventually to a deep and elegant theory of *K*-space rich in various applications. At the very beginning of the development of the theory, attempts were made at formalizing the above heuristic argument. In this direction, there appeared the so-called *identity preservation theorems* which claimed that if some proposition involving finitely many relations is proven for the reals then an analogous fact remains valid automatically for the elements of

every *K*-space (see [36, 71, 104]). The depth and universality of Kantorovich's principle were demonstrated within Boolean valued analysis. See more about the Kantorovich's universal heuristics and innate integrity of his methodology in [67]. The contemporary forms of above mentioned relation preservation theorems, basing on Boolean valued models, may be found in Gordon [15, 18, 21] and Jech [30].

3 Boolean Valued Reals

Boolean valued analysis stems from the fact that each internal field of reals of a Boolean valued model descends into a universally complete vector lattice. Thus, a remarkable opportunity opens up to expand and enrich the mathematical knowledge by translating information about the reals to the language of other branches of functional analysis.

According to the principles of Boolean valued set theory there exists an internal field of reals \mathscr{R} in a model $\mathbb{V}^{(\mathbb{B})}$ which is unique up to isomorphism. In other words, there exists $\mathscr{R} \in \mathbb{V}^{(\mathbb{B})}$ for which $[\![\mathscr{R}]$ is a field of reals $]\!] = \mathbb{1}$. Moreover, if $[\![\mathscr{R}']$ is a field of reals $]\!] = \mathbb{1}$ for some $\mathscr{R}' \in \mathbb{V}^{(\mathbb{B})}$ then $[\![$ the ordered fields \mathscr{R} and \mathscr{R}' are isomorphic $]\!] = \mathbb{1}$.

By the same reasons there exists an internal field of complex numbers $\mathscr{C} \in \mathbb{V}^{(\mathbb{B})}$ which is unique up to isomorphism. Moreover, $\mathbb{V}^{(\mathbb{B})} \models \mathscr{C} = \mathscr{R} \oplus i\mathscr{R}$. We call \mathscr{R} and \mathscr{C} the *internal reals* and *internal complexes* in $\mathbb{V}^{(\mathbb{B})}$.

The fundamental result of Boolean valued analysis is *Gordon's Theorem* [13] which reads as follows: *Each universally complete vector lattice is an interpretation of the reals in an appropriate Boolean valued model.* Formally:

Gordon Theorem Let \mathbb{B} be a complete Boolean algebra, \mathscr{R} be a field of reals within $\mathbb{V}^{(\mathbb{B})}$. Endow $\mathbf{R} := \mathscr{R} \downarrow$ with the descended operations and order. Then

- (1) The algebraic structure \mathbf{R} is a universally complete vector lattice.
- (2) The field $\mathscr{R} \in \mathbb{V}^{(\mathbb{B})}$ can be chosen so that $\llbracket \mathbb{R}^{\wedge}$ is a dense subfield of $\mathscr{R} \rrbracket = 1$.
- (3) There is a Boolean isomorphism χ from \mathbb{B} onto $\mathbb{P}(\mathbf{R})$ such that

$$\chi(b)x = \chi(b)y \Longleftrightarrow b \le [[x = y]],$$
$$\chi(b)x \le \chi(b)y \Longleftrightarrow b \le [[x \le y]]$$
$$(x, y \in \mathbf{R}; b \in \mathbb{B}).$$

For a detailed proof of the Gordon Theorem, see [45, 56, 58]. Observe also some additional properties of Boolean valued reals, namely multiplicative structure and complexification:

Corollary 1 The universally complete vector lattice $\Re \downarrow$ with the descended multiplication is a semiprime *f*-algebra with the ring unity $\mathbb{1} := 1^{\land}$. Moreover, for every $b \in \mathbb{B}$ the band projection $\chi(b) \in \mathbb{P}(\mathbf{R})$ acts as multiplication by $\chi(b)\mathbb{1}$.

Corollary 2 Let C be the field of complex numbers within $\mathbb{V}^{(\mathbb{B})}$. Then the algebraic system $C \downarrow$ is a universally complete complex f-algebra. Moreover, $C \downarrow$ is the complexification of the universally complete real f-algebra $\mathcal{R} \downarrow$; i.e., $C \downarrow = \mathcal{R} \downarrow \oplus i\mathcal{R} \downarrow$.

Example 1 Assume that a measure space (Ω, Σ, μ) is semi-finite; i.e., if $A \in \Sigma$ and $\mu(A) = \infty$ then there exists $B \in \Sigma$ with $B \subset A$ and $0 < \mu(B) < \infty$. The vector lattice $L^0(\mu) := L^0(\Omega, \Sigma, \mu)$ (of cosets) of μ -measurable functions on Ω is universally complete if and only if (Ω, Σ, μ) is *localizable* (\equiv *Maharam*). In this event $L^p(\Omega, \Sigma, \mu)$ is Dedekind complete; see [11, 241G]. Observe that $\mathbb{P}(L^0(\Omega, \Sigma, \mu)) \simeq \Sigma/\mu^{-1}(0)$.

Example 2 Given a complete Boolean algebra \mathbb{B} of orthogonal projections in a Hilbert space H, denote by $\langle \mathbb{B} \rangle$ the space of all selfadjoint operators on H whose spectral resolutions are in \mathbb{B} ; i.e., $A \in \langle \mathbb{B} \rangle$ if and only if $A = \int_{\mathbb{R}} \lambda dE_{\lambda}$ and $E_{\lambda} \in \mathbb{B}$ for all $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}$. Define the partial order in $\langle \mathbb{B} \rangle$ by putting $A \geq B$ whenever $\langle Ax, x \rangle \geq \langle Bx, x \rangle$ holds for all $x \in \mathcal{D}(A) \cap \mathcal{D}(B)$, where $\mathcal{D}(A) \subset H$ stands for the domain of A. Then $\langle \mathbb{B} \rangle$ is a universally complete vector lattice and $\mathbb{P}(\langle \mathbb{B} \rangle) \simeq \mathbb{B}$.

Example 3 Let $\Lambda = \mathscr{R} \Downarrow$ stands for the bounded part of the universally complete vector lattice $\mathscr{R} \downarrow$, that is, $\Lambda := \{x \in \mathscr{R} \downarrow : |x| \leq C^{\wedge} \text{ for some } C \in \mathbb{R}\}$. Then Λ is a Dedekind complete vector lattice and $\overline{\Lambda} := \Lambda \oplus i\Lambda$ is a complex Dedekind complete vector lattice. Moreover, Λ can be endowed with a norm $||x||_{\infty} := \inf\{\alpha > 0 : |x| \leq \alpha \mathbb{1}\}$.

If μ is a Maharam measure and \mathbb{B} in the Gordon Theorem is the algebra of all μ measurable sets modulo μ -negligible sets, then $\mathscr{R} \downarrow$ is lattice isomorphic to $L^0(\mu)$; see Example 1. If \mathbb{B} is a complete Boolean algebra of projections in a Hilbert space H then $\mathscr{R} \downarrow$ is isomorphic to $\langle \mathbb{B} \rangle$; see Example 2. The two indicated particular cases of Gordon's Theorem were intensively and fruitfully exploited by Takeuti [92–95]. The object $\mathscr{R} \downarrow$ for general Boolean algebras was also studied by Jech [30, 31], and [32] who in fact rediscovered Gordon's Theorem. The difference is that in [30] a (complex) universally complete vector lattice with unit is defined by another system of axioms and is referred to as a complete *Stone algebra*. By selecting special \mathbb{B} 's, it is possible to obtain some properties of \mathscr{R} .

Remark 1 In 1963 P. Cohen discovered his *method of 'forcing'* and also proved the independence of the Continuum Hypothesis. A comprehensive presentation of the Cohen forcing method gave rise to the *Boolean valued models of set theory*, which were first introduced by D. Scott and R. Solovay (see Scott [87]) and P. Vopěnka [103]. A systematic account of the theory of Boolean valued models and its applications to independence proofs can be found in [6, 33, 91, 99].

Remark 2 Gordon came to his theorem, while trying to solve the Solovay's famous problem. Assuming the consistency with ZFC of the existence of inaccessible cardinal, R. Solovay established the following result: *The statement "Every subset of* \mathbb{R} *is Lebesgue measurable" is consistent with* ZF+DC (*Dependent choice*), see [90]. The Solovay's problem asks whether or not this result remains true without assumption of consistency of existence of inaccessible cardinal? Gordon failed to solve this problem but proved the following weaker assertion: The statement "The Lebesgue measure on \mathbb{R} *can be extended to a* σ *-additive invariant measure on the* σ *-algebra of sets definable by a countable sequence of ordinals" is consistent with* ZFC,³ see [13, Theorem 7] and [16]. In order to prove this result he needed to examine a Boolean algebra \mathcal{B} with a measure $\mu : \mathcal{B} \to \mathcal{R}$ inside $\mathbb{V}^{(\mathbb{B})}$ and identify the descent $\mu \downarrow : \mathcal{B} \downarrow \to \mathcal{R} \downarrow$ of μ in \mathbb{V} . Thus, he discovered that the algebraic structure of $\mathcal{R} \downarrow$ is a well-known object, and it is *K*-space, which he learned from the book [101].

Remark 3 Many delicate properties of the objects inside $\mathbb{V}^{(\mathbb{B})}$ depend essentially on the structure of the initial Boolean algebra \mathbb{B} . The diversity of opportunities together with a great stock of information on particular Boolean algebras ranks Boolean valued models among the most powerful tools of foundational studies, see [6, 33, 99]. Here it is worth mentioning two deep independence results in analysis: The sentences SH⁴ (Souslin's Hypothesis) and NDH⁵ (No Discontinuous Homomorphisms) are independent of ZFC, see [29, 91] and [10], respectively.

4 Boolean Valued Representation of Structures

Every Boolean valued universe has the collection of mathematical objects in full supply. Available in plenty are all sets with extra structure: groups, rings, algebras, normed spaces, operators etc. Applying the descent functor to these internal algebraic systems of a Boolean valued model, we distinguish some bizarre entities or recognize old acquaintances, which leads to revealing the new facts of their life and structure.

³Earlier G. Saks [88] without assumption of existence of inaccessible cardinal proved that the statement "The Lebesgue measure on \mathbb{R} can be extended to the σ -additive invariant measure defined on all subsets of \mathbb{R} " is consistent with ZF + DC.

⁴H: Every order complete order dense linearly ordered set having no first or last element is order isomorphic to the ordered set of reals \mathbb{R} , provided that every collection of mutually disjoint non-empty open intervals in it is countable.

⁵NDH: For each compact space X, each homomorphism from $C(X, \mathbb{C})$ into a Banach algebra is continuous.

It thus stands to reason to raise the following question: What structures significant for mathematical practice are obtainable by the Boolean values interpretation of the most typical algebraic systems? The answer is given in terms of Boolean sets.

- **1.** A *Boolean set* or, more precisely, a \mathbb{B} -*set* is by definition a pair (X, d), where $X \in \mathbb{V}, X \neq \emptyset$, and *d* is a mapping from $X \times X$ to \mathbb{B} satisfying for all $x, y, z \in X$ the conditions: (1) $d(x, y) = \mathbb{O}$ if and only if x = y; (2) d(x, y) = d(y, x); (3) $d(x, y) \leq d(x, z) \lor d(z, y)$. Each nonempty subset $\emptyset \neq X \subset \mathbb{V}^{(\mathbb{B})}$ provides an example of a \mathbb{B} -set on assuming that $d(x, y) := [x \neq y] = [x = y]^*$ for all $x, y \in X$. Another example arises if we furnish a nonempty set X with the "discrete \mathbb{B} -metric" d; i. e., on letting d(x, y) = 1 in case $x \neq y$ and $d(x, y) = \mathbb{O}$ in case x = y.
- **2.** For every \mathbb{B} -set (X, d) there are a member \mathscr{X} of $\mathbb{V}^{(\mathbb{B})}$ and an injection $\iota : X \to X' := \mathscr{X} \downarrow$ such that $d(x, y) = \llbracket \iota(x) \neq \iota(y) \rrbracket$ for all $x, y \in X$ and every $x' \in X'$ admits the representation $x' = \min_{\xi \in \Xi} (b_{\xi} \iota(x_{\xi}))$, with $(x_{\xi})_{\xi \in \Xi} \subset X$ and $(b_{\xi})_{\xi \in \Xi}$ a partition of unity in \mathbb{B} . The element \mathscr{X} of $\mathbb{V}^{(\mathbb{B})}$ is said to be the *Boolean valued representation* of the \mathbb{B} -set X. If X is a discrete \mathbb{B} -set then $\mathscr{X} = X^{\wedge}$ and $\iota(x) = x^{\wedge}$ for all $x \in X$. If $X \subset \mathbb{V}^{(\mathbb{B})}$ then ι^{\uparrow} is an injection from X^{\uparrow} to \mathscr{X} within $\mathbb{V}^{(\mathbb{B})}$. Say that X is \mathbb{B} -complete (or \mathbb{B} -cyclic), whenever $\iota(X) = X'$.
- **3.** A mapping *f* from a \mathbb{B} -set (X, d) to a \mathbb{B} -set (X', d') is *contractive* provided that $d'(f(x), f(y)) \leq d(x, y)$ for all $x, y \in X$. Assume that *X* and *Y* are some \mathbb{B} -sets. Assume further that \mathscr{X} and \mathscr{Y} are the Boolean valued representations of *X* and *Y*, while $\iota : X \to \mathscr{X} \downarrow$ and *J* : $Y \to \mathscr{Y} \downarrow$ are the corresponding injections. If $f : X \to Y$ is a contractive mapping then there is a unique member *g* of $\mathbb{V}^{(\mathbb{B})}$ such that $[[g : \mathscr{X} \to \mathscr{Y}]] = 1$ and $f = J^{-1} \circ g \downarrow \circ \iota$.
- **4.** In case a B-set *X* has some a priori structure we may try to furnish the Boolean valued representation of *X* with an analogous structure, so as to apply the technique of ascending and descending to the study of the original structure of *X*. Consequently, the above questions may be treated as instances of the unique problem of searching a well-qualified Boolean valued representation of a B-set with some additional structure, *algebraic* B-systems.
- 5. Thus an algebraic B-system refers to a B-set endowed with a few contractive operations and B-predicates, the latter meaning B-valued contractive mappings. The Boolean valued representation of an algebraic B-system appears to be a conventional two valued algebraic system of the same type. This means that an appropriate B-completion of each algebraic B-system coincides with the descent of some two valued algebraic system.
- **6.** The following table shows Boolean valued representations of some structures. Of course, all these representation results are applied to the study of their properties by means of Boolean valued analysis. For details, we refer to the sources indicated in the third column of the table (Table 1).

Algebraic structure with order, norm, etc.	Boolean valued representation	Author [·], year
Complete Boolean algebra with a complete subalgebra	Complete Boolean algebra	Solovay and Tennenbaum [91]
Amalgated free product of Boolean algebras over \mathbb{B}	Free product of Boolean algebras	Can be extracted from [91]
Universally complete Kantorovich space	Field of reals	Gordon [13]
Boolean extension of a uniform space	Complete uniform space	Gordon and Lyubetskiĭ [22–24]
Rationally complete semiprime abelian ring	Arbitrary field	Gordon [19]
Complete ring of fractions of a semiprime abelian ring	The field of fractions of an integral domain	Gordon [19]
Unital separated injective module	Vector space	Gordon [20]
Continuous geometry ^a	Irreducible CG ^b	Nishimura [73]
Von Neumann algebra	Von Neumann factor	Ozawa [78], Takeuti [96]
Kaplansky–Hilbert module	Hilbert space	Takeuti [96], Ozawa [79, 80]
\mathbb{B} -complete C^* -algebra	C*-algebra	Takeuti [97]
Type I AW*-algebra	W^* -algebra End(H) for a Hilbert space H	Ozawa [80]
AW*-module	Hilbert space	Ozawa [80]
Embeddable AW*-algebra	Von Neumann algebra	Ozawa [81]
Banach-Kantorovich space	Banach space	Kusraev [41]
Operator caps and faces	Caps and faces of sets of functionals	Kutateladze [64, 65]
B-simple groups and B-simple rings	Simple groups and Simple rings	Takeuti [98]
₿-complete Banach space	Banach space	Kusraev [41, 42], Ozawa [84]
B-compactification (or cyclic compactification)	Stone-Čech compactification	Abasov and Kusraev [1]
B-Dedekind domain ^b	Dedekind domain ^b	Nishimura [75]
B-complete Lie algebra over a Stone algebra	Lie algebra	Nishimura [76]
AL*-algebra ^c	L^* -algebra ^c	Nishimura [77]

Table 1 Structures

\mathbb{B} -complete JB -algebra	JB-algebra	Kusraev [43]
B-complete B-dual	Dual JB-algebra	Kusraev [43]
J B-algebra		
Injective Banach lattice	AL-space (L_1 space)	Kusraev [50, 54] ^e
Kaplansky–Hilbert lattice ^d	Hilbert lattice	Kusraev [51]
Ordered preduals to injective	L^1 -preduals	Kusraev, Kutateladze [59]
Banach lattices		

^aA *continuous geometry* (= CG) is a complete complemented modular lattice *L* satisfying the axioms: $\sup_{\alpha \in A} (x_{\alpha} \land z) = (\sup_{\alpha \in A} x_{\alpha}) \land z$ and $\inf_{\alpha \in A} (y_{\alpha} \lor z) = (\inf_{\alpha \in A} y_{\alpha}) \lor z$ for all $z \in L$, increasing family $(x_{\alpha})_{\alpha \in A}$, and decreasing family $(y_{\alpha})_{\alpha \in A}$ in *L*. A continuous geometry with a trivial center is called *irreducible*, *Neuman* [102]

^bA \mathbb{B} -Dedekind domain is a \mathbb{B} -integral domain that is \mathbb{B} -hereditary. A \mathbb{B} -integral domain is a \mathbb{B} complete ring R in which every \mathbb{B} -ideal of R is \mathbb{B} -projective and for all $a, b \in R$ with ab = 0 there
exist $e, f \in \mathbb{B}$ such that ef = 0, e + f = 1, ea = 0, and fb = 0; see [75, p. 69]. A Dedekind
domain is an integral domain in which every ideal is projective or, equivalently, each nonzero ideal
is a product of prime ideals [7, Chap. 7, § 2]

^cAn *AL**-algebra is an *AW**-module \mathscr{L} over a commutative von Neumann algebra *A* endowed with an *A*-bilinear operation $[\cdot, \cdot] : \mathscr{L} \times \mathscr{L} \to \mathscr{L}$ and a unary *-operation $(\cdot)^* : \mathscr{L} \to \mathscr{L}$ such that for all $u, v, w \in \mathscr{L}$ we have: (1) [u, u] = 0; (2) [[u, v], w] + [[v, w]u] + [[w, u]v] = 0; (3) $\langle [u, v], w \rangle = \langle v, [u^*, w] \rangle$; see [77, p. 245]. An *L**-algebra is a complex Lie algebra \mathscr{L} that is simultaneously a Hilbert space endowed with a *-operation satisfying $\langle [u, v], w \rangle = \langle v, [u^*, w] \rangle$ for all $u, v, w \in \mathscr{L}$; see [86]

^dA *Kaplansky–Hilbert lattice* over Λ is a real Banach lattice X such that $X \oplus iX$ is a Kaplansky–Hilbert module over $\overline{\Lambda}$ and $||x|| := ||\sqrt{\langle x, x \rangle}||_{\infty}$ for all $x \in X$, see Example 3. A Kaplansky–Hilbert lattice over $\Lambda = \mathbb{R}$ is called a *Hilbert lattice*, see [71]. The norm $||x + iy|| := \sqrt{||\langle x, x \rangle + \langle y, y \rangle||_{\infty}}$ is given incorrectly in [51]

^eSome related results can be found in [51, 59, 60]

5 Boolean Valued Representation of Operators

- **1.** Let *X* be a normed space and let *E* be a vector lattice. Say that a linear operator $T: X \to E$ has an *abstract norm* or is *dominated* if the image $T(B_X)$ of the unit ball B_X of *X* is order bounded in *E*. Assume now that *X* is a multinormed space and *E* has an order unit 1. An operator *T* is called *piecewise bounded* if there is a partition of unity (π_{α}) in $\mathbb{P}(E)$ and a family of continuous seminorms (p_{α}) such that $|\pi_{\alpha}T_X| \leq 1p_{\alpha}(x)$ for all α and $x \in X$
- **2.** An operator $T : E \to F$ between two vector lattices is said to be *interval preserving* whenever *T* is a positive operator and T[0, x] = [0, Tx] holds for each $x \in E_+$. A Maharam operator is an order continuous interval preserving operator. An operator $T : E \to E$ on vector lattice is said to be *band preserving* if $x \perp y$ implies $Tx \perp y$ for all $x, y \in E$ or, equivalently, whenever *T* keeps all bands of *E* invariant, i. e., $T(B) \subset B$ holds for each band *B* of *E*.
- 3. Consider a B-complete Banach space Y. Denote by Prt_σ (B) the set of all countable partitions of unity in B. Say that a sequence (y_n)_{n∈N} B-approximates y ∈ Y if, for each k ∈ N, we have inf{sup_{n≥k} ||π_n(y_n − y)|| : (π_n)_{n≥k} ∈ Prt_σ (B)} = 0. Call a set K ⊂ Y B-compact if K is B-complete and every sequence (y_n)_{n∈N} ⊂ K B-approximates some y ∈ K. An operator from a normed space X to Y is called B-compact or cyclically compact if the image of every norm bounded subset of X lies in some B-compact subset of Y.

4. Suppose *E* is a Banach lattice. A linear operator $T : E \to Y$ is *cone* \mathbb{B} *-summing* if and only if there exists a positive constant *C* such that for every finite collection $x_1, \ldots, x_n \in E$ there is a countable partition of unity $(\pi_k)_{k \in \mathbb{N}}$ in \mathbb{B} such that the inequality

$$\sup_{k\in\mathbb{N}}\sum_{i=1}^{n}\left\|\pi_{k}Tx_{i}\right\|\leq C\left\|\sum_{i=1}^{n}\left|x_{i}\right|\right\|$$

holds, see [50]. Observe that if $\mathbb{B} = \{0, I_Y\}$ then a cone \mathbb{B} -summing operator is a *cone absolutely summing operator*; cp. [85, Ch. 4].

5. Let $\mathbb{P} = \mathbb{R}$ or $\mathbb{P} = \mathbb{C}$. Given an algebra *A* over the field \mathbb{P} , we call a \mathbb{P} -linear operator $D : A \to A$ a *derivation* provided that D(uv) = D(u)v + uD(v) for all $u, v \in A$. It can be easily seen that an order bounded derivation of a universally complete *f*-algebra is trivial (Table 2).

Operator, representation homomorphism, etc.	Boolean valued representation	Author $[\cdot]$, year
Unitary representation of an LCA group	Character of an LCA group	Takeuti [93]
Ordinary differential operator with parameters in $\langle \mathbb{B} \rangle^a$	Ordinary differential operator	Takeuti [93]
(B)-valued Fourier transform on LCA groups	Fourier transform on LCA groups	Takeuti [94]
Linear operator with abstract norm	Norm bounded linear functional	Gordon [14, 17]
Conditional expectation	Lebesgue integral	Gordon [17]
B-Compact operator	Compact operator	Kusraev [39]
Maharam operator	Order continuous positive functional	Kusraev [40]
Piecewise bounded linear operator	Continuous linear functional	Sikorskiĭ [89]
Differential polynomial on $\mathscr{D}'(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C})$ or $\mathscr{S}'(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C})$ with coefficients in \mathbb{C}^b	Constant coefficients differential polynomial on $\mathscr{D}'(\mathbb{R}^n), \mathscr{S}'(\mathbb{R}^n)$	Sikorskiĭ [88, 89]
Unitary representation of a locally compact group	Irreducible unitary representation	Nishimura [74]
Band preserving operator	\mathbb{R}^{\wedge} -linear function on Boolean valued reals	Kusraev [46]
Derivation on a universally complete f -algebra over \mathbb{C}	Derivation on the complex plane	Kusraev [47]
Cone B-summing operator	Cone absolutely summing operator	Kusraev [49]
Weighted conditional expectation type operator	Weighted conditional expectation operator	Kusraev, Kutateladze [58]

^aSee Example 2 in § 3

 $^{{}^{}b}\mathscr{D}'(\mathbb{R}^{n}, \mathbf{C})$ (resp. $\mathscr{S}'(\mathbb{R}^{n}, \mathbf{C})$) is the space of all piecewise bounded operators from $\mathscr{D}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$ (resp. $\mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$ to \mathbf{C}), where $\mathbf{C} := \mathscr{C} \downarrow = \mathbf{R} \oplus i\mathbf{R}$ is a complex universally complete vector lattice, see Corollary 2

6 Problems and Solutions

Boolean valued analysis sheds new light on some old problems and generates a large number of new ones. We now give a small list of problems that arose independently of the theory of Boolean valued models, but which were solved by means of Boolean valued analysis. Details as well as many other aspects of Boolean valued analysis may be found in the books [10, 21, 56–58, 92] and the survey papers [23, 34, 61] (Table 3).

Problem	Stems from	Reduced to (by means of BA)	Solved
Intrinsic characterization of subdifferentials	Kutateladze [63]	Weakly compact convex sets of functionals	Kusraev and Kutateladze [55]
General disintegration in Kantorovich spaces	Ioffe, Levin [28]; Neumann [72]	Hahn–Banach and Radon–Nikodým theorems	Kusraev [40]
Kaplansky Problem: Homogeneity of a type I AW*-algebra	Kaplansky [38]	Homogeneity of End(H) with H a Hilbert space	Ozawa [80]
The trace problem for finite <i>AW</i> *-algebra	Kaplansky [37]	The trace problem for a W^* -factor	Ozawa [82, 83]
Wickstead problem: Order boundedness of all band preserving operators	Wickstead [105]	Solvability of Cauchy type functional equations	Gutman [26] and Kusraev [47]
Maharam extension of a positive operator	Luxemburg and Schep [69]	Daniel extension of an elementary integral	Akilov, Kolesnikov, and Kusraev [2, 3]
Goodearl problem 18 in [12]	Goodearl [12]	Theorem 12.16 in [12]	Chupin [9]
B-Atomic decomposition of vector measures (into a sum of spectral measures)	Hoffman-Jørgenson [27]	Hammer–Sobczyc decomposition theorem	Kusraev and Malyugin [62]
Classification of AJW -algebras ^a	Topping [100]	Classification of predual JB-factors (<i>JBW</i> -factors)	Kusraev [52, 53]
Description of operators T with $ T $ a sum of two lattice homomorphisms	Grothendieck [25]	Description of functionals with the same property	Kutateladze [66]
Classification of injective Banach lattices	Cartwright[8] and Lotz [68]	Classification of AL -spaces (L_1 spaces)	Kusraev [52, 53]

 Table 3
 Problems and solutions

^aAn AJW-algebra is a JB-algebra with a Jordan counterpart of Baire condition (= annihilators are generated by projections), see [5]. For some related results, see [44, 48]

References

- 1. Abasov, N.M., Kusraev, A.G.: Cyclical compactification and continuous vector functions. Siberian Math. J. 6(1), 17–22 (1987)
- Akilov, G.P., Kolesnikov, E.V., Kusraev, A.G.: The Lebesgue extension of a positive operator. Dokl. Akad. Nauk SSSR, 298(3), 521–524 (1988)
- Akilov, G.P., Kolesnikov, E.V., Kusraev, A.G.: On the order continuous extension of a positive operator. Siberian Math. J. 29(5), 24–35 (1988)
- 4. Aliprantis, C.D., Burkinshaw, O.: Positive Operators. Academic Press, New York (1985)
- 5. Arzikulov, F.N.: On abstract JW-algebras. Siberian Math. J. 39(1), 20–27 (1998)
- Bell, J.L.: Boolean-Valued Models and Independence Proofs in Set Theory. Clarendon Press, New York (1985)
- Bourbaki, N.: Elements de Mathematique, Algebre Commutative: Valuations. In: Fasc. XXVII. Actualites Science Industrial, Paris, Hermann, vol. 1290 (1962)
- Cartwright, D.I.: Extension of positive operators between Banach lattices. Mem. Am. Math. Soc. 164, 1–48 (1975)
- Chupin, H.A.: On problem 18 in Goodearl's book "Von Neumann regular rings". Siberian Math. J. 32(1), 161–167 (1991)
- Dales, H., Woodin, W.: An Introduction to Independence for Analysts. Cambridge University, Cambridge (1987)
- 11. Fremlin D.H.: Measure Theory, vol. 2. Broad Foundations, Torres Fremlin, Colchester (2001)
- 12. Goodearl, K.R.: Von Neumann Regular Rings. Krieger Publication Company, Malabar (1991)
- Gordon, E.I.: Real numbers in Boolean-valued models of set theory and K-spaces. Dokl. Akad. Nauk SSSR 237(4), 773–775 (1977)
- Gordon, E.I.: Measurable Functions and Lebesgue integral in Boolean Valued Models of Set Theory over a Measure Algebra, vol. VINITI, pp. 291–80. Lenin Moscow State Pedagogical Institute, Moscow (1979, Russian)
- Gordon, E.I.: Stability of Horn formulas with respect to transition algebras of Boolean measures on locally compact fields, vol. VINITI, pp. 1243–1281. Lenin Moscow State Pedagogical Institute, Moscow (1980, Russian)
- 16. Gordon, E.I.: On the existence of Haar measure in σ -compact groups, vol. VINITI, pp. 1243–81. Lenin Moscow State Pedagogical Institute, Moscow (1980, Russian)
- Gordon, E.I.: K-spaces in Boolean-valued models of set theory. Dokl. Akad. Nauk SSSR 258(4), 777–780 (1981)
- Gordon, E.I.: To the theorems of identity preservation in *K*-spaces. Sibirsk. Mat. Zh. 23(5), 55–65 (1982)
- Gordon, E.I.: Rationally Complete Semiprime Commutative Rings in Boolean Valued Models of Set Theory, vol. VINITI, pp. 3286–83. State University, Gor'kii (1983, Russian)
- Gordon, E.I.: Strongly Unital Injective Modules as Linear Spaces in Boolean Valued Models of Set Theory, vol. VINITI, pp. 770–85. State University, Gor'kii (1984, Russian)
- 21. Gordon, E.I.: Elements of Boolean Valued Analysis. State University, Gor'kii (1991, Russian)
- Gordon, E.I., Lyubetskiĭ, V.A.: Boolean extensions of uniform structures, vol. VINITI, pp. 711–80. Lenin Moscow State Pedagogical Institute, Moscow (1980, Russian)
- Gordon, E.I., Lyubetskii, V.A.: Some applications of nonstandard analysis in the theory of Boolean valued measures. Dokl. Akad. Nauk SSSR 256(5), 1037–1041 (1981)
- Gordon, E.I., Lyubetskiĭ, V.A.: Boolean extensions of uniform structures. In: Studies on Nonclassical Logics and Formal Systems, Moscow, Nauka, pp. 82–153 (1983)
- Grothendieck, A.: Une caracterisation vectorielle-metrique des espaces L¹. Canad. J. Math. 4, 552–561 (1955)
- 26. Gutman, A.E.: Locally one-dimensional K-spaces and σ -distributive Boolean algebras. Siberian Adv. Math. **5**(2), 99–121 (1995)
- 27. Hoffman-Jørgenson, J.: Vector measures. Math. Scand. 28(1), 5-32 (1971)

- Ioffe, A.D., Levin, V.L.: Subdifferentials of convex functions. Proc. Moscow Math. 26, 3–72 (1972)
- Jech, T.J.: Non-provability of Souslins Hypothesis. Comment. Math. Universitatis Caroline 8(1), 291–305 (1967)
- Jech, T.J.: Abstract theory of abelian operator algebras: an application of forcing. Trans. Am. Math. Soc. 289(1), 133–162 (1985)
- Jech, T.J.: First order theory of complete Stonean algebras (Boolean-valued real and complex numbers)s. Canad. Math. Bull. 30(4), 385–392 (1987)
- 32. Jech, T.J.: Boolean-linear spaces. Adv. Math. 81(2), 117–197 (1990)
- 33. Jech, T.J.: Lectures in Set Theory with Particular Emphasis on the Method of Forcing. Springer, Berlin (1971). (Set Theory. Springer, Berlin (1997))
- Kanovey, V.G., Lyubetskiĭ, V.A.: Problems of set theoretic nonstandard analysis. Uspekhi Mat. Nauk 62(1:373), 51–122 (2007)
- Kantorovich, L.V.: On semiordered linear spaces and their applications to the theory of linear operations. Dokl. Akad. Nauk SSSR. 4(1–2), 11–14 (1935)
- Kantorovich, L.V., Vulikh, B.Z., Pinsker A.G.: Functional Analysis in Semiordered Spaces. Moscow–Leningrad, Gostekhizdat (1950, in Russian)
- 37. Kaplansky, I.: Projections in Banach algebras. Ann. of Math. 53, 235–249 (1951)
- 38. Kaplansky, I.: Modules over operator algebras. Am. J. Math. 75(4), 839–858 (1953)
- Kusraev, A.G.: Boolean valued analysis of duality between universally complete modules. Dokl. Akad. Nauk SSSR 267(5), 1049–1052 (1982)
- Kusraev, A.G.: Order continuous functionals in Boolean valued models of set theory. Siberian Math. J. 25(1), 57–65 (1984)
- 41. Kusraev, A.G.: On Banach-Kantorovich spaces. Sibirsk. Mat. Zh. 26(2), 119–126 (1985)
- Kusraev, A.G.: Linear operators in lattice-normed spaces. In: Studies on geometry in the large and mathematical analysis. Proceeding of the Sobolev Institute Mathematical, Novosibirsk, vol. 9, pp. 84–123 (1987, in Russian)
- 43. Kusraev, A.G.: Boolean valued analysis and *JB*-algebras. Sibirsk. Mat. Zh. **35**(1), 124–134 (1994)
- 44. Kusraev, A.G.: On the structure of type I₂ AJW-algebras. Siberian Math. J. **40**(4), 905–917 (1999)
- 45. Kusraev, A.G.: Dominated Operators. Kluwer, Dordrecht (2000)
- 46. Kusraev, A.G.: On band preserving operators. Vladikavkaz Math. J. 6(3), 47–58 (2004)
- Kusraev, A.G.: Automorphisms and derivations in extended complex *f*-algebras. Siberian Math. J. 47(1), 97–107 (2006)
- Kusraev, A.G.: Boolean valued analysis of normed Jordan algebras. In: Kusraev, A.G., Tikhomirov, V.M. (eds.) Studies in Functional Analysis and Its Applications. Nauka, Moscow (2006)
- 49. Kusraev, A.G.: Boolean Valued Analysis Approach to Injective Banach Lattices, 28 p. Southern Mathematical Institute VSC RAS, Vladikavkaz (2011). Preprint no. 1
- 50. Kusraev, A.G.: Boolean valued analysis and injective Banach lattices. Dokl. Math., **85**(3), 341–343 (2012)
- Kusraev, A.G.: Kantorovich's principle in action: AW*-modules and injective Banach lattices. Vladikavkaz Math. J. 14(1), 67–74 (2012)
- 52. Kusraev, A.G.: Classification of injective Banach lattices. Dokl. Math. 88(3), 1-4 (2013)
- 53. Kusraev, A.G.: Injective Banach lattices: A survey. Eurasian Math. J. 5(3), 58–79 (2014)
- Kusraev, A.G.: Boolean valued transfer principle for injective Banach lattices. Siberian Math. J. 25(1), 57–65 (2015)
- Kusraev, A.G., Kutateladze, S.S.: Analysis of subdifferentials via Boolean-valued models. Dokl. Akad. Nauk SSSR 265(5), 1061–1064 (1982)
- 56. Kusraev, A.G., Kutateladze, S.S.: Boolean Valued Analysis. Kluwer, Dordrecht (1999)
- 57. Kusraev, A.G., Kutateladze, S.S.: Introduction to Boolean Valued Analysis. Nauka, Moscow (2005, in Russian)

- Kusraev, A.G., Kutateladze, S.S.: Boolean Valued Analysis: Selected Topics. In: Trends in Science: The South of Russia. A Mathematical Monographs, vol. 6. SMI VSC RAS, Vladikavkaz (2014)
- Kusraev, A.G., Kutateladze, S.S.: Geometric characterization of injective Banach lattices (2019). arXiv:1910.08299v1 [math.FA]
- Kusraev, A.G., Kutateladze, S.S.: Two applications of Boolean valued analysis. Siberian Math. J. 60(5), 902–910 (2019)
- Kusraev, A.G., Kutateladze, S.S.: Some applications of Boolean valued analysis. J. of Appl. Logics 7(4), 427–457 (2020)
- 62. Kusraev A.G., Malyugin S.A.: On atomic decomposition of vector measures. Sibirsk. Mat. Zh. **30**(5), 101–110 (1989)
- Kutateladze, S.S.: Support sets of sublinear operators. Dokl. Akad. Nauk SSSR 230(5), 1029– 1032 (1976)
- 64. Kutateladze, S.S.: Caps and faces of operator sets. Dokl. Akad. Nauk SSSR **280**(2), 285–288 (1985)
- 65. Kutateladze, S.S.: Criteria for subdifferentials to depict caps and faces. Sibirsk. Mat. Zh. 27(3), 134–141 (1986)
- 66. Kutateladze S.S.: On Grothendieck subspaces. Siberian Math. J. 46(3), 620-624 (2005)
- Kutateladze, S.S.: Mathematics and Economics in the Legacy of Leonid Kantorovich. Vladikavkaz Math. J. 14(1), 7–21 (2012)
- Lotz, H.P.: Extensions and liftings of positive linear mappings on Banach lattices. Trans. Am. Math. Soc. 211, 85–100 (1975)
- 69. Luxemburg, W.A.J., Schep, A.: A Radon–Nikodým type theorem for positive operators and a dual. Indag. Math. **40**, 357–375 (1978)
- 70. Luxemburg, W.A.J., Zaanen, A.C.: Riesz Spaces, vol. 1. North Holland, Amsterdam (1971)
- 71. Meyer-Nieberg, P.: Banach Lattices. Springer, Berlin (1991)
- 72. Neumann, M.: On the Strassen disintegration theorem. Arch. Math. 29(4), 413-420 (1977)
- 73. Nishimura, H.: An approach to the dimension theory of continuous geometry from the standpoint of Boolean valued analysis. Publ. RIMS Kyoto Univ. **20**, 1091–1101 (1984)
- Nishimura, H.: Applications of Boolean valued set theory to abstract harmonic analysis on locally compact groups. Publ. RIMS, Kyoto Univ. 21, 181–190 (1985)
- Nishimura, H.: Boolean valued Dedekind domains. Publ. RIMS, Kyoto Univ. 37(1), 65–76 (1991)
- 76. Nishimura, H.: Boolean valued Lie algebras. J. Symbolic Logic 56(2), 731–741 (1991)
- Nishimura, H.: Boolean transfer principle from L*-algebras to AL*-algebras. Math. Logic Quarterly 39(1), 241–250 (1993)
- Ozawa, M.: Boolean valued interpretation of Hilbert space theory. J. Math. Soc. Japan 35(4), 609–627 (1983)
- 79. Ozawa, M.: Boolean valued analysis and type I AW*-algebras. Proc. Japan Acad. Ser. A Math. Sci. 59A(8), 368–371 (1983)
- Ozawa, M.: A classification of type I AW*-algebras and Boolean valued analysis. Proc. Japan Acad. Ser. A Math. Sci. 36(4), 589–608 (1984)
- Ozawa, M.: A transfer principle from von Neumann algebras to AW*-algebras. J. Lond. Math. Soc. 32(1), 141–148 (1985)
- Ozawa, M.: Boolean valued analysis approach to the trace problem of AW*-algebras. J. Lond. Math. Soc. 33(2), 347–354 (1986)
- Ozawa, M.: Embeddable AW*-algebras and regular completions. J. Lond. Math. Soc. 34(3), 511–523 (1986)
- Ozawa, M.: Boolean valued interpretation of Banach space theory and module structures of von Neumann algebras. Nagoya Math. J. 117, 1–36 (1990)
- 85. Schaefer, H.H.: Banach Lattices and Positive Operators. Springer, Berlin (1974)
- Schue, J.R.: Hilbert space methods in the theory of Lie algebras. Trans. Am. Math. Soc. 95, 69–80 (1960)

- Scott, D.: Boolean Models and Nonstandard Analysis. In: Luxemburga, W.A.J. (ed.) Applications of Model Theory to Algebra, Analysis, and Probability, pp. 87–92. Holt, Rinehart, and Winston, New York (1969)
- Sikorskiĭ, M.R.: Boolean Valued Analysis of Operators on Multinormed Spaces and Its Applications, vol. VINITI, pp. 3286–83 (1983, in Russian)
- Sikorskiĭ, M.R.: Some applications of Boolean valued models of set theory to the study of operators on multiormed space. Izv. Vuzov Mat. 2, 82–84 (1989)
- Solovay, R.: A model of set theory in which every set of reals is Lebesgue measurable. Annal. Math. 92(1), 1–56 (1970)
- Solovay, R., Tennenbaum, S.: Iterated Cohen extensions and Souslin's problem. Ann. Math. 94(2), 201–245 (1972)
- 92. Takeuti, G.: Two Applications of Logic to Mathematics. Princeton University Press, Princeton (1978)
- 93. Takeuti, G.: Boolean valued analysis. In: Fourman, M.P., Mulvey, C.J., Scott, D.S. (eds.) Applications of Sheaves. Proceedings of Resarch Symposium Application Sheaf Theory to Logic, Algebra and Analysis University Durham, Durham, 1977. Lecture Notes in Mathematical, vol. 753, pp. 714–731. Springer, Berlin (1979)
- 94. Takeuti, G.: A transfer principle in harmonic analysis. J. Symbolic Logic 44(3), 417–440 (1979)
- 95. Takeuti, G.: Boolean completion and *m*-convergence. In: B. Banaschewski (ed.) Categorical Aspects of Topology and Analysis. Proceedings of International Conference Carleton University, Ottawa (1981). Lecture Notes in Mathematical, vol. 915, pp. 333–350. Springer, Berlin (1982)
- 96. Takeuti, G.: Von Neumann algebras and Boolean valued analysis. J. Math. Soc. Japan **35**(1), 1–21 (1983)
- 97. Takeuti, G.: C*-algebras and Boolean valued analysis. Jpn. J. Math. 9(2), 207-246 (1983)
- 98. Takeuti, G.: Boolean Simple Groups and Boolean Simple Rings. J. Symbol. Logic 53(1), 160–173 (1988)
- 99. Takeuti, G., Zaring, W.M.: Axiomatic set Theory. Springer, New York (1973)
- 100. Topping, D.M.: Jordan algebras of self-adjoint operators. Mem. Am. Math. Soc 53, 1–48 (1965)
- 101. Vladimirov, D.A.; Boolean Algebras. Nauka, Moscow (1969, Russian)
- 102. von Neumann, J.: Continuous Geometry. Princeton University Press, Princeton (1960)
- 103. Vopěnka, P.: General theory of *¬*-models. Comment. Math. Univ. Carolin **8**(1), 147–170 (1967)
- Vulikh, B.Z.: Introduction to the Theory of Partially Ordered Spaces. Wolters–Noordhoff Publications, Groningen (1967)
- 105. Wickstead, A.W.: Representation and duality of multiplication operators on Archimedean Riesz spaces. Comp. Math. **35**(3), 225–238 (1977)
Approximation Properties of Vallée Poussin Means for Special Series of Ultraspherical Jacobi Polynomials



M. G. Magomed-Kasumov

Abstract It is shown that the approximation rate of continuous functions by Vallée Poussin means $V_{n,m}^{\alpha}(f)$ of special series partial sums (α is a parameter in special series construction) is of the order of the best approximation provided $\frac{1}{2} < \alpha < \frac{3}{2}$, $m \simeq n$.

Keywords Jacobi polynomials · Special (sticking) series of ultraspherical polynomials · Approximation properties · Vallée Poussin means

Mathematics Subject Classification (2010) 33C45; 41A25; 41A10.

1 Main Result

Let $\mu^{\alpha}(x) = (1 - x^2)^{\alpha}$ be a weight with $\alpha > 0$ and let $\{\hat{P}_n^{\alpha}(x), n = 0, 1, ...\}$ be a system of polynomials (with positive leading coefficients) orthonormal with respect to the inner product

$$\int_{-1}^{1} \mu^{\alpha}(x) \hat{P}_{n}^{\alpha}(x) \hat{P}_{k}^{\alpha}(x) dx = \delta_{nk}.$$
(1.1)

The polynomials $\hat{P}_n^{\alpha}(x)$ are called the orthonormal Jacobi polynomials. We will also use standardized Jacobi polynomials $P_n^{\alpha}(x)$ that differ from orthonormal ones by constant and are normed by the condition $P_n^{\alpha}(1) = \binom{n+\alpha}{n}$.

M. G. Magomed-Kasumov (🖂)

Southern Mathematical Institute of the Vladikavkaz Scientific Center of the Russian Academy of Sciences, Vladikavkaz, Russia

Daghestan Federal Research Center of the Russian Academy of Sciences, Makhachkala, Russia

[©] The Editor(s) (if applicable) and The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

A. G. Kusraev, Z. D. Totieva (eds.), *Operator Theory and Differential Equations*, Trends in Mathematics, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-49763-7_10

The special series is defined for functions $f(x) \in C[-1, 1]$ as follows:

$$f(x) \sim l(f)(x) + (1 - x^2) \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} c_k^{\alpha}(F) \hat{P}_k^{\alpha}(x), \quad \alpha > 0,$$
(1.2)

where l(f)(x) is a straight line connecting points of function f(x) at the segment [-1, 1] ends, that is,

$$l(f)(x) = \frac{f(-1) + f(1)}{2} + \frac{f(1) - f(-1)}{2}x,$$

 $F(x) = \frac{f(x) - l(f)(x)}{1 - x^2}$ and $c_k^{\alpha}(F)$ is a Fourier–Jacobi coefficient of function F:

$$c_k^{\alpha}(F) = \int_{-1}^{1} \left(f(t) - l(f)(t) \right) (1 - t^2)^{\alpha - 1} \hat{P}_k^{\alpha}(t) dt.$$
(1.3)

The partial sums of the special series (1.2) we will denote as

$$\sigma_n^{\alpha}(f,x) = l(f)(x) + (1-x)^2 \sum_{k=0}^{n-2} c_k^{\alpha}(F) \hat{P}_k^{\alpha}(x).$$
(1.4)

Special series was introduced in the article [1] as a generalization of limit ultraspherical series [2]. In [1] approximation properties of partial sums $\sigma_n^{\alpha}(f)$ were investigated. In particular, it was shown that

$$|f(x) - \sigma_n^{\alpha}(f, x)| \le c(\alpha) E_n(f) \left(1 + \ln(1 + n\sqrt{1 - x^2}) \right), \ \frac{1}{2} \le \alpha < \frac{3}{2}, \ f \in C[-1, 1],$$

where $E_n(f)$ is the best approximation of a function f by algebraic polynomials p_n of degree n:

$$E_n(f) = \inf_{p_n} \max_{x \in [-1,1]} |f(x) - P_n(x)|.$$

In [3] approximation properties of Vallée Poussin means

$$V_{n,m}^{\alpha}(f) = V_{n,m}^{\alpha}(f,x) = \frac{1}{m+1} [\sigma_n^{\alpha}(f,x) + \dots + \sigma_{n+m}^{\alpha}(f,x)]$$
(1.5)

for special series were studied in the case when $\alpha = \frac{1}{2}$ and $n \le qm$, where q is an arbitrary positive fixed number, and the following estimate was obtained:

$$|f(x) - V_{n,m}^{\frac{1}{2}}(f,x)| \le c(q)E_n(f), \ f \in C[-1,1].$$

Here and elsewhere, $c(\alpha)$ and $c(\beta)$ are positive numbers (or positive constants) the dependence only on the given parameters, which, in general, may be different in different places.

In this paper the above mentioned result is extended to the case $\frac{1}{2} < \alpha < \frac{3}{2}$ provided $n \simeq m$ (i. e. $c_1 m \le n \le c_2 m$).

Theorem 1.1 The following estimate of the remainder is valid when the functions $f \in C[-1, 1]$ are approximated by Vallée Poussin means $V_{n,m}^{\alpha}(f, x)$:

$$|f(x) - V_{n,m}^{\alpha}(f,x)| \le c(\alpha)E_n(f), \quad n \asymp m, \quad \frac{1}{2} < \alpha < \frac{3}{2}.$$

2 Proof of the Main Result

The following expression can be obtained for partial sums (1.4) using formula (1.3):

$$\sigma_n^{\alpha}(f,x) = l(f)(x) + (1-x^2) \int_{-1}^{1} \left[f(t) - l(f)(t) \right] (1-t^2)^{\alpha-1} \mathcal{K}_{n-2}^{\alpha}(x,t) dt, \quad (2.1)$$

where

$$\mathcal{K}_n^{\alpha}(x,t) = \sum_{k=0}^n \hat{P}_k^{\alpha}(x) \hat{P}_k^{\alpha}(t) dt.$$

From the Vallée Poussin means definition (1.5) and (2.1) we derive equality:

$$V_{n,m}^{\alpha}(f,x) = l(f)(x) + (1-x^2) \int_{-1}^{1} \left(f(t) - l(f)(t) \right) (1-t^2)^{\alpha-1} K_{n-2,m}^{\alpha}(x,t) dt,$$

where

$$K_{n,m}^{\alpha}(x,t) = \frac{1}{m+1} \sum_{k=n}^{n+m} K_k^{\alpha}(x,t).$$

Let H_n be a space of algebraic polynomials with degree at most n. Note that since the operators $\sigma_n^{\alpha}(f, x)$ leave the polynomials $p_n \in H_n$ invariant [1, p. 1042], the Vallée Poussin means (1.5) have a similar property:

$$V_{n,m}^{\alpha}(p_n, x) = p_n(x), \quad p_n \in H_n.$$

Let $H_n^{\pm}(f)$ be a subset of H_n containing only those polynomials that coincide with the function f(x) at the endpoints of the segment [-1, 1]. Let $E_n^{\pm}(f)$ be the best approximation of a function $f(x) \in C[-1, 1]$ by polynomials p_n from $H_n^{\pm}(f)$ [1, p. 1042]. If $p_n^*(x)$ is the best approximation polynomial for a function f by the set $H_n^{\pm}(f)$, then

$$|f(x) - V_{n,m}^{\alpha}(f,x)| \le E_n^{\pm}(f) + |V_{n,m}^{\alpha}(f - p_n^*)| \le E_n^{\pm}(f) \Big(1 + \Lambda_{n,m}^{\alpha}(x) \Big),$$

where

$$\Lambda_{n,m}^{\alpha}(x) = (1-x^2) \int_{-1}^{1} (1-t^2)^{\alpha-1} \Big| K_{n-2,m}^{\alpha}(x,t) \Big| dt$$
(2.2)

is a Lebesgue function of Vallée Poussin means for partial sums of special series of ultraspherical Jacobi polynomials.

The following will be proved in Sect. 4..

Theorem 2.1 If $n \simeq m$, then

$$\Lambda_{n,m}^{\alpha}(x) \le c(\alpha), \quad \frac{1}{2} < \alpha < \frac{3}{2}, \quad -1 \le x \le 1.$$
(2.3)

Since $E_n^{\pm}(f) \leq 2E_n(f)$ [1, p. 1055], Theorem 1.1 follows from Theorem 2.1. In the next section we give some properties and statements that will be used in the proof of Theorem 2.1.

3 Auxiliary Information

For convenience of reference we will give here some properties of Jacobi polynomials that can be found, for example, in [4].

1. Relation between orthonormal and standardized polynomials:

$$\hat{P}_{n}^{\alpha,\beta}(x) = \sqrt{\frac{n!(\alpha+\beta+2n+1)\Gamma(\alpha+\beta+n+1)}{2^{\alpha+\beta+1}\Gamma(\alpha+n+1)\Gamma(\beta+n+1)}} P_{n}^{\alpha,\beta}(x).$$
(3.1)

In particular, it follows from (3.1) that

$$\hat{P}_n^{\alpha,\beta}(x) \asymp \sqrt{n} P_n^{\alpha,\beta}(x). \tag{3.2}$$

2. Symmetry:

$$\hat{P}_{n}^{\alpha}(-x) = (-1)^{n} \hat{P}_{n}^{\alpha}(x).$$
(3.3)

Approximation Properties of Vallée Poussin Means for Special Series of...

3. Weighted estimate $(-1 < x < 1, \alpha, \beta \ge -1/2)$:

$$|\hat{P}_n^{\alpha,\beta}(x)| \le c(\alpha) \left(\sqrt{1-x}\right)^{-\alpha-\frac{1}{2}} \left(\sqrt{1+x}\right)^{-\beta-\frac{1}{2}}.$$
(3.4)

4. Uniform estimate $(-1 \le x \le 1, \max\{\alpha, \beta\} \ge -1/2)$:

$$|\hat{P}_n^{\alpha,\beta}(x)| \le n^{\max\{\alpha,\beta\} + \frac{1}{2}}.$$
(3.5)

111

5. The Cristoffel–Darboux formula:

$$\begin{aligned} K_k^{\alpha,\beta}(x,t) &= \sum_{j=0}^k \hat{P}_j^{\alpha,\beta}(x) \hat{P}_j^{\alpha,\beta}(t) = \\ &\sqrt{\lambda_{n+1}} \frac{\hat{P}_{k+1}^{\alpha,\beta}(x) \hat{P}_k^{\alpha,\beta}(t) - \hat{P}_k^{\alpha,\beta}(x) \hat{P}_{k+1}^{\alpha,\beta}(t)}{x-t}, \ \sqrt{\lambda_{n+1}} \leq 1. \end{aligned}$$

Using the recurrence formula for Jacobi polynomials we can derive from the latter the following equality [1, p. 1043]:

$$K_{k}^{\alpha}(x,t) = \frac{2^{-2\alpha-1}\Gamma(n+2)\Gamma(n+2\alpha+2)}{(n+1)(\Gamma(n+\alpha+1))^{2}} \times \frac{(1-t)P_{k}^{\alpha+1,\alpha}(t)P_{k}^{\alpha,\alpha}(x) - (1-x)P_{k}^{\alpha+1,\alpha}(x)P_{k}^{\alpha,\alpha}(t)}{x-t}.$$

Applying (3.2) and (3.4) to the last equation and taking into account Gamma-function properties yields the following estimate for -1 < x, t < 1 [1, p. 1043]:

$$|K_k^{\alpha}(x,t)| \leq \frac{c(\alpha)}{|x-t|} (1-t^2)^{-\frac{\alpha}{2}-\frac{1}{4}} (1-x^2)^{-\frac{\alpha}{2}-\frac{1}{4}} \Big((1-t^2)^{\frac{1}{2}} + (1-x^2)^{\frac{1}{2}} \Big).$$

Since the right-hand side is independent on k, the same estimate is valid for $K_{n,m}^{\alpha}(x, y)$:

$$|K_{n,m}^{\alpha}(x,t)| \leq \frac{c(\alpha)}{|x-t|} (1-t^2)^{-\frac{\alpha}{2}-\frac{1}{4}} (1-x^2)^{-\frac{\alpha}{2}-\frac{1}{4}} \Big((1-t^2)^{\frac{1}{2}} + (1-x^2)^{\frac{1}{2}} \Big).$$
(3.6)

We also need the following statements, the proof of which can be found in [5].

Lemma 3.1 The representation $K_{m,n}^{\alpha}(x,t) = \sum_{\nu=0}^{6} S^{\nu}(x,t)$ holds with

$$S^{1}(x,t) = \frac{1}{(x-t)(m+1)} \sum_{k=n}^{n+m} h_{k}^{1} P_{k+1}^{\alpha,\alpha}(x) P_{k}^{\alpha,\alpha}(t),$$

$$S^{2}(x,t) = \frac{1}{(x-t)(m+1)} \sum_{k=n}^{n+m} h_{k}^{2} P_{k}^{\alpha,\alpha}(x) P_{k+1}^{\alpha,\alpha}(t),$$

$$S^{3}(x,t) = \frac{1}{(x-t)(m+1)} \sum_{k=n}^{n+m} h_{k}^{3} P_{k}^{\alpha,\alpha}(x) P_{k}^{\alpha,\alpha}(t),$$

$$S^{4}(x,t) = \frac{1}{(x-t)(m+1)} \sum_{k=n}^{n+m} h_{k}^{4} P_{k+1}^{\alpha,\alpha}(x) P_{k+1}^{\alpha,\alpha}(t),$$

$$S^{5}(x,t) = \frac{(1-x)(1+t)}{(x-t)(m+1)} \sum_{k=n}^{n+m} \delta_{k} P_{k}^{\alpha+1,\alpha}(x) P_{k}^{\alpha,\alpha+1}(t),$$

$$S^{6}(x,t) = -\frac{(n+m+\alpha+2)P_{n+m+1}^{\alpha,\alpha}(x)P_{n+m+1}^{\alpha,\alpha}(t) - (n+\alpha+1)P_{n}^{\alpha,\alpha}(x)P_{n}^{\alpha,\alpha}(t)}{2^{2\alpha+1}(m+1)(x-t)},$$

where $h_k^i = O(1), \, \delta_k = O(1), \, k \to \infty.$

Lemma 3.2 Equality
$$S^0(x, t) = \sum_{\nu=1}^{5} S^0_{\nu}(x, t)$$
 holds, where

$$\begin{split} S_{1}^{0}(x,t) &= \frac{(1-x)^{2}(1+t)}{2^{2\alpha+1}(m+1)(x-t)^{2}} \times \\ &[(n+m+2+2\alpha)P_{n+m}^{\alpha+2,\alpha}(x)P_{n+m}^{\alpha,\alpha+1}(t) - (n+1+2\alpha)P_{n-1}^{\alpha+2,\alpha}(x)P_{n-1}^{\alpha,\alpha+1}(t)], \\ S_{2}^{0}(x,t) &= -\frac{(1-x)(1-t)(1+t)}{2^{2\alpha+1}(m+1)(x-t)^{2}} \times \\ &[(n+m+2+2\alpha)P_{n+m}^{\alpha+1,\alpha+1}(t)P_{n+m}^{\alpha+1,\alpha}(x) - (n+1+2\alpha)P_{n-1}^{\alpha+1,\alpha+1}(t)P_{n-1}^{\alpha+1,\alpha}(x)], \\ S_{3}^{0}(x,t) &= \frac{(1-x)(1+t)}{2^{2\alpha+1}(m+1)(x-t)^{2}} \times \\ &\left[\frac{n+m+2+2\alpha}{2(n+m+1)+2\alpha+1}P_{n+m}^{\alpha+1,\alpha}(x)P_{n+m}^{\alpha,\alpha+1}(t) - \frac{n+1+2\alpha}{2n+2\alpha+1}P_{n-1}^{\alpha+1,\alpha}(x)P_{n-1}^{\alpha,\alpha+1}(t)\right], \\ S_{4}^{0}(x,t) &= \frac{(1-x)(1+t)}{2^{2\alpha}(m+1)(x-t)^{2}} \sum_{k=n}^{n+m} \frac{(2\alpha+1)(k+\alpha+1)}{(2k+2\alpha+3)(2k+2\alpha+1)}P_{k}^{\alpha+1,\alpha}(x)P_{k}^{\alpha,\alpha+1}(t), \end{split}$$

$$S_5^0(x,t) = \frac{(1-x)(1+t)}{2^{2\alpha+1}(m+1)(x-t)^2} \times \sum_{k=n}^{n+m} \frac{\alpha(\alpha+1)}{2k+2\alpha+1} [P_{k-1}^{\alpha+1,\alpha}(x)P_k^{\alpha,\alpha+1}(t) - P_k^{\alpha+1,\alpha}(x)P_{k-1}^{\alpha,\alpha+1}(t)].$$

4 Proof of Theorem 2.1

It is easy to see, that $\Lambda_{n,m}(-x) = \Lambda_{n,m}(x)$ due to the symmetry property (3.3). Therefore it is sufficient to prove the result in case of $0 \le x \le 1$.

Denote

$$J_a^b(x) = (1 - x^2) \int_a^b (1 - t^2)^{\alpha - 1} \left| K_{n,m}^\alpha(x, t) \right| dt$$
(4.1)

and represent the Lebesgue function (2.2) in the following form:

$$\Lambda_{n+2,m}^{\alpha}(x) = J_{-1}^{-1/2}(x) + J_{-1/2}^{1}(x).$$
(4.2)

We show first that

$$J_{-1}^{-1/2}(x) \le c(\alpha)(1-x)^{\frac{3}{4}-\frac{\alpha}{2}} \le c(\alpha).$$
(4.3)

Indeed, applying the Christoffel-Darboux formula, we get

$$\begin{split} J_{-1}^{-1/2}(x) &\leq (1-x^2) \times \\ & \int_{-1}^{-1/2} \frac{(1-t^2)^{\alpha-1}}{(m+1)|x-t|} \sum_{k=n}^{n+m} \Bigl(|\hat{P}_{k+1}^{\alpha}(x)| |\hat{P}_{k}^{\alpha}(t)| + |\hat{P}_{k}^{\alpha}(x)| |\hat{P}_{k+1}^{\alpha}(t)| \Bigr) dt. \end{split}$$

From here using weighted estimate (3.4) and taking into account that $|x - t| \ge 1/2$ we deduce the inequality

$$J_{-1}^{-1/2}(x) \le c(\alpha)(1-x^2)^{\frac{3}{4}-\frac{\alpha}{2}} \int_{-1}^{-1/2} (1-t^2)^{\frac{\alpha}{2}-\frac{5}{4}} dt,$$

which yields the required estimate (4.3) provided $\frac{1}{2} < \alpha < \frac{3}{2}$.

Further, we show that under our assumptions the following estimate holds:

$$J^{1}_{-1/2}(x) \le c(\alpha).$$
(4.4)

To this end consider two cases:

$$0 \le x \le 1 - \frac{c^2}{(m+n)^2},\tag{4.5}$$

$$1 - \frac{c^2}{(m+n)^2} \le x \le 1,$$
(4.6)

where c > 1.

4.1 The Case $0 \le x \le 1 - \frac{c^2}{(m+n)^2}$

Break the expression $J_{-1/2}^1(x)$ as follows:

$$J_{-1/2}^{1}(x) = J_{-1/2}^{x - \frac{m+1}{m+n}\sqrt{1-x}}(x) + J_{x - \frac{m+1}{m+n}\sqrt{1-x}}^{x - \frac{1}{m+n}\sqrt{1-x}}(x) + J_{x - \frac{m+1}{m+n}\sqrt{1-x}}^{x + \frac{1}{m+n}\sqrt{1-x}}(x) + J_{x + \frac{1}{m+n}\sqrt{1-x}}^{x + \frac{m+1}{m+n}\sqrt{1-x}}(x) + J_{x + \frac{m+1}{m+n}\sqrt{1-x}}^{1}(x) + J_{x + \frac{$$

It should be noted, that for some values of the parameters in the given partition one or another term may be absent. In particular, we will assume that $J_a^b(x) = 0$ if $a \ge b$ and $J_a^b(x) = J_a^1(x)$ if $b \ge 1$.

The boundedness of the right-hand side terms of the equality (4.7) is proved in the following Sects. 4.1.1-4.1.4.

4.1.1 Estimation of $J_{-1/2}^{x - \frac{m+1}{m+n}\sqrt{1-x}}(x)$

Applying (3.6) and taking into account that $0 \le x < 1, -1/2 \le t \le x$, we get

$$J_{-1/2}^{x-\frac{m+1}{m+n}\sqrt{1-x}}(x) \le c(\alpha) \int_{-1/2}^{x-\frac{m+1}{m+n}\sqrt{1-x}} \left[\left(\frac{1-x}{1-t}\right)^{\frac{3}{4}-\frac{\alpha}{2}} + \left(\frac{1-x}{1-t}\right)^{\frac{5}{4}-\frac{\alpha}{2}} \right] \frac{dt}{x-t}.$$

Since $\frac{1-x}{1-t} \le 1$ when $t \le x$, it follows from the obtained inequality that

$$J_{-1/2}^{x-\frac{m+1}{m+n}\sqrt{1-x}}(x) \le c(\alpha) \int_{-1/2}^{x-\frac{m+1}{m+n}\sqrt{1-x}} \left(\frac{1-x}{1-t}\right)^{\frac{3}{4}-\frac{\alpha}{2}} \frac{dt}{x-t} = c(\alpha)I.$$
(4.8)

In order to estimate integral I we make variable substitution $\tau = 1 - \frac{1-x}{1-t}$:

$$I = I \frac{\frac{2x+1}{3}}{\frac{1}{1+\frac{m+n}{m+1}\sqrt{1-x}}} = \int_{\frac{1}{1+\frac{m+n}{m+1}\sqrt{1-x}}}^{\frac{2x+1}{3}} \frac{d\tau}{\tau(1-\tau)^{\frac{\alpha}{2}+\frac{1}{4}}}.$$

The condition $0 \le x < 1$ implies that the lower bound of integration $a = \frac{1}{1 + \frac{m+n}{m+1}\sqrt{1-x}}$ is inside the segment [0, 1] and upper bound is inside $[\frac{1}{3}, 1]$. Hence we can write the following estimate:

$$I \leq \begin{cases} I_a^{1/3} + I_{1/3}^{(2x+1)/3}, & a < 1/3, \\ I_{1/3}^{(2x+1)/3}, & a \ge 1/3. \end{cases}$$
(4.9)

So, since

$$I_a^{1/3} \le c(\alpha) \int_a^{1/3} \frac{d\tau}{\tau} \le c(\alpha) \ln(1 + \frac{m+n}{m+1}\sqrt{1-x}),$$

$$I_{1/3}^{(2x+1)/3} \le \int_{1/3}^{(2x+1)/3} \frac{d\tau}{(1-\tau)^{\frac{\alpha}{2}+\frac{1}{4}}} \le c(\alpha), \quad \alpha < \frac{3}{2},$$

the inequality $J_{-1/2}^{x-\frac{m+1}{m+n}\sqrt{1-x}}(x) \le c(\alpha)$ follows from (4.8) and (4.9) provided $m \asymp n$.

4.1.2 Estimation of $J^1_{x+\frac{m+1}{m+n}\sqrt{1-x}}(x)$

Reasoning similar to that of the previous section, with taking into account the relations $t \ge x$, $\frac{1-x}{1-t} \ge 1$, lead to the inequality

$$J_{x+\frac{m+1}{m+n}\sqrt{1-x}}^{1}(x) \le c(\alpha) \int_{x+\frac{m+1}{m+n}\sqrt{1-x}}^{1} \left(\frac{1-x}{1-t}\right)^{\frac{5}{4}-\frac{\alpha}{2}} \frac{dt}{t-x} = c(\alpha)I.$$
(4.10)

If we make here integration variable substitution $\tau = 1 - \frac{1-t}{1-x}$ then we get

$$I = \int_{\frac{1}{m+1}\sqrt{1-x}}^{1} \frac{d\tau}{\tau(1-\tau)^{\frac{5}{4}-\frac{\alpha}{2}}}.$$

Note that the lower bound of integration $a = \frac{1}{\frac{m+n}{m+1}\sqrt{1-x}} < 1$. It follows from the inequality $x + \frac{m+1}{m+n}\sqrt{1-x} < 1$ which we assume to be true, since otherwise the indicated term in the partition (4.7) would be absent, as we have already noted.

Considering as in previous subsection two cases $a < a_0$ and $a \ge a_0$, where $a_0 \in (0, 1)$ is a fixed number, it is easy to show that

$$I \le c(\alpha) \Big(1 + \ln(1 + \frac{m+n}{m+1}\sqrt{1-x}) \Big), \quad \alpha > \frac{1}{2}.$$

Hence, $J^1_{x+\frac{m+1}{m+n}\sqrt{1-x}}(x) \le c(\alpha)$ provided that $m \asymp n$.

4.1.3 Estimation of $J_{x-\frac{1}{m+n}\sqrt{1-x}}^{x+\frac{1}{m+n}\sqrt{1-x}}(x)$

Using weighted estimate (3.4), from (4.1) we get the relation:

$$J_{x-\frac{1}{m+n}\sqrt{1-x}}^{x+\frac{1}{m+n}\sqrt{1-x}}(x) \le c(\alpha)(1-x)^{-\frac{\alpha}{2}+\frac{3}{4}}(n+m+1)\int_{x-\frac{1}{m+n}\sqrt{1-x}}^{x+\frac{1}{m+n}\sqrt{1-x}}(1-t)^{\frac{\alpha}{2}-\frac{5}{4}}dt.$$
(4.11)

Since under the hypotheses we have $\frac{\alpha}{2} - \frac{5}{4} < 0$, the integrand can be estimated from above by $(1 - x - \frac{\sqrt{1-x}}{m+n})^{\frac{\alpha}{2} - \frac{5}{4}}$. Then from (4.11) we get:

$$J_{x-\frac{1}{m+n}\sqrt{1-x}}^{x+\frac{1}{m+n}\sqrt{1-x}}(x) \le \frac{c(\alpha)}{\left(1-\frac{1}{(m+n)\sqrt{1-x}}\right)^{\frac{5}{4}-\frac{\alpha}{2}}}.$$
(4.12)

But *x* satisfies condition (4.5), which implies that $(m + n)\sqrt{1 - x} \ge c > 1$. Hence, inequality (4.12) yields $J_{x-\frac{1}{m+n}\sqrt{1-x}}^{x+\frac{1}{m+n}\sqrt{1-x}}(x) < c(\alpha)$.

4.1.4 Estimation of
$$J_{x-\frac{m+1}{m+n}\sqrt{1-x}}^{x-\frac{1}{m+n}\sqrt{1-x}}(x)$$
 and $J_{x+\frac{m+1}{m+n}\sqrt{1-x}}^{x+\frac{m+1}{m+n}\sqrt{1-x}}(x)$

Let's begin with an estimation of $J_{x-\frac{m+1}{m+n}\sqrt{1-x}}^{x-\frac{1}{m+n}\sqrt{1-x}}(x)$. We apply Lemma 3.1 and represent the estimated value in the following form:

$$J_{x-\frac{m+1}{m+n}\sqrt{1-x}}^{x-\frac{1}{m+n}\sqrt{1-x}}(x) = (1-x^2) \int_{x-\frac{m+1}{m+n}\sqrt{1-x}}^{x-\frac{1}{m+n}\sqrt{1-x}} (1-t^2)^{\alpha-1} \Big| \sum_{\nu=0}^{6} S^{\nu}(x,t) \Big| dt \le \sum_{\nu=0}^{6} a_{\nu},$$

where $a_{\nu} = (1 - x^2) \int_{x - \frac{m+1}{m+n}\sqrt{1-x}}^{x - \frac{1}{m+n}\sqrt{1-x}} (1 - t^2)^{\alpha - 1} |S^{\nu}(x, t)| dt.$

Using weighted estimate (3.4) with relation (3.2) and inequality $\sum_{k=n}^{n+m} \frac{1}{k} \le \ln(1+\frac{m}{n})$ we obtain for $1 \le \nu \le 4$:

$$a_{\nu} \le c(\alpha) \frac{1}{\sqrt{1-x}} \frac{\ln(1+\frac{m}{n})}{m+1} \int_{x-\frac{m+1}{m+n}\sqrt{1-x}}^{x-\frac{1}{m+n}\sqrt{1-x}} \left(\frac{1-x}{1-t}\right)^{-\frac{\alpha}{2}+\frac{5}{4}} \frac{dt}{x-t} = c(\alpha) \frac{1}{\sqrt{1-x}} \frac{\ln(1+\frac{m}{n})}{m+1} I.$$
(4.13)

After variable substitution $\tau = 1 - \frac{1-x}{1-t}$ the integral *I* will take a form:

$$I = \int_{\frac{1}{1+(m+n)\sqrt{1-x}}}^{\frac{1}{1+(m+n)\sqrt{1-x}}} \frac{d\tau}{\tau(1-\tau)^{\frac{\alpha}{2}-\frac{1}{4}}}$$

If we introduce the notation

$$I_{u}^{v} = \begin{cases} \int_{u}^{v} \frac{d\tau}{\tau(1-\tau)^{\frac{\alpha}{2}-\frac{1}{4}}}, & u < v, \\ 0, & u \ge v, \end{cases}$$

we can write:

$$I \le I_{\frac{1}{1+(m+n)\sqrt{1-x}}}^{1/2} + I_{1/2}^{1}.$$
(4.14)

The first term can be estimated as follows:

$$I_{\frac{1}{1+(m+n)\sqrt{1-x}}}^{1/2} \le \int_{\frac{1}{1+(m+n)\sqrt{1-x}}}^{1/2} \frac{d\tau}{\tau} \le \ln(1+(m+n)\sqrt{1-x}).$$
(4.15)

It can be easily seen that $I_{1/2}^1 < c(\alpha)$ provided a < 3/2, hence from (4.14) and (4.15) we get:

$$I \le c(\alpha) \ln(1 + (m+n)\sqrt{1-x}), \quad a < 3/2.$$
 (4.16)

Using this inequality, the relation $\ln(1+x) < x$ and assuming $m \simeq n$, for $1 \le \nu \le 4$ we deduce from (4.13):

$$a_{\nu} \le c(\alpha) \frac{1}{\sqrt{1-x}} \frac{\ln(1+\frac{m}{n})}{m+1} \ln(1+(m+n)\sqrt{1-x}) \le c(\alpha)(1+\frac{m}{n}) \le c(\alpha).$$

Similarly we can obtain the following estimate for a_5 :

$$a_5 \le c(\alpha) \frac{\ln(1+\frac{m}{n})}{m+1} I \le c(\alpha).$$

To estimate a_6 we use again weighted estimate (3.4) with relation (3.2) and apply inequality (4.16):

$$a_{6} \leq \frac{c(\alpha)}{(m+1)\sqrt{1-x}} \Big(\frac{n+m+\alpha+2}{n+m+1} + \frac{n+\alpha+1}{n} \Big) I \leq \frac{c(\alpha)}{(m+1)\sqrt{1-x}} I \leq c(\alpha).$$

We now proceed to the estimation of a_0 . To do this we use Lemma 3.2 and represent a_0 as follows:

$$a_{0} = (1 - x^{2}) \int_{x - \frac{m+1}{m+n}\sqrt{1-x}}^{x - \frac{1}{m+n}\sqrt{1-x}} (1 - t^{2})^{\alpha - 1} \Big| \sum_{\mu = 1}^{5} S_{\mu}^{0}(x, t) \Big| dt \le \sum_{\mu = 1}^{5} b_{\mu}, \qquad (4.17)$$

where $b_{\mu} = (1 - x^2) \int_{x - \frac{m+1}{m+n}\sqrt{1-x}}^{x - \frac{1}{m+n}\sqrt{1-x}} (1 - t^2)^{\alpha - 1} |S_{\mu}^0(x, t)| dt$.

Applying weighted estimate (3.2) to S^0_{μ} , it can be shown that

$$b_1 \le c(\alpha) \frac{\sqrt{1-x}}{m+1} \int_{x-\frac{m+1}{m+n}\sqrt{1-x}}^{x-\frac{1}{m+n}\sqrt{1-x}} \left(\frac{1-x}{1-t}\right)^{5/4-\alpha/2} \frac{dt}{(x-t)^2},\tag{4.18}$$

$$b_2 \le c(\alpha) \frac{\sqrt{1-x}}{m+1} \int_{x-\frac{m+1}{m+n}\sqrt{1-x}}^{x-\frac{1}{m+n}\sqrt{1-x}} \left(\frac{1-x}{1-t}\right)^{3/4-\alpha/2} \frac{dt}{(x-t)^2},\tag{4.19}$$

$$b_{\mu} \le \frac{c(\alpha)}{(m+1)n} \int_{x-\frac{m+1}{m+n}\sqrt{1-x}}^{x-\frac{1}{m+n}\sqrt{1-x}} \left(\frac{1-x}{1-t}\right)^{5/4-\alpha/2} \frac{dt}{(x-t)^2}, \quad 3 \le \mu \le 5.$$
(4.20)

Note that

$$\int_{x-\frac{m+1}{m+n}\sqrt{1-x}}^{x-\frac{1}{m+n}\sqrt{1-x}} \frac{dt}{(x-t)^2} = \frac{1}{x-t} \Big|_{x-\frac{m+1}{m+n}\sqrt{1-x}}^{x-\frac{1}{m+n}\sqrt{1-x}} \le \frac{m+n}{\sqrt{1-x}}.$$
(4.21)

Since $\frac{1-x}{1-t} \le 1$ and $\sqrt{1-x} \ge \frac{c}{(m+n)}$ (see (4.5)), inequalities (4.18), (4.19), (4.20), and (4.21) yield the estimations:

$$b_{\mu} \le c(\alpha) \frac{m+n}{m+1}, \quad 1 \le \mu \le 2, \qquad b_{\mu} \le c(\alpha) \frac{(m+n)^2}{(m+1)n}, \quad 3 \le \mu \le 5,$$

from which it follows that $b_{\mu} \leq c(\alpha)$, $1 \leq \mu \leq 5$ provided $m \approx n$. Hence, we have $a_0 \leq c(\alpha)$ due to (4.17).

Thus, we have shown that $a_{\nu} \leq c(\alpha), \ 0 \leq \nu \leq 6$, and, consequently, $J_{x-\frac{m+1}{m+n}\sqrt{1-x}}^{x-\frac{1}{m+n}\sqrt{1-x}}(x) \leq c(\alpha).$ The estimate $J_{x+\frac{m+1}{m+n}\sqrt{1-x}}^{x+\frac{m+1}{m+n}\sqrt{1-x}}(x) \leq c(\alpha)$ is proved quite similarly.

4.2 The Case $1 - \frac{c^2}{(m+n)^2} \le x \le 1$

We represent $J_{-1/2}^1(x)$ in the following form:

$$J_{-1/2}^{1}(x) = J_{-1/2}^{1 - \frac{2c^2}{(m+n)^2}}(x) + J_{1 - \frac{2c^2}{(m+n)^2}}^{1}(x).$$
(4.22)

Assuming that $\frac{1-x}{1-t} \le 1$, we get from (4.1) and (3.6).

$$J_{-1/2}^{1-\frac{2c^2}{(m+n)^2}}(x) \le c(\alpha) \int_{-1/2}^{1-\frac{2c^2}{(m+n)^2}} \left[\left(\frac{1-x}{1-t}\right)^{-\frac{\alpha}{2}+\frac{3}{4}} + \left(\frac{1-x}{1-t}\right)^{-\frac{\alpha}{2}+\frac{5}{4}} \right] \frac{dt}{x-t} \le c(\alpha) \int_{-1/2}^{1-\frac{2c^2}{(m+n)^2}} \left(\frac{1-x}{1-t}\right)^{-\frac{\alpha}{2}+\frac{3}{4}} \frac{dt}{x-t} = c(\alpha)I.$$

Variable substitution $\tau = 1 - \frac{1-x}{1-t}$ in integral *I* gives us:

$$I = \int_{1 - \frac{(1 - x)(m + n)^2}{2c^2}}^{\frac{2x + 1}{3}} \frac{d\tau}{\tau (1 - \tau)^{\frac{\alpha}{2} + \frac{1}{4}}}$$

Condition (4.6) implies that the lower bound of the obtained integral is not less than $\frac{1}{2}$. Therefore, assuming that $\alpha < \frac{3}{2}$ we get:

$$I \le 2 \int_{\frac{1}{2}}^{\frac{2x+1}{3}} \frac{d\tau}{(1-\tau)^{\frac{\alpha}{2}+\frac{1}{4}}} \le c(\alpha).$$

Thus, the first term in the right-hand side of (4.22) is bounded. Let's proceed to the second term.

We apply uniform estimate (3.5):

$$J_{1-\frac{2c^{2}}{(m+n)^{2}}}^{1}(x) \leq c(\alpha)(1-x) \int_{1-\frac{2c^{2}}{(m+n)^{2}}}^{1} (1-t)^{\alpha-1} dt \frac{1}{m+1} \sum_{k=n}^{n+m} \sum_{l=0}^{k} (l+1)^{2\alpha+1} \leq c(\alpha)(1-x) \frac{1}{(n+m)^{2\alpha}} (n+m)^{2\alpha+2} = c(\alpha)(1-x)(n+m)^{2}.$$
(4.23)

It follows from condition (4.6) that $(1 - x)(n + m)^2 \le c$. Consequently, inequality (4.23) yields the boundedness of the second term in (4.22).

The proof of Theorem 2.1 is complete.

References

- Sharapudinov, I.I.: Some special series in ultraspherical polynomials and their approximation properties. Izv. Math. 78(5), 1036 (2014)
- Sharapudinov, I.I.: Limit Ultraspherical series and their approximation properties. Mat. Zametki 94(2), 295–309 (2013); Math. Notes 94(2), 281–293 (2013). https://doi.org/10.1134/ S0001434613070274
- Sharapudinov, I.I.: Approximation properties of Fejer- and de la Vallée-Poussin-type means for partial sums of a special series in the system {sin x sin kx}[∞]_{k=1}. Mat. Sb. 206(4), 131–148 (2015); Sb. Math. 206(4), 600–617 (2015)
- Szego, G.: Orthogonal Polynomials, vol. XXIII. American Mathematical Society, Providence (1959); Fizmatgiz, Moscow (1962)
- Sharapudinov, I.I.: Approximation properties of the Vallée-Poussin means of partial sums of a mixed series of Legendre Polynomials. Mat. Zametki 84(3), 452–471 (2008); Math. Notes 84(3), 417–434 (2008)

Laplace's Integrals and Stability of the Open Flows of Inviscid Incompressible Fluid



A. Morgulis, K. Ilin, and A. Chernish

Abstract In this article, we study the spectra of the boundary value problems which arise from linearizing the Euler equations of incompressible hydrodynamics near a stationary solution describing a steady flow through a given domain, in the case when the fluid enters the domain and leave it through some parts of the boundary. It's natural to call such flows as open. The spectra of the open flows are not widely studied compared to the classical case of the fully impermeable boundaries. Moreover, the methods widely used for the latter fail to cover the former. We propose a new reduction of finding the eigenmodes of an open flow to finding 'zeroes' of an entire operator-valued function which is a kind of Laplace's integral. Here, by zeroes, we mean the values of the complex variable which deliver degenerations to the mentioned integral. Correspondingly, studying the flow stability reduces itself to Routh–Hurwitz problem for this integral. For several particular flows, this problem is solved explicitly with the use of the Polia theorem on the zeroes of the Laplace integral. As a result, we prove the stability of spectra for several concrete flows for which were unknown with such proofs before.

Keywords Euler equations · Inviscid incompressible fluid · Stability · Spectra · Entire function · Laplace's integral · Routh-Hurwits problem

A. Morgulis (\boxtimes)

K. Ilin

A. Chernish

Southern Mathematical Institute of Vladikavkaz Scientific Center of the Russian Academy of Sciences, Vladikavkaz, Russia

Division of Differential Equations, I.I.Vorovich Institute for Mathematics, Mechanics and Computer Science, Southern Federal University, Rostov-na-Donu, Russia e-mail: abmorgulis@sfedu.ru

Department of Math., The University of York, Heslington, UK e-mail: konstantin.ilin@york.ac.uk

I.I.Vorovich Institute for Mathematics, Mechanics and Computer Science, Southern Federal University, Rostov-on-Don, Russia

[©] The Editor(s) (if applicable) and The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

A. G. Kusraev, Z. D. Totieva (eds.), *Operator Theory and Differential Equations*, Trends in Mathematics, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-49763-7_11

Mathematics Subject Classification (2010) 76B47, 76E09, 30D20.

1 Introduction

Let Q = Q(x) be a smooth real vector field defined in some domain of an Euclidian space, which is finite-dimensional, to begin with. Assume there exists an equilibrium y : Q(y) = 0. The linear equation governing the small perturbations of such an equilibrium reads as $\dot{z} = Q'(y)z$, where Q'(y) stands for the differential of vector field Q at the equilibrium. Each eigenvalue λ of operator Q'(y) gives rise to an eigenmode of the small perturbations that has the form $z(t) = e^{\lambda t}b$, where b denotes the eigenvector of operator Q'(y) which corresponds to eigenvalue λ . The classical linearization principle of Liapunov's stability theory asserts that the equilibrium is asymptotically stable provided that all of its eigenvalues belong to semi-plane Re $\lambda < 0$, and it is unstable if at least one of the eigenvalues belongs to semi-plane Re $\lambda > 0$.

The applications lead us to the study of the smooth families of vector fields depending on some physical parameters. Then the equilibria also form families, which, however, can be non-smooth somewhere due to the bifurcation points. Assume, nevertheless, that the family of equilibria is being observed is smooth in the vicinity of certain point in the space of parameters. Consider a smooth path passing through this point in the space of the parameters, and let the parameters change themselves along it together with the equilibrium and with its spectrum. Such an altering can lead to transversal intersecting of the imaginary axis by some branches of the eigenvalues. It is what is called the occurrence of instability. For the 1-parametric families of the vector fields, there are two generic ways of occurring the instability of equilibria. Namely, either two branches of simple complex eigenvalues intersects the imaginary axis at the origin. The former instability is called oscillatory while the latter is called monotone.

The occurrences of instability indicate the local bifurcations of the equilibria family, which, in turn, reveal themselves by qualitative changes in the non-linear dynamics governed by equation $\dot{y} = Q(y)$.

If there are no additional degenerations, branching the equilibria family itself accompanies the monotone instability and branching off the limit cycle from the family accompanies the oscillatory instability (Poincare–Andronov–Hopf bifurcation), and more complex bifurcations occur in the case of additional degeneracy, e.g. when the neutral spectrum is multiple. For more information on this subject, a reader could refer to monographs [1, 2, 5].

Considering the evolutional PDEs as infinite-dimensional ODEs is the common practice in mathematical physics and, in particular, in the continuum mechanics. For instance, one can treat a steady fluid flow as an equilibrium of the ODE associated to the Navier–Stokes equation, etc. In many respects, the above assertions remain valid in the infinite dimensions even for the vector fields associated with PDEs [3, 4]. For many important PDEs, one can reduce the study of local bifurcations to the finite dimensions using the central manifold technique [5].

The spectra of the steady flows of an inviscid incompressible fluid stands as the classical subject of studies. A reader can find a summary of the classical results and modern advances in [6, 7] and can also follow the references provided therein. Since the inviscid fluid with impermeable boundary represents a Hamiltonian system [8] and the steady flows stand as the equilibria of it, their spectra is symmetrically relative to the imaginary axis. Also, they include both the continuous and point-wise components. At that, the former is always non-empty and can be unstable while the latter can be empty. The situation is very different upon considering the confined inviscid incompressible flows with pumping and withdrawing the fluid through the flow boundary. We name such call flows open. Although the spectral properties of the open flows are not so well known as those which associated with the case of the empty or fully impermeable boundaries, from what we have learned to the date, it follows that the spectrum of an open flow can be empty or fully point-wise. Also, it can belong to the open left complex semi-plane except for a finite number of the eigenvalues or even in full [9, 10].

In the present article, we discover new classes of inviscid open flows the spectra of which belongs to the left complex semi-plane. Proofs of these spectral properties were unknown earlier despite the simplicity of the flows. Here we mean the proofs in a rigorous sense not relying on certain issues such as the numeric computations and etc. We treat the mentioned examples uniformly using the rather general novel reduction of the spectral problem to finding the 'zeroes' of an 'operatorvalued Laplace's integral'. Here, by zeroes, we mean the values of the complex variable which deliver degenerations to the mentioned integral. Correspondingly, examining the stability of eigenmodes brings us at the Routh–Hurwitz problem for the operator-valued Laplace's integral. In concrete examples, this integral often acts as a multiplicative transformation of the Fourier series, and then we arrive at the Routh–Hurwitz problem for the scalar Laplace's integral. Although this problem is solved in general [11], applying the general solution to the concrete problems is often not easy. Fortunately, the sufficient conditions known as Polia theorem [12] is enough for our purposes.

As we have mentioned, the spectra of the inviscid open flows had been studied earlier in [9, 10]. However, the flows examined here are not consistent with boundary conditions imposed there, while the methods employed there fail for the topology of the flow domain and boundary conditions considered here.

2 Formulation of the Initial-Boundary Value Problems

The Euler equations governing the inviscid incompressible homogeneous fluid flows read as

$$\mathbf{v}_t + \boldsymbol{\omega} \times \mathbf{v} = -\nabla H; \quad H = P + \mathbf{v}^2/2 \quad \operatorname{curl} \mathbf{v} = \boldsymbol{\omega}; \quad \operatorname{div} \mathbf{v} = 0.$$
 (2.1)

Here, the unknowns are the vector field of the flow velocity denoted as **v** and the scalar field of pressure denoted as *P*. They have to be determined at every instant of time at every point of the flow domain that we denote as *D*. We consider a specified and non-variable domain $D \subset \mathbb{R}^3$ (or $D \subset \mathbb{R}^2$), and we assume it to be at least piece-wisely smooth. The quantity denoted as *H* is called the Bernoulli function. Note that the pressure as well as the Bernoulli function is defined up to a constant. The equation of motion written in (2.1) is known as the Lamb form of the Euler equation. The equivalent form is

$$\mathbf{v}_t + (\mathbf{v}, \nabla)\mathbf{v} = -\nabla P, \tag{2.2}$$

where (\mathbf{v}, ∇) stands for the covariant derivative along field \mathbf{v} induced by a standard Riemann metric on \mathbb{R}^3 or on \mathbb{R}^2 . In the Cartesian coordinates x_i , $((\mathbf{v}, \nabla)\mathbf{v})_i = v_j v_{ix_j}$, where repeating subscript indexes presumes summation. The equivalence of Eqs. (2.2) and (2.1) follows from the identity

$$\boldsymbol{\omega} \times \mathbf{v} + \nabla \mathbf{v}^2 / 2 = (\mathbf{v}, \nabla) \mathbf{v}.$$

Let $S = \partial D$ and let **n** be the exterior normal unit on *S*. For every *t* there is a partition $S = S^+(t) \cup S^-(t) \cup S^0(t)$ (up to the set of the zero n - 1-dimensional measure), where $S^+(t) = \{x \in S : \mathbf{v}(x, t) \cdot \mathbf{n} < 0\}$ is the flow inlet, $S^-(t) = \{x \in S : \mathbf{v}(x, t) \cdot \mathbf{n} < 0\}$ is the flow inlet, $S^-(t) = \{x \in S : \mathbf{v}(x, t) \cdot \mathbf{n} > 0\}$ is the flow outlet, and $S^0(t) = \{x \in S : \mathbf{v}(x, t) \cdot \mathbf{n} = 0\}$ is impermeable wall. By definition, the inlet and outlet are not empty for every open flow.

Let function γ defined on S be specified, and let

$$\int_{S} \gamma \, ds = 0$$

Let us impose boundary condition

$$\mathbf{v} \cdot \mathbf{n} = \gamma(x, t), \ t \ge 0. \tag{2.3}$$

Specifying the normal velocity determines the inlet, outlet and impermeable wall. If $\gamma \equiv 0$ and $S^0 = S$ for every *t* then adding the initial condition leads to the correct initial-boundary value problem, which is a subject of numerous research articles, e.g. see monograph [13] and the references therein.

Setting boundary condition (2.3) where $\gamma \neq 0$ brings us at the open flows. At that, however, a correct formulation of the initial-boundary value problem requires an additional boundary condition. It is not an easy issue. Likely, one should always impose the extra boundary conditions at the inlet, and there are more than one way to do so. For instance, one can specify the tangential vorticity:

$$\mathbf{n} \times (\boldsymbol{\omega} - \boldsymbol{\omega}^+) = 0 \text{ on } S^+, \tag{2.4}$$

The results on this boundary condition trace back to Yudovich [14] who considered the 2D problem. In two dimensions, $\mathbf{v} = u\mathbf{e}_1 + v\mathbf{e}_2$, and rot $\mathbf{v} = \omega\mathbf{e}_3$, where $\omega = v_{x_2} - u_{x_1}$, and \mathbf{e}_i , i = 1, 2, 3 is the cartesian frame such that the flow is invariant to translations along \mathbf{e}_3 . Then condition (2.4) takes the form $\omega - \omega^+ = 0$ on S^+ , where ω^+ stands for a given scalar function. For such a boundary condition, Yudovich proved the global existence of the classical solution to the 2D problem provided that the problem data possess certain regularity. In addition to the natural smoothness and consistency of the data, he assumed that the flow inlet, outlet and impermeable wall are unions of connected components of the boundary. Succeeding authors had gradually got rid of these restrictions [15, 16]. Extending the Yudovich boundary condition to the 3D flows is due to Kazhikhov [17]. Also, he discovered an alternative extra boundary condition that reads as

$$\mathbf{n} \times (\mathbf{v} - \mathbf{v}^+) = 0 \text{ on } S^+.$$
(2.5)

In other words, in (2.4), the tangential vorticity can be replaced by the tangential velocity [18]. Note in passing, that neither the global solvability nor the collapses are known for the Kazhikhov formulation even in two dimensions.¹

The Kazhikhov problem arises from the consideration of the vanishing viscosity limit for the Navier–Stokes system provided that the boundary conditions specify the flow velocity both on the inlet and on the outlet [19, 20]. Such boundary conditions describe the pumping/withdrawal of the fluid through the porous walls in the leading approximation [21].

3 The Liapunov Functionals

Let $W : \mathbb{Y} \to \mathbb{R}$ be a functional on the phase space of some dynamical system $S_t : \mathbb{Y} \to \mathbb{Y}, t \ge 0$. For a fixed $x \in \mathbb{Y}$, define a scalar function $w_x(t) = W(S_t x)$. Strictly monotone-decreasing (increasing) function w_x for every x belonging to a sufficiently representative set should be seen as an essential manifestation of the non-conservatism of system S_t . We call in an informal way the functionals possessing such property as the Liapunov functionals (for classical theory, see [22]). Let us consider several simple examples of boundary conditions under which the inviscid open flows possess the Liapunov functionals.

Consider the Yudovich problem for the planar flows. We recall that we identify the values of curl with scalars for the 2D vector fields. Let $\gamma \neq 0$ be defined arbitrarily and $\omega^+ = \Omega \equiv \text{const.}$ Let f = f(r) > 0 for $r \neq 0$, f(0) = 0.

¹In three dimensions, the same problem arises irrespective of the boundary conditions and persists even for the flows on the smooth closed manifolds.

Then

$$\frac{d}{dt}\int_{D}f(\omega-\Omega)\,dx=-\int_{S^{-}}f(\omega-\Omega)\gamma\,ds\leqslant 0.$$

Consequently, in the case of ω^+ = const, the Yudovich problem admits a great family of the positive decreasing Liapunov functionals

$$\omega \mapsto \int_{D} f(\omega - \Omega) \, dx, \quad \omega = \operatorname{curl} \mathbf{v},$$
 (3.1)

where f acts as the family parameter. The expression for the derivative of functional (3.1) follows from the so-called vorticity equation that arises upon applying curl to the Euler equation (2.1). In effect, the Liapunov functionals allied to (3.1) exists under the Yudovich boundary conditions for much wider classes of boundary data [9, 10].

Consider now the Yudovich problem in a multiply connected domain. Assume that the flow inlet includes a connected component of the boundary denoted as c. Define functional

$$\mathbf{v} \mapsto \oint_{C} \mathbf{v} \cdot \mathbf{d} \mathbf{x}. \tag{3.2}$$

Integrating equation (2.1) across c brings us at the following identity

$$\frac{d}{dt} \oint_{c} \mathbf{v} \cdot \mathbf{dx} = -\int_{c} \omega^{+} \gamma \, ds. \tag{3.3}$$

Thus, the system admits the Liapunov functional (3.2), that grows linearly provided that the right-hand side of equality (3.3) does not depend on time and not equal to zero. If $\omega^+ = \Omega \equiv \text{const} \neq 0$ and γ does not depend on time then the system admits both the growing functional (3.2) and the decreasing positive functional (3.1). In the case of such coexistence, the Yudovich problem allows an asymptotic for $t \rightarrow +\infty$, the leading term of which describes an accelerating purely circulational flow placed upon the flow with constant vorticity [23].

Now let us pass to the Kazhikhov problem. Let Ω and U be constant vectors. Define a vector field $V = \Omega \times \mathbf{x} + U$. Let \mathbf{v} be solution to the Kazhikhov problem arising for $\gamma = V \cdot \mathbf{n}$ and $\mathbf{v}^+ = V$ in boundary conditions (2.3) and (2.5). Then

$$\frac{d}{dt}\int_{D} (\mathbf{v} - \mathbf{V})^2 dx = -\int_{S^-} \gamma (\mathbf{v} - \mathbf{V})^2 dS \leqslant 0.$$

Deriving these assertions becomes absolutely transparent upon using the form of Euler equations given in (2.2). Thus, we get the Kazhikhov problem possessing the decreasing Liapunov functional defined as

$$\mathbf{v} \mapsto \int_{D} (\mathbf{v} - V)^2 \, dx. \tag{3.4}$$

For the Yudovich problem, the Liapunov functionals (3.1) under certain additional conditions imply the asymptotic stability of the steady flow with $\operatorname{curl} \mathbf{v} = \Omega = \operatorname{const}$, and this result can be generalized to the wider classes of steady vortex flows, see [9] and references in [10]. Under the Kazhikhov boundary conditions, despite the decreasing positive Liapunov functional (3.4), it is not clear whether the flow **V** possesses the asymptotic stability. Note in passing, that this is true for every positive value of the fluid viscosity. Such conclusion follows from the Navier–Stokes equations endowed with boundary condition $\mathbf{v} = \mathbf{V}$ on *S*. However, the decay rate of the perturbations tends to zero together with the fluid viscosity.

4 Elementary and Instructive Example

Let $\Gamma \in \mathbb{R}$, $D = \{(x, y), 0 < x < 1\}$, and $\mathbf{e}_x(\mathbf{e}_y)$ denote the unit vector field parallel to Ox-axis (Oy-axis). In domain D, consider the Kazhikhov problem the boundary conditions of which are as follows

$$\mathbf{v}|_{x=0} = \mathbf{e}_x + \Gamma \mathbf{e}_y, \quad \mathbf{v} \cdot \mathbf{e}_x|_{x=1} = 1, \tag{4.1}$$

and all the solutions have to be 2ℓ -periodic in variable y. Thus, $S^+ = \{x = 0\}$, $S^- = \{x = 1\}, S^0 = \emptyset$.

Under the boundary conditions formulated in (4.1), there exist a steady flow defined as $\mathbf{V} = \mathbf{e}_x + \Gamma \mathbf{e}_y$, H = const. For this flow, the eigenvalue problem determining the eigenmodes of the small perturbations reads as

$$\lambda u - \Gamma \omega = -h_x, \quad \lambda v + \omega = -h_y \tag{4.2}$$

$$v_x - u_y = \omega, \quad u_x + v_y = 0,$$
 (4.3)

$$u|_{x=0} = v|_{x=0} = 0, \quad u|_{x=1} = 0.$$
 (4.4)

Here, u, v, h denote the unknown functions. At that, vector field (u, v) stands for the velocity perturbation while h stands for the perturbation of the Bernoulli function.

Eliminating the unknown h from Eq. (4.2) leads us to the equation

$$\lambda \omega + \omega_x + \Gamma \omega_y = 0.$$

The solution to it has the form $\omega = \omega^+(y - \Gamma x)e^{-\lambda x}$, where function ω^+ is still undefined. Replacing ω by the obtained solution in the second equation in (4.2), equating x = 0 and using the boundary condition (4.4) yields the equality $\omega^+ = -h_y(0, y)$. Now let us turn to reconstructing the velocity. For this purpose, we introduce the stream function $\psi = \psi(x, y)$, then we resolve the second equation in (4.3) by setting $u = \psi_y$, $v = -\psi_x$. As a result, the first equation in (4.3) takes the form

$$-\Delta\psi = \omega = -e^{-\lambda x}\chi_y(y - \Gamma x), \quad (x, y) \in D,$$
(4.5)

where $\chi(y) = h(0, y)$ is an unknown 2ℓ -periodic function. We supply Eq. (4.5) with the condition requiring 2ℓ -periodicity in variable y and boundary conditions

$$\psi_x|_{x=0} = 0, \quad \psi|_{x=1} = 0.$$
 (4.6)

Let $G:\omega\mapsto\psi$ be the Green operator for the described boundary value problem. Then

$$\psi = -\mathrm{G}e_{\lambda}S_{\Gamma x}\partial_{y}\chi$$

where $e_{\lambda}(z) = e^{\lambda z}$ and $(S_h f)(z) = f(z + h)$. The boundary conditions (4.6) are equivalent to the second and third boundary conditions in (4.4). Satisfying the first boundary condition in (4.4) brings us at an equation

$$\partial_y|_{x=0}(\mathbf{G}e_\lambda S_{\Gamma x}\partial_y \chi)=0.$$

We define

$$\mathbf{K}(\lambda): \boldsymbol{\chi} \mapsto \partial_{\boldsymbol{\gamma}}|_{\boldsymbol{\chi}=0} \mathbf{G} \boldsymbol{e}_{\lambda} S_{\Gamma \boldsymbol{\chi}} \partial_{\boldsymbol{\gamma}} \boldsymbol{\chi}$$

Every $\chi \in \ker K(\lambda)$ gives rise to an eigenmode

$$u = -\partial_y Ge_{\lambda} S_{\Gamma x} \partial_y \chi, \quad v = \partial_x Ge_{\lambda} S_{\Gamma x} \partial_y \chi \quad h(x, y) = \chi(y) + \int_0^x (\Gamma \omega - \lambda u)(y, s) ds.$$

The Fourier decomposition allows us to express $K(\lambda)$ explicitly. It acts as a multiplicative transform; namely, the multipliers has the form

$$\kappa_{\beta}(z) = -\beta^2 \int_{0}^{1} g_{\beta}(0,\xi) e^{-z\xi} d\xi, \ \beta \in \alpha \mathbb{Z} \setminus \{0\}, \ \alpha = \frac{\pi}{\ell}, \ z = \lambda + i\beta \Gamma$$

where g_{β} stands for the Green kernel of the problem

$$-w''(y) + \beta^2 w = f(y), \ y \in (0,1) \quad w'(0) = w(1) = 0.$$

Kernel g_β reads as

$$g_{\beta}(x,\xi) = \frac{1}{|\beta| \operatorname{ch} \beta} \begin{cases} \operatorname{sh} |\beta|(1-\xi) \operatorname{ch} \beta x, \ x < \xi \\ \operatorname{sh} |\beta|(1-x) \operatorname{ch} \beta \xi, \ x > \xi. \end{cases}$$

Hence,

$$\kappa_{\beta}(z) = \frac{|\beta|e^{-\lambda}}{\operatorname{ch}\beta} \int_{0}^{1} \operatorname{sh}(|\beta|\tau)e^{z\tau} d\tau, \ \beta \in \alpha \mathbb{Z} \setminus \{0\}, \ \alpha = \frac{\pi}{\ell}.$$
(4.7)

Each zero of function κ_{β} on the plane of the complex variable *z* corresponds to eigenvalue $\lambda = z - i\beta\Gamma$. Evidently, the real part of every zero of function κ_{β} on the *z*-plane is equal to the real part of eigenvalue $\lambda = z - i\beta\Gamma$. However, the former, and, therefore, the latter belong to the open left *z*-semiplane for every $\beta \in \alpha\mathbb{Z} \setminus \{0\}$ by Polia's theorem.

Remark 1 The conclusion we are about to make matches the existence of the Liapunov functional. Note that the latter circumstance itself implies only locating the eigenvalues inside the *closed* left semi-plane.

Remark 2 Let $\widetilde{L_2}$ denote the space of square-summable 2ℓ -periodic functions vanishing on average. Then correspondence $\lambda \mapsto K(\lambda) : \widetilde{L_2} \to \widetilde{L_2}$ determines the operator-valued entire function on the λ -plane.

Remark 3 Consider now the Yudovich problem in the same strip *D* with boundary conditions

$$\mathbf{v} \cdot \mathbf{e}_x|_{x=0} = 1, \quad \mathbf{v} \cdot \mathbf{e}_x|_{x=1} = 1, \quad \omega|_{x=0} = 0.$$

Again, there exists a steady solution $V = \mathbf{e}_x + \Gamma \mathbf{e}_y$, but this time with *arbitrary* $\Gamma \in \mathbb{R}$. Hence, the steady solution is not isolated. For every steady flow of that kind, we have the spectral problem consisting of Eqs. (4.2), (4.3) and boundary conditions

$$u|_{x=0} = 0, \quad u|_{x=1} = 0, \quad v_x - u_y|_{x=0} = 0.$$

Under such boundary conditions, there exists only one eigenvalue $\lambda = 0$, and the corresponding eigenvectors has the form u = 0, v = const, h = 0.

Henceforth, we focus ourselves on the Kazhikhov problem and extend the analysis of the above example to more general flows.

5 Lagrangian Coordinates: Non-Separated Flows

For describing the motion of the material particles of a fluid flow, consider the Cauchy problem

$$\partial_s X = \mathbf{v}(X, s); \quad X|_{s=t} = x \in D, \ t > 0,$$
(5.1)

where $\mathbf{v} = \mathbf{v}(x, t)$ stands for the flow velocity defined in a given domain, which we denote as *D*. *D* is. Let $\mathbf{v} \in C^1(\overline{D \times \{t > 0\}})$. There exist $\tau_1 = \tau_1(x, t) \in (0, t)$ è $\tau_2 = \tau_2(x, t) > t$, such that solution X = X(s, x, t) to problem (5.1) is well-defined for $s \in (\tau_1(x, t), \tau_2(x, t))$. Mapping $s \mapsto X(s, x, t)$ parameterizes the path of the material particle which the fluid flow brings at point *x* to the time moment *t*. Every such path is a characteristic of the Euler equations. Hence the inlet and outlet are the non-characteristic parts of the boundary while the impermeable part is the characteristic part.

Consider the evolutional family X induced by a stationary flow $V = V(x) \in C^1(\overline{D})$.

Definition 1 We call vector field V as non-separated in $D \cup S$ if there exists a function t^+ positive and bounded in $D \cup S$ and such that

$$\forall x \in D \cup S \ X(\max(t - t^{+}(x), 0), x, \max(t, t^{+}(x))) \in S^{+}.$$
(5.2)

Note that this time the Cauchy problem (5.1) is time-independent. Consequently,

$$a^+(x) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} X(\max(t - t_+(x), 0), x, \max(t, t^+(x))) = X(0, x, t^+(x)).$$

For every $t > t_+(x)$, mapping $s \mapsto X(s, x, t)$, $s \in (t - t^+(x), t)$ parameterizes the same segment ℓ_x of the trajectory of the field V. This segment connects point x to $a^+(x) \in S^+$. The trajectories of the field V are called streamlines. Mapping $x \mapsto a^+(x)$ is nothing else then the projection of $D \cup S \to S^+$ along the streamlines.

Remark 4 For every non-separated flow,

1 0

$$t_* = \sup_D t^+ < \infty.$$

Hence, during time t_* , every such flow renews in full the material particles of which it consists. In particular, for $t > t_*$ the flow consists of the particles which have entered the flow domain afterwards the initial time moment, and they have forced out all the particles initially constituted the flow.

Example 1 Let $D = \{(x, y) : 0 < x < 1\}$. Choose function $U \in C^1(\mathbb{R})$, and define vector field $\mathbf{V} : (x, y) \mapsto (U(y), 0)$. Field \mathbf{V} is the steady solution to the Euler equations. The corresponding flow is called as shear flow. Let $U(y) > 0 \forall y \in \mathbb{R}$.

Then $S^+ = \{x = 0\}, S^- = \{x = 1\}, S^0 = \emptyset$,

$$X(s, x, y, t) = (x - (t - s)U(y), y), \ t^{+}(x, y) = x/U(y), \ a^{+}(x, y) = (0, y).$$

The shear flow is non-separated provided that $\inf_{\mathbb{R}} U(y) > 0$. At that, $\sup t^+ = t_* = \sup_{\mathbb{R}} U^{-1}(y)$.

6 Harmonic Flows and Operator-Valued Laplace's Integral

Definition 2 We call vector field $V \in C^{1}(D)$ harmonic if curl V = 0 and div V = 0 in *D*.

In a sufficiently regular domain, the harmonic fields parallel to the boundary constitute the finite-dimensional space, the dimension of which is equal to the 1-dimensional Betty number of the domain. However, definition 1 does not require the harmonic field to be tangential to the boundary.

Every field V harmonic in the domain D satisfies the Euler equations in D with H = const.

Let $D \subset \mathbb{R}^n$, n = 2, 3 be a smooth domain, and let $S = \partial D$. Let M_n denote the direct product of the unit segment and n - 1 copies of the unit circumference.

Definition 3 We call domain $D \subset \mathbb{R}^2$ annular if M_2 is homeomorphic either to $D \cup S$ or to the space of orbits of a discrete subgroup of translations isomorphic to \mathbb{Z} , that acts on $D \cup S$.

Definition 4 We call domain $D \subset \mathbb{R}^3$ *annular* if either the manifold with boundary $D \cup S$ is homeomorphic to the direct product of unit segment and the 2D smooth closed manifold or a discrete subgroup of translations isomorphic to \mathbb{Z}^n , n = 1, 2 acts on $D \cup S$ and the space of its orbits is homeomorphic to M₃.

The set of the annular domains includes the plane annuli, the planar stripes, the gaps between the planes, or the cylinders, or the spheres, or the tori, etc.

If a discrete subgroup of translations acts on an annular domain then we always assume that all the functions considered on such a domain possess the periodicity consistent with this acting.

Let *D* be an annular domain. Then $S = S_1 \cup S_2$, $S_1 \cap S_2 = \emptyset$ and S_1 , S_2 are the connected smooth surfaces homeomorphic one to another. Consider the Kazhikhov problem in an annular domain *D* and let the boundary data of it allow a harmonic flow such that the inlet coincides with one component of the boundary and the outlet coincides with the other component. Such a harmonic solution is unique in the class of harmonic fields. Indeed, the difference between two harmonic solutions is a harmonic field parallel to the boundary and equal to zero on the inlet. Hence, it has zero circulations across every closed path in *D* since every path in *D* is homological to some path on the inlet.

Let *D* be an annular domain and let *V* be a harmonic solution to some Kazhikhov's problem in *D* such that $S_1 = S^+ \in S_2 = S^-$. The spectrum of the eigenmodes of such a flow obeys the following eigenvalue problem

$$\lambda \mathbf{v} + \boldsymbol{\omega} \times \boldsymbol{V} = -\nabla h; \quad \operatorname{curl} \mathbf{v} = \boldsymbol{\omega}; \quad \operatorname{div} \mathbf{v} = 0,$$
 (6.1)

$$\mathbf{v} \times \mathbf{n} = 0 \text{ on } S^+, \quad \mathbf{n} \cdot \mathbf{v} = 0 \text{ on } S.$$
 (6.2)

We will be using space of square-integrable functions on S^+ vanishing on average denoted as $\tilde{L}_2(S^+)$ and the space of bounded operators acting in $\tilde{L}_2(S^+)$ denoted as \mathcal{B}^+ . Let $\Lambda(V)$ denote the point-wise spectrum of problem (6.1)–(6.2) for a specified field V.

Theorem 1 Let D be an annular domain. Assume that vector field V is harmonic in D and such that $S_1 = S^+$ and $S_2 = S^-$. Assume that vector field V generates the non-separated flow. Then there exists an entire function $K_+ : \lambda \mapsto K_+(\lambda) \in \mathcal{B}^+$ such that

$$\Lambda(V) = \{\lambda : \ker K_+(\lambda) \neq \{0\}\}.$$

Function \mathbf{K}_+ allows an explicit form of writing itself modulo reconstructing the divergence free field in domain D by its curl under boundary conditions $\mathbf{u} \cdot \mathbf{n} = 0$ ($\hat{a} S^-$, $\mathbf{u} \times \mathbf{n} = 0$ ($\hat{a} S^+$.

Lemma 1 Let $D \subset \mathbb{R}^3$ be an annular domain, and let $\boldsymbol{\omega}$ be a smooth vector field in D, such that div $\boldsymbol{\omega} = 0$ in D and $\boldsymbol{\omega} \cdot \mathbf{n} = 0$ on S_1 . Consider a boundary value problem

$$\operatorname{curl} \mathbf{v} = \boldsymbol{\omega}, \operatorname{div} \mathbf{v} = 0 \text{ in } D; \ \mathbf{v} \times \mathbf{n} = 0 \text{ ia } S_1, \ \mathbf{v} \cdot \mathbf{n} = 0 \text{ on } S_2.$$
 (6.3)

There exists unique solution v.

Proof of Lemma 1 Let **u** be a solution to the homogeneous problem (6.3). Then the circulation of it across every closed path in *D* is equal to zero by the boundary condition at S_1 . (Here we use the fact that domain *D* is annular). Hence, there exists scalar function ϕ such that $\mathbf{u} = \nabla \phi$ in *D*. Then $\Delta \phi = 0$ in *D*, $d\phi/dn = 0$ on S_2 , and $\phi \equiv \text{const}$ on S_1 . From these observations, it follows that $\phi \equiv \text{const}$, and $\mathbf{u} \equiv 0$ â *D*. Consider now constructing the solution. For the sake of definiteness, assume that S_1 is inside S_2 . Extend $\boldsymbol{\omega}$ up to some field $\tilde{\boldsymbol{\omega}}$ defined on \mathbb{R}^3 by setting $\tilde{\boldsymbol{\omega}} = 0$ inside S_1 , and $\tilde{\boldsymbol{\omega}} = \nabla \psi$ outside S_2 where ψ is a solution to the problem $\Delta \psi = 0, d\psi/dn = \boldsymbol{\omega} \cdot \mathbf{n}$ on S_2 , and $\psi(x) = o(1), |x| \to \infty$. Field $\tilde{\boldsymbol{\omega}}$ is divergencefree in the generalized sense since its normal component is continuous. The decay rate of field $\tilde{\boldsymbol{\omega}}$ on the infinity is suitable for defining a convolution $G_0 * \tilde{\boldsymbol{\omega}}$, where $G_0 = (4\pi |x|)^{-1}$. Consider $\mathbf{b} = G_0 * \tilde{\boldsymbol{\omega}}$. Then curlcurl $\mathbf{b} = \tilde{\boldsymbol{\omega}}$ in \mathbb{R}^3 and in *D*, therefore. Since $\boldsymbol{\omega} \cdot \mathbf{n} = 0$ on S_1 , there exists field **h** harmonic in *D* and parallel to *S* such that field $\mathbf{b}_0 = \text{curl } \mathbf{b} + \mathbf{h}$ has zero circulations across every closed path on S_1 . Hence, there exists function ϕ_0 : $(\mathbf{b}_0 - \nabla \phi_0) \times \mathbf{n} = 0$ on S_1 . Finally, put $\mathbf{v} = \mathbf{b}_0 + \nabla \phi$, where $\Delta \phi = 0$ in D, $\phi = -\phi_0$ on S_1 , and $d\phi/dn = -\mathbf{b}_0 \cdot \mathbf{n}$ on S_2 . This step completes the proof.

Proof of Theorem 1 By applying curl to Eq. (6.1), we get equation

$$\lambda \boldsymbol{\omega} + [\boldsymbol{\omega}, \boldsymbol{V}] = 0. \tag{6.4}$$

Integration of these equations along the characteristics leads to the following equality

$$\partial_s \left(e^{\lambda s} \left(X'(s, x, t) \right)^{-1} \boldsymbol{\omega}(y) \right) = 0, \ y = X(s, x, t), \ s \in (t - t^+(x), t), \tag{6.5}$$

where X'(s, x, t) is differential of the mapping $x \mapsto X(s, x, t)$ evaluated at point x. By equality (6.5),

$$X'(s, x, t)\boldsymbol{\omega}(x) = e^{\lambda(s-t)}\boldsymbol{\omega}(y), \quad y = X(s, x, t) \ s \in (t - t^+(x), t).$$

When $s \to t - t^+(x)$ this equality reads as

$$\boldsymbol{\omega}(x) = \mathrm{e}^{-\lambda t^+(x)} \mathcal{X}^+(x) \boldsymbol{\omega}^+(a^+(x)), \quad x \in D.$$
(6.6)

where field ω^+ is the trace of ω on S^+ , and

$$\mathcal{X}^{+}(x) = X'(t^{+}(x), a^{+}(x), 0).$$
(6.7)

Since the flow V is non-separated, equality (6.6) defines field ω everywhere in D correctly provided that one has specified the field ω^+ on the flow inlet. Field ω arising from this definition generally does not allow to represent itself by curl of some other field. For existing such a representation, two conditions have to be hold. First, div $\omega = 0$. Second, the flux of field ω through each component of S must be equal to zero. Since S consists of two components by definition of the annular domains, it is enough to check the former condition and to show that one of the fluxes vanishes. From the projection of Eq. (6.1) onto the planes tangential to S^+ , it follows that

$$\boldsymbol{\omega}^{+} = -\gamma^{-1} \mathbf{n} \times \nabla h, \text{ where } \gamma = \mathbf{V} \cdot \mathbf{n} \neq 0.$$
 (6.8)

By equality (6.8), $\boldsymbol{\omega}^+ \cdot \mathbf{n} \equiv 0$ on S^+ , and the flux of it is equal to zero too. The vanishing of the normal component of field $\boldsymbol{\omega}^+$ on S^+ is consistent with boundary condition (6.2). Indeed, $\operatorname{rot}_n \mathbf{v}$ on S^+ does not include normal derivatives of \mathbf{v} and does not depend on the normal component of \mathbf{v} . Hence, $\operatorname{rot}_n \mathbf{v} = 0$ on S^+ together with the tangential velocity.

Let us turn to the divergence of ω . Let $\rho = \text{div } \omega$. From Eq. (6.4), it follows that

$$\lambda \rho + \boldsymbol{V} \cdot \nabla \rho = 0.$$

Since the flow is non-separated, this equation implies that $\rho \equiv 0$ provided that $\rho \equiv 0$ on S^+ . Let ρ^+ denote the trace of function ρ on S^+ . Projecting equation (6.4) on the normal to S^+ and keeping in mind equality (6.8) brings us at equality

$$\rho^{+} = \gamma^{-1} \operatorname{rot}_{n}((\gamma^{-1}\mathbf{n} \times \nabla h) \times \mathbf{V})\Big|_{S^{+}} = \gamma^{-1} \operatorname{rot}_{n}(\nabla h) \mid_{S^{+}} \equiv 0.$$
(6.9)

Actually, equality (6.9) remains true even for every function *h* and field *V* provided that $V \cdot \mathbf{n} = \gamma$ on S^+ . To see this, consider field

$$(\gamma^{-1}\mathbf{n}\times\nabla h)\times V-\nabla h,$$

and note that it is normal to S^+ .

Let G be the operator reconstructing the velocity by vorticity as described by lemma 1. Let χ be a scalar function on S^+ having zero mean value, and let $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$. Put $h = \chi$ in equality (6.8) and define operator $L_+(\lambda) : \chi \mapsto \omega$ by equalities (6.6) and (6.8). Define operator

$$\mathbf{K}_{+}(\lambda): \boldsymbol{\chi} \mapsto \mathbf{n} \cdot \left(\mathrm{GL}_{+}(\lambda) \boldsymbol{\chi} \right) |_{S^{+}}, \tag{6.10}$$

Note that $\mathbf{n} \cdot (GL_+(\lambda)\chi) = 0$ on S^- and field $GL_+(\lambda)\chi$ is divergence-free in D by the definition of operator G. Therefore, the range of $K_+(\lambda)$ consists of the functions vanishing on average. Thus, every $\chi_{\lambda} \in \ker K_+(\lambda)$ gives rise to the eigenmodes defined as $\mathbf{v}_{\lambda} = GL_+\chi_{\lambda}$. This observation completes the proof.

Remark 5 Adding a constant to χ_{λ} does not alter the corresponding eigenmodes. Therefore, eliminating the constant functions from the domain of operator K₊ does not lead to the loss of the eigenmodes.

Remark 6 One can treat function χ as the trace of the perturbation of the Bernoulli function on S^+ , where it coincides with the pressure perturbation because of the boundary conditions. Hence, vanishing function χ on average matches the fact that the Bernoulli function, as well as the pressure, are defined up to a constant. In particular, zero mean value of function χ is equivalent to preserving the mean pressure on the inlet upon perturbing the basic flow.

Remark 7 We omit the detailed proof of the boundedness of operator $K(\lambda)$.

7 Flow Through a Gap Between Two Cylinders

Let *D* be a gap between two coaxial round cylinders the radii of which are equal to 1 and a > 1. We set up a cylindrical coordinate system the axis of which coincides with the axis of cylinders. Let r, θ, z stand for the radial, azimuthal and axial coordinates, and $\mathbf{e}_r, \mathbf{e}_{\theta}, \mathbf{e}_z$ stand for the corresponding unit vectors. In domain *D*, consider the Kazhikhov problem the boundary conditions of which reads as

$$\mathbf{v} \cdot \mathbf{n}|_{r=1} = -1; \quad \mathbf{v} \cdot \mathbf{n}|_{r=a} = 1/a, \tag{7.1}$$

$$\mathbf{n} \times (\mathbf{v} - \Gamma \mathbf{e}_{\theta})|_{r=1} = 0. \tag{7.2}$$

From boundary conditions (7.1), it follows that $S^+ = \{r = 1\}$, $S^- = \{r = a\}$. At that, the value of $\Gamma \in \mathbb{R}$ determines the circulation of the flow across the inlet, that is equal to $2\pi\Gamma$. Also, we require 2ℓ -periodicity along *z*-axis. The harmonic solutions to this problem has the form

$$\boldsymbol{V} = r^{-1}(\boldsymbol{e}_r + \Gamma \boldsymbol{e}_\theta). \tag{7.3}$$

The field defined in (7.3) is non-separated. If $\Gamma = 0$, the flow admits the single-valued scalar potential—that is, $V = \nabla \Phi$.

Note that vector field (7.3) directs the flow outwards the axis of the cylinders. It is natural to call such a flow diverging and to call the oppositely directed flow converging. The converging flow arises from the following boundary conditions

$$\mathbf{v} \cdot \mathbf{n}|_{r=1} = 1; \quad \mathbf{v} \cdot \mathbf{n}|_{r=a} = -1/a, \tag{7.4}$$

$$\mathbf{n} \times \left(\mathbf{v} - a^{-1} \Gamma \mathbf{e}_{\theta} \right) \Big|_{r=a} = 0.$$
(7.5)

Then $S^- = \{r = 1\}$ è $S^+ = \{r = a\}$, and the velocity field of the converging flow reads as

$$\boldsymbol{V} = r^{-1}(-\boldsymbol{e}_r + \Gamma \boldsymbol{e}_\theta)$$

We consider in detail only the diverging flows. For the converging flows, the results are the same as for the converging flows and their proof does not require a new idea.

Consider the eigenvalue problem (6.1)–(6.2) with field V specified in (7.3). Put

$$\mathbf{b}_{n\alpha} = \exp i(n\theta + \alpha z), \ n \in \mathbb{Z}, \ \alpha \in \alpha_0 \mathbb{Z}, \ \alpha_0 = \pi/\ell, \ n^2 + \alpha^2 \neq 0.$$

Due to the symmetry of the problem, operator $K_+(\lambda)$ takes the diagonal form in the basis of Fourier harmonic $b_{n\alpha}$; namely,

$$\mathbf{K}_{+}(\lambda) : \mathbf{b}_{n,\alpha} \mapsto \kappa_{n,\alpha}(\Gamma, a, \lambda)\mathbf{b}_{n,\alpha}$$

Hence, $\Lambda(V)$ coincides with the union of null-sets of all the multipliers denoted as $\kappa_{n,\alpha}(\Gamma, a, \lambda)$ on the complex plane λ .

Let us calculate $K_{+}(\lambda)$ explicitly. Put $\mathbf{v} = \mathbf{b}_{n,\alpha} \hat{\mathbf{v}}(r), \, \boldsymbol{\omega} = \mathbf{b}_{n,\alpha} \hat{\boldsymbol{\omega}}(r),$

$$\hat{\boldsymbol{\omega}} = \boldsymbol{\xi} \mathbf{e}_r + \eta \mathbf{e}_{\theta} + \boldsymbol{\zeta} \mathbf{e}_z, \quad \hat{\mathbf{v}} = u \mathbf{e}_r + v \mathbf{e}_{\theta} + w \mathbf{e}_z;$$

at that boundary conditions (6.2) takes the form

$$u(1) = v(1) = w(1) = 0; \ u(a) = 0.$$
(7.6)

First, consider $L_+(\lambda)$. Relative to the Fourier basis, the system consisting of Eq. (6.4), condition div $\omega = 0$, and the boundary conditions at S^+ take the form

$$\lambda \xi - inr^{-2}(\eta - \Gamma \xi) - i\alpha r^{-1} \zeta = 0; \quad \xi|_{r=1} = 0;$$
(7.7)

$$\lambda \eta - i\alpha \Gamma r^{-1} \zeta + \left(r^{-1} (\eta - \Gamma \xi) \right)_r = 0; \quad \eta|_{r=1} = i\alpha; \tag{7.8}$$

$$\lambda \zeta + r^{-1} \zeta_r + i\beta r^{-2} \zeta = 0; \quad \zeta|_{r=1} = -in;$$
(7.9)

$$e^{-1}((r\xi)_r + in\eta) + i\alpha\zeta = 0.$$
 (7.10)

Here, the boundary conditions on S^+ arise from representing of condition (6.8) using the Fourier basis. Eliminating η and ζ from (7.7) with the use of (7.10) brings us at the system

$$r\lambda\xi + \xi_r + r^{-1}(in\Gamma + 1)\xi = 0, \quad \xi(1) = 0,$$

which implies that $\xi \equiv 0$. Bearing in mind this conclusion, we note that Eqs. (7.8), (7.9), and (7.10) are not independent. Then integrating them gives

$$\zeta = -in\mathcal{E}(r); \ \eta = i\alpha r\mathcal{E}(r); \ \mathcal{E}(r) = \mathcal{E}(r,\lambda,n\Gamma) = r^{-in\Gamma} e^{-\frac{\lambda(r^2-1)}{2}}.$$
(7.11)

We turn to calculating the operator $GL_+(\lambda)$. Reconstructing the velcoity by vorticity with the use of boundary conditions (7.6) leads to expressions

$$w(r) = \int_{1}^{r} (i\alpha u - \eta) \, ds; \ rv(r) = \int_{1}^{r} (s\zeta + inu) \, ds.$$

Eliminating the unknowns w and v from equation div $\mathbf{v} = 0$ yields the equation for finding unknown u. Introducing new unknown function

$$\phi(r) = \int_{1}^{r} u(s) \, ds$$

brings us to the boundary value problem

$$r^{2}\phi_{rr} + r\phi_{r} - (n^{2} + \alpha^{2}r^{2})\phi = -r^{2}F_{n,\alpha}; \ \phi(1) = 0, \ \phi_{r}(a) = 0, \text{ where } (7.12)$$
$$F_{n,\alpha}(r,\lambda,n\Gamma) = ((n/r)^{2} + \alpha^{2})\int_{1}^{r} \mathcal{E}(s,\lambda,n\Gamma) \, s\, ds,$$

Given with this problem, we note that $\kappa_{n,\alpha}(\lambda, \Gamma, a) = u(1) = \phi_r(1)$. From this observation, using the Green function of problem (7.12), we get

$$\kappa_{n,\alpha}(\lambda,\Gamma,a) = K_{\alpha,n,a}^{-1}(1) \int_{1}^{a} K_{\alpha,n,a}(s) F_{n,\alpha}(s,\lambda,n\Gamma) s ds, \qquad (7.13)$$

where $K_{\alpha,n,a}$ is a solution to Cauchy problem

$$r^{2}K_{rr} + rK_{r} - (n^{2} + r^{2}\alpha^{2})K = 0; \quad K(a) = 1; \ K_{r}(a) = 0.$$
(7.14)

Given with the Cauchy problem (7.14), integrating by parts transforms expression (7.13) into the Laplace's integral that reads as

$$\kappa_{n,\alpha}(\lambda,\beta,a) = -K_{\alpha,n,a}^{-1}(1) \int_{1}^{a} r^{-i\beta} e^{-\lambda(r^2-1)/2} K_{\alpha,n,a}'(r) r^2 dr, \ \beta = n\Gamma, \quad (7.15)$$

and $(\cdot)'$ stands for the derivatives in variable *r*.

Let $\Lambda_{n,\alpha,\beta,a}$ denote the null set of the Laplace integral (7.15) on the plane of complex variable λ , and let $\Lambda_{\Gamma,a}$ stand for the point-wise spectrum of problem (6.1)–(6.2) in domain $D = \{(r, \theta, z) : 1 < r < a\}$, when field V has the form specified in (7.3).

Lemma 2

$$\Lambda_{\Gamma,a} = \bigcup_{\alpha \in \alpha_0 \mathbb{Z}, \ \beta = n\Gamma, \ n \in \mathbb{Z}, \ n^2 + \alpha^2 \neq 0} \Lambda_{n,\alpha,\beta,a}$$

Thus, we have reduced the Routh–Hurwitz problem for the spectrum of flow (7.3) to the same problem for scalar Laplace's integrals (7.15).

Lemma 3

$$\Lambda_{n,\alpha,0,a} \subset \{\lambda : \operatorname{Re} \lambda < 0\} \,\forall n \in \mathbb{Z}, \, \alpha \in \mathbb{R}.$$

Proof Let us apply Polia's theorem about the nulls of Laplace integrals (see [12]). The integral is to be dealt with reads as

$$\int_{1}^{a} e^{-\lambda(r^2-1)/2} \left(-rK_r\right) r dr, \quad K = K_{\alpha,n,a}.$$

We have to check the following assertions:

$$\forall r \in (1, a)$$
 (i) $K_r(r) < 0$; (ii) $(rK_r(r))_r > 0$.

By the Cauchy problem (7.14),

$$\int_{s}^{a} (\alpha^{2}r + n^{2}/r) K^{2} dr = -K(s) K_{r}(s) s - \int_{s}^{a} K_{r}^{2} r dr, \quad \forall s : 1 \le s < a.$$

Hence, $K(s)K_r(s) < 0$ for $s \in [1, a)$ and K(a) = 1 by the initial condition of problem (7.14). Consequently,

$$K(r) > 0, K_r(r) < 0, \forall r \in (1, a).$$

Then Eq. (7.14) implies assertion (ii). It completes the proof.

By lemmas 2 and 3, we get

Theorem 2 $\Lambda_{\Gamma,a} \cap \{\lambda : \operatorname{Re} \lambda \geq 0\} \neq \emptyset$. Then $\beta = n\Gamma \neq 0$.

Remark 8 By Theorem 2, every eigenmode of potential flow is stable. Moreover, an eigenmode is stable provided it possesses the rotational symmetry.

Remark 9 At the inlet, every eigenmode of pressure has the form $\exp(\lambda t + in\theta + i\alpha z)$ as it follows from remark at page 134). At the same time, there exist the small perturbations of flow (7.3) which preserve the pressure on the inlet. Such a perturbation vanishes in a finite time. Indeed, consider a small perturbation $\mathbf{v} = v(r, t)\mathbf{e}_{\theta} + w(r, t)\mathbf{e}_{z}$, p = p(r, t) (*p* denotes the perturbation of the pressure). The system governing such a class of perturbations reads as

$$\frac{2\Gamma v}{r^2} = p_r, \ (rv)_t + \frac{(rv)_r}{r} = 0, \ w_t + \frac{w_r}{r} = 0, \ t > 0, \ r \in (1,a),$$
(7.16)

$$v|_{r=1} = 0, \quad w|_{r=1} = 0, \quad p|_{r=1} = 0.$$
 (7.17)

Integrating this system shows that every solution to it is equal to zero everywhere on interval $r \in (1, a)$ for every $t > (a^2 - 1)/2$. Hence, the system of spectral projectors of the point-wise spectrum of flow (7.3) is incomplete.

Remark 10 The assertions of Theorem 2 and Remarks 8 and 9 remains true for the converging flows.

Remark 11 Irrespective of the direction of the basic flow, the unstable modes occur upon increasing the circulation of it—that is, upon increasing the parameter denoted as Γ . Moreover, this instability survives upon taking into account the fluid viscosity. For more details, a reader should refer to articles [24–26].

8 Flow Through a Gap Between Two Spheres

Consider the Kazhikhov problem for Euler equations in a gap between two concentric spheres. Then the flow domain is $D = \{1 < |x| < a\}, a > 1$, and we assume that the boundary conditions are such that the normal velocities on the smaller and greater sphere are equal either to the values of -1 and a^{-2} correspondingly or to the values of 1 and $-a^{-2}$ correspondingly. The flow obeying the former (the latter) boundary conditions is called as diverging (converging). The inlet of the diverging (converging) flow is the smaller (the greater) sphere, and the other sphere stands as the outlet. We assume that the boundary conditions on the inlet impose zero tangential velocity. The formulated problems are rotationally invariant, and each has the rotationally invariant solution that reads as

$$\mathbf{V} = \pm \mathbf{e}_r / r^2, \ H = 0, \ r = |x|, \ \mathbf{e}_r = \nabla r$$
(8.1)

where sign of + (-) corresponds to the diverging (converging) flow. Note that this flow admits a scalar potential—that is, $V = \mp \nabla r^{-1}$.

We will be consider in detail the case of diverging flows. Treatment of the converging flows is quite similar and leads to the results identical to the case of the diverging ones. Thus, we will study the eigenmodes of problem (6.1)–(6.2), where V is the diverging flow determined by equality (8.1). We set the spherical coordinates

$$x = r \sin \theta \cos \varphi, \ y = r \sin \theta \sin \varphi, \ z = r \cos \theta, \ \theta \in (0, \pi), \ \varphi \in (-\pi, \pi),$$

and we denote as $\mathbf{e}_{\mathbf{r}}, \mathbf{e}_{\theta}, \mathbf{e}_{\varphi}$ the corresponding unit vectors. Let (ξ, η, ζ) and (u, v, w) be the coordinates of fields $\boldsymbol{\omega}$ and \mathbf{v} relative to frame $\mathbf{e}_{\mathbf{r}}, \mathbf{e}_{\theta}, \mathbf{e}_{\varphi}$ correspondingly. Thus,

$$\boldsymbol{\omega} = \xi \mathbf{e}_{\mathbf{r}} + \eta \mathbf{e}_{\theta} + \zeta \mathbf{e}_{\varphi}, \ \mathbf{v} = u \mathbf{e}_{\mathbf{r}} + v \mathbf{e}_{\theta} + w \mathbf{e}_{\varphi}.$$

In the spherical coordinates, the Cauchy problem determining operator $L_+(\boldsymbol{\lambda})$ reads as

$$\lambda \xi - \frac{1}{r^3 \sin \theta} \left\{ (\eta \sin \theta)_\theta + \zeta_\varphi \right\} = 0, \ \xi|_{r=1} = 0, \tag{8.2}$$

$$\lambda \eta + \frac{1}{r^3} \{ r \eta_r - \eta \} = 0, \ \eta|_{r=1} = \frac{\chi_{\varphi}}{\sin \theta},$$
(8.3)

$$\lambda \zeta + \frac{1}{r^3} \{ r \zeta_r - \zeta \} = 0, \ \zeta |_{r=1} = -\chi_{\theta}.$$
(8.4)

Here, we have been setting the boundary conditions in accordance with condition (6.8), and, therefore, $\chi = \chi(\theta, \phi)$ is an unknown function defined on the inlet. Integrating the problem (8.2)–(8.4) gives us the following solution

$$\xi = 0, \ \eta \sin \theta = \mathcal{E}(\lambda, r) \chi_{\varphi}, \ \zeta = -\mathcal{E}(\lambda, r) \chi_{\theta}, \ \mathcal{E}(\lambda, r) = r e^{-\frac{\lambda (r^3 - 1)}{3}}.$$
(8.5)

Thus, we have an explicit expression for $L_+(\lambda)$. Let us turn to calculating operator $GL_+(\lambda)$. Given with ω specified in (8.5), equation curl $\mathbf{v} = \omega$ reads as

$$(w\sin\theta)_{\theta} = v_{\varphi}, \ u_{\varphi} - (rw)_r \sin\theta = r\mathcal{E}\chi_{\varphi}, \ (rv)_r - u_{\theta} = -r\mathcal{E}\chi_{\theta}.$$
(8.6)

Integrating the second and third equations in (8.6) and keeping in mind the boundary conditions at the inlet gives the following equalities

$$wr\sin\theta = \Phi_{\varphi} - \mathcal{E}_1\chi_{\varphi}, \ rv = \Phi_{\theta} - \mathcal{E}_1\chi_{\theta}, \ \text{where}$$
 (8.7)

$$\Phi(r,\theta,\varphi) = \int_{1}^{r} u \, dr, \ \mathcal{E}_{1}(\lambda,r) = \int_{1}^{r} \mathcal{E}(\lambda,s) \, sds.$$
(8.8)

The expressions (8.7) implies the first equation in (8.6). Then equation div $\mathbf{v} = 0$ takes the form

$$\Delta \Phi + \mathcal{E}_1(\lambda, r) r^{-2} \Delta_+ \chi = 0, \qquad (8.9)$$

where $\Delta_+ f = -\frac{1}{\sin\theta} (f_\theta \sin\theta)_\theta - \frac{1}{\sin^2\theta} f_{\varphi\varphi}$ is the spherical Beltrami operator. Let \mathbf{b}_m be the eigenfunction of operator Δ_+ that corresponds to the eigenvalue $\mu_m = m(m+1), m \in \mathbb{N}$. Putting $\chi = \mathbf{b}_m, \Phi = \widehat{\Phi}_m(r)\mathbf{b}_m$ brings us at the problem

$$\left(r^{2}\hat{\Phi}_{m}^{\prime}\right)^{\prime}-\mu_{m}\left(\widehat{\Phi}_{m}-\mathcal{E}_{1}(\lambda,r)\right)=0,$$
(8.10)

$$\hat{\Phi}'_m(1) = 0, \ \hat{\Phi}_m(1) = 0, \ \hat{\Phi}'_m(a) = 0,$$
 (8.11)

Hence,

$$\mathbf{K}_{+}(\lambda)\mathbf{b}_{m} = u|_{r=1} = \hat{\Phi}'_{m}(1)\mathbf{b}_{m}, \ \forall b_{m} \in \mathbf{H}_{m},$$

where H_m stands for the eigen-space of operator Δ_+ corresponding to the eigenvalue $\mu_m = m(m + 1), m \in \mathbb{N}$. Thus, the multipliers are functions

$$\kappa_m(\lambda, a) = \hat{\Phi}'_m(1)$$

where $\hat{\Phi}_m$ is the solution to problem (8.10–8.11). Expressing this solution using the Green function leads to the following equalities

$$\kappa_m(\lambda, a) = \frac{\mu_m}{K_{m,a}(1)} \int_1^a K_{m,a}(r) \mathcal{E}_1(\lambda, r) \, dr. \tag{8.12}$$

Here, $K_{m,a}$ is the solution to homogeneous equation (8.10) satisfying the initial conditions $K_{m,a}(a) = 1$, $K'_{m,a}(a) = 0$. Bearing this in mind, we arrive at equality

$$\kappa_m(\lambda, a) = -\frac{1}{K_{m,a}(1)} \int_{1}^{a} K'_{m,a}(r) \mathcal{E}(\lambda, r) r^3 dr = 0.$$
(8.13)

Simple transformation of this integral enables us to apply Polia's theorem and conclude that the zeroes of every multiplier belong to open left λ -semiplane. Thus we have arrived at

Theorem 3 Let Λ_a be the point-wise spectrum of the problem (6.1)–(6.2), where V is one of the fields defined in (8.1) and $x \in D = \{x : 1 < |x| < a\} \subset \mathbb{R}^3$. Then Re $(\lambda) < 0 \forall \lambda \in \Lambda_a \forall a \in (1, \infty)$.

References

- 1. Iooss, G., Joseph, D.D.: Elementary Stability and Bifurcation Theory. Springer, Berlin (2012)
- 2. Arnold, V.I. et al.: Dynamical Systems V: Bifurcation Theory and Catastrophe Theory, vol. 5. Springer, Berlin (2013)
- 3. Yudovich, V.I.: The linearization method in hydrodynamical stability theory, vol. 74. American Mathematical Society, New York (1989)
- 4. Yudovich, V.I.: The onset of auto-oscillations in a fluid. J. Appl. Math. Mech. **35**(4), 587–603 (1971)
- Haragus, M., Iooss, G.: Local bifurcations, center manifolds, and normal forms in infinitedimensional dynamical systems. Springer, New York (2010)
- 6. Dikiy, L.A.: Hydrodynamic Stability and Atmosphere Dynamics. Gidrometeoizdat, Leningrad (1976, Russian)
- 7. Shvydkoy, R., Latushkin, Y.: Operator algebras and the Fredholm spectrum of advective equations of linear hydrodynamics. J. Funct. Anal. **257**(10), 3309–3328 (2009)
- Arnold, V.: Sur la géometrie différentielle des groupes de Lie de dimension infinie et ses applications à l'hydrodynamique des fluides parfaits. Annal. de l'institut Fourier 16(1), 319– 361 (1966)
- Morgulis, A.B., Yudovich, V.I.: Arnold's method for asymptotic stability of steady inviscid incompressible flow through a fixed domain with permeable boundary. Chaos 12(2), 356–371 (2002)
- 10. Morgulis, A.B.: Variational principles and stability of the inviscid open flows. Sibirskie Elektronnye Matematicheskie Izvestiya [Siberian Electron. Math. Rep.] **14**, 218–251 (2017)
- 11. Ostrovskiî, I.V.M.G.: Krein's investigations in the theory of entire and meromorphic functions and their further development. Ukrainian Math. J. **46**(1), 87–100 (1994)

- 12. Sedletskiî, A.M.: On the zeros of Laplace transforms. Math. Notes 76(5), 824-833 (2004)
- 13. Chemin, J.Y.: Fluides Parfaits Incompressibles, 177p. Société mathématique de France, Paris (1995)
- Yudovich, V.I.: A two-dimensional non-stationary problem on the flow of an ideal incompressible fluid through a given region. Mat. Sb.(NS) 64(106), 562–588 (1964)
- Alekseev, G.V.: On solvability of the nonhomogeneous boundary value problem for twodimensional nonsteady equations of ideal fluid dynamics. In: Dinamika Sploshnoy Sredy. Lavrentyev Institute of Hydrodynamics, Novosibirsk, vol. 24, pp. 15–35 (1976)
- Bardos, C.: Existence et unicité de la solution de l'equation d'Euler en deux dimensions. J. Math. Anal. Appl. 40(3), pp. 769–790 (1972)
- 17. Kazhikhov, A.V.: Note on the formulation of the problem of flow through a bounded region using equations of perfect fluid. J. Appl. Math. Mech. **44**(5), 672–674 (1980)
- Antontsev, S.N., Kazhikhov, A.V., Monakhov, V.N.: Boundary-value problems in the mechanics of nonuniform fluids. In: Studies in Mathematics and its Applications, Amsterdam (1990)
- Temam, R., Wang, X.: Boundary layers associated with incompressible Navier–Stokes equations: the noncharacteristic boundary case. J. Diff. Equ. 179(2), 647–686 (2002)
- 20. Ilin, K.: Viscous boundary layers in flows through a domain with permeable boundary. European J. Mech.-B/Fluids **27**(5), 514–538 (2008)
- Beavers, G.S., Joseph, D.D.: Boundary conditions at a naturally permeable wall. J. Fluid Mech. 30(1), 197–207 (1967)
- 22. Chetaev, N.G.: The stability of motion. Pergamon Press, Pergamon (1961)
- Morgulis, A.B.: Stabilization of vortex flows through an annular domain. Dal'nevostochnyi Matematicheskii Zhurnal (Far East Math. J.) 19(1), 108–113 (2019, Russian)
- Ilin, K., Morgulis, A.: Instability of an inviscid flow between porous cylinders with radial flow. J. Fluid Mech. **730**, 364–378 (2013)
- 25. Ilin, K., Morgulis, A.: Instability of a two-dimensional viscous flow in an annulus with permeable walls to two-dimensional perturbations. Phys. Fluids. **27**, 044107 (2015)
- Ilin, K., Morgulis, A.: Inviscid instability of an incompressible flow between rotating porous cylinders to three-dimensional perturbations. Eur. J. Mech. B/Fluids. 62(1), 46–60 (2017)
Spectral Properties of Killing Vector Fields of Constant Length and Bounded Killing Vector Fields



Yu. G. Nikonorov

Abstract This paper is a survey of recent results related to spectral properties of Killing vector fields of constant length and of some their natural generalizations on Riemannian manifolds. One of the main result is the following: If \mathfrak{g} is a Lie algebra of Killing vector fields on a given Riemannian manifold (M, g), and $X \in \mathfrak{g}$ has constant length on (M, g), then the linear operator $\operatorname{ad}(X) : \mathfrak{g} \to \mathfrak{g}$ has a pure imaginary spectrum (Nikonorov, J. Geom. Phys. 145 (2019), 103485). We discuss also more detailed structure results on the corresponding operator $\operatorname{ad}(X)$. Related results for geodesic orbit Riemannian spaces are considered. Finitely, we discuss some generalizations obtained recently by Xu and Nikonorov (Algebraic properties of bounded Killing vector fields. Asian J. Math. 2020 (accepted), see also. arXiv:1904.08710) for bounded Killing vector fields.

Keywords Bounded Killing vector fields \cdot Geodesic orbit space \cdot Homogeneous Riemannian space \cdot Killing vector field of constant length

2010 Mathematical Subject Classification 53C20, 53C25, 53C30

1 Introduction

We discuss some general properties of Killing vector fields of constant length and of some their natural generalizations on an arbitrary Riemannian manifold (M, g). A comprehensive survey on classical results in this direction could be found in [5, 6]. Important properties of Killing vector fields of constant length (abbreviated as KVFCL) on compact homogeneous Riemannian spaces are studied in [20]. Some resent results about Killing vector field of constant length on some special

Yu. G. Nikonorov (🖂)

Southern Mathematical Institute of Vladikavkaz Scientific Centre of the Russian Academy of Sciences, Vladikavkaz, Russia

[©] The Editor(s) (if applicable) and The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

A. G. Kusraev, Z. D. Totieva (eds.), *Operator Theory and Differential Equations*, Trends in Mathematics, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-49763-7_12

Riemannian manifolds are obtained in [28, 30]. All manifolds are supposed to be connected.

Let us consider a Riemannian manifold (M, g) and any Lie group G acting effectively on (M, g) by isometries. We will identify the Lie algebra \mathfrak{g} of G with the corresponded Lie algebra of Killing vector field on (M, g) as follows. For any $U \in \mathfrak{g}$ we consider a one-parameter group $\exp(tU) \subset G$ of isometries of (M, g)and define a Killing vector field \widetilde{U} by a usual formula

$$\widetilde{U}(x) = \left. \frac{d}{dt} \exp(tU)(x) \right|_{t=0}.$$
(1)

It is clear that the map $U \to \widetilde{U}$ is linear and injective, but $[\widetilde{U}, \widetilde{V}] = -[\widetilde{U}, V]_{\mathfrak{g}}$, where $[\cdot, \cdot]_{\mathfrak{g}}$ is the Lie bracket in \mathfrak{g} and $[\cdot, \cdot]$ is the Lie bracket of vector fields on M. We will use this identification repeatedly in this paper.

Any $X \in \mathfrak{g}$ determines a linear operator $\operatorname{ad}(X) : \mathfrak{g} \to \mathfrak{g}$ acting by $Y \mapsto [X, Y]$. If we consider X as a Killing vector field on (M, g), then some geometric type assumptions on X imply special properties (in particular, spectral properties) of the corresponding operator $\operatorname{ad}(X)$. In this paper, we study the property of X to be of constant length and the property to be bounded.

Let us fix some notation. For a Lie algebra \mathfrak{g} , we denote by $\mathfrak{n}(\mathfrak{g})$ and $\mathfrak{r}(\mathfrak{g})$ the nilradical (the maximal nilpotent ideal) and the radical of \mathfrak{g} respectively. A maximal semisimple subalgebra of \mathfrak{g} is called a Levi factor or a Levi subalgebra. There is a semidirect decomposition $\mathfrak{g} = \mathfrak{r}(\mathfrak{g}) \rtimes \mathfrak{s}$, where \mathfrak{s} is an arbitrary Levi factor. The Malcev–Harish-Chandra theorem states that any two Levi factors of \mathfrak{g} are conjugate by an automorphism $\exp(\operatorname{Ad}(Z))$ of \mathfrak{g} , where Z is in the nilradical $\mathfrak{n}(\mathfrak{g})$ of \mathfrak{g} . We have $\mathfrak{r}(\mathfrak{g}) = [\mathfrak{s}, \mathfrak{r}(\mathfrak{g})] \oplus C_{\mathfrak{r}(\mathfrak{g})}(\mathfrak{s})$ (a direct sum of linear subspaces), where $C_{\mathfrak{r}(\mathfrak{g})}(\mathfrak{s})$ is the centralizer of \mathfrak{s} in $\mathfrak{r}(\mathfrak{g})$. Recall also that $[\mathfrak{g}, \mathfrak{r}(\mathfrak{g})] \subset \mathfrak{n}(\mathfrak{g})$, therefore, $[\mathfrak{s}, \mathfrak{r}(\mathfrak{g})] \subset [\mathfrak{g}, \mathfrak{r}(\mathfrak{g})] \subset \mathfrak{n}(\mathfrak{g})$. Moreover, $D(\mathfrak{r}(\mathfrak{g})) \subset \mathfrak{n}(\mathfrak{g})$ for every derivation D of \mathfrak{g} . For any Levi factor \mathfrak{s} , we have $[\mathfrak{g}, \mathfrak{g}] = [\mathfrak{r}(\mathfrak{g}) + \mathfrak{s}, \mathfrak{r}(\mathfrak{g}) + \mathfrak{s}] = [\mathfrak{g}, \mathfrak{r}(\mathfrak{g})] \rtimes{s} \subset \mathfrak{n}(\mathfrak{g}) \rtimes{s}$. For a more detailed discussion of the Lie algebra structure we refer to [14].

Recall that a subalgebra \mathfrak{k} of a Lie algebra \mathfrak{g} is said to be *compactly embedded* in \mathfrak{g} if \mathfrak{g} admits an inner product relative to which the operators $\operatorname{ad}(X) : \mathfrak{g} \mapsto \mathfrak{g}$, $X \in \mathfrak{k}$, are skew-symmetric. This condition is equivalent to the following one: the closure of $\operatorname{Ad}_G(\exp(\mathfrak{k}))$ in $\operatorname{Aut}(\mathfrak{g})$ is compact, see e.g. [14]. Note that for a compactly embedded subalgebra \mathfrak{k} , every operator $\operatorname{ad}(X) : \mathfrak{g} \to \mathfrak{g}$, $X \in \mathfrak{k}$, is semisimple and the spectrum of $\operatorname{ad}(X)$ lies in $\mathbf{i}\mathbb{R}$, where $\mathbf{i} = \sqrt{-1}$. Recall also that a subalgebra \mathfrak{k} of a Lie algebra \mathfrak{g} is said to be *compact* if it is compactly embedded in itself. It is equivalent to the fact that there is a compact Lie group with a given Lie algebra \mathfrak{k} . It is clear that any compactly embedded subalgebra \mathfrak{k} of \mathfrak{g} is compact.

The following theorem is one of the main results for our discussion.

Theorem 1 (Theorem 1 in [22]) For any Killing field of constant length $X \in \mathfrak{g}$ on a Riemannian manifold (M, g), the spectrum of the operator $\operatorname{ad}(X) : \mathfrak{g} \to \mathfrak{g}$ is pure imaginary, i. e. is in $i\mathbb{R}$.

This result is a particular case of Theorem 3. It is clear that it is non-trivial only for noncompact Lie algebras \mathfrak{g} and only when X is not a central element of \mathfrak{g} . On the other hand, there are examples of Killing fields of constant length $X \in \mathfrak{g}$ for noncompact \mathfrak{g} . Moreover, Theorems 4 and 5 give us examples when $X \in \mathfrak{n}(\mathfrak{g})$ and ad(X) is non-trivial and nilpotent. In particular, ad(X) is not semisimple in this case.

The paper is organized as follows. In Sect. 2, we consider some important spectral properties of the operator ad(X) : $\mathfrak{g} \mapsto \mathfrak{g}$ for any Killing vector field of constant length $X \in \mathfrak{g}$ on a given Riemannian manifold (M, g). One of the main results is Theorem 2, that implies non-trivial geometric properties of (M, g) in the case when the Lie algebra g could be decomposed as a direct Lie algebra sum. In Sect. 3, we discuss some results on Killing vector fields of constant length on geodesic orbit Riemannian spaces. In particular, Theorems 4 and 5 imply that any Killing vector field in the center of n(q) has constant length on a given geodesic orbit space (G/H, g). This observation provides non-trivial examples of Killing vector field of constant length X such that the operator ad(X) : $\mathfrak{g} \mapsto \mathfrak{g}$ is nilpotent. In Sect. 4, we discuss general properties of bounded Killing vector fields on a given Riemannian manifold (M, g). In particular, we consider the generalization of Theorem 1 and some other spectral properties for bounded Killing vector fields. We also study the Lie algebra of all bounded vectors in g for a Riemannian homogeneous space G/H, on which G acts effectively. This Lie algebra is compact and we completely describe all bounded Killing vector fields for a Riemannian homogeneous space.

2 KVFCL on General Riemannian Manifolds

In what follows, we assume that a Lie group G acts effectively on a Riemannian manifold (M, g) by isometries, \mathfrak{g} is the Lie algebra of G, elements of \mathfrak{g} are identified with Killing vector field on (M, g) according to (1).

The following characterizations of Killing vector fields of constant length on Riemannian manifolds are very useful.

Lemma 1 (Lemma 3 in [6]) Let X be a non-trivial Killing vector field on a Riemannian manifold (M, g). Then the following conditions are equivalent:

(1) X has constant length on M;

- (2) $\nabla_X X = 0$ on M;
- (3) every integral curve of the field X is a geodesic in (M, g).

Lemma 2 (Lemma 2 in [21]) If a Killing vector field $X \in \mathfrak{g}$ has constant length on (M, g), then for any $Y, Z \in \mathfrak{g}$ the equalities

$$g([Y, X], X) = 0,$$
 (2)

$$g([Z, [Y, X]], X) + g([Y, X], [Z, X]) = 0$$
(3)

hold at every point of M. If G acts on (M, g) transitively, then condition (2) implies that X has constant length. Moreover, the condition (3) also implies that X has constant length for compact M and transitive G.

Now, we are going to get some more detailed results.

Theorem 2 (Theorem 2 in [22]) Let $X \in \mathfrak{g}$ be a Killing vector field of constant length on (M, \mathfrak{g}) . Suppose that we have a direct Lie algebra sum $\mathfrak{g} = \mathfrak{g}_1 \oplus \cdots \oplus \mathfrak{g}_l$, $l \geq 2$. Then for every i = 1, ..., l, there is an ideal \mathfrak{u}_i in \mathfrak{g}_i such that $[X, \mathfrak{g}_i] \subset \mathfrak{u}_i$ and $\mathfrak{g}(\mathfrak{u}_i, \mathfrak{u}_j) = 0$ on M for every $i \neq j$.

Proof Since X is of constant length, then $\mathfrak{g}_i \cdot g(X, X) = g([\mathfrak{g}_i, X], X) = 0$ for any *i* by Lemma 2. If we take $j \neq i$, then

$$0 = \mathfrak{g}_{i} \cdot g([\mathfrak{g}_{i}, X], X) = g([\mathfrak{g}_{i}, X], [\mathfrak{g}_{j}, X]).$$

Let $\{u_i\}$, i = 1, ..., l, be a set of maximal (by inclusion) subspaces $u_i \subset g_i$, such that $[g_i, X] \subset u_i$ and $g(u_i, u_j) = 0$ for every $i \neq j$ (such a set of subspaces should not be unique in general). Since

$$0 = \mathfrak{g}_i \cdot g(\mathfrak{u}_i, \mathfrak{u}_j) = 0 = g([\mathfrak{g}_i, \mathfrak{u}_i], \mathfrak{u}_j),$$

then $[\mathfrak{g}_i,\mathfrak{u}_i] \subset \mathfrak{u}_i$ due to the choice of \mathfrak{u}_i . Hence, every \mathfrak{u}_i is an ideal in \mathfrak{g}_i and in \mathfrak{g} .

Remark 1 If $X = X_1 + X_2 + \cdots + X_l$, where $X_i \in \mathfrak{g}_i$, then $\mathfrak{u}_i \neq 0$ if X_i is not in the center of \mathfrak{g}_i . In particular, if $X_i \neq 0$ and \mathfrak{g}_i is simple, then $\mathfrak{u}_i = \mathfrak{g}_i$. Note, that Theorem 2 leads to a more simple proof of Theorem 1 in [20] about properties of Killing vector fields of constant length on compact homogeneous Riemannian manifolds. See also Remark 4 about geodesic orbit spaces.

In what follows, for a Killing vector field of constant length $X \in \mathfrak{g}$ on (M, g), we denote by L = L(X) the linear operator $\operatorname{ad}(X) : \mathfrak{g} \to \mathfrak{g}$.

The above results lead to the following theorem (see [22] for a detailed proof).

Theorem 3 (Theorem 3 in [22]) Let $X \in \mathfrak{g}$ be a Killing vector field of constant length on (M, \mathfrak{g}) . Then the following assertions hold.

- (1) We have an L-invariant linear space decomposition $\mathfrak{g} = A_1 \oplus A_2$, where $A_1 = \text{Ker}(L^2)$ and $A_2 = \text{Im}(L^2)$. Moreover, A_1 is the root space for L with the eigenvalue 0 and L is invertible on A_2 .
- (2) If \mathfrak{o} is a two-dimensional *L*-invariant subspace, corresponding to a complex conjugate pair of eigenvalues $\alpha \pm \beta \mathbf{i}$ ($\beta \neq 0$), i. e. $L(U) = \alpha \cdot U \beta \cdot V$ and $L(V) = \beta \cdot U + \alpha \cdot V$ for some non-trivial $U, V \in \mathfrak{o}$, then $\alpha = 0$, g(U, V) = 0, and g(U, U) = g(V, V) on G/H.
- (3) All eigenvalues of L have trivial real parts.

Obviously, this result implies Theorem 1.

In what follows, we use the notation $A_1 = \text{Ker}(L^2)$ and $A_2 = \text{Im}(L^2)$ as in Theorem 3.

Remark 2 Note that $\mathfrak{g} = A_1 \oplus A_2 = \operatorname{Ker}(L^2) \oplus \operatorname{Im}(L^2)$ is the Fitting decomposition (see e.g. Lemma 5.3.11 in [14]) for the operator *L*. It should be noted that the decomposition $\mathfrak{g} = \operatorname{Ker}(L) \oplus \operatorname{Im}(L)$ is not valid at least for $X \in C(\mathfrak{n}(\mathfrak{g})) \setminus C(\mathfrak{g})$ (see Theorem 5) since $\operatorname{Im}(L) \subset C(\mathfrak{n}(\mathfrak{g})) \subset \operatorname{Ker}(L)$ in this case.

Remark 3 It is interesting to study KVFCL X with Ker(L) $\neq A_1$. For such X the operator L = ad(X) is not semisimple. One class of suitable examples are $X \in C(\mathfrak{n}(\mathfrak{g}))$ for geodesic orbit spaces (G/H, g) as in Theorem 5 (if there is a vector $V \in \mathfrak{g} \setminus \mathfrak{n}(\mathfrak{g})$ such that $[X, V] \neq 0$).

Since always $X \in \text{Ker}(L) = \text{Ker}(\text{ad}(X)) \subset A_1$, we get $A_1 \neq 0$. On the other hand, it is possible that $A_1 = \mathfrak{g}$ and $A_2 = 0$ (see Remark 5 and Proposition 5).

Proposition 1 (Proposition 7 in [22]) Suppose that $X \in \mathfrak{g}$ has constant length on (M, g) and $A_1 = \mathfrak{g}$. Then $X \in \mathfrak{n}(\mathfrak{g})$.

Proof If $A_1 = \mathfrak{g}$, then $L^2 = (\operatorname{ad}(X))^2 = 0$ on \mathfrak{g} . Elements $X \in \mathfrak{g}$ with this property are called *absolute zero divisors* in \mathfrak{g} . Using the Levi decomposition $\mathfrak{g} =$ $\mathfrak{r}(\mathfrak{g}) \rtimes \mathfrak{s}$, one can show that $X \in \mathfrak{r}(\mathfrak{g})$. If $X = X_{\mathfrak{r}(\mathfrak{g})} + X_{\mathfrak{s}}$, where $X_{\mathfrak{r}(\mathfrak{g})} \in \mathfrak{r}(\mathfrak{g})$ and $X_{\mathfrak{s}} \in \mathfrak{s}$, then for any $Y \in \mathfrak{s}$ we have $(\operatorname{ad}(X))^2(Y) = [X_{\mathfrak{s}}, [X_{\mathfrak{s}}, Y]] + Z$, where $Z = [X, [X_{\mathfrak{r}(\mathfrak{g})}, Y]] + [X_{\mathfrak{r}(\mathfrak{g})}, [X_{\mathfrak{s}}, Y]] \in \mathfrak{r}(\mathfrak{g})$. Hence, $(\operatorname{ad}(X))^2 = 0$ imply $[X_{\mathfrak{s}}, [X_{\mathfrak{s}}, Y]] = 0$ for all $Y \in \mathfrak{s}$, i. e. $X_{\mathfrak{s}}$ is an absolute zero divisor in \mathfrak{s} , that impossible for $X_{\mathfrak{s}} \neq 0$. Indeed, if $U \in \mathfrak{s}$ is a non-trivial absolute zero divisor, then U is a non-trivial nilpotent element in \mathfrak{s} . Hence, there are $V, W \in \mathfrak{s}$ such that [W, U] = 2U, [W, V] = -2V, and [U, V] = W by the Morozov–Jacobson theorem (see e.g. Theorem 3 in [15]). But this implies [U, [U, V]] = -2U that contradicts to $(\operatorname{ad}(U))^2 = 0$ (see [16] for a more detailed discussion). Therefore, we get $X_{\mathfrak{s}} = 0$ and $X \in \mathfrak{r}(\mathfrak{g})$.

Moreover, it is known that $\mathfrak{n}(\mathfrak{g}) = \{Y \in \mathfrak{r}(\mathfrak{g}) \mid (\mathrm{ad}(Y))^p = 0 \text{ for some } p \in \mathbb{N}\},\$ see e.g. Remark 7.4.7 in [14]. Therefore, $X \in \mathfrak{n}(\mathfrak{g})$.

3 KVFCL on Geodesic Orbit Spaces

Let (M = G/H, g) be a homogeneous Riemannian space, where *H* is a compact subgroup of a Lie group *G* and *g* is a *G*-invariant Riemannian metric. We will suppose that *G* acts effectively on G/H (otherwise it is possible to factorize by *U*, the maximal normal subgroup of *G* in *H*).

We recall the definition of one important subclass of homogeneous Riemannian spaces.

A Riemannian manifold (M, g) is called *a manifold with homogeneous geodesics* or a geodesic orbit manifold (shortly, *GO-manifold*) if any geodesic γ of M is an orbit of a 1-parameter subgroup of the full isometry group of (M, g). Obviously, any geodesic orbit manifold is homogeneous. A Riemannian homogeneous space (M = G/H, g) is called *a space with homogeneous geodesics or a geodesic orbit space* (shortly, *GO-space*) if any geodesic γ of M is an orbit of a 1-parameter subgroup of the group G. Hence, a Riemannian manifold (M, g) is a geodesic orbit Riemannian manifold, if it is a geodesic orbit space with respect to its full connected isometry group. This terminology was introduced in [17] by O. Kowalski and L. Vanhecke, who initiated a systematic study of such spaces. In the same paper, O. Kowalski and L. Vanhecke classified all GO-spaces of dimension ≤ 6 . A detailed exposition on geodesic orbit spaces and some important subclasses could be found also in [4, 11, 21], see also the references therein. In particular, one can find many interesting results about GO-manifolds and their subclasses in [1–3, 6–8, 10, 12, 13, 18, 23–25, 31, 32].

Recall that all symmetric, weakly symmetric, normal homogeneous, naturally reductive, generalized normal homogeneous, and Clifford–Wolf homogeneous Riemannian spaces are geodesic orbit, see [10]. Besides the above examples, every isotropy irreducible Riemannian space is naturally reductive, and hence geodesic orbit, see e.g. [9].

The following simple result is very useful $(M_x \text{ denotes the tangent space to } M \text{ at the point } x \in M)$.

Lemma 3 ([19], Lemma 5) Let (M, g) be a Riemannian manifold and g be its Lie algebra of Killing vector fields. Then (M, g) is a GO-manifold if and only if for any $x \in M$ and any $v \in M_x$ there is $X \in g$ such that X(x) = v and x is a critical point of the function $y \in M \mapsto g_y(X, X)$. If (M, g) is homogeneous, then the latter condition is equivalent to the following one: for any $Y \in g$ the equality $g_x([Y, X], X) = 0$ holds.

Now, we recall the following remarkable result.

Proposition 2 ([19], Theorem 1) Let (M, g) be a GO-manifold, \mathfrak{g} is its Lie algebra of Killing vector fields. Suppose that \mathfrak{a} is an abelian ideal of \mathfrak{g} . Then any $X \in \mathfrak{a}$ has constant length on (M, g).

As is noted in [19], Proposition 2 could be generalized for geodesic orbit spaces. For the reader's convenience, we provide also the proof of the corresponding result.

Theorem 4 (Theorem 4 in [22]) Let (M = G/H, g) be a geodesic orbit Riemannian space. Suppose that \mathfrak{a} is an abelian ideal of $\mathfrak{g} = \text{Lie}(G)$. Then any $X \in \mathfrak{a}$ (as a Killing vector field) has constant length on (M, g). As a corollary, $g(X, Y) \equiv \text{const}$ on M for every $X, Y \in \mathfrak{a}$.

Proof Let x be any point in M. We will prove that x is a critical point of the function $y \in M \mapsto g_y(X, X)$. Since (M = G/H, g) is homogeneous, then (by Lemma 3) it suffices to prove that $g_x([Y, X], X) = 0$ for every $Y \in \mathfrak{g}$.

Consider any $Y \in \mathfrak{a}$, then $Y \cdot g(X, X) = 2g([Y, X], X) = 0$ on M, since \mathfrak{a} is abelian.

Now, consider $Y \in \mathfrak{g}$ such that $g_x(Y, U) = 0$ for every $U \in \mathfrak{a}$. We will prove that $g_x([Y, X], X) = 0$. By Lemma 3, for the vector $X(x) \in M_x$ there is a Killing field

 $Z \in \mathfrak{g}$ such that Z(x) = X(x) and $g_x([V, Z], Z) = 0$ for any $V \in \mathfrak{g}$. In particular, $g_x([Y, Z], Z) = 0$. Now, W = X - Z vanishes at x and we get

$$g_x([Y, X], X) = g_x([Y, Z + W], Z + W) = g_x([Y, Z + W], Z) =$$
$$g_x([Y, Z], Z) + g_x([Y, W], Z) = g_x([Y, W], Z).$$

Note that $g_x([Y, W], Z) = -g_x([W, Y], Z) = g_x(Y, [W, Z]) = 0$ due to W(x) = 0 $(0 = W \cdot g(Y, Z)|_x = g_x([W, Y], Z) + g_x(Y, [W, Z]))$ and $[W, Z] = [X, Z] \in \mathfrak{a}$. Therefore, $g_x([Y, X], X) = 0$.

Since every $Y \in \mathfrak{g}$ could be represented as $Y = Y_1 + Y_2$, where $Y_1 \in \mathfrak{a}$ and $g_x(Y_2, \mathfrak{a}) = 0$, then *x* is a critical point of the function $y \in M \mapsto g_y(X, X)$. Since every $x \in M$ is a critical point of the function $y \in M \mapsto g_y(X, X)$, then *X* has constant length on (M, g).

The last assertion follows from the equality 2g(X, Y) = g(X + Y, X + Y) - g(X, X) - g(Y, Y).

Corollary 1 Every geodesic orbit Riemannian space (M = G/H, g) with nonsemisimple group G has non-trivial Killing vector fields of constant length.

Proof If the Lie algebra $\mathfrak{g} = \text{Lie}(G)$ is non semisimple, then it has a non-trivial abelian ideal \mathfrak{a} (for instance, this property has the center of the nilradical $\mathfrak{n}(\mathfrak{g})$ of \mathfrak{g}). Now, it suffices to apply Theorem 4.

We recall some other important properties of geodesic orbit spaces. Any semisimple Lie algebra \mathfrak{s} is a direct Lie algebra sum of its compact and noncompact parts ($\mathfrak{s} = \mathfrak{s}_c \oplus \mathfrak{s}_{nc}$). The following proposition is asserted in [12], a detailed proof could be found in [13].

Proposition 3 Let (G/H, g) be a connected geodesic orbit space and let \mathfrak{s} be any Levi factor of G. Then the noncompact part \mathfrak{s}_{nc} of \mathfrak{s} commutes with the radical $\mathfrak{r}(\mathfrak{g})$.

Remark 4 For a geodesic orbit space (G/H, g) we have a direct Lie algebra sum $\mathfrak{g} = (\mathfrak{r}(\mathfrak{g}) \rtimes \mathfrak{s}_c) \oplus \mathfrak{s}_{nc}$ by Proposition 3. Moreover, we can represent \mathfrak{s}_{nc} as a direct sum of simple noncompact ideals. This decomposition is useful for applying of Theorem 2.

Proposition 4 (C. Gordon, [12]) Let $(G/H, \rho)$ be a geodesic orbit space. Then the nilradical $\mathfrak{n}(\mathfrak{g})$ of the Lie algebra $\mathfrak{g} = \text{Lie}(G)$ is commutative or two-step nilpotent.

Theorem 5 (Theorem 5 in [22]) For a geodesic orbit space (G/H, g), we consider any $X \in \mathfrak{n}(\mathfrak{g})$. Then the following conditions are equivalent:

- (1) X is in the center $C(\mathfrak{n}(\mathfrak{g}))$ of $\mathfrak{n}(\mathfrak{g})$;
- (2) X has constant length on (G/H, g).

Proof (1) \Rightarrow (2). Since the center $C(\mathfrak{n}(\mathfrak{g}))$ is an abelian ideal in \mathfrak{g} , then X has constant length due to Theorem 4.

(2) \Rightarrow (1). Since $X \in \mathfrak{n}(\mathfrak{g})$ and $\mathfrak{n}(\mathfrak{g})$ is at most two step nilpotent by Proposition 4, then [Z, [Z, X]] = 0 for any $Z \in \mathfrak{n}(\mathfrak{g})$. Now, by Lemma 2, we have

g([Z, X], [Z, X]) = g([Z, [Z, X]], X) + g([Z, X], [Z, X]) = 0,

hence [Z, X] = 0 for any $Z \in \mathfrak{n}(\mathfrak{g})$. Consequently, $X \in C(\mathfrak{n}(\mathfrak{g}))$.

Corollary 2 Under conditions of Theorem 5, any abelian ideal \mathfrak{a} in \mathfrak{g} is in $C(\mathfrak{n}(\mathfrak{g}))$. In particular, $C(\mathfrak{n}(\mathfrak{g}))$ is a maximal abelian ideal in \mathfrak{g} by inclusion.

Proof It is clear that a is a nilpotent ideal in g, hence $a \subset n(g)$. By Proposition 4, a consists of Killing fields of constant length, hence, $a \subset C(n(g))$ by Theorem 5.

Remark 5 It should be recalled that there are many examples of geodesic orbit nilmanifolds [12]. Therefore, Theorems 4 and 5 give non-trivial examples X of KVFCL on (M = G/H, g), where $X \in C(\mathfrak{n}(\mathfrak{g}))$. For any such example, the operator $\operatorname{ad}(X) : \mathfrak{g} \to \mathfrak{g}$ is non semisimple, since it is nilpotent. In this case, $A_1 = \mathfrak{g}$ and $L^2 = (\operatorname{ad}(X))^2 = 0$.

Let us recall Problem 2 in [20]: *Classify geodesic orbit Riemannian spaces with nontrivial Killing vector fields of constant length.* Now, this problem is far from being resolved. We have one modest result in this direction.

Proposition 5 (Proposition 7 in [22]) Let (G/H, g) be a geodesic orbit space and $X \in g = \text{Lie}(G)$. Then the following conditions are equivalent:

(1) X has constant length on (G/H, g) and $A_1 = \text{Ker}(L^2) = \mathfrak{g}$;

(2) X is in the center $C(\mathfrak{n}(\mathfrak{g}))$ of $\mathfrak{n}(\mathfrak{g})$.

Proof (1) \Rightarrow (2). By Proposition 1, we get $X \in \mathfrak{n}(\mathfrak{g})$. Hence, $X \in C(\mathfrak{n}(\mathfrak{g}))$ by Theorem 5.

 $(2) \Rightarrow (1)$. By Theorem 5, X has constant length on (G/H, g). Since $\mathfrak{n}(\mathfrak{g})$ is an ideal in \mathfrak{g} , then $[X, Y] \in \mathfrak{n}(\mathfrak{g})$ and $L^2(Y) = [X, [X, Y]] \in [C(\mathfrak{n}(\mathfrak{g})), \mathfrak{n}(\mathfrak{g})] = 0$ for all $Y \in \mathfrak{g}$.

4 Algebraic Properties of Bounded Killing Vector Fields

In this section, we discuss results obtained recently in [29]. Results from the previous sections lead to the following conjecture.

Conjecture 1 (Conjecture 1 in [22]) If \mathfrak{g} is semisimple, then any Killing field of constant length $X \in \mathfrak{g}$ on (M, g) is a compact vector in \mathfrak{g} , i. e. the Lie algebra $\mathbb{R} \cdot X$ is compactly embedded in \mathfrak{g} .

Initial motivation of the authors of [29] was to prove this conjecture. For this goal, they applied a special new tool based on the study of *bounded Killing vector fields*.

Recall that a Killing vector field on a Riemannian manifold is called bounded if *its length function with respect to the given metric is a bounded function*. This condition is relatively weak. For example, any Killing vector field on a compact Riemannian manifold is bounded. On the other hand, curvature conditions may provide serious restrictions for bounded Killing vector fields. For instance, on a complete negatively curved Riemannian manifold, bounded Killing vector field must be zero [27]. On a complete non-positively curved Riemannian manifold, a bounded Killing vector field must be parallel [5].

The following result proves Conjecture 1 (in particular).

Theorem 6 (Theorem 1.2 in [29]) Let M be a connected Riemannian manifold on which a connected semisimple Lie group G acts effectively and isometrically. Assume $X \in \mathfrak{g}$ defines a bounded Killing vector field. Then X is contained in a compact ideal in \mathfrak{g} .

It is natural to further study this spectral property of bounded Killing vector fields when G is not semisimple. For this purpose, one can consider a Levi decomposition $\mathfrak{g} = \mathfrak{r}(\mathfrak{g}) + \mathfrak{s}$ for $\mathfrak{g} = \text{Lie}(G)$ and the corresponding decomposition $X = X_r + X_s$. The following result gives some details on algebraic properties of the bounded Killing vector fields. For a semisimple Lie algebra \mathfrak{s} we consider the direct sum $\mathfrak{s} = \mathfrak{s}_c \oplus \mathfrak{s}_{nc}$ of compact and noncompact ideals.

Theorem 7 (Theorem 1.3 in [29]) Let M be a connected Riemannian manifold on which the connected Lie group G acts effectively and isometrically. Assume that $X \in \mathfrak{g}$ defines a bounded Killing vector field, and $X = X_r + X_s$ according to the Levi decomposition $\mathfrak{g} = \mathfrak{r}(\mathfrak{g}) + \mathfrak{s}$, where $\mathfrak{s} = \mathfrak{s}_c \oplus \mathfrak{s}_{nc}$. Then we have the following:

- (1) The vector $X_s \in \mathfrak{s}$ is contained in the compact semisimple ideal $\mathfrak{c}_{\mathfrak{s}_c}(\mathfrak{r}(\mathfrak{g}))$ of \mathfrak{g} ;
- (2) The vector $X_r \in \mathfrak{r}$ is contained in the center $\mathfrak{c}(\mathfrak{n})$ of \mathfrak{n} .

Here the centralizer $\mathfrak{c}_{\mathfrak{a}}(\mathfrak{b})$ of the subalgebra $\mathfrak{b} \subset \mathfrak{g}$ in the subalgebra $\mathfrak{a} \subset \mathfrak{g}$ is defined as $\mathfrak{c}_{\mathfrak{a}}(\mathfrak{b}) = \{u \in \mathfrak{a} \mid [u, \mathfrak{b}] = 0\}$. In particular, the center $\mathfrak{c}(\mathfrak{a})$ of $\mathfrak{a} \subset \mathfrak{g}$ coincides with $\mathfrak{c}_{\mathfrak{a}}(\mathfrak{a})$.

Theorem 7 helps us find more algebraic properties for bounded Killing vector fields. In particular, $X = X_r + X_s$ is an abstract Jordan decomposition which is irrelevant to the choice of the Levi subalgebra \mathfrak{s} , and the eigenvalues of $\operatorname{ad}(X)$ coincide with those of $\operatorname{ad}(X_s)$, which are all imaginary.

Theorem 8 (Theorem 4.1 in [29]) Let M be a connected Riemannian manifold on which the connected Lie group G acts effectively and isometrically. Assume that $X \in \mathfrak{g}$ defines a bounded Killing vector field. Let X be decomposed as $X = X_r + X_s$ according to any Levi decomposition $\mathfrak{g} = \mathfrak{r}(\mathfrak{g}) + \mathfrak{s}$, then we have the following:

(1) The decomposition $ad(X) = ad(X_r) + ad(X_s)$ is the unique Jordan–Chevalley decomposition for ad(X) in $\mathfrak{gl}(\mathfrak{g})$;

- (2) The decomposition $X = X_r + X_s$ is the abstract Jordan decomposition which is unique in the sense that X_s is contained in all Levi subalgebras, i.e. this decomposition is irrelevant to the choice of the Levi subalgebra;
- (3) The eigenvalues of ad(X) coincide with those of those of $ad(X_s)$, counting multiples.

As a direct corollary, we obtain the following spectral property (that is an obvious generalization of Theorem 1).

Corollary 3 Let M be a connected Riemannian manifold on which the connected Lie group G acts effectively and isometrically. Assume that $X \in \mathfrak{g}$ defines a bounded Killing vector field. Then all eigenvalues of $ad(X) : \mathfrak{g} \to \mathfrak{g}$ are imaginary.

When M = G/H is a Riemannian homogeneous space on which the connected Lie group G acts effectively, we can apply Theorem 7 to prove Theorem 9, which completely determine all bounded vectors in g for G/H, or equivalently all bounded Killing vector fields induced by vectors in g. Let us recall necessary definition.

For any smooth coset space G/H, where H is a closed subgroup of G, Lie(G) = \mathfrak{g} and Lie(H) = \mathfrak{h} , we denote $\operatorname{pr}_{\mathfrak{g}/\mathfrak{h}}$ the natural linear projection from \mathfrak{g} to $\mathfrak{g}/\mathfrak{h}$. We call any vector $X \in \mathfrak{g}$ a *bounded vector* for G/H, if

$$f(g) = \|\mathrm{pr}_{\mathfrak{q}/\mathfrak{h}}(\mathrm{Ad}(g)X)\|, \quad \forall g \in G,$$
(4)

is a bounded function, where $\|\cdot\|$ is any norm on $\mathfrak{g}/\mathfrak{h}$.

Since the space $\mathfrak{g}/\mathfrak{h}$ has a finite dimension, any two norms $\|\cdot\|_1$ and $\|\cdot\|_2$ on it are equivalent in the sense that

$$c_1 \|u\|_1 \le \|u\|_2 \le c_2 \|u\|_1, \quad \forall u \in \mathfrak{g}/\mathfrak{h},$$

where c_1 and c_2 are some positive constants. So the boundedness of $X \in \mathfrak{g}$ for G/H does not depend on the choice of the norm.

When $\|\cdot\|$ is an Ad(*H*)-invariant quadratic norm, which defines a *G*-invariant Riemannian metric on *G*/*H*, the function $f(\cdot)$ on *G* defined in (4) is right *H*-invariant, so it can be descended to *G*/*H*, and coincides with the length function of the Killing vector field induced by *X*. Hence, we have

Lemma 4 If $X \in \mathfrak{g}$ is a bounded vector for G/H, then it defines a bounded Killing vector field for any G-invariant Riemannian metric on G/H. Conversely, if G/H is endowed with a G-invariant Riemannian metric and $X \in \mathfrak{g}$ induces a bounded Killing vector field, then X is a bounded vector for G/H.

We have the following characterization of bounded vectors.

Theorem 9 (Theorem 1.5 in [29]) Let G/H be a Riemannian homogeneous space on which the connected Lie group G acts effectively. Let $\mathfrak{r}(\mathfrak{g})$, $\mathfrak{n}(\mathfrak{g})$ and $\mathfrak{s} = \mathfrak{s}_c \oplus \mathfrak{s}_{nc}$ be the radical, the nilradical, and the Levi subalgebra respectively. Then the space of all bounded vectors in \mathfrak{g} for G/H is a compact subalgebra. Its semisimple part coincides with the ideal $\mathfrak{c}_{\mathfrak{s}_c}(\mathfrak{r}(\mathfrak{g}))$ of \mathfrak{g} , which is independent of the choice of the Levi subalgebra \mathfrak{s} , and its abelian part \mathfrak{v} is contained in $\mathfrak{c}(\mathfrak{n}(\mathfrak{g}))$, which coincides with the sum of $\mathfrak{c}_{\mathfrak{c}(\mathfrak{r}(\mathfrak{g}))}(\mathfrak{s}_{nc})$ and all two-dimensional irreducible representations of $\mathfrak{ad}(\mathfrak{r}(\mathfrak{g}))$ in $\mathfrak{c}_{\mathfrak{c}(\mathfrak{n}(\mathfrak{g}))}(\mathfrak{s}_{nc})$ corresponding to nonzero imaginary weights, i.e. \mathbb{R} -linear functionals $\lambda : \mathfrak{r} \to \mathfrak{r}/\mathfrak{n} \to \mathbb{R}\sqrt{-1}$.

Note that $c_{\mathfrak{s}_c}(\mathfrak{r}(\mathfrak{g}))$ is a compact semisimple summand in the Lie algebra direct sum decomposition of \mathfrak{g} , which can be easily determined. On the other hand, for the abelian factor \mathfrak{v} , there is a theoretic algorithm which explicitly describes all bounded vectors in $\mathfrak{c}(\mathfrak{n}(\mathfrak{g}))$ (see Section 4 in [29]).

Theorem 9 provides a simple proof of the following theorem.

Theorem 10 (Theorem 1.6 in [29]) The space of bounded vectors in \mathfrak{g} for a Riemannian homogeneous space G/H on which the connected Lie group G acts effectively is irrelevant to the choice of H.

Notice that the arguments in [26] indicate that the subset of all bounded isometries in G is irrelevant to the choice of H. So Theorem 10 can also be proved by J. Tits' Theorem 1 in [26], which implies that all bounded isometries in G are generated by bounded vectors in g.

It should be noted that all lemmas, theorems and corollaries of this section are still valid when *M* is a *Finsler manifold*.

References

- 1. Akhiezer, D.N., Vinberg, È.B.: Weakly symmetric spaces and spherical varieties. Transform. Groups **4**, 3–24 (1999)
- Alekseevsky, D.V., Arvanitoyeorgos, A.: Riemannian flag manifolds with homogeneous geodesics. Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 359, 3769–3789 (2007)
- 3. Alekseevsky, D.V., Nikonorov, Yu.G.: Compact Riemannian manifolds with homogeneous geodesics. Symmetry Integr. Geom. Methods Appl. 5, 093, 16 (2009)
- 4. Arvanitoyeorgos, A.: Homogeneous manifolds whose geodesics are orbits. Recent results and some open problems. Irish Math. Soc. Bull. **79**, 5–29 (2017)
- Berestovskii, V.N., Nikonorov, Yu.G.: Killing vector fields of constant length on Riemannian manifolds. Siber. Math. J. 49(3), 395–407 (2008)
- Berestovskii, V.N., Nikonorov, Yu.G: Clifford–Wolf homogeneous Riemannian manifolds. J. Differ. Geom. 82(3), 467–500 (2009)
- Berestovskii, V.N., Nikonorov, Yu.G.: Generalized normal homogeneous Riemannian metrics on spheres and projective spaces. Ann. Global Anal. Geom. 45(3), 167–196 (2014)
- Berestovskii, V.N., Nikonorov, Yu.G.: On homogeneous geodesics and weakly symmetric spaces. Ann. Global Anal. Geom. 55(3), 575–589 (2019)
- 9. Besse, A.L.: Einstein Manifolds. Springer, Berlin (1987)
- Chen, Z., Nikonorov, Yu.G.: Geodesic orbit Riemannian spaces with two isotropy summands. I. Geom. Dedicata 203(1), 163–178 (2019)
- 11. Dušek, Z.: Homogeneous geodesics and g.o. manifolds. Note Mat. 38(1), 1-15 (2018)
- Gordon, C.: Homogeneous Riemannian manifolds whose geodesics are orbits. In: Progress in Nonlinear Differential Equations, pp. 155–174, Vol. 20. Topics in Geometry: In Memory of Joseph D'Atri. Birkhäuser, Basel (1996)

- 13. Gordon, C., Nikonorov, Yu.G.: Geodesic orbit Riemannian structures on \mathbb{R}^n . J. Geom. Phys. **134**, 235–243 (2018)
- 14. Hilgert, J., Neeb, K.-H.: Structure and geometry of Lie groups. Springer Monographs in Mathematics, X+744 pp. Springer, New York (2012)
- Jacobson, N.: Completely reducible Lie algebras of linear transformations. Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 2, 105–113 (1951)
- Kostrikin, A.I.: Simple Lie p-algebras. Trudy Math. Inst. Steklov 64, 78–89 (1961) (Russian); English translation: Amer. Math. Soc. Transl. Ser. 2(55), 794–797 (1966)
- Kowalski, O., Vanhecke, L.: Riemannian manifolds with homogeneous geodesics. Boll. Un. Mat. Ital. B (7) 5(1), 189–246 (1991)
- Nikolayevsky, Y., Nikonorov, Yu.G.: On invariant Riemannian metrics on Ledger–Obata spaces. Manuscripta Math. 158(3–4), 353–370 (2019)
- Nikonorov, Yu.G.: Geodesic orbit manifolds and Killing fields of constant length. Hiroshima Math. J. 43(1), 129–137 (2013)
- Nikonorov, Yu.G.: Killing vector fields of constant length on compact homogeneous Riemannian manifolds. Ann. Glob. Anal. Geom. 48(4), 305–330 (2015)
- Nikonorov, Yu.G.: On the structure of geodesic orbit Riemannian spaces. Ann. Glob. Anal. Geom. 52(3), 289–311 (2017)
- 22. Nikonorov, Yu.G.: Spectral properties of Killing vector fields of constant length. J. Geom. Phys. **145**, 103485 (2019) 8 pp.
- Storm, R.: A new construction of naturally reductive spaces. Transform. Groups 23(2), 527– 553 (2018)
- Tamaru, H.: Riemannian geodesic orbit space metrics on fiber bundles. Algebras Groups Geom. 15, 55–67 (1998)
- Tamaru, H.: Riemannian g.o. spaces fibered over irreducible symmetric spaces. Osaka J. Math. 36, 835–851 (1999)
- Tits, J.: Automorphismes à déplacement borné des groupes de Lie. Topology 3(Suppl. 1), 97– 107 (1964)
- Wolf, J.A.: Homogeneity and bounded isometries in manifolds of negative curvature. Illinois J. Math. 8, 14–18 (1964)
- Wolf, J.A., Podestà, F., Xu, M.: Toward a classification of Killing vector fields of constant length on pseudo-Riemannian normal homogeneous spaces. J. Differ. Geom. 105(3), 519–532 (2017)
- Xu, M., Nikonorov, Yu.G.: Algebraic properties of bounded Killing vector fields. Asian J. Math. (accepted, 2020), see also arXiv:1904.08710
- Xu, M., Wolf, J.A.: Killing vector fields of constant length on Riemannian normal homogeneous spaces. Transform. Groups 21(3), 871–902 (2016)
- Yakimova, O.S.: Weakly symmetric Riemannian manifolds with a reductive isometry group (Russian). Mat. Sb. **195**(4), 143–160 (2004); English translation in Sb. Math. **195**(3–4), 599– 614 (2004)
- Ziller, W.: Weakly symmetric spaces. In: Progress in Nonlinear Differential Equations, pp. 355–368, vol. 20. Topics in Geometry: In Memory of Joseph D'Atri. Birkhäuser, Basel (1996)

The Radon-Nikodým Theorem for Disjointness Preserving Orthogonally Additive Operators



155

M. Pliev and F. Polat

Abstract In this article we prove the Radon-Nikodým type theorem for positive disjointness preserving orthogonally additive operators defined on a vector lattice E and taking values in a Dedekind complete vector lattice F.

Keywords Orthogonally additive operator \cdot Positive operator \cdot Disjointness preserving operator \cdot Vector lattice

2010 Mathematics Subject Classification Primary 47H30; Secondary 47H9

1 Introduction and Preliminaries

Orthogonally additive operators in vector lattices first were introduced in [10]. Today the theory of these operators is an area of intense research (see for instance [1, 6, 11–15]). The aim of this notes is to continue this line of investigation. We prove a Radon-Nikodým theorem for positive disjointness preserving orthogonally additive operators.

In this section we present some basic facts concerning vector lattices. For the standard information we refer to [3]. All vector lattices below are assumed to be Archimedean.

Let *E* be a vector lattice. A net $(x_{\alpha})_{\alpha \in \Lambda}$ in *E* order converges to an element $x \in E$ (notation $x_{\alpha} \xrightarrow{o} x$) if there exists a net $(e_{\alpha})_{\alpha \in \Lambda}$ in E_+ such that $e_{\alpha} \downarrow 0$ and $|x_{\alpha} - x| \leq e_{\alpha}$ for all $\alpha \in \Lambda$ satisfying $\alpha \geq \alpha_0$ for some $\alpha_0 \in \Lambda$. For an element

M. Pliev (🖂)

Southern Mathematical Institute of the Russian Academy of Sciences, Vladikavkaz, Russia

F. Polat

Cankiri Karatekin University, Faculty of Science, Department of Mathematics, Cankiri, Turkey

[©] The Editor(s) (if applicable) and The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

A. G. Kusraev, Z. D. Totieva (eds.), *Operator Theory and Differential Equations*, Trends in Mathematics, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-49763-7_13

 $x \in E$ the band generated by x is the set

$$B_x = \{ y \in E : |y| \land n|x| \uparrow |y| \}.$$

Two elements x, y of the vector lattice E are said to be *disjoint* (notation $x \perp y$), if $|x| \wedge |y| = 0$. For an element $x \in E$ its disjoint complement is defined by $\{x\}^{\perp} = \{y \in E : |y| \wedge |x| = 0\}$. The band B_x is then $\{x\}^{\perp \perp}$.

The equality $x = \bigsqcup_{i=1}^{n} x_i$ means that $x = \sum_{i=1}^{n} x_i$ and $x_i \perp x_j$ for all $i \neq j$. If n = 2 we use the notation $x = x_1 \sqcup x_2$. An element y of E is called a *fragment* of an element $x \in E$ (or a *component*), if $y \perp (x - y)$. The notation $y \sqsubseteq x$ means that y is a fragment of x. The set of all fragments of the element $x \in E$ is denoted by \mathcal{F}_x .

Definition 1.1 Let *E* be a vector lattice, and let *F* be a real vector space. An operator $T : E \rightarrow F$ is called *orthogonally additive* if T(x + y) = Tx + Ty for every disjoint elements $x, y \in E$.

It is clear that T(0) = 0. The set of all orthogonally additive operators is a real vector space with respect to the natural linear operations.

Definition 1.2 Let *E* and *F* be vector lattices. An orthogonally additive operator $T: E \rightarrow F$ is said to be:

- *positive* if $Tx \ge 0$ holds in *F* for all $x \in E$;
- *disjointness preserving, if* $x \perp y$ *implies* $Tx \perp Ty$;
- order bounded, if it maps order bounded sets in E to order bounded sets in F;
- *laterally-to-order bounded*, if the set $T(\mathcal{F}_x)$ is order bounded in F for every $x \in E$.
- regular, if $T = S_1 S_2$, where S_1 and S_2 are positive orthogonally additive operators from E to F.

The sets of all positive, regular and laterally-to-order bounded orthogonally additive operators from *E* to *F* are denoted by $\mathcal{OA}_+(E, F)$, $\mathcal{OA}_r(E, F)$ and $\mathcal{P}(E, F)$, respectively. The order in $\mathcal{P}(E, F)$ is introduced as follows: $S \leq T$ whenever $(T - S) \geq 0$. Then $\mathcal{P}(E, F)$ becomes an ordered vector space. For a Dedekind complete vector lattice *F* we have the following properties of $\mathcal{OA}_r(E, F)$ and $\mathcal{P}(E, F)$.

Lemma 1.3 ([12, Theorem 3.6]) Let E and F be a vector lattices with F Dedekind complete. Then $\mathcal{P}(E, F) = \mathcal{OA}_r(E, F)$ and $\mathcal{OA}_r(E, F)$ is a Dedekind complete vector lattice. Moreover, for every $S, T \in \mathcal{OA}_r(E, F)$ and every $x \in E$ the following formulas hold

- (1) $(T \vee S)(x) = \sup\{Ty + Sz : x = y \sqcup z\};$
- (2) $(T \land S)(x) = \inf\{Ty + Sz : x = y \sqcup z\};$
- (3) $T^+(x) = \sup\{Ty : y \sqsubseteq x\};$
- (4) $T^{-}(x) = -\inf\{Ty: y \sqsubseteq x\};$
- (5) $|T|(x) = \sup\{Ty Tz : x = y \sqcup z\}$
- (6) $|Tx| \le |T|(x)$.

2 Result

The Radon-Nikodým Theorem is the well-known classical result in the measure theory.

In the theory of integration the calculation of an integral with respect to a measure ν can be reduced to the calculation of the integral with respect to a given measure μ if the former possesses a density with respect to μ (sometimes called *Radon-Nikodým derivative*). The cited Radon-Nikodým Theorem ([9], chapt. XI.2, [2], chapt. 10.6) tells us that this is true for any finite measure ν which is *absolutely continuous* with respect to a σ -finite measure μ , i.e. if $\nu(A) = 0$ whenever $\mu(A) = 0$. We remark that for finite measures ν and μ the first one is absolutely continuous with respect to μ if and only if $\nu \in {\mu}^{\perp \perp}$ (see the detailed explanation in [19], (Chap. 14)).

Some generalizations of the Radon-Nikodým Theorem in the framework of the theory of linear operators on Banach spaces and on vector lattices were obtained in [4, 5, 7, 8, 16–18]. In particular, in [7] a positive operator $S: E \to F$ is defined to be *absolutely continuous* with respect to the operator $T: E \to F$ if $Sx \in \{Tx\}^{\perp\perp}$ for any $x \in E_+$, where the vector lattices E, F are Dedekind complete. The equivalence between absolute of a positive linear operator S with respect to a lattice homomorphism T and the condition $S \in \{T\}^{\perp\perp}$ was proved in [5]. We remark that this connection is considered as the operator version of the Radon-Nikodým Theorem. The aim of this note is to prove the following Radon-Nikodým Theorem for (nonlinear) orthogonally additive operators.

Theorem 2.1 Let E, F be vector lattices with F Dedekind complete, $T \in OA_+(E, F)$ be a disjointness preserving operator and $S \in OA_+(E, F)$. Then the following statements are equivalent:

- (1) $S \in \{T\}^{\perp \perp};$
- (2) $Sx \in \{Tx\}^{\perp \perp}$ for all $x \in E$.

Now, we prove that like in the linear case, the module, the positive part and the negative part of a disjointness preserving orthogonally additive operator can be evaluated pointwise.

Lemma 2.2 Let E and F be vector lattices, with F Dedekind complete and $T: E \rightarrow F$ be a disjointness preserving operator. Then $T \in OA_r(E, F)$ and for every $x \in E$ the following conditions hold:

(1) |T|x = |Tx|;(2) $T^+x = (Tx)^+;$ (3) $T^-x = (Tx)^-;$ (4) $T^+x \wedge T^-x = 0.$

Proof First we prove that $T \in OA_r(E, F)$. By Lemma 1.3 it is enough to show that $T \in \mathcal{P}(E, F)$. Fix $x \in E$. We claim that the set $T(\mathcal{F}_x)$ is order bounded in F. Indeed, for every $y \in \mathcal{F}_x$ we have $(x - y) \perp y \Rightarrow T(x - y) \perp Ty$. Since T

preserves disjointness¹ there is also

$$|Ty| \le |T(x - y)| + |Ty| = |T(x - y) + Ty| = |Tx|.$$

Hence *T* is a laterally-to-order bounded operator and therefore $T \in OA_r(E, F)$. Now we prove the equality |T|x = |Tx| for all $x \in E$. By Lemma 1.3 (5) we have

$$|T|x = \sup\{Ty - Tz : x = y \sqcup z\} \ge Tx \lor (-Tx) = |Tx|.$$

We need to prove the reverse inequality. Take $y, z \in E$ such that $x = y \sqcup z$. Then $Ty \perp Tz$ and we may write

$$Ty - Tz \le |Ty - Tz| = |Ty + Tz| = |T(y + z)| = |Tx|.$$

Passing to the supremum on the left-hand side of the above inequality over all fragments y, z of x such that $x = y \sqcup z$ we deduce that $|T|x \le |Tx|$. Thus |T|x = |Tx| for any $x \in E$. Since

$$T^{+} = \frac{1}{2}(|T| + T)$$
 and $T^{-} = \frac{1}{2}(|T| - T)$

we may write

$$T^{+}x = \frac{1}{2}(|T| + T)x = \frac{1}{2}(|T|x + Tx) = \frac{1}{2}(|Tx| + Tx) = (Tx)^{+};$$

$$T^{-}x = \frac{1}{2}(|T| - T)x = \frac{1}{2}(|T|x - Tx) = \frac{1}{2}(|Tx| - Tx) = (Tx)^{-}.$$

Finally, we get

$$T^+x \wedge T^-x = (Tx)^+ \wedge (Tx)^- = 0.$$

For the proof of the main result we need the following auxiliary propositions.

Proposition 2.3 Let E, F be vector lattices with F Dedekind complete, $S, T \in OA_+(E, F)$ be disjointness preserving operators. Then T + S is a disjointness preserving operator if and only if $Sx \perp Ty$ for every disjoint elements $x, y \in E$.

Proof Fix a pair of disjoint elements $x, y \in E$ and assume that T + S is a disjointness preserving operator. Then due to the positivity of S and T we have

$$0 \le |Sx| \land |Ty| = Sx \land Ty \le (S+T)x \land (S+T)y = 0.$$

¹And by using the relation |a + b| = |a| + |b| for $a \perp b$, $a, b, \in E$.

Hence $Sx \perp Ty$. Now assume that $Sx \perp Ty$ for every disjoint elements $x, y \in E$. Note that the assumptions ensure that

$$Sx \wedge Sy = Tx \wedge Ty = Sx \wedge Ty = Sy \wedge Tx = 0.$$

Thus

$$0 \le (S+T)x \land (S+T)y = (Sx+Tx) \land (Sy+Ty) \le (Sx \land Sy) + (Tx \land Sy) + (Sx \land Ty) + (Tx \land Ty) = 0.$$

Proposition 2.4 Let E, F be vector lattices with F Dedekind complete, $T \in OA_+(E, F)$ be a disjointness preserving operator and $S \in OA_+(E, F)$ satisfies $S \in \{T\}^{\perp \perp}$. Then $Sx \in \{Tx\}^{\perp \perp}$ for all $x \in E$.

Proof Since $0 \le S \in \{T\}^{\perp \perp}$ we have that the sequence $R_n := S \land nT, n \in \mathbb{N}$ increases and order converges to S in the vector lattice $\mathcal{OA}_r(E, F)$. Thus $(S \land nT)x \uparrow Sx$ for every $x \in E$. Then by using the order closedness of bands

$$0 \le (S \land nT)x \le nTx \Rightarrow (S \land nT)x \in \{Tx\}^{\perp\perp}$$

we deduce that $Sx \in \{Tx\}^{\perp \perp}$.

Proposition 2.5 Let E, F be vector lattices with F Dedekind complete, $T \in OA_+(E, F)$ be a disjointness preserving operator and $S \in OA_+(E, F)$ satisfies $Sx \in \{Tx\}^{\perp \perp}$ for all $x \in E$. Then S is a disjointness preserving operator.

Proof If $x, y \in E, x \perp y$ then for any $m, n \in \mathbb{N}$ we have

$$0 \le (Sx \land nTx) \land (Sy \land mTy) \le (n+m)(Tx \land Ty) = 0$$

and hence

$$0 \le (Sx \land nTx) \land (Sy \land mTy) = 0.$$

Since $Sx \in \{Tx\}^{\perp\perp}$ and $Sy \in \{Ty\}^{\perp\perp}$ we have $Sx \wedge nTx \uparrow Sx$ and $Sy \wedge mTy \uparrow Sy$. Therefore $Sx \wedge Sy = 0$.

Remark 2.6 We observe that by Proposition 2.4 for a disjointness preserving operator $T \in \mathcal{OA}_+(E, F)$, the inclusion $0 \leq S \in \{T\}^{\perp \perp}$ implies that S is a disjointness preserving operator too.

Proposition 2.7 Let E, F be vector lattices with F Dedekind complete. Let $T \in OA_+(E, F)$ be a disjointness preserving operator and $0 \le S_1, S_2 \in \{T\}^{\perp \perp}$. Then

$$(S_1 \wedge S_2)x = S_1x \wedge S_2x.$$

Proof Let be $S'_1 = S_1 - S_1 \wedge S_2$, $S'_2 = S_2 - S_1 \wedge S_2$ and $S = S'_1 - S'_2$. Then $S'_1, S'_2, |S| \in \{T\}^{\perp \perp}$ and $S'_1 \wedge S'_2 = 0$. It follows that $S^+ = S'_1$ and $S^- = S'_2$. By the Remark 2.6 the operator |S| is disjointness preserving and so, by Lemma 2.2, we get $S'_1 \times S'_2 \times = 0$ for every $x \in E$. This means

$$\left(S_1x-(S_1\wedge S_2)x\right)\wedge\left(S_2x-(S_1\wedge S_2)x\right)=0,$$

and we deduce that

$$(S_1 \wedge S_2)x = S_1x \wedge S_2x.$$

for all $x \in E$.

Corollary 2.8 Let E, F be vector lattices with F Dedekind complete, $S_1, S_2 \in OA_+(E, F)$ and $S_1 + S_2$ be a disjointness preserving operator. Then

$$S_1 \wedge S_2 = 0 \Leftrightarrow S_1 x \wedge S_2 x = 0$$
 for all $x \in E$.

Proof Due to the positivity of S_1, S_2 we have $S_1, S_2 \leq S_1 + S_2$. Hence applying Proposition 2.7 to $S_1 + S_2$ we finish the proof.

Now we are ready to prove the main result.

Proof of Theorem 2.1 The implication $(1) \Rightarrow (2)$ is proved in Proposition 2.4.

We prove the implication (2) \Rightarrow (1). By Proposition 2.5 the operator *S* is disjointness preserving. We claim that $Sx \perp Ty$ for any disjoint elements $x, y \in E$. Actually $Tx \wedge Ty = 0$, hence $\{Tx\}^{\perp\perp} \cap \{Ty\}^{\perp\perp} = \{0\}$. Since $Ty \in \{Ty\}^{\perp\perp}$ and by assumption $Sx \in \{Tx\}^{\perp\perp}$, according to Proposition 2.3, the operator S + T is disjointness preserving. Taking into account the decomposition

$$\mathcal{OA}_r(E, F) = \{T\}^{\perp \perp} \oplus \{T\}^{\perp}$$

there is a representation $S = S_1 + S_2$, with $0 \le S_1 \in \{T\}^{\perp \perp}$ and $0 \le S_2 \in \{T\}^{\perp}$. Since $0 \le S_2 + T \le S + T$ the operator $S_2 + T$ is also disjointness preserving. By Corollary 2.8 we have that $S_2x \in \{Tx\}^{\perp}$.

On the other hand from $0 \le S_2 x \le Sx$ and $Sx \in \{Tx\}^{\perp\perp}$ for all $x \in E$ we deduce that $S_2 x \in \{Tx\}^{\perp\perp}$, what implies $S_2 x = 0$ for all elements $x \in E$ and therefore $S_2 = 0$. Thus $S = S_1 \in \{T\}^{\perp\perp}$ and the proof is finished.

We remark that the Radon-Nikodým type theorem for order bounded positive disjointness preserving orthogonally additive operators was proved in [1].

Acknowledgement Marat Pliev was supported by the Russian Foundation for Basic Research (the grant number 17-51-12064).

References

- Abasov, N., Pliev, M.: Disjointness preserving orthogonally additive operators in vector lattices. Banach J. Math. Anal. 12(3), 730–750 (2018)
- 2. Aliprantis, C.D., Border, K.C.: Infinite Dimensional Analysis. Springer, Berlin (1994)
- 3. Aliprantis, C.D., Burkinshaw, O.: Positive Operators. Springer, Dordrecht (2006)
- Feldman, W.A.: Operators on Banach lattices and the Radon-Nikodým theorem. Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 100(3), 517–521 (1987)
- 5. Huijsmans, C.B., Luxemburg, W.A.: An alternative proof of a Radon-Nikodým theorem for lattice homomorphism. Acta Appl. Math. 27, 67–71 (1992)
- Kusraeva, Z.A.: Powers of quasi-Banach lattices and orthogonally additive polynomials. J. Math. Anal. Appl. 458(1), 767–780 (2018)
- Luxemburg, W.A.: Some Aspects of the Theory of Riesz Spaces. Lecture Notes in Mathematics, vol. 4. University of Arkansas, Fayetteville (1979)
- Luxemburg, W.A., Schep, A.R.: A Radon-Nikodým type theorem for positive operators and a dual. Indag. Math. 40, 357–375 (1978)
- 9. Makarov, B.M.: Real Analysis: Measures, Integrals and Applications. Universitext, 772 pp. Springer, London (2013)
- Mazón, J.M.: Segura de León, S.: Order bounded orthogonally additive operators. Rev. Roumane Math. Pures Appl. 35(4), 329–353 (1990)
- Orlov, V., Pliev, M., Rode, D.: Domination problem for AM-compact abstract Uryson operators. Arch. Math. 107(5), 543–552 (2016)
- Pliev, M., Ramdane, K.: Order unbounded orthogonally additive operators in vector lattices. Mediterr. J. Math. 15(2) (2018)
- Pliev, M., Weber, M.: Disjointness and order projections in the vector lattices of abstract Uryson operators. Positivity 20(3), 695–707 (2016)
- Pliev, M., Weber, M.: Finite elements in some vector lattices of nonlinear operators. Positivity 22(1), 245–260 (2018)
- 15. Pliev, M., Polat, F., Weber, M.: Narrow and C-compact orthogonally additive operators in lattice-normed spaces. RM 74(4), 19 (2019)
- 16. Reinov, O.I.: Geometric characterization of *RN*-operators. Mat. Zametki **22**(2), 189–202 (1977)
- 17. Reinov, O.I.: On some vector-lattice characterizations of *RN*-operators. Mat. Zametki **27**(4), 607–619 (1978)
- Reinov, O.I.: Operators of type RN in Banach space. Dokl. Akad. Nauk SSSR 220(3), 528–531 (2017)
- 19. Zaanen, A.C.: Introduction to Operator Theory in Riesz Spaces. Springer, Berlin (1991)

On the Continuous Linear Right Inverse for a Convolution Operator



D. A. Polyakova

Abstract We consider a surjective convolution operator in the Beurling space of ultradifferentiable functions of mean type on the real axis. We obtain necessary and sufficient conditions on the symbol of the operator under which it has a continuous linear right inverse.

Keywords Spaces of ultradifferentiable functions \cdot Convolution operator \cdot Continuous linear right inverse

Mathematical Subject Classification (2010) 44A35, 46E10

1 Introduction

The problem of the existence of a continuous linear right inverse operator (briefly, CLRI) for a convolution one was posed by L. Schwartz (see, e.g., [1]) in the particular case of linear partial differential operators on spaces of C^{∞} -functions. Later it was studied intensively for spaces of analytic and real analytic functions by many authors (see [2, 3] and references therein). On the other hand, the case of C^{∞} -functions and especially ultradifferentiable functions which are very important in applications have not been studied much. In this relation, recall that the theory of ultradifferentiable functions (briefly, UDF) and ultradistributions was developed by Roumier [4], Beurling and Björk [5] in early 1960s and later essentially developed by Braun, Meise, and Taylor in [6].

Returning to the problem of the existence of CLRI for convolution operators, note that in [7] Meise and Vogt solved the Schwartz problem for nonquasianalytic Beurling spaces $\mathcal{E}_{(\omega)}(\mathbb{R})$ of UDF having, in a certain sense, a maximal type

Southern Federal University, Rostov-on-Don, Russia

Southern Mathematical Institute of Vladikavkaz Scientific Center of RAS, Vladikavkaz, Russia

163

D. A. Polyakova (🖂)

[©] The Editor(s) (if applicable) and The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

A. G. Kusraev, Z. D. Totieva (eds.), *Operator Theory and Differential Equations*, Trends in Mathematics, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-49763-7_14

with respect to some weight function ω . Later this problem was studied for nonquasianalytic spaces $\mathcal{E}_{(\omega)}(\Omega)$ on an open set $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^N$ [8] and quasianalytic ones $\mathcal{E}_{(\omega)}(\mathbb{R})$ [9] of the same maximal type. Similarly to the growth theory of entire functions, UDF of mean type satisfy sharper estimates than functions of maximal one. This gives us an opportunity to obtain sharper solutions of some problems in spaces of UDF $\mathcal{E}_{(\omega)}^p(\Omega)$ of mean type $p \in (0, \infty)$. For more details see [10] where an analog of Borel's extension theorem for $\mathcal{E}_{(\omega)}^p(\mathbb{R}^N)$ was established, and [11] where the Schwartz problem for the space $\mathcal{E}_{(\omega)}^1(I)$ on a bounded interval $I \subset \mathbb{R}$ was completely solved. It should be noted that in studying spaces of mean type it is enough to consider the case p = 1 (see [10]).

This paper is devoted to the Schwartz problem for the Beurling space $\mathcal{E}^{1}_{(\omega)}(\mathbb{R})$ of UDF of mean type on \mathbb{R} . It should be noted that in our previous papers a systematical study of convolution operators T_{μ} on $\mathcal{E}^{1}_{(\omega)}(\mathbb{R})$ given by their symbols μ that are the multipliers of the Fourier–Laplace representation of the dual space to $\mathcal{E}^{1}_{(\omega)}(\mathbb{R})$ was undertaken. In details, in [12] those symbols μ were completely characterised that generate surjective operators T_{μ} on $\mathcal{E}^{1}_{(\omega)}(\mathbb{R})$ or, in other words, there were established some conditions on μ under which the convolution equation

$$T_{\mu}f = g \tag{1}$$

has a solution for every $g \in \mathcal{E}_{(\omega)}^1(\mathbb{R})$. After that in [13] a particular solution of (1) having an explicit form was constructed. At last, in [14] a form of a general solution of the corresponding homogeneous equation $T_{\mu}f = 0$ has been established. For these reasons, the present paper can be considered as a final point in the study of convolution operators on $\mathcal{E}_{(\omega)}^1(\mathbb{R})$. On the other hand, it is an extension of the paper [7] from the case of the Beurling UDF of maximal type to the ones of mean type. It should be noted that the case $\mathcal{E}_{(\omega)}^1(\mathbb{R})$ has some essential differences from both $\mathcal{E}_{(\omega)}(\mathbb{R})$ and $\mathcal{E}_{(\omega)}^1(I)$. To see this it is enough to observe that an important role in the Schwartz problem for UDF belongs to the structure of the set of entire multipliers of the dual spaces. For $\mathcal{E}_{(\omega)}(\mathbb{R})$ and $\mathcal{E}_{(\omega)}^1(I)$ this set has an inductive and, respectively, a projective structure, while for $\mathcal{E}_{(\omega)}^1(\mathbb{R})$ it has a mixed inductive–projective one. Thus, the case treated here has its own interest and novelty.

Note also (see [14]) that Eq. (1) includes as particular cases differential equations of infinite order with constant coefficients

$$\sum_{k=0}^{\infty} a_k f^{(k)}(x) = 0, \quad a_k \in \mathbb{C};$$

difference-differential ones

$$\sum_{k=0}^{m} \sum_{j=0}^{n} a_{kj} f^{(k)}(x+x_j) = 0, \quad m, n \in \mathbb{N}_0, \quad a_{kj} \in \mathbb{C}, \quad x_j \in \mathbb{R};$$

and integro-differential equations

$$\sum_{k=0}^{m} \sum_{j=0}^{n} a_{kj} \int_{\mathbb{R}} f^{(k)}(x+y)\varphi_j(y) \, d\lambda = 0, \quad m, n \in \mathbb{N}_0, \quad a_{kj} \in \mathbb{C}$$

where φ_j , $0 \le j \le n$, are Lebesgue integrable functions that vanish out of some segment almost everywhere.

The structure of the paper is as follows. Section 2 contains all we need about weight functions, spaces and convolution operators that are considered in the paper. Section 3 contains a functional criterion for a convolution operator on $\mathcal{E}^1_{(\omega)}(\mathbb{R})$ to have a CLRI. In Sects. 4 and 5 necessary and, respectively, sufficient conditions for the existence of a CLRI are formulated in terms of the behaviour of the symbols of convolution operators. The final Sect. 6 contains the main result of the paper and some examples are established.

The author is grateful to the referee for careful reading of the manuscript.

2 Preliminaries

In the approach of Beurling-Bjorck, spaces of UDF are determined by a weight function. An increasing continuous function $\omega : [0, \infty) \rightarrow [0, \infty)$ is called a *weight function* if it satisfies the following conditions:

 $\begin{array}{ll} (\alpha) \ \forall p > 1 \quad \exists C > 0 : \ \omega(x+y) \le p(\omega(x) + \omega(y)) + C, \quad x, y \ge 0; \\ (\alpha') \ \omega(t) = O(t), \quad t \to \infty; \\ (\gamma) \ \ln t = o(\omega(t)), \quad t \to \infty; \\ (\delta) \ \varphi_{\omega}(x) := \omega(e^x) \text{ is convex on } [0, \infty). \end{array}$

If, in addition, the weight ω has the property

$$(\beta) \quad \int_1^\infty \frac{\omega(t)}{t^2} \, dt < \infty,$$

then it is called *nonquasianalytic*; otherwise—*quasianalytic*. The examples of nonquasianalytic weight functions are

$$\omega(t) = \ln^{\beta}(1+t), \quad \beta > 1; \qquad \omega(t) = \frac{t}{\ln^{\beta}(e+t)}, \quad \beta > 1;$$

 $\omega(t) = t^{\rho(t)}$, where $\rho(t) \to \rho \in (0, 1)$ is some proximate order;

and the quasianalytic ones are

$$\omega(t) = \frac{t}{\ln^{\beta}(e+t)}, \quad 0 < \beta \le 1; \qquad \omega(t) = t.$$

We may assume without loss of generality that $\omega(1) = 0$. Put $\omega(z) := \omega(|z|)$, $z \in \mathbb{C}$.

Now let us recall some known properties of weight functions. Obviously,

$$\omega(x+y) \le K(\omega(x) + \omega(y) + 1), \quad x, y \ge 0, \tag{2}$$

for some $K \ge 1$. Next, there is A > 0 such that

$$\omega(t) \le At, \quad t \ge 0. \tag{3}$$

Finally, it is well known that

$$\lim_{r \downarrow 1} \limsup_{t \to \infty} \frac{\omega(rt)}{\omega(t)} = 1.$$
(4)

In addition, list some properties of nonquasianalytic weight functions. (see [14] and references therein). Firstly, each nonquasianalytic weight ω satisfies the condition $\omega(t) = o(t), t \to \infty$. Next, as usual, we denote by P_{ω} the harmonic extension of a nonquasianalytic weight ω to the open upper and lower halfplanes:

$$P_{\omega}(x+iy) := \begin{cases} \frac{|y|}{\pi} \int\limits_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{\omega(t)}{(t-x)^2 + y^2} dt & \text{for } y \neq 0, \\ \omega(x) & \text{for } y = 0. \end{cases}$$

Then the function P_{ω} is continuous and subharmonic in \mathbb{C} . Moreover, $P_{\omega}(z) \ge \omega(z), z \in \mathbb{C}; P_{\omega}(iy) = o(y), y \to \infty$.

The Beurling space of UDF of mean type on the real axis is defined as

$$\mathcal{E}^{1}_{(\omega)}(\mathbb{R}) := \left\{ f \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}) : \forall q \in (0, 1), \quad \forall l \in (0, \infty) \\ |f|_{\omega, q, l} := \sup_{j \in \mathbb{N}_{0}} \sup_{|x| \le l} \frac{|f^{(j)}(x)|}{\exp q \varphi^{*}_{\omega}(j/q)} < \infty \right\}.$$

Here $\varphi_{\omega}^{*}(y) = \sup\{xy - \varphi_{\omega}(x) : x \ge 0\}, y \ge 0$, is the Young conjugate of φ_{ω} . Functions f from $\mathcal{E}^{1}_{(\omega)}(\mathbb{R})$ are supposed complex-valued. The space $\mathcal{E}^{1}_{(\omega)}(\mathbb{R})$ is endowed with the natural topology determined by the family of pre-norms $\{| \cdot |_{\omega,q,l} : q \in (0, 1), l \in (0, \infty)\}$ and it is an (FS)-space (see [15]). Let $(\mathcal{E}^{1}_{(\omega)}(\mathbb{R}))'_{\beta}$ denote the strong dual space of $\mathcal{E}^{1}_{(\omega)}(\mathbb{R})$. Then the Fourier-Laplace transform of functionals $F : \varphi \mapsto \widehat{\varphi}(z) := \varphi_{x}(e^{-ixz}), z \in \mathbb{C}$, is a topological isomorphism from

$$\begin{split} \left(\mathcal{E}^{1}_{(\omega)}(\mathbb{R})\right)_{\beta}^{\prime} \text{ onto } H^{1}_{(\omega)}(\mathbb{C}), \text{ where} \\ \\ H^{1}_{(\omega)}(\mathbb{C}) &:= \Big\{ f \in H(\mathbb{C}) \mid \exists q \in (0, 1), \quad \exists l \in (0, \infty) : \\ \|f\|_{\omega, q, l} := \sup_{z \in \mathbb{C}} \frac{|f(z)|}{\exp\left(q\omega(z) + l |\operatorname{Im} z|\right)} < \infty \Big\}. \end{split}$$

The space $H^1_{(\omega)}(\mathbb{C})$ endowed with natural inductive topology is a (DFS)-space [15].

As usual, we define a convolution operator in $\mathcal{E}^1_{(\omega)}(\mathbb{R})$ as the conjugate one of a multiplication operator in $H^1_{(\omega)}(\mathbb{C})$. Recall that by Theorem 1 in [12], the set of all multipliers of the space $H^1_{(\omega)}(\mathbb{C})$, i.e. of all entire functions μ with $\mu H^1_{(\omega)}(\mathbb{C}) \subset$ $H^1_{(\omega)}(\mathbb{C})$, coincides with

$$M^{1}_{(\omega)}(\mathbb{C}) = \left\{ \mu \in H(\mathbb{C}) | \forall \varepsilon > 0 \ \exists l > 0 : \ \|\mu\|_{\omega,\varepsilon,l} < \infty \right\}.$$

For each $\mu \in M^1_{(\omega)}(\mathbb{C})$, the multiplication operator $\Lambda_{\mu} : f \mapsto \mu f$ is a continuous linear operator from $H^1_{(\omega)}(\mathbb{C})$ to $H^1_{(\omega)}(\mathbb{C})$. Then we find the functional $\psi_{\mu} := F^{-1}(\mu)$ in $(\mathcal{E}^1_{(\omega)}(\mathbb{R}))'$ and introduce the corresponding *convolution operator* by

$$(T_{\mu}f)(x) := \langle \psi_{\mu}, f(x+\cdot) \rangle, \quad x \in \mathbb{R}, \ f \in \mathcal{E}^{1}_{(\omega)}(\mathbb{R}).$$

Clearly, T_{μ} acts linearly and continuously in $\mathcal{E}^{1}_{(\omega)}(\mathbb{R})$. Everywhere below an entire function $\mu \in M^{1}_{(\omega)}(\mathbb{C})$ generating the operators Λ_{μ} and T_{μ} will be called the *symbol* of these operators.

As it was said in the Introduction, some differential operators of infinite order with constant coefficients, difference-differential and integro-differential operators are particular cases of operators T_{μ} .

The problem of the existence of a CLRI is always studied for surjective operator T_{μ} . A complete description of surjective convolution operators in $\mathcal{E}^{1}_{(\omega)}(\mathbb{R})$ was obtained in [12, Theorem 2] (see also [14]). The corresponding result is formulated in terms of the symbol μ . It should be noted that in [12], the case of an arbitrary (quasianalytic or nonquasianalytic) weight function was considered. Also, all multipliers μ from $M^{1}_{(\omega)}(\mathbb{C})$ were studied. In paper [14] devoted to construction of an absolute basis in ker T_{μ} , we only considered multipliers from subclass $\widetilde{M}^{1}_{(\omega)}(\mathbb{C})$ of $M^{1}_{(\omega)}(\mathbb{C})$, where

$$\widetilde{M}^{1}_{(\omega)}(\mathbb{C}) = \big\{ \mu \in H(\mathbb{C}) | \exists l_0 > 0 : \forall \varepsilon > 0 \quad \|\mu\|_{\omega,\varepsilon,l_0} < \infty \big\}.$$

The necessity of that exchange was discussed in [14]. It was also shown that $\widetilde{M}^{1}_{(\omega)}(\mathbb{C}) = M^{1}_{(\omega)}(\mathbb{C})$ for all nonquasianalytic weights as well as weights $\omega(t) = kt$, k > 0. Since the present paper is essentially based on paper [14], we also should

study symbols μ from $\widetilde{M}^1_{(\omega)}(\mathbb{C})$ only. However, this restriction is not so important because the main result of the paper (Theorem 6) is technically obtained for nonquasianalytic weights.

Note also that, if it is suitable, one can replace $\omega(z)$ by $\omega(\text{Re } z)$ in the definition of spaces $H^1_{(\omega)}(\mathbb{C})$, $M^1_{(\omega)}(\mathbb{C})$, and $\widetilde{M}^1_{(\omega)}(\mathbb{C})$ (see [12, Lemma 1]).

Now, let ω be an arbitrary (not necessarily nonquasianalytic) weight function and T_{μ} a surjective convolution operator in $\mathcal{E}^{1}_{(\omega)}(\mathbb{R})$ with a symbol $\mu \in \widetilde{M}^{1}_{(\omega)}(\mathbb{C})$. Obviously, only the case of infinite number of zeros of μ is interesting. Indeed, if μ has a finite number of zeros, the kernel ker T_{μ} of the operator T_{μ} has finite dimension. Thus it is complemented in $\mathcal{E}^{1}_{(\omega)}(\mathbb{R})$, and T_{μ} has a CLRI (see Theorem 1 below). Let now $(\lambda_s)_{s=1}^{\infty}$ be the sequence of all zeros of μ , $|\lambda_s| \uparrow \infty$, and k_s denote the multiplicity of the zero λ_s . In [14], using the surjectivity of an operator T_{μ} , we constructed a special open covering $(U_j)_{j=1}^{\infty}$ of the zero set of μ .

Let us recall the properties of that covering which will be used in the sequel. Fix any sequence $\varepsilon_k \downarrow 0$; $\varepsilon_1 < \frac{1}{A}$, where A is the constant from the condition (3). Put $\delta_k = \frac{\varepsilon_k}{64KHel_0}$. Here K is the constant from (2); l_0 is determined by the multiplier μ from $\widetilde{M}_{(\omega)}^1(\mathbb{C})$; $H := 3 + \ln 48$. Each number $k \in \mathbb{N}$ generates in a certain way a number $j_k \in \mathbb{N}$, $j_k \uparrow \infty$ (see [14]). Given sequences (ε_k) and (δ_k), in [14] we constructed the open covering $(U_j)_{j=1}^{\infty}$ for zeros of μ . In each set U_j it was chosen a certain point z_j by the rule: if U_j ($j_k \leq j < j_{k+1}$) contains a point z_j with $|\operatorname{Im} z_j| \leq \delta_k \omega(\operatorname{Re} z_j)$, then we fix this z_j ; otherwise we fix an arbitrary point z_j from U_j . It was shown that in the first case diam $U_j \leq 12\delta_k\omega(\operatorname{Re} z_j)$; and in the second one diam $U_j \leq 2|\operatorname{Im} z_j|$. Here diam $U_j = \sup \{||z - t|| : z, t \in U_j\}$; $||z|| = \max \{|\operatorname{Re} z|, |\operatorname{Im} z|\}, z \in \mathbb{C}$.

Finally, for $j_k \leq j < j_{k+1}, k \in \mathbb{N}$, put

$$\sigma_j := \min_{z \in \overline{U_j}} \exp\left\{-4\varepsilon_k \omega(\operatorname{Re} z) - 4L_0 |\operatorname{Im} z|\right\}.$$
(5)

In accordance with [14, Lemma 5], for all $z \in (\partial U_j)(\sigma_j) = \{z \in \mathbb{C} : \operatorname{dist}(z, \partial U_j) < \sigma_j\}$, the following estimate holds:

$$\ln |\mu(z)| \ge -3\varepsilon_k \omega(\operatorname{Re} z) - 3L_0 |\operatorname{Im} z|.$$
(6)

Here $L_0 = 112KK_1H(H + 1)(H_1 + 1)el_0$; the constants K, H, and l_0 have been already described above; $H_1 := 3 + \ln \frac{24(1+\beta)}{\beta}$, β is an arbitrary fixed number from $(0, \frac{1}{32}]$ (for example, $\beta = \frac{1}{32}$); the constant $K_1 \ge 1$ is determined by the condition

$$\omega(2s+8e\eta) \le K_1(\omega(s)+\omega(\eta)+1), \ s,\eta \ge 0.$$

Introduce numbers $m_j := \sum_{\lambda_s \in U_j} k_s$. Then m_j is a number of zeros of μ lying in $U_j, j \in \mathbb{N}$ (with multiplicities).

In conclusion, let us prove the following auxiliary lemma which will be used below.

Lemma 1 Let ω be an arbitrary weight function, $\mu \in \widetilde{M}^1_{(\omega)}(\mathbb{C})$ a symbol of the surjective convolution operator T_{μ} in $\mathcal{E}^1_{(\omega)}(\mathbb{R})$, and $(U_j)_{j=1}^{\infty}$ and $(z_j)_{j=1}^{\infty}$ chosen above. If

$$\lim_{j \to \infty} \frac{|\operatorname{Im} z_j|}{\omega(\operatorname{Re} z_j)} = 0, \qquad (7)$$

then for any positive numbers q, l, and ε there is C > 0 such that, for all $j \in \mathbb{N}$ and $z \in U_j$,

$$q\omega(\operatorname{Re} z_{j}) + l|\operatorname{Im} z_{j}| + l|\operatorname{Im} z| \le (q + \varepsilon)\omega(\operatorname{Re} z) + C.$$

Proof Fix any q, l, ε in $(0, \infty)$. By the property (4) of the weight ω , we can find $\delta \in (0, \frac{1}{A})$ and C > 0 so that

$$\left(q + \frac{\varepsilon}{2}\right)\omega\left(\frac{1}{1 - \delta A}t\right) \le (q + \varepsilon)\omega(t) + C, \ t \ge 0.$$
 (8)

Using the above estimates for diam U_j and condition (7), we conclude that, for some $j_0 \in \mathbb{N}$, diam $U_j \leq \delta \omega (\operatorname{Re} z_j)$, $j \geq j_0$. Then, by (3), diam $U_j \leq \delta A |\operatorname{Re} z_j|$, $j \geq j_0$. Thus, $|\operatorname{Re} z| \geq |\operatorname{Re} z_j| - \operatorname{diam} U_j \geq (1 - \delta A) |\operatorname{Re} z_j|$ for all $j \geq j_0$, $z \in U_j$, and, consequently,

$$|\operatorname{Re} z_j| \le \frac{1}{1 - \delta A} |\operatorname{Re} z|, \ j \ge j_0, \ z \in U_j.$$
 (9)

In [14, Lemma 3] the following estimates for $|\operatorname{Im} z|$, $z \in U_j$, $j \in \mathbb{N}$, were obtained. If the set U_j contains the point z_j with $|\operatorname{Im} z_j| \leq \delta_k \omega(\operatorname{Re} z_j)$, then $|\operatorname{Im} z| \leq 13\delta_k \omega(\operatorname{Re} z_j)$; otherwise $|\operatorname{Im} z| \leq 3|\operatorname{Im} z_j|$. So, in any case,

$$l|\operatorname{Im} z_j| + l|\operatorname{Im} z| \le (l+3)|\operatorname{Im} z_j| + 13l\delta_k\omega(\operatorname{Re} z_j), \ z \in U_j.$$

Taking into account once again the condition (7) and increasing the number j_0 , if it is necessary, we have that

$$l|\operatorname{Im} z_j| + l|\operatorname{Im} z| \le \frac{\varepsilon}{2} \,\omega(\operatorname{Re} z_j), \ z \in U_j, \ j \ge j_0.$$
⁽¹⁰⁾

Combining estimates (8)–(10), we finally obtain that, for all $z \in U_j$, $j \ge j_0$,

$$q\omega(\operatorname{Re} z_j) + l|\operatorname{Im} z_j| + l|\operatorname{Im} z| \le \left(q + \frac{\varepsilon}{2}\right)\omega\left(\frac{1}{1 - \delta A}\operatorname{Re} z\right) \le (q + \varepsilon)\omega(\operatorname{Re} z) + C.$$

This completes the proof.

3 Functional Criterion

In this section we state a functional criterion for a surjective convolution operator T_{μ} on $\mathcal{E}^{1}_{(\omega)}(\mathbb{R})$ to have a CLRI. It is based on the duality theory and is similar to the corresponding one established in [11] for the space $\mathcal{E}^{1}_{(\omega)}(I)$ on a bounded interval $I \subset \mathbb{R}$. In this relation, we only introduce some necessary notation without details and omit the proof of the criterion.

Denote by *J* the image Im Λ_{μ} of the multiplication operator $\Lambda_{\mu} : H^{1}_{(\omega)}(\mathbb{C}) \to H^{1}_{(\omega)}(\mathbb{C})$, where $\mu \in H^{1}_{(\omega)}(\mathbb{C})$ is such that the corresponding convolution operator T_{μ} is surjective from $\mathcal{E}^{1}_{(\omega)}(\mathbb{R})$ onto $\mathcal{E}^{1}_{(\omega)}(\mathbb{R})$. Since T_{μ} is supposed surjective, *J* is a closed subspace of the space $H^{1}_{(\omega)}(\mathbb{C})$ (see [12, Theorem 2]). This implies that *J* and the corresponding quotient space $H^{1}_{(\omega)}(\mathbb{C})/J$ are (DFS) ones.

In [14, Lemma 7] the space $H^1_{(\omega)}(\mathbb{C})/J$ was isomorphically described as a sequence space k^{∞} which is defined as follows. At first, for every $j \in \mathbb{N}$, we introduce the space $H^{\infty}(U_j)$ of all bounded holomorphic functions in U_j equipped with the norm $||g||_{\infty,j} = \sup_{z \in U_j} |g(z)|$. Then, its closed subspace

$$J_j = \left\{ g \in H^{\infty}(U_j) : g^{(l)}(\lambda_s) = 0, \quad l = 0, \dots, k_s - 1, \quad \lambda_s \in U_j \right\}$$

is considered and the corresponding quotient space $X_j := H^{\infty}(U_j)/J_j$, $j \in \mathbb{N}$. As it was pointed out above, $|\mu(z)|$ is bounded away from zero in some neighbourhood of the boundary ∂U_j of the set U_j . So, any equivalence class [f] in the space X_j that is generated by some function $f \in H^{\infty}(U_j)$ coincides with the space $\{f + \mu g : g \in H^{\infty}(U_j)\}$. The quotient norm in this space is defined by

$$|||[f]|||_{\infty,j} := \inf_{f \in [f]} ||f||_{\infty,j} = \inf_{g \in H^{\infty}(U_j)} \sup_{z \in U_j} |f(z) + \mu(z)g(z)|.$$

Remark Note that for every $[f] \in X_j$ there exists $f \in [f]$ such that $|||[f]|||_{\infty,j} = ||f||_{\infty,j}$. Indeed, given $f_0 \in [f]$, we can find a sequence $(g_n)_{n=1}^{\infty}$ of functions from J_j so that $||f_0 + g_n||_{\infty,j} \to |||[f]|||_{\infty,j}$ as $n \to \infty$. From this it follows, in particular, that, for some M > 0,

$$||g_n||_{\infty,j} \leq M$$
 for all $n \geq 1$,

that is, the sequence $(g_n)_{n=1}^{\infty}$ is bounded in $H^{\infty}(U_j)$ and, consequently, in $H(U_j)$. Then, by Montel's theorem, there exists a subsequence $(g_{n_k})_{k=1}^{\infty}$ which converges in $H(U_j)$ to some function g_0 . This implies, in particular, that $g_0^{(l)}(\lambda_s) = 0$ $(l = 0, \ldots, k_s - 1; \lambda_s \in U_j)$. In addition, we have that $||g_0||_{\infty,j} \leq M$, that is, $g_0 \in$ $H^{\infty}(U_j)$. Thus, $g_0 \in J_j$. Putting $f = f_0 + g_0 \in [f]$, we have for every $z \in U_j$

$$|f(z)| = \lim_{k \to \infty} |f_0(z) + g_{n_k}(z)| \le \lim_{k \to \infty} ||f_0 + g_{n_k}||_{\infty, j} = |||[f]|||_{\infty, j}.$$

Hence, $||f||_{\infty,j} \le |||[f]|||_{\infty,j}$, which implies that $|||[f]|||_{\infty,j} = ||f||_{\infty,j}$.

Obviously, dim $X_j = \sum_{\lambda_s \in U_j} k_s = m_j, j \in \mathbb{N}$. To this end, put $X := \prod_{j=1}^{\infty} X_j$ and

$$k^{\infty} := \left\{ \varphi = \left([\varphi_j] \right)_{j=1}^{\infty} \in X \mid \exists q \in (0, 1), \quad \exists l \in (0, \infty) : \\ |\widetilde{\varphi}|_{\omega, q, l} = \sup_{j \ge 1} \frac{||| [\varphi_j] |||_{\infty, j}}{\exp\left(q \omega(\operatorname{Re} z_j) + l |\operatorname{Im} z_j| \right)} < \infty \right\}.$$

The space k^{∞} is equipped with its natural inductive topology and, with respect to this topology, it is a (DFS) one.

In [14, Lemma 7] it was proved that the map ρ : $[f] \in H^1_{(\omega)}(\mathbb{C})/J \mapsto ([f|_{U_j}])_{j=1}^{\infty}$ is a topological isomorphism from $H^1_{(\omega)}(\mathbb{C})/J$ onto k^{∞} . Clearly this implies that the map $\tilde{\rho}$: $f \in H^1_{(\omega)}(\mathbb{C}) \mapsto ([f|_{U_j}])_{j=1}^{\infty}$ is a linear continuous surjective operator from $H^1_{(\omega)}(\mathbb{C})$ onto k^{∞} .

Now we are ready to state the functional criterion for T_{μ} to have a CLRI.

Theorem 1 Let ω be an arbitrary weight function and T_{μ} a surjective convolution operator in $\mathcal{E}^{1}_{(\omega)}(\mathbb{R})$ generated by a symbol $\mu \in \widetilde{M}^{1}_{(\omega)}(\mathbb{C})$. The following assertions are equivalent:

- (i) T_{μ} admits a CLRI;
- (*ii*) ker T_{μ} is complemented in $\mathcal{E}^{1}_{(\omega)}(\mathbb{R})$;
- (*iii*) Λ_{μ} has a continuous linear left inverse operator;
- (*iv*) $J = \text{Im } \Lambda_{\mu}$ is complemented in $H^1_{(\omega)}(\mathbb{C})$;
- (v) $\tilde{\rho}$ admits a CLRI.

Note that, further conditions for the existence of a CLRI for operators T_{μ} that will be established in the next sections and lead to our main result are based on the equivalence $(i) \Leftrightarrow (v)$.

4 Necessary Conditions

The first step to our main result is to prove necessary conditions in terms of entire functions.

Theorem 2 Let ω be an arbitrary weight function and T_{μ} a surjective convolution operator in $\mathcal{E}^{1}_{(\omega)}(\mathbb{R})$ with a symbol $\mu \in \widetilde{M}^{1}_{(\omega)}(\mathbb{C})$. If T_{μ} admits a CLRI, then there is a family of functions $(g_{s})_{s=1}^{\infty}$ in $H^{1}_{(\omega)}(\mathbb{C})$ with $g_{s}(\lambda_{s}) = 1$, $s \in \mathbb{N}$, satisfying the condition

(A)
$$\forall q \in (0, 1), \forall l \in (0, \infty) \quad \exists \widetilde{q} \in (0, 1), \exists \widetilde{l} \in (0, \infty), \exists C > 0 :$$

$$\ln |g_s(z)| + q\omega(\operatorname{Re} \lambda_s) + l |\operatorname{Im} \lambda_s| \leq \widetilde{q}\omega(\operatorname{Re} z) + \widetilde{l} |\operatorname{Im} z| + C, \ z \in \mathbb{C}, \ s \in \mathbb{N}.$$
(11)

Proof Since T_{μ} has a CLRI, by Theorem 1, $\tilde{\rho}$ also has a CLRI $L : k^{\infty} \to H^{1}_{(\omega)}(\mathbb{C})$. Let us consider the following elements in the space k^{∞}

$$\varphi^{j} = \left([0], \dots, [0], [1], [0], \dots\right), \ j \in \mathbb{N}$$

Obviously, $||| [1]|||_{\infty,j} = 1$, so that for all $q \in (0, 1)$, $l \in (0, \infty)$, and $j \in \mathbb{N}$,

$$|\varphi^{j}|_{\omega,q,l} = \exp\left(-q\omega(\operatorname{Re} z_{j}) - l|\operatorname{Im} z_{j}|\right).$$

Let $f^j := L(\varphi^j), j \in \mathbb{N}$. Then $f^j \in H^1_{(\omega)}(\mathbb{C}), j \in \mathbb{N}$, and $\widetilde{\rho}(f^l) = ([f^l|_{U_j}])_{j=1}^{\infty} = \varphi^l, l \in \mathbb{N}$. Therefore, $[f^j|_{U_j}] = [1], j \in \mathbb{N}$, so that $f^j(\lambda_s) = 1$, $\lambda_s \in U_j$.

For each $s \in \mathbb{N}$ find $j \in \mathbb{N}$ with $\lambda_s \in U_j$ and put $g_s(z) := f^j(z), z \in \mathbb{C}$. Hence, $g_s(\lambda_s) = 1, s \in \mathbb{N}$, and it remains only to check the condition (A).

Fix any $q \in (0, 1)$ and $l \in (0, \infty)$ and choose an arbitrary $q_1 \in (q, 1)$. By [14, Lemma 3], there are $l_1 \in (l, \infty)$ (l_1 can be written explicitly) and $C_1 > 0$ such that

$$q\omega(\operatorname{Re} z) + l|\operatorname{Im} z| \le q_1\omega(\operatorname{Re} z_i) + l_1|\operatorname{Im} z_i| + C_1$$

for all $z \in U_j$, $j \in \mathbb{N}$. Taking there $z = \lambda_s$, we get

$$q\omega(\operatorname{Re}\lambda_s) + l|\operatorname{Im}\lambda_s| \le q_1\omega(\operatorname{Re}z_j) + l_1|\operatorname{Im}z_j| + C_1.$$
(12)

Next, since k^{∞} and $H^1_{(\omega)}(\mathbb{C})$ are (DFS)-spaces and L acts continuously from k^{∞} into $H^1_{(\omega)}(\mathbb{C})$, it follows that, for q_1 and l_1 , we can find $\tilde{q} \in (0, 1), \tilde{l} \in (0, \infty)$, and $C_2 > 0$ such that

$$\|L\varphi\|_{\omega,\widetilde{q},\widetilde{l}} \leq C_2 \cdot |\widetilde{\varphi}|_{\omega,q_1,l_1}$$

for all $\varphi \in k^{\infty}$ with $|\widetilde{\varphi}|_{\omega,q_1,l_1} < \infty$. In particular, $||L\varphi^j||_{\omega,\widetilde{q},\widetilde{l}} \leq C_2 \cdot |\widetilde{\varphi^j}|_{\omega,q_1,l_1}$, $j \in \mathbb{N}$. Thus,

$$\ln |f^{j}(z)| \leq \widetilde{q}\omega(\operatorname{Re} z) + \widetilde{l}|\operatorname{Im} z| - q_{1}\omega(\operatorname{Re} z_{j}) - l_{1}|\operatorname{Im} z_{j}| + \ln C_{2}, \ z \in \mathbb{C}, \ j \in \mathbb{N}.$$

Taking into account (12), we finally obtain that functions g_s satisfy inequality (11) with $C = C_1 + \ln C_2$.

The next result contains necessary conditions for the existence of a CLRI in the desired form.

Theorem 3 Let ω be a nonquasianalytic weight and $(\lambda_s)_{s=1}^{\infty}$, $|\lambda_s| \uparrow \infty$, the sequence of zeros of a function $\mu \in M^1_{(\omega)}(\mathbb{C})$. If μ generates the surjective

convolution operator T_{μ} admitting a CLRI, then

$$\lim_{s \to \infty} \frac{|\operatorname{Im} \lambda_s|}{\omega(\operatorname{Re} \lambda_s)} = 0.$$
(13)

Proof By Theorem 2, there is a family of functions $(g_s)_{s=1}^{\infty}$ in $H^1_{(\omega)}(\mathbb{C})$ with $g_s(\lambda_s) = 1, s \in \mathbb{N}$, satisfying the condition (A).

Given $\varepsilon > 0$, choose $q \in (1 - \varepsilon, 1)$ and $l \in (0, \infty)$. Then we find $q_1 \in (q, 1)$, $l_1 \in (l, \infty)$, and $C_1 > 0$ such that

$$\ln|g_s(z)| + q\omega(\operatorname{Re}\lambda_s) + l|\operatorname{Im}\lambda_s| \le q_1\omega(\operatorname{Re}z) + l_1|\operatorname{Im}z| + C_1$$
(14)

for all $z \in \mathbb{C}$ and $s \in \mathbb{N}$. By the same reason, for q and $l_1 + 2$, there are $q_2 \in (q_1, 1)$, $l_2 \in (l_1 + 2, \infty)$, and $C_2 > 0$ such that

$$\ln|g_s(z)| + q\omega(\operatorname{Re}\lambda_s) + (l_1+2)|\operatorname{Im}\lambda_s| \le q_2\omega(\operatorname{Re}z) + l_2|\operatorname{Im}z| + C_2$$
(15)

for any $z \in \mathbb{C}$, $s \in \mathbb{N}$. Next, from condition (α) on weight ω it follows that for each $q_3 \in (q_2, 1)$ there exists $C_3 > 0$ such that

$$q_2\omega(x+y) \le q_3(\omega(x) + \omega(y)) + C_3, \ x, y \ge 0.$$
(16)

Finally, by the properties of the function P_{ω} (see Sect. 2),

$$P_{\omega}(iy) \le |y| + C_4, \ y \in \mathbb{R},$$
(17)

for appropriate $C_4 > 0$.

Applying the Phragmèn-Lindelöf principle [16, 6.5.4], we have for all $u + iv \in \mathbb{C}$ with $v \neq 0$,

$$\ln|g_s(u+iv)| \le \frac{|v|}{\pi} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{\ln|g_s(t)|}{(u-t)^2 + v^2} dt + |v|d_s, \ s \in \mathbb{N},$$
(18)

where $d_s = \limsup_{r \to \infty} \frac{2}{\pi r} \int_0^{\pi} \ln |g_s(re^{i\theta})| \sin \theta \, d\theta$. Consider d_s . From (14) it follows that

$$\ln|g_s(re^{i\theta})| \le q_1\omega(r\cos\theta) + l_1r|\sin\theta| + C_1, \quad r > 0, \quad \theta \in [0, 2\pi).$$

Consequently,

$$\frac{2}{\pi r} \int_0^\pi \ln|g_s(re^{i\theta})|\sin\theta \,d\theta \leq \frac{4}{\pi r} (q_1\omega(r) + C_1) + l_1, \ r > 0.$$

Since $\frac{\omega(r)}{r} \to 0, r \to \infty$, we get that $d_s \le l_1, s \in \mathbb{N}$.

Now estimate the integral term in (18). By (15), we have

$$\ln|g_s(t)| + q\omega(\operatorname{Re}\lambda_s) + (l_1+2)|\operatorname{Im}\lambda_s| \le q_2\omega(t) + C_2, \ t \in \mathbb{R}.$$

Using the last inequality and (16), (17), we finally obtain that

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{|v|}{\pi} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{\ln|g_s(t)|}{(u-t)^2 + v^2} \, dt + q\,\omega(\operatorname{Re}\lambda_s) + (l_1+2)|\operatorname{Im}\lambda_s| \\ &\leq q_2 \cdot \frac{|v|}{\pi} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{\omega(t)}{(u-t)^2 + v^2} \, dt + C_2 = \\ q_2 \cdot \frac{1}{\pi} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{\omega(u+vt)}{t^2 + 1} \, dt + C_2 \leq q_3 \cdot \frac{2}{\pi} \int_0^{\infty} \frac{\omega(u) + \omega(vt)}{t^2 + 1} \, dt + C_2 + C_3 = \\ &= q_3\omega(u) + q_3P_\omega(iv) + C_2 + C_3 \leq q_3\omega(u) + |v| + C_5 \,, \end{aligned}$$

where $C_5 := C_2 + C_3 + C_4$.

Returning to (18), we now get

$$\ln|g_s(u+iv)| \le q_3\omega(u) + (l_1+1)|v| + C_5 - q\omega(\operatorname{Re}\lambda_s) - (l_1+2)|\operatorname{Im}\lambda_s|$$

for each $u + iv \in \mathbb{C}$ with $v \neq 0$ and any $s \in \mathbb{N}$. Since all functions are continuous, this estimate holds in \mathbb{C} . Taking $u + iv = \lambda_s$, by $g_s(\lambda_s) = 1$, $s \in \mathbb{N}$, we conclude that

$$(q_3 - q)\omega(\operatorname{Re}\lambda_s) - |\operatorname{Im}\lambda_s| + C_5 \ge 0, \ s \in \mathbb{N}.$$

Here $q_3 - q < 1 - q < \varepsilon$, so that

$$|\operatorname{Im} \lambda_s| \leq \varepsilon \omega(\operatorname{Re} \lambda_s) + C_5, \ s \in \mathbb{N}.$$

Since $\varepsilon > 0$ is arbitrary and $|\lambda_s| \uparrow \infty$, this completes the proof.

5 Sufficient Conditions

Similarly to the previous Sect. 4, sufficient part consists of sufficient conditions in terms of a special family of subharmonic functions and conditions in terms of the symbol μ .

We start with an auxiliary lemma. Recall that $X_j = H^{\infty}(U_j)/J_j$ is the Banach space of dimension m_j , $j \in \mathbb{N}$. Then, by using the Auerbach lemma [17, 10.5], we can take bases { $[\varphi_{jp}] : p = 1, ..., m_j$ } and { $v_{jp} : p = 1, ..., m_j$ } in the spaces X_j

=

and X'_{i} , respectively, having the following properties:

$$\begin{aligned} ||| [\varphi_{jp}]|||_{\infty,j} &= 1, \ ||| v_{jp} |||'_{\infty,j} = 1, \ p = 1, \dots, m_j \\ &< [\varphi_{jp}], v_{jm} > = \delta_{pm} = \begin{cases} 1, \ p = m, \\ 0, \ p \neq m. \end{cases} \end{aligned}$$

Put

$$E_{jp} = ([0], \dots, [0], [\varphi_{jp}], [0], \dots), \ p = 1, \dots, m_j, \ j \in \mathbb{N}.$$

Evidently, $E_{jp} \in k^{\infty}$ and

$$\widetilde{|E_{jp}|}_{\omega,q,l} = \exp\left\{-q\omega(\operatorname{Re} z_j) - l|\operatorname{Im} z_j|\right\}, \ q \in (0,1), \ l \in (0,\infty).$$
(19)

Lemma 2 System $\{E_{jp} : p = 1, ..., m_j; j \in \mathbb{N}\}$ forms an absolute basis in k^{∞} . For each $x = ([x_j])_{j=1}^{\infty} \in k^{\infty}$, its expansion by this system has the form

$$x = \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \sum_{p=1}^{m_j} < [x_j], v_{jp} > E_{jp}.$$
 (20)

Proof Let $x = ([x_j])_{j=1}^{\infty}$ be an arbitrary element in k^{∞} . Then in X_j

$$[x_j] = \sum_{p=1}^{m_j} < [x_j], v_{jp} > \varphi_{jp}, \ j \in \mathbb{N}.$$

So it remains only to check that the series (20) converges absolutely in k^{∞} . Find $q \in (0, 1)$ and $l \in (0, \infty)$ such that $|\widetilde{x}|_{\omega,q,l} < \infty$. Then

$$|||[x_j]||_{\infty,j} \le |\widetilde{x}|_{\omega,q,l} \cdot \exp\left\{q\omega(\operatorname{Re} z_j) + l|\operatorname{Im} z_j|\right\}$$

and

$$| < [x_j], v_{jp} > | \le |\widetilde{x}|_{\omega,q,l} \cdot \exp\left\{q\omega(\operatorname{Re} z_j) + l|\operatorname{Im} z_j|\right\}.$$
(21)

Fix $\varepsilon > 0$ such that $q + \varepsilon < 1$. Using (19) with $q + \varepsilon$ instead of q and $l + \varepsilon$ instead of l, we get

$$\sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \sum_{p=1}^{m_j} |\langle [x_j], v_{jp} \rangle | \cdot |\widetilde{E_{jp}}|_{\omega,q+\varepsilon,l+\varepsilon} \leq |\widetilde{x}|_{\omega,q,l} \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \frac{m_j}{\exp\left\{\varepsilon\omega(\operatorname{Re} z_j) + \varepsilon|\operatorname{Im} z_j|\right\}}.$$

By [14, Corollary 1 from Lemma 4], the last series converges. This completes the proof. $\hfill \Box$

Theorem 4 Let ω be an arbitrary weight function and T_{μ} a surjective convolution operator in $\mathcal{E}^{1}_{(\omega)}(\mathbb{R})$ with a symbol $\mu \in \widetilde{M}^{1}_{(\omega)}(\mathbb{C})$. Suppose that there is a family $(u_{j})_{j=1}^{\infty}$ of subharmonic functions in \mathbb{C} with $u_{j}|_{U_{j}} \geq 0$, $j \in \mathbb{N}$, satisfying the condition

$$\begin{array}{l} (B) \ \forall q \in (0,1) \,, \ \forall l \in (0,\infty) \quad \exists \widetilde{q} \in (0,1) \,, \ \exists \widetilde{l} \in (0,\infty) \,, \ \exists C > 0 : \\ \\ u_j(z) + q\omega(z_j) + l |\operatorname{Im} z_j| \leq \widetilde{q}\omega(z) + \widetilde{l} |\operatorname{Im} z| + C \,, \ z \in \mathbb{C} \,, \ j \in \mathbb{N} \end{array}$$

Then T_{μ} admits a CLRI.

Proof By Theorem 1, it is sufficient to construct a continuous linear operator L from k^{∞} into $H^1_{(\omega)}(\mathbb{C})$ which is a right inverse for $\tilde{\rho}$. To do this, we first determine (see item (a) below) elements $f_{jp} = LE_{jp}$, where $\{E_{jp} : p = 1, \ldots, m_j; j \in \mathbb{N}\}$ is the absolute basis in k^{∞} from Lemma 2. Then (item (b) in this proof) we continue operator L on the whole space k^{∞} in the natural way. Recall that L acts continuously from k^{∞} into $H^1_{(\omega)}(\mathbb{C})$ if and only if for each $q \in (0, 1)$ and $l \in (0, \infty)$ there are $\tilde{q} \in (0, 1), \tilde{l} \in (0, \infty)$, and C > 0 such that $\|L\varphi\|_{\omega, \tilde{q}, \tilde{l}} \leq C \cdot |\tilde{\varphi}|_{\omega, q, l}$ for all $\varphi \in k^{\infty}$ with $|\tilde{\varphi}|_{\omega, q, l} < \infty$.

(a) Let us now construct functions f_{jp} in $H^1_{(\omega)}(\mathbb{C})$ with $\tilde{\rho}(f_{jp}) = E_{jp}$, $p = 1, \ldots, m_j, j \in \mathbb{N}$, which norms in $H^1_{(\omega)}(\mathbb{C})$ satisfy some estimates we need in what follows.

(1) By the Remark in Sect. 3, in each class $[\varphi_{jp}]$ there exists a function $\varphi_{jp} \in H^{\infty}(U_j)$ with $\|\varphi_{jp}\|_{\infty,j} = |||[\varphi_{jp}]|||_{\infty,j} = 1$. Then

$$|\varphi_{jp}(z)| \le 1, \ z \in U_j.$$

Let $k \in \mathbb{N}$, $j_k \leq j < j_{k+1}$. Put $V_j = \{z \in U_j : \operatorname{dist}(z, \partial U_j) \geq \sigma_j\}$. Recall that σ_j are determined by (5). Thus, for all $z \in U_j \setminus V_j$, $j \in \mathbb{N}$, we have the estimate (6). Take an infinitely differentiable function g in \mathbb{R}^2 (see, e.g., [18, Theorem 1.4.1 and estimate (1.4.2)]) such that

$$g(z) \equiv 1 \text{ on } \bigcup_{j} V_{j}; \quad \operatorname{supp} g \subset \bigcup_{j} U_{j}; \quad 0 \le g(z) \le 1 \text{ in } \mathbb{C};$$
$$\left| \frac{\partial g}{\partial \overline{z}}(z) \right| \le \frac{C_{0}}{\sigma_{j}}, \ z \in U_{j} \setminus V_{j},$$

where C_0 is a constant independent of $z \in U_j \setminus V_j$ and j. Hence,

$$\left|\frac{\partial g}{\partial \overline{z}}(z)\right| \le C_0 \exp\left\{4\varepsilon_k \omega(\operatorname{Re} z) + 4L_0|\operatorname{Im} z|\right\}, \quad z \in U_j \setminus V_j.$$
(23)

On the Continuous Linear Right Inverse for a Convolution Operator

(2) Fix $j \in \mathbb{N}$ and $p : 1 \le p \le m_j$. Put

$$\Phi_{jp}(z) := \begin{cases} \varphi_{jp}(z), \ z \in U_j, \\ 0, \quad z \in \mathbb{C} \setminus U_j; \end{cases} \qquad h_{jp}(z) := -\frac{\Phi_{jp}(z)}{\mu(z)} \cdot \frac{\partial g}{\partial \overline{z}}(z), \quad z \in \mathbb{C}. \end{cases}$$

It is clear that $h_{jp}(z) = 0$ for all $z \notin U_j \setminus V_j$. Since μ has no zeros in $U_j \setminus V_j$, the function h_{jp} is infinitely differentiable in \mathbb{R}^2 . Using (22), (6), and (23), for $z \in U_j \setminus V_j$, we get

$$|h_{jp}(z)| \le C_0 \exp\max_{z\in\overline{U_j}} \left\{ 7\varepsilon_k \omega(\operatorname{Re} z) + 7L_0 |\operatorname{Im} z| \right\} = C_0 \exp\left\{ 7\varepsilon_k \omega(\operatorname{Re} \widetilde{z}_j) + 7L_0 |\operatorname{Im} \widetilde{z}_j| \right\}.$$
(24)

Here \widetilde{z}_j is some point in $\overline{U_j}$.

Now obtain a special integral estimate for the function h_{jp} . Let $q \in (0, 1)$ and $l \in (2A + 21L_0, \infty)$ be arbitrary (A is the constant from condition (3)). Put

$$\psi_i(z) := u_i(z) + q\omega(z_i) + l |\operatorname{Im} z_i|, \ z \in \mathbb{C}, \ j \in \mathbb{N},$$

where $(u_j)_{j=1}^{\infty}$ is a family of subharmonic functions from the assumptions of the Theorem. Then ψ_i are subharmonic in \mathbb{C} and

$$\psi_j(z) \le \widetilde{q}\omega(z) + \widetilde{l}|\operatorname{Im} z| + \ln C_1, \ z \in \mathbb{C}, \ j \in \mathbb{N},$$
(25)

for some $\tilde{q} \in (q, 1), \tilde{l} \in (l, \infty)$, and $C_1 > 1$. Using (24) and $u_j|_{U_j} \ge 0, j \in \mathbb{N}$, we have

$$\int_{\mathbb{C}} |h_{jp}(z)|^2 \exp\left\{-2\psi_j(z) - 2\ln(1+|z|^2)\right\} d\lambda_z \le C_0^2 M^2 D_j^2,$$

where

$$M^2 := \int_{\mathbb{C}} \frac{d\lambda_z}{(1+|z|^2)^2}, \ D_j^2 := \exp\left\{14\varepsilon_k \omega(\operatorname{Re}\widetilde{z}_j) + 14L_0|\operatorname{Im}\widetilde{z}_j| - 2q\omega(z_j) - 2l|\operatorname{Im}z_j|\right\}.$$

Applying [19, Theorem 4.4.2], we solve the $\overline{\partial}$ -problem $\frac{\partial v}{\partial \overline{z}} = h_{jp}$ and find its solution $v_{jp} \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^2)$ such that

$$\int_{\mathbb{C}} |v_{jp}(z)|^2 \exp\left\{-2\psi_j(z) - 4\ln(1+|z|^2)\right\} d\lambda_z \le \frac{C_0^2 M^2 D_j^2}{2}.$$
 (26)

(3) Consider the functions $f_{jp}(z) := v_{jp}(z)\mu(z) + \Phi_{jp}(z)g(z), z \in \mathbb{C}$. From the proof of Lemma 7 in [14] it follows that $f_{jp} \in H^1_{(\omega)}(\mathbb{C})$ and $\tilde{\rho}(f_{jp}) = E_{jp}$, $p = 1, \ldots, m_j, j \in \mathbb{N}$. Now we improve the estimates for norms of f_{jp} in $H^1_{(\omega)}(\mathbb{C})$ obtained in [14].

Obviously,

$$|f_{jp}(z)|^{2} \leq 2(|v_{jp}(z)|^{2}|\mu(z)|^{2} + |\Phi_{jp}(z)|^{2}), \ z \in \mathbb{C}.$$
(27)

Fix any $\varepsilon \in (0, \min\{\frac{1-\widetilde{q}}{2}, q\})$. Since $\mu \in \widetilde{M}^1_{(\omega)}(\mathbb{C})$, there is $C_2 > 0$ such that

$$|\mu(z)| \le C_2 \exp\left\{\varepsilon\omega(z) + l_0 |\operatorname{Im} z|\right\}, \ z \in \mathbb{C}.$$
(28)

Next, put $\tilde{\psi}(z) := (\tilde{q} + \varepsilon)\omega(z) + (\tilde{l} + l_0)|\operatorname{Im} z| + 2\ln(1 + |z|^2), z \in \mathbb{C}$. By (28), (25), and (26), we get

$$\begin{split} &\int_{\mathbb{C}} |v_{jp}(z)|^2 |\mu(z)|^2 \exp\left\{-2\widetilde{\psi}(z)\right\} d\lambda_z \leq \\ &\leq C_2^2 \int_{\mathbb{C}} |v_{jp}(z)|^2 \exp\left\{-2\widetilde{q}\omega(z) - 2\widetilde{l}|\operatorname{Im} z| - 4\ln(1+|z|^2)\right\} d\lambda_z \leq \\ &\leq C_1^2 C_2^2 \int_{\mathbb{C}} |v_{jp}(z)|^2 \exp\left\{-2\psi_j(z) - 4\ln(1+|z|^2\right\} d\lambda_z \leq \frac{C_0^2 C_1^2 C_2^2 M^2}{2} D_j^2 \,. \end{split}$$

Note now that $\Phi_{jp} = 0$ for $z \notin U_j$ and, by (22), $|\Phi_{jp}(z)| \le 1$ for $z \in U_j$, $p = 1, \ldots, m_j, j \in \mathbb{N}$. Applying Lemma 3 in [14], we find $C_3 > 1$ such that

$$(\widetilde{q}+\varepsilon)\omega(z)+(\widetilde{l}+l_0)|\operatorname{Im} z|\geq q\omega(z_j)+l|\operatorname{Im} z_j|-\frac{\ln C_3}{2},\ z\in U_j,\ j\in\mathbb{N}.$$

Then

$$\int_{\mathbb{C}} |\Phi_{jp}(z)|^2 \exp\left\{-2\widetilde{\psi}(z)\right\} d\lambda_z \le C_3^2 M^2 \exp\left\{-2q\omega(z_j) - 2l|\operatorname{Im} z_j|\right\} \le C_3 M^2 D_j^2.$$

Using this and the above integral estimate for $|v_{jp}(z)|^2 |\mu(z)|^2$ in (27), we get

$$\int_{\mathbb{C}} |f_{jp}(z)|^2 \exp\left\{-2\widetilde{\psi}(z)\right\} d\lambda_z \le C_4^2 D_j^2,$$

where $C_4^2 := (C_0^2 C_1^2 C_2^2 + 2C_3^2) M^2$. Since the function $|f_{jp}|^2$ is subharmonic, we finally have

$$\begin{split} |f_{jp}(z)|^2 &\leq \frac{1}{\pi} \int_{|t-z| \leq 1} |f_{jp}(t)|^2 \exp\left\{-2\widetilde{\psi}(t)\right\} d\lambda_t \cdot \exp\sup_{|t-z| \leq 1} 2\widetilde{\psi}(t) \leq \\ &\leq C_4^2 D_j^2 \exp\left\{2(\widetilde{q}+\varepsilon)\omega(|z|+1) + 2(\widetilde{l}+l_0)(|\operatorname{Im} z|+1) + 4\ln\left(1+(|z|+1)^2\right)\right\}. \end{split}$$

By the properties of the weight ω , this implies that

$$|f_{jp}(z)|^2 \le C_5^2 D_j^2 \exp\left\{2(\widetilde{q} + 2\varepsilon)\omega(z) + 2(\widetilde{l} + l_0)|\operatorname{Im} z|\right\}, \ z \in \mathbb{C},$$
(29)

for all $p = 1, ..., m_j, j \in \mathbb{N}$, and some $C_5 \ge C_4$ (C_5 is independent of j, p and z).

Let us now consider D_j . Take $\tilde{k} \in \mathbb{N}$ such that $14\varepsilon_k < \varepsilon$, $k \ge \tilde{k}$. Using again Lemma 3 from [14] with $q = \varepsilon$, $l = 14L_0$, and ε , we have that, for $L_1 = 2A + 21L_0$ and some $C_6 > 1$, the following estimate holds:

$$\varepsilon\omega(\operatorname{Re} z) + 14L_0|\operatorname{Im} z| \le 2\varepsilon\omega(\operatorname{Re} z_i) + 2L_1|\operatorname{Im} z_i| + \ln C_6, \ z \in U_i, \ j \in \mathbb{N}.$$

Consequently,

$$14\varepsilon_k\omega(\operatorname{Re}\widetilde{z}_j) + 14L_0|\operatorname{Im}\widetilde{z}_j| \le 2\varepsilon\omega(\operatorname{Re}z_j) + 2L_1|\operatorname{Im}z_j| + \ln C_6, \quad j \ge j_{\widetilde{k}}.$$

This implies that

$$D_j^2 \le C_6^2 \exp\left\{-2(q-\varepsilon)\omega(\operatorname{Re} z_j) - 2(l-L_1)|\operatorname{Im} z_j|\right\}, \ z \in \mathbb{C}, \ j \ge j_{\widetilde{k}}.$$

Note that $l > 2A + 21L_0 = L_1$, so $l - L_1 > 0$.

From (29) it now follows that, for all $z \in \mathbb{C}$ and $j \ge j_{\tilde{k}}$,

$$\frac{|f_{jp}(z)|}{\exp\left\{(\tilde{q}+2\varepsilon)\omega(z)+(\tilde{l}+l_0)|\operatorname{Im} z|\right\}} \le C_5 C_6 \exp\left\{-(q-\varepsilon)\omega(\operatorname{Re} z_j)-(l-L_1)|\operatorname{Im} z_j|\right\}.$$

Therefore, $||f_{jp}||_{\omega,\tilde{q}+2\varepsilon,\tilde{l}+l_0} \leq C_5 C_6 |\widetilde{E_{jp}}|_{\omega,q-\varepsilon,l-L_1}$, $p = 1, \ldots, m_j, j \geq j_{\tilde{k}}$. Recall that C_5 and C_6 are independent of j and p; l_0 and L_1 are determined by ω and μ ; $\varepsilon > 0$ is arbitrary small.

In fact, we have shown that for each $q \in (0, 1)$ and $l \in (0, \infty)$ there exist $\tilde{q} \in (0, 1), \tilde{l} \in (0, \infty)$, and C > 0 such that

$$\|f_{jp}\|_{\omega,\widetilde{q},\widetilde{l}} \le C|\widetilde{E_{jp}}|_{\omega,q,l}, \ p = 1, \dots, m_j, \ j \ge j_{\widetilde{k}}.$$
(30)

These are the desired estimates for the norms of f_{jp} .

To complete the item (a) of the proof, put $L(E_{jp}) := f_{jp}$.

(b) Continue now operator L onto the whole space k^{∞} . Let $x = ([x_j])_{j=1}^{\infty} \in k^{\infty}$ be an arbitrary element in k^{∞} . Then its expansion by the basis $\{E_{jp} : p = 1, \ldots, m_j, j \in \mathbb{N}\}$ has the form (20). Put

$$Lx := \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \sum_{p=1}^{m_j} < v_j, [x_{jp}] > f_{jp}.$$
(31)
We claim that this operator is continuous from k^{∞} to $H^1_{(\omega)}(\mathbb{C})$. Then it is a CLRI for the operator $\tilde{\rho}$ which completes the proof.

It remains to check our claim. Fix $q \in (0, 1)$ and $l \in (0, \infty)$. If $|\widetilde{x}|_{\omega,q,l} < \infty$, then the coefficients of the series (31) satisfy (21). Take any $\varepsilon \in (0, \frac{1-q}{2})$. By (30), for $q + \varepsilon$ instead of q and $l + \varepsilon$ instead of l, there are $\widetilde{q} \in (0, 1)$, $\widetilde{l} \in (0, \infty)$, and C > 0 such that $||f_{jp}||_{\omega,\widetilde{q},\widetilde{l}} \leq C |\widetilde{E_{jp}}|_{\omega,q+\varepsilon,l+\varepsilon}$. Then

$$\sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \sum_{p=1}^{m_j} \left| < v_j, [x_{jp}] > \left| \cdot \|f_{jp}\|_{\omega,\widetilde{q},\widetilde{l}} \le C |\widetilde{x}|_{\omega,q,l} \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \frac{m_j}{\exp\left\{ \varepsilon \omega(\operatorname{Re} z_j) + \varepsilon |\operatorname{Im} z_j| \right\}} \right|$$

As above, the last series converges. Clearly this implies that $L: k^{\infty} \to H^{1}_{(\omega)}(\mathbb{C})$ is continuous.

Theorem 5 Let ω be a nonquasianalytic weight function and T_{μ} a surjective convolution operator in $\mathcal{E}^{1}_{(\omega)}(\mathbb{R})$ with a symbol $\mu \in M^{1}_{(\omega)}(\mathbb{C})$. If the sequence $(z_{j})_{j=1}^{\infty}$ generated by μ satisfies condition (7), then there is a family $(u_{j})_{j=1}^{\infty}$ of continuous subharmonic functions in \mathbb{C} with $u_{j}|_{U_{j}} \geq 0$ for all $j \in \mathbb{N}$ and the following property

$$\begin{array}{ll} (\widetilde{B}) & \forall q \in (0,1) \,, \, \forall l \in (0,\infty) \,, \, \forall \widetilde{q} \in (q,1) \quad \exists C > 0 : \\ & u_j(z) + q\omega(z_j) + l \, |\operatorname{Im} z_j| \leq \widetilde{q}\omega(z) + |\operatorname{Im} z| + C \,, \, z \in \mathbb{C} \,, \, j \in \mathbb{N} \,. \end{array}$$

Proof Using [11, Lemma 1], take a continuous subharmonic function v such that v(0) = 0 and

$$v(z) \le |\operatorname{Im} z| - q\omega(z) + C, \ z \in \mathbb{C},$$

for each $q \in (0, 1)$ and some C = C(q) > 0. Let $u_j(z) := \sup_{t \in U_j} v(z - t), z \in \mathbb{C}$, $j \in \mathbb{N}$. Then u_j are continuous and subharmonic in \mathbb{C} . Moreover, $u_j(z) \ge v(0) = 0$ for $z \in U_j$.

Let us show that the family $(u_j)_{j=1}^{\infty}$ satisfies the condition (\widetilde{B}) . Fix $q \in (0, 1)$ and $l \in (0, \infty)$ and choose $q_1, q_2: q < q_1 < q_2 < 1$. Given q_2 , find $C_2 > 0$ such that

$$v(z) \le |\operatorname{Im} z| - q_2 \omega(z) + C_2 \le |\operatorname{Im} z| - q_2 \omega(\operatorname{Re} z) + C_2, \ z \in \mathbb{C}$$

Next, by condition (α) on the weight ω ,

$$q_1\omega(x+y) \le q_2(\omega(x)+\omega(y)) + C_1, \ x, y \ge 0,$$

for some $C_1 > 0$. This implies that

$$q_2\omega(x-y) \ge q_1\omega(x) - q_2\omega(y) - C_1, \ x, y \ge 0.$$

Thus, for all $z, t \in \mathbb{C}$,

$$v(z-t) \le |\operatorname{Im} z - \operatorname{Im} t| - q_2 \omega(\operatorname{Re} t - \operatorname{Re} z) + C_2 \le \le |\operatorname{Im} z| + |\operatorname{Im} t| - q_1 \omega(\operatorname{Re} t) + q_2 \omega(\operatorname{Re} z) + C_1 + C_2.$$
(32)

By Lemma 1, there exists $C_3 > 0$ such that

$$q\omega(\operatorname{Re} z_j) + l|\operatorname{Im} z_j| + |\operatorname{Im} t| \le q_1\omega(\operatorname{Re} t) + C_3, \ t \in U_j, \ j \in \mathbb{N}.$$

Hence, the estimate (32) can be continued as follows

$$v(z-t) \le q_2 \omega(\operatorname{Re} z) + |\operatorname{Im} z| - (q \omega(\operatorname{Re} z_i) - l |\operatorname{Im} z_i|) + C,$$

Evidently, this implies that

$$u_j(z) + q\omega(\operatorname{Re} z_j) + l|\operatorname{Im} z_j| \le q_2\omega(\operatorname{Re} z) + |\operatorname{Im} z| + C, \ z \in \mathbb{C}, \ j \in \mathbb{N}.$$

Corollary Under the assumptions of Theorem 5, operator T_{μ} admits a CLRI.

6 The Main Result

In this Section we give a complete description for symbols of convolution operators T_{μ} in $\mathcal{E}^{1}_{(\alpha)}(\mathbb{R})$ admitting a CLRI. To do this, prove the following lemma.

Lemma 3 Let ω be an arbitrary weight function and $\mu \in \widetilde{M}^1_{(\omega)}(\mathbb{C})$ a symbol of a surjective convolution operator in $\mathcal{E}^1_{(\omega)}(\mathbb{R})$. Then conditions (7) and (13) are equivalent.

Proof (1) Let (7) hold. Then we can find $j_0 \in \mathbb{N}$ such that $|\operatorname{Im} z_j| \leq \frac{1}{8A} \omega(\operatorname{Re} z_j)$, $j \geq j_0$. Next, it is clear that $\omega(t) \leq K_0 \omega(\frac{t}{4})$, $t \geq t_0$, for some $K_0 \geq 1$ and some $t_0 > 0$. Choose $\tilde{j} \geq j_0$ such that $|\operatorname{Re} z_j| \geq t_0$ for all $j \geq \tilde{j}$.

Fix $k \in \mathbb{N}$ with $j_k \geq \tilde{j}$. Consider any $j \in \mathbb{N}$: $j_k \leq j < j_{k+1}$. Two situations are possible. If U_j contains a point z_j with $|\operatorname{Im} z_j| \leq \delta_k \omega(\operatorname{Re} z_j)$, then, by [14, Lemma 2],

$$(1 - 12\delta_k A) |\operatorname{Re} z_i| \le |\operatorname{Re} \lambda_s|, |\operatorname{Im} \lambda_s| \le 13\delta_k \omega(\operatorname{Re} z_i).$$

Hence,

$$|\operatorname{Im} \lambda_s| \leq 13\delta_k \omega \Big(\frac{1}{1 - 12\delta_k A} \operatorname{Re} \lambda_s \Big).$$

Obviously, we may assume that $l_0 \ge 1$. Then $\delta_1 < \frac{\varepsilon_1}{64} < \frac{1}{64A}$ and $1 - 12\delta_k A > \frac{1}{2}$. This gives that

$$|\operatorname{Im}\lambda_{s}| \leq 13\delta_{k}\omega(2\operatorname{Re}\lambda_{s}) \leq 26\delta_{k}K_{0}\omega(\operatorname{Re}\lambda_{s}).$$

Let now $|\operatorname{Im} z| > \delta_k \omega(\operatorname{Re} z)$ for all $z \in U_j$. From Lemma 2 in [14], it then follows that

$$|\operatorname{Re}\lambda_{s}| \ge |\operatorname{Re}z_{j}| - 2|\operatorname{Im}\lambda_{s}|, \quad |\operatorname{Im}\lambda_{s}| \le 3|\operatorname{Im}z_{j}|.$$
(33)

By (3), $|\operatorname{Im} z_j| \leq \frac{1}{8A}\omega(\operatorname{Re} z_j) \leq \frac{1}{8} |\operatorname{Re} z_j|$. Using the second inequality from (33), we get that $|\operatorname{Im} \lambda_s| \leq \frac{3}{8} |\operatorname{Re} z_j|$. Consequently, by the first inequality in (33), $|\operatorname{Re} \lambda_s| \geq \frac{1}{4} |\operatorname{Re} z_j|$. Therefore,

$$\frac{|\operatorname{Im} \lambda_s|}{\omega(\operatorname{Re} \lambda_s)} \leq \frac{3|\operatorname{Im} z_j|}{\omega(\frac{1}{4}\operatorname{Re} z_j)} \leq 3K_0 \frac{|\operatorname{Im} z_j|}{\omega(\operatorname{Re} z_j)}.$$

Thus, in both situations we have that

$$\frac{|\operatorname{Im} \lambda_s|}{\omega(\operatorname{Re} \lambda_s)} \le \max\left\{26\delta_k K_0, 3K_0 \frac{|\operatorname{Im} z_j|}{\omega(\operatorname{Re} z_j)}\right\}.$$

Since the right-hand side tends to 0 as $j \to \infty$ (or $k \to \infty$, or $s \to \infty$), it follows that $\frac{|\operatorname{Im} \lambda_s|}{\omega(\operatorname{Re} \lambda_s)} \to 0$, $s \to \infty$.

(2) Let now (13) hold. Obviously, it is sufficient to prove condition (7) in case when $|\operatorname{Im} z| > \delta_k \omega(\operatorname{Re} z)$ for all $z \in U_j$. Applying again Lemma 2 from [14], we get

$$|\operatorname{Re} z_{i}| \geq |\operatorname{Re} \lambda_{s}| - 2|\operatorname{Im} z_{i}|, |\operatorname{Im} z_{i}| \leq 3|\operatorname{Im} \lambda_{s}|,$$

i.e., we swap λ_s and z_j in (33). Arguing further in the same manner as in the previous item (1), we have

$$\frac{|\operatorname{Im} z_j|}{\omega(\operatorname{Re} z_j)} \leq 3K_0 \frac{|\operatorname{Im} \lambda_s|}{\omega(\operatorname{Re} \lambda_s)}, \quad j \geq \widetilde{j}.$$

This completes the proof.

Applying Theorem 3, Corollary from Theorem 5, and Lemma 3, we get the main result of the paper.

Theorem 6 Let ω be a nonquasianalytic weight, $\mu \in M^1_{(\omega)}(\mathbb{C})$ a symbol of the surjective convolution operator T_{μ} in $\mathcal{E}^1_{(\omega)}(\mathbb{R})$ and $(\lambda_s)_{s=1}^{\infty}$, $|\lambda_s| \uparrow \infty$, the sequence of zeros of μ . The following assertions are equivalent:

(i) T_{μ} admits a CLRI; (ii) $\lim \frac{|\operatorname{Im} \lambda_s|}{|\operatorname{Tm} \lambda_s|} = 0$.

$$s \to \infty \omega(\operatorname{Re} \lambda_s)$$

In conclusion let us consider some examples.

Example 1 Let ω be a nonquasianalytic weight function such that $\ln^2 t = o(\omega(t))$, $t \to \infty$, and $(\lambda_n)_{n=1}^{\infty}$ be an increasing lacunary sequence of positive numbers. This means that $\liminf_{n\to\infty} \frac{\lambda_{n+1}}{\lambda_n} > 1$. Put

$$\mu(z) = \prod_{n=1}^{\infty} \left(1 - \frac{z^2}{\lambda_n^2} \right), \quad z \in \mathbb{C}$$

As it follows from [14, Example 1], μ generates in $\mathcal{E}^{1}_{(\omega)}(\mathbb{R})$ a surjective convolution operator T_{μ} which is a differential operator of infinite order with constant coefficients. More exactly, if $\mu(z)$ is represented by the Taylor series $\mu(z) = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} a_k (-i)^k z^k$, then $T_{\mu}f = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} a_k f^{(k)}$, $f \in \mathcal{E}^{1}_{(\omega)}(\mathbb{R})$. Since all zeros of μ are real, T_{μ} has a CLRI. In other words, differential equation $\sum_{k=0}^{\infty} a_k f^{(k)} = g$ has always a solution $f \in \mathcal{E}^{1}_{(\omega)}(\mathbb{R})$ which depends linearly and continuously on the right-hand side $g \in \mathcal{E}^{1}_{(\omega)}(\mathbb{R})$ of the equation.

Example 2 (see [14, Example 2]) Let ω be an arbitrary nonquasianalytic weight and $\mu(z) = \sin z, z \in \mathbb{C}$. Then μ generates in $\mathcal{E}^{1}_{(\omega)}(\mathbb{R})$ a surjective difference operator $(T_{\mu}f)(x) = \frac{1}{2i}(f(x+1) - f(x-1))$. Obviously, condition (13) holds, so T_{μ} has a CLRI. This means that for each $g \in \mathcal{E}^{1}_{(\omega)}(\mathbb{R})$, difference equation f(x+1) - f(x-1) = g(x) has a solution $f \in \mathcal{E}^{1}_{(\omega)}(\mathbb{R})$ depending linearly and continuously on g.

Example 3 Let $\omega(t) = t^{\rho(t)}$, where $\rho(t) \to \rho \in (0, 1)$ is some proximate order. Suppose that $(\lambda_s)_{s=1}^{\infty}, |\lambda_s| \uparrow \infty$, is a sequence of complex numbers satisfying the condition $\lim_{s\to\infty} \frac{s}{|\lambda_s|^{\rho(|\lambda_s|)}} = 0$ and the condition (C') (see [20, Section II, §1, p. 95]), that is, the points λ_s lie inside angles with a common vertex at the origin and no other points in common; moreover, if we arrange the points of (λ_s) inside any of these angles in the order of increasing of their moduli, then for the points that are inside the same angle we have $|\lambda_{k+1}| - |\lambda_k| > d|\lambda_k|^{1-\rho(|\lambda_k|)}$ for some d > 0. In [14, Remark 4] it was shown that the function $\mu(z) = \prod_{s=1}^{\infty} \left(1 - \frac{z}{\lambda_s}\right)$ is a symbol of the surjective convolution operator T_{μ} in $\mathcal{E}^1_{(\omega)}(\mathbb{R})$. Note, that, as in Example 1, T_{μ} is a differential operator of infinite order with constant coefficients. It is clear that T_{μ} has no a CLRI, if there are α , β such that $0 < \alpha < \beta < \pi$ or $\pi < \alpha < \beta < 2\pi$ and such that the angle $\alpha \leq \arg z \leq \beta$ contains the infinite set of zeros λ_s of μ . In particular, T_{μ} has no a CLRI when all points λ_s are imaginary, i.e. $\lambda_s = \pm i |\lambda_s|$.

References

- Meise, R., Taylor, B.A., Vogt, D.: Characterization of the linear partial differential operators with constant coefficients that admit a continuous linear right inverse. Ann. Inst. Fourier Grenoble 40(1), 619–655 (1990)
- Melikhov, S.N., Momm, S.: On the linear inverse from right operator for the convolution operator on the spaces of germs of analytical functions on convex compacts in C. Russian Math. (Iz. VUZ) 41(5), 35–45 (1997)
- Langenbruch, M.: Continuous linear right inverses for convolution operators in spaces of real analytic functions. Studia Math. 110, 65–82 (1994)
- Roumieu, C.: Sur quelques extensions de la notion de distribution. Ann. Sci. Ecole. Norm. Sup. Sér. 3 77(1), 41–121 (1960)
- 5. Björck, G.: Linear partial differential operators and generalized distributions. Ark. Mat. 6, 351–407 (1965)
- Brawn, R.W., Meise, R., Taylor, B.A.: Ultradifferentiable functions and Fourier analysis. RM 17, 206–237 (1990)
- 7. Meise, R., Vogt, D.: Characterization of convolution operators on spaces of C^{∞} -functions admitting a continuous linear right inverse. Math. Ann. **279**, 141–155 (1987)
- 8. Bonet, J., Fernandez, C., Meise, R.: Operators of solution for convolution equations. Note Mat. **17**, 1–12 (1997)
- Bonet, J., Meise, R.: Characterization of the convolution operators on quasianalytic classes of Beurling type that admit a continuous linear right inverse. Studia Math. 184(1), 49–77 (2008)
- Abanina, D.A.: On Borel's theorem for spaces of ultradifferentiable functions of mean type. Result. Math. 44(3–4), 195–213 (2003)
- Polyakova, D.A.: On the continuous linear right inverse for convolution operators in spaces of ultradifferentiable functions. Math. Notes 96(4), 522–537 (2014)
- Abanin, A.V., Abanina, D.A.: Division theorem in some weighted spaces of entire functions. Vladikavkaz Math. J. 12(3), 3–21 (2010) [in Russian]
- Abanina, D.A.: Representation of solutions of convolution equations in nonquasianalytic Beurling classes of ultradifferentiable functions of mean type. Russian Math. (Iz. VUZ). 55(6), 1–8 (2011)
- 14. Polyakova, D.A.: General solution of the homogeneous convolution equation in spaces of ultradifferentiable functions. St. Petersburg Math. J. **31**(1), 85–105 (2020)
- Zharinov, V.V.: Compact families of locally convex topological vector spaces, Frechet-Schwartz and dual Frechet-Schwartz spaces. Russian Math. Surveys 34(4), 105–143 (1979)
- 16. Boas, R.: Entire Functions. Academic Press, Cambridge (1954)
- 17. Meise, R., Vogt, D.: Introduction to Functional Analysis. Oxford University Press, Oxford (1997)
- 18. Hörmander, L.: The Analysis of Linear Partial Differential Operators I. Distribution Theory and Fourier Analysis. Springer, Berlin (1983)
- 19. Hörmander, L.: An Introduction to Complex Analysis of Several Complex Variables. Van Nostrand, Princeton (1966)
- 20. Levin, B.Ya.: Distribution of Zeros of Entire Functions. American Mathematical Society, Providence (1964)

Long Wavelength Asymptotics of Self-Oscillations of Viscous Incompressible Fluid



S. V. Revina

Abstract We obtain the long wavelength asymptotics of a secondary regime formed at stability loss of a stationary spatially periodic shear flow with non-zero average as one of the spatial periods tends to infinity (the wave number vanishes). It is known that if certain non-degeneracy conditions are satisfied, then from the basic solution a self-oscillatory regime branches. Recurrence formulas for *k*th term of the asymptotics of this secondary solution are obtained. To study the bifurcations of basic flow we obtain the scheme of Lyapunov-Schmidt method proposed by V.I. Yudovich. At each step of the Lyapunov-Schmidt method series expansion in the small parameter α is applied.

Keywords Stability of two-dimensional viscous flows · Kolmogorov flow · Long wavelength asymptotics

Mathematical Subject Classification 35Q30, 35P20, 35B35

1 Introduction

Spatial-periodic flows of a viscous fluid are widely used in mathematical modelling of various physical processes. On the one hand, the condition of the periodicity of the flow velocity allows one to obtain explicit analytical representations of space-time structures. On the other hand, such flows can be realized in physical experiments.

In this paper we consider the two-dimensional $(\mathbf{x} = (x_1, x_2) \in \mathbb{R}^2)$ viscous incompressible flow driven by an external forces field $F(\mathbf{x}, t)$ that is periodic in x_1

S. V. Revina (🖂)

Southern Federal University, Rostov-on-Don, Russian Federation

Southern Mathematical Institute of the Vladikavkaz Scientific Centre of the Russian Academy of Sciences, Vladikavkaz, Russian Federation e-mail: svrevina@sfedu.ru

[©] The Editor(s) (if applicable) and The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

A. G. Kusraev, Z. D. Totieva (eds.), *Operator Theory and Differential Equations*, Trends in Mathematics, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-49763-7_15

and x_2 with periods ℓ_1 and ℓ_2 , respectively. The flow is described by the Navier-Stokes equations:

$$\frac{\partial \boldsymbol{v}}{\partial t} + (\boldsymbol{v}, \nabla)\boldsymbol{v} - \boldsymbol{v}\Delta\boldsymbol{v} = -\nabla p + \boldsymbol{F}(\boldsymbol{x}, t), \qquad \text{div}\,\boldsymbol{v} = 0, \tag{1.1}$$

where $\nu = 1/Re$ is the kinematic viscosity and Re is the Reynolds number. The period $\ell_1 = 2\pi$, and the ratio of the periods is characterized by the wave number α : $\ell_2 = 2\pi/\alpha$, $\alpha \to 0$. Let $\langle f \rangle$ denote the average with respect to x_1 , while $\langle \langle f \rangle \rangle$ denote the average over the period rectangle $\Omega = [0, \ell_1] \times [0, \ell_2]$:

$$\langle f \rangle = \frac{1}{\ell_1} \int_0^{\ell_1} f(\mathbf{x}, t) \, dx_1, \quad \langle \langle f \rangle \rangle(t) = \frac{1}{|\Omega|} \int_{\Omega} f(\mathbf{x}, t) \, dx_1 \, dx_2,$$

The spatial average velocity is assumed to be given:

$$\langle\!\langle \boldsymbol{v} \rangle\!\rangle = \boldsymbol{q}. \tag{1.2}$$

Assume that the velocity field v is periodic in x_1 and x_2 with the same periods ℓ_1 and ℓ_2 as the external force field.

If $F = (0, \nu F(x_1))$ and q = (0, q), the unique stationary shear flow $V = (0, V(x_1))$ can be found as the solution of the problem

$$-V'' = F(x_1) - \langle F \rangle, \quad \langle V \rangle = q.$$

The class of such solutions includes the Kolmogorov flow [1]:

$$V = (0, \gamma \sin(x_1)).$$
(1.3)

In [2] the stability of Kolmogorov flow was analyzed using continuous fractions. In [3] it was proved that, for $\alpha \ge 1$, the Kolmogorov flow is a globally stable and unique, while, for any $\alpha < 1$ and sufficiently small ν , new stationary solutions bifurcate from solution (1.3). In [4] the uniqueness and stability results for shortwave perturbations of the Kolmogorov flow were extended to an unbounded periodic channel with rigid walls. It was proved in [5] that, for $\alpha \ge 1$, the Kolmogorov flow in a channel with rigid walls remains stable for all Reynolds numbers.

Many modern studies are devoted to the Kolmogorov flow and its various generalizations. An overview of some of them is given in [6].

In this paper, we are interested in bifurcations of a stationary solution of system (1.1)-(1.2) of a general form

$$V = (0, V(x_1)) \quad \langle V \rangle \neq 0, \tag{1.4}$$

which is called the basic flow.

It is known that for sufficiently large viscosity values (small Reynolds numbers), the stability spectrum lies strictly in the left half-plane of the complex plane and the basic flow is stable. The loss of stability of steady flow (1.4) is characterized by the fact that, as a parameter ν varies, the eigenvalues of linear spectral problem pass from the left to the right half of the complex plane. Critical value is the value of the parameter $\nu = \nu_c$, in which one or more eigenvalues of the linear spectral problem cross the imaginary axis. There are two types of stability loss. In the absence of additional degeneracies at the critical value of the parameter, either a pair of purely imaginary complex conjugate eigenvalues appears, or the eigenvalue passes through zero. In the first case the stability loss is oscillatory. In the second case the stability loss is monotone.

For the first time, a long-wavelength asymptotic expansion for the problem of stability of general flow (1.4) was constructed in [7]. It was shown in [8] that, for $\langle V \rangle \neq 0$, a self-oscillation mode bifurcates from (1.4) and the first terms of asymptotics were found in terms of the stream function. The linear stability of three-dimensional flows was considered in [9]. In the case when the Reynolds number passes the critical value found in [9], the leading terms of the asymptotics in a self-oscillation mode bifurcating from the basic flow were explicitly constructed in [10].

In [11] the leading terms of the asymptotics of secondary modes for basic flow of the form

$$\boldsymbol{V} = (\alpha V_1, V_2)(\boldsymbol{x}) \tag{1.5}$$

were found but general rules in coefficients expressions were not obtained.

In [12] recurrence formulas for finding the *k*th term of the long wavelength asymptotics for the stability of steady shear flows were derived in the case of nonzero average corresponding to oscillatory loss of stability. The coefficients of the expansions are explicitly expressed in terms of some Wronskians, as well as integral operators of Volterra type. It is shown that the eigenvalues of the linear spectral problem are odd functions of the parameter α , and the critical viscosity is an even function. In the particular case, when the deviation of the velocity from its mean value $V(x) - \langle V \rangle$ is an odd function of x, the coefficients of expansion of the eigenvalues in series in powers of α , starting from the third, are zero and the eigenvalues can be found exactly: $\sigma_{1,2} = \pm im \langle V \rangle \alpha$, $m \neq 0$.

Long-wave asymptotics of linear adjoint problem in two-dimensional case is under consideration in [13]. Recurrence formulas for *k*th term of the velocity and pressure asymptotics are obtained. The relations between coefficients of linear adjoint problem and linear spectral problem are obtained.

In [14], recurrence formulas for finding the *k*th term of the long-wave asymptotics for the linear stability problem of two-dimensional basic shear flows of a viscous incompressible fluid with zero average are derived. It was proved that, if $\langle V \rangle = 0$ and the basic velocity profile is odd, as in the case of Kolmogorov flow, then the loss of stability is monotone.

In [15] the results [12] related to shear flows (1.4) are generalized to the case of flows close to shear (1.4) with $\langle V \rangle \neq 0$. In [15] the first terms of the long-wavelength

asymptotics are found. The coefficients of the asymptotic expansions are explicitly expressed in terms of some Wronskians and integral operators of Volterra type, as in the case of shear basic flow. The structure of eigenvalues and eigenfunctions for the first terms of asymptotics is identified, a comparison with the case of shear flow is made.

The aim of this paper is to obtain the recurrence formulas for finding the *k*th term of the self-oscillations bifurcating from the basic flow (1.4). The results obtained can be used to derive the *k*th term of the secondary regime branching from shear flow with zero average, which generalizes Kolmogorov flow, and from almost-periodic shear flow.

Let S_2 be the closure in $L_2(\Omega)$ of the set of smooth solenoidal vector functions periodic in the spatial variables x_1 , x_2 with periods ℓ_1 and ℓ_2 respectively, Π is the orthogonal projector in $L_2(\Omega)$ onto the subspace S_2 (hydrodynamic projector). Linearizing the Navier-Stokes equations on the main flow (1.4), we obtain a linear spectral problem in S_2 :

$$A(\nu_c)\boldsymbol{\varphi} + i\omega_0\boldsymbol{\varphi} = 0, \quad A(\nu)\boldsymbol{\varphi} = -\nu \Pi \Delta \boldsymbol{\varphi} + \Pi \left[\varphi_1 V'(x_1)\boldsymbol{e_2} + V(x_1) \frac{\partial \boldsymbol{\varphi}}{\partial x_2} \right],$$
(1.6)

here e_1 , e_2 are coordinate unit vectors.

To study the bifurcations of the basic flow, we apply the scheme of the Lyapunov-Schmidt method proposed by V. I. Yudovich [16, 17]. First we consider the linear spectral problem (1.6), at the second step we find the eigenvectors of the linear adjoint problem

$$A^{*}(v_{c})\Phi - i\omega_{0}\Phi = 0, \quad A^{*}(v)\Phi = -\Pi \left[v\Delta\Phi - V(x_{1})\sum_{j=1}^{2} \left(\frac{\partial\Phi_{j}}{\partial x_{2}} + \frac{\partial\Phi_{2}}{\partial x_{j}} \right) e_{j} \right].$$
(1.7)

where A^* is the Hilbert conjugate to the operator A in S₂. In this paper, at each step of the Lyapunov-Schmidt method, series expansion in the small parameter α is applied.

Assuming for any solution of the Navier-Stokes equations (1.1)

$$v = u + V$$
,

we arrive at the nonlinear perturbation equation in the space S_2 :

$$\frac{d\boldsymbol{u}}{dt} + A(\boldsymbol{v})\boldsymbol{u} = K(\boldsymbol{u}, \boldsymbol{u}),$$

here $K(\boldsymbol{u}, \boldsymbol{u}) = -\Pi(\boldsymbol{u}, \nabla)\boldsymbol{u}$. We denote supercriticality by $\varepsilon^2 = v_c - v$, in the perturbation equation we replace $\tau = \omega t$, where ω is the unknown cyclic frequency,

velocity and pressure perturbations (u, P) and the frequency ω we will look for in the form of series in powers of the parameter ε :

$$\boldsymbol{u} = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \varepsilon^k \boldsymbol{u}_k, \quad \boldsymbol{P} = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \varepsilon^k \boldsymbol{P}_k, \quad \boldsymbol{\omega} = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \varepsilon^k \boldsymbol{\omega}_k$$
(1.8)

Then the velocity perturbation in the first order in ε has the form

$$\boldsymbol{u}_1 = \eta(\boldsymbol{\varphi}e^{i\tau} + \overline{\boldsymbol{\varphi}}e^{-i\tau}), \tag{1.9}$$

where overline denotes complex conjugate, φ is a solution to the linear spectral problem and is found in [12], the amplitude η is determined from the solvability condition of the perturbation equation at ε^3 . The velocity perturbation at ε^2 has the following structure

$$\boldsymbol{u}_2 = \eta^2 (\boldsymbol{w} + \boldsymbol{v} e^{i2\tau} + \overline{\boldsymbol{v}} e^{-i2\tau}), \qquad (1.10)$$

where \boldsymbol{w} and \boldsymbol{v} are solutions of linear inhomogeneous equations in S_2

$$A\boldsymbol{w} = K(\boldsymbol{\varphi}, \overline{\boldsymbol{\varphi}}) + K(\overline{\boldsymbol{\varphi}}, \boldsymbol{\varphi}), \quad 2i\omega_0 \boldsymbol{v} + A\boldsymbol{v} = K(\boldsymbol{\varphi}, \boldsymbol{\varphi})$$
(1.11)

Let *H* denote the subspace of functions $f \in L_2(0, \ell_1)$ that are orthogonal to unity: $\langle f \rangle = 0$. The operator $I : H \to H$ is the inverse of the differentiation operator and is completely continuous:

$$If = \int_{0}^{x} f(s)ds - \left\langle \int_{0}^{x} f(s)ds \right\rangle$$
(1.12)

Let $W_x(f, g)$ and $W_z(f, g)$ denote the Wronskians of functions f(x, z) and g(x, z) in x and z respectively:

$$W_x(f,g) = f \frac{\partial g}{\partial x} - g \frac{\partial f}{\partial x}, \quad W_z(f,g) = f \frac{\partial g}{\partial z} - g \frac{\partial f}{\partial z},$$

the auxiliary function θ characterizes the deviation of the second component of velocity from its average value:

$$\frac{d^2\theta}{dx^2} = V - \langle V \rangle, \quad \langle \theta \rangle = 0.$$

The deviation of a periodic function from its period-average value is denoted by curly brackets:

$$\{F\} = F(x) - \langle F \rangle.$$

We present some results [12] related to the linear spectral problem (1.6) that will be used in this paper.

The components of solution of (1.6) φ and P(x, z) are sought in the form of asymptotics series in powers of parameter α :

$$\boldsymbol{\varphi} = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \boldsymbol{\varphi}^k \alpha^k, \quad P = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} P^k \alpha^k.$$
(1.13)

The eigenvalues $\sigma = i\omega_0$ and critical viscosity ν_c are also represented in the form of series

$$\sigma(\alpha) = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \sigma_k \alpha^k, \quad \nu_c = \nu_* + \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \nu_k \alpha^k.$$
(1.14)

Then

$$\varphi_1^0 = e^{-imz}, \quad \varphi_2^0 = \frac{1}{\nu_*} \varphi_1^0(z) \frac{d\theta}{dx} = \frac{1}{\nu_*} \varphi_1^0(z) a_0(x), \quad a_0(x) = \frac{d\theta}{dx},$$
 (1.15)

 $\sigma_0 = 0$ and $\sigma_1 = im\langle V \rangle$, where $m \neq 0$ is the wave number.

Substituting expansions (1.13) and (1.14) into (1.6) and equating the coefficients of α^k , $k \ge 1$, yields a system for finding *k*th term of the asymptotics of linear spectral problem:

$$v_* \frac{\partial^2 \varphi_1^k}{\partial x^2} = \frac{\partial P^k}{\partial x} + \sum_{j=1}^k \sigma_j \varphi_1^{k-j} + V \frac{\partial \varphi_1^{k-j}}{\partial z} - \sum_{j=1}^{k-1} v_j \frac{\partial^2 \varphi_1^{k-j}}{\partial x^2} - \sum_{j=0}^{k-2} v_j \frac{\partial^2 \varphi_1^{k-2-j}}{\partial z^2}, \quad (1.16)$$

$$v_* \frac{\partial^2 \varphi_2^k}{\partial x^2} = \frac{\partial P^{k-1}}{\partial z} + \sum_{j=1}^k \sigma_j \varphi_2^{k-j} + V \frac{\partial \varphi_2^{k-1}}{\partial z} - \sum_{j=1}^k v_j \frac{\partial^2 \varphi_2^{k-j}}{\partial x^2} - \frac{\partial^2 \varphi_2^{k-2-j}}{\partial x^2} - \sum_{j=0}^{k-2} v_j \frac{\partial^2 \varphi_2^{k-2-j}}{\partial z^2} + \varphi_1^k \frac{dV}{dx}, \quad (1.17)$$

$$\frac{\partial \varphi_1^k}{\partial x} + \frac{\partial \varphi_2^{k-1}}{\partial z} = 0, \quad \langle \varphi_2^k \rangle = 0, \quad \int_0^{2\pi} \varphi_1^k \, dz = 0. \tag{1.18}$$

Here, the sum is assumed to extend over those values of j for which the upper boundary in the sum is not smaller then the lower one.

As a result, we obtain recurrence formulas [12].

Theorem For shear basic flow with non-zero average (1.4) the critical eigenvalues are odd functions of wave number α , while the critical values of viscosity are even functions and

$$\sigma_{2j+1} = (-1)^j \frac{im^{2j+1}}{\nu_*^{2j+2}} \langle \theta' a_{2j-1} \rangle, \quad \nu_{2j} = (-1)^j \frac{m^{2j}}{\nu_*^{2j+1}} \langle \theta' a_{2j} \rangle,$$

here a_k are the coefficients of expansions of φ^k :

$$\varphi_1^k = -\frac{1}{\nu_*^k} \frac{d^k \varphi_1^0}{dz^k} I(a_{k-1}(\theta)) - \frac{\nu_{k-1}}{\nu_*} \varphi_1^1$$
(1.19)

$$P^{k} = \frac{1}{\nu_{*}^{k-1}} \frac{d^{k} \varphi_{1}^{0}}{dz^{k}} q_{k}(\theta) - \frac{\nu_{k-2}}{\nu_{*}} \{P^{2}\} + \langle P^{k} \rangle$$
(1.20)

$$\varphi_2^k = \frac{1}{\nu_*^{k+1}} \frac{d^k \varphi_1^0}{dz^k} a_k(\theta) - \frac{\nu_k}{\nu_*} \varphi_2^0$$
(1.21)

where a_k , q_k are expressed in terms of a_j and q_j for $j \leq k - 1$. The term with v_{k-2} in the expression for P^k appears for even $k \geq 4$.

The explicit formulas for coefficients a_k and q_k were found in [12].

2 Recurrence Formulas for Asymptotics of w

The first Eq. (1.11) for finding **w** has a form:

$$-\nu \left(\frac{\partial^2 w_1}{\partial x^2} + \alpha^2 \frac{\partial^2 w_1}{\partial z^2}\right) + \alpha V \frac{\partial w_1}{\partial z} = -\frac{\partial Q}{\partial x} + +\alpha \left(W_z(\varphi_1, \overline{\varphi_2}) + \overline{W_z(\varphi_1, \overline{\varphi_2})}\right),$$
(2.1)
$$-\nu \left(\frac{w^2 \varphi_2}{\partial x^2} + \alpha^2 \frac{\partial^2 w_2}{\partial z^2}\right) + \alpha V \frac{\partial w_2}{\partial z} + w_1 \frac{\partial V}{\partial x} = -\alpha \frac{\partial Q}{\partial z} - - \left(W_x(\varphi_1, \overline{\varphi_2}) + \overline{W_x(\varphi_1, \overline{\varphi_2})}\right),$$
(2.2)

$$\frac{\partial w_1}{\partial x} + \alpha \frac{\partial w_2}{\partial z} = 0, \tag{2.3}$$

$$\langle w_2 \rangle = 0, \quad \int_0^{2\pi} w_1 \, dz = 0.$$
 (2.4)

We will seek the unknown components of the velocity and the pressure in the form of series of powers of the parameter α :

$$\boldsymbol{w} = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \boldsymbol{w}^k \alpha^k, \quad \boldsymbol{Q} = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \boldsymbol{Q}^k \alpha^k.$$
(2.5)

First Terms of the Asymptotic Expansion of w 2.1

We substitute (2.5) in (2.1)–(2.4) and equate the coefficients with the same powers of α . Up to α^0 from the continuity equation (2.3) we deduce that w_1^0 is a function of only z: $w_1^0 = w_1^0(z)$. Then from (2.1) $Q^0 = Q^0(z)$. Substituting the explicit expressions for φ_1^0 and φ_2^0 into (2.2), we obtain

$$\nu_* \frac{\partial^2 w_2^0}{\partial x^2} = w_1^0 \frac{\partial V}{\partial x} + \frac{2}{\nu_*} \theta''(x)$$

Using the integral operator I, we find the solution of this equation:

$$w_2^0(x,z) = \frac{1}{\nu_*} w_1^0(z) a_0(x) + \frac{2}{\nu_*^2} A_0(x); \quad A_0(x) = \theta(x).$$
(2.6)

Averaging Eq. (2.1) and equating the coefficients up to α^1 , we obtain the equation:

$$\langle V \rangle \frac{dw_1^0}{dz} = 0. \tag{2.7}$$

From (2.1) and the assumption $\langle V \rangle \neq 0$ we find $w_1^0(z) = const$. Taking into account (2.4) we find

$$w_1^0(z) = 0. (2.8)$$

After substitution (2.8) into (2.6) we conclude that w_2^0 is a function of only x:

$$w_2^0(x) = \frac{2}{\nu_*^2} \theta(x) = \frac{2}{\nu_*^2} A_0(x); \quad A_0(x) = \theta(x).$$
(2.9)

Hence from continuity equation (2.1) we obtain that $w_1^1 = w_1^1(z)$ and its mean value over period is zero.

In the particular case when $\theta(x)$ is an odd function (as for the Kolmogorov flow), $w_2^0(x)$ is also an odd function.

For k = 1 Eq. (2.1) takes a form:

$$\frac{\partial Q^1}{\partial x} = 0,$$

hence $Q^1 = Q^1(z)$.

From (2.2) and (2.4) we obtain the problem for finding w_2^1 :

$$-\nu_* \frac{\partial^2 w_2^1}{\partial x^2} = -w_1^1 \frac{\partial V}{\partial x} - \frac{dQ^0}{\partial z}; \quad \langle w_2^1 \rangle = 0.$$
 (2.10)

From the solvability condition of this equation it follows that $Q^0 = const$, and w_2^1 is found by the formula

$$w_2^1 = \frac{1}{\nu_*} w_1^1(z) \frac{d\theta}{dx}.$$
 (2.11)

2.2 kth Term of w

For α^k and odd k from (2.1)–(2.4) we derive the equations:

$$-\nu_* \frac{\partial^2 w_1^k}{\partial x^2} + V(x) \frac{dw_1^{k-1}}{dz} = -\frac{\partial Q^k}{\partial x} + \sum_{j=0}^{k-1} [W_z(\varphi_1^j, \overline{\varphi_2^{k-1-j}}) + \overline{W_z(\varphi_1^j, \overline{\varphi_2^{k-1-j}})}], \quad (2.12)$$

$$-\nu_* \frac{\partial^2 w_2^k}{\partial x^2} + w_1^k(z) \frac{dV}{dx} = -\frac{\partial \langle Q^{k-1} \rangle}{\partial z} - \sum_{j=0}^k [W(\varphi_1^j, \overline{\varphi_2^{k-j}}) + \overline{W(\varphi_1^j, \overline{\varphi_2^{k-j}})}], \quad (2.13)$$

$$\frac{\partial w_1^k}{\partial x} + \frac{\partial w_2^{k-1}}{\partial z} = 0, \tag{2.14}$$

$$\langle w_2^k \rangle = 0, \quad \int_0^{2\pi} w_1^k \, dz = 0.$$
 (2.15)

Since the Wronskians on the right-hand sides of the Eqs. (2.12)-(2.15) contain an odd number of derivatives with respect to *z*, they are purely imaginary and, therefore, together with their complex conjugates give zero. In the expression Q^{k-1} , only the average depends on *z*. Therefore, Eqs. (2.12)-(2.13) take the form:

$$-\nu_* \frac{\partial^2 w_1^k}{\partial x^2} + V(x) \frac{d w_1^{k-1}}{dz} = -\frac{\partial Q^k}{\partial x},$$
(2.16)

$$-\nu_* \frac{\partial^2 w_2^k}{\partial x^2} + w_1^k(z) \frac{dV}{dx} = -\frac{d\langle Q^{k-1} \rangle}{dz}$$
(2.17)

Averaging the first equation of the system (2.16) over the variable *x*, we arrive at the equality:

$$\langle V \rangle \frac{dw_1^{k-1}}{dz} = 0.$$
 (2.18)

Hence, from $\langle V \rangle \neq 0$, it follows that $w_1^{k-1}(z) = const$. Given the fact that the average of this constant is equal to zero, we arrive at the equality,

$$w_1^{k-1}(z) = 0. (2.19)$$

Substituting (2.19) into (2.14), we obtain that w_2^{k-1} depends only on x:

$$w_{2}^{k-1} = -\sum_{j=2}^{k-1} \frac{\nu_{j}}{\nu_{*}} w_{2}^{k-1-j} + \frac{1}{\nu_{*}} \sum_{j=0}^{k-1} I^{2} \left[\{ W(\varphi_{1}^{j}, \overline{\varphi_{2}^{k-1-j}}) \} + \overline{\{ W(\varphi_{1}^{j}, \overline{\varphi_{2}^{k-1-j}}) \}} \right].$$
(2.20)

Then from the continuity equation (2.14) and Eq. (2.15) it follows that $w_1^k = w_1^k(z)$ and has zero period average. This implies, in particular, that Eq. (2.16) takes the form

$$\frac{\partial Q^k}{\partial x} = 0$$

and $Q^k = Q^k(z)$.

In the particular case of an odd velocity profile ($\theta(x)$ is odd), it follows from the formula (2.20) that w_2^{k-1} is also odd. Indeed, in the previous steps it was shown that the first term is odd. In the second term, both arguments of each Wronskian have the same parity (since k - 1 is even), therefore, all Wronskians are odd in x. Since the integral operator I is applied to Wronskian twice, the result is that the oddness will be preserved.

Equation (2.17) takes the form:

$$\nu_* \frac{\partial^2 w_2^k}{\partial x^2} = w_1^k \frac{dV}{dx} + \frac{d\langle Q^{k-1} \rangle}{dz}, \quad \langle w_2^k \rangle = 0.$$
(2.21)

From the solvability condition of (2.21) it follows that $\langle Q^{k-1} \rangle = 0$. Therefore, for odd *k* the second component of the stationary solution w_2^k has the form:

$$w_2^k = \frac{1}{\nu_*} w_1^k(z) \frac{d\theta}{dx}.$$
 (2.22)

For α^k and even k we derive the equalities:

$$-\nu_{*}\frac{\partial^{2}w_{1}^{k}}{\partial x^{2}} + V(x)\frac{dw_{1}^{k-1}}{dz} = -\frac{\partial Q^{k}}{\partial x} + 2W_{z}(\varphi_{1}^{0},\overline{\varphi_{2}^{k-1}}) + +2W_{z}(\varphi_{1}^{\frac{k}{2}},\overline{\varphi_{2}^{\frac{k}{2}-1}}) + 2\sum_{j=1}^{\frac{k}{2}-1}[W_{z}(\varphi_{1}^{j},\overline{\varphi_{2}^{k-1-j}}) + W_{z}(\varphi_{1}^{k-j},\overline{\varphi_{2}^{j-1}})]$$
(2.23)
$$-\nu_{*}\frac{\partial^{2}w_{2}^{k}}{\partial x^{2}} + V(x)\frac{\partial w_{2}^{k-1}}{\partial z} + w_{1}^{k}(z)\frac{dV}{dx} = -\frac{dQ^{k-1}}{dz} - \sum_{j=2}^{k}\nu_{j}\frac{d^{2}w_{2}^{k-j}}{dx^{2}} - -2W(\varphi_{1}^{0},\overline{\varphi_{2}^{k}}) - 2\sum_{j=1}^{\frac{k}{2}}[W(\varphi_{1}^{j},\overline{\varphi_{2}^{k-j}}) + W(\varphi_{1}^{k-j+1},\overline{\varphi_{2}^{j-1}})].$$
(2.24)

As in the case of odd k, we arrive at the equalities $w_1^{k-1}(z) = 0$, $w_2^{k-1} = 0$. Then it follows from the continuity equation that $w_1^k = w_1^k(z)$. From (2.23)we find Q^k :

$$Q^{k} = 2I\{W_{z}(\varphi_{1}^{0}, \overline{\varphi_{2}^{k-1}})\} + 2I\{W_{z}(\varphi_{1}^{\frac{k}{2}}, \overline{\varphi_{2}^{\frac{k}{2}-1}})\} + 2I\{W_{z}(\varphi_{1}^{\frac{k}{2}}, \overline{\varphi_{2}^{j-1}})\} + 2\sum_{j=1}^{k}I\{W_{z}(\varphi_{1}^{j}, \overline{\varphi_{2}^{k-1-j}}) + W_{z}(\varphi_{1}^{k-j}, \overline{\varphi_{2}^{j-1}})\} + \langle Q^{k} \rangle.$$

$$(2.25)$$

In the particular case of an odd velocity profile ($\theta(x)$ is odd), it follows from the formula (2.25) that Q^k is even. Indeed, since k-1 is odd, and the Wronskians on the right-hand side of the equality (2.25) are taken over the variable z, all Wronskians are odd in x. A single application of the integral operator I changes the parity.

From the second equation of the system we find w_2^k : From here we find w_2^k :

$$w_{2}^{k} = \frac{1}{\nu_{*}} w_{1}^{k}(z) \frac{d\theta}{dx} + \sum_{j=2}^{k} \frac{\nu_{j}}{\nu_{*}} w_{2}^{k-j} + \frac{2}{\nu_{*}} I^{2} \{ W(\varphi_{1}^{0}, \overline{\varphi_{2}^{k}}) \} + \frac{2}{\nu_{*}} \sum_{j=1}^{k} I^{2} \{ W(\varphi_{1}^{j}, \overline{\varphi_{2}^{k-j}}) + W(\varphi_{1}^{k-j+1}, \overline{\varphi_{2}^{j-1}}) \},$$
(2.26)

Thus, the *k*th term of the nonlinear correction of the velocity perturbation is found that satisfies the first Eq. (1.11).

3 Recurrence Formulas for Asymptotics of *v*

The second Eq. (1.11) for finding v has a form:

$$2\sigma v_1 - \nu \left(\frac{\partial^2 v_1}{\partial x^2} + \alpha^2 \frac{\partial^2 v_1}{\partial z^2}\right) + \alpha V \frac{\partial v_1}{\partial z} = -\frac{\partial P}{\partial x} + \alpha W_z(\varphi_1, \varphi_2), \quad (3.1)$$

$$2\sigma v_2 - \nu \left(\frac{\partial^2 v_2}{\partial x^2} + \alpha^2 \frac{\partial^2 v_2}{\partial z^2}\right) + \alpha V \frac{\partial v_2}{\partial z} + v_1 \frac{\partial V}{\partial x} = -\alpha \frac{\partial P}{\partial z} - W_x(\varphi_1, \varphi_2), \quad (3.2)$$

$$\frac{\partial v_1}{\partial x} + \alpha \frac{\partial v_2}{\partial z} = 0, \tag{3.3}$$

$$\langle v_2 \rangle = 0, \quad \int_{0}^{2\pi} v_1 \, dz = 0.$$
 (3.4)

We will seek the unknown components of the velocity and the pressure in the form of a series of powers of the parameter α :

$$\boldsymbol{v} = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \boldsymbol{v}^k \alpha^k, \quad P = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} P^k \alpha^k.$$
(3.5)

3.1 First Terms of the Asymptotic Expansion of v

Up to α^0 from the continuity equation (3.3) we deduce that v_1^0 is a function of only $z: v_1^0 = v_1^0(z)$. Then from (3.1) $P^0 = P^0(z)$.

Substituting the explicit expressions for φ_1^0 and φ_2^0 into (3.2), we obtain

$$v_* \frac{\partial^2 v_2^0}{\partial x^2} = v_1^0 \frac{dV}{dx} + W(\varphi_1^0, \varphi_2^0)$$

Since the average of the right-hand side of this equation is zero, the solvability condition is satisfied. We find a solution

$$v_2^0(x,z) = \frac{1}{\nu_*} v_1^0(z) a_0(x) + \frac{1}{\nu_*^2} (\varphi_1^0(z))^2 A_0(x), \quad A_0(x) = I a_0 = \theta(x).$$
(3.6)

In the particular case when $\theta(x)$ is odd, the first term containing $a_0(x)$ is even in x, and the second term containing $A_0(x)$ is odd in x. Thus, the function $v_2^0(x, z)$ is not even or odd in x, but in z, as will be shown below, both terms behave

identically. The first term is a solution to a homogeneous equation, and the second is a heterogeneous one.

We also note that both terms on the right-hand side of Eq. (3.6) have the same structure as φ_2^0 in solving the linear spectral problem.

The following notation is used below. If a function f is expressed as a linear combination of φ_1^0 and its derivatives with coefficients $a_k(x)$ depending on x, then $f(\langle \varphi_1^k \rangle)$ (or $f(v_1^0(z))$) denotes the expression for f with φ_1^0 replaced by $\langle \varphi_1^k \rangle$ (or $v_1^0(z)$). Similarly, $\tilde{f}(\langle \varphi_1^k \rangle)$ (or $\tilde{f}((\varphi_2^0)^2)$) denotes the expression for f with the same property and, in addition, $a_k(x)$ replaced by $A_k(x)$ and

$$\widetilde{f} = \frac{1}{\nu_*}f.$$

Using this notation, we rewrite Eq. (3.6):

$$v_2^0(x,z) = \varphi_2^0(v_1^0(z)) + \widetilde{\varphi}_2^0((\varphi_1^0(z))^2).$$
(3.7)

We average the first Eq. (3.1):

$$2\sigma \langle v_1 \rangle - \nu \alpha^2 \frac{d^2}{dz^2} \langle v_1 \rangle + \alpha \frac{d}{dz} \langle V(x) v_1 \rangle = \alpha \langle W_z(\varphi_1, \varphi_2) \rangle.$$
(3.8)

From the equality to zero of the Wronskian average the equation for α^1 has the form:

$$2\sigma_1 v_1^0(z) + \frac{d}{dz} \langle V(x) v_1^0(z) \rangle = 0.$$
(3.9)

or

$$\langle V \rangle \left[2imv_1^0(z) + \frac{dv_1^0}{dz} \right] = 0.$$
(3.10)

Hence

$$v_1^0(z) = C_1^0 e^{-2imz} = C_1^0(\varphi_1^0(z))^2.$$
(3.11)

If $\langle \theta' a_1 \rangle \neq 0$, then we find C_1^0 from the solvability condition of the averaged Eq. (3.8) for α^3

$$C_1^0 = -\frac{4\langle \theta' A_1 \rangle}{3\nu_* \langle \theta' a_1 \rangle} \tag{3.12}$$

If $\langle \theta' a_1 \rangle = 0$, then expansion in powers of α is needed, starting from degree -1. This case is not considered in this paper. Similarly, the averaged equation for α^2 has the form:

$$\langle V \rangle \left[2im \langle v_1^1 \rangle + \frac{d \langle v_1^1 \rangle}{dz} \right] = v_* \frac{d^2 v_1^0}{dz^2} - \frac{d^2}{dz^2} \langle \theta' v_2^0 \rangle.$$
(3.13)

Since the right side of this equation is zero, then

$$\langle v_1^1 \rangle = C_1^1 e^{-2imz} = C_1^1 (\varphi_1^0(z))^2.$$
 (3.14)

If $\langle \theta' a_1 \rangle \neq 0$, then we find C_1^1 from the solvability condition of the averaged Eq. (3.8) for α^4 :

$$C_1^1 = \frac{i}{3\langle \theta' a_1 \rangle} \left(\frac{6\langle \theta' a_2 \rangle C_1^0 m}{\nu_*} + \frac{8\langle \theta' A_2 \rangle m}{\nu_*^2} \right)$$
(3.15)

Note, that the constant C_1^0 is real and the constant C_1^1 is purely imaginary.

3.2 kth Term of v

Up to α^k , $k \ge 1$, from (3.1)–(3.4) we derive the following system of equations:

$$2\sum_{j=1}^{k} \sigma_{j} v_{1}^{k-j} - \sum_{j=0}^{k-1} v_{j} \frac{\partial^{2} v_{1}^{k-j}}{\partial x^{2}} - \sum_{j=0}^{k-2} v_{j} \frac{\partial^{2} v_{1}^{k-2-j}}{\partial z^{2}} + V(x) \frac{\partial v_{1}^{k-1}}{\partial z} = -\frac{\partial P^{k}}{\partial x}, \qquad (3.16)$$

$$2\sum_{j=1}^{k} \sigma_{j} v_{2}^{k-j} - \sum_{j=0}^{k} v_{j} \frac{\partial^{2} v_{2}^{k-j}}{\partial x^{2}} - \sum_{j=0}^{k-2} v_{j} \frac{\partial^{2} v_{2}^{k-2-j}}{\partial z^{2}} + V(x) \frac{\partial v_{2}^{k-1}}{\partial z} + v_{1}^{k} \frac{dV}{dx} = -\frac{\partial P^{k-1}}{\partial z} - \sum_{j=0}^{k} W_{x}(\varphi_{1}^{j}, \varphi_{2}^{k-j}), \qquad (3.17)$$

$$\frac{\partial v_1^k}{\partial x} + \frac{\partial v_2^{k-1}}{\partial z} = 0, \tag{3.18}$$

$$\langle v_2^k \rangle = 0, \quad \int_0^{2\pi} v_1^k \, dz = 0.$$
 (3.19)

Taking into account the equalities $\sigma_1 = im\langle V \rangle$ and $\sigma_2 = 0$, we average Eq. (3.16):

$$\langle V \rangle \left[2im \langle v_1^{k-1} \rangle + \frac{d \langle v_1^{k-1} \rangle}{dz} \right] = -2 \sum_{j=3}^k \sigma_j \langle v_1^{k-j} \rangle - \frac{d^2}{dz^2} \langle \theta' v_2^{k-2} \rangle + \sum_{j=0}^{k-2} v_j \frac{d^2 \langle v_1^{k-2-j} \rangle}{dz^2}$$
(3.20)

Carrying out the proofs as shown above, we obtain that, for $k \leq 6$ the coefficients of the expansions in powers of α have the following structure:

$$v_1^k = \varphi_1^k(v_1^0(z)) + \widetilde{\varphi_1^k}((\varphi_1^0)^2) + \sum_{j=1}^{k-1} \varphi_1^j(\langle v_1^{k-j} \rangle) + \langle v_1^k \rangle$$
(3.21)

$$P^{k} = P^{k}(v_{1}^{0}(z)) + \widetilde{P^{k}}((\varphi_{1}^{0})^{2}) + \sum_{j=1}^{k-1} P^{j}(\langle v_{1}^{k-j} \rangle) + \langle P^{k} \rangle$$
(3.22)

$$v_2^k = \varphi_2^k(v_1^0(z)) + \widetilde{\varphi_2^k}((\varphi_1^0)^2) + \sum_{j=0}^{k-1} \varphi_2^j(\langle v_1^{k-j} \rangle)$$
(3.23)

Here

$$\varphi_1^k(v_1^0(z)) = -\frac{1}{\nu_*^k} \frac{d^k v_1^0}{dz^k} I(\widetilde{a_{k-1}}) - \frac{\nu_{k-1}}{\nu_*} \varphi_1^1(v_1^0(z)) = \widehat{\varphi_1^k} - \frac{\nu_{k-1}}{\nu_*} \varphi_1^1 \quad (3.24)$$

$$P^{k}(v_{1}^{0}(z)) = \frac{1}{\nu_{*}^{k-1}} \frac{d^{k} v_{1}^{0}}{dz^{k}} \widetilde{q}_{k}(\theta) - \frac{\nu_{k-2}}{\nu_{*}} \{P^{2}\} + \langle P^{k} \rangle$$
(3.25)

$$\varphi_2^k(v_1^0(z)) = \frac{1}{\nu_*^{k+1}} \frac{d^k v_1^0}{dz^k} \widetilde{a}_k(\theta) - \frac{\nu_k}{\nu_*} \varphi_2^0(v_1^0(z)) = \widehat{\varphi_2^k} - \frac{\nu_k}{\nu_*} \varphi_2^0$$
(3.26)

The formulas (3.24)–(3.26) have the same structure as in solving the linear spectral problem (1.19)–(1.21), but the equations for finding the coefficients \tilde{a}_k and \tilde{q}_k , in contrast to a_k and q_k , include $2\sigma_j$ instead of σ_j . At the same time, for $0 \leq j \leq 2$ we have the equalities

$$\widetilde{a}_j = a_j, \quad \widetilde{q}_j = q_j. \tag{3.27}$$

Expressions $\varphi_m^j(\langle v_1^{k-j} \rangle)$ and $P^j(\langle v_1^{k-j} \rangle)$ in (3.21)–(3.23) have the same form as (3.24)–(3.26), but in (3.24)–(3.26) it is necessary to substitute $\langle v_1^{k-j} \rangle$ instead of $v_1^0(z)$.

Similarly,

$$\widetilde{\varphi}_{1}^{k}((\varphi_{1}^{0})^{2}) = -\frac{1}{\nu_{*}^{k}} \frac{d^{k}((\varphi_{1}^{0})^{2})}{dz^{k}} I(A_{k-1}) - \frac{\nu_{k-1}}{\nu_{*}} \widetilde{\varphi}_{1}^{1}((\varphi_{1}^{0})^{2})$$
(3.28)

$$\widetilde{P^{k}}((\varphi_{1}^{0})^{2}) = \frac{1}{\nu_{*}^{k-1}} \frac{d^{k}((\varphi_{1}^{0})^{2})}{dz^{k}} Q_{k}(\theta) - \frac{\nu_{k-2}}{\nu_{*}} \{P^{2}\} + \langle \widetilde{P^{k}} \rangle$$
(3.29)

$$\widetilde{\varphi_2^k}((\varphi_1^0)^2) = \frac{1}{\nu_*^{k+1}} \frac{d^k((\varphi_1^0)^2)}{dz^k} A_k(\theta) - \frac{\nu_k}{\nu_*} \widetilde{\varphi_2^0}((\varphi_1^0)^2) = \widetilde{\varphi_2^k} - \frac{\nu_k}{\nu_*} \widetilde{\varphi_2^0} \quad (3.30)$$

Below there are more detailed expressions for the coefficients of the expansion of the eigenfunctions in powers of α for even *k*, which were derived for of $k \leq 6$:

$$\widetilde{\varphi_{1}^{k}}((\varphi_{1}^{0})^{2}) = -\frac{1}{\nu_{*}^{k}} \frac{d^{k}(\varphi_{1}^{0})^{2}}{dz^{k}} I(B_{k-1}(\theta)) - \sum_{j=2}^{k-4} \frac{\nu_{j}}{\nu_{*}} \widetilde{\varphi_{1}^{k-j}} - \frac{2\nu_{k-2}}{\nu_{*}} \widetilde{\varphi_{1}^{2}} - \sum_{j=2}^{k-4} \frac{\nu_{j}}{\nu_{*}} I^{2} \frac{\widetilde{\varphi_{1}^{k-2-j}}}{\partial z^{2}} + 2 \sum_{j=3}^{k-1} \frac{\sigma_{j}}{\nu_{*}} I^{2} (\widetilde{\varphi_{1}^{k-j}})$$

$$\widetilde{\varphi_{2}^{k}}((\varphi_{1}^{0})^{2}) = -\frac{1}{\nu_{*}^{k+1}} \frac{d^{k}(\varphi_{1}^{0})^{2}}{dz^{k}} B_{k}(\theta) - \sum_{j=2}^{k} \frac{\nu_{j}}{\nu_{*}} \widetilde{\varphi_{2}^{k-j}} - \sum_{j=2}^{k-4} \frac{\nu_{j}}{\nu_{*}} I^{2} \frac{\widetilde{\varphi_{2}^{k-j}}}{\partial z^{2}} + 2 \sum_{j=3}^{k-1} \frac{\sigma_{j}}{\nu_{*}} I^{2} (\widetilde{\varphi_{2}^{k-j}})$$

$$(3.31)$$

Here, the coefficients $B_m(\theta)$ for even *m* are given by the formula:

$$B_m(\theta) = I^2[\{W(\theta'', IA_{m-1})\} + \nu_*^2(Q_{m-1}(\theta) - A_{m-2}(\theta))] + D_m.$$
(3.33)

For odd m, this expression contains an additional term:

$$B_{m}(\theta) = I^{2}[\{W(\theta'', IA_{m-1})\} + v_{*}^{2}(Q_{m-1}(\theta) - A_{m-2}(\theta)) - \frac{1}{2}\langle \theta' A_{m-3} \rangle Q_{2}(\theta)] + D_{m}.$$
(3.34)

Function $D_m(x)$ is a solution of following equation

$$\frac{1}{\nu_*^{m+2}} \frac{d^m ((\varphi_1^0)^2)}{dz^m} \frac{d^2 D_m}{dx^2} = \sum_{j=0}^m \{W_x(\varphi_1^j, \varphi_2^{m-j})\} + 2\frac{\nu_{m-1}}{\nu_*} \{W_x(\varphi_1^1, \varphi_2^0)\}$$
(3.35)

The coefficients $Q_m(\theta)$ (through which pressure is expressed) are given by the formula

$$Q_m(\theta) = I\{\theta'' I A_{m-2}\} - B_{m-1}(\theta) - \nu_*^2 I^2(A_{m-3})$$
(3.36)

for any m.

For odd k, detailed expressions for the coefficients of the eigenfunctions expanded in powers of α are given by

$$\widetilde{\varphi_{1}^{k}}((\varphi_{1}^{0})^{2}) = -\frac{1}{\nu_{*}^{k}}\frac{d^{k}\varphi_{1}^{0}}{dz^{k}}I(b_{k-1}(\theta)) - \sum_{j=2}^{k-1}\frac{\nu_{j}}{\nu_{*}}\widetilde{\varphi_{1}^{k-j}} - \sum_{j=2}^{k-5}\frac{\nu_{j}}{\nu_{*}}I^{2}\frac{\partial^{2}\widetilde{\varphi_{1}^{k-2-j}}}{\partial z^{2}} + 2\sum_{j=3}^{k-2}\frac{\sigma_{j}}{\nu_{*}}I^{2}(\widetilde{\varphi_{1}^{k-j}})$$

$$\widetilde{\varphi_{2}^{k}}((\varphi_{1}^{0})^{2}) = -\frac{1}{\nu_{*}^{k+1}}\frac{d^{k}\varphi_{1}^{0}}{dz^{k}}b_{k}(\theta) - \sum_{j=2}^{k-3}\frac{\nu_{j}}{\nu_{*}}\widetilde{\varphi_{2}^{k-j}} - \frac{2\nu_{k-1}}{\nu_{*}}\widetilde{\varphi_{2}^{1}} - \sum_{j=2}^{k-3}\frac{\nu_{j}}{\nu_{*}}I^{2}\frac{\partial^{2}\widetilde{\varphi_{2}^{k-2-j}}}{\partial z^{2}} + 2\sum_{j=3}^{k}\frac{\sigma_{j}}{\nu_{*}}I^{2}(\widetilde{\varphi_{2}^{k-j}}),$$

$$(3.37)$$

where $B_m(\theta)$ and $Q_m(\theta)$ are determined in (3.12)–(3.14).

The proof of the formulas (3.21)–(3.38) is by induction.

The *k*th terms of the asymptotic expansion are found by applying the following scheme. Given v_2^{k-1} , we first find v_1^k from continuity equation (3.18):

$$v_1^k = -I\left(\frac{\partial v_2^{k-1}}{\partial z}\right) + \langle v_1^{k+1} \rangle.$$
(3.39)

In the second step, taking into account the averaging Eq. (3.20), we determine P_k from (3.16) up to the average value. In the third step, averaging Eq. (3.17), we find

$$\frac{d\langle P^{k-1}\rangle}{dz} = -\langle W_x(\{v_1^k\}, V)\rangle - \sum_{j=0}^k \langle W_x(\varphi_1^j, \varphi_2^{k-j})\rangle$$
(3.40)

Representing the right-hand side of Eq. (3.17) for finding v_2^k in divergent form, we obtain v_2^k . In the forth step, by using the quantities found at the *k*th step, we can write the condition for the solvability of (3.17) for the (*k* + 2)th term of the asymptotic expansion. This condition is given by (3.20) with *k* replaced by *k* + 2, and it is used

to find average value of $\langle v_1^{k+1} \rangle$:

$$\langle v_1^{k+1} \rangle = C_1^{k+1} e^{-2imz}.$$
(3.41)

From the solvability condition for Eq. (3.20) with k replaced by k + 2 we find C_1^{k-1} . Next, the process is repeated.

4 Conclusions

We have constructed the recurrence formula for the long-wavelength asymptotics of self-oscillations bifurcating from the basic shear flow in general form with non-zero average.

We have considered two problems (1.11). The solution \boldsymbol{w} of the first problem is stationary part of non-linear term of secondary flow, while the solution \boldsymbol{v} of the second problem belongs to the non-stationary part. Both these solutions have been represented as a series in powers of wave number α , $\alpha \rightarrow 0$.

The first component of \boldsymbol{w} is zero

$$w_{k}^{1} = 0$$

for any k and the expansion coefficients of the second component of velocity and coefficients of pressure vanish

$$w_2^k = 0, \quad Q^k = 0$$

for odd k.

If k is even then coefficients Q^k of pressure are given by (2.25) with $\langle Q^k \rangle = 0$ and coefficients w_2^k of velocity are given by (2.26) with $w_k^1 = 0$.

If the deviation {V} of velocity from its average value is an odd function, then $\theta(x)$ is odd as well. Then the formulas obtained for \boldsymbol{w} and Q imply that \boldsymbol{w} is odd and Q is even. Note, that if $\theta(x)$ is odd, then $a_1 = I\{W(\theta', \theta)\}$ is odd. Therefore, $\langle \theta' a_1 \rangle = 0$.

For the second problem, a solution v was obtained under the assumption that $\langle \theta' a_1 \rangle \neq 0$. We obtain *k*th term of the asymptotics by formulas (3.21)–(3.38).

References

- Arnold, V.I., Meshalkin, L.D.: A.N. Kolmogorov's seminar on selected problems in analysis (1958–1959). Usp. Mat. Nauk. 15(1), 247–250 (1960)
- Meshalkin, L.D., Sinai, Ya.G.: Stability analysis of the stationary solution to a system of equations governing viscous incompressible planar flows. Prikl. Mat. Mekh. 25(6), 1140–1143 (1961)

- 3. Yudovich, V.I.: Example of generation of a secondary steady or periodic flow when there is a loss of a stability of the laminar flow of a viscous incompressible fluid. Prikl. Mat. Mekh. **29**(3), 455–467 (1965)
- 4. Troshkin, O.V.: Algebraic structure of the two-dimensional stationary Navier-Stokes equations and nonlocal uniqueness theorems. Dokl. Akad. Nauk SSSR **298**(6), 1372–1376 (1988)
- 5. Oparina, E.I., Troshkin, O.V.: Stability of Kolmogorov flow in a channel with rigid walls. Dokl. Phys. **49**, 583–587 (2004)
- Fylladitakis, E.D.: Kolmogorov flow: seven decades of history. J. Appl. Math. Phys. 6, 2227– 2263 (2018). https://doi.org/10.4236/jamp.2018.611187
- Yudovich, V.I.: Instability of viscous incompressible parallel flows with respect to spatially periodic perturbations. In: Numerical Methods for Problems in Mathematical Physics, pp. 242– 249. Nauka, Moscow (1966, in Russian)
- Yudovich, V.I.: Natural oscillations arising from loss of stability in parallel flows of a viscous liquid under long-wavelength periodic disturbances. Fluid Dyn. 8, 26–29 (1973)
- 9. Yudovich, V.I.: Instability of long-wave viscous flows. Fluid Dyn. 25, 516-521 (1990)
- Revina, S.V., Yudovich, V.I.: Initiation of self-oscillations at loss of stability of spatiallyperiodic three-dimensional viscous flows with respect to long-wave perturbations. Fluid Dyn. 36, 192–203 (2001)
- Melekhov, A.P., Revina, S.V.: Onset of self-oscillations upon the loss of stability of spatially periodic two-dimensional viscous fluid flows relative to long-wave perturbations. Fluid Dyn. 45, 203–216 (2008)
- 12. Revina, S.V.: Recurrence formula for long wavelength asymptotics in the problem of shear flow stability. Comput. Math. Math. Phys. **53**(8), 1207–1220 (2013)
- 13. Revina, S.V.: On the problem of shear flow stability with respect to long-wave perturbations. Vladikavkaz Math. J. **18**(4), 50–60 (2016) (in Russian)
- 14. Revina, S.V.: Stability of the Kolmogorov flow and its modifications. Comput. Math. Math. Phys. 57(6), 995–1012 (2017)
- Kirichenko, O.V., Revina, S.V.: On the stability of two-dimensional flows close to the shear. Vestnik YuUrGU. Ser. Mat. Model. Progr. 12(3), 28–41 (2019)
- 16. Yudovich, V.I.: Onset of self-oscillations in a liquid. Prikl. Mat. Mekh. 35(4), 638-655 (1971)
- 17. Yudovich, V.I.: Investigation of continuum self-oscillations arising from loss of stability of a steady-state regime. Prikl. Mat. Mekh. **36**(3), 450–459 (1972)

The Convergence of the Fourier–Jacobi Series in Weighted Variable Exponent Lebesgue Spaces



T. N. Shakh-Emirov and R. M. Gadzhimirzaev

Abstract The article focuses on the problem of basis property for the Jacobi polynomial system $P_n^{\alpha,\beta}(x)$ in the weighted variable exponent Lebesgue space $L_{\mu}^{p(x)}([-1, 1])$. The sufficient, and in a certain sense, necessary conditions on the variable exponent p = p(x) > 1 ensuring the uniform boundedness of Fourier-Jacobi sums $S_n^{\alpha,\beta}(f)$ (n = 0, 1, ...) with $-1 < \alpha, \beta < -1/2$ in $L_{\mu}^{p(x)}([-1, 1])$ are obtained.

Keywords Jacobi polynomials \cdot Fourier-Jacobi sums \cdot Weighted Lebesgue space with variable exponent

Mathematics Subject Classification (2010) 42C10, 46E30

1 Introduction

Let *E* be an arbitrary set on which the Lebesgue measure *m* is given and let p = p(x) be nonnegative *m*-measurable function defined on *E*. We denote by $L_m^{p(x)}(E)$ the space of *m*-measurable functions f = f(x) defined on *E* for which the Lebesgue integral $\int_E |f(x)|^{p(x)}m(dx)$ is finite. If p = p(x) is essentially bounded on *E* then, as shown in [1], $L_m^{p(x)}(E)$ is a linear topological space. If an additional condition $1 \le p(x) \le \overline{p} < \infty$ holds then $L_m^{p(x)}(E)$ is a Banach space with the norm

$$\|f\|_{p(\cdot)}(E) = \inf\{\alpha > 0 : \int_{E} \left|\frac{f(x)}{\alpha}\right|^{p(x)} m(dx) \le 1\}.$$
 (1.1)

T. N. Shakh-Emirov (🖂) · R. M. Gadzhimirzaev

Dagestan Federal Research Center of the Russian Academy of Sciences, Makhachkala, Russia

205

[©] The Editor(s) (if applicable) and The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

A. G. Kusraev, Z. D. Totieva (eds.), *Operator Theory and Differential Equations*, Trends in Mathematics, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-49763-7_16

If $E \in \mathbb{R}^n$, m(dx) = w(x)dx then we will use notation $L_w^{p(x)}(E)$ instead of $L_m^{p(x)}(E)$ and call $L_w^{p(x)}(E)$ weighted Lebesgue space with variable exponent p(x) and weight w = w(x). If in addition $w(x) \equiv 1$ then we will use notation $L_1^{p(x)}(E)$ instead of $L_1^{p(x)}(E)$. If $1 < p(x) < \infty$, then we define new variable exponent q(x) = p(x)/(p(x) - 1) and the corresponding variable exponent space $L_m^{q(x)}(E)$. As shown in the paper [1], if $1 < p(x) \le \overline{p}(E) < \infty$ then the space $(L_m^{p(x)}(E))'$ of linear continuous functionals F defined on $L_m^{p(x)}(E)$ coincides with the linear span of the space $L_m^{q(x)}(E)$: an arbitrary element $F \in (L_m^{p(x)}(E))'$ can be represented as

$$F(f) = \int_E f(x)g(x)m(dx), \quad \frac{g}{\alpha} \in L_m^{q(x)}(E), \quad \alpha \neq 0$$

In particular, if $1 < \underline{p}(E) \le p(x) \le \overline{p}(E) \le \infty$, then *q* also has this property, and therefore $(L_m^{p(x)}(E))' = L_m^{q(x)}(E)$ as a consequence, the space $L_m^{p(x)}(E)$ is reflexive. This result allows us to introduce in $L_m^{p(x)}(E)$ other norms equivalent to the original one $||f||_{p(\cdot)}(E)$ (see (1.1)). Thus, let $1 < \underline{p}(E) \le p(x) \le \overline{p}(E) < \infty$, then the conjugate exponent q(x) = p(x)/(p(x)-1) has, as has already been noted, the same properties i.e. $1 < \underline{q}(E) \le q(x) \le \overline{q}(E) < \infty$, so we can introduce the following norm of $f \in L_m^{p(x)}(E)$:

$$\|f\|_{p(\cdot)}^{*}(E) = \sup_{\substack{g \in L_{m}^{q(x)}(E), \\ \|g\|_{q(\cdot)}(E) \le 1}} \int_{E} f(x)g(x)m(dx),$$
(1.2)

for which (see [2]) inequality holds

$$\|f\|_{p(\cdot)}^{*}(E) \le 2\|f\|_{p(\cdot)}(E).$$
(1.3)

Let *p* and *q* be two variable exponents defined on *E* for which $1 \le p(x) \le q(x) \le \overline{q}(E) < \infty$. Then for $f \in L_m^{q(x)}(E)$ the following inequality holds (see [2–4])

$$\|f\|_{p(\cdot)}(E) \le c(p,q) \|f\|_{q(\cdot)}(E), \tag{1.4}$$

where here and everywhere in the sequel $c, c(p), c(p, q), \ldots$ denote positive numbers that depend only on these parameters.

Next, let E_1 and E_2 be two measurable sets with corresponding Lebesgue measures m_1 and m_2 , with $m_i(E_i) < \infty$, i = 1, 2. Let f = f(x, t) be a measurable function defined on the Cartesian product $E_1 \times E_2$. Then the following inequality

$$\left\| \int_{E_2} f(\cdot, t) m_2(dt) \right\|_{p(\cdot)} (E_1) \le 2 \int_{E_2} \|f(\cdot, t)\|_{p(\cdot)} (E_1) m_2(dt)$$

holds (see [2–4]).

We denote by $\mathcal{P}(-1, 1)$ the space of variable exponents p, defined on [-1, 1] and satisfying the following conditions:

(A) the Dini–Lipschitz condition

$$|p(x) - p(y)| \le \frac{d}{-\ln|x - y|}, \quad |x - y| \le \frac{1}{2};$$

- (*B*) $p([-1, 1]) = \min_{x \in [-1, 1]} p(x) > 1;$
- (*C*) for *p* there exist positive (arbitrarily small) numbers $\delta_i = \delta_i(p)$ (i = 1, 2) such that p(x) = p(-1) for $x \in [-1, -1+\delta_1]$ and p(x) = p(1) for $x \in [1-\delta_2, 1]$.

Recently, the approximation theory of Lebesgue spaces with variable exponent has been intensively developed by many authors (see [4–8] and the references therein). We note that the most important results obtained in these works are related to the Dini-Lipschitz condition. In particular, it was shown in [6] that the system of Legendre polynomials form the basis in $L^{p(x)}(-1, 1)$ if the variable exponent p(x) satisfies the Dini–Lipschitz condition (*A*) and the additional conditions (*B*), (*C*).

In this paper we consider the problem of basis property for the Jacobi polynomial system $P_n^{\alpha,\beta}(x)$ in the weighted variable exponent Lebesgue space $L_{\mu}^{p(x)}([-1, 1])$ with weight $\mu = \mu(x) = (1-x)^{\alpha}(1+x)^{\beta}$. In the case of $-1 < \alpha, \beta < -1/2$ it will be shown that if the variable exponent p = p(x) satisfies the conditions (A)-(C) then the orthonormal system of Jacobi polynomials $p_n^{\alpha,\beta}(x) = (h_n^{\alpha,\beta})^{-\frac{1}{2}} P_n^{\alpha,\beta}(x)$ (n = 0, 1, ...) is a basis in $L_{\mu}^{p(x)}([-1, 1])$ provided that $1 < p(1), p(-1) < \infty$.

In the paper [9] a similar problem was considered in the variable exponent Lebesgue space $L_{\mu}^{p(x)}([-1, 1])$ when $\alpha, \beta > -1/2$. Moreover, we note that this problem was solved by I.I. Sharapudinov in [10] in the case when $\alpha = \beta$.

2 The Hilbert Transform in $L^{p(x)}(\mathbb{R})$

Let p > 1, $f \in L^p(\mathbb{R})$. Then we can define the Hilbert transform

$$Hf = H(f) = H(f)(x) = \int_{\mathbb{R}} \frac{f(t)dt}{t-x},$$
 (2.1)

where the integral in (2.1) is understood in the sense of the Cauchy principal value, i.e. $H(f)(x) = \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} H_{\varepsilon}(f)(x)$, $H_{\varepsilon}(f)(x) = \int_{|t-x| > \varepsilon} \frac{f(t)dt}{t-x}$. It is well known that the function Hf(x) is finite for almost all $x \in \mathbb{R}$. Moreover, if $f \in L^{p}(\mathbb{R})$, where p = const > 1, then it follows from the well-known Riesz theorem that $||H(f)||_{p}(\mathbb{R}) \leq c(p)||f||_{p}(\mathbb{R})$. As shown in [11, 12], this estimate can be generalized to the case when $f \in L^{p(x)}(\mathbb{R})$ if the variable exponent $p : \mathbb{R} \to [0, \infty)$ satisfies the conditions (A) and

$$|p(x) - p(y)| \le \frac{c}{\ln(e + |x|^n)}, \quad x, y \in \Omega, \quad |y| > |x|,$$
 (2.2)

where $|x| = (x_1^2 + \ldots + x_n^2)^{1/2}$ for $x = (x_1, \ldots, x_n) \in \mathbb{R}^n$, Ω is an open set in \mathbb{R}^n . In other words, then we have the estimate

$$\|H(f)\|_{p(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}) \le c(p)\|f\|_{p(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}).$$
(2.3)

Consider the Hilbert transform of the following form

$$H^{a,b}f = H^{a,b}f(x) = \int_{a}^{b} \frac{f(t)dt}{t-x}.$$
(2.4)

Let the variable exponent *p* satisfies the condition (*A*) on [*a*, *b*]. Then we can extend p = p(x) to all \mathbb{R} in the following way. Let $A = 1 + \max\{|a|, |b|\}, p(x) = 3/2$ for $|x| \ge A$, and extend p(x) linearly and continuously to the segments [-A, a] and [*b*, *A*]. Then it is not difficult to verify that the extended function *p* satisfies the conditions (*A*) and (2.2) on the entire \mathbb{R} . On the other hand, if the function $f \in L^{p(x)}([a, b])$, then it can be extended to all \mathbb{R} , assuming $f(x) \equiv 0$ for $x \notin [a, b]$ and we can consider the Hilbert transform

$$Hf = Hf(x) = \int_{\mathbb{R}} \frac{f(t)dt}{t-x} = \int_{a}^{b} \frac{f(t)dt}{t-x} = H^{a,b}f(x).$$

Thus from (2.3) we deduce

$$\|H^{a,b}(f)\|_{p(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}) = \|H(f)\|_{p(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}) \le c(p)\|f\|_{p(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}) = c(p)\|f\|_{p(\cdot)}([a,b]).$$
(2.5)

3 Some Information About the Jacobi Polynomials

For arbitrary real α and β the Jacobi polynomials $P_n^{\alpha,\beta}(x)$ can be defined [13] using the Rodrigues formula

$$P_n^{\alpha,\beta}(x) = \frac{(-1)^n}{2^n n!} \frac{1}{\mu(x)} \frac{d^n}{dx^n} \left\{ \mu(x) \sigma^n(x) \right\},$$

where $\mu(x) = \mu(x; \alpha, \beta) = (1-x)^{\alpha}(1+x)^{\beta}$, $\sigma(x) = 1-x^2$. If $\alpha, \beta > -1$, Jacobi polynomials form an orthogonal system with weight $\mu(x)$, i.e.

$$\int_{-1}^{1} P_n^{\alpha,\beta}(x) P_m^{\alpha,\beta}(x) \mu(x) dx = h_n^{\alpha,\beta} \delta_{nm}$$

where

$$h_n^{\alpha,\beta} = \frac{\Gamma(n+\alpha+1)\Gamma(n+\beta+1)2^{\alpha+\beta+1}}{n!\Gamma(n+\alpha+\beta+1)(2n+\alpha+\beta+1)}.$$
(3.1)

For $-1 < \alpha, \beta$ and $x \in [-1, 1]$ the following estimate holds

$$\sqrt{n}|P_{n}^{\alpha,\beta}(x)| \le c(\alpha,\beta) \left(\sqrt{1-x} + \frac{1}{n}\right)^{-\alpha - \frac{1}{2}} \left(\sqrt{1+x} + \frac{1}{n}\right)^{-\beta - \frac{1}{2}}.$$
 (3.2)

This estimate together with the Christoffel-Darboux formula

$$K_{n}^{\alpha,\beta}(x,y) = \sum_{k=0}^{n} \frac{P_{k}^{\alpha,\beta}(x)P_{k}^{\alpha,\beta}(y)}{h_{k}^{\alpha,\beta}} = \frac{2^{-\alpha-\beta}}{2n+\alpha+\beta+2} \frac{\Gamma(n+2)\Gamma(n+\alpha+\beta+2)}{\Gamma(n+\alpha+1)\Gamma(n+\beta+1)}$$
$$\times \frac{P_{n+1}^{\alpha,\beta}(x)P_{n}^{\alpha,\beta}(y) - P_{n}^{\alpha,\beta}(x)P_{n+1}^{\alpha,\beta}(y)}{x-y}$$
(3.3)

play a fundamental role in the study of the approximative properties of Fourier–Jacobi sums. We also note the following properties of the Jacobi polynomials:

$$P_{n}^{\alpha,\beta}(-x) = (-1)^{n} P_{n}^{\beta,\alpha}(x), \qquad (3.4)$$

$$(1-x) P_{n}^{\alpha+1,\beta}(x) =$$

$$\frac{2}{2n+\alpha+\beta+2} \Big[(n+\alpha+1) P_{n}^{\alpha,\beta}(x) - (n+1) P_{n+1}^{\alpha,\beta}(x) \Big]. \qquad (3.5)$$

4 Main Result

Let $\alpha, \beta > -1, \mu = \mu(x) = \mu(x; \alpha, \beta) = (1 - x)^{\alpha}(1 + x)^{\beta}, L_{\mu}^{p(x)}([-1, 1])$ be the Lebesgue space with variable exponent p = p(x) and weight μ . If $p \ge 1$ and $f \in L_{\mu}^{p(x)}([-1, 1])$, then we can define the Fourier–Jacobi coefficients

$$f_{k}^{\alpha,\beta} = \frac{1}{h_{k}^{\alpha,\beta}} \int_{-1}^{1} f(t) P_{k}^{\alpha,\beta}(t) \mu(t) dt$$
(4.1)

and the Fourier-Jacobi sum

$$S_n^{\alpha,\beta}(f) = S_n^{\alpha,\beta}(f,x) = \sum_{k=0}^n f_k^{\alpha,\beta} P_k^{\alpha,\beta}(x).$$
(4.2)

The main goal of this paper is to find conditions on the variable exponent p = p(x), that guarantee the convergence of Fourier sums $S_n^{\alpha,\beta}(f)$ on the Jacobi polynomials $P_k^{\alpha,\beta}(x)$ to the function $f \in L_{\mu}^{p(x)}([-1, 1])$ with respect to the norm of the space $L_{\mu}^{p(x)}([-1, 1])$ for $n \to \infty$. In other words, we consider the problem of the basis property in the Banach space $L_{\mu}^{p(x)}([-1, 1])$ of the orthonormal Jacobi polynomial system $p_k^{\alpha,\beta}(x) = (h_k^{\alpha,\beta})^{-1/2} P_k^{\alpha,\beta}(x)$ ($k = 0, 1, \ldots$), restricting ourselves to the case $-1 < \alpha, \beta < -1/2$. To this end, we introduce a class of variable exponents $\mathcal{P}(-1, 1)$ satisfying the conditions (A), (B), and (C). It is shown that the conditions (A), (B), and (C) taken together provide the uniform boundedness in $L_{\mu}^{p(x)}([-1, 1])$ of the sequence of linear operators $S_n^{\alpha,\beta}(f)$ ($n = 0, 1, \ldots$) under the additional condition (4.10). At the same time, we note that (A) and (B) are also necessary conditions so the uniform boundedness in $L_{\mu}^{p(x)}([-1, 1])$ of the sequence of linear operators $S_n^{\alpha,\beta}(f)$ ($n = 0, 1, \ldots$).

We need certain transformations for Fourier–Jacobi sums $S_n^{\alpha,\beta}(f, x)$. To this end, we use the Christoffel-Darboux formula (3.3). Then (4.2) can be rewritten as

$$S_n^{\alpha,\beta}(f,x) = \int_{-1}^1 K_n^{\alpha,\beta}(x,y) f(y) \mu(y) dy.$$
 (4.3)

Lemma 4.1 If $x \neq y$, then the Kristoffel-Darboux kernel $K_n^{\alpha,\beta}(x, y)$ admits the following representation

$$K_n^{\alpha,\beta}(x, y) = K_{n1}^{\alpha,\beta}(x, y) + K_{n2}^{\alpha,\beta}(x, y),$$

where

$$K_{n1}^{\alpha,\beta}(x,y) = -\gamma_n(\alpha,\beta) \frac{(1-x)P_n^{\alpha+1,\beta}(x)P_n^{\alpha,\beta}(y)}{x-y},$$
$$K_{n2}^{\alpha,\beta}(x,y) = \gamma_n(\alpha,\beta) \frac{(1-y)P_n^{\alpha+1,\beta}(y)P_n^{\alpha,\beta}(x)}{x-y},$$

 $\gamma_n(\alpha, \beta) = O(n) \ (n \to \infty).$

The proof of lemma 4.1 follows immediately from (3.3) and (3.5)

Taking into account Lemma 4.1, the equality (4.3) can be rewritten as follows

$$S_{n}^{\alpha,\beta}(f,x) = \gamma_{n}(\alpha,\beta)P_{n}^{\alpha,\beta}(x)\int_{-1}^{1}\frac{(1-y)P_{n}^{\alpha+1,\beta}(y)f(y)\mu(y)dy}{x-y} - \gamma_{n}(\alpha,\beta)(1-x)P_{n}^{\alpha+1,\beta}(x)\int_{-1}^{1}\frac{P_{n}^{\alpha,\beta}(y)f(y)\mu(y)dy}{x-y},$$
(4.4)

where the integrals are understood in the sense of the Cauchy principal values. We consider the case when $-1 < \alpha$, $\beta < -1/2$, $\mu(x) = (1-x)^{\alpha}(1-x)^{\beta}$, $x \in [0, 1)$. Since the function $f(x)(1-x)^{\alpha}(1-x)^{\beta}$ is integrable on (-1, 1), then in this case, from (4.4) taking into account the weighted estimate (3.2) we derive for almost all $x \in [0, 1]$

$$(1-x)^{\frac{\alpha}{p(x)}}|S_{n}^{\alpha,\beta}(f,x)| \leq \gamma_{n}(\alpha,\beta)(1-x)^{\frac{\alpha}{p(x)}} \left|P_{n}^{\alpha,\beta}(x)\int_{-1}^{1}\frac{(1-y)P_{n}^{\alpha+1,\beta}(y)f(y)\mu(y)dy}{x-y}\right| + \gamma_{n}(\alpha,\beta)(1-x)^{\frac{\alpha}{p(x)}}(1-x)\left|P_{n}^{\alpha+1,\beta}(x)\int_{-1}^{1}\frac{P_{n}^{\alpha,\beta}(y)f(y)\mu(y)dy}{x-y}\right| \leq c(\alpha,\beta)\sqrt{n}(1-x)^{\frac{\alpha}{p(x)}}\left(\sqrt{1-x}+\frac{1}{n}\right)^{-\alpha-\frac{1}{2}}\left|\int_{-1}^{1}\frac{(1-y)P_{n}^{\alpha+1,\beta}(y)f(y)\mu(y)dy}{x-y}\right| + c(\alpha,\beta)\sqrt{n}(1-x)^{\frac{\alpha}{p(x)}+1}\left(\sqrt{1-x}+\frac{1}{n}\right)^{-\alpha-\frac{3}{2}}\left|\int_{-1}^{1}\frac{P_{n}^{\alpha,\beta}(y)f(y)\mu(y)dy}{x-y}\right| \leq \sigma_{1}(f,x) + \sigma_{2}(f,x) + \sigma_{3}(f,x) + \sigma_{4}(f,x),$$
(4.5)

where

$$\sigma_{1}(f,x) = c(\alpha,\beta)(1-x)^{\frac{\alpha}{p(x)}} \left(\sqrt{1-x} + \frac{1}{n}\right)^{-\alpha - \frac{1}{2}} \\ \times \left| \int_{-1}^{-\frac{1}{2}} \frac{(1-y)\sqrt{n}P_{n}^{\alpha + 1,\beta}(y)f(y)\mu(y)dy}{x-y} \right|$$
(4.6)

$$\sigma_{2}(f,x) = c(\alpha,\beta)(1-x)^{\frac{\alpha}{p(x)}} \left(\sqrt{1-x} + \frac{1}{n}\right)^{-\alpha - \frac{1}{2}} \\ \times \left| \int_{-\frac{1}{2}}^{1} \frac{(1-y)\sqrt{n}P_{n}^{\alpha + 1,\beta}(y)f(y)\mu(y)dy}{x-y} \right|$$
(4.7)

T. N. Shakh-Emirov and R. M. Gadzhimirzaev

$$\sigma_{3}(f,x) = c(\alpha,\beta)(1-x)^{\frac{\alpha}{p(x)}+1} \left(\sqrt{1-x} + \frac{1}{n}\right)^{-\alpha-\frac{3}{2}} \times \left| \int_{-1}^{-\frac{1}{2}} \frac{\sqrt{n}P_{n}^{\alpha,\beta}(y)f(y)\mu(y)dy}{x-y} \right|$$
(4.8)

$$\sigma_{4}(f,x) = c(\alpha,\beta)(1-x)^{\frac{\alpha}{p(x)}+1} \left(\sqrt{1-x} + \frac{1}{n}\right)^{-\alpha-\frac{3}{2}} \\ \times \left| \int_{-\frac{1}{2}}^{1} \frac{\sqrt{n}P_{n}^{\alpha,\beta}(y)f(y)\mu(y)dy}{x-y} \right|$$
(4.9)

The following statement is fundamental.

Lemma 4.2 Let $-1 < \alpha, \beta < -1/2, p \in \mathcal{P}(-1, 1), \mu = \mu(x) = (1-x)^{\alpha}(1-x)^{\beta}, f \in L^{p(x)}_{\mu}([-1, 1]), ||f||_{p(\cdot)}([-1, 1]) \leq 1,$

$$1 < p(1) < \infty, \quad 1 < p(-1) < \infty.$$
 (4.10)

Then

$$\|\sigma_i(f)\|_{p(\cdot)}([0,1]) \le c(\alpha,\beta,p) \quad (i=1,2,3,4).$$
(4.11)

5 The Proof of Lemma 4.2

We need the following statement (see [9])

Lemma 5.1 Let $-1 < a, b < 1, 0 < \gamma < 1$. Then

$$\frac{1}{|a-b|} \left| \left(\frac{1-b}{1-a} \right)^{\gamma} - 1 \right| \le \frac{2}{(1-a)^{\gamma} ((1-a)^{1-\gamma} + (1-b)^{1-\gamma})}.$$
(5.1)

We suppose

$$\|f\|_{p(\cdot),\mu} \le 1. \tag{5.2}$$

Consider the case i = 1. From (4.6), (3.2) and (5.2) we have

$$\sigma_{1}(f,x) \leq c(\alpha,\beta)(1-x)^{\frac{\alpha}{p(x)}} \left(\sqrt{1-x} + \frac{1}{n}\right)^{-\alpha-\frac{1}{2}} \\ \times \int_{-1}^{-\frac{1}{2}} \frac{\mu(y)\left(\sqrt{1+y} + \frac{1}{n}\right)^{-\beta-\frac{1}{2}} |f(y)|}{x-y} dy$$

$$\leq c(\alpha,\beta)(1-x)^{\frac{\alpha}{p(x)}} \left(\sqrt{1-x} + \frac{1}{n}\right)^{-\alpha - \frac{1}{2}} \int_{-1}^{-\frac{1}{2}} \mu(y)|f(y)|dy$$

$$\leq c(\alpha,\beta)(1-x)^{\frac{\alpha}{p(x)}} \left(\sqrt{1-x} + \frac{1}{n}\right)^{-\alpha - \frac{1}{2}}.$$
(5.3)

Let $1 - x \le \frac{c}{n^2} < \delta_2$. Then from (5.3) we get

$$(1-x)^{\frac{\alpha}{p(x)}} \left(\sqrt{1-x} + \frac{1}{n}\right)^{-\alpha - \frac{1}{2}} = (1-x)^{\frac{\alpha}{p(1)}} \left(\sqrt{1-x} + \frac{1}{n}\right)^{-\alpha - \frac{1}{2}} \le c(\alpha)(1-x)^{\frac{\alpha}{p(1)}}n^{\alpha + \frac{1}{2}}.$$
(5.4)

For the case $\frac{c}{n^2} < 1 - x \le 1$ we have

$$(1-x)^{\frac{\alpha}{p(x)}} \left(\sqrt{1-x} + \frac{1}{n}\right)^{-\alpha - \frac{1}{2}} = (1-x)^{\frac{\alpha}{p(1)}} \left(\sqrt{1-x} + \frac{1}{n}\right)^{-\alpha - \frac{1}{2}}$$
$$\leq c(\alpha)(1-x)^{\frac{\alpha}{p(1)}} (1-x)^{-\frac{\alpha}{2} - \frac{1}{4}} = c(\alpha)(1-x)^{\frac{\alpha}{p(1)} - \frac{\alpha}{2} - \frac{1}{4}}.$$
 (5.5)

From (5.4) and (5.5) we obtain

$$\sigma_1(f, x) \le c(p, \alpha, \beta)(1-x)^{\frac{\alpha}{p(x)} - \frac{\alpha}{2} - \frac{1}{4}} \ (0 \le x \le 1).$$
(5.6)

From (5.6) we have

$$\int_{0}^{1} (\sigma_1(f,x))^{p(x)} dx \le c(\alpha,\beta,p) \int_{0}^{1} (1-x)^{\alpha - \frac{\alpha p(x)}{2} - \frac{p(x)}{4}} dx \le c(\alpha,\beta,p), \quad (5.7)$$

since $\alpha - \frac{\alpha p(x)}{2} - \frac{p(x)}{4} > -1$ as $-1 < \alpha < -1/2$ and p(1) > 1. Hence from (5.7) we derive $\|\sigma_1(f)\|_{p(\cdot)}([0, 1]) \le c(\alpha, \beta, p)$.

In a similar way we estimate $\|\sigma_3(f)\|_{p(\cdot)}([0, 1])$. From (4.8), (3.2) and (5.2) we get

$$\sigma_{3}(f,x) \leq c(\alpha,\beta)(1-x)^{\frac{\alpha}{p(x)}+1} \left(\sqrt{1-x} + \frac{1}{n}\right)^{-\alpha-\frac{3}{2}} \times \left|\int_{-1}^{-\frac{1}{2}} \frac{\sqrt{n}P_{n}^{\alpha,\beta}(y)f(y)\mu(y)dy}{x-y}\right|$$

$$\leq c(\alpha,\beta)(1-x)^{\frac{\alpha}{p(x)}+1} \left(\sqrt{1-x}+\frac{1}{n}\right)^{-\alpha-\frac{3}{2}} \leq c(\alpha,\beta)(1-x)^{\frac{\alpha}{p(x)}-\frac{\alpha}{2}+\frac{1}{4}}.$$
 (5.8)

Since $\alpha - \frac{\alpha p(x)}{2} + \frac{p(x)}{4}$ from (5.8) we derive

$$\int_{0}^{1} (\sigma_{3}(f,x))^{p(x)} dx \le c(\alpha,\beta,p) \int_{0}^{1} (1-x)^{\alpha - \frac{\alpha p(x)}{2} + \frac{p(x)}{4}} dx \le c(\alpha,\beta,p).$$
(5.9)

We proceed to the case i = 2. We set

$$A_n(y) = \sqrt{n} P_n^{\alpha+1,\beta}(y) \left(\sqrt{1-y} + \frac{1}{n}\right)^{\alpha+\frac{3}{2}} \left(\sqrt{1+y} + \frac{1}{n}\right)^{\beta+\frac{1}{2}} (1+y)^{\beta}.$$
(5.10)

Then

$$\sigma_{2}(f,x) = c(\alpha,\beta)(1-x)^{\frac{\alpha}{p(x)}} \left(\sqrt{1-x} + \frac{1}{n}\right)^{-\alpha - \frac{1}{2}} \\ \times \left| \int_{-\frac{1}{2}}^{1} \frac{(1-y)\sqrt{n}P_{n}^{\alpha + 1,\beta}(y)f(y)\mu(y)dy}{x-y} \right| \\ = c(\alpha,\beta)(1-x)^{\frac{\alpha}{p(x)}} \left(\sqrt{1-x} + \frac{1}{n}\right)^{-\alpha - \frac{1}{2}} \\ \times \left| \int_{-\frac{1}{2}}^{1} \frac{A_{n}(y)(1-y)^{\alpha + 1}\left(\sqrt{1-y} + \frac{1}{n}\right)^{-\alpha - \frac{3}{2}}\left(\sqrt{1+y} + \frac{1}{n}\right)^{-\beta - \frac{1}{2}}f(y)dy}{x-y} \right|$$

The Convergence of the Fourier-Jacobi Series

$$\leq c(\alpha, \beta)(1-x)^{\frac{\alpha}{p(x)}} \left(\sqrt{1-x} + \frac{1}{n}\right)^{-\alpha - \frac{1}{2}} \times \left| \int_{-\frac{1}{2}}^{1} \frac{A_n(y)(1-y)^{\alpha+1} \left(\sqrt{1-y} + \frac{1}{n}\right)^{-\alpha - \frac{3}{2}} f(y) dy}{x-y} \right| \\ \leq \sigma_{21}(f, x) + \sigma_{22}(f, x),$$
(5.11)

where

$$\sigma_{21}(f,x) = c(\alpha,\beta)(1-x)^{\frac{\alpha}{p(x)}} \left(\sqrt{1-x} + \frac{1}{n}\right)^{-\alpha - \frac{1}{2}} \\ \times \left| \int_{-\frac{1}{2}}^{1-\delta_2} \frac{A_n(y)(1-y)^{\alpha+1} \left(\sqrt{1-y} + \frac{1}{n}\right)^{-\alpha - \frac{3}{2}} f(y)dy}{x-y} \right|.$$

$$\sigma_{22}(f,x) = c(\alpha,\beta)(1-x)^{\frac{\alpha}{p(x)}} \left(\sqrt{1-x} + \frac{1}{n}\right)^{-\alpha-\frac{1}{2}} \\ \times \left| \int_{1-\delta_2}^{1} \frac{A_n(y)(1-y)^{\alpha+1} \left(\sqrt{1-y} + \frac{1}{n}\right)^{-\alpha-\frac{3}{2}} f(y)dy}{x-y} \right|.$$

We assume $\varphi_n(y) = A_n(y)(1-y)^{\alpha+1} \left(\sqrt{1-y} + \frac{1}{n}\right)^{-\alpha-\frac{3}{2}}$ and note that by virtue of (3.2) there exists a constant $c(\alpha, \beta, p)$ for which

$$|\varphi_n(y)| \le c(\alpha, \beta, p), \left(-\frac{1}{2} \le y \le 1 - \frac{\delta_2}{2}\right).$$
(5.12)

We write $\sigma_{21}(f, x)$ in the form

$$\sigma_{21}(f,x) = c(\alpha,\beta,p)(1-x)^{\frac{\alpha}{p(x)}} \left(\sqrt{1-x} + \frac{1}{n}\right)^{-\alpha - \frac{1}{2}} \left| \int_{1-\delta_2}^{1} \frac{\varphi_n(y)f(y)dy}{x-y} \right|$$
(5.13)

and consider two cases. If $0 \le x \le 1 - \delta_2/2$ then from (2.4) and (5.13) we have

$$\sigma_{21}(f,x) \le c(\alpha,\beta,p) \left| \int_{-\frac{1}{2}}^{1-\delta_2} \frac{\varphi_n(y)f(y)dy}{x-y} \right| = c(\alpha,\beta,p) |H^{-1/2,1-\delta_2}g(x)|,$$
(5.14)

where $g(y) = \varphi_n(y) f(y)$. We now turn to the estimate (2.5), which, taking into account (5.12), gives

$$\|H^{-\frac{1}{2},1-\delta_2}g\|_{p(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}) \le c(\alpha,\beta,p)\|g\|_{p(\cdot)}([-1/2,1-\delta_2]) \le c(\alpha,\beta,p)\|f\|_{p(\cdot),\mu}([-1/2,1-\delta_2]) \le c(\alpha,\beta,p)\|f\|_{p(\cdot),\mu}([-1/2,1-\delta_2])$$

$$c(\alpha, \beta, p) \| f \|_{p(\cdot), \mu}([-1, 1]) \le c(\alpha, \beta, p).$$
 (5.15)

From (5.14) and (5.15) we have

$$\|\sigma_{21}(f)\|_{p(\cdot)}([0,1-\delta_2/2]) \le c(\alpha,\beta,p).$$
(5.16)

If $1 - \delta_2/2 < x < 1$, then

$$\sigma_{21}(f,x) = c(\alpha,\beta,p)(1-x)^{\frac{\alpha}{p(1)}} \left(\sqrt{1-x} + \frac{1}{n}\right)^{-\alpha-\frac{1}{2}} \int_{-\frac{1}{2}}^{1-\delta_2} |\varphi_n(y)f(y)| dy.$$
(5.17)

On the other hand, from (1.4) and (5.12) we have

$$\int_{-\frac{1}{2}}^{1-\delta_2} |g(y)| dy \le c(p) \|g\|_{p(\cdot)} ([-1/2, 1-\delta_2]) \le c(\alpha, \beta, p) \|f\|_{p(\cdot), \mu} ([-1/2, 1-\delta_2]) \le c(\alpha, \beta, p).$$
(5.18)

From (5.17) and (5.18) we find (here $x_n = 1 - c/n^2 \ge 1 - \delta_2$)

$$\int_{1-\delta_2/2}^{1} (\sigma_{21}(f,x))^{p(x)} dx = \int_{1-\delta_2/2}^{1} (\sigma_{21}(f,x))^{p(1)} dx \le c(\alpha,\beta,p) \left(\int_{1-\delta_2/2}^{x_n} (1-x)^{\frac{\alpha}{p(1)} - \frac{\alpha}{2} - \frac{1}{4}} dx + n^{\frac{\alpha}{2} + \frac{1}{4}} \int_{x_n}^{1} (1-x)^{\frac{\alpha}{p(1)}} dx \right) \le c(\alpha,\beta,p).$$
(5.19)
Combining the estimates (5.16) and (5.16), we can write

$$\|\sigma_{21}(f)\|_{p(\cdot)}([0,1]) \le c(\alpha,\beta,p).$$
(5.20)

We now turn to an estimate of the norm of the function $\sigma_{22}(f)$. We consider two cases. If $0 \le x \le 1 - \delta_2$, then from (5.11) we have

$$\sigma_{22}(f,x) = c(\alpha,\beta,p) \left| \int_{1-\delta_2}^{1} \frac{A_n(y)(1-y)^{\alpha+1} \left(\sqrt{1-y} + \frac{1}{n}\right)^{-\alpha-\frac{3}{2}} f(y)dy}{x-y} \right|.$$

$$\leq c(\alpha, \beta, p) \left| \int_{1-\delta_2}^{1-\frac{\delta_2}{2}} [\dots] \right| + c(\alpha, \beta, p) \left| \int_{1-\frac{\delta_2}{2}}^{1} [\dots] \right| = \sigma_{221}(f, x) + \sigma_{222}(f, x).$$
(5.21)

We apply the Gilbert transform (2.4) to the function $g(y) = \varphi_n(y) f(y)$, then from (5.21) we have $\sigma_{221}(f, x) = c(\alpha, \beta, p)|H^{1-\delta_2, 1-\delta_2/2}g(x)|$, therefore, by virtue of (2.5) and (5.12) we can write

$$\|\sigma_{221}(f)\|_{p(\cdot)}([1-\delta_2, 1-\delta_2/2]) \le c(\alpha, \beta, p)\|g\|_{p(\cdot)}([1-\delta_2, 1-\delta_2/2]) \le c(\alpha, \beta, p)\|f\|_{p(\cdot),\mu}([1-\delta_2, 1-\delta_2/2]) \le c(\alpha, \beta, p)\|f\|_{p(\cdot),\mu}([-1, 1]) \le c(\alpha, \beta, p).$$
(5.22)

Next, from (3.2) and (5.10) it follows that

$$|A_n(y)| \le c(\alpha, \beta) \quad (-1/2 \le y < 1), \tag{5.23}$$

so from (5.21) we have using Holder inequality

$$\sigma_{222}(f,x) = c(\alpha,\beta,p) \left| \int_{1-\delta_2/2}^{1} (1-y)^{\alpha+1} \left(\sqrt{1-y} + \frac{1}{n} \right)^{-\alpha-\frac{3}{2}} f(y) dy \right|$$
$$\leq c(\alpha,\beta,p) \left| \int_{1-\delta_2/2}^{1} (1-y)^{\frac{\alpha}{2}+\frac{1}{4}-\frac{\alpha}{p(1)}} \mu^{\frac{\alpha}{p(1)}}(y) f(y) dy \right|$$

$$\leq c(\alpha, \beta, p) \| f \|_{p(\cdot), \mu} ([1 - \delta_2/2, 1]) \left(\int_{1 - \delta_2/2}^{1} (1 - y)^{\left(\frac{\alpha}{2} + \frac{1}{4} - \frac{\alpha}{p(1)}\right)q(1)} dy \right)^{\frac{1}{q(1)}},$$
(5.24)

where q(1) = p(1)/(p(1) - 1). The last integral is finite, since by virtue of (4.10) $\left(\frac{\alpha}{2} + \frac{1}{4} - \frac{\alpha}{p(1)}\right)q(1) > -1$. Thus, from (5.24) we derive $(0 \le x \le 1 - \delta_2)$

$$\sigma_{222}(f, x) \le c(\alpha, \beta, p) \| f \|_{p(\cdot), \mu} ([1 - \delta_2/2, 1])$$

$$\le c(\alpha, \beta, p) \| f \|_{p(\cdot), \mu} ([-1, 1]) \le c(\alpha, \beta, p),$$

from which, in turn, we find

$$\|\sigma_{222}(f)\|_{p(\cdot)}([0,1-\delta_2]) \le c(\alpha,\beta,p).$$
(5.25)

The estimates (5.21), (5.22) and (5.25) taken together give

$$\|\sigma_{22}(f)\|_{p(\cdot)}([0, 1-\delta_2]) \le c(\alpha, \beta, p).$$
(5.26)

Consider the case $1 - \delta_2 \le x < 1$ and note that in this case p(x) = p(1), so we can obtain for $\sigma_{22}(f, x)$ the following estimate

$$\sigma_{22}(f,x) \leq c(\alpha,\beta)(1-x)^{\frac{\alpha}{p(1)}-\frac{\alpha}{2}-\frac{1}{4}} \left| \int_{||-\delta_2}^{1} \frac{A_n(y)(1-y)^{\frac{\alpha}{2}+\frac{1}{4}}f(y)dy}{x-y} \right|$$
$$= c(\alpha,\beta) \left| \int_{||-\delta_2}^{1} \frac{A_n(y)(1-y)^{\frac{\alpha}{p(x)}}f(y)}{x-y} \left(\frac{1-y}{1-x}\right)^{\frac{\alpha}{2}+\frac{1}{4}-\frac{\alpha}{p(x)}}dy \right|$$
$$\leq U(f,x) + V(f,x),$$
(5.27)

where

$$U(f,x) = c(\alpha,\beta) \left| \int_{1-\delta_2}^{1} \frac{A_n(y)(1-y)^{\frac{\alpha}{p(1)}} f(y)}{x-y} dy \right|,$$
 (5.28)

The Convergence of the Fourier-Jacobi Series

$$V(f,x) = c(\alpha,\beta) \int_{1-\delta_2}^{1} \frac{|A_n(y)|(1-y)^{\frac{\alpha}{p(1)}}|f(y)|}{|x-y|} \left| \left(\frac{1-y}{1-x}\right)^{\frac{\alpha}{2}+\frac{1}{4}-\frac{\alpha}{p(1)}} - 1 \right| dy.$$
(5.29)

We note that

$$0 < \frac{\alpha}{2} + \frac{1}{4} - \frac{\alpha}{p(1)} < 1 \text{ if } 1 < p(1) < \frac{4\alpha}{2\alpha + 1}, \tag{5.30}$$

$$\frac{\alpha}{2} + \frac{1}{4} - \frac{\alpha}{p(1)} = 0 \text{ if } p(1) = \frac{4\alpha}{2\alpha + 1},$$
(5.31)

$$0 < \frac{\alpha}{p(1)} - \frac{\alpha}{2} - \frac{1}{4} < 1 \text{ if } \frac{4\alpha}{2\alpha + 1} < p(1) < \infty.$$
 (5.32)

First we estimate U(f, x). We set $\psi(y) = A_n(y)(1 - y)^{\frac{\alpha}{p(1)}} f(y)$ and use the definition of (2.4), then from (5.28) we have $U(f, x) = c(\alpha, \beta)|H^{1-\delta_2,1}\psi(x)|$, therefore, from the estimates (2.5) and (5.23) we find

$$\|U(f)\|_{p(\cdot)}([1-\delta_2,1]) \le c(\alpha,\beta,p)\|\psi\|_{p(\cdot)}([1-\delta_2,1]) \le c(\alpha,\beta,p)\|f\|_{p(\cdot),\mu}([1-\delta_2,1]) \le c(\alpha,\beta,p).$$
(5.33)

We proceed to estimate $||V(f)||_{p(\cdot)}([1 - \delta_2, 1])$ in the case of (5.32). Under condition (5.30), the value of $||V(f)||_{p(\cdot)}([1 - \delta_2, 1])$ is estimated similarly and $||V(f)||_{p(\cdot)}([1 - \delta_2, 1]) = 0$ in the case of (5.31).

We turn to the relations (2.3), (1.3) and (5.23), from which, assuming $\gamma = \alpha/p(1) - \alpha/2 - 1/4$,

$$K_{\gamma}(x, y) = \frac{1}{|x - y|} \left| \left(\frac{1 - y}{1 - x} \right)^{\gamma} - 1 \right|,$$

we find

$$\|V(f)\|_{p(\cdot)}([1-\delta_2,1]) \le c(\alpha,\beta) \sup_{g} \int_{1-\delta_2}^{1} \int_{1-\delta_2}^{1} |g(x)\psi(y)| K_{\gamma}(x,y) dx dy,$$
(5.34)

where the supremum is taken over all $g \in L^{q(1)}([1 - \delta_2, 1])$, for which $||g||_{p(\cdot)}([1 - \delta_2, 1]) \leq 1$. We estimate the double integral *I* from (5.34). We have

$$I = \int_{1-\delta_2}^{1} \int_{1-\delta_2}^{1} |\psi(y)| K_{\gamma}^{\frac{1}{p(1)}}(x, y) \left(\frac{1-x}{1-y}\right)^{-\frac{1}{p(1)q(1)}} \times |g(x)| K_{\gamma}^{\frac{1}{q(1)}}(x, y) \left(\frac{1-x}{1-y}\right)^{\frac{1}{p(1)q(1)}} dx dy \leq \int_{1-\delta_2}^{1} |g(x)|^{q(1)} F_1(x) dx \int_{1-\delta_2}^{\frac{1}{q(1)}} \left(\int_{1-\delta_2}^{1} |\psi(y)|^{p(1)} F_2(y) dy\right)^{\frac{1}{p(1)}},$$
(5.35)

where

$$F_1(x) = \int_{1-\delta_2}^1 K_{\gamma}(x, y) \left(\frac{1-x}{1-y}\right)^{\frac{1}{p(1)}} dy,$$

$$F_2(y) = \int_{1-\delta_2}^1 K_{\gamma}(x, y) \left(\frac{1-y}{1-x}\right)^{\frac{1}{q(1)}} dx.$$

Let us show that functions F_1 and F_2 are bounded on $[1 - \delta_2, 1]$. To this end we note that $0 < \gamma < \frac{1}{4}$ when $-1 < \alpha < -1/2$ so we can use Lemma 5.1, from which we have

$$F_{1}(x) \leq 2 \int_{1-\delta_{2}}^{1} \frac{(1-x)^{\frac{1}{p(1)}} dy}{(1-y)^{\frac{1}{p(1)}+\gamma} ((1-y)^{1-\gamma} + (1-x)^{1-\gamma})} \leq 2 \int_{1-\delta_{2}}^{x} \frac{(1-x)^{\frac{1}{p(1)}} dy}{(1-y)^{\frac{1}{p(1)}+1}} + 2 \int_{x}^{1} \frac{(1-x)^{\frac{1}{p(1)}} dy}{(1-y)^{\frac{1}{p(1)}+\gamma} (1-x)^{1-\gamma}} \leq 2(1-x)^{\frac{1}{p(1)}} p(1)(1-x)^{-\frac{1}{p(1)}} + 2(1-x)^{\frac{1}{p(1)}-1+\gamma} \frac{(1-x)^{1-\frac{1}{p(1)}-\gamma}}{1-\frac{1}{p(1)}-\gamma} \leq c(\alpha, p),$$
(5.36)

$$F_{2}(x) \leq 2 \int_{1-\delta_{2}}^{1} \frac{(1-y)^{\frac{1}{q(1)}} dx}{(1-x)^{\gamma+\frac{1}{q(1)}} ((1-y)^{1-\gamma} + (1-x)^{1-\gamma})} \leq 2 \int_{1-\delta_{2}}^{y} \frac{(1-y)^{\frac{1}{q(1)}} dx}{(1-x)^{\frac{1}{q(1)}+1}} + 2 \int_{y}^{1} \frac{(1-y)^{\frac{1}{q(1)}-1+\gamma} dx}{(1-x)^{\frac{1}{q(1)}+\gamma}} \leq$$

The Convergence of the Fourier-Jacobi Series

$$2(1-y)^{\frac{1}{q(1)}}\frac{(1-y)^{-\frac{1}{q(1)}}}{1/q(1)} + 2(1-y)^{\frac{1}{q(1)}-1+\gamma}\frac{(1-y)^{1-\frac{1}{q(1)}-\gamma}}{1-\frac{1}{q(1)}-\gamma} \le c(\alpha, p).$$
(5.37)

It follows from (5.23), (5.35), (5.36) and (5.37) that

$$I \leq c(\alpha, p) \|g\|_{q(1)} ([1 - \delta_2, 1]) \|\psi\|_{p(1)} ([1 - \delta_2, 1]) \leq c(\alpha, \beta, p) \|A_n \mu^{\frac{1}{p(1)}} f\|_{p(1)} ([1 - \delta_2, 1]) \leq c(\alpha, \beta, p) \|f\|_{p(\cdot), \mu} ([1 - \delta_2, 1]) \leq c(\alpha, \beta, p) \|f\|_{p(\cdot), \mu} ([-1, 1]),$$
(5.38)

Putting together the estimates (5.34) and (5.38) yields

$$\|V(f)\|_{p(\cdot)}([1-\delta_2,1]) \le c(\alpha,\beta,p).$$
(5.39)

From the inequality (5.27), (5.33) and (5.39) we derive

$$\|\sigma_{22}(f)\|_{p(\cdot)}([1-\delta_2,1]) \le c(\alpha,\beta,p), \tag{5.40}$$

and from (5.26), (5.40) we get

$$\|\sigma_{22}(f)\|_{p(\cdot)}([0,1]) \le c(\alpha,\beta,p).$$
(5.41)

Comparing (5.20) and (5.41) with (5.11) we see that the assertion of Lemma 4.2 holds for i = 2. We proceed to proof the assertion of Lemma 4.2 for i = 4. We set

$$B_n(y) = \sqrt{n}(1+y)^{\beta}(\sqrt{1-y} + \frac{1}{n})^{\alpha+\frac{1}{2}}P_n^{\alpha,\beta}(y), \qquad (5.42)$$

$$\Phi_n(y) = B_n(y)(1-y)^{\alpha}(\sqrt{1-y} + \frac{1}{n})^{-\alpha - \frac{1}{2}}$$
(5.43)

and note, that by virtue of (3.2) we have

$$|B_n(y)| \le c(\alpha, \beta) \quad (-1/2 \le y < 1), \tag{5.44}$$

$$|\Phi_n(y)| \le c(\alpha, \beta, p) \quad (-1/2 \le y < 1 - \delta_2/2). \tag{5.45}$$

From (4.9), (5.42) and (5.43) we have

$$\sigma_4(f,x) = c(\alpha,\beta)(1-x)^{\frac{\alpha}{p(x)}+1} \left(\sqrt{1-x} + \frac{1}{n}\right)^{-\alpha-\frac{3}{2}} \left| \int_{-\frac{1}{2}}^{1} \frac{\Phi_n(y)f(y)dy}{x-y} \right|$$

$$\leq \sigma_{41}(f,x) + \sigma_{42}(f,x), \qquad (5.46)$$

where

$$\sigma_{41}(f,x) = c(\alpha,\beta)(1-x)^{\frac{\alpha}{p(x)}+1} \left(\sqrt{1-x} + \frac{1}{n}\right)^{-\alpha-\frac{3}{2}} \left| \int_{-\frac{1}{2}}^{1-\delta_2} \frac{\Phi_n(y)f(y)dy}{x-y} \right|,$$
(5.47)

$$\sigma_{42}(f,x) = c(\alpha,\beta)(1-x)^{\frac{\alpha}{p(x)}+1} \left(\sqrt{1-x} + \frac{1}{n}\right)^{-\alpha-\frac{3}{2}} \left| \int_{1-\delta_2}^1 \frac{\Phi_n(y)f(y)dy}{x-y} \right|.$$
(5.48)

Let us estimate $|\sigma_{41}(f, x)|$. To this end we consider two cases: (1) $0 \le x \le 1 - \delta_2/2$; (2) $1 - \delta_2/2 \le x < 1$. If $0 \le x \le 1 - \delta_2/2$ then it follows from (2.4) and (5.47) that

$$\sigma_{41}(f,x) \le c(\alpha,\beta,p) \left| \int_{-\frac{1}{2}}^{1-\delta_2} \frac{\Phi_n(y)f(y)dy}{x-y} \right| = c(\alpha,\beta,p) \left| H^{-\frac{1}{2},1-\delta_2}g(x) \right|,$$
(5.49)

where $g(y) = \Phi_n(y) f(y)$, and for $1 - \delta_2/2 \le x < 1$ we have

$$\sigma_{41}(f,x) \le c(\alpha,\beta,p)(1-x)^{\frac{\alpha}{p(1)}+1} \left(\sqrt{1-x} + \frac{1}{n}\right)^{-\alpha-\frac{3}{2}} \int_{-\frac{1}{2}}^{1-\delta_2} |\Phi_n(y)f(y)| dy.$$
(5.50)

If we turn to the estimate (2.5), then, setting $g(y) = \Phi_n(y)f(y)$ and taking into account (5.42)–(5.45), we can write

$$\|H^{-\frac{1}{2},1-\delta_2}g\|_{p(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}) \le c(\alpha,\beta,p)\|g\|_{p(\cdot)}([-1/2,1-\delta_2]) \le c(\alpha,\beta,p)\|f\|_{p(\cdot),\mu}([-1/2,1-\delta_2]).$$
(5.51)

From (5.49) and (5.51) we derive

$$\|\sigma_{41}(f)\|_{p(\cdot)}([0, 1-\delta_2]) \le c(\alpha, \beta, p) \|f\|_{p(\cdot), \mu}([-1, 1]) \le c(\alpha, \beta, p).$$
(5.52)

On the other hand, by virtue of (1.4) and (5.45)

$$\int_{-\frac{1}{2}}^{1-\delta_2} |g(y)| dy \le c(p) \|g\|_{p(\cdot)}([-\frac{1}{2}, 1-\delta_2]) \le c(\alpha, \beta, p) \|f\|_{p(\cdot), \mu}([-\frac{1}{2}, 1-\delta_2]) \le c(\alpha, \beta, p),$$

therefore, for $p \in \mathcal{P}(-1, 1)$ from (5.50) we have

$$\int_{1-\delta_{2}}^{1} (\sigma_{41}(f,x))^{p(x)} dx \leq \\ c(\alpha,\beta,p) \int_{1-\delta_{2}}^{1} \left[(1-x)^{\frac{\alpha}{p(1)}+1} \left(\sqrt{1-x} + \frac{1}{n} \right)^{-\alpha-\frac{3}{2}} \right]^{p(1)} dx \leq \\ c(\alpha,\beta,p) \int_{1-\delta_{2}}^{1} (1-x)^{\alpha+(\frac{1}{4}-\frac{\alpha}{2})p(1)} dx \leq \\ \frac{c(\alpha,\beta,p)\delta_{2}^{\alpha+(\frac{1}{4}-\frac{\alpha}{2})p(1)}}{\alpha+(\frac{1}{4}-\frac{\alpha}{2})p(1)+1} \leq c(\alpha,\beta,p).$$
(5.53)

From (5.52) and (5) we find

$$\|\sigma_{41}(f)\|_{p(\cdot)}([0,1]) \le c(\alpha,\beta,p).$$
(5.54)

We proceed to estimate $|\sigma_{42}(f, x)|$. To this end, we consider two cases: 1) $0 \le x \le 1 - \delta_2$; 2) $1 - \delta_2 \le x < 1$. If $0 \le x \le 1 - \delta_2$ then according to (5.48) we have

$$\sigma_{42}(f,x) = c(\alpha)(1-x)^{\frac{\alpha}{p(1)}+1} \left(\sqrt{1-x} + \frac{1}{n}\right)^{-\alpha-\frac{3}{2}} \\ \times \left| \left(\int_{-\frac{1}{2}}^{1-\delta_2} + \int_{1-\delta_2}^{1} \right) \frac{\Phi_n(y)f(y)dy}{x-y} \right| \le \sigma_{421}(f,x) + \sigma_{422}(f,x), \quad (5.55)$$

where

$$\sigma_{421}(f,x) = c(\alpha,\beta,p) \left| \int_{1-\delta_2}^{1-\delta_2/2} \frac{\Phi_n(y)f(y)dy}{x-y} \right|,$$
(5.56)

$$\sigma_{422}(f,x) = c(\alpha,\beta,p) \left| \int_{1-\delta_2/2}^{1} \frac{\Phi_n(y)f(y)dy}{x-y} \right|.$$
(5.57)

Let us set $r_n = r_n(y) = \Phi_n(y) f(y)$ and use the definition (2.4), then we can rewrite (5.56) as $\sigma_{421}(f, x) = c(\alpha, \beta, p) |H^{1-\delta_2, 1-\delta_2/2} r_n(x)|$, therefore, by virtue

of (2.5) and (5.45)

$$\|\sigma_{421}(f)\|_{p(\cdot)}([0, 1 - \delta_2]) \le c(\alpha, \beta, p)\|r_n\|_{p(\cdot)}([1 - \delta_2, 1 - \delta_2/2]) \le c(\alpha, \beta, p)\|f\|_{p(\cdot),\mu}([1 - \delta_2, 1 - \delta_2/2]) \le c(\alpha, \beta, p)\|f\|_{p(\cdot),\mu}([-1, 1]) \le c(\alpha, \beta, p).$$
(5.58)

Next, by virtue of (5.44), (5.57) and taking into account that (5.2) we can write

$$\sigma_{422}(f,x) \le c(\alpha,\beta,p) \int_{1-\delta_2/2}^{1} (1-y)^{\alpha} (\sqrt{1-y} + \frac{1}{n})^{-\alpha - \frac{1}{2}} |f(y)| dy \le c(\alpha,\beta,p) \int_{1-\delta_2/2}^{1} (1-y)^{\frac{\alpha}{q(1)}} (\sqrt{1-y} + \frac{1}{n})^{-\alpha - \frac{1}{2}} |f(y)| \mu^{\frac{\alpha}{p(1)}}(y) dy \le dx$$

$$c(\alpha,\beta,p) \|f\|_{p(\cdot),\mu}([-1,1]) \left(\int_{1-\delta_2/2}^1 (1-y)^{\alpha} (\sqrt{1-y} + \frac{1}{n})^{-(\alpha+\frac{1}{2})q(1)} dy \right)^{\frac{1}{q(1)}}.$$

Thus (see (5.19)) $\sigma_{422}(f, x) \leq c(\alpha, \beta, p)$ and

$$\|\sigma_{422}(f)\|_{p(\cdot)}([0,1-\delta_2]) \le c(\alpha,\beta,p).$$
(5.59)

The estimates (5.55), (5.58) and (5.59), taken together, give

$$\|\sigma_{42}(f)\|_{p(\cdot)}([0, 1-\delta_2]) \le c(\alpha, \beta, p).$$
(5.60)

We consider now the case $1 - \delta_2 \le x < 1$. Let $y_n = 1 - c/n^2 > 1 - \delta_2$, then

$$\sigma_{42}(f,x) \leq c(\alpha)(1-x)^{\frac{\alpha}{p(1)}-\frac{\alpha}{2}+\frac{1}{4}} \\ \times \left| \int_{1-\delta_2}^{1-y_n} \frac{B_n(y)(1-y)^{\alpha}(\sqrt{1-y}+\frac{1}{n})^{-\alpha-\frac{1}{2}}f(y)dy}{x-y} \right| \\ + c(\alpha)(1-x)^{\frac{\alpha}{p(1)}-\frac{\alpha}{2}+\frac{1}{4}} \left| \int_{1-y_n}^{1} \frac{B_n(y)(1-y)^{\alpha}(\sqrt{1-y}+\frac{1}{n})^{-\alpha-\frac{1}{2}}f(y)dy}{x-y} \right| \\ = I_1 + I_2.$$
(5.61)

We estimate I_1 . To this end we write

$$I_1 \le G(f, x) + Q(f, x), \tag{5.62}$$

where

$$G(f,x) = c(\alpha) \left| \int_{1-\delta_2}^{1-y_n} \frac{B_n(y)(1-y)^{\frac{\alpha}{p(1)}} f(y)dy}{x-y} \right|,$$
(5.63)

$$Q(f,x) = c(\alpha) \left| \int_{1-\delta_2}^{1-y_n} \frac{B_n(y)(1-y)^{\frac{\alpha}{p(1)}}f(y)dy}{x-y} \left[\left(\frac{1-x}{1-y}\right)^{\frac{\alpha}{p(1)}-\frac{\alpha}{2}+\frac{1}{4}} - 1 \right] \right|.$$
(5.64)

Value G(f, x) can be estimated in a similar way as U(f, x) therefore we have

$$\|G(f)\|_{p(\cdot)}([1-\delta_2,1]) \le c(\alpha,\beta,p) \|f\|_{p(\cdot)}([-1,1]) \le c(\alpha,\beta,p).$$
(5.65)

Next, we note

$$0 < -\frac{\alpha}{2} + \frac{1}{4} + \frac{\alpha}{p(1)} < 1.$$
(5.66)

and set

$$K_{\gamma}(x, y) = \frac{1}{|x - y|} \left| \left(\frac{1 - x}{1 - y} \right)^{\gamma} - 1 \right|, \ \gamma = -\frac{\alpha}{2} + \frac{1}{4} + \frac{\alpha}{p(1)}.$$
 (5.67)

Then, taking into account (5.64), we can write

$$\|Q(f)\|_{p(\cdot)}([1-\delta_2,1]) \le c(\alpha) \sup_{g} \int_{1-\delta_2}^{1} \int_{1-\delta_2}^{1} |g(x)Z(y)| K_{\gamma}(x,y) dx dy, \quad (5.68)$$

where $Z(y) = B_n(y)(1-y)^{\frac{\alpha}{p(1)}}$, and the supremum is taken over all $g \in L^{q(1)}([1-\delta_2, 1])$, for which $||g||_{p(\cdot)}([1-\delta_2, 1]) \leq 1$. The double integral *J* from (5.68) can be estimated in a similar way as *I*. Thus

$$J \leq c(\alpha, \beta, p).$$

Comparing this estimate with (5.68), we derive

$$\|Q(f)\|_{p(\cdot)}([1-\delta_2,1]) \le c(\alpha,\beta,p).$$
(5.69)

From estimates (5.62), (5.65) and (5.69)

$$I_1 \le c(\alpha, \beta, p). \tag{5.70}$$

We proceed to I_2 estimation. From (5.44) assuming $(1 - y)^{\alpha} f(y) = g(y)$ we get

$$I_{2} \leq c(\alpha)n^{\alpha + \frac{1}{2}}(1 - x)^{\frac{\alpha}{p(1)} - \frac{\alpha}{2} + \frac{1}{4}} \left| \int_{1 - y_{n}}^{1} \frac{(1 - y)^{\alpha} f(y) dy}{x - y} \right|$$

$$\leq c(\alpha, \beta)n^{\alpha + \frac{1}{2}}(1 - x)^{\frac{\alpha}{p(1)} - \frac{\alpha}{2} + \frac{1}{4}} H^{1 - y_{n}, 1}g(x)$$

$$\leq c(\alpha, \beta, p)n^{\alpha + \frac{1}{2}}(1 - x)^{\frac{\alpha}{p(1)} - \frac{\alpha}{2} + \frac{1}{4}}$$
(5.71)

The estimates (5.61), (5.70) and (5.71) give

$$\|\sigma_{42}(f)\|_{p(\cdot)}([1-\delta_2,1]) \le c(\alpha,\beta,p), \tag{5.72}$$

and from (5.60) and (5.72) we get

$$\|\sigma_{42}(f)\|_{p(\cdot)}([0,1]) \le c(\alpha,\beta,p).$$
(5.73)

Comparing (5.54) and (5.73) with (5.46), we see that the assertion of Lemma 4.2 holds for i = 4. Thus, Lemma 4.2 is completely proved.

Theorem 5.2 Let $-1 < \alpha, \beta < -1/2, \mu = \mu(x) = (1-x)^{\alpha}(1+x)^{\beta}, p \in \mathcal{P}(-1, 1), 1 < p(1) < \infty, 1 < p(-1) < \infty$. Then

$$\|S_n^{\alpha,\beta}(f)\|_{p(\cdot),\mu}([-1,1]) \le c(\alpha,\beta,p)\|f\|_{p(\cdot),\mu}([-1,1])$$
(5.74)

holds for any function $f \in L^{p(x)}_{\mu}([-1, 1])$.

The proof of this assertion is similar to the Theorem 5.1 from [9].

Corollary 5.3 If Theorem 5.2 conditions hold, then the system of orthonormal Jacobi polynomials $\{p_n^{\alpha,\beta}(x)\}_{n=0}^{\infty}$ with $-1 < \alpha, \beta < -1/2$ is a basis of the space $L_{\mu}^{p(x)}([-1,1])$, where $\mu = \mu(x) = (1-x)^{\alpha}(1+x)^{\beta}$ and consequently

 $||f - S_n^{\alpha,\beta}(f)||_{p(\cdot),\mu}([-1,1]) \to 0$

as $n \to \infty$ for arbitrary function $f \in L^{p(x)}_{\mu}([-1, 1])$.

References

- 1. Sharapudinov, I.I.: Topology of the space $L^{p(t)}([0, 1])$. Math. Notes **26**(4), 796–806 (1979)
- 2. Sharapudinov, I.I.: Some questions of approximation theory in the Lebesgue spaces with variable exponent. In: Itogi Nauki. Yug Rossii. Mat. Monograf., vol. 5. Southern Mathematical Institute of the Vladikavkaz Scientific Center of the Russian Academy of Sciences and Republic of North Ossetia-Alania, Vladikavkaz (2012)

- 3. Sharapudinov, I.I.: Approximation of functions in $L_{2\pi}^{p(x)}$ by trigonometric polynomials. Izv. Math. **77**(2), 407–434 (2013)
- 4. Sharapudinov, I.I.: Some aspects of approximation theory in the spaces $L^{p(x)}$. Anal. Math. **33**(2), 135–153 (2007)
- 5. Diening, L., Ružička, M.: Calderon-Zygmund Operators on Generalized Lebesgue Spaces $L^{p(x)}$ and Problems Related to Fluid Dynamics, pp. 1–20. Preprint Mathematischen Fakultät. Albert-Ludwigs-University, Frieiburg (2002)
- 6. Sharapudinov, I.I.: The basis property of the Legendre polynomials in the variable exponent Lebesgue space $L^{p(x)}(-1, 1)$. Sbornik Math. **200**(1), 133–156 (2009)
- 7. Guven, A., Israfilov, D.M.: Trigonometric approximation in generalized Lebesgue spaces $L^{p(x)}$. J. Math. Inequal. 4(2), 285–299 (2010)
- Israfilov, D.M., Testici, A.: Approximation by matrix transforms in weighted Lebesgue spaces with variable exponent. RM 73, Article no. 8 (2018)
- Sharapudinov, I.I., Shakh-Emirov, T.N.: Convergence of Fourier series in Jacobi polynomials in weighted Lebesgue space with variable exponent. Daghestan Electron. Math. Rep. No. 8, 27–47 (2017)
- Sharapudinov, I.I.: The basis property of ultraspherical Jacobi polynomials in a weighted Lebesgue space with variable exponent. Math. Notes 106(4), 616–638 (2019)
- Cruz-Uribe, D.V., Fiorenza, A.: Variable Lebesgue Spaces: Foundations and Harmonic Analysis. Applied and Numerical Harmonic Analysis. Springer, Basel (2017)
- Diening, L., Harjulehto, P., Hastö, P., Růžička, M.: Lebesgue and Sobolev Spaces with Variable Exponents. Lecture Notes in Mathematics. Springer, Berlin (2017)
- Szegö, G.: Orthogonal Polynomials, vol. XXIII. American Mathematical Society, Providence (1959); Fizmatgiz, Moscow (1962)

Hyperbolic B-Potentials: Properties and Inversion



E. L. Shishkina

Abstract The paper is devoted to the study of the fractional integral operator which is a negative real power of the singular wave operator generated by Bessel operator, its properties and its inverse using weighted distributions.

Keywords Hyperbolic Riesz B-potential · Fractional power of singular hyperbolic operator · Lorentz distance · Singular Bessel differential operator · Generalized translation · Multidimensional Hankel transform

MSC Classification 31B15, 31B10, 26A33, 46E30

1 Introduction

In recent years, the interest to the Fractional Calculus has been increasing due to its applications in many fields. As for multidimensional case the most developed type of fractional integrals are Riesz potentials which are generalized both Newton potential to the fractional case and Riemann-Liouville fractional integral to the multidimensional case.

Marcel Riesz was a Hungarian mathematician who first established the fractional powers of the Laplace and D'Alembert operators (see [1] and [2]). Such potentials are called the **Riesz potentials** now and have the forms

$$I^{\alpha}_{\Delta}f(P) = \frac{1}{\gamma_n(\alpha)} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} f(Q) r^{\alpha-n} dQ$$

E. L. Shishkina (🖂)

Voronezh State University, Voronezh, Russia

[©] The Editor(s) (if applicable) and The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

A. G. Kusraev, Z. D. Totieva (eds.), *Operator Theory and Differential Equations*, Trends in Mathematics, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-49763-7_17

and

$$I_{\Box}^{\alpha}f(P) = \frac{1}{H_n(\alpha)}\int_D f(Q)r_{PQ}^{\alpha-n}dQ,$$

where $P = (x_1, ..., x_n)$, $Q = (\xi_1, ..., \xi_n)$, $\gamma_n(\alpha)$, $H_n(\alpha)$ is normalizing constant,

$$r = \sqrt{(x_1 - \xi_1)^2 + (x_2 - \xi_2)^2 + \ldots + (x_n - \xi_n)^2}$$

is the Euclidean distance,

$$r_{PQ} = \sqrt{(x_1 - \xi_1)^2 - (x_2 - \xi_2)^2 - \dots - (x_n - \xi_n)^2}$$

is the Lorentz distance, $D = \{x : x_1^2 \ge x_2^2 + \ldots + x_n^2\}$ is the positive cone.

In [2] was shown that

$$\Delta I_{\Delta}^{\alpha+2}f(P) = -I_{\Delta}^{\alpha}f(P)$$

and

$$\Box I_{\Box}^{\alpha+2}f(P) = I_{\Box}^{\alpha}f(P).$$

For further properties such as conditions of existence, semigroup property and inversion see [2-6]. The theory of hyperbolic potentials introduced in [5] was developed in the articles [7, 8]. As for classical Riesz potentials with Lorentz distance we refer to [6, 9].

The theory of fractional powers of elliptic operators with Bessel operator

$$B_{\nu} = D^2 + \frac{\nu}{x}D, \qquad D = \frac{d}{dx}$$

acting instead of all or some second derivatives in Δ is well developed (see [10–16]).

Fractional powers of hyperbolic operators, with Bessel operators instead of all or some second derivatives were studied in [17–21]. Such operators have wide areas of application such as singular differential equations, differential geometry and random walks.

In this article we study real powers of

$$\Box_{\gamma} = B_{\gamma_1} - B_{\gamma_2} - \ldots - B_{\gamma_n}, \qquad B_{\gamma_i} = \frac{\partial^2}{\partial x_i^2} + \frac{\gamma_i}{x_i} \frac{\partial}{\partial x_i}, \qquad i = 1, \ldots, n.$$

Composition method (see [22]) was used for construction of $(\Box_{\gamma})^{-\frac{\alpha}{2}}$, $\alpha > 0$.

230

2 Basic Definitions

In this section we derive some definitions that we use later in this article.

Suppose that \mathbb{R}^n is the *n*-dimensional Euclidean space,

$$\mathbb{R}^{n}_{+} = \{x = (x_{1}, \dots, x_{n}) \in \mathbb{R}^{n}, x_{1} > 0, \dots, x_{n} > 0\},\$$

 $\gamma = (\gamma_1, \dots, \gamma_n)$ is a multi-index consisting of positive fixed real numbers γ_i , $i=1, \dots, n$, and $|\gamma| = \gamma_1 + \dots + \gamma_n$.

Let Ω be finite or infinite open set in \mathbb{R}^n symmetric with respect to each hyperplane $x_i=0, i = 1, ..., n, \Omega_+ = \Omega \cap \mathbb{R}^n_+$ and $\overline{\Omega}_+ = \Omega \cap \overline{\mathbb{R}}^n_+$ where $\overline{\mathbb{R}}^n_+=\{x=(x_1,...,x_n)\in\mathbb{R}^n, x_1\geq 0, ..., x_n\geq 0\}$. We deal with the class $C^m(\Omega_+)$ consisting of *m* times differentiable on Ω_+ functions and denote by $C^m(\overline{\Omega}_+)$ the subset of functions from $C^m(\Omega_+)$ such that all derivatives of these functions with respect to x_i for any i = 1, ..., n are continuous up to $x_i=0$. Class $C_{ev}^m(\overline{\Omega}_+)$ consists of all functions from $C^m(\overline{\Omega}_+)$ such that $\frac{\partial^{2k+1}f}{\partial x_i^{2k+1}}\Big|_{x=0} = 0$ for all non-negative integer $k \leq \frac{m-1}{2}$ (see [23] and [24, p. 21]). In the following we will denote $C_{ev}^m(\overline{\mathbb{R}}^n_+)$ by C_{ev}^m . We set

$$C_{ev}^{\infty}(\overline{\Omega}_{+}) = \bigcap C_{ev}^{m}(\overline{\Omega}_{+})$$

with intersection taken for all finite *m* and $C_{ev}^{\infty}(\overline{\mathbb{R}}_+) = C_{ev}^{\infty}$.

As the space of test functions we will use the subspace of the space of rapidly decreasing functions:

$$S_{ev} = \left\{ f \in C^{\infty}_{ev} : \sup_{x \in \mathbb{R}^n_+} \left| x^{\alpha} D^{\beta} f(x) \right| < \infty \quad \forall \alpha, \beta \in \mathbb{Z}^n_+ \right\},\$$

where $\alpha = (\alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_n), \beta = (\beta_1, \ldots, \beta_n), \alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_n, \beta_1, \ldots, \beta_n$ are integer non-negative numbers, $x^{\alpha} = x_1^{\alpha_1} x_2^{\alpha_2} \ldots x_n^{\alpha_n}, D^{\beta} = D_{x_1}^{\beta_1} \ldots D_{x_n}^{\beta_n}, D_{x_j} = \frac{\partial}{\partial x_j}$.

Let $L_p^{\gamma}(\mathbb{R}^n_+) = L_p^{\gamma}, 1 \le p < \infty$, be the space of all measurable in \mathbb{R}^n_+ functions even with respect to each variable $x_i, i = 1, ..., n$ such that

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n_+} |f(x)|^p x^{\gamma} dx < \infty,$$

here and further

$$x^{\gamma} = \prod_{i=1}^{n} x_i^{\gamma_i}$$

For a real number $p \ge 1$, the L_p^{γ} -norm of f is defined by

$$||f||_{L_{p}^{\gamma}(\mathbb{R}^{n}_{+})} = ||f||_{p,\gamma} = \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}_{+}} |f(x)|^{p} x^{\gamma} dx\right)^{1/p}$$

Weighted measure of Ω_+ is denoted by $\operatorname{mes}_{\nu}(\Omega_+)$ and is defined by formula

$$\operatorname{mes}_{\gamma}(\Omega_{+}) = \int_{\Omega_{+}} x^{\gamma} dx.$$

For every measurable function f(x) defined on \mathbb{R}^n_+ we consider

$$\mu_{\gamma}(f,t) = \operatorname{mes}_{\gamma}\{x \in \mathbb{R}^{n}_{+} : |f(x)| > t\} = \int_{\{x: |f(x)| > t\}^{+}} x^{\gamma} dx$$

where $\{x:|f(x)|>t\}^+ = \{x \in \mathbb{R}^n_+:|f(x)|>t\}$. We will call the function $\mu_{\gamma} = \mu_{\gamma}(f, t)$ a weighted distribution function |f(x)|.

Space $L_{\infty}^{\gamma}(\mathbb{R}^{n}_{+})=L_{\infty}^{\gamma}$ is the space of all measurable in \mathbb{R}^{n}_{+} functions even with respect to each variable $x_{i}, i = 1, ..., n$ for which the norm

$$||f||_{L^{\gamma}_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{n}_{+})} = ||f||_{\infty,\gamma} = \operatorname{ess\,sup}_{\gamma}|f(x)| = \inf_{a \in \mathbb{R}} \{\mu_{\gamma}(f,a) = 0\}$$

is finite.

For $1 \le p \le \infty$ the $L_{p,loc}^{\gamma}(\mathbb{R}^n_+) = L_{p,loc}^{\gamma}$ is the set of functions u(x) defined almost everywhere in \mathbb{R}^n_+ such that $uf \in L_p^{\gamma}$ for any $f \in S_{ev}$.

Definition 1 The space of weighted distributions $S'_{ev}(\mathbb{R}^n_+) = S'_{ev}$ is a class of continuous linear functionals that map a set of test functions $f \in S_{ev}$ into the set of real numbers. Each function $u(x) \in L^{\gamma}_{1,loc}$ will be identified with the functional $u \in S'_{ev}(\mathbb{R}^n_+) = S'_{ev}$ acting according to the formula

$$(u, f)_{\gamma} = \int_{\mathbb{R}^n_+} u(x) f(x) x^{\gamma} dx, \qquad f \in S_{ev}.$$
(1)

Functionals $u \in S'_{ev}$ acting by the formula (1) will be called **regular weighted** functionals. All other continuous linear functionals $u \in S'_{ev}$ will be called **singular** weighted functionals.

We consider regular distributions

$$(\mathcal{P}^{\lambda}_{\gamma},\varphi)_{\gamma} = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}_{+}} \mathcal{P}^{\lambda}(x)\varphi(x)x^{\gamma}dx, \qquad x^{\gamma} = \prod_{i=1}^{n} x_{i}^{\gamma_{i}}, \tag{2}$$

where $\mathcal{P}(x) = \alpha_1 x_1^2 + \ldots + \alpha_n x_n^2$ is quadratic form with complex coefficients, φ is an appropriate test function. Let $P = x_1^2 - x_2^2 - \ldots - x_n^2$, and $P' = \varepsilon(x_1^2 + \ldots + x_n^2)$, $\varepsilon > 0$. Weighted distributions $(P \pm i0)_{\gamma}^{\lambda}$ are defined by

$$(P \pm i0)^{\lambda}_{\gamma} = \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} (P \pm iP')^{\lambda}_{\gamma}$$

in which we are passing to the limit under the integral sign in (2).

Generalized function δ_{γ} is defined by the equality

$$(\delta_{\gamma}, \varphi)_{\gamma} = \varphi(0), \quad \varphi(x) \in S_{ev}$$

Definition 2 The **multidimensional generalized translation** is defined by the equality

$$({}^{\gamma}\mathbf{T}_{x}^{y}f)(x) = {}^{\gamma}\mathbf{T}_{x}^{y}f(x) = ({}^{\gamma_{1}}T_{x_{1}}^{y_{1}}\dots{}^{\gamma_{n}}T_{x_{n}}^{y_{n}}f)(x),$$
(3)

where each of one-dimensional generalized translation $\gamma_i T_{x_i}^{y_i}$ acts for i=1,...,n according to

$$({}^{\gamma_i}T_{x_i}^{y_i}f)(x) = \frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{\gamma_i+1}{2}\right)}{\sqrt{\pi}\Gamma\left(\frac{\gamma_i}{2}\right)} \times$$

$$\times \int_{0}^{n} f(x_{1}, \dots, x_{i-1}, \sqrt{x_{i}^{2} + \tau_{i}^{2} - 2x_{i}y_{i}\cos\varphi_{i}}, x_{i+1}, \dots, x_{n}) \sin^{\gamma_{i}-1}\varphi_{i} d\varphi_{i}.$$

We will use the generalized convolution product defined by the formula

$$(f * g)_{\gamma}(x) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^n_+} f(y)({}^{\gamma}\mathbf{T}^y_x g)(x) y^{\gamma} dy, \qquad f, g \in S_{ev}$$

where ${}^{\gamma}\mathbf{T}_{x}^{y}$ is multidimensional generalized translation (3).

The generalized convolution $(u * f)_{\gamma}$ of a weighted distribution $u \in S'_{ev}$ and a function $f \in S_{ev}$ is defined by

$$(u * f)_{\gamma}(x) = (u, {}^{\gamma}\mathbf{T}_{x}^{\cdot}f)_{\gamma}$$

where the right-hand side denotes u acting on ${}^{\gamma}\mathbf{T}_{x}^{y}f$ as a function of y.

We will deal with the singular Bessel differential operator B_{ν} (see, for example, [24, p. 5]):

$$(B_{\nu})_{t} = \frac{\partial^{2}}{\partial t^{2}} + \frac{\nu}{t} \frac{\partial}{\partial t} = \frac{1}{t^{\nu}} \frac{\partial}{\partial t} t^{\nu} \frac{\partial}{\partial t}, \qquad t > 0$$

and the elliptical singular operator or the Laplace-Bessel operator \triangle_{γ} :

_

$$\Delta_{\gamma} = (\Delta_{\gamma})_{x} = \sum_{i=1}^{n} (B_{\gamma_{i}})_{x_{i}} = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \left(\frac{\partial^{2}}{\partial x_{i}^{2}} + \frac{\gamma_{i}}{x_{i}} \frac{\partial}{\partial x} \right) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \frac{1}{x_{i}^{\gamma_{i}}} \frac{\partial}{\partial x_{i}} x_{i}^{\gamma_{i}} \frac{\partial}{\partial x_{i}}.$$
 (4)

The operator (4) belongs to the class of B-elliptic operators by I. A. Kipriyanovs' classification (see [24]).

The natural method for the study of operators associated with the Bessel differential operator is the use of the multidimensional Hankel transform instead of the Fourier transform.

Definition 3 The **Hankel transform** of a function $f \in L_1^{\gamma}(\mathbb{R}^n_+)$ is expressed as

$$\mathbf{F}_{\gamma}[f](\xi) = \mathbf{F}_{\gamma}[f(x)](\xi) = \widehat{f}(\xi) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^n_+} f(x) \, \mathbf{j}_{\gamma}(x;\xi) x^{\gamma} dx,$$

where

$$\mathbf{j}_{\gamma}(x;\xi) = \prod_{i=1}^{n} j_{\frac{\gamma_i-1}{2}}(x_i\xi_i), \qquad \gamma_1 > 0, \dots, \gamma_n > 0,$$

the symbol j_{ν} is used for the normalized Bessel function:

$$j_{\nu}(r) = \frac{2^{\nu} \Gamma(\nu+1)}{r^{\nu}} J_{\nu}(r)$$
(5)

and $J_{\nu}(r)$ is the Bessel function of the first kind of order ν .

For $f \in S_{ev}$ its inverse Hankel transform is defined by

$$\mathbf{F}_{\gamma}^{-1}[\widehat{f}(\xi)](x) = f(x) = \frac{2^{n-|\gamma|}}{\prod\limits_{j=1}^{n} \Gamma^2\left(\frac{\gamma_j+1}{2}\right)} \int\limits_{\mathbb{R}^n_+} \mathbf{j}_{\gamma}(x,\xi) \widehat{f}(\xi) \xi^{\gamma} d\xi.$$

If $g \in S'_{ev}$ then equality

$$(\mathbf{F}_{\gamma}g,\varphi)_{\gamma} = (g,\mathbf{F}_{\gamma}\varphi)_{\gamma}, \qquad \varphi \in S_{ev}$$
(6)

defines Hankel transform of functional $g \in S'_{ev}$.

In [25] the space Ψ_V consisting of functions vanishing on a given closed set V of measure zero was considered. The Lizorkin–Samko space Ψ_V is dual to Φ_V in the sense of Fourier transforms. We introduce the space Ψ_V^{γ} of functions S_{ev} vanishing with all their derivatives on a given closed set V:

$$\Psi_V^{\gamma} = \{ \psi \in S_{ev}(\mathbb{R}^n_+) : (D^k \psi)(x) = 0, x \in V, |k| = 0, 1, 2, \ldots \}.$$

Space Ψ_V^{γ} is dual to Φ_V^{γ} in the sense of Hankel transforms:

$$\Phi_V^{\gamma} = \{ \varphi : \mathbf{F}_{\gamma} \varphi \in \Psi_V^{\gamma} \}.$$
⁽⁷⁾

Appell hypergeometric function $F_4(a, b, c_1, c_2; x, y)$ (see [26, p. 658]) for $|x|^{1/2} + |y|^{1/2} < 1$ has the form

$$F_4(a, b, c_1, c_2; x, y) = \sum_{m,n=0}^{\infty} \frac{(a)_{m+n}(b)_{m+n}}{(c_1)_m (c_2)_n m! n!} x^m y^n.$$
 (8)

For $|x|^{1/2} + |y|^{1/2} \ge 1$ function $F_4(a, b; c_1, c_2; x, y)$ is understood as an analytical continuation, which is determined by the formulas from [27].

3 Definition of the Hyperbolic B-Potentials

Here we consider fractional powers of the hyperbolic expression with Bessel operators

$$\Box_{\gamma} = B_{\gamma_1} - B_{\gamma_2} - \ldots - B_{\gamma_n}, \qquad B_{\gamma_i} = \frac{\partial^2}{\partial x_i^2} + \frac{\gamma_i}{x_i} \frac{\partial}{\partial x_i}, \qquad i = 1, \ldots, n$$

in S_{ev} and L_p^{γ} . Negative real powers of \Box_{γ} will be called hyperbolic B-potentials.

Definition 4 Hyperbolic B-potentials $I_{P\pm i0,\gamma}^{\alpha}$ for $\alpha > n + |\gamma| - 2$ are defined by formulas

$$(I_{P\pm i0,\gamma}^{\alpha}f)(x) = \frac{e^{\pm \frac{n-1+|\gamma'|}{2}i\pi}}{H_{n,\gamma}(\alpha)} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}_{+}}^{n} (P\pm i0)_{\gamma}^{\frac{\alpha-n-|\gamma|}{2}} ({}^{\gamma}\mathbf{T}_{x}^{y}f)(x)y^{\gamma}dy$$
$$= \frac{e^{\pm \frac{n-1+|\gamma'|}{2}i\pi}}{H_{n,\gamma}(\alpha)} \left((P\pm i0)_{\gamma}^{\frac{\alpha-n-|\gamma|}{2}} * f \right)_{\gamma}(x), \tag{9}$$

where $\gamma' = (\gamma_2, \ldots, \gamma_n), |\gamma'| = \gamma_2 + \ldots + \gamma_n$,

$$H_{n,\gamma}(\alpha) = \frac{\prod_{i=1}^{n} \Gamma\left(\frac{\gamma_i+1}{2}\right) \Gamma\left(\frac{\alpha}{2}\right)}{2^{n-\alpha} \Gamma\left(\frac{n+|\gamma|-\alpha}{2}\right)}.$$

It is well known (see for example [24]) that generalized convolution of a weighted distribution and a regular function is again a regular function.

Using property of weighted distributions $(P \pm i0)^{\lambda}_{\gamma}$ from [28] we can rewrite formulas (9) as

$$(I_{P\pm i0,\gamma}^{\alpha}f)(x) = \frac{e^{\pm \frac{n-1+|y'|}{2}i\pi}}{H_{n,\gamma}(\alpha)} \left[\int_{K^+} r^{\alpha-n-|\gamma|}(y)({}^{\gamma}\mathbf{T}_x^y f)(x)y^{\gamma}dy + e^{\pm \frac{\alpha-n-|\gamma|}{2}\pi i} \int_{K^-} |r(y)|^{\alpha-n-|\gamma|}({}^{\gamma}\mathbf{T}_x^y f)(x)y^{\gamma}dy \right],$$
(10)

where

$$K^{+} = \{x : x \in \mathbb{R}^{n}_{+} : P(x) \ge 0\}, \qquad K^{-} = \{x : x \in \mathbb{R}^{n}_{+} : P(x) \le 0\},$$
$$r(y) = \sqrt{P(y)} = \sqrt{y_{1}^{2} - y_{2}^{2} - \dots - y_{n}^{2}}.$$

Function r(y) is a Lorentz distance and K^+ is a part of the light cone.

Introducing the notations

$$(I_{P_+,\gamma}^{\alpha}f)(x) = \int\limits_{K^+} r^{\alpha-n-|\gamma|}(y)({}^{\gamma}\mathbf{T}_x^{y}f)(x)y^{\gamma}dy, \qquad (11)$$

$$(I_{P_{-,\gamma}}^{\alpha}f)(x) = \int_{K^{-}} |r(y)|^{\alpha - n - |\gamma|} ({}^{\gamma}\mathbf{T}_{x}^{y}f)(x)y^{\gamma}dy,$$
(12)

we can write

$$(I_{P\pm i0,\gamma}^{\alpha}f)(x) = \frac{e^{\pm \frac{n-1+|\gamma'|}{2}i\pi}}{H_{n,\gamma}(\alpha)} \left[(I_{P+,\gamma}^{\alpha}f)(x) + e^{\pm \frac{\alpha-n-|\gamma|}{2}\pi i} (I_{P-,\gamma}^{\alpha}f)(x) \right].$$
(13)

Remark Let $y' = (y_2, ..., y_n), |y'| = \sqrt{y_2^2 + ... + y_n^2}, (y')^{\gamma'} = y_2^{\gamma_2} ... y_n^{\gamma_n}$. For $n \ge 3$ we have

$$(I_{P_{+},\gamma}^{\alpha}f)(x) = \int_{0}^{\infty} y_{1}^{\gamma_{1}} dy_{1} \int_{\{|y'| < y_{1}\}^{+}} (y_{1}^{2} - |y'|^{2})^{\frac{\alpha - n - |\gamma|}{2}} ({}^{\gamma}\mathbf{T}_{x}^{y}f)(x)(y')^{\gamma'}dy',$$
(14)

$$(I_{P_{-,\gamma}}^{\alpha}f)(x) = \int_{0}^{\infty} y_{1}^{\gamma_{1}} dy_{1} \int_{\{|y'| > y_{1}\}^{+}} (|y'|^{2} - y_{1}^{2})^{\frac{\alpha - n - |\gamma|}{2}} (\gamma \mathbf{T}_{x}^{y}f)(x)(y')^{\gamma'} dy',$$
(15)

where $\{|y'| < y_1\}^+ = \{y \in \mathbb{R}^n_+ : |y'| < y_1\}, \{|y'| > y_1\}^+ = \{y \in \mathbb{R}^n_+ : |y'| > y_1\}.$ For n = 2 we have

$$(I_{P_{+},\gamma}^{\alpha}f)(x) = \int_{0}^{\infty} y_{1}^{\gamma_{1}} dy_{1} \int_{0}^{y_{1}} (y_{1}^{2} - y_{2}^{2})^{\frac{\alpha-2-|\gamma|}{2}} ({}^{\gamma}\mathbf{T}_{x}^{y}f)(x)y_{2}^{\gamma_{2}} dy_{2},$$

$$(I_{P_{-},\gamma}^{\alpha}f)(x) = \int_{0}^{\infty} y_{1}^{\gamma_{1}} dy_{1} \int_{y_{1}}^{\infty} (y_{2}^{2} - y_{1}^{2})^{\frac{\alpha-2-|\gamma|}{2}} ({}^{\gamma}\mathbf{T}_{x}^{y}f)(x)y_{2}^{\gamma_{2}} dy_{2}.$$

Theorem 1 Let $f \in S_{ev}$ and $\alpha > n + |\gamma| - 2$. Then integrals $(I_{P\pm i0,\gamma}^{\alpha} f)(x)$ converge absolutely for $x \in \mathbb{R}^{n}_{+}$.

Proof Let us prove absolute convergence of each term in (10). Passing in (10) to spherical coordinates $y = \rho \sigma$, $\rho = |y|, \sigma' = (\sigma_2, ..., \sigma_n)$ we obtain

$$\begin{split} &\int\limits_{K^+} r^{\alpha-n-|\gamma|}(y)(^{\gamma}\mathbf{T}_x^y f)(x)y^{\gamma}dy = \\ &= \int\limits_{0}^{\infty} \rho^{\alpha-1}d\rho \int\limits_{\{S_1^+(n), |\sigma'| < \sigma_1\}} (\sigma_1^2 - |\sigma'|^2)^{\frac{\alpha-n-|\gamma|}{2}} (^{\gamma}\mathbf{T}^{\rho\sigma}f)(x)\sigma^{\gamma}dS, \end{split}$$

where

$$\{S_1^+(n), |\sigma'| < \sigma_1\} = \{\sigma' \in \mathbb{R}^{n-1}_+ : \sigma_1^2 + |\sigma'|^2 = 1, |\sigma'| < \sigma_1\}.$$

Using formula ${}^{\gamma}\mathbf{T}_{x}^{y}f(x) = {}^{\gamma}\mathbf{T}_{y}^{x}f(y)$, inequality $|{}^{\gamma}\mathbf{T}_{x}^{y}f(x)| \le \sup_{\mathbb{R}^{n}_{+}} |f(x)|$ (see [29, p. 124]) and considering that $f \in S_{ev}$ we get

$$\begin{split} \left| \int_{K^+} r^{\alpha - n - |\gamma|}(y) ({}^{\gamma} \mathbf{T}_x^{y} f)(x) y^{\gamma} dy \right| \leq \\ \leq C \int_0^\infty \frac{\rho^{\alpha - 1}}{(1 + \rho^2)^{\frac{\alpha + 1}{2}}} d\rho \int_{S_1^+(n), |\sigma'| < \sigma_1} (\sigma_1^2 - |\sigma'|^2)^{\frac{\alpha - n - |\gamma|}{2}} \sigma^{\gamma} dS < \infty, \end{split}$$

for $\alpha > n + |\gamma| - 2$. Similarly, we get that (12) converges absolutely for $\alpha > n + |\gamma| - 2$. So for $\alpha > n + |\gamma| - 2$ integrals $(I_{P \pm i0,\gamma}^{\alpha} f)(x)$ converge absolutely. \Box

Next we show how hyperbolic B-potentials are connected with the operator $(\Box_{\gamma})^k$, $k \in \mathbb{N}$. We will use this connection in order to define hyperbolic B-potentials for $0 \le \alpha \le n + |\gamma| - 2$.

Theorem 2 If $f \in S_{ev}$, $n + |\gamma| - 2 < \alpha$ and $k \in \mathbb{N}$ then

$$(\Box_{\gamma})^{k} I_{P\pm i0,\gamma}^{\alpha+2k} f = I_{P\pm i0,\gamma}^{\alpha} f, \qquad (16)$$

where $\Box_{\gamma} = B_{\gamma_1} - \sum_{i=2}^n B_{\gamma_i}$.

Proof Using representation (9) and the property $\gamma_i T_{x_i}^{y_i} (B_{\gamma_i})_{x_i} = (B_{\gamma_i})_{x_i}^{\gamma_i} T_{x_i}^{y_i}$ (see formula 1.8.3 from [24]) we obtain

$$(\Box_{\gamma})^{k} (I_{P\pm i0,\gamma}^{\alpha+2k} f)(x) =$$

$$= \frac{e^{\pm \frac{n-1+|\gamma'|}{2}i\pi}}{H_{n,\gamma}(\alpha+2k)} (\Box_{\gamma})^{k} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}_{+}} (P\pm i0)_{\gamma}^{\frac{\alpha+2k-n-|\gamma|}{2}} ({}^{\gamma}\mathbf{T}_{x}^{y}f)(x)y^{\gamma}dy =$$

$$= \frac{e^{\pm \frac{n-1+|\gamma'|}{2}i\pi}}{H_{n,\gamma}(\alpha+2k)} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}_{+}} \left({}^{\gamma}\mathbf{T}_{x}^{y}(\Box_{\gamma})^{k}(P\pm i0)_{\gamma}^{\frac{\alpha+2k-n-|\gamma|}{2}}\right) f(y)y^{\gamma}dy.$$

For function $(P \pm i0)^{\lambda}_{\gamma}$ the next equalities are true (see [28])

$$(\Box_{\gamma})^{k}(P\pm i0)_{\gamma}^{\frac{\alpha+2k-n-|\gamma|}{2}} = 2^{2k} \frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{\alpha-n-|\gamma|}{2}+k+1\right)}{\Gamma\left(\frac{\alpha-n-|\gamma|}{2}+1\right)} \frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{\alpha}{2}+k\right)}{\Gamma\left(\frac{\alpha}{2}\right)}(P\pm i0)_{\gamma}^{\frac{\alpha-n-|\gamma|}{2}}.$$
(17)

Since

$$2^{2k} \frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{\alpha-n-|\gamma|}{2}+k+1\right)}{\Gamma\left(\frac{\alpha-n-|\gamma|}{2}+1\right)} \frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{\alpha}{2}+k\right)}{\Gamma\left(\frac{\alpha}{2}\right)} \cdot \frac{1}{H_{n,\gamma}(\alpha+2k)} = \frac{1}{H_{n,\gamma}(\alpha)},$$

then using (17) we get

$$(\Box_{\gamma})^{k} (I_{P\pm i0,\gamma}^{\alpha+k} f)(x) =$$

$$= \frac{e^{\pm \frac{n-1+|\gamma'|}{2}i\pi}}{H_{n,\gamma}(\alpha)} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}_{+}} \left({}^{\gamma} \mathbf{T}_{x}^{y} (P \pm i0)_{\gamma}^{\frac{\alpha-n-|\gamma|}{2}} \right) f(y) y^{\gamma} dy = (I_{P\pm i0,\gamma}^{\alpha} f)(x)$$

and the proof is complete.

Taking into account (16) let define hyperbolic B-potentials $I^{\alpha}_{P\pm i0,\gamma}$ for $0 \le \alpha \le n + |\gamma| - 2$ as

$$(I_{P\pm i0,\gamma}^{\alpha}f)(x) = (\Box_{\gamma})^{k} (I_{P\pm i0,\gamma}^{\alpha+2k}f)(x) = \frac{e^{\pm \frac{n-1+|y'|}{2}i\pi}}{H_{n,\gamma}(\alpha+2k)} (\Box_{\gamma})^{k} \\ \times \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}_{+}} (P\pm i0)_{\gamma}^{\frac{\alpha+2k-n-|y|}{2}} ({}^{\gamma}\mathbf{T}_{x}^{y}f)(x)y^{\gamma}dy,$$
(18)

where $k = \left[\frac{n+|\gamma|-\alpha}{2}\right]$.

The boundedness of $I_{P\pm i0,\gamma}^{\alpha}$ from L_p^{γ} to L_q^{γ} can be extracted from [17].

Theorem 3 ([30]) Let $n + |\gamma| - 2 < \alpha < n + |\gamma|$, $1 \le p < \frac{n+|\gamma|}{\alpha}$. For the next estimate

$$||I_{P\pm i0,\gamma}^{\alpha}f||_{q,\gamma} \le C_{n,\gamma,p}||f||_{p,\gamma}, \qquad f(x) \in S_{ev}$$
(19)

to be valid it is necessary and sufficient that $q = \frac{(n+|\gamma|)p}{n+|\gamma|-\alpha p}$. Constant $C_{n,\gamma,p}$ does not depend on f.

Further operators $I_{P_{\pm},\gamma}^{\alpha}$ on function class L_p^{γ} we will define as continuations of operators (9) with preservation of boundedness. If integral (9) converges absolutely for $f \in L_p^{\gamma}$ then these continuations are representable as

$$(I_{P\pm i0,\gamma}^{\alpha}f)(x) = \frac{e^{\pm \frac{n-1+|y'|}{2}i\pi}}{\gamma_{n,\gamma}(\alpha)} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n_+} (P\pm i0)_{\gamma}^{\frac{\alpha-n-|\gamma|}{2}} ({}^{\gamma}\mathbf{T}_x^{y}f)(x)y^{\gamma}dy, \quad y^{\gamma} = \prod_{i=1}^n y_i^{\gamma_i}.$$

Theorem 4 ([30]) The mixed hyperbolic Riesz B-potentials satisfy the following semigroup property for $f \in S_{ev}$:

$$I_{P\pm i0,\gamma}^{\beta} I_{P\pm i0,\gamma}^{\alpha} f = I_{P\pm i0,\gamma}^{\alpha+\beta} f.$$
⁽²⁰⁾

By virtue of the density S_{ev} in L_p^{γ} equalities (16) and (20) spread on function from L_p^{γ} for $1 when integrals <math>I_{P\pm i0,\gamma}^{\alpha} f$ converge absolutely for $f \in L_p^{\gamma}$.

Theorem 5 ([30]) For $f \in \Phi_V$, $V = \{x \in \mathbb{R}^n_+ : P(x) = 0\}$ Hankel transform of the Riesz hyperbolic B-potential

$$\mathbf{F}_{\gamma}[(I_{P\pm i0,\gamma}^{\alpha}f)(x)](\xi) = (P\mp i0)^{-\frac{\alpha}{2}}\mathbf{F}_{\gamma}[f](\xi).$$
(21)

4 Method of Approximative Inverse Operators and General Poisson Kernel

Here we describe one approach for inverting potential type operators, based on the idea of approximative inverse operators developed in [9, 31].

Equation (9) is a convolution operator, where generalized convolution is used. The problem to invert this or that convolution operator Af = a * f reduces to multiplication of some convenient integral transform of a function f by the reciprocal $\frac{1}{a}$ of chosen integral transform of the kernel:

$$Af = a * f,$$
 $\widehat{Af} = \hat{a} \cdot \hat{f},$ $\widehat{A^{-1}f} = \frac{1}{\hat{a}} \cdot \hat{f}.$

Indeed we have

$$g = Af$$
, $\widehat{A^{-1}g} = \frac{1}{\hat{a}} \cdot \hat{a} \cdot \hat{f} = \hat{f}$.

However, in the case of potentials, the multiplier $\frac{1}{a}$, is unbounded at infinity and, maybe, on some sets. In this case we use the multiplier m_{ε} , which is dependent on ε such that $\frac{m_{\varepsilon}}{a}$ vanishes at those sets on which it is necessary and $\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} m_{\varepsilon} = 1$. So we can construct $\widehat{A_{\varepsilon}^{-1}f} = \frac{m_{\varepsilon}}{a} \cdot \widehat{f}$. Applying the inverse integral transform and passing to the limit $\varepsilon \to 0$ we obtain A^{-1} . Next it is necessary to prove that the resulting operator will be inverse to the operator A in some appropriate space. Therefore, the factor m_{ε} should be chosen so that inverse integral transform of $\frac{m_{\varepsilon}}{a} \cdot \widehat{f}$ provides a fairly good class of functions.

In our case, we take the Hankel transform. Considering that

$$\mathbf{F}_{\gamma}I^{\alpha}_{P\pm i0,\gamma}f = (P\mp i0)^{-\frac{\alpha}{2}}_{\gamma}\mathbf{F}_{\gamma}f,$$

where $f \in \Phi_V^{\gamma}$, $V = \{x \in \mathbb{R}^n_+ : P(x) = 0\}$ we take

$$M_{\varepsilon,\delta} = \frac{(P \mp i0)^m e^{-\delta|\xi|}}{(P(\xi) + i\varepsilon|\xi|^2)^m}.$$

So we should prove that left inverse operators to $I^{\alpha}_{P\pm i0,\gamma}$ are

$$(I_{P\pm i0,\gamma}^{\alpha})^{-1}f) = \lim_{\delta \to 0} \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \left(\left(\mathbf{F}_{\gamma}^{-1} \frac{(P \mp i0)^{m+\frac{\alpha}{2}} e^{-\delta|\xi|}}{(P(\xi) + i\varepsilon|\xi|^2)^m} \right)(x) * f(x) \right)_{\gamma}.$$

We denote

$$(I_{P\pm i0,\gamma}^{\alpha})_{\varepsilon,\delta}^{-1}f = \left(\left(\mathbf{F}_{\gamma}^{-1} \frac{(P\mp i0)^{m+\frac{\alpha}{2}} e^{-\delta|\xi|}}{(P(\xi)+i\varepsilon|\xi|^2)^m} \right)(x) * f(x) \right)_{\gamma} = \int_{\mathbb{R}^n_+} \pi g_{\varepsilon,\delta}^{\alpha}(y)(\gamma \mathbf{T}_x^y f(x))y^{\gamma} dy,$$

where

$${}^{\mp}g^{\alpha}_{\varepsilon,\delta}(x) = \left(\mathbf{F}^{-1}_{\gamma} \frac{(P \mp i0)^{m+\frac{\alpha}{2}} e^{-\delta|\xi|}}{(P(\xi) + i\varepsilon|\xi|^2)^m}\right)(x) =$$
$$= \frac{2^{n-|\gamma|}}{\prod\limits_{j=1}^n \Gamma^2\left(\frac{\gamma_j+1}{2}\right)} \int\limits_{\mathbb{R}^n_+} \frac{(P \mp i0)^{m+\frac{\alpha}{2}} e^{-\delta|\xi|}}{(P(\xi) + i\varepsilon|\xi|^2)^m} \mathbf{j}_{\gamma}(x,\xi)\xi^{\gamma} d\xi,$$

 $m \ge n + |\gamma| - \frac{\alpha}{2}, n + |\gamma| - 2 < \alpha < n + |\gamma|.$

Next we consider a certain function used for solving the problem of inverting a hyperbolic B-potential. Based on the type and properties of this function, we will call it the general Poisson kernel.

We first prove an auxiliary lemma.

Lemma 1 Hankel transform of the $e^{-\delta|x|}$ is

$$\mathbf{F}_{\gamma}[e^{-\delta|x|}](\xi) = \frac{2^{|\gamma|}\delta \prod_{i=1}^{n} \Gamma\left(\frac{\gamma_{i}+1}{2}\right) \Gamma\left(\frac{n+|\gamma|+1}{2}\right)}{\sqrt{\pi}(\delta^{2}+|\xi|^{2})^{\frac{n+|\gamma|+1}{2}}}.$$
(22)

Proof We have

$$\mathbf{F}_{\gamma}[e^{-\delta|x|}](\xi) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}_{+}} e^{-\delta|x|} \mathbf{j}_{\gamma}(x;\xi) x^{\gamma} dx = \{x = \rho\sigma\} =$$
$$= \int_{0}^{\infty} e^{-\delta\rho} \rho^{n+|\gamma|-1} d\rho \int_{S^{+}_{1}(n)} \mathbf{j}_{\gamma}(\rho\sigma;\xi) \sigma^{\gamma} dS.$$

Applying the formula (5) we obtain

$$\mathbf{F}_{\gamma}[e^{-\delta|x|}](\xi) = \frac{\prod_{i=1}^{n} \Gamma\left(\frac{\gamma_{i}+1}{2}\right)}{2^{n-1}\Gamma\left(\frac{n+|\gamma|}{2}\right)} \int_{0}^{\infty} e^{-\delta\rho} j_{\frac{n+|\gamma|}{2}-1}(\rho|\xi|)\rho^{n+|\gamma|-1}d\rho = \\ = \frac{\prod_{i=1}^{n} \Gamma\left(\frac{\gamma_{i}+1}{2}\right)}{2^{\frac{n-|\gamma|}{2}}|\xi|^{\frac{n+|\gamma|}{2}-1}} \int_{0}^{\infty} e^{-\delta\rho} J_{\frac{n+|\gamma|}{2}-1}(\rho|\xi|)\rho^{\frac{n+|\gamma|}{2}}d\rho.$$

Applying the formula 2.12.8.4 from [26, p. 164] of the form

$$\int_{0}^{\infty} x^{\nu+2} e^{-px} J_{\nu}(cx) dx = \frac{2p(2c)^{\nu} \Gamma\left(\nu + \frac{3}{2}\right)}{\sqrt{\pi}(p^2 + c^2)^{\nu+\frac{3}{2}}}, \qquad \text{Re}\,\nu > -1$$

we get

$$\int_{0}^{\infty} e^{-\delta\rho} J_{\frac{n+|\gamma|}{2}-1}(\rho|\xi|) \rho^{\frac{n+|\gamma|}{2}} d\rho = \frac{2\delta(2|\xi|)^{\frac{n+|\gamma|}{2}-1} \Gamma\left(\frac{n+|\gamma|+1}{2}\right)}{\sqrt{\pi}(\delta^2+|\xi|^2)^{\frac{n+|\gamma|+1}{2}}}$$

and therefore

$$\mathbf{F}_{\gamma}[e^{-\delta|x|}](\xi) = \frac{\prod_{i=1}^{n} \Gamma\left(\frac{\gamma_{i}+1}{2}\right)}{2^{\frac{n-|\gamma|}{2}} |\xi|^{\frac{n+|\gamma|}{2}-1}} \frac{2\delta(2|\xi|)^{\frac{n+|\gamma|}{2}-1} \Gamma\left(\frac{n+|\gamma|+1}{2}\right)}{\sqrt{\pi}(\delta^{2}+|\xi|^{2})^{\frac{n+|\gamma|+1}{2}}} = \\ = \frac{2^{|\gamma|} \delta \prod_{i=1}^{n} \Gamma\left(\frac{\gamma_{i}+1}{2}\right) \Gamma\left(\frac{n+|\gamma|+1}{2}\right)}{\sqrt{\pi}(\delta^{2}+|\xi|^{2})^{\frac{n+|\gamma|+1}{2}}}.$$

242

We give the formula from [32] that will be used further

$$\int_{S_{1}^{+}(n)} \mathcal{P}_{\xi}^{\gamma} f(\langle \xi, x \rangle) x^{\gamma} d\omega_{x} = \frac{\prod_{i=1}^{n} \Gamma\left(\frac{|\gamma_{i}|+1}{2}\right)}{\sqrt{\pi} 2^{n-1} \Gamma\left(\frac{|\gamma|+n-1}{2}\right)} \int_{-1}^{1} f(|\xi|p) (1-p^{2})^{\frac{n+|\gamma|-3}{2}} dp,$$
(23)

where $f(t)(1-t^2)^{\frac{n+|\gamma|-3}{2}} \in L_1(-1,1).$

Definition 5 Function

$$P_{\gamma}(x,\delta) = \frac{2^{n}\Gamma\left(\frac{n+|\gamma|+1}{2}\right)}{\sqrt{\pi}\prod_{j=1}^{n}\Gamma\left(\frac{\gamma_{j}+1}{2}\right)}\delta\left(\delta^{2}+|x|^{2}\right)^{-\frac{n+|\gamma|+1}{2}}, \qquad \delta > 0$$
(24)

is called the general Poisson kernel.

Lemma 2 For $P_{\gamma}(x, \delta)$ the following properties are valid

1. $\mathbf{F}_{\gamma}[P_{\gamma}(x,\delta)](\xi) = e^{-\delta|\xi|},$ 2. $\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}_{+}} P_{\gamma}(x,\delta)x^{\gamma}dx = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}_{+}} P_{\gamma}(x,1)x^{\gamma}dx = 1,$ 3. $P_{\gamma}(x,\delta) \in L^{\gamma}_{p}, 1 \le p \le \infty.$

Proof

1. From Lemma 1 we get

$$\mathbf{F}_{\gamma}^{-1}[e^{-\delta|x|}](\xi) = \frac{2^{n-|\gamma|}}{\prod\limits_{j=1}^{n} \Gamma^{2}\left(\frac{\gamma_{j}+1}{2}\right)} \mathbf{F}_{\gamma}[e^{-\delta|x|}](\xi) = \\ = \frac{2^{n-|\gamma|}}{\prod\limits_{j=1}^{n} \Gamma^{2}\left(\frac{\gamma_{j}+1}{2}\right)} \frac{2^{|\gamma|}\delta\prod\limits_{i=1}^{n} \Gamma\left(\frac{\gamma_{i}+1}{2}\right)\Gamma\left(\frac{n+|\gamma|+1}{2}\right)}{\sqrt{\pi}(\delta^{2}+|\xi|^{2})^{\frac{n+|\gamma|+1}{2}}} = \\ = \frac{2^{n}\delta\Gamma\left(\frac{n+|\gamma|+1}{2}\right)}{\sqrt{\pi}\prod\limits_{j=1}^{n} \Gamma\left(\frac{\gamma_{j}+1}{2}\right)} \frac{1}{(\delta^{2}+|\xi|^{2})^{\frac{n+|\gamma|+1}{2}}} = P_{\gamma}(x,\delta).$$

Hence we obtain $\mathbf{F}_{\gamma}[P_{\gamma}(x, \delta)](\xi) = e^{-\delta|\xi|}$.

2. Consider the integral $\int_{\mathbb{R}^n_+} P_{\gamma}(x, \delta) x^{\gamma} dx$. We have

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}_{+}} P_{\gamma}(x,\delta) x^{\gamma} dx = \frac{2^{n} \delta \Gamma\left(\frac{n+|\gamma|+1}{2}\right)}{\sqrt{\pi} \prod_{j=1}^{n} \Gamma\left(\frac{\gamma_{j}+1}{2}\right)} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}_{+}} \frac{x^{\gamma} dx}{(\delta^{2}+|x|^{2})^{\frac{n+|\gamma|+1}{2}}} = \{x = \delta y\} = \frac{2^{n} \Gamma\left(\frac{n+|\gamma|+1}{2}\right)}{\sqrt{\pi} \prod_{j=1}^{n} \Gamma\left(\frac{\gamma_{j}+1}{2}\right)} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}_{+}} \frac{y^{\gamma} dy}{(1+|y|^{2})^{\frac{n+|\gamma|+1}{2}}} = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}_{+}} P_{\gamma}(x,1) x^{\gamma} dx.$$

Let us show now that $\int_{\mathbb{R}^n_+} P_{\gamma}(x, 1) x^{\gamma} dx = 1$. Going over to spherical coordinates we obtain

$$\begin{split} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}_{+}} \frac{y^{\gamma} \, dy}{(1+|y|^{2})^{\frac{n+|\gamma|+1}{2}}} &= \{y = \rho\sigma\} = \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{\rho^{n+|\gamma|-1} \, d\rho}{(1+\rho^{2})^{\frac{n+|\gamma|+1}{2}}} \int_{S_{1}^{+}(n)}^{S\gamma} dS = \\ &= \frac{\prod_{i=1}^{n} \Gamma\left(\frac{\gamma_{i}+1}{2}\right)}{2^{n-1}\Gamma\left(\frac{n+|\gamma|}{2}\right)} \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{\rho^{n+|\gamma|-1} \, d\rho}{(1+\rho^{2})^{\frac{n+|\gamma|+1}{2}}} = \{\rho^{2} = r\} = \\ &= \frac{\prod_{i=1}^{n} \Gamma\left(\frac{\gamma_{i}+1}{2}\right)}{2^{n}\Gamma\left(\frac{n+|\gamma|}{2}\right)} \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{r^{\frac{n+|\gamma|}{2}-1}}{(1+r)^{\frac{n+|\gamma|+1}{2}}} dr. \end{split}$$

Using the formula 2.2.5.24 from [33, p. 239] of the form

$$\int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{x^{\alpha-1}}{(x+z)^{\beta}} dx = z^{\alpha-\beta} B(\alpha, \beta - \alpha), \qquad 0 < \operatorname{Re} \alpha < \operatorname{Re} \beta,$$

we obtain

$$2\int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{\rho^{n+|\gamma|-1} d\rho}{(1+\rho^2)^{\frac{n+|\gamma|+1}{2}}} = \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{r^{\frac{n+|\gamma|}{2}-1}}{(1+r)^{\frac{n+|\gamma|+1}{2}}} dr = \frac{\sqrt{\pi}\Gamma\left(\frac{n+|\gamma|}{2}\right)}{\Gamma\left(\frac{n+|\gamma|+1}{2}\right)}$$
(25)

and

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n_+} \frac{y^{\gamma} \, dy}{(1+|y|^2)^{\frac{n+|\gamma|+1}{2}}} = \frac{\prod\limits_{i=1}^n \Gamma\left(\frac{|\gamma_i+1|}{2}\right)}{2^n \Gamma\left(\frac{n+|\gamma|}{2}\right)} \frac{\sqrt{\pi} \Gamma\left(\frac{n+|\gamma|}{2}\right)}{\Gamma\left(\frac{n+|\gamma|+1}{2}\right)} = \frac{\sqrt{\pi} \prod\limits_{i=1}^n \Gamma\left(\frac{|\gamma_i+1|}{2}\right)}{2^n \Gamma\left(\frac{n+|\gamma|+1}{2}\right)}.$$

Finally,

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}_{+}} P_{\gamma}(x,1) x^{\gamma} dx = \frac{2^{n} \Gamma\left(\frac{n+|\gamma|+1}{2}\right)}{\sqrt{\pi} \prod_{j=1}^{n} \Gamma\left(\frac{\gamma_{j}+1}{2}\right)_{\mathbb{R}^{n}_{+}}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}_{+}} \frac{y^{\gamma} dy}{(1+|y|^{2})^{\frac{n+|\gamma|+1}{2}}} = \\ = \frac{2^{n} \Gamma\left(\frac{n+|\gamma|+1}{2}\right)}{\sqrt{\pi} \prod_{j=1}^{n} \Gamma\left(\frac{\gamma_{j}+1}{2}\right)} \frac{\sqrt{\pi} \prod_{i=1}^{n} \Gamma\left(\frac{\gamma_{i}+1}{2}\right)}{2^{n} \Gamma\left(\frac{n+|\gamma|+1}{2}\right)} = 1.$$

3. We finally prove that $P_{\gamma}(x, \delta) \in L_p^{\gamma}$, $1 \le p \le \infty$. We have

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}_{+}} \frac{x^{\gamma} dx}{(\delta^{2} + |x|^{2})^{p} \frac{n+|\gamma|+1}{2}} = \delta^{(n+|\gamma|)(1-p)-p} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}_{+}} \frac{x^{\gamma} dx}{(|x|^{2} + 1)^{p} \frac{n+|\gamma|+1}{2}} =$$
$$= \{x = \rho\sigma, |x| = \rho\} = \delta^{(n+|\gamma|)(1-p)-p} \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{\rho^{n+|\gamma|-1} d\rho}{(\rho^{2} + 1)^{p} \frac{n+|\gamma|+1}{2}} \int_{S_{1}^{+}(n)} \sigma^{\gamma} dS.$$

Applying (25) for $1 \le p < \infty$ we get

$$\begin{split} ||P_{\gamma}(x,\delta)||_{p,\gamma} &= \left(\delta^{(n+|\gamma|)(1-p)-p} \frac{\sqrt{\pi}\Gamma\left(\frac{n+|\gamma|}{2}\right)}{2\Gamma\left(\frac{n+|\gamma|+1}{2}\right)} \frac{\prod\limits_{i=1}^{n}\Gamma\left(\frac{\gamma_{i}+1}{2}\right)}{2^{n-1}\Gamma\left(\frac{n+|\gamma|}{2}\right)}\right)^{\frac{1}{p}} = \\ &= \left(\delta^{(n+|\gamma|)(1-p)-p} \frac{\sqrt{\pi}\prod\limits_{i=1}^{n}\Gamma\left(\frac{\gamma_{i}+1}{2}\right)}{2^{n}\Gamma\left(\frac{n+|\gamma|+1}{2}\right)}\right)^{\frac{1}{p}} < \infty. \end{split}$$

For $p = \infty$ we get inequality $||P_{\gamma}(x, \delta)||_{\infty, \gamma} < \infty$ tending to the limit.

Following [34] (see Theorem 1.18, p. 17) we prove that a generalized convolution of a function with the Poisson kernel tends to a function in L_p^{γ} .

Let

$$(\mathbf{P}_{\gamma,\delta}f)(x) = (f(x) * P_{\gamma}(x,\delta))_{\gamma}.$$
(26)

Lemma 3 If $f \in L_p^{\gamma}$, $1 \le p \le \infty$ or $f \in C_0 \subset L_{\infty}^{\gamma}$ then

$$||(\mathbf{P}_{\gamma,\delta}f)(x) - f(x)||_{p,\gamma} \to 0 \quad \text{with} \quad \delta \to 0.$$

Proof Considering the property 2 from Lemma 2 we can write

$$(f(x) * P_{\gamma}(x, \delta))_{\gamma} - f(x) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^n_+} [{}^{\gamma} \mathbf{T}^y_x f(x) - f(y)] P_{\gamma}(y, \delta) y^{\gamma} dy.$$

Hence, applying the generalized Minkowski inequality, we obtain

$$||(f(x) * P_{\gamma}(x, \delta))_{\gamma} - f(x)||_{p,\gamma} \leq \leq \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}_{+}} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}_{+}} [\gamma \mathbf{T}^{y}_{x} f(x) - f(x)]^{p} x^{\gamma} dx \right)^{\frac{1}{p}} |P_{\gamma}(y, \delta)| y^{\gamma} dy = \{y = \delta t\} = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}_{+}} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}_{+}} [\gamma \mathbf{T}^{\delta t}_{x} f(x) - f(x)]^{p} x^{\gamma} dx \right)^{\frac{1}{p}} |P_{\gamma}(t, 1)| t^{\gamma} dt.$$

$$(27)$$

From [35] (see Lemma 3.6, p. 166) it follows that for $f \in L_p^{\gamma}$

$$||^{\gamma} \mathbf{T}_{x}^{\delta t} f(x) - f(x)||_{p,\gamma} \le c||f(x)||_{p,\gamma},$$

and from [36] (see the preposition 4.1, p. 182) follows that

$$\lim_{\delta \to 0} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^n_+} [\,^{\gamma} \mathbf{T}_x^{\delta t} f(x) - f(x)]^p x^{\gamma} dx \right)^{\frac{1}{p}} = 0.$$

Then, by the Lebesgue theorem on dominated convergence, the integral (27) tends to zero when $\delta \to 0$, since the integrand is majorized by the integrable function $c||f||_{p,\gamma}|P_{\gamma}(t,1)|t^{\gamma}$.

5 Representation of the Kernel $^{\mp}g^{\alpha}_{\varepsilon,\delta}$

In this section we get the integral kernel representation $^{\mp}g^{\alpha}_{\varepsilon,\delta}$. **Theorem 6** Function $^{\mp}g^{\alpha}_{\varepsilon,\delta}$ can be presented in the form

$${}^{\mp}g^{\alpha}_{\varepsilon,\delta}(x) = \frac{2^{2-|\gamma|}}{\delta^{n+|\gamma|+\alpha}} \frac{\Gamma(n+|\gamma|+\alpha)}{\Gamma\left(\frac{\gamma_{1}+1}{2}\right)} \times \\ \times \int_{0}^{\infty} r^{n+|\gamma'|-2} \frac{(1-r^{2}\mp i0)^{m+\frac{\alpha}{2}}}{(1+r^{2})^{\frac{n+|\gamma|+\alpha}{2}}(1-r^{2}+i\varepsilon(1+r^{2}))^{m}} \times \\ \times F_{4}\left(\frac{\beta}{2}, \frac{\beta+1}{2}; \frac{\gamma_{1}+1}{2}, \frac{n+|\gamma'|-1}{2}; -\frac{x_{1}^{2}}{\delta^{2}(1+r^{2})}, -\frac{(r|x'|)^{2}}{\delta^{2}(1+r^{2})}\right) dr.$$

where $\beta = n + |\gamma| + \alpha F_4(a, b, c_1, c_2; x, y)$ is the Appell hypergeometric function (8).

Proof We represent the function $^{\mp}g^{\alpha}_{\varepsilon,\delta}(t)$ as the sum

$${}^{\mp}g^{\alpha}_{\varepsilon,\delta}(x) = \mathbf{F}_{\gamma}^{-1} \frac{(P \mp i0)^{m+\frac{\alpha}{2}} e^{-\delta|x|}}{(P(x) + i\varepsilon|x|^2)^m} =$$

$$= \frac{2^{n-|\gamma|}}{\prod\limits_{j=1}^{n} \Gamma^2\left(\frac{\gamma_j+1}{2}\right)} \int\limits_{\mathbb{R}^n_+} \frac{(P \mp i0)^{m+\frac{\alpha}{2}} e^{-\delta|\xi|}}{(P(\xi) + i\varepsilon|\xi|^2)^m} \mathbf{j}_{\gamma}(x,\xi)\xi^{\gamma} d\xi =$$

$$= \frac{2^{n-|\gamma|}}{\prod\limits_{j=1}^{n} \Gamma^2\left(\frac{\gamma_j+1}{2}\right)} \left[\int\limits_{\{P(\xi)>0\}^+} \frac{P^{m+\frac{\alpha}{2}}(\xi)e^{-\delta|\xi|}}{(P(\xi) + i\varepsilon|\xi|^2)^m} \mathbf{j}_{\gamma}(x,\xi)\xi^{\gamma} d\xi + e^{\mp(m+\frac{\alpha}{2})\pi i} \int\limits_{\{P(\xi)<0\}^+} \frac{|P(\xi)|^{m+\frac{\alpha}{2}} e^{-\delta|\xi|}}{(P(\xi) + i\varepsilon|\xi|^2)^m} \mathbf{j}_{\gamma}(x,\xi)\xi^{\gamma} d\xi \right].$$

Let

$$J_{1} = \int_{\{P(\xi) > 0\}^{+}} \frac{P^{m + \frac{\alpha}{2}}(\xi)e^{-\delta|\xi|}}{(P(\xi) + i\varepsilon|\xi|^{2})^{m}} \mathbf{j}_{\gamma}(x,\xi)\xi^{\gamma} d\xi,$$

$$J_{2} = \int_{\{P(\xi) < 0\}^{+}} \frac{|P(\xi)|^{m + \frac{\alpha}{2}}e^{-\delta|\xi|}}{(P(\xi) + i\varepsilon|\xi|^{2})^{m}} \mathbf{j}_{\gamma}(x,\xi)\xi^{\gamma} d\xi.$$

Going in J_1 over to spherical coordinates $\xi' = \rho \sigma$, $\sigma \in \mathbb{R}^{n-1}_+$, $\rho = |\xi'|$ we obtain

$$J_{1} = \int_{0}^{\infty} j_{\frac{\gamma_{1}-1}{2}}(x_{1}\xi_{1})\xi_{1}^{\gamma_{1}} d\xi_{1} \times$$

$$\times \int_{|\xi'|^{2} < \xi_{1}^{2}} \frac{(\xi_{1}^{2} - |\xi'|^{2})^{m + \frac{\alpha}{2}} e^{-\delta\sqrt{\xi_{1}^{2} + |\xi'|^{2}}}}{(\xi_{1}^{2} - |\xi'|^{2} + i\varepsilon(\xi_{1}^{2} + |\xi'|^{2}))^{m}} \mathbf{j}_{\gamma}(x', \xi')(\xi')^{\gamma'} d\xi' =$$

$$= \int_{0}^{\infty} j_{\frac{\gamma_{1}-1}{2}}(x_{1}\xi_{1})\xi_{1}^{\gamma_{1}} d\xi_{1} \int_{0}^{\xi_{1}} \rho^{n + |\gamma'| - 2} \frac{(\xi_{1}^{2} - \rho^{2})^{m + \frac{\alpha}{2}} e^{-\delta\sqrt{\xi_{1}^{2} + \rho^{2}}}}{(\xi_{1}^{2} - \rho^{2} + i\varepsilon(\xi_{1}^{2} + \rho^{2}))^{m}} d\rho \times$$

$$\times \int_{S_{1}^{+}(n-1)} \mathbf{j}_{\gamma}(x', \rho\sigma)(\sigma)^{\gamma'} dS.$$

The next formula

$$\int_{S_1^+(n-1)} \mathbf{j}_{\gamma}(x',\rho\sigma)(\sigma)^{\gamma'} \, dS = \frac{\prod_{i=2}^n \Gamma\left(\frac{\gamma_i+1}{2}\right)}{2^{n-2}\Gamma\left(\frac{n-1+|\gamma'|}{2}\right)} \, j_{\frac{n-1+|\gamma'|}{2}-1}(\rho|x'|),$$

is valid (see [37]), therefore

$$J_{1} = \frac{\prod_{i=2}^{n} \Gamma\left(\frac{\gamma_{i}+1}{2}\right)}{2^{n-2} \Gamma\left(\frac{n-1+|\gamma'|}{2}\right)} \int_{0}^{\infty} j_{\frac{\gamma_{1}-1}{2}}(x_{1}\xi_{1})\xi_{1}^{\gamma_{1}} d\xi_{1} \times \\ \times \int_{0}^{\xi_{1}} \rho^{n+|\gamma'|-2} j_{\frac{n-1+|\gamma'|}{2}-1}(\rho|x'|) \frac{(\xi_{1}^{2}-\rho^{2})^{m+\frac{\alpha}{2}}e^{-\delta\sqrt{\xi_{1}^{2}+\rho^{2}}}}{(\xi_{1}^{2}-\rho^{2}+i\varepsilon(\xi_{1}^{2}+\rho^{2}))^{m}} d\rho = \{\rho = \xi_{1}r\} = \\ = \frac{\prod_{i=2}^{n} \Gamma\left(\frac{\gamma_{i}+1}{2}\right)}{2^{n-2} \Gamma\left(\frac{n-1+|\gamma'|}{2}\right)} \int_{0}^{\infty} j_{\frac{\gamma_{1}-1}{2}}(x_{1}\xi_{1})\xi_{1}^{n+|\gamma|-1+\alpha} d\xi_{1} \times \\ \times \int_{0}^{1} r^{n+|\gamma'|-2} j_{\frac{n-1+|\gamma'|}{2}-1}(r\xi_{1}|x'|) \frac{(1-r^{2})^{m+\frac{\alpha}{2}}e^{-\delta\xi_{1}\sqrt{1+r^{2}}}}{(1-r^{2}+i\varepsilon(1+r^{2}))^{m}} dr =$$

To calculate the internal integral, apply the formula 2.12.38.2 from [26, p. 194] of the form

$$\int_{0}^{\infty} x^{a-1} e^{-px} J_{\mu}(bx) J_{\nu}(cx) dx = \frac{b^{\mu} c^{\nu}}{2^{\mu+\nu} p^{a+\mu+\nu}} \frac{\Gamma(a+\mu+\nu)}{\Gamma(\mu+1)\Gamma(\nu+1)} \times F_{4}\left(\frac{a+\mu+\nu}{2}, \frac{a+\mu+\nu+1}{2}; \mu+1, \nu+1; -\frac{b^{2}}{p^{2}}, -\frac{c^{2}}{p^{2}}\right),$$

Re $(a+\mu+\nu) > 0;$ Re $p > 0.$

We have

$$a = \frac{n+|\gamma|}{2} + \alpha + 2, \ p = \delta\sqrt{1+r^2}, \ \mu = \frac{\gamma_1 - 1}{2},$$
$$\nu = \frac{n-1+|\gamma'|}{2} - 1, \ b = x_1, \ c = r|x'|$$

and

$$\begin{split} &\int_{0}^{\infty} \xi_{1}^{\frac{n+|\gamma|}{2}+\alpha+1} e^{-\delta\xi_{1}\sqrt{1+r^{2}}} J_{\frac{\gamma_{1}-1}{2}}(x_{1}\xi_{1}) J_{\frac{n-1+|\gamma'|}{2}-1}(r\xi_{1}|x'|) d\xi_{1} = \\ &= \frac{x_{1}^{\frac{\gamma_{1}-1}{2}}(r|x'|)^{\frac{n+|\gamma'|-3}{2}}}{2^{\frac{n+|\gamma|}{2}-2}(\delta\sqrt{1+r^{2}})^{n+|\gamma|+\alpha}} \frac{\Gamma(n+|\gamma|+\alpha)}{\Gamma\left(\frac{\gamma_{1}+1}{2}\right)\Gamma\left(\frac{n+|\gamma'|-1}{2}\right)} \times \\ &\times F_{4}\left(\frac{\beta}{2}, \frac{\beta+1}{2}; \frac{\gamma_{1}+1}{2}, \frac{n+|\gamma'|-1}{2}; -\frac{x_{1}^{2}}{\delta^{2}(1+r^{2})}, -\frac{(r|x'|)^{2}}{\delta^{2}(1+r^{2})}\right), \end{split}$$

where $\beta = n + |\gamma| + \alpha$. Then

Similarly, we find

$$J_{2} = \frac{\prod_{i=1}^{n} \Gamma\left(\frac{\gamma_{i}+1}{2}\right)}{2^{n-2}\delta^{\beta}} \frac{\Gamma(\beta)}{\Gamma\left(\frac{\gamma_{1}+1}{2}\right) \Gamma\left(\frac{n+|\gamma'|-1}{2}\right)} \times \\ \times \int_{1}^{\infty} r^{n+|\gamma'|-2} \frac{(1-r^{2})^{m+\frac{\alpha}{2}}}{(1+r^{2})^{\frac{n+|\gamma'|+\alpha}{2}}(1-r^{2}+i\varepsilon(1+r^{2}))^{m}} \times \\ \times F_{4}\left(\frac{\beta}{2}, \frac{\beta+1}{2}; \frac{\gamma_{1}+1}{2}, \frac{n+|\gamma'|-1}{2}; -\frac{x_{1}^{2}}{\delta^{2}(1+r^{2})}, -\frac{(r|x'|)^{2}}{\delta^{2}(1+r^{2})}\right) dr.$$

Multiplying by the corresponding constants, adding $J_1(x)$ with $J_2(x)$ and taking into account that

$$(1 - r^2 \mp i0)^{m + \frac{\alpha}{2}} = (1 - r^2)_+^{m + \frac{\alpha}{2}} + e^{\mp (m + \frac{\alpha}{2})\pi i} (1 - r^2)_-^{m + \frac{\alpha}{2}}$$

we obtain the statement of the proved theorem.

6 Inversion of the Hyperbolic B-Potentials

Consider a convolution operator

$$Af = (T * f)_{\gamma}, \qquad f \in S_{ev}.$$
⁽²⁸⁾

In the images of Hankel transform we can write

$$\mathbf{F}_{\gamma}[Af] = \mathbf{F}_{\gamma}[T] \cdot \mathbf{F}_{\gamma}[f].$$

Definition 6 Let $M \in S'_{ev}$. The weighted distribution is called **B-multiplier in** L_p^{γ} , if for all $f \in S_{ev}$ the generalized convolution $(\mathbf{F}_{\gamma}^{-1}M * f)_{\gamma}$ belongs to L_p^{γ} and the supremum

$$\sup_{\|f\|_{p,\gamma}=1} \|(\mathbf{F}_{\gamma}^{-1}M * f)_{\gamma}\|_{p,\gamma}$$
(29)

is finite. Linear space of all such *M* is denoting by the $M_{p,\gamma} = M_{p,\gamma}(\mathbb{R}^n_+)$. Norm in $M_{p,\gamma}$ is the supremum (29).

Consider a singular differential operator

$$(D_B)_{x_i}^{\beta_i} = \begin{cases} B_{\gamma_i}^{\frac{\beta_i}{2}} , \ \beta = 0, 2, 4, \dots, \\ D_{x_i} B_{\gamma_i}^{\frac{\beta_i - 1}{2}} , \ \beta = 1, 3, 5, \dots, \end{cases}$$

where $B_{\gamma_i} = \frac{\partial^2}{\partial x_i} + \frac{\gamma_i}{x_i} \frac{\partial}{\partial x_i}$. In the article [38] was proved the following criterion of B-multiplier of the type of Mikhlin criterion.

Theorem 7 Let $M(\xi) \in C_{ev}^k(\mathbb{R}^n_+) \setminus \{0\}$, where k is even number grater then $\frac{n+|\gamma|}{2}$ and there is a constant A which does not depend on $\beta = (\beta_1, \ldots, \beta_m), |\beta| < k$, such that for $\xi \neq 0, \ \xi \in \overline{\mathbb{R}}^n_+$ the condition

$$\left|\xi^{\beta} \left(D_{B}\right)_{\xi}^{\beta} M(\xi)\right| \leq A$$

holds. Then $M(\xi)$ is B-multiplier for 1 .

Lemma 4 Let ε , $\delta > 0$ are fixed numbers and $m \ge n + |\gamma| - \frac{\alpha}{2}$. Function

$$M_{\alpha,\varepsilon,\delta}^{\mp}(\xi) = \begin{cases} \frac{(P\mp i0)^{m+\frac{\alpha}{2}}e^{-\delta|\xi|}}{(P(\xi)+i\varepsilon|\xi|^2)^m}, \ P(\xi) \neq 0;\\ 0, \qquad P(\xi) = 0 \end{cases}$$

is B-multiplier for 1 .

Proof We prove the estimate

$$\left|\xi_1^{\beta_1}\dots\xi_n^{\beta_n}(D_B)_{\xi_1}^{\beta_1}\dots(D_B)_{\xi_n}^{\beta_n}M_{\alpha,\varepsilon,\delta}^{\mp}(\xi)\right| \le C(\varepsilon,\delta).$$
(30)

For $\xi \notin V = \{\xi \in \mathbb{R}^n_+ : P(\xi) = 0\}$ we have

$$\begin{split} |(D_B)^{j}_{\xi}(P \mp i0)^{m+\frac{\alpha}{2}}| &\leq C_1 |\xi^{j}| \cdot |P(\xi)|^{m+\frac{\alpha}{2}-|j|}, \\ |(D_B)^{k}_{\xi}(P(\xi) + i\varepsilon|\xi|^2)^{-m}| &\leq C_2 |\xi^{k}| \cdot |P^2(\xi) + \varepsilon^2 |\xi|^4 |^{-\frac{m+|k|}{2}}, \\ |(D_B)^{r}_{\xi}e^{-\delta|\xi|}| &\leq C_3 |\xi^{r}| \cdot \frac{e^{-\delta|\xi|}}{|\xi|^{2r-1}}. \end{split}$$

Using these estimates and the formula of the type of Leibniz formula for Bdifferentiation of the following form:

$$B_{i}^{l}(u v) = \sum_{k=0}^{2l} C_{2l}^{k} \left(D_{B_{i}}^{2l-k} u \right) \left(D_{B_{i}}^{k} v \right) + \sum_{m=1}^{2l-2} \frac{1}{x_{i}^{m}} \mathbf{P}_{2l-m} \left(D_{B_{i}} v; D_{B_{i}} u \right)$$

where

$$\mathbf{P}_{2l-m}\left(D_{B_{i}}v; D_{B_{i}}u\right) = \sum_{j=1}^{2l-v-1} a_{2l-m-j,j}(\gamma_{j}) \left(D_{B_{i}}^{2l-m-j}u\right) \left(D_{B_{i}}^{j}v\right),$$

we get the required estimate (30).

If $\xi \in V$ then the estimate (30) follows from the continuity of the function $M_{\alpha,\varepsilon,\delta}^{\mp}(\xi)$ and its derivatives on *V*.

Lemma 5 Function ${}^{\mp}g^{\alpha}_{\varepsilon,\delta}(x)$ belongs to space L^{γ}_p , 1 .

Proof Since the function

$${}^{\mp}g^{\alpha}_{\varepsilon,\delta}(t) = \mathbf{F}_{\gamma}^{-1} \frac{(P \mp i0)^{m+\frac{\alpha}{2}} e^{-\delta|x|}}{(P(x) + i\varepsilon|x|^2)^m}$$

is representable by an operator generated by the B-multiplier $M_{\alpha,\varepsilon,\delta}^{\mp}(\xi)$ in L_p^{γ} then ${}^{\mp}g_{\varepsilon,\delta}^{\alpha} \in L_p^{\gamma}$.

Lemma 6 Let $f \in S_{ev}$. The operator

$$(I_{P\pm i0,\gamma}^{\alpha})_{\varepsilon,\delta}^{-1}f(x) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^n_+} {}^{\mp}g_{\varepsilon,\delta}^{\alpha}(t)({}^{\gamma}\mathbf{T}_x^t f(x))t^{\gamma}dt$$

is bounded in L_p^{γ} , 1 .

Proof By definition of the operator

$$(I_{P\pm i0,\gamma}^{\alpha})_{\varepsilon,\delta}^{-1}f = \left(\left(\mathbf{F}_{\gamma}^{-1} \frac{(P\mp i0)^{m+\frac{\alpha}{2}} e^{-\delta|\xi|}}{(P(\xi) + i\varepsilon|\xi|^2)^m} \right)(x) * f(x) \right)_{\gamma}$$

it is a generalized convolution $(\mathbf{F}_{\gamma}^{-1}M_{\alpha,\varepsilon,\delta}^{\mp} * f)_{\gamma}$ with the B-multiplier $M_{\alpha,\varepsilon,\delta}^{\mp}(\xi)$ therefore belongs to L_{p}^{γ} .

Lemma 7 Let $f \in \Phi_V^{\gamma}$, $V = \{\xi \in \mathbb{R}^n_+ : P(\xi) = 0\}$ then

$$((I_{P\pm i0,\gamma}^{\alpha})_{\varepsilon,\delta}^{-1}I_{P\pm i0,\gamma}^{\alpha}f)(x) = (\mathbf{P}_{\gamma,\delta}f)(x) + \frac{2^{n-|\gamma|}}{\prod\limits_{j=1}^{n}\Gamma^2\left(\frac{\gamma_j+1}{2}\right)}\sum_{k=0}^{m}C_m^k(-i\varepsilon)^k(\mathbf{A}_k^{\gamma,\delta,\varepsilon}f)(x),$$

where $(\mathbf{P}_{\gamma,\delta}f)(x)$ is a generalized convolution with the Poisson kernel (26)

$$(\mathbf{A}_{k}^{\gamma,\delta,\varepsilon}f)(x) = (A_{k}^{\gamma,\delta,\varepsilon}(x)*f(x))_{\gamma}, \qquad A_{k}^{\gamma,\delta,\varepsilon}(x) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}_{+}} \frac{|\xi|^{2k}e^{-\delta|\xi|}}{(P(\xi)+i\varepsilon|\xi|^{2})^{k}} \mathbf{j}_{\gamma}(x,\xi)\xi^{\gamma}d\xi.$$
Proof Let $I_{P\pm i0,\gamma}^{\alpha} f = g$. We have

$$\begin{split} \mathbf{F}_{\gamma}((I_{P\pm i0,\gamma}^{\alpha})_{\varepsilon,\delta}^{-1}g)(x) &= \mathbf{F}_{\gamma}\left(\left(\mathbf{F}_{\gamma}^{-1}\frac{(P\mp i0)^{m+\frac{\alpha}{2}}e^{-\delta|\xi|}}{(P(\xi)+i\varepsilon|\xi|^2)^m}\right)(x)*g(x)\right)_{\gamma} = \\ &= \frac{(P\mp i0)_{\gamma}^{m+\frac{\alpha}{2}}e^{-\delta|x|}}{(P(x)+i\varepsilon|x|^2)^m} \cdot \mathbf{F}_{\gamma}g = \frac{(P\mp i0)_{\gamma}^{m+\frac{\alpha}{2}}e^{-\delta|x|}}{(P(x)+i\varepsilon|x|^2)^m} \cdot (P\mp i0)_{\gamma}^{-\frac{\alpha}{2}}\mathbf{F}_{\gamma}f = \\ &= \frac{(P\mp i0)_{\gamma}^m e^{-\delta|x|}}{(P(x)+i\varepsilon|x|^2)^m} \cdot \mathbf{F}_{\gamma}f. \end{split}$$

Then

$$((I_{P\pm i0,\gamma}^{\alpha})_{\varepsilon,\delta}^{-1}I_{P\pm i0,\gamma}^{\alpha}f)(x) = \mathbf{F}_{\gamma}^{-1} \left(\frac{(P\mp i0)_{\gamma}^{m}e^{-\delta|x|}}{(P(x)+i\varepsilon|x|^{2})^{m}} \cdot \mathbf{F}_{\gamma}f\right) = \left(\mathbf{F}_{\gamma}^{-1}\frac{(P\mp i0)_{\gamma}^{m}e^{-\delta|x|}}{(P(x)+i\varepsilon|x|^{2})^{m}} * f\right)_{\gamma}.$$
(31)

Applying to $\mathbf{F}_{\gamma}^{-1} \frac{(P \mp i 0)_{\gamma}^{m} e^{-\delta |x|}}{(P(x) + i\varepsilon |x|^2)^m}$ the Newton's binomial formula we obtain

$$\begin{split} \mathbf{F}_{\gamma}^{-1} \frac{(P \mp i0)_{\gamma}^{m} e^{-\delta|x|}}{(P(x) + i\varepsilon|x|^{2})^{m}} &= \frac{2^{n-|\gamma|}}{\prod\limits_{j=1}^{n} \Gamma^{2}\left(\frac{\gamma_{j}+1}{2}\right)} \left[\int\limits_{\{\xi_{1} > |\xi'|\}^{+}} \frac{(\xi_{1}^{2} - |\xi'|^{2})^{m} e^{-\delta|\xi|}}{(P(\xi) + i\varepsilon|\xi|^{2})^{m}} \mathbf{j}_{\gamma}(x,\xi) \xi^{\gamma} d\xi + \\ &+ e^{\mp m\pi i} \int\limits_{\{\xi_{1} < |\xi'|\}^{+}} \frac{(|\xi'|^{2} - \xi_{1}^{2})^{m} e^{-\delta|\xi|}}{(P(\xi) + i\varepsilon|\xi|^{2})^{m}} \mathbf{j}_{\gamma}(x,\xi) \xi^{\gamma} d\xi \right] = \\ &= \frac{2^{n-|\gamma|}}{\prod\limits_{j=1}^{n} \Gamma^{2}\left(\frac{\gamma_{j}+1}{2}\right)} \left[\int\limits_{\{\xi_{1} > |\xi'|\}^{+}} \left((1 - \frac{i\varepsilon|\xi|^{2}}{P(\xi) + i\varepsilon|\xi|^{2}} \right)^{m} e^{-\delta|\xi|} \mathbf{j}_{\gamma}(x,\xi) \xi^{\gamma} d\xi + \\ &+ e^{\mp m\pi i} (-1)^{m} \int\limits_{\{\xi_{1} < |\xi'|\}^{+}} \left((1 - \frac{i\varepsilon|\xi|^{2}}{P(\xi) + i\varepsilon|\xi|^{2}} \right)^{m} e^{-\delta|\xi|} \mathbf{j}_{\gamma}(x,\xi) \xi^{\gamma} d\xi \right] = \end{split}$$

$$= \frac{2^{n-|\gamma|}}{\prod\limits_{j=1}^{n} \Gamma^{2}\left(\frac{\gamma_{j}+1}{2}\right)} \sum_{k=0}^{m} C_{m}^{k} (-i\varepsilon)^{k} \left[\int_{\left[\xi_{1}>|\xi'|\right]^{+}} \frac{|\xi|^{2k} e^{-\delta|\xi|}}{(P(\xi)+i\varepsilon|\xi|^{2})^{k}} \mathbf{j}_{\gamma}(x,\xi) \xi^{\gamma} d\xi + \int_{\left\{\xi_{1}<|\xi'|\right\}^{+}} \frac{|\xi|^{2k} e^{-\delta|\xi|}}{(P(\xi)+i\varepsilon|\xi|^{2})^{k}} \mathbf{j}_{\gamma}(x,\xi) \xi^{\gamma} d\xi \right] = \\ = \frac{2^{n-|\gamma|}}{\prod\limits_{j=1}^{n} \Gamma^{2}\left(\frac{\gamma_{j}+1}{2}\right)} \sum_{k=0}^{m} C_{m}^{k} (-i\varepsilon)^{k} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}_{+}} \frac{|\xi|^{2k} e^{-\delta|\xi|}}{(P(\xi)+i\varepsilon|\xi|^{2})^{k}} \mathbf{j}_{\gamma}(x,\xi) \xi^{\gamma} d\xi.$$

For m = 0 applying of (22) gives

$$(\mathbf{F}_{\gamma}^{-1}e^{-\delta|\xi|})(x) = \frac{2^{n-|\gamma|}}{\prod\limits_{j=1}^{n} \Gamma^{2}\left(\frac{\gamma_{j}+1}{2}\right)} \frac{2^{|\gamma|}\delta\prod\limits_{i=1}^{n} \Gamma\left(\frac{\gamma_{i}+1}{2}\right) \Gamma\left(\frac{n+|\gamma|+1}{2}\right)}{\sqrt{\pi}(\delta^{2}+|x|^{2})^{\frac{n+|\gamma|+1}{2}}} = \\ = \frac{2^{n}\Gamma\left(\frac{n+|\gamma|+1}{2}\right)}{\sqrt{\pi}\prod\limits_{j=1}^{n} \Gamma\left(\frac{\gamma_{j}+1}{2}\right)} \delta\left(\delta^{2}+|x|^{2}\right)^{-\frac{n+|\gamma|+1}{2}} = P_{\gamma}(x,\delta).$$
(32)

Here $P_{\gamma}(x, \delta)$ is general Poisson kernel (24). By Lemma 2 $P_{\gamma}(x, \delta) \in L_p^{\gamma}$. Introducing the notation

$$A_k^{\gamma,\delta,\varepsilon}(x) = \int\limits_{\mathbb{R}^n_+} \frac{|\xi|^{2k} e^{-\delta|\xi|}}{(P(\xi) + i\varepsilon|\xi|^2)^k} \mathbf{j}_{\gamma}(x,\xi) \xi^{\gamma} d\xi = \mathbf{F}_{\gamma} \frac{|x|^{2k} e^{-\delta|x|}}{(P(x) + i\varepsilon|x|^2)^k}$$

for m > 0 we get

$$\mathbf{F}_{\gamma}^{-1} \frac{(P \mp i0)_{\gamma}^{m} e^{-\delta|x|}}{(P(x) + i\varepsilon|x|^2)^m} = \frac{2^{n-|\gamma|}}{\prod\limits_{j=1}^{n} \Gamma^2\left(\frac{\gamma_j+1}{2}\right)} \sum_{k=0}^{m} C_m^k (-i\varepsilon)^k A_k^{\gamma,\delta,\varepsilon}(x).$$
(33)

Substituting (32) and (33) in (31) we obtain the statement of the theorem for $f \in \Phi_V^{\gamma}$.

Theorem 8 Let $f \in \Phi_V^{\gamma}$, $V = \{\xi \in \mathbb{R}^n_+ : P(\xi) = 0\}$, $1 , <math>p \leq 2$, $n+|\gamma|-2 < \alpha < n+|\gamma|$, then

$$((I_{P\pm i0,\gamma}^{\alpha})^{-1}I_{P\pm i0,\gamma}^{\alpha}f)(x) = f(x),$$

where

$$(I_{P\pm i0,\gamma}^{\alpha})^{-1}f) = \lim_{\delta \to 0} \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \left(\left(\mathbf{F}_{\gamma}^{-1} \frac{(P\mp i0)^{m+\frac{\alpha}{2}} e^{-\delta|\xi|}}{(P(\xi) + i\varepsilon|\xi|^2)^m} \right)(x) * f(x) \right)_{\gamma}$$

here the limit by ε is understood by norm in L_2^{γ} and the limit by δ is understood by norm in L_p^{γ} .

Proof From Lemma 7 follows that it is enough to show

$$\lim_{\delta \to 0} \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \left[(\mathbf{P}_{\gamma,\delta}f)(x) + \frac{2^{n-|\gamma|}}{\prod\limits_{j=1}^{n} \Gamma^2\left(\frac{\gamma_j+1}{2}\right)} \sum_{k=0}^{m} C_m^k (-i\varepsilon)^k (\mathbf{A}_k^{\gamma,\delta,\varepsilon}f)(x) \right] = f(x).$$

Find the limit for ε in L_2^{γ} . We have

$$(\mathbf{A}_{k}^{\gamma,\delta,\varepsilon}f)(x) = (\mathbf{A}_{k}^{\gamma,\delta,\varepsilon}(x) * f(x))_{\gamma} =$$

$$= \int_{\mathbb{R}_{+}^{n}} \mathbf{F}_{\gamma} \left[\frac{|x|^{2k} e^{-\delta|x|}}{(P(x) + i\varepsilon|x|^{2})^{k}} \right] (y)(^{\gamma} \mathbf{T}_{x}^{y} f)(x) y^{\gamma} \, dy =$$

$$= \int_{\mathbb{R}_{+}^{n}} \mathbf{F}_{\gamma} \left[\frac{|x|^{2k} e^{-\frac{\delta}{2}|x|}}{(P(x) + i\varepsilon|x|^{2})^{k}} e^{-\frac{\delta}{2}|x|} \right] (y)(^{\gamma} \mathbf{T}_{x}^{y} f)(x) y^{\gamma} \, dy =$$

$$= \int_{\mathbb{R}_{+}^{n}} \mathbf{F}_{\gamma} \left[\frac{|x|^{2k} e^{-\frac{\delta}{2}|x|}}{(P(x) + i\varepsilon|x|^{2})^{k}} \mathbf{F}_{\gamma} \left[P_{\gamma} \left(z, \frac{\delta}{2} \right) \right] (x) \right] (y)(^{\gamma} \mathbf{T}_{x}^{y} f)(x) y^{\gamma} \, dy.$$

Using Parseval Equation to Hankel transform (see [24, p. 20]) we obtain

$$\begin{split} ||(-i\varepsilon)^{k} (\mathbf{A}_{k}^{\gamma,\delta,\varepsilon}f)(x)||_{2,\gamma}^{2} &= ||(A_{k}^{\gamma,\delta,\varepsilon}(x)*f(x))_{\gamma}||_{2,\gamma}^{2} = ||\mathbf{F}_{\gamma}A_{k}^{\gamma,\delta,\varepsilon}(x)\cdot\mathbf{F}_{\gamma}f(x))_{\gamma}||_{2,\gamma}^{2} = \\ &= \frac{2^{n-|\gamma|}}{\prod\limits_{j=1}^{n} \Gamma^{2}\left(\frac{\gamma_{j}+1}{2}\right)} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}_{+}} \left| \frac{(-i\varepsilon)^{k}|x|^{2k}e^{-\frac{\delta}{2}|x|}}{(P(x)+i\varepsilon|x|^{2})^{k}} \mathbf{F}_{\gamma}\left[P_{\gamma}\left(x,\frac{\delta}{2}\right) \right] \mathbf{F}_{\gamma}f(x) \right|^{2} x^{\gamma} dx = \\ &= \frac{2^{n-|\gamma|}}{\prod\limits_{j=1}^{n} \Gamma^{2}\left(\frac{\gamma_{j}+1}{2}\right)} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}_{+}} \left| \frac{(-i\varepsilon)^{k}|x|^{2k}e^{-\frac{\delta}{2}|x|}}{(P(x)+i\varepsilon|x|^{2})^{k}} \mathbf{F}_{\gamma}\left[(\mathbf{P}_{\gamma,\delta}f)(x) \right] \right|^{2} x^{\gamma} dx. \end{split}$$

Considering that

$$\left|\frac{(-i\varepsilon)^k |x|^{2k} e^{-\frac{\delta}{2}|x|}}{(P(x)+i\varepsilon|x|^2)^k} \mathbf{F}_{\gamma}\left[(\mathbf{P}_{\gamma,\delta}f)(x)\right]\right|^2 \le e^{-\delta|x|} \left|\mathbf{F}_{\gamma}\left[(\mathbf{P}_{\gamma,\delta}f)(x)\right]\right|^2$$

and $e^{-\delta|x|} \left| \mathbf{F}_{\gamma} \left[P_{\gamma} \left(x, \frac{\delta}{2} \right) \right] \right|^2 \in L_1^{\gamma}$ on the basis of the Lebesgue dominated convergence theorem, we obtain that

 $(-i\varepsilon)^k (\mathbf{A}_k^{\gamma,\delta,\varepsilon} f)(x) \to 0 \quad \text{for} \quad \varepsilon \to 0 \quad \text{in} \quad L_2^{\gamma}.$

The fact that

$$||(\mathbf{P}_{\gamma,\delta}f)(x) - f(x)||_{p,\gamma} \to 0 \quad \text{for} \quad \delta \to 0$$

was proved in Lemma 3. Thus, the theorem is proved.

References

- Riesz, M.: Intégrale de Riemann-Liouville et solution invariantive du probléme de Cauchy pour l'équation de sondes. In: Comptes Rendus du Congres International des Mathematiciens, vol. 2, pp. 44–45 (1936)
- Riesz, M.: L'intégrale de Riemann-Liouville et le probleme de Cauchy. Acta Math. 81(1–2), 1–223 (1949)
- 3. Schwartz, L.: Theorie des distributions. Hermann, Paris (1966)
- 4. Stein, E.M.: Singular Integrals and Differentiability Properties of Functions. Princeton University Press, Princeton (1970)
- 5. Helgason, S.: Groups and Geometric Analysis: Integral Geometry, Invariant Differential Operators, and Spherical Functions. American Mathematical Society, Providence (1984)
- Samko, S.G., Kilbas, A.A., Marichev, O.L.: Fractional Integrals and Derivatives. Gordon and Breach Science Publishers, Amsterdam (1993)
- Kipriyanov, I.A., Ivanov, L.A.: Riezs potentials on the Lorentz spaces. Mat. sb. 130(172)(4(8)), 465–474 (1986, in Russian)
- Kipriyanov, I.A., Ivanov, L.A.: On Riezs potentials on the Lorentz spaces theory. Tr. MIAN SSSR 180, 134–135 (1987, in Russian)
- Nogin, V.A., Sukhinin, E.V.: Inversion and characterization of hyperbolic potentials in L_p-spaces. Dokl. Acad. Nauk **329**(5), 550–552 (1993, in Russian)
- Lyakhov, L.N.: Inversion of the B-Riesz potentials. Dokl. Akad. Nauk SSSR 321(3), 466–469 (1991, in Russian)
- Lyakhov, L.N.: Symbol of the integral operator of Riezs B-potential with single characteristic. Dokl. Akad. Nauk 351(2), 164–168 (1996, in Russian)
- Lyakhov, L.N., Shishkina, E.L.: Generalized Riesz B-potentials of the mixed type. Dokl. Akad. Nauk 73(1), 42–45 (2006)
- Lyakhov, L.N., Shishkina, E.L.: General B-hypersingular integrals with homogeneous characteristic. Dokl. Akad. Nauk 75(1), 39–43 (2007)

- Lyakhov, L.N., Shishkina, E.L.: Inversion of general Riesz B-potentials with homogeneous characteristic in weight classes of functions. Dokl. Akad. Nauk 426(4), 443–447 (2009, in Russian)
- 15. Guliev, V.S.: Some properties of the anisotropic Riesz-Bessel potential. Anal. Math. 26(2), 1–20 (2000)
- 16. Shishkina, E.L.: Inversion of integral of B-potential type with density from Φ_{γ} . J. Math. Sci. **160**(1), 95–102 (2009)
- 17. Shishkina, E.L.: On the boundedness of hyperbolic Riesz B-potential. Lith. Math. J. 56(4), 540–551 (2016)
- Shishkina, E.L.: Inversion of the mixed Riesz hyperbolic B-potentials. Int. J. Appl. Math. 30(6), 487–500 (2017)
- Shishkina, E.L.: Properties of mixed hyperbolic B-potential. Prog. Fract. Differ. Appl. 4(2), 83–98 (2018)
- Shishkina, E.L.: Solution of the singular Cauchy problem for a general inhomogeneous Euler– Poisson–Darboux equation. Carpathian J. Math. 2, 255–267 (2018)
- Shishkina, E.L., Abbas, S.: Method of Riesz potentials applied to solution to nonhomogeneous singular wave equation. Math. Notes NEFU 25(3), 68–91 (2018)
- 22. Katrakhov, V.V., Sitnik, S.M.: The transmutation method and boundary-value problems for singular elliptic equations. Contemp. Math. Fundam. Dir. 4(2), 211–426 (2018, in Russian)
- Zhitomirskii, Ya.I.: Cauchy's problem for systems of linear partial differential equations with differential operators of Bessel type. Mat. Sb. (N.S.) 36(78)(2), 299–310 (1955, in Russian)
- 24. Kipriyanov, I.A.: Singular Elliptic Boundary Value Problems. Nauka, Moscow (1997, in Russian)
- 25. Samko, S.G.: On the test functions that disappear on a given set, and on the division into functions. Math. Notes **21**(5), 677–689 (1977, in Russian)
- 26. Prudnikov, A.P., Brychkov, Yu.A., Marichev, O.I.: Integrals and Series, vol. 2, Special Functions. Gordon and Breach Science Publishers, New York (1990)
- 27. Exton, H.: On the system of partial differential equations associated with Appell's function F_4 . J. Phys. A: Math. Gen. **28**, 631–641 (1995)
- Shishkina, E.L.: Weighted generalized functions corresponding to a quadratic form with complex coefficients. Chelyabinsk Phys.-Mat. J. 2(1), 88–98 (2017)
- 29. Levitan, B.M.: Expansion in Fourier series and integrals with Bessel functions. Uspekhi Mat. Nauk 6(2(42)), 102–143 (1951, in Russian)
- Shishkina, E.L.: Weighted generalized functions and hyperbolic Riesz B-potential. Math. Method Appl. Sci. 42, 5060–5071 (2019)
- Samko, S.G.: A new approach to the inversion of the Riesz potential operator. Fract. Calc. Appl. Anal. 1(3), 225–245 (1998)
- Kipriyanov, I.A., Ivanov, L.A.: Fundamental solutions for homogeneous B-hyperbolic equations. Sib. Mat. J. 21(4), 95–102 (1980, in Russian)
- Prudnikov, A.P., Brychkov, Yu.A., Marichev, O.I.: Integrals and Series. 1, Elementary Functions. Gordon and Breach Science Publishers, New York (1992)
- 34. Stein, E.M., Weiss, G.: Introduction to Fourier Analysis on Euclidean Spaces. Princeton University Press, Princeton (1971)
- 35. Platonov, S.S.: Bessel generalized translations and some problems of approximation theory for functions on the half-line. Sibirsk. Mat. Zh. **50**(1), 154–174 (2009, in Russian)
- Platonov, S.S.: Bessel harmonic analysis and approximation of functions on the half-line. Izv. RAN. Ser. Mat. 71(5), 149–196 (2007, in Russian)
- 37. Shishkina, E.L., Sitnik, S.M.: General form of the Euler–Poisson–Darboux equation and application of the transmutation method. Electron. J. Differ. Equ. **177**, 1–20 (2017)
- Lyakhov, L.N.: Multipliers of the mixed Fourier–Bessel transform. In: Tr. MIAN, Research on the Theory of Differentiable Functions of Many Variables and Its Applications. Part 17, vol. 214, pp. 234–249 (1997, in Russian)

Some Properties of Sobolev Orthogonal Polynomials Associated with Chebyshev Polynomials of the Second Kind



M. S. Sultanakhmedov

Abstract This paper considers the polynomials $U_{r,n}(x)$ (r = 1, 2, ...; n = 0, 1, 2, ...; n which are orthonormal with respect to Sobolev-type inner product on the segment [-1, 1] with the weight function $\mu(x) = \sqrt{1 - x^2}$ and associated with classical Chebyshev polynomials of the second kind $U_n(x)$. We obtain explicit formulas for $U_{r,n}(x)$ as well as recurrence relations for two special cases r = 1 and r = 2, which are important for applications. Additionally, the asymptotic properties of the polynomials $U_{r,k}(x)$ are studied.

Keywords Sobolev orthogonal polynomials · Chebyshev polynomials · Asymptotic properties · Recurrence relations · Explicit formulas · Function approximation

Mathematics Subject Classification 26C05, 42C10, 65Q30

1 Introduction

Following the established notation, we denote by $L_{\omega}^{p}(a, b)$ the space of functions f(x) measurable on (a, b) for which $\int_{a}^{b} |f(x)|^{p} \omega(x) dx < \infty$, where $\omega = \omega(x)$ is a weight function.

Let $\{\varphi_n\}_{n=0}^{\infty}$ be a system of functions orthonormal in $L^2_{\omega}(a, b)$. In other words,

$$\langle \varphi_n, \varphi_m \rangle_{L^2_\omega} = \int_a^b \varphi_n(t) \varphi_m(t) \omega(t) dt = \delta_{n,m},$$

M. S. Sultanakhmedov (🖂)

The Daghestan Federal Research Center of the Russian Academy of Sciences, Makhachkala, Russia

[©] The Editor(s) (if applicable) and The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

A. G. Kusraev, Z. D. Totieva (eds.), *Operator Theory and Differential Equations*, Trends in Mathematics, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-49763-7_18

where $\delta_{n,m}$ is the Kronecker symbol.

By $W_{L^2_{\omega}(a,b)}^r$ we denote the Sobolev space which consists of functions f(x), continuously differentiable r - 1-times on [a, b] and such that $f^{(r-1)}(x)$ is absolutely continuous on [a, b] and $f^{(r)}(x) \in L^2_{\omega}(a, b)$. The inner product in $W_{L^2_{\omega}(a,b)}^r$ is defined using the equality

$$\langle f,g\rangle = \sum_{\nu=0}^{r-1} f^{(\nu)}(a)g^{(\nu)}(a) + \int_{a}^{b} f^{(r)}(t)g^{(r)}(t)\omega(t)dt.$$
(1.1)

Inner products of this kind are called Sobolev-type inner products. From the system $\{\varphi_k(x)\}\)$, we can generate functions orthogonal with respect to inner product (1.1) using the following equations:

$$\varphi_{r,k}(x) = \frac{(x-a)^k}{k!}, \quad k = 0, 1, \dots, r-1,$$
 (1.2)

$$\varphi_{r,r+k}(x) = \frac{1}{(r-1)!} \int_{a}^{x} (x-t)^{r-1} \varphi_k(t) dt, \quad k = 0, 1, \dots$$
(1.3)

More precisely, the following statement was proved in [1].

Theorem A Suppose that the functions $\varphi_k(x)$ (k = 0, 1, ...) form a complete orthonormal system in $L^2_{\omega}(a, b)$. Then the system $\{\varphi_{r,k}(x)\}_{k=0}^{\infty}$, generated by the system $\{\varphi_k(x)\}_{k=0}^{\infty}$ with the help of the equalities (1.2)–(1.3), is complete in $W^r_{L^2_{\omega}(a,b)}$ and orthonormal with respect to the inner product (1.1).

I.I. Sharapudinov in [1] considered the polynomials associated with the classical Chebyshev polynomials of the first kind $T_n(x) = \cos(n \arccos x)$ and orthogonal on [-1, 1] with respect to the Sobolev inner product (1.1) when the weight function has a form $\omega(x) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{1-x^2}}$.

The distinctive feature of inner products of the Sobolev-type of this kind is the presence of special points in the neighborhood of which the behavior of Sobolev orthogonal functions can be "controlled". Due to this feature, it is possible to construct the Fourier series by the Sobolev orthogonal polynomials which partial sums coincide with the approximated function at the ends of the orthogonality segment. Such series proved to be a convenient tool for different applied tasks such as representing solutions of the Cauchy problem for differential equations.

Additionally, in [2, 3] we studied the approximative properties of special wavelets based on classical Chebyshev polynomials of the second kind

$$U_n(x) = \frac{\sin(n+1)\arccos x}{\sin\arccos x}, \quad (n = 0, 1, 2, \ldots),$$

which also have the property of coincidence with the approximated function at the end points of the orthogonality segment (at the points ± 1).

In this article, we consider polynomials $U_{r,n}(x)$ (r = 1, 2, ...; n = 0, 1, 2, ...) which are Sobolev orthonormal on the segment [-1, 1] with the weight function $\omega = \mu(x) = \sqrt{1 - x^2}$ and associated with Chebyshev polynomials of the second kind. We obtained the explicit formulas for $U_{r,n}(x)$, as well as recurrence relations for two important special cases r = 1 and r = 2. Also, we studied the asymptotic properties of the polynomials $U_{r,k}(x)$.

2 Some Properties of Jacobi and Chebyshev Polynomials

For arbitrary real α and β the Jacobi polynomials $P_n^{\alpha,\beta}(x)$ can be determined using the Rodrigues formula (see [4]):

$$P_n^{\alpha,\beta}(x) = \frac{(-1)^n}{2^n n!} \frac{1}{\rho(x)} \frac{d^n}{dx^n} \left\{ \rho(x) \sigma^n(x) \right\},$$
(2.1)

where $\rho(x) = \rho(x; \alpha, \beta) = (1 - x)^{\alpha}(1 + x)^{\beta}$, $\sigma(x) = 1 - x^2$. If $\alpha, \beta > -1$, then Jacobi polynomials form a complete orthogonal system in $L^2_{\rho}(-1, 1)$, i.e.

$$\int_{-1}^{1} P_n^{\alpha,\beta}(x) P_m^{\alpha,\beta}(x) \rho(x) dx = h_n^{\alpha,\beta} \delta_{nm}, \qquad (2.2)$$

where

$$h_n^{\alpha,\beta} = \frac{\Gamma(n+\alpha+1)\Gamma(n+\beta+1)2^{\alpha+\beta+1}}{n!\Gamma(n+\alpha+\beta+1)(2n+\alpha+\beta+1)}.$$
(2.3)

We will need the following properties of Jacobi polynomials (see [4, 5]):

$$P_n^{\alpha,\beta}(-x) = (-1)^n P_n^{\beta,\alpha}(x),$$

$$P_n^{\alpha,\beta}(-1) = (-1)^n \binom{n+\beta}{n}, \quad P_n^{\alpha,\beta}(1) = \binom{n+\alpha}{n},$$
(2.4)

$$\frac{d}{dx}P_n^{\alpha,\beta}(x) = \frac{1}{2}(n+\alpha+\beta+1)P_{n-1}^{\alpha+1,\beta+1}(x),$$
(2.5)

$$\frac{d^{\nu}}{dx^{\nu}}P_{n}^{\alpha,\beta}(x) = \frac{(n+\alpha+\beta+1)_{\nu}}{2^{\nu}}P_{n-\nu}^{\alpha+\nu,\beta+\nu}(x),$$
(2.6)

where $(a)_0 = 1$, $(a)_v = a(a+1) \dots (a+v-1)$,

$$\binom{n}{l}P_n^{\alpha,-l}(x) = \binom{n+\alpha}{l}\left(\frac{x+1}{2}\right)^l P_{n-l}^{\alpha,l}(x), \quad 1 \le l \le n,$$
(2.7)

$$P_n^{\alpha,\beta}(x) = \binom{n+\alpha}{n} \sum_{k=0}^n \frac{(-n)_k (n+\alpha+\beta+1)_k}{k! (\alpha+1)_k} \left(\frac{1-x}{2}\right)^k,$$
 (2.8)

$$(1-x)^{\alpha}(1+x)^{\beta}P_{n}^{\alpha,\beta}(x) = \frac{(-1)^{m}}{2^{m}n^{[m]}}\frac{d^{m}}{dx^{m}}\left\{(1-x)^{m+\alpha}(1+x)^{m+\beta}P_{n-m}^{m+\alpha,m+\beta}(x)\right\},$$
(2.9)

where $k^{[0]} = 1$, $k^{[r]} = k(k-1) \dots (k-r+1)$. Let us also consider the expression

$$\frac{P_n^{a,a}(x)}{P_n^{a,a}(1)} = \sum_{j=0}^{\lfloor n/2 \rfloor} \frac{n!(\alpha+1)_{n-2j}(n+2a+1)_{n-2j}(1/2)_j(a-\alpha)_j}{(n-2j)!(2j)!(a+1)_{n-2j}(n-2j+2\alpha+1)_{n-2j}} \times \frac{1}{(n-2j+a+1)_j(n-2j+\alpha+3/2)_j} \frac{P_{n-2j}^{\alpha,\alpha}(x)}{P_{n-2j}^{\alpha,\alpha}(1)},$$
(2.10)

where [b] is the integer part of number b. Taking into account that $P_{k+r}^{\alpha-r,\alpha-r}(x)$ and $P_{k+r-2j}^{\alpha,\alpha}(x)$ are analytical functions with respect to α , the next statement follows from equality (2).

Lemma 1 Let $\alpha > -1$ be real and $r \ge 1$, $k \ge r + 1$ be integers. Then

$$P_{k+r}^{\alpha-r,\alpha-r}(x) = \sum_{j=0}^{r} \lambda_j^{\alpha} P_{k+r-2j}^{\alpha,\alpha}(x),$$

where

$$\lambda_j^{\alpha} = \lambda_j^{\alpha}(r,k) = \frac{(-1)^j (k-r+2\alpha+1)_{k+r-2j} (1/2)_j r^{[j]} (\alpha+k)^{[j]}}{(k+r-2j+2\alpha+1)_{k+r-2j} (k+r-2j+\alpha+3/2)_j (2j)!}.$$

The Chebyshev polynomials of the first and second kinds are well-known special cases of Jacobi polynomials. The Chebyshev polynomials of the first kind

$$T_n(x) = \cos n \arccos x, \quad n = 0, 1, 2, ...,$$

form a complete orthogonal system in $L^2_{\kappa}(-1, 1)$ with the weight function $\kappa(x) = (1 - x^2)^{-\frac{1}{2}}$, while the Chebyshev polynomials of the second kind

$$U_n(x) = \frac{\sin(n+1)\arccos x}{\sin\arccos x}, \quad n = 0, 1, 2, \dots,$$

form a complete orthogonal system in $L^2_{\mu}(-1, 1)$ where $\mu(x) = \sqrt{1 - x^2}$.

There are several relations between these two kinds of polynomials. We will use this one:

$$2T_n(x) = U_n(x) - U_{n-2}(x), \quad n \ge 2.$$
(2.11)

The relation between $U_n(x)$ and the standardized Jacobi polynomials is shown by the next equation:

$$U_n(x) = \frac{4^n n! (n+1)!}{(2n+1)!} P_n^{\frac{1}{2},\frac{1}{2}}(x).$$
(2.12)

Using Lemma 1 for the case $\alpha = \frac{1}{2}$, we can derive the following statement.

Lemma 2 Let k, r be integers, $r \ge 1, k \ge r + 1$. Then

$$P_{k+r}^{\frac{1}{2}-r,\frac{1}{2}-r}(x) = \frac{(2k+1)!}{(k!)^2 4^{k+r}} \sum_{j=0}^{r} \frac{(-1)^j}{j!} \frac{(k+r-2j+1)r^{[j]}k^{[r-1]}}{(k+r-j+1)^{[r+1]}} U_{k+r-2j}(x).$$

Finally, we also give here an asymptotic formula for the Jacobi polynomials that will be needed in the study of asymptotic properties of polynomials $U_{r,n}(x)$. Let α and β be arbitrary real numbers,

$$s(\theta) = \pi^{-\frac{1}{2}} \left(\sin \frac{\theta}{2} \right)^{-\alpha - \frac{1}{2}} \left(\cos \frac{\theta}{2} \right)^{-\beta - \frac{1}{2}},$$
$$\lambda_n = n + \frac{\alpha + \beta + 1}{2}, \quad \gamma = -\left(\alpha + \frac{1}{2}\right) \frac{\pi}{2}$$

Then for $0 < \theta < \pi$ the next asymptotic formula holds

$$P_n^{\alpha,\beta}(\cos\theta) = n^{-\frac{1}{2}}s(\theta)\left(\cos(\lambda_n\theta + \gamma) + \frac{v_n(\theta)}{n\sin\theta}\right),\tag{2.13}$$

where for $v_n(\theta) = v_n(\theta; \alpha, \beta)$ the estimate

$$|v_n(\theta)| \le c(\alpha, \beta, \delta) \quad \left(0 < \frac{\delta}{n} \le \theta \le \pi - \frac{\delta}{n}\right)$$
 (2.14)

takes place. In particular, for Chebyshev polynomials of the first kind the asymptotic formula takes the following form

$$T_n(\cos\theta) = \frac{4^n (n!)^2}{(2n)! \sqrt{\pi n}} \left(\cos n\theta + \frac{\hat{v}_n(\theta)}{n \sin \theta} \right), \qquad (2.15)$$

where

$$|\hat{v}_n(\theta)| \le c(\delta), \quad 0 < \frac{\delta}{n} \le \theta \le \pi - \frac{\delta}{n}$$

3 The Chebyshev–Sobolev Polynomials of the Second Kind

It is easy to show that

$$\int_{-1}^{1} U_n(x) U_m(x) \mu(x) dx = \frac{\pi \delta_{nm}}{2}.$$
 (3.1)

Hence the polynomials $\hat{U}_n(x) = \sqrt{2/\pi} U_n(x)$ are orthonormal in $L^2_{\mu}(-1, 1)$. Then we consider the polynomials $U_{r,k}(x)$ (r = 1, 2, ...) defined on [-1, 1] by the equalities

$$U_{r,k}(x) = \frac{(x+1)^k}{k!}, \quad k = 0, 1, \dots, r-1,$$
(3.2)

$$U_{r,r+n}(x) = \frac{\sqrt{2/\pi}}{(r-1)!} \int_{-1}^{x} (x-t)^{r-1} U_n(t) dt, \quad n = 0, 1, \dots.$$
(3.3)

The next statement directly follows from Theorem A.

Corollary A For any integer r > 0, the system of polynomials $\{U_{r,k}(x)\}_{k=0}^{\infty}$ generated by equalities (3.2)–(3.3) is complete in $W_{L^2_u(-1,1)}^r$ and is orthonormal with respect to the Sobolev-type inner product.

To proceed with the study of the asymptotic properties of polynomials $U_{r,k}(x)$, first we need to obtain some representations for these polynomials.

Theorem 1 For an arbitrary integer r > 0 and $n \ge 0$ the following equality holds

$$U_{r,r+n}(x) = (-1)^n \sqrt{\frac{2}{\pi}} \sum_{k=0}^n \frac{(-2)^k}{(k+r)^{[r]}} \binom{n+k+1}{n-k} (1+x)^{k+r} \,. \tag{3.4}$$

Proof We use (2.8) and write

$$P_n^{\frac{1}{2},\frac{1}{2}}(x) = (-1)^n P_n^{\frac{1}{2},\frac{1}{2}}(-x) = (-1)^n \binom{n+\frac{1}{2}}{n} \sum_{k=0}^n \frac{(-n)_k (n+2)_k}{k! (\frac{3}{2})_k} \left(\frac{1+x}{2}\right)^k = \\ = (-1)^n \frac{(2n+1)!}{4^n (n!)^2} \sum_{k=0}^n 4^k \frac{(-n)_k (n+2)_k}{(2k+1)!} \left(\frac{1+x}{2}\right)^k.$$

From (2.12) we get

$$U_n(x) = \frac{4^n n! (n+1)!}{(2n+1)!} P_n^{\frac{1}{2},\frac{1}{2}}(x) = (-1)^n \sum_{k=0}^n 4^k \frac{(-n)_k (n+1)_{k+1}}{(2k+1)!} \left(\frac{1+x}{2}\right)^k.$$

Next, from the definition (3.3) we have:

$$U_{r,r+n}(x) = \frac{\sqrt{2/\pi}}{(r-1)!} \int_{-1}^{x} (x-t)^{r-1} U_n(t) dt =$$

= $(-1)^n \sqrt{\frac{2}{\pi}} \sum_{k=0}^n \frac{4^k (-n)_k (n+1)_{k+1}}{(2k+1)!} \frac{1}{(r-1)!} \int_{-1}^x (x-t)^{r-1} \left(\frac{1+t}{2}\right)^k dt.$

Additionally, from the Taylor formula

$$\left(\frac{1+x}{2}\right)^{k+r} = \frac{(k+r)^{[r]}}{2^r(r-1)!} \int_{-1}^{x} (x-t)^{r-1} \left(\frac{1+t}{2}\right)^k dt,$$
(3.5)

follows

$$U_{r,r+n}(x) = (-1)^n \sqrt{\frac{2}{\pi}} \sum_{k=0}^n \frac{4^k (-n)_k (n+1)_{k+1}}{(2k+1)!} \frac{2^r}{(k+r)^{[r]}} \left(\frac{1+x}{2}\right)^{k+r} =$$

= $(-1)^n \sqrt{\frac{2}{\pi}} \sum_{k=0}^n \frac{(-2)^k}{(k+r)^{[r]}} \binom{n+k+1}{n-k} (1+x)^{k+r}.$

The established equality (3.4) will be used to study the asymptotic properties of the polynomials $U_{r,n+r}(x)$ in a neighborhood of the point x = -1. However, for $-1 + \varepsilon \le x$ the formula (3.4) becomes inappropriate for studying the asymptotic behavior of the polynomials $U_{r,n+r}(x)$ as $n \to \infty$. Therefore, it is necessary to find other representations for these polynomials that could be used to study their behavior as $n \to \infty$ in the case when x is not in close proximity to -1. First, for $n > \max(0, r - 2)$ it is obvious that $(n + 1)^{[r]} \neq 0$ and we can use equality (2.6):

$$P_n^{\frac{1}{2},\frac{1}{2}}(x) = \frac{2^r}{(n+1)^{[r]}} \frac{d^r}{dt^r} P_{n+r}^{\frac{1}{2}-r,\frac{1}{2}-r}(x),$$

whence

$$U_n(x) = \frac{4^n n! (n+1)!}{(2n+1)!} P_n^{\frac{1}{2},\frac{1}{2}}(x) = 2^{2n+r} \frac{n! (n-r+1)!}{(2n+1)!} \frac{d^r}{dt^r} P_{n+r}^{\frac{1}{2}-r}(x).$$

Then let us consider the expression

$$U_{r,r+n}(x) = \frac{\sqrt{2/\pi}}{(r-1)!} \int_{-1}^{x} (x-t)^{r-1} U_n(t) dt =$$

= $2^{2n+r} \frac{n!(n-r+1)!}{(2n+1)!} \frac{\sqrt{2/\pi}}{(r-1)!} \int_{-1}^{x} (x-t)^{r-1} \frac{d^r}{dt^r} P_{n+r}^{\frac{1}{2}-r,\frac{1}{2}-r}(t) dt =$
= $\frac{2^{2n+r} n!(n-r+1)!}{(2n+1)!\sqrt{\pi/2}!} \left[P_{n+r}^{\frac{1}{2}-r,\frac{1}{2}-r}(x) - \sum_{\nu=0}^{r-1} \frac{(1+x)^{\nu}}{\nu!} \left\{ P_{n+r}^{\frac{1}{2}-r,\frac{1}{2}-r}(t) \right\}_{t=-1}^{(\nu)} \right].$ (3.6)

Due to (2.6) we have

$$\left\{P_{n+r}^{\frac{1}{2}-r,\frac{1}{2}-r}(t)\right\}^{(\nu)} = \frac{(n+2-r)_{\nu}}{2^{\nu}}P_{n+r-\nu}^{\frac{1}{2}+\nu-r,\frac{1}{2}+\nu-r}(t),$$
(3.7)

and from (2.4) follows

$$P_{n+r-\nu}^{\frac{1}{2}+\nu-r,\frac{1}{2}+\nu-r}(-1) = (-1)^{n+r-\nu} \binom{n+\frac{1}{2}}{n+r-\nu} = \frac{(-1)^{n+r-\nu}\Gamma\left(n+\frac{3}{2}\right)}{\Gamma\left(\nu-r+\frac{3}{2}\right)(n+r-\nu)!}.$$
(3.8)

From (3.7) and (3.8) we get

$$\left\{P_{n+r}^{\frac{1}{2}-r,\frac{1}{2}-r}(t)\right\}_{t=-1}^{(\nu)} = \frac{(-1)^{n+r-\nu}\Gamma\left(n+\frac{3}{2}\right)(n+2-r)_{\nu}}{2^{\nu}\Gamma\left(\nu-r+\frac{3}{2}\right)(n+r-\nu)!} = A_{\nu,n,r}.$$
 (3.9)

Comparing (3.6) and (3.9) we can then write

$$U_{r,r+n}(x) = 2^{2n+r} \frac{n!(n-r+1)!}{(2n+1)!} \sqrt{\frac{2}{\pi}} \left[P_{n+r}^{\frac{1}{2}-r,\frac{1}{2}-r}(x) - \sum_{\nu=0}^{r-1} \frac{A_{\nu,n,r}}{\nu!} (1+x)^{\nu} \right].$$
(3.10)

Next, due to the equalities

$$\Gamma(z)\Gamma(1-z) = \frac{\pi}{\sin(\pi z)}, \quad \Gamma(z+1/2) = \frac{\sqrt{\pi}\Gamma(2z)}{2^{2z-1}\Gamma(z)}$$

for $n \ge r + 1$ we get

$$\begin{aligned} A_{\nu,n,r} &= \frac{(-1)^{n+r-\nu} \Gamma\left(n+\frac{3}{2}\right) (n+2-r)_{\nu}}{2^{\nu} \Gamma\left(\nu-r+\frac{3}{2}\right) (n+r-\nu)!} = \\ &= \frac{(-1)^{n+r-\nu} \Gamma\left(n+\frac{3}{2}\right) \Gamma\left(r-\nu-\frac{1}{2}\right) (n+2-r)_{\nu}}{2^{\nu} \Gamma\left(\nu-r+\frac{3}{2}\right) \Gamma\left(r-\nu-\frac{1}{2}\right) (n+r-\nu)!} = \\ &= \frac{(-1)^{n+r-\nu} \Gamma\left(n+\frac{3}{2}\right) \Gamma\left(r-\nu-\frac{1}{2}\right) (n+2-r)_{\nu} \sin \pi (\nu-r+3/2)}{2^{\nu} \pi (n+r-\nu)!} = \\ &= (-1)^{n+1} \frac{(2n+2)! \sqrt{\pi}}{4^{n+1} (n+1)!} \frac{(2(r-\nu-1))! \sqrt{\pi}}{4^{n+\nu-1} (r-\nu-1)!} \frac{(n+2-r)_{\nu}}{2^{\nu} \pi (n+r-\nu)!} = \\ &= (-1)^{n+1} \frac{2^{\nu+1} (2n+1)!}{4^{n+r} n!} \frac{(2(r-\nu-1))!}{(r-\nu-1)!} \frac{(n+2-r)_{\nu}}{(n+r-\nu)!}. \end{aligned}$$

Now we refer to Lemma 2, from which we deduce

$$\frac{2^{2n+2r}(n!)^2}{(2n+1)!n^{[r-1]}}P_{n+r}^{\frac{1}{2}-r,\frac{1}{2}-r}(x) = \sum_{j=0}^r \frac{(-1)^j}{j!} \frac{(n+r-2j+1)r^{[j]}}{(n+r-j+1)^{[r+1]}} U_{n+r-2j}(x),$$
$$\frac{2^{2n+r}n!(n-r+1)!}{(2n+1)!}P_{n+r}^{\frac{1}{2}-r,\frac{1}{2}-r}(x) = \sum_{j=0}^r (-1)^j \binom{r}{j} \frac{(n+r-2j+1)U_{n+r-2j}(x)}{2^r(n+r-j+1)^{[r+1]}}$$

Then, returning to (3.10), we derive the following result.

Theorem 2 If $n \ge r + 1$, then

$$U_{r,r+n}(x) = \sqrt{\frac{2}{\pi}} \left[\sum_{j=0}^{r} (-1)^{j} {r \choose j} \frac{(n+r-2j+1) U_{n+r-2j}(x)}{2^{r} (n+r-j+1)^{[r+1]}} - \frac{2^{2n+r} (n!)^{2}}{(2n+1)! n^{[r-1]}} \sum_{\nu=0}^{r-1} \frac{A_{\nu,n,r}}{\nu!} (1+x)^{\nu} \right].$$
(3.11)

4 Recurrence Relations for Polynomials $U_{1,n}(x)$ and $U_{2,n}(x)$

As it was already mentioned above, Sobolev orthogonal polynomials proved to be an effective tool for the approximate solution of the Cauchy problem for ODEs. Regarding this, two special cases are of particular importance: r = 1 and r = 2. We will consider them here apart from others.

1. First, let r = 1.

$$A_{0,n,1} = \frac{(-1)^{n+1}}{(n+1)!} \frac{(2n+1)!}{2^{2n+1}n!}, \quad n = 2, 3, \dots$$

From here and from (3.11) we deduce

$$U_{1,n+1}(x) = \sqrt{\frac{2}{\pi}} \left[\frac{(n+2) U_{n+1}(x)}{2(n+2)^{[2]}} - \frac{n U_{n-1}(x)}{2(n+1)^{[2]}} - \frac{(-1)^{n+1}}{(n+1)} \right] =$$
$$= \frac{1}{n+1} \sqrt{\frac{2}{\pi}} \left[\frac{U_{n+1}(x) - U_{n-1}(x)}{2} - (-1)^{n+1} \right] =$$
$$= \frac{1}{n+1} \sqrt{\frac{2}{\pi}} \left[T_{n+1}(x) - (-1)^{n+1} \right].$$

Using (3.2)–(3.3), we calculate $U_{1,k}$ for k = 0, 1, 2 and finally get **Corollary 1** *The following equalities hold*

$$U_{1,0}(x) = 1, \quad U_{1,1}(x) = \sqrt{\frac{2}{\pi}}(x+1), \quad U_{1,2}(x) = \sqrt{\frac{2}{\pi}}\left(x^2 - 1\right),$$
$$U_{1,n}(x) = \sqrt{\frac{2}{\pi}}\frac{T_n(x) - (-1)^n}{n}, \quad n \ge 3.$$

2. For r = 2 and $n \ge 3$ we have

$$\begin{aligned} A_{0,n,2} &= \frac{(-1)^{n+1} (2n+1)!}{4^{n+1} n! (n+2)!}, \quad A_{1,n,2} &= \frac{(-1)^{n+1} (2n+1)!}{4^{n+1} (n-1)! (n+1)!}, \\ U_{2,n+2}(x) &= \sqrt{\frac{2}{\pi}} \left[\sum_{j=0}^{2} (-1)^{j} \binom{2}{j} \frac{(n-2j+3) U_{n-2j+2}(x)}{4 (n-j+3)^{[3]}} - \right. \\ &\left. - \frac{4^{n+1} (n!)^{2}}{(2n+1)! n} \sum_{\nu=0}^{1} \frac{A_{\nu,n,2}}{\nu!} (1+x)^{\nu} \right] = \\ &= \sqrt{\frac{2}{\pi}} \left[\frac{U_{n+2}(x)}{4 (n+1) (n+2)} - \frac{U_{n}(x)}{2 n (n+2)} + \frac{U_{n-2}(x)}{4 n (n+1)} - \right. \\ &\left. - \frac{(-1)^{n+1} (n-1)!}{(n+2)!} - \frac{(-1)^{n+1} n!}{(n+1)!} (1+x) \right] = \\ &= \frac{1}{n+1} \sqrt{\frac{2}{\pi}} \left[\frac{1}{2 (n+2)} \left(T_{n+2}(x) - \frac{n+2}{2n} U_{n}(x) \right) + \right. \\ &\left. + \frac{U_{n-2}(x)}{4n} + (-1)^{n} \left(x + 1 + \frac{1}{n (n+2)} \right) \right] = \\ &= \frac{1}{n+1} \sqrt{\frac{2}{\pi}} \left[\frac{T_{n+2}(x)}{2 (n+2)} - \frac{T_{n}(x)}{2n} + (-1)^{n} \left(x + 1 + \frac{1}{n (n+2)} \right) \right] \end{aligned}$$

Using (3.2)–(3.3), we calculate $U_{2,k}$ for k = 0, 1, 2, 3, 4 and finally get **Corollary 2** *The following equalities hold*

$$U_{2,0}(x) = 1, \quad U_{2,1}(x) = x + 1, \quad U_{2,2}(x) = \frac{(x+1)^2}{\sqrt{2\pi}},$$
$$U_{2,3}(x) = \frac{(x-2)(x+1)^2}{3\sqrt{\pi/2}}, \quad U_{2,4}(x) = \frac{2x^4 - 3x^2 + 2x + 3}{3\sqrt{2\pi}},$$
$$U_{2,n}(x) = \frac{1}{n-1}\sqrt{\frac{2}{\pi}} \left[\frac{T_n(x)}{2n} - \frac{T_{n-2}(x)}{2(n-2)} + (-1)^n \left(x + 1 + \frac{1}{n(n-2)} \right) \right], \quad n \ge 5.$$

Remark See [6] for more information on recurrence formulas for Sobolev orthogonal polynomials associated with classic orthogonal polynomials.

5 Asymptotic Properties of the Polynomials $U_{r,n}(x)$

The results obtained in the previous sections are applied here to the study of the behavior of the polynomials $U_{r,n}(x)$ as $n \to \infty$. Let us start with the case when x is in close proximity to -1.

Theorem 3 For real a > 0 the following asymptotic formula holds

$$U_{r,n+r}(x) = \frac{(-1)^n (n+1)}{\sqrt{\pi/2}} \left(1+x\right)^r \left(\frac{1}{r!} + v_{r,n}(x)\right),\tag{5.1}$$

where for the remainder $v_{r,n}(x)$ an estimate

$$|v_{r,n}(x)| \le c(a, r)n^2 |1+x|$$

holds, when $|1 + x| \leq \frac{a}{n^2}$.

Proof Using Theorem 3, we rewrite equality (3.4) as follows

$$U_{r,r+n}(x) = \frac{(-1)^n (n+1)}{\sqrt{\pi/2}} (1+x)^r \left[\frac{1}{r!} + \sum_{k=1}^n \frac{(-2)^k}{(k+r)^{[r]}} \binom{n+k+1}{n-k} \frac{(1+x)^k}{n+1} \right].$$

Denote by

$$v_{r,n}(x) = \sum_{k=1}^{n} \frac{(-2)^k}{(k+r)^{[r]}} \binom{n+k+1}{n-k} \frac{(1+x)^k}{n+1}$$

and estimate this value when $|1 + x| \le \frac{a}{n^2}$:

$$\begin{aligned} |v_{r,n}(x)| &\leq \sum_{k=1}^{n} \frac{2^{k}}{(k+r)^{[r]}} \frac{(n+k+1)!}{(n-k)!(2k+1)!} \frac{|1+x|^{k}}{n+1} \leq \\ &\leq \sum_{k=1}^{n} \frac{2^{k}}{(2k+1)!(k+r)^{[r]}} \frac{(n-k+1)_{2k+1}}{(n+1)} |1+x|^{k} \leq \\ &\leq c n^{2} |1+x| \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{(2a)^{k-1}}{(2k+1)!(k+r)^{[r]}} \leq c(a,r) n^{2} |1+x| \end{aligned}$$

The theorem is proved.

Next we consider the case $-1 + \frac{a}{n^2} \le x \le 1 - \frac{a}{n^2}$, where a > 0. Here we consider only two particular values of *r*, namely: r = 1 and r = 2, which are of particular practical interest as was mentioned above.

First, from Corollary 1 and asymptotic formula (2.15) we have

$$U_{1,n}(x) = \frac{1}{n} \sqrt{\frac{2}{\pi}} \left[\frac{4^n (n!)^2}{(2n)! \sqrt{\pi n}} \left(\cos n\theta + \frac{v_n(\theta)}{n \sin \theta} \right) - (-1)^n \right] =$$
$$= \frac{4^n (n!)^2 \sqrt{2}}{(2n)! \pi n \sqrt{n}} \left(\cos n\theta + \frac{v_n(\theta)}{n \sin \theta} \right) - \frac{(-1)^n \sqrt{2}}{n \sqrt{\pi}}.$$

Theorem 4 For $0 < \theta < \pi$ the following asymptotic formula holds

$$U_{1,n}(x) = \frac{4^n (n!)^2 \sqrt{2}}{(2n)! \pi n \sqrt{n}} (\cos n\theta + \eta_n(\theta)) + \gamma_n,$$

where

$$\eta_n(\theta) = \frac{v_n(\theta)}{n\sin\theta}, \quad \gamma_n = (-1)^{n+1} \frac{\sqrt{2}}{n\sqrt{\pi}},$$

and for $v_n(\theta)$ the estimate

$$|v_n(\theta)| \le c(\delta)$$

takes place when $0 < \frac{\delta}{n} \le \theta \le \pi - \frac{\delta}{n}$.

Then, from (3.10) for r = 2 we have

$$U_{2,n+2}(x) = \frac{4^{n+1}n!(n-1)!}{(2n+1)!} \sqrt{\frac{2}{\pi}} \left[P_{n+2}^{-\frac{3}{2},-\frac{3}{2}}(x) - A_{0,n,2} - (1+x)A_{1,n,2} \right].$$
(5.2)

Additionally, asymptotic formula (2.13) for $\alpha = \beta = -\frac{3}{2}$ gives us

$$P_n^{-\frac{3}{2},-\frac{3}{2}}(\cos\theta) = \frac{1}{2\sqrt{\pi n}} \left(\frac{\cos n\theta - \cos(n-2)\theta}{2} + \frac{v_n(\theta)}{n} \right),\tag{5.3}$$

where

$$|v_n(\theta)| \le c(\delta), \quad 0 < \frac{\delta}{n} \le \theta \le \pi - \frac{\delta}{n}.$$

Then using (5.2)–(5.3) we get

$$U_{2,n}(\cos\theta) = \frac{4^{n-1}}{\pi\sqrt{2n}} \frac{(n-2)!(n-3)!}{(2n-3)!} \left(\frac{\cos n\theta - \cos(n-2)\theta}{2} + \frac{v_n(\theta)}{n}\right) + \frac{(-1)^n}{n-1}\sqrt{\frac{2}{\pi}} \left(1 + \cos\theta + \frac{1}{n(n-2)}\right).$$

Theorem 5 For $0 < \theta < \pi$ the following asymptotic formula holds

$$U_{2,n}(\cos\theta) = \hat{\sigma}_n \left(\frac{\cos n\theta - \cos(n-2)\theta}{2} + \frac{v_n(\theta)}{n} \right) + \hat{v}_n(\theta),$$

where

$$\hat{\sigma}_n = \frac{4^{n-1}}{\pi\sqrt{2n}} \frac{(n-2)!(n-3)!}{(2n-3)!}, \quad \hat{\nu}_n(\theta) = \frac{(-1)^n}{n-1} \sqrt{\frac{2}{\pi}} \left(1 + \cos\theta + \frac{1}{n(n-2)} \right),$$

and for $v_n(\theta)$ the estimate

$$|v_n(\theta)| \le c(\delta)$$

takes place when $0 < \frac{\delta}{n} \le \theta \le \pi - \frac{\delta}{n}$.

Finally we consider the case $|1 - x| \le \frac{a}{n^2}$. We will need the following two lemmas.

Lemma 3 For real a > 0 and integer $r \ge 1$, the following asymptotic formula holds

$$P_{n+r}^{\frac{1}{2}-r,\frac{1}{2}-r}(x) = {\binom{n+\frac{1}{2}}{n+r}} (1+q_{r,n}(x)) =$$
$$= \frac{\Gamma(n+\frac{3}{2})}{(n+r)!\sqrt{\pi}} \frac{(2r-3)!!}{(-2)^{r-1}} (1+q_{r,n}(x)), \qquad (5.4)$$

where for the remainder $q_{r,n}(x)$ estimate

$$|q_{r,n}(x)| \le c(a,r)n^2 |1-x|,$$
(5.5)

takes place, when $|1 - x| \le \frac{a}{n^2}$.

Proof From (2.8) we get

$$P_{n+r}^{\frac{1}{2}-r,\frac{1}{2}-r}(x) = \binom{n+\frac{1}{2}}{n+r} \left[1 + \sum_{k=1}^{n+r} \frac{(-n-r)_k(n-r+2)_k}{k!(\frac{3}{2})_k} \left(\frac{1-x}{2}\right)^k \right].$$

For the remainder term in this equality we can use the similar reasoning to the one used in the proof of Theorem 5 to obtain the estimate (5.5).

Lemma 4 For real a > 0 the next asymptotic formula holds

$$\sum_{\nu=0}^{r-1} \frac{A_{\nu,n,r}}{\nu!} (1+x)^{\nu} = (-1)^{n+1} \frac{\Gamma\left(n+\frac{3}{2}\right)}{(n+1)!\sqrt{\pi}} \frac{(1+x)^{r-1}}{(r-1)!} (1+h_{r,n}(x)), \qquad (5.6)$$

where for the remainder $h_{r,n}(x)$ estimate

$$|h_{r,n}(x)| \le c(a,r)n^{-2},$$

takes place, when $|1 - x| \leq \frac{a}{n^2}$.

Proof This statement directly follows from (3.9).

Finally, from (3.10) and Lemmas 3 and 4 we deduce the following result.

Theorem 6 For $n \ge r - 1$ the next asymptotic formula holds

$$U_{r,r+n}(x) = \frac{2^r}{(n+1)^{[r+1]}} \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi}} \left[\frac{(2r-3)!!}{(-2)^{r-1}(n+2)_{r-1}} (1+q_{r,n}(x)) + (-1)^n \frac{(1+x)^{r-1}}{(r-1)!} (1+h_{r,n}(x)) \right],$$

where for the remainders $q_{r,n}(x)$ and $h_{r,n}(x)$ the estimates

$$|q_{r,n}(x)| \le c(a,r)n^2|1-x|, \quad |h_{r,n}(x)| \le c(a,r)n^{-2},$$

take place, when $|1 - x| \leq \frac{a}{n^2}$.

References

- 1. Sharapudinov, I.I.: Asymptotic properties of polynomials, orthogonal in the Sobolev sense associated with the Jacobi polynomials. Daghestan Electron. Math. Rep. 6, 1–24 (2016)
- Sultanakhmedov, M.S.: Approximative properties of the Chebyshev wavelet series of the second kind. Vladikavkaz Math. J. 17(3), 56–64 (2015)
- Sultanakhmedov, M.S.: Special wavelets based on Chebyshev polynomials of the second kind and their approximative properties. Izv. Saratov Univ. (N.S.) Ser. Math. Mech. Inform. 16(1), 34–41 (2016)
- 4. Gabor, S.: Orthogonal Polynomials, p. 432. American Mathematical Society, Providence (1959)
- Gasper, G.: Positivity and special function. In: Askey, R.A. (ed.) Theory and Application of Special Functions, pp. 375–433 (1975)
- Sultanakhmedov, M.S.: Recurrence Relations for Sobolev Orthogonal Polynomials. Probl. Anal. Issues Anal. 9(27), No 2, 97–118 (2020)

Structure of Essential Spectrum and Discrete Spectrum of the Energy Operator of Five-Electron Systems in the Hubbard Model—Doublet States



S. M. Tashpulatov

Abstract We consider a five-electron system in the Hubbard model with a coupling between nearest-neighbors. The structure of essential spectrum and discrete spectrum of the systems in the first and second doublet states in a ν -dimensional lattice are investigated.

Keywords Essential spectrum \cdot Discrete spectrum \cdot Five-electron system \cdot Bound state \cdot Anti-bound state \cdot Hubbard model \cdot Doublet state \cdot Sextet state \cdot Quartet state

2010 Mathematics Subject Classification 62M15, 46L60, 47L90, 70H06, 70F05

1 Introduction

In the early 1970s, in these three papers [1-3], a simple metal model was proposed, having become a fundamental model in the theory of strongly correlated electron systems, that appeared almost simultaneously and independently. In that model, a single nondegenerate electron band with a local Coulomb interaction is considered. The model Hamiltonian contains only two parameters: the matrix element t of electron hopping from a lattice site to a neighboring site and the parameter Uof the on-site Coulomb repulsion of two electrons. In the secondary quantization representation, the Hamiltonian can be written as

$$H = t \sum_{m,\gamma} a^+_{m,\gamma} a_{m,\gamma} + U \sum_m a^+_{m,\uparrow} a_{m,\uparrow} a^+_{m,\downarrow} a_{m,\downarrow}, \qquad (1)$$

S. M. Tashpulatov (🖂)

Institute of Nuclear Physics of Academy of Science of the Republic of Uzbekistan, Tashkent, Uzbekistan

275

e-mail: toshpul@inp.uz

[©] The Editor(s) (if applicable) and The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

A. G. Kusraev, Z. D. Totieva (eds.), *Operator Theory and Differential Equations*, Trends in Mathematics, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-49763-7_19

where $a_{m,\gamma}^+$ and $a_{m,\gamma}$ denote Fermi operators of creation and annihilation of an electron with spin γ on a site *m* and the summation over τ means summation over the nearest neighbors on the lattice.

The model proposed in [1-3] was called the Hubbard model, after John Hubbard, who had made a fundamental contribution to the study of the statistical mechanics of that system, although the local form of Coulomb interaction had been first introduced for an impurity model in a metal by Anderson [4]. We also recall that the Hubbard model is a particular case of the Shubin-Wonsowsky polaron model [5], which had appeared 30 years before [1-3]. In the Shubin-Wonsowsky model, along with the on-site Coulomb interaction, the interaction of electrons on neighboring sites is also taken into account. The Hubbard model is an approximation used in solid state physics to describe the transition between conducting and insulating states. It is the simplest model describing particle interaction on a lattice. Its Hamiltonian contains only two terms: the kinetic term corresponding to the tunnelling (hopping) of particles between lattice sites and a term corresponding to the on-site interaction. Particles can be fermions, as in Hubbard's original work, and also bosons. The simplicity and sufficiency of Hamiltonian (1) have made the Hubbard model very popular and effective for describing strongly correlated electron systems.

The Hubbard model well describes the behaviour of particles in a periodic potential at sufficiently low temperatures, therefore, all particles that are in the lower Bloch band and involved in long-range interactions can be neglected. If the interaction between particles on different sites is taken into account, then the model is often called the extended Hubbard model. It was proposed to describe electrons in solids, that remains to be of particular interest for high-temperature superconductivity studies. Later, the extended Hubbard model also found applications in describing the behaviour of ultra-cold atoms in optical lattices. In considering electrons in solids, the Hubbard model can be regarded as a sophisticated version of the model of strongly bound electrons, involving only the electron hopping term in the Hamiltonian. In the case of strong interactions, these two models can give essentially different results. The Hubbard model predicts exactly the existence of so-called Mott insulators, where conductance is absent due to strong repulsion between particles. The Hubbard model is based on the approximation of strongly coupled electrons. In the strong coupling approximation, electrons initially occupy orbitals in atoms (lattice sites) and then hop over to other atoms, thus conducting the current. Mathematically, this is represented by the so-called hopping integral. This process can be considered as the physical phenomenon underlying the occurrence of electron bands in crystal materials. But the interaction between electrons is not considered in more general band theories. In addition to the hopping integral, which explains the conductance of the material, the Hubbard model contains the socalled on-site repulsion, corresponding to the Coulomb repulsion between electrons. This leads to a competition between the hopping integral, which depends on the mutual position of lattice sites, and the on-site repulsion, which is independent from the atom positions. As a result, the Hubbard model explains the metal-insulator transition in oxides of some transition metals. When such a material is heated, the

distance between nearest-neighbour sites increases, the hopping integral decreases, and on-site repulsion becomes dominant.

The Hubbard model is currently one of the most extensively studied multielectron models of metals [6-10]. But little is known about exact results for the spectrum and wave functions of the crystal described by the Hubbard model, and obtaining the corresponding statements is therefore of great interest. The spectrum and wave functions of the system of two electrons in a crystal described by the Hubbard Hamiltonian were studied in [6]. It is known that two-electron systems can be in two states, in the triplet and singlet ones[6-10]. It was proved in [6] that the spectrum of the system Hamiltonian H^t in the triplet state is purely continuous and coincides with a segment [m, M], and the operator H^s of the system in the singlet state, in addition to the continuous spectrum [m, M], has a unique antibound state for some values of the quasimomentum. For the antibound state, correlated motion of the electrons is realized and a large contribution of binary states takes place. Due to the closeness of the system, the energy must remain constant and large. This prevents the electrons from being separated by long distances. Next, an essential point is that bound states (sometimes called scattering-type states) do not form below the continuous spectrum. This can be easily understood because the interaction is repulsive. We note that a converse situation is realized for U < 0: below the continuous spectrum, there is a bound state (antibound states are absent) because the electrons are then attracted to one another.

For the first band, the spectrum is independent of the parameter U of the two-electron on-site Coulomb interaction and corresponds to the energy of two noninteracting electrons, being exactly equal to the triplet band. The second band is determined by Coulomb interaction to a much greater degree: both the amplitudes and the energy of two electrons depend on U, and the band itself disappears as $U \rightarrow 0$ and increases without bound as $U \rightarrow \infty$. The second band largely corresponds to a one-particle state, namely, the motion of the doublet, i.e., two-electron bound states.

The spectrum and wave functions of the three-electron system in a crystal described by the Hubbard Hamiltonian were studied in [11].

The spectrum of the energy operator of the four-electron system in a crystal described by the Hubbard Hamiltonian in the triplet state were studied in [12]. In the four-electron systems are exists quintet state, and three type triplet states, and two type singlet states. The spectrum of the energy operator of four-electron systems in the Hubbard model in the quintet, and singlet states were studied in [13].

Here, we consider the energy operator of five-electron systems in the Hubbard model and describe the structure of the essential spectra and discrete spectrum of the system for first and second doublet states.

The Hamiltonian of the chosen model has the form

$$H = A \sum_{m,\gamma} a^+_{m,\gamma} a_{m,\gamma} + B \sum_{m,\tau,\gamma} a^+_{m+\tau,\gamma} a_{m,\gamma} + U \sum_m a^+_{m,\uparrow} a_{m,\uparrow} a^+_{m,\downarrow} a_{m,\downarrow}.$$
 (2)

Here, A is the electron energy at a lattice site, B is the transfer integral between neighboring sites (we assume that B > 0 for convenience), $\tau = \pm e_j$, j =

1, 2, ..., ν , where e_j are mutually orthogonal unit vectors, which means that the summation is taken over the nearest neighbors, U is the parameter of the on-site Coulomb interaction of two electrons, γ is the spin index, $\gamma = \uparrow$ or $\gamma = \downarrow$, \uparrow and \downarrow denote the spin values $\frac{1}{2}$ and $-\frac{1}{2}$, and $a_{m,\gamma}^+$ and $a_{m,\gamma}$ are the respective electron creation and annihilation operators at a site $m \in Z^{\nu}$.

There exist a sextet state, four type quartet states and five type doublet states in the five-electron systems.

The energy of the system depends on its total spin *S*. Along with the Hamiltonian, the N_e electron system is characterized by the total spin *S*, $S = S_{max}, S_{max} - 1, \ldots, S_{min}, S_{max} = \frac{N_e}{2}, S_{min} = 0, \frac{1}{2}$.

Hamiltonian (2) commutes with all components of the total spin operator $S = (S^+, S^-, S^z)$, and the structure of eigenfunctions and eigenvalues of the system therefore depends on S. The Hamiltonian H acts in the antisymmetric Fo'ck space \mathcal{H}_{as} .

Let \mathcal{H} be a Hilbert space and denote by \mathcal{H}^n the *n*-fold tensor product $\mathcal{H}^n = \mathcal{H} \bigotimes \mathcal{H} \bigotimes \ldots \bigotimes \mathcal{H}$. We set $\mathcal{H}^0 = C$ and define $\mathcal{F}(\mathcal{H}) = \bigoplus_{n=0}^{\infty} \mathcal{H}^n$. The $\mathcal{F}(\mathcal{H})$ is called the Fock space over \mathcal{H} ; it will be separable, if \mathcal{H} is. For example, if $\mathcal{H} = L_2(R)$, then an element $\psi \in \mathcal{F}(\mathcal{H})$ is a sequence of functions $\psi = \{\psi_0, \psi_1(x_1), \psi_2(x_1, x_2), \psi_3(x_1, x_2, x_3), \ldots\}$, so that

$$|\psi_0|^2 + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} |\psi_n(x_1, x_2, \dots, x_n)|^2 dx_1 dx_2 \dots dx_n < \infty.$$

Actually, it is not $\mathcal{F}(\mathcal{H})$ itself, but two of its subspaces which are used most frequently in quantum field theory. These two subspaces are constructed as follows: Let \mathcal{P}_n be the permutation group on *n* elements, and let $\{\psi_n\}$ be a basis for space \mathcal{H} . For each $\sigma \in \mathcal{P}_n$, we define an operator (which we also denote by σ) on basis elements \mathcal{H}^n by $\sigma(\varphi_{k_1} \otimes \varphi_{k_2} \otimes \ldots \otimes \varphi_{k_n}) = \varphi_{k_{\sigma(1)}} \otimes \varphi_{k_{\sigma(2)}} \otimes \ldots \otimes \varphi_{k_{\sigma(n)}}$. The operator σ extends by linearity to a bounded operator (of norm one) on space \mathcal{H}^n , so we can define $S_n = \frac{1}{n!} \sum_{\sigma \in \mathcal{P}_n} \sigma$. It is an easy exercise to show that, the operator S_n is the operator of orthogonal projection: $S_n^2 = S_n$, and $S_n^* = S_n$. The range of S_n is called *n*-fold symmetric tensor product of \mathcal{H} . In the case, where $\mathcal{H} = L_2(R)$ and $\mathcal{H}^n = L_2(R) \otimes L_2(R) \otimes \ldots \otimes L_2(R) = L_2(R^n)$, $S_n \mathcal{H}^n$ is just the subspace of $L_2(R^n)$, of all functions, left invariant under any permutation of the variables. We now define $\mathcal{F}_s(\mathcal{H}) = \bigoplus_{n=0}^{\infty} S_n \mathcal{H}^n$. The space $\mathcal{F}_s(\mathcal{H})$ is called the symmetric Fock space over \mathcal{H} , or Boson Fock space over \mathcal{H} .

Let $\varepsilon(.)$ be function from \mathcal{P}_n to $\{1, -1\}$, which is one on even permutations and minus one on odd permutations. Define $A_n = \frac{1}{n!} \sum_{\sigma \in \mathcal{P}_n} \varepsilon(\sigma)\sigma$; then A_n is an orthogonal projector on \mathcal{H}^n . $A_n \mathcal{H}^n$ is called the *n*-fold antisymmetric tensor product of \mathcal{H} . In the case where $\mathcal{H} = L_2(R)$, $A_n \mathcal{H}^n$ is just the subspace of $L^2(R^n)$ consisting of those functions odd under interchange of two coordinates. The subspace $\mathcal{F}_a(\mathcal{H}) = \bigoplus_{n=0}^{\infty} A_n \mathcal{H}^n$ is called the antisymmetric Fock space over \mathcal{H} , or the Fermion Fock space over \mathcal{H} .

2 First Doublet State

There exist five type doublet states in the system. The doublet state corresponds to the basis functions ${}^{1}d_{m,n,r,t,l\in Z^{\nu}}^{1/2} = a_{m,\downarrow}^{+}a_{n,\downarrow}^{+}a_{r,\uparrow}^{+}a_{l,\uparrow}^{+}\varphi_{0}$ and ${}^{2}d_{m,n,r,t,l\in Z^{\nu}}^{1/2} = a_{m,\downarrow}^{+}a_{r,\downarrow}^{+}a_{r,\downarrow}^{+}a_{l,\uparrow}^{+}\varphi_{0}$ and ${}^{3}d_{m,n,r,t,l\in Z^{\nu}}^{1/2} = a_{m,\downarrow}^{+}a_{n,\uparrow}^{+}a_{l,\uparrow}^{+}\varphi_{0}$ and ${}^{4}d_{m,n,r,t,l\in Z^{\nu}}^{1/2} = a_{m,\downarrow}^{+}a_{n,\uparrow}^{+}a_{l,\uparrow}^{+}a_{l,\downarrow}^{+}\varphi_{0}$ and ${}^{5}d_{m,n,r,t,l\in Z^{\nu}}^{1/2} = a_{m,\downarrow}^{+}a_{n,\downarrow}^{+}a_{l,\uparrow}^{+}a_{l,\uparrow}^{+}a_{l,\uparrow}^{+}\varphi_{0}$.

The subspace ${}^{1}\mathcal{H}_{1/2}^{d}$, corresponding to the first five-electron doublet state is the set of all vectors of the forms ${}^{1}\psi_{1/2}^{d} = \sum_{m,n,r,t,l \in Z^{\nu}} f(m,n,r,t,l) {}^{1}d_{m,n,r,t,l \in Z^{\nu}}^{1/2}$, $f \in l_{2}^{as}$, where l_{2}^{as} is the subspace of antisymmetric functions in the space $l_{2}((Z^{\nu})^{5})$.

The restriction ${}^{1}H_{1/2}^{d}$ of *H* to the subspace ${}^{1}\mathcal{H}_{1/2}^{d}$, is called the five-electron first doublet state operator.

Theorem 1 The subspace ${}^{1}\mathcal{H}_{1/2}^{d}$ is invariant under the operator H, and the operator ${}^{1}H_{1/2}^{d}$ is a bounded self-adjoint operator. It generates a bounded self-adjoint operator ${}^{1}\overline{H}_{1/2}^{d}$, acting in the space l_{2}^{as} as

$$({}^{1}\overline{H}^{d}_{1/2}f)(m,n,r,t,l) = 5Af(m,n,r,t,l) + B\sum_{\tau} [f(m+\tau,n,r,t,l) + f(m,n+\tau,r,t,l) + f(m,n,r,\tau+\tau,l) + f(m,n,r,t+\tau,l) + f(m,n,r,\tau+\tau,l) + f(m,n,r,\tau+$$

 $+f(m, n, r, t, l+\tau)] + U[\delta_{m,r} + \delta_{n,r} + \delta_{m,t} + \delta_{n,t} + \delta_{m,l} + \delta_{n,l}]f(m, n, r, t, l),$ (3)

where $\delta_{k,j}$ is the Kronecker symbol. The operator ${}^{1}H^{d}_{1/2}$ acts on a vector ${}^{1}\psi^{d}_{1/2} \in {}^{1}\mathcal{H}^{d}_{1/2}$ as

$${}^{1}H_{1/2}^{d}{}^{1}\psi_{1/2}^{d} = \sum_{m,n,r,t,l \in Z^{\nu}} ({}^{1}\overline{H}_{1/2}^{d}f)(m,n,r,t,l){}^{1}d_{m,n,r,t,l \in Z^{\nu}}^{1/2}.$$
 (4)

Proof We act with the Hamiltonian H on vectors $\psi \in {}^{1}\mathcal{H}_{1/2}^{d}$ using the standard anticommutation relations between electron creation and annihilation operators at lattice sites, $\{a_{m,\gamma}, a_{n,\beta}^+\} = \delta_{m,n}\delta_{\gamma,\beta}, \{a_{m,\gamma}, a_{n,\beta}\} = \{a_{m,\gamma}^+, a_{n,\beta}^+\} = \theta$, and also take into account that $a_{m,\gamma}\varphi_0 = \theta$, where θ is the zero element of ${}^{1}\mathcal{H}_{1/2}^{d}$. This yields the statement of the theorem.

Lemma 1 The spectrum of the operators ${}^{1}H_{1/2}^{d}$ and ${}^{1}\overline{H}_{1/2}^{d}$ coincide.

Proof Because ${}^{1}H_{1/2}^{d}$ and ${}^{1}\overline{H}_{1/2}^{d}$ are bounded self-adjoint operators, it follows from the Weyl criterion (see, for example, [14, Ch. VII, §14]) that there exists a sequence of vectors ψ_n such that

$$\psi_n = \sum_{p,q,r,t,s} f_n(p,q,r,t,s) a^+_{p,\downarrow} a^+_{q,\downarrow} a^+_{r,\uparrow} a^+_{t,\uparrow} a^+_{s,\uparrow} \varphi_0, \, ||\psi_n|| = 1, \text{ and}$$
$$\lim_{n \to \infty} ||^1 H^d_{1/2} \psi_n - \lambda \psi_n|| = 0, \tag{5}$$

where $\lambda \in \sigma({}^{1}H^{d}_{1/2})$. On the other hand,

$$\begin{split} ||^{1}H_{1/2}^{d}\psi_{n} - \lambda\psi_{n}||^{2} &= (^{1}H_{1/2}^{d}\psi_{n} - \lambda\psi_{n}, ^{1}H_{1/2}^{d}\psi_{n} - \lambda\psi_{n}) = \sum_{p,q,r,t,s} ||(^{1}\overline{H}_{1/2}^{d}f_{n}(p,q,r,t,s) - \lambda f_{n}(p,q,r,t,s)||^{2}(a_{p,\downarrow}^{+}a_{q,\downarrow}^{+}a_{r,\uparrow}^{+}a_{s,\uparrow}^{+}\varphi_{0}, a_{p,\downarrow}^{+}a_{q,\downarrow}^{+}a_{r,\uparrow}^{+}a_{s,\uparrow}^{+}\varphi_{0}) = ||^{1}\overline{H}_{1/2}^{d}F_{n} - \lambda F_{n}||^{2} \times \\ \times (a_{p,\downarrow}a_{q,\downarrow}a_{r,\uparrow}a_{t,\uparrow}a_{s,\uparrow}a_{p,\downarrow}^{+}a_{q,\downarrow}^{+}a_{r,\uparrow}^{+}a_{t,\uparrow}^{+}a_{s,\uparrow}^{+}\varphi_{0}, \varphi_{0}) = ||(^{1}\overline{H}_{1/2}^{d} - \lambda)F_{n}||^{2}(\varphi_{0},\varphi_{0}) = \\ &= ||(^{1}\overline{H}_{1/2}^{d} - \lambda)F_{n}||^{2} \to 0, \end{split}$$

 $n \to \infty$. Here $F_n = (f_n(p,q,r,t,s))_{p,q,r,t,s\in Z^{\nu}}$ and $||F_n||^2 = \sum_{p,q,r,t,s} |f_n(p,q,r,t,s)|^2 = ||\psi_n||^2 = 1$. It follows that $\lambda \in \sigma({}^1\overline{H}_{1/2}^d)$. Consequently, $\sigma({}^1H_{1/2}^d) \subset \sigma({}^1\overline{H}_{1/2}^d)$. Conversely, let $\overline{\lambda} \in \sigma({}^1\overline{H}_{1/2}^d)$. Again by the Weyl criterion, there then exists a sequence F_n such that $||F_n|| = \sqrt{\sum_{p,q,r,t,s} |f_n(p,q,r,t,s)|^2} = 1$ and

$$||({}^{1}\overline{H}_{1/2}^{d}F_{n}-\overline{\lambda}F_{n}|| \to 0,$$
(6)

as $n \to \infty$.

Setting $\psi_n = \sum_{p,q,r,t,s} f_n(p,q,r,t,s) a_{p,\downarrow}^+ a_{q,\downarrow}^+ a_{r,\uparrow}^+ a_{s,\uparrow}^+ \varphi_0$, we have $||\psi_n|| = ||F_n|| = 1$ and $||^1 \overline{H}_{1/2}^d F_n - \overline{\lambda} F_n|| = ||^1 H_{1/2}^d \psi_n - \overline{\lambda} \psi_n||$. This, together with formula (6) and the Weyl criterion, implies that $\overline{\lambda} \in \sigma(^1 H_{1/2}^d)$, and hence $\sigma(^1 \overline{H}_{1/2}^d) \subset \sigma(^1 H_{1/2}^d)$. These two relations imply that $\sigma(^1 \overline{H}_{1/2}^d) = \sigma(^1 H_{1/2}^d)$.

We let \mathcal{F} denote the Fourier transform: $\mathcal{F} : l_2((Z^{\nu})^5) \to L_2((T^{\nu})^5) \equiv {}^1\widetilde{\mathcal{H}}_{1/2}^d$, where T^{ν} is a ν -dimensional torus with the normalized Lebesgue measure $d\lambda$: $\lambda(T^{\nu}) = 1$.

We set ${}^{1}\widetilde{H}^{d}_{1/2} = \mathcal{F} {}^{1}\overline{H}^{d}_{1/2}\mathcal{F}^{-1}$. In the quasimomentum representation, the operator ${}^{1}\widetilde{H}^{d}_{1/2}$ acts in the Hilbert space $L_{2}^{as}((T^{\nu})^{5})$ as

$${}^{1}\widetilde{H}_{1/2}^{d} {}^{1}\psi_{1/2}^{d} = \{5A + 2B\sum_{i=1}^{\nu} [\cos\lambda_{i} + \cos\mu_{i} + \cos\gamma_{i} + \cos\eta_{i} + \cos\eta_{i}]\}f(\lambda, \mu, \gamma, \theta, \eta) +$$
(7)

$$+U\int_{T^{\nu}} [f(s,\mu,\lambda+\gamma-s,\theta,\eta)+f(s,\mu,\gamma,\lambda+\theta-s,\eta)+f(s,\mu,\gamma,\theta,\lambda+\eta-s)+f(\lambda,s,\mu+\gamma-s,\theta,\eta)+f(\lambda,s,\gamma,\mu+\theta-s,\eta)+f(\lambda,s,\gamma,\theta,\mu+\eta-s)]ds,$$

where $L_2^{as}((T^{\nu})^5)$ is the subspace of antisymmetric functions in $L_2((T^{\nu})^5)$.

Using tensor products of Hilbert spaces and tensor products of operators in Hilbert spaces [15], we can verify that the operator ${}^1\widetilde{H}_{1/2}^{\hat{d}}$ can be represented in the form

$${}^{1}\widetilde{H}_{1/2}^{d} {}^{1}\psi_{1/2}^{d} = \widetilde{H}_{2}^{1}(\lambda,\gamma) \bigotimes I \bigotimes I + I \bigotimes \widetilde{H}_{2}^{2}(\mu,\theta) \bigotimes I + I \bigotimes I \bigotimes \widetilde{H}_{2}^{3}(\lambda,\eta)$$
(8)

where

$$\begin{split} (\widetilde{H}_{2}^{1}f)(\lambda,\gamma) &= -\{2A+2B\sum_{i=1}^{\nu}(\cos\lambda_{i}+\cos\gamma_{i})\}f(\lambda,\gamma)-2U\int_{T^{\nu}}f(s,\lambda+\gamma-s)ds,\\ (\widetilde{H}_{2}^{2}f)(\mu,\theta) &= -\{2A+2B\sum_{i=1}^{\nu}(\cos\mu_{i}+\cos\theta_{i})\}f(\mu,\theta)+2U\int_{T^{\nu}}f(s,\mu+\theta-s)ds,\\ (\widetilde{H}_{2}^{3}f)(\lambda,\eta) &= \{A+2B\sum_{i=1}^{\nu}\cos\eta_{i})\}f(\lambda,\eta), \end{split}$$

and I is the unit operator.

The spectrum of the operator $A \bigotimes I + I \bigotimes B$, where A and B are densely defined bounded linear operators, was studied in [16-18]. Explicit formulas were given there that express the essential spectrum $\sigma_{ess}(A \otimes I + I \otimes B)$ and discrete spectrum $\sigma_{disc}(A \bigotimes I + I \bigotimes B)$ of operator $A \bigotimes I + I \bigotimes B$ in terms of the spectrum $\sigma(A)$ and the discrete spectrum $\sigma_{disc}(A)$ of A and in terms of the spectrum $\sigma(B)$ and the discrete spectrum $\sigma_{disc}(B)$ of B:

$$\sigma_{disc}(A \bigotimes I + I \bigotimes B) = \{\sigma(A) \setminus \sigma_{ess}(A) + \sigma(B) \setminus \sigma_{ess}(B)\} \setminus \{(\sigma_{ess}(A) + \sigma(B)) \cup (\sigma(A) + \sigma_{ess}(B))\},$$
(9)

$$\sigma_{ess}(A \bigotimes I + I \bigotimes B) = (\sigma_{ess}(A) + \sigma(B)) \cup (\sigma(A) + \sigma_{ess}(B)).$$
(10)

It is clear that $\sigma(A \otimes I + I \otimes B) = \{\lambda + \mu : \lambda \in \sigma(A), \mu \in \sigma(B)\}$. Therefore, we must investigate the spectrum of the operators \widetilde{H}_2^1 , \widetilde{H}_2^2 , and \widetilde{H}_2^3 . Let $\Lambda_1 = \lambda + \gamma$, $\Lambda_2 = \lambda + \theta$, $\Lambda_3 = \lambda + \eta$, $\Lambda_4 = \mu + \gamma$, $\Lambda_5 = \mu + \theta$, and $\Lambda_6 = \mu + \eta.$

Let the total quasimomentum of the two-electron system $\lambda + \gamma = \Lambda_1$ be fixed. We let $L_2(\Gamma_{\Lambda_1})$ denote the space of functions that are square integrable on the manifold $\Gamma_{\Lambda_1} = \{(\lambda, \gamma) : \lambda + \gamma = \Lambda_1\}$. It is known ([19], chapter II, pp. 63–84, and [15], chapter XIII, paragraph 16, pp. 303–341) that the operator \widetilde{H}_2^1 and the space $\begin{aligned} \widetilde{\mathcal{H}}_{2}^{1} &\equiv L_{2}((T^{\nu})^{2}) \text{ can be decomposed into a direct integral } \widetilde{H}_{2}^{1} &= \bigoplus \int_{T^{\nu}} \widetilde{H}_{2\Lambda_{1}}^{1} d\Lambda_{1}, \\ \widetilde{\mathcal{H}}_{2}^{1} &= \bigoplus \int_{T^{\nu}} \widetilde{\mathcal{H}}_{2\Lambda_{1}}^{1} d\Lambda_{1} \text{ of operators } \widetilde{H}_{2\Lambda_{1}}^{1} \text{ and spaces } \widetilde{\mathcal{H}}_{2\Lambda_{1}}^{1} &= L_{2}(\Gamma_{\Lambda_{1}}) \text{ such that } \\ \widetilde{\mathcal{H}}_{2\Lambda_{1}}^{1} \text{ are invariant under } \widetilde{H}_{2\Lambda_{1}}^{1} \text{ and } \widetilde{H}_{2\Lambda_{1}}^{1} \text{ act in } \widetilde{\mathcal{H}}_{2\Lambda_{1}}^{1} \text{ according to the formula} \\ (\widetilde{H}_{2\Lambda_{1}}^{1} f_{\Lambda_{1}})(\lambda) &= -\{2A + 4B\sum_{i=1}^{\nu} \cos \frac{\Lambda_{1}^{i}}{2} \cos (\frac{\Lambda_{1}^{i}}{2} - \lambda_{i})\}f_{\Lambda_{1}}(\lambda) - 2U\int_{T^{\nu}} f_{\Lambda_{1}}(s)ds, \\ \text{where } f_{\Lambda_{1}}(x) &= f(x, \Lambda_{1} - x). \end{aligned}$

It is known that the continuous spectrum of $\widetilde{H}_{2\Lambda_1}^1$ is independent of the parameter U and consists of the intervals $\sigma_{cont}(\widetilde{H}_{2\Lambda_1}^1) = G_{\Lambda_1}^{\nu} = [-2A - 4B\sum_{i=1}^{\nu} \cos \frac{\Lambda_i^i}{2}, -2A + 4B\sum_{i=1}^{\nu} \cos \frac{\Lambda_i^i}{2}].$

Definition 1 The eigenfunction $\varphi_{\Lambda_1} \in L_2(T^{\nu} \times T^{\nu})$ of the operator $\widetilde{H}_{2\Lambda_1}^1$ corresponding to an eigenvalue $z_{\Lambda_1} \notin G_{\Lambda_1}^{\nu}$ is called a bound state (BS)(antibound state (ABS)) of \widetilde{H}_2^1 with the quasi momentum Λ_1 , and the quantity z_{Λ_1} is called the energy of this state.

We consider the operator $K_{\Lambda_1}(z)$ acting in the space $\widetilde{\mathcal{H}}_{2\Lambda_1}^1$ according to the formula

$$(K_{\Lambda_1}(z)f_{\Lambda_1})(x) = \int_{T^{\nu}} \frac{2U}{-\{2A+4B\sum_{i=1}^{\nu}\cos\frac{\Lambda_1^i}{2}\cos(\frac{\Lambda_1^i}{2}-t_i)\} - z} f_{\Lambda_1}(t)dt.$$

It is a completely continuous operator in $\widetilde{\mathcal{H}}_{2\Lambda_1}^1$ for $z \notin G_{\Lambda_1}^{\nu}$.

We set
$$D_{\Lambda_1}^{\nu}(z) = 1 - 2U \int_{T^{\nu}} \frac{ds_1 ds_2 \dots ds_{\nu}}{-2A - 4B \sum_{i=1}^{\nu} \cos \frac{\Lambda_1^i}{2} \cos(\frac{\Lambda_1^i}{2} - s_i) - z}$$
.

Lemma 2 A number $z = z_0 \notin G_{\Lambda_1}^{\nu}$ is an eigenvalue of the operator $\widetilde{H}_{2\Lambda_1}^1$ if and only if it is a zero of the function $D_{\Lambda_1}^{\nu}(z)$, i.e., $D_{\Lambda_1}^{\nu}(z_0) = 0$.

Proof Let the number $z = z_0 \notin G_{\Lambda_1}^{\nu}$ be an eigenvalue of the operator $\widetilde{H}_{2\Lambda_1}^1$, and $\varphi_{\Lambda_1}(x)$ be the corresponding eigenfunction, i.e.,

$$-\{2A+4B\sum_{i=1}^{\nu}\cos\frac{\Lambda_{1}^{i}}{2}\cos(\frac{\Lambda_{1}^{i}}{2}-x_{i})\}\varphi_{\Lambda_{1}}(x)-2U\int_{T^{\nu}}\varphi_{\Lambda_{1}}(s)ds=z_{0}\varphi_{\Lambda_{1}}(x).$$

Let $\psi_{\Lambda_1}(x) = [-\{2A + 4B \sum_{i=1}^{\nu} \cos \frac{\Lambda_1^i}{2} \cos (\frac{\Lambda_1^i}{2} - x_i)\} - z]\varphi_{\Lambda_1}(x)$. Then

$$\psi_{\Lambda_1}(x) - \int_{T^{\nu}} \frac{2U}{-\{2A + 4B\sum_{i=1}^{\nu} \cos\frac{\Lambda_1^i}{2}\cos(\frac{\Lambda_1^i}{2} - x_i)\} - z} \psi_{\Lambda_1}(t)dt = 0,$$

i.e., the number $\mu = 1$ is a eigenvalue of the operator $K_{\Lambda_1}(z)$. It then follows that $D^{\nu}_{\Lambda_1}(z_0) = 0$.

Now let $z = z_0$ be a zero of the function $D^{\nu}_{\Lambda_1}(z)$, i.e., $D^{\nu}_{\Lambda_1}(z_0) = 0$. It follows from the Fredholm theorem that the homogeneous equation

$$\psi_{\Lambda_1}(x) - 2U \int_{T^{\nu}} \frac{\psi_{\Lambda_1}(s) ds_1 \dots ds_{\nu}}{-2A - 4B \sum_{i=1}^{\nu} \cos \frac{\Lambda_1^i}{2} \cos(\frac{\Lambda_1^i}{2} - s_i) - z} ds = 0$$

has a nontrivial solution. This means that the number $z = z_0$ is an eigenvalue of the operator $\tilde{H}^1_{2\Lambda_1}$.

We consider the one-dimensional case.

Theorem 2

- a) At v = 1 and U < 0, and all values of parameters of the Hamiltonian, the operator H_{2Λ1}¹ has a unique eigenvalue z₁ = -2A + 2√U² + 4B² cos² Λ₁/2, that is above the continuous spectrum of H_{2Λ1}¹, i.e., z₁ > M_{Λ1}¹.
 b) At v = 1 and U > 0, and all values of parameters of the Hamiltonian, the
- b) At v = 1 and U > 0, and all values of parameters of the Hamiltonian, the operator $\widetilde{H}_{2\Lambda_1}^1$ has a unique eigenvalue $\widetilde{z}_1 = -2A 2\sqrt{U^2 + 4B^2 \cos^2 \frac{\Lambda_1}{2}}$, that is below the continuous spectrum of $\widetilde{H}_{2\Lambda_1}^1$, i.e., $\widetilde{z}_1 < m_{\Lambda_1}^1$.

Proof If U < 0, then in the one-dimensional case, the function $D_{\Lambda_1}^{\nu}(z)$ increases monotonically outside the continuous spectrum domain of the operator $\widetilde{H}_{2\Lambda_1}^1$. For $z < m_{\Lambda_1}^1$ the function $D_{\Lambda_1}^{\nu}(z)$ increases from 1 to $+\infty$, $D_{\Lambda_1}^{\nu}(z) \rightarrow 1$ as $z \rightarrow -\infty$, $D_{\Lambda_1}^{\nu}(z) \rightarrow +\infty$ as $z \rightarrow m_{\Lambda_1}^1 - 0$. Therefore, below the value $m_{\Lambda_1}^1$, the function $D_{\Lambda_1}^{\nu}(z)$ cannot vanish. For $z > M_{\Lambda_1}^1$, and U < 0, the function $D_{\Lambda_1}^{\nu}(z)$ increases from $-\infty$ to 1, $D_{\Lambda_1}^{\nu}(z) \rightarrow -\infty$ as $z \rightarrow M_{\Lambda_1}^1 + 0$, $D_{\Lambda_1}^{\nu}(z) \rightarrow 1$ as $z \rightarrow +\infty$. Therefore, above the value $M_{\Lambda_1}^1$, the function $D_{\Lambda_1}^{\nu}(z)$ has a single zero at the point $z = z_1 = -2A + 2\sqrt{U^2 + 4B^2 \cos^2 \frac{\Lambda_1}{2}} > M_{\Lambda_1}^1$. If U > 0, then the function $D_{\Lambda_1}^{\nu}(z)$ decreases monotonically outside the continuous spectrum domain of the operator $\widetilde{H}_{2\Lambda_1}^1$. For $z < m_{\Lambda_1}^1$ the function $D_{\Lambda_1}^{\nu}(z)$ decreases from 1 to $-\infty$, $D_{\Lambda_1}^{\nu}(z) \rightarrow 1$ as $z \rightarrow -\infty$, $D_{\Lambda_1}^{\nu}(z) \rightarrow -\infty$ as $z \rightarrow m_{\Lambda_1}^1 - 0$. Therefore, below the value $m_{\Lambda_1}^1$, the function $D_{\Lambda_1}^{\nu}(z)$ has a single zero at the point $\widetilde{z}_1 = -2A - 2\sqrt{U^2 + 4B^2 \cos^2 \frac{\Lambda_1}{2}} < m_{\Lambda_1}^1$.

For $z > M_{\Lambda_1}^1$, and U > 0, the function $D_{\Lambda_1}^{\nu}(z)$ decreases from $+\infty$ to 1, $D_{\Lambda_1}^{\nu}(z) \to +\infty$ as $z \to M_{\Lambda_1}^1 + 0$, $D_{\Lambda_1}^{\nu}(z) \to 1$ as $z \to +\infty$. Therefore, above the value $M_{\Lambda_1}^1$, the function $D_{\Lambda_1}^{\nu}(z)$ cannot vanish.

In the two-dimensional case, we have similar results.

If U > 0, then the function $D^2_{\Lambda_1}(z)$ decreases monotonically outside the continuous spectrum domain of the operator $\widetilde{H}^1_{2\Lambda_1}$. For $z < m^2_{\Lambda_1}$ the function $D^{\nu}_{\Lambda_1}(z)$ decreases from 1 to $-\infty$, $D^{\nu}_{\Lambda_1}(z) \rightarrow 1$ as $z \rightarrow -\infty$, $D^{\nu}_{\Lambda_1}(z) \rightarrow -\infty$

as $z \to m_{\Lambda_1}^2 - 0$. Therefore, below the value $m_{\Lambda_1}^2$, the function $D_{\Lambda_1}^{\nu}(z)$ has a single zero at the point $z_1 < m_{\Lambda_1}^2$. If U < 0, for $z > M_{\Lambda_1}^2$, then the function $D_{\Lambda_1}^2(z)$ increases from $-\infty$ to 1,

 $D^{\nu}_{\Lambda_1}(z) \to 1 \text{ as } z \to +\infty, \ D^{\nu}_{\Lambda_1}(z) \to -\infty \text{ as } z \to M^2_{\Lambda_1} + 0.$ Therefore, above the value $M_{\Lambda_1}^2$, the function $D_{\Lambda_1}^{\nu}(z)$ has a single zero at the point $\tilde{z}_1 > M_{\Lambda_1}^2$.

We consider three-dimensional case. Denote $m = \int_{T^3} \frac{ds_1 ds_2 ds_3}{\sum_{i=1}^3 \cos \frac{\Lambda_1^i}{2} (1 + \cos(\frac{\Lambda_1^i}{2} - s_i))}$. For U < 0, and $U < -\frac{2B}{m}$, above the continuous spectrum of the operator $\tilde{H}_{2\Lambda_1}^1$, the function $D^3_{\Lambda_1}(z)$ has a single zero at the point $z = z_1 > M^3_{\Lambda_1}$. For U < 0, and $-\frac{2B}{m} \leq U < 0$, above of the continuous spectrum of the operator $\widetilde{H}_{2\Lambda_1}^1$, the function $D^3_{\Lambda_1}(z)$ cannot vanish.

Denote $M = \int_{T^3} \frac{ds_1 ds_2 ds_3}{\sum_{i=1}^3 \cos \frac{\Lambda_1^i}{2} (1 - \cos(\frac{\Lambda_1^i}{2} - s_i))}$.

For U > 0, and $U > \frac{2B}{M}$, below the continuous spectrum of the operator $\widetilde{H}_{2\Lambda_1}^1$, the function $D^3_{\Lambda_1}(z)$ has a single zero at the point $\tilde{z}_1 > M^3_{\Lambda_1}$. For $0 < U \leq \frac{2B}{M}$, above of the continuous spectrum of the operator $\widetilde{H}^1_{2\Lambda_1}$, the function $D^3_{\Lambda_1}(z)$ cannot vanish.

We have now studied the spectrum of the operator $\widetilde{H}^2_{2\Lambda_2}$, i.e., the operator

$$(\widetilde{H}_{2\Lambda_2}^2 f_{\Lambda_2})(\lambda) = -\{2A + 4B\sum_{i=1}^{\nu} \cos\frac{\Lambda_2^i}{2}\cos(\frac{\Lambda_2^i}{2} - \lambda_i)\}f_{\Lambda_2}(\lambda) + 2U\int_{T^{\nu}} f_{\Lambda_2}(s)ds.$$

It is known that the continuous spectrum of the operator $\widetilde{H}^2_{2\Lambda_2}$ is independent of U and coincides with the segment $\sigma_{cont}(\tilde{H}_{2\Lambda_2}^2) = [-2A - 4B\sum_{i=1}^{\nu} \cos \frac{\Lambda_2^i}{2}, -2A +$ $4B\sum_{i=1}^{\nu} \cos \frac{\Lambda_2^{\nu}}{2}] = G_{\Lambda_2}^{\nu}.$ We let $L_2(\Gamma_{\Lambda_2})$ denote the space of functions that are square integrable on the

manifold $\Gamma_{\Lambda_2} = \{(\lambda, \theta) : \lambda + \theta = \Lambda_2\}$. That the operator \widetilde{H}_2^2 and the space $\widetilde{H}_2^2 \equiv \widetilde{H}_2^2$ $L_2((T^{\nu})^2) \text{ can be decomposed into a direct integral } \widetilde{H}_2^2 = \bigoplus_{\tau_1}^2 \int_{T^{\nu}} \widetilde{H}_{2\Lambda_2}^2 d\Lambda_2, \widetilde{H}_2^2 = \bigoplus_{\tau_1}^2 \int_{T^{\nu}} \widetilde{H}_{2\Lambda_2}^2 d\Lambda_2, \widetilde{H}_2^2 = \bigoplus_{\tau_1}^2 \int_{T^{\nu}} \widetilde{H}_{2\Lambda_2}^2 d\Lambda_2.$ Each operator $\widetilde{H}_{2\Lambda_2}^2$ acts in $\widetilde{H}_{2\Lambda_2}^2 = L_2(\Gamma_{\Lambda_2})$ as $(\widetilde{H}_{2\Lambda_2}^2 f_{\Lambda_2})(\lambda) = \lim_{\tau_1}^2 (\widetilde{H}_{2\Lambda_2}^2 f_{\Lambda_2}) = \lim_{\tau_2} (\widetilde{H}_{2\Lambda_2}^2 f_$ $-\{2A+4B\sum_{i=1}^{\nu}\cos\frac{\Lambda_{2}^{i}}{2}\cos(\frac{\Lambda_{1}^{i}}{2}-\lambda_{i})\}f_{\Lambda_{2}}(\lambda)+2U\int_{T^{\nu}}f_{\Lambda_{2}}(s)ds, \text{ where } f_{\Lambda_{2}}(x)=$ $f(x, \Lambda_2 - x).$ We set $D^{\nu}_{\Lambda_2}(z) = 1 + 2U \int_{T^{\nu}} \frac{ds_1 ds_2 \dots ds_{\nu}}{-2A - 4B \sum_{i=1}^{\nu} \cos \frac{\Lambda_2^i}{2} \cos(\frac{\Lambda_2^i}{2} - s_i) - z}$. The analogue of the Lemma 2 holds for the in this case. We consider the one-

dimensional case.

Theorem 3

- a) At v = 1 and U < 0 and for all values of the parameter of the Hamiltonian, the operator $\tilde{H}_{2\Lambda_2}^2$ has a unique eigenvalue $z = z_2 = -2A 2\sqrt{U^2 + 4B^2 \cos^2 \frac{\Lambda_2}{2}}$, that is below the continuous spectrum of operator $\tilde{H}_{2\Lambda_2}^2$, i.e., $z_2 < m_{\Lambda_2}^1$.
- that is below the continuous spectrum of operator $\widetilde{H}_{2\Lambda_2}^2$, i.e., $z_2 < m_{\Lambda_2}^1$. b) At v = 1 and U > 0 and for all values of the parameter of the Hamiltonian, the operator $\widetilde{H}_{2\Lambda_2}^2$ has a unique eigenvalue $z = \widetilde{z}_2 = -2A + 2\sqrt{U^2 + 4B^2 \cos^2 \frac{\Lambda_2}{2}}$, that is above the continuous spectrum of operator $\widetilde{H}_{2\Lambda_2}^2$, i.e., $\widetilde{z}_2 > M_{\Lambda_2}^1$.

Theorem 3 is proved totally similarly to Theorem 2.

In the two-dimensional case, we have analogously results.

If U < 0, then the equation $D_{\Lambda_2}^2(z) = 0$ has a unique solution $z_2 < m_{\Lambda_2}^2$, below the continuous spectrum of the operator $\widetilde{H}_{2\Lambda_2}^2$. If U > 0, then the equation $D_{\Lambda_2}^2(z) = 0$ has a unique solution $\widetilde{z}_2 > M_{\Lambda_2}^2$, above the continuous spectrum of the operator $\widetilde{H}_{2\Lambda_2}^2$.

We consider three-dimensional case. Denote $M = \int_{T^3} \frac{ds_1 ds_2 ds_3}{\sum_{i=1}^3 \cos \frac{\lambda_2^i}{2} (1 - \cos(\frac{\lambda_2^i}{2} - s_i))}$. For U < 0, and $U < -\frac{2B}{M}$, below of the continuous spectrum of the operator $\widetilde{H}_{2\Lambda_2}^2$, the function $D_{\Lambda_2}^3(z)$ has a single zero at the point $z = z_2 < m_{\Lambda_2}^3$. For U < 0, and $-\frac{2B}{M} \le U < 0$, below of the continuous spectrum of the operator $\widetilde{H}_{2\Lambda_2}^2$, the function $D_{\Lambda_2}^3(z)$ cannot vanish. Denote $m = \int_{T^3} \frac{ds_1 ds_2 ds_3}{\sum_{i=1}^3 \cos \frac{\Lambda_2^i}{2} (1 + \cos(\frac{\Lambda_2^i}{2} - s_i))}$.

For U > 0, and $U > \frac{2B}{m}$, above of the continuous spectrum of the operator $\widetilde{H}_{2\Lambda_2}^2$, the function $D_{\Lambda_2}^3(z)$ has a single zero at the point $z = \widetilde{z}_2 > M_{\Lambda_2}^3$. For U > 0, and $0 < U \le \frac{2B}{m}$, above of the continuous spectrum of the operator $\widetilde{H}_{2\Lambda_2}^2$, the function $D_{\Lambda_2}^3(z)$ cannot vanish.

Let $\Lambda_3 = \lambda + \eta$. Now we investigated the spectrum of the operator $\widetilde{H}^3_{\Lambda_3}$.

$$(\widetilde{H}_{\Lambda_3}^3 f_{\Lambda_3})(\lambda) = \{A + 2B \sum_{i=1}^{\nu} \cos(\Lambda_3 - \lambda_i)\} f_{\Lambda_3}(\lambda).$$

It is obvious that the spectrum of operator $\widetilde{H}^3_{\Lambda_3}$ is purely continuous and coincides with the value set of the function $h_{\Lambda_3}(\lambda) = A + 2B \sum_{i=1}^{\nu} \cos(\Lambda_3 - \lambda_i)$, i.e., $\sigma(\widetilde{H}^3_{\Lambda_3}) = \sigma_{cont}(\widetilde{H}^3_{\Lambda_3}) = [A - 2B\nu, A + 2B\nu].$

Now, using the obtained results and representation (8), we describe the structure of essential spectrum and the discrete spectrum of the operator ${}^{1}\widetilde{H}^{d}_{1/2}$ of first five-electron doublet state:

Theorem 4 At v = 1 and U < 0 the essential spectrum of the system of first five-electron doublet state operator ${}^{1}\widetilde{H}^{d}_{1/2}$ is exactly the union of four segments:

$$\sigma_{ess}({}^{1}\widetilde{H}^{d}_{1/2}) = [a+c+e, b+d+f] \cup [a+e+z_2, b+f+z_2] \cup [c+e+z_1, d+f+z_1] \cup [e+z_1+z_2, f+z_1+z_2].$$

The discrete spectrum of the operator ${}^{1}\widetilde{H}^{d}_{1/2}$ is empty: $\sigma_{disc}({}^{1}\widetilde{H}^{q}_{3/2}) = \emptyset$.

Here and hereafter $a = -2A - 4B \cos \frac{\Lambda_1}{2}, b = -2A + 4B \cos \frac{\Lambda_1}{2}, c = -2A - 4B \cos \frac{\Lambda_2}{2}, d = -2A + 4B \cos \frac{\Lambda_2}{2}, e = A - 2B, f = A + 2B, z_1 = -2A + 2\sqrt{U^2 + 4B^2 \cos^2 \frac{\Lambda_1}{2}}, z_2 = -2A - 2\sqrt{U^2 + 4B^2 \cos^2 \frac{\Lambda_2}{2}}.$

Theorem 5 At v = 1 and U > 0 the essential spectrum of the system of first five-electron doublet state operator ${}^{1}\widetilde{H}^{d}_{1/2}$ is exactly the union of four segments:

$$\sigma_{ess}({}^1\widetilde{H}^d_{1/2}) = [a+c+e, b+d+f] \cup [a+e+\widetilde{z}_2, b+f+\widetilde{z}_2] \cup [c+e+\widetilde{z}_1, d+f+\widetilde{z}_1] \cup [e+\widetilde{z}_1+\widetilde{z}_2, f+\widetilde{z}_1+\widetilde{z}_2].$$

The discrete spectrum of the operator ${}^{1}\widetilde{H}^{d}_{1/2}$ is empty: $\sigma_{disc}({}^{1}\widetilde{H}^{q}_{3/2}) = \emptyset$.

Here
$$\tilde{z}_1 = -2A - 2\sqrt{U^2 + 4B^2 \cos^2 \frac{\Lambda_1}{2}}, \ \tilde{z}_2 = -2A + 2\sqrt{U^2 + 4B^2 \cos^2 \frac{\Lambda_2}{2}}.$$

Proof It follows from representation (8) that $\sigma({}^{1}\widetilde{H}_{1/2}^{d}) = \{\lambda + \mu + \theta : \lambda \in \sigma(\widetilde{H}_{2\Lambda_{1}}^{1}), \mu \in \sigma(\widetilde{H}_{2\Lambda_{2}}^{2}), \theta \in \sigma(\widetilde{H}_{2\Lambda_{3}}^{3})\}$, and in the one-dimensional case, the continuous spectrum of operator $\widetilde{H}_{2\Lambda_{1}}^{1}$ is $\sigma_{cont}(\widetilde{H}_{2\Lambda_{1}}^{1}) = [-2A - 4B \cos \frac{\Lambda_{1}}{2}, -2A + 4B \cos \frac{\Lambda_{1}}{2}]$, and the discrete spectrum of $\widetilde{H}_{2\Lambda_{1}}^{1}$ consists of a single point z_{1} . The continuous spectrum of operator $\widetilde{H}_{2\Lambda_{2}}^{2}$ is $\sigma_{cont}(\widetilde{H}_{2\Lambda_{2}}^{2}) = [-2A - 4B \cos \frac{\Lambda_{2}}{2}, -2A + 4B \cos \frac{\Lambda_{2}}{2}]$, and the discrete spectrum of $\widetilde{H}_{2\Lambda_{2}}^{2}$ consists of a single point z_{2} . The spectra of the operator $\widetilde{H}_{\Lambda_{3}}^{3}$ is a purely continuous and consists of the segment [A - 2B, A + 2B]. Therefore, the essential spectrum of the system of first doublet-state operator ${}^{1}\widetilde{H}_{1/2}^{d}$ has no eigenvalues.

Theorem 5 is proved totally similarly to Theorem 4. In the two-dimensional case the similar results occur. We now consider the three-dimensional case.

Theorem 6 The following statements hold:

a) Let v = 3 and U < 0, $U < -\frac{2B}{m}$, M > m, or U < 0, $U < -\frac{2B}{M}$, M < m. Then the essential spectrum of the system first five-electron doublet state operator ${}^{1}\widetilde{H}^{d}_{1/2}$ is the union of four segments:

$$\sigma_{ess}({}^{1}\widetilde{H}^{q}_{3/2}) = [a + c + e, b + d + f] \cup [a + e + z_{2}, b + f + z_{2}] \cup$$
$$\times \cup [c + e + z_{1}, d + f + z_{1}] \cup [e + z_{1} + z_{2}, f + z_{1} + z_{2}].$$

The discrete spectrum of the operator ${}^{1}\widetilde{H}^{d}_{1/2}$ is empty: $\sigma_{disc}({}^{1}\widetilde{H}^{d}_{1/2}) = \emptyset$.

- b) Let v = 3 and U < 0, $-\frac{2B}{m} \le U < -\frac{2B}{M}$, and M > m, or U < 0, $-\frac{2B}{M} \le U < -\frac{2B}{m}$, and M < m. Then the essential spectrum of the system first five-electron doublet state operator ${}^{1}\widetilde{H}_{1/2}^{d}$ is the union of two segments: $\sigma_{ess}({}^{1}\widetilde{H}_{1/2}^{d}) = [a + c + e, b + d + f] \cup [a + e + z_{2}, b + f + z_{2}]$ or $\sigma_{ess}({}^{1}\widetilde{H}_{1/2}^{d}) = [a + c + e, b + d + f] \cup [a + e + z_{1}, b + f + z_{1}]$. The discrete spectrum of the operator ${}^{1}\widetilde{H}_{1/2}^{d}$ is empty: $\sigma_{disc}({}^{1}\widetilde{H}_{1/2}^{d}) = \emptyset$.
- c) Let v = 3 and U < 0, $-\frac{2B}{m} \le U < 0$, and M > m, or U < 0, $-\frac{2B}{M} \le U < 0$, and M < m. Then the essential spectrum of the system first five-electron doublet state operator ${}^{1}\widetilde{H}_{1/2}^{d}$ is consists of a single segment: $\sigma_{ess}({}^{1}\widetilde{H}_{1/2}^{d}) = [a + c + e, b + d + f]$, and the discrete spectrum of the system first singlet-state operator ${}^{1}\widetilde{H}_{1/2}^{d}$ is empty: $\sigma_{disc}({}^{1}\widetilde{H}_{1/2}^{d}) = \emptyset$.

Theorem 7 The following statements hold:

a) Let v = 3 and U > 0, $U > \frac{2B}{m}$, M > m, or U > 0, $U > \frac{2B}{M}$, M < m. Then the essential spectrum of the system first five-electron doublet state operator ${}^{1}\widetilde{H}_{1/2}^{d}$ is the union of four segments:

$$\sigma_{ess}({}^1\widetilde{H}^q_{3/2}) = [a+c+e,b+d+f] \cup [a+e+\widetilde{z}_2,b+f+\widetilde{z}_2]$$
$$\times \cup [c+e+\widetilde{z}_1,d+f+\widetilde{z}_1] \cup [e+\widetilde{z}_1+\widetilde{z}_2,f+\widetilde{z}_1+\widetilde{z}_2].$$

The discrete spectrum of the operator ${}^{1}\widetilde{H}^{d}_{1/2}$ is empty: $\sigma_{disc}({}^{1}\widetilde{H}^{d}_{1/2}) = \emptyset$.

Here, $a = -2A - 4B \sum_{i=1}^{3} \cos \frac{\Lambda_{1}^{i}}{2}$, $b = -2A + 4B \sum_{i=1}^{3} \cos \frac{\Lambda_{1}^{i}}{2}$, $c = -2A - 4B \sum_{i=1}^{3} \cos \frac{\Lambda_{2}^{i}}{2}$, $d = -2A + 4B \sum_{i=1}^{3} \cos \frac{\Lambda_{2}^{i}}{2}$, e = A - 6B, f = A + 6B, and \tilde{z}_{1} is an eigenvalue of the operator $\tilde{H}_{2\Lambda_{1}}^{1}$, and \tilde{z}_{2} is an eigenvalue of the operator $\tilde{H}_{2\Lambda_{2}}^{2}$.

- b) Let v = 3 and U > 0, $\frac{2B}{m} \le U < \frac{2B}{M}$, and M < m, or U > 0, $\frac{2B}{M} \le U < \frac{2B}{m}$, and M > m. Then the essential spectrum of the system first five-electron doublet state operator ${}^{1}\widetilde{H}_{1/2}^{d}$ is the union of two segments: $\sigma_{ess}({}^{1}\widetilde{H}_{1/2}^{d}) = [a + c + e, b + d + f] \cup [a + e + \tilde{z}_{2}, b + f + \tilde{z}_{2}]$ or $\sigma_{ess}({}^{1}\widetilde{H}_{1/2}^{d}) = [a + c + e, b + d + f] \cup [a + e + \tilde{z}_{1}, b + f + \tilde{z}_{1}]$, and the discrete spectrum of the system first doublet-state operator ${}^{1}\widetilde{H}_{1/2}^{d}$ is empty: $\sigma_{disc}({}^{1}\widetilde{H}_{1/2}^{d}) = \emptyset$.
- c) Let v = 3 and U > 0, $0 < U \le \frac{2B}{m}$, and M < m, or U > 0, $0 < U \le \frac{2B}{M}$, and M > m. Then the essential spectrum of the system first five-electron doublet state operator ${}^{1}\widetilde{H}_{1/2}^{d}$ is consists of a single segment: $\sigma_{ess}({}^{1}\widetilde{H}_{1/2}^{d}) = [a + c + e, b + d + f]$, and the discrete spectrum of the system first five-electron doublet state operator ${}^{1}\widetilde{H}_{1/2}^{d}$ is empty: $\sigma_{disc}({}^{1}\widetilde{H}_{1/2}^{d}) = \emptyset$.

We now consider the three-dimensional case. Let v = 3, and $\Lambda_1 =$ $(\Lambda_1^0, \Lambda_1^0, \Lambda_1^0)$, and $\Lambda_2 = (\Lambda_2^0, \Lambda_2^0, \Lambda_2^0)$.

Then the continuous spectrum of the operator $\widetilde{H}^1_{2\Lambda_1}$ is consists of the segment $\sigma_{cont}(\widetilde{H}_{2\Lambda_1}^1) = G_{\Lambda_1}^3 = [-2A - 12B\cos\frac{\Lambda_1^0}{2}, -2A + 12B\cos\frac{\Lambda_1^0}{2}].$ We consider the Watson integral $W = \frac{1}{\pi^3} \int_0^{\pi} \int_0^{\pi} \int_0^{\pi} \frac{3dxdydz}{3 - \cos x - \cos y - \cos z} \approx 1516$ (see [20]). Because the measure ν is normalized, $\int_{T^3} \frac{ds_1 ds_2 ds_3}{3 - \sum_{i=1}^3 \cos(\Lambda_i^i - s_i)} = \frac{W}{3}.$

Theorem 8 At v = 3 and U < 0 and the total quasimomentum Λ_1 of the system have the form $\Lambda_1 = (\Lambda_1^1, \Lambda_1^2, \Lambda_1^3) = (\Lambda_1^0, \Lambda_1^0, \Lambda_1^0)$. Then the operator $\widetilde{H}_{2\Lambda_1}^1$ has a unique eigenvalue \tilde{z}_1 if $U < -\frac{6B \cos \frac{\Lambda_1^0}{2}}{W}$, that is above of continuous spectrum of operator $\tilde{H}_{2\Lambda_1}^1$. Otherwise, the operator $\tilde{H}_{2\Lambda_1}^1$ has no eigenvalue, that is above of

continuous spectrum of operator $\widetilde{H}^1_{2\Lambda_1}$.

Theorem 9 At v = 3 and U > 0 and the total quasimomentum Λ_1 of the system have the form $\Lambda_1 = (\Lambda_1^1, \Lambda_1^2, \Lambda_1^3) = (\Lambda_1^0, \Lambda_1^0, \Lambda_1^0)$. Then the operator $\widetilde{H}^1_{2\Lambda_1}$ has a unique eigenvalue z_1 if $U > \frac{6B \cos \frac{\Lambda_1^0}{2}}{W}$, that is below of continuous spectrum of operator $\widetilde{H}_{2\Lambda_1}^1$. Otherwise, the operator $\widetilde{H}_{2\Lambda_1}^1$ has no eigenvalue, that is below of continuous spectrum of operator $\widetilde{H}^1_{2\Lambda_1}$

In this case the continuous spectrum of the operator $\widetilde{H}^2_{2\Lambda_2}$ is consists of the segment

$$\sigma_{cont}(\widetilde{H}_{2\Lambda_2}^2) = G_{\Lambda_2}^3 = [-2A - 12B\cos\frac{\Lambda_2^0}{2}, -2A + 12B\cos\frac{\Lambda_2^0}{2}]$$

Theorem 10 At v = 3 and U < 0 and the total quasimomentum Λ_2 of the system have the form $\Lambda_2 = (\Lambda_2^1, \Lambda_2^2, \Lambda_2^3) = (\Lambda_2^0, \Lambda_2^0, \Lambda_2^0)$. Then the operator $\widetilde{H}_{2\Lambda_2}^2$ has a unique eigenvalue z_2 if $U < -\frac{6B\cos{\frac{\Lambda_2^{\vee}}{2}}}{W}$, that is below of continuous spectrum of

operator $\widetilde{H}^2_{2\Lambda_2}$. Otherwise, the operator $\widetilde{H}^2_{2\Lambda_2}$ has no eigenvalue, that is below of continuous spectrum of operator $\tilde{H}^2_{2\Lambda_2}$.

Theorem 11 At v = 3 and U > 0 and the total quasimomentum Λ_2 of the system have the form $\Lambda_2 = (\Lambda_2^1, \Lambda_2^2, \Lambda_2^3) = (\Lambda_2^0, \Lambda_2^0, \Lambda_2^0)$. Then the operator $\widetilde{H}^2_{2\Lambda_2}$ has a unique eigenvalue \tilde{z}_2 if $U > \frac{6B \cos \frac{\Lambda_2^0}{2}}{W}$, that is above of continuous spectrum of operator $\tilde{H}_{2\Lambda_2}^2$. Otherwise, the operator $\tilde{H}_{2\Lambda_2}^2$ has no eigenvalue, that is above of continuous spectrum of operator $\widetilde{H}^2_{2\Lambda_2}$.

We now using the obtaining results and representation (8), we can describe the structure of essential spectrum and discrete spectrum of the operator of first fiveelectron quartet state:

Let $\nu = 3$ and $\Lambda_1 = (\Lambda_1^0, \Lambda_1^0, \Lambda_1^0)$, and $\Lambda_2 = (\Lambda_2^0, \Lambda_2^0, \Lambda_2^0)$.

Theorem 12 The following statements hold:

- a) Let U < 0, and $U < -\frac{6B\cos\frac{\Lambda_1^0}{2}}{W}, \cos\frac{\Lambda_1^0}{2} > \cos\frac{\Lambda_2^0}{2}$, or U < 0, U < 0
 - $-\frac{6B\cos\frac{\Lambda_2^0}{2}}{W}, \cos\frac{\Lambda_1^0}{2} < \cos\frac{\Lambda_2^0}{2}.$ Then the essential spectrum of the system first five-electron doublet state operator ${}^1\widetilde{H}_{1/2}^d$ is the union of four segments: $\sigma_{ess}({}^1\widetilde{H}_{1/2}^d) = [a_1 + c_1 + e_1, b_1 + d_1 + f_1] \cup [a_1 + e_1 + z_2, b_1 + f_1 + z_2] \cup [c_1 + e_1 + z_1, d_1 + f_1 + z_1] \cup [e_1 + z_1 + z_2, f_1 + z_1 + z_2].$ The discrete spectrum of the operator ${}^1\widetilde{H}_{1/2}^d$ is empty: $\sigma_{disc}({}^1\widetilde{H}_{3/2}^q) = \emptyset$.

Here and hereafter $a_1 = -2A - 12B \cos \frac{\Lambda_1^0}{2}$, $b = -2A + 12B \cos \frac{\Lambda_1^0}{2}$, $c_1 = -2A - 12B \cos \frac{\Lambda_2^0}{2}$, $d_1 = -2A + 12B \cos \frac{\Lambda_2^0}{2}$, $e_1 = A - 6B$, $f_1 = A + 6B$, and z_1 is an eigenvalue of the operator $\widetilde{H}_{2\Lambda_1}^1$, and z_2 is an eigenvalue of the operator $\widetilde{H}_{2\Lambda_2}^2$.

- b) Let U < 0, and $-\frac{6B\cos\frac{\Lambda_1^0}{2}}{W} \le U < -\frac{6B\cos\frac{\Lambda_2^0}{2}}{W}$, $\cos\frac{\Lambda_1^0}{2} > \cos\frac{\Lambda_2^0}{2}$, or $-\frac{6B\cos\frac{\Lambda_2^0}{2}}{W} \le U < -\frac{6B\cos\frac{\Lambda_1^0}{2}}{W}$, $\cos\frac{\Lambda_1^0}{2} < \cos\frac{\Lambda_2^0}{2}$. Then the essential spectrum of the system first five-electron doublet state operator ${}^1\widetilde{H}_{1/2}^d$ is the union of two segments: $\sigma_{ess}({}^1\widetilde{H}_{1/2}^d) = [a_1 + c_1 + e_1, b_1 + d_1 + f_1] \cup [a_1 + e_1 + z_2, b_1 + f_1 + z_2]$, or $\sigma_{ess}({}^1\widetilde{H}_{1/2}^d) = [a_1 + c_1 + e_1, b_1 + d_1 + f_1] \cup [a_1 + e_1 + z_1, b_1 + f_1 + z_1]$. The discrete spectrum of the operator ${}^1\widetilde{H}_{1/2}^d$ is empty: $\sigma_{disc}({}^1\widetilde{H}_{1/2}^d) = \emptyset$.
- c) Let U < 0, $-\frac{6B\cos\frac{\Lambda_1^0}{2}}{W} \le U < 0$, $\cos\frac{\Lambda_1^0}{2} < \cos\frac{\Lambda_2^0}{2}$ or $-\frac{6B\cos\frac{\Lambda_2^0}{2}}{W} \le U < 0$, $\cos\frac{\Lambda_1^0}{2} > \cos\frac{\Lambda_2^0}{2}$. Then the essential spectrum of the system first five-electron doublet state operator ${}^1\widetilde{H}_{1/2}^d$ is consists of a single segment: $\sigma_{ess}({}^1\widetilde{H}_{1/2}^d) = [a_1 + c_1 + e_1, b_1 + d_1 + f_1]$, and discrete spectrum of the system first five-electron doublet state operator ${}^1\widetilde{H}_{1/2}^d$ is empty: $\sigma_{disc}({}^1\widetilde{H}_{1/2}^d) = \emptyset$.

Theorem 13 The following statements hold:

a) Let U > 0, and $U > \frac{6B\cos\frac{\Lambda_1^0}{2}}{W}$, $\cos\frac{\Lambda_1^0}{2} > \cos\frac{\Lambda_2^0}{2}$, or U > 0, $U > \frac{6B\cos\frac{\Lambda_2^0}{2}}{W}$, $\cos\frac{\Lambda_1^0}{2} < \cos\frac{\Lambda_2^0}{2}$. Then the essential spectrum of the system first five-electron doublet state operator ${}^1\widetilde{H}_{1/2}^d$ is the union of four segments: $\sigma_{ess}({}^1\widetilde{H}_{1/2}^d) = [a_1 + c_1 + e_1, b_1 + d_1 + f_1] \cup [a_1 + e_1 + \tilde{z}_2, b_1 + f_1 + \tilde{z}_2] \cup [c_1 + e_1 + \tilde{z}_1, d_1 + f_1 + \tilde{z}_1] \cup [e_1 + \tilde{z}_1 + \tilde{z}_2, f_1 + \tilde{z}_1 + \tilde{z}_2]$. The discrete spectrum of the operator ${}^1\widetilde{H}_{1/2}^d$ is empty: $\sigma_{disc}({}^1\widetilde{H}_{3/2}^q) = \emptyset$.

Here and hereafter $a_1 = -2A - 12B \cos \frac{\Lambda_1^0}{2}$, $b_1 = -2A + 12B \cos \frac{\Lambda_1^0}{2}$, $c_1 = -2A - 12B \cos \frac{\Lambda_2^0}{2}$, $d_1 = -2A + 12B \cos \frac{\Lambda_2^0}{2}$, $e_1 = A - 6B$, $f_1 = A + 6B$, and \tilde{z}_1 is an eigenvalue of the operator $\tilde{H}_{2\Lambda_1}^1$, and \tilde{z}_2 is an eigenvalue of the operator $\tilde{H}_{2\Lambda_2}^2$.

b) Let
$$U > 0$$
, and $\frac{6B\cos\frac{\Lambda_1^0}{2}}{W} \le U < \frac{6B\cos\frac{\Lambda_2^0}{2}}{W}$, $\cos\frac{\Lambda_1^0}{2} < \cos\frac{\Lambda_2^0}{2}$, or $\frac{6B\cos\frac{\Lambda_2^0}{2}}{W} \le U$

 $U < \frac{6B \cos \frac{\Lambda_1^{\vee}}{2}}{W}, \cos \frac{\Lambda_1^0}{2} > \cos \frac{\Lambda_2^0}{2}.$ Then the essential spectrum of the system first five-electron doublet state operator ${}^1\tilde{H}_{1/2}^d$ is the union of two segments: $\sigma_{ess}({}^1\tilde{H}_{1/2}^d) = [a_1 + c_1 + e_1, b_1 + d_1 + f_1] \cup [a_1 + e_1 + \tilde{z}_2, b_1 + f_1 + \tilde{z}_2], \text{ or } \sigma_{ess}({}^1\tilde{H}_{1/2}^d) = [a_1 + c_1 + e_1, b_1 + d_1 + f_1] \cup [a_1 + e_1 + \tilde{z}_1, b_1 + f_1 + \tilde{z}_1].$ The discrete spectrum of the operator ${}^1\tilde{H}_{1/2}^d$ is empty: $\sigma_{disc}({}^1\tilde{H}_{1/2}^d) = \emptyset$.

c) Let U > 0, and $0 < U \leq \frac{6B\cos\frac{\Lambda_1^0}{2}}{W}$, $\cos\frac{\Lambda_1^0}{2} < \cos\frac{\Lambda_2^0}{2}$ or $0 < U \leq \frac{6B\cos\frac{\Lambda_2^0}{2}}{W}$, $\cos\frac{\Lambda_1^0}{2} > \cos\frac{\Lambda_2^0}{2}$. Then the essential spectrum of the system first five-electron doublet state operator ${}^1\widetilde{H}_{1/2}^d$ is consists of a single segment: $\sigma_{ess}({}^1\widetilde{H}_{1/2}^d) = [a_1+c_1+e_1, b_1+d_1+f_1]$, and the discrete spectrum of the system first five-electron doublet state operator ${}^1\widetilde{H}_{1/2}^d$ is empty: $\sigma_{disc}({}^1\widetilde{H}_{1/2}^d) = \emptyset$.

Consequently, the essential spectrum of the system first five-electron doublet state operator ${}^{1}\widetilde{H}^{d}_{1/2}$ is the union of no more than four segments, and discrete spectrum of the operator ${}^{1}\widetilde{H}^{d}_{1/2}$ is empty.

3 Second Doublet State

The second doublet state corresponds to the basis functions ${}^{2}d_{m,n,r,t,l\in Z^{\nu}}^{1/2} = a_{m,\downarrow}^{+}a_{n,\uparrow}^{+}a_{t,\uparrow}^{+}a_{t,\uparrow}^{+}a_{l,\uparrow}^{+}\varphi_{0}$. The subspace ${}^{2}\mathcal{H}_{1/2}^{d}$, corresponding to the second five-electron doublet state is the set of all vectors of the form ${}^{2}\psi_{1/2}^{d} = \sum_{m,n,r,t,l\in Z^{\nu}} f(m,n,r,t,l) {}^{2}d_{m,n,r,t,l\in Z^{\nu}}^{1/2}$, $f \in l_{2}^{as}$, where l_{2}^{as} is the subspace of antisymmetric functions in the space $l_{2}((Z^{\nu})^{5})$.

The restriction ${}^{2}H_{1/2}^{d}$ of H to the subspace ${}^{2}\mathcal{H}_{1/2}^{d}$, is called the five-electron second doublet state operator.

Theorem 14 The subspace ${}^{2}\mathcal{H}_{1/2}^{d}$ is invariant under the operator H, and the operator ${}^{2}\mathcal{H}_{1/2}^{d}$ is a bounded self-adjoint operator. It generates a bounded self-adjoint operator ${}^{2}\overline{\mathcal{H}}_{1/2}^{d}$ acting in the space l_{2}^{as} as

$$({}^{2}\overline{H}_{1/2}^{d}f)(m,n,r,t,l) = 5Af(m,n,r,t,l) + B\sum_{\tau} [f(m+\tau,n,r,t,l) + f(m,n+\tau,r,t,l) + f(m,n,r,t,l) + f(m,n,r,t,l) + f(m,n,r,t,l) + f(m,n,r,t,l) + f(m,n,r,t,l) + \delta_{m,l} + \delta_{m,l} + \delta_{n,r} + \delta_{r,t} + \delta_{$$
where $\delta_{k,j}$ is the Kronecker symbol. The operator ${}^{2}H^{d}_{1/2}$ acts on a vector ${}^{2}\psi^{d}_{1/2} \in$ $^{2}\mathcal{H}_{1/2}^{d}$ as

$${}^{2}H_{1/2}^{d}{}^{2}\psi_{1/2}^{d} = \sum_{m,n,r,t,l \in Z^{\nu}} ({}^{2}\overline{H}_{1/2}^{d}f)(m,n,r,t,l){}^{2}d_{m,n,r,t,l \in Z^{\nu}}^{1/2}.$$
 (12)

Proof The proof of the theorem can be obtained from the explicit form of the action of *H* on vectors $\psi \in {}^{2}\mathcal{H}^{d}_{1/2}$ using the standard anticommutation relations between electron creation and annihilation operators at lattice sites, $\{a_{m,\gamma}, a_{n,\beta}^+\} = \delta_{m,n}\delta_{\gamma,\beta}$, $\{a_{m,\gamma}, a_{n,\beta}\} = \{a_{m,\gamma}^+, a_{n,\beta}^+\} = \theta$, and also take into account that $a_{m,\gamma}\varphi_0 = \theta$, where θ is the zero element of ${}^{2}\mathcal{H}_{1/2}^{d}$. This yields the statement of the theorem.

We set ${}^{2}\widetilde{H}_{1/2}^{d} = \mathcal{F} {}^{2}\overline{H}_{1/2}^{d}\mathcal{F}^{-1}$. In the quasimomentum representation, the operator ${}^{2}\widetilde{H}_{1/2}^{d}$ acts in the Hilbert space $L_{2}^{as}((T^{\nu})^{5})$ as

$${}^{2}\tilde{H}_{1/2}^{d}{}^{2}\psi_{1/2}^{d} = \{5A+2B\sum_{i=1}^{\nu}[\cos\lambda_{i}+\cos\mu_{i}+\cos\gamma_{i}+\cos\theta_{i}+\cos\eta_{i}]\}f(\lambda,\mu,\gamma,\theta,\eta)+$$
(13)

$$+U\int_{T^{\nu}} [f(s,\lambda+\mu-s,\gamma,\theta,\eta)+f(\lambda,s,\mu+\gamma-s,\theta,\eta)+f(\lambda,\mu,s,\gamma+\theta-s,\eta)+f(\lambda,\mu,s,\gamma+\theta-s,\eta)+f(\lambda,\mu,s,\theta,\gamma+\eta-s)+f(s,\mu,\gamma,\lambda+\theta-s,\eta)+f(s,\mu,\gamma,\theta,\lambda+\eta-s)]ds,$$

where $L_2^{as}((T^{\nu})^5)$ is the subspace of antisymmetric functions in $L_2((T^{\nu})^5)$. Taking into account that the function $f(\lambda, \mu, \gamma, \theta, \eta)$ is antisymmetric, we can rewrite formula (13) as

$${}^{2}\widetilde{H}_{1/2}^{d} = \widetilde{H}_{2}^{4} \bigotimes I \bigotimes I + I \bigotimes \widetilde{H}_{2}^{5} \bigotimes I + I \bigotimes I \bigotimes \widetilde{H}_{2}^{6},$$
(14)

where

$$\begin{split} (\widetilde{H}_{2}^{4}f)(\lambda,\mu) &= \{2A+2B\sum_{i=1}^{\nu}[\cos\lambda_{i}+\cos\mu_{i}]\}f(\lambda,\mu)+U\int_{T^{\nu}}f(s,\lambda+\mu-s)ds\\ &+U\int_{T^{\nu}}f(s,\lambda+\theta-s)ds,\\ (\widetilde{H}_{2}^{5}f)(\gamma,\theta) &= \{2A+2B\sum_{i=1}^{\nu}[\cos\gamma_{i}+\cos\theta_{i}]\}f(\gamma,\theta)+U\int_{T^{\nu}}f(s,\gamma+\theta-s)ds\\ &+U\int_{T^{\nu}}f(s,\mu+\gamma-s)ds, \end{split}$$

$$(\widetilde{H}_2^6 f)(\lambda, \eta) = \{A + 2B \sum_{i=1}^{\nu} \cos \eta_i\} f(\lambda, \eta) - U \int_{T^{\nu}} f(s, \gamma + \eta - s) ds$$
$$-U \int_{T^{\nu}} f(s, \lambda + \eta - s) ds,$$

and *I* is the unit operator.

Taking into account that $\lambda, \mu, \gamma, \theta, \eta \in T^{\nu}$, we can express the action of operators $\widetilde{H}_2^4, \widetilde{H}_2^5, \widetilde{H}_2^6$ in the form

$$\begin{split} (\widetilde{H}_{2}^{4}f)(\lambda,\mu) &= \{2A+2B\sum_{i=1}^{\nu}[\cos\lambda_{i}+\cos\mu_{i}]\}f(\lambda,\mu)+2U\int_{T^{\nu}}f(s,\lambda+\mu-s)ds,\\ (\widetilde{H}_{2}^{5}f)(\gamma,\theta) &= \{2A+2B\sum_{i=1}^{\nu}[\cos\gamma_{i}+\cos\theta_{i}]\}f(\gamma,\theta)+2U\int_{T^{\nu}}f(s,\gamma+\theta-s)ds,\\ (\widetilde{H}_{2}^{6}f)(\lambda,\eta) &= \{A+2B\sum_{i=1}^{\nu}\cos\eta_{i}\}f(\lambda,\eta)-2U\int_{T^{\nu}}f(s,\lambda+\eta-s)ds. \end{split}$$

We must therefore study the spectrum and bound states (antibound states) of the operators \widetilde{H}_2^4 , \widetilde{H}_2^5 and \widetilde{H}_2^6 . Let the total quasimomentum of the two-electron systems be fixed: $\Lambda_1 = \lambda + \mu$, $\Lambda_2 = \gamma + \theta$, $\Lambda_3 = \lambda + \eta$. We let $L_2(\Gamma_{\Lambda_1})$ (correspondingly, $L_2(\Gamma_{\Lambda_2})$ and $L_2(\Gamma_{\Lambda_3})$) denote the space of functions that are square integrable on the manifold $\Gamma_{\Lambda_1} = \{(\lambda, \mu) : \lambda + \mu = \Lambda_1\}$ (correspondingly, $\Gamma_{\Lambda_2} = \{(\gamma, \theta) : \gamma + \theta = \Lambda_2\}$ and $\Gamma_{\Lambda_3} = \{(\lambda, \eta) : \lambda + \eta = \Lambda_3\}$). That the operator \widetilde{H}_2^4 , \widetilde{H}_2^5 and \widetilde{H}_2^6 and the space $\widetilde{\mathcal{H}}_2 = L_2((T^\nu)^2)$ can be decomposed into a direct integral $\widetilde{H}_2^4 = \bigoplus \int_{T^\nu} \widetilde{H}_{2\Lambda_1}^4 d\Lambda_1$ (correspondingly, $\widetilde{H}_2 = \bigoplus \int_{T^\nu} \widetilde{H}_{2\Lambda_2}^2 d\Lambda_2$ and $\widetilde{H}_2 = \bigoplus \int_{T^\nu} \widetilde{H}_{2\Lambda_3} d\Lambda_3$). Each operator $\widetilde{H}_{2\Lambda_1}^4$ (correspondingly, $\widetilde{H}_{2\Lambda_2}^5$ and $\widetilde{H}_{2\Lambda_3}^6$) acts in $\widetilde{\mathcal{H}}_{2\Lambda_1}$ (correspondingly, $\widetilde{\mathcal{H}}_{2\Lambda_3}$) as

$$(\widetilde{H}_{2\Lambda_1}^4 f_{\Lambda_1})(\lambda) = \{2A + 4B \sum_{i=1}^{\nu} \cos\frac{\Lambda_1^i}{2} \cos(\frac{\Lambda_1^i}{2} - \lambda_i)\} f_{\Lambda_1}(\lambda) + 2U \int_{T^{\nu}} f_{\Lambda_1}(s) ds,$$

(correspondingly,

$$(\widetilde{H}_{2\Lambda_{2}}^{5}f_{\Lambda_{2}})(\gamma) = \{2A + 4B\sum_{i=1}^{\nu}\cos\frac{\Lambda_{2}^{i}}{2}\cos(\frac{\Lambda_{2}^{i}}{2} - \gamma_{i})\}f_{\Lambda_{2}}(\gamma) + 2U\int_{T^{\nu}}f_{\Lambda_{2}}(s)ds,$$
$$(\widetilde{H}_{2\Lambda_{3}}^{6}f_{\Lambda_{3}})(\lambda) = \{A + 2B\sum_{i=1}^{\nu}\cos(\Lambda_{3}^{i} - \lambda_{i})\}f_{\Lambda_{3}}(\lambda) - 2U\int_{T^{\nu}}f_{\Lambda_{3}}(s)ds),$$

where $f_{\Lambda_1}(\lambda) = f(\lambda, \Lambda_1 - \lambda)$ (correspondingly, $f_{\Lambda_2}(\gamma) = f(\gamma, \Lambda_2 - \gamma)$ and $f_{\Lambda_3}(\lambda) = f(\lambda, \Lambda_3 - \lambda)).$

The continuous spectrum of operator $\widetilde{H}_{2\Lambda_1}^4$ (correspondingly, $\widetilde{H}_{2\Lambda_2}^5$ and $\widetilde{H}_{2\Lambda_3}^6$) does not depend on the parameter U and consists of the intervals $G_{\Lambda_1}^{\nu} =$ $[2A - 4B\sum_{i=1}^{\nu}\cos\frac{\Lambda_1^i}{2}, 2A + 4B\sum_{i=1}^{\nu}\cos\frac{\Lambda_1^i}{2}]$ (correspondingly, $G_{\Lambda_2}^{\nu} = [2A - 4B\sum_{i=1}^{\nu}\cos\frac{\Lambda_1^i}{2}]$ $4B\sum_{i=1}^{\nu}\cos\frac{\Lambda_{2}^{i}}{2}, 2A + 4B\sum_{i=1}^{\nu}\cos\frac{\Lambda_{2}^{i}}{2} \text{ and } G_{\Lambda_{3}}^{\nu} = [A - 2B\nu, A + 2B\nu]).$ We set $D_{\Lambda_{1}}^{\nu}(z) = 1 + 2U\int_{T^{\nu}}\frac{ds_{1}ds_{2}...ds_{\nu}}{2A + 4B\sum_{i=1}^{\nu}\cos\frac{\Lambda_{1}^{i}}{2}\cos(\frac{\Lambda_{1}^{i}}{2} - s_{i}) - z}.$ The analogue of Lemma 2 holds for this case. We consider the one-dimensional

case.

Theorem 15

- a) At v = 1 and U < 0 and for all values of the parameter of the Hamiltonian, the operator $\widetilde{H}_{2\Lambda_1}^4$ has a unique eigenvalue $z_1 = 2A - 2\sqrt{U^2 + 4B^2 \cos^2 \frac{\Lambda_1}{2}}$ that is below the continuous spectrum of $\tilde{H}_{2\Lambda_1}^4$, i.e., $z_1 < m_{\Lambda_1}^1$. b) At v = 1 and U > 0 and for all values of the parameter of the Hamiltonian, the
- operator $\widetilde{H}_{2\Lambda_1}^4$ has a unique eigenvalue $\widetilde{z}_1 = 2A + 2\sqrt{U^2 + 4B^2 \cos^2 \frac{\Lambda_1}{2}}$ that is above the continuous spectrum of $\widetilde{H}_{2\Lambda_1}^4$, i.e., $\widetilde{z}_1 > M_{\Lambda_1}^1$.

Proof If U < 0, then in the one-dimensional case, the function $D^{\nu}_{\Lambda_1}(z)$ decreases monotonically outside the continuous spectrum domain of the operator $\tilde{H}^4_{2\Lambda_1}$. For $z < m_{\Lambda_1}^1$ the function $D_{\Lambda_1}^{\nu}(z)$ decreases from 1 to $-\infty$, $D_{\Lambda_1}^{\nu}(z) \to 1$ as $z \to -\infty$, $D^{\nu}_{\Lambda_1}(z) \to -\infty$ as $z \to m^1_{\Lambda_1} = 0$. Therefore, below the value $m^1_{\Lambda_1}$, the function $D^{\nu}_{\Lambda_1}(z)$ has a single zero at the point $z = z_1 = 2A - 2\sqrt{U^2 + 4B^2 \cos^2 \frac{\Lambda_1}{2}}$. For $z > M^1_{\Lambda_1}$, and U < 0, the function $D^{\nu}_{\Lambda_1}(z)$ decreases from $+\infty$ to 1, $D^{\nu}_{\Lambda_1}(z) \rightarrow$ $+\infty$ as $z \to M^{1}_{\Lambda_{1}} + 0$, $D^{\nu}_{\Lambda_{1}}(z) \to 1$ as $z \to +\infty$. Therefore, above the value $M^{1}_{\Lambda_{1}}$, the function $D^{\nu}_{\Lambda_{1}}(z)$ cannot vanish. If U > 0, then the function $D^{\nu}_{\Lambda_{1}}(z)$ increases monotonically outside the continuous spectrum domain of the operator $\widetilde{H}^1_{2\Lambda_1}$. For $z < m^1_{\Lambda_1}$ the function $D^{\nu}_{\Lambda_1}(z)$ increases from 1 to $+\infty$, $D^{\nu}_{\Lambda_1}(z) \rightarrow 1$ as $z \rightarrow 1$ $-\infty$, $D^{\nu}_{\Lambda_1}(z) \rightarrow +\infty$ as $z \rightarrow m^1_{\Lambda_1} - 0$. Therefore, below the value $m^1_{\Lambda_1}$, the function $D_{\Lambda_1}^{\nu}(z)$ cannot vanish. For $z > M_{\Lambda_1}^1$, and U > 0, the function $D_{\Lambda_1}^{\nu}(z)$ increases from $-\infty$ to 1, $D^{\nu}_{\Lambda_1}(z) \rightarrow -\infty$ as $z \rightarrow M^1_{\Lambda_1} + 0$, $D^{\nu}_{\Lambda_1}(z) \rightarrow 1$ as $z \to +\infty$. Therefore, above the value $M^1_{\Lambda_1}$, $D^{\nu}_{\Lambda_1}(z)$ has a single zero at the point $\tilde{z}_1 = 2A + 2\sqrt{U^2 + 4B^2 \cos^2 \frac{\Lambda_1}{2}}.$

In the two-dimensional case, we have similar results.

We consider three-dimensional case. Denote $m = \int_{T^3} \frac{ds_1 ds_2 ds_3}{\sum_{i=1}^3 \cos \frac{\Lambda_1^i}{2} (1 + \cos(\frac{\Lambda_1^i}{2} - s_i))}$. For U < 0, and $U < -\frac{2B}{m}$, below of the continuous spectrum of the operator

 $\widetilde{H}_{2\Lambda_1}^4$ the function $D_{\Lambda_1}^3(z)$ has a single zero at the point $z_1 < m_{\Lambda_1}^3$. For U < 0, and

 $-\frac{2B}{m} \leq U < 0$, below of the continuous spectrum of the operator $\widetilde{H}_{2\Delta_1}^4$ the function

 $D_{\Lambda_1}^m(z) = 0 \text{ cannot vanish.}$ Denote $M = \int_{T^3} \frac{ds_1 ds_2 ds_3}{\sum_{i=1}^3 \cos \frac{\Lambda_1^i}{2} (1 - \cos(\frac{\Lambda_1^i}{2} - s_i))}$. For U > 0 and $U > \frac{2B}{M}$, above of the continuous spectrum of the operator $\widetilde{H}_{2\Lambda_1}^4$. the function $D^3_{\Lambda_1}(z)$ has a single zero at the point $\tilde{z}_1 > M^3_{\Lambda_1}$. For $0 < U \leq \frac{2B}{M}$, above of the continuous spectrum of the operator $\widetilde{H}^4_{2\Lambda_1}$ the function $D^3_{\Lambda_1}(z)$ cannot vanish.

We now study the spectrum of the operator $\tilde{H}_{2\Lambda_2}^5$. The operators $\tilde{H}_{2\Lambda_1}^4$ and $\tilde{H}_{2\Lambda_2}^5$. is the equal operators. Therefore, the spectrum of these operators is coincide, also.

We now study the spectrum of the operator

$$(\widetilde{H}_{2\Lambda_3}^6 f_{\Lambda_3})(\lambda) = \{A + 2B\sum_{i=1}^{\nu} \cos(\Lambda_3^i - \lambda_i)\}f_{\Lambda_3}(\lambda) - 2U\int_{T^{\nu}} f_{\Lambda_3}(s)ds$$

It is known that the continuous spectrum of $\widetilde{H}^6_{2\Lambda_3}$ is independent on U and coincides with the segment $\sigma_{cont}(\widetilde{H}^6_{2\Lambda_3}) = [A - 2B\nu, A + 2B\nu].$ We set $D^{\nu}_{\Lambda_3}(z) = 1 - 2U \int_{T^{\nu}} \frac{ds_1 ds_2 \dots ds_{\nu}}{A + 2B \sum_{i=1}^{\nu} \cos(\Lambda_3^i - s_i) - z}.$

The analogue of Lemma 2 holds for the in this case. We consider the onedimensional case.

It is clear that the at U < 0 (U > 0) exists only one solution of the equation $D_{\Lambda_3}^{\nu}(z) = 0$, that is above (below) the continuous spectrum of the operator $\tilde{H}_{2\Lambda_3}^6$.

Theorem 16

- a) At v = 1 and U < 0 and for all values of the parameter of the Hamiltonian, the operator $\widetilde{H}_{2\Lambda_3}^6$ has a unique eigenvalue $z_3 = 2A + 2\sqrt{U^2 + B^2}$, that is above
- the continuous spectrum of operator $\widetilde{H}_{2\Lambda_3}^6$, i.e., $z_3 > M_{\Lambda_3}^1$. b) At v = 1 and U > 0 and for all values of the parameter of the Hamiltonian, the operator $\widetilde{H}_{2\Lambda_3}^6$ has a unique eigenvalue $z = \widetilde{z}_3 = 2A 2\sqrt{U^2 + B^2}$, that is below the continuous spectrum of operator $\widetilde{H}_{2\Lambda_2}^6$, i.e., $\widetilde{z}_3 < m_{\Lambda_3}^1$.

In the two-dimensional case the similar situation is to occur. For U < 0, the function $D^2_{\Lambda_3}(z)$ above the continuous spectrum of the operator $\widetilde{H}^6_{2\Lambda_3}$ has a single zero at the point $z_2 > M_{\Lambda_3}^2$. For U > 0, the function $D_{\Lambda_3}^2(z)$ below the continuous spectrum of the operator $\widetilde{H}_{2\Lambda_3}^6$ has a single zero at the point $\widetilde{z}_2 < m_{\Lambda_3}^2$.

We now consider three-dimensional case. For U > 0, and $U > \frac{3B}{W}$, the function $D^3_{\Lambda_3}(z)$ below the continuous spectrum of the operator $\widetilde{H}^6_{2\Lambda_3}$ has a single zero at the point $z_3 < m_{\Lambda_3}^3$. For $0 < U \leq \frac{3B}{W}$, the function $D_{\Lambda_3}^3(z)$ below the continuous spectrum of the operator $\widetilde{H}^6_{2\Lambda_3}$ cannot vanish. For U < 0, and $U < -\frac{3B}{W}$, the function $D^3_{\Lambda_3}(z)$ above the continuous spectrum of the operator $\widetilde{H}^6_{2\Lambda_3}$ has a single zero at the point $\tilde{z}_3 > M^3_{\Lambda_3}$. For $-\frac{3B}{W} \le U < 0$, the function $D^3_{\Lambda_3}(z)$ above the continuous spectrum of the operator $\tilde{H}^6_{2\Lambda_3}$ cannot vanish.

Now, using the obtained results and representation (14), we describe the structure of the essential spectrum and the discrete spectrum of the operator ${}^{2}\widetilde{H}^{d}_{1/2}$ second five-electron doublet state:

Theorem 17 At v = 1 and U < 0 the essential spectrum of the system of second five-electron doublet state operator ${}^{2}\widetilde{H}^{d}_{1/2}$ is exactly the union of seven segments:

$$\sigma_{ess}(^{2}\widetilde{H}^{d}_{1/2}) = [a + c + e, b + d + f] \cup [a + e + z_{2}, b + f + z_{2}] \cup$$
$$\cup [c + e + z_{1}, d + f + z_{1}] \cup [e + z_{1} + z_{3}, f + z_{1} + z_{3}] \cup$$

 $\cup [a+c+z_3, b+d+z_3] \cup [a+z_2+z_3, b+z_2+z_3] \cup [e+z_1+z_2, f+z_1+z_2].$

The discrete spectrum of the operator ${}^{2}\widetilde{H}_{1/2}^{d}$ is consists of no more than one point: $\sigma_{disc}({}^{2}\widetilde{H}_{1/2}^{d}) = \{z_{1} + z_{2} + z_{3}\}, \text{ or } \sigma_{disc}({}^{2}\widetilde{H}_{1/2}^{d}) = \emptyset.$

Here and hereafter $a = 2A - 4B\cos\frac{\Lambda_1}{2}$, $b = 2A + 4B\cos\frac{\Lambda_1}{2}$, $c = 2A - 4B\cos\frac{\Lambda_2}{2}$, $d = 2A + 4B\cos\frac{\Lambda_2}{2}$, e = A - 2B, f = A + 2B, $z_1 = 2A - 2\sqrt{U^2 + 4B^2\cos^2\frac{\Lambda_1}{2}}$, $z_2 = 2A - 2\sqrt{U^2 + 4B^2\cos^2\frac{\Lambda_2}{2}}$, $z_3 = A + 2\sqrt{U^2 + B^2}$.

Theorem 18 At v = 1 and U > 0 the essential spectrum of the system of second five-electron doublet state operator ${}^{2}\widetilde{H}^{d}_{1/2}$ is exactly the union of seven segments:

$$\sigma_{ess}(^{2}\widetilde{H}^{d}_{1/2}) = [a+c+e,b+d+f] \cup [a+e+\widetilde{z}_{2},b+f+\widetilde{z}_{2}] \cup$$
$$\cup [c+e+\widetilde{z}_{1},d+f+\widetilde{z}_{1}] \cup [e+\widetilde{z}_{1}+\widetilde{z}_{3},f+\widetilde{z}_{1}+\widetilde{z}_{3}] \cup$$
$$+\widetilde{z}_{1} + c+\widetilde{z}_{2} + c+\widetilde{z}$$

 $\cup [a+c+\widetilde{z}_3,b+d+\widetilde{z}_3] \cup [a+\widetilde{z}_2+\widetilde{z}_3,b+\widetilde{z}_2+\widetilde{z}_3] \cup [e+\widetilde{z}_1+\widetilde{z}_2,f+\widetilde{z}_1+\widetilde{z}_2].$

The discrete spectrum of the operator ${}^{2}\widetilde{H}_{1/2}^{d}$ is consists of no more than one point: $\sigma_{disc}({}^{2}\widetilde{H}_{1/2}^{d}) = \{\widetilde{z}_{1} + \widetilde{z}_{2} + \widetilde{z}_{3}\}, \text{ or } \sigma_{disc}({}^{2}\widetilde{H}_{1/2}^{d}) = \emptyset.$

Here
$$\tilde{z}_1 = 2A + 2\sqrt{U^2 + 4B^2 \cos^2 \frac{\Lambda_1}{2}}$$
, $\tilde{z}_2 = 2A + 2\sqrt{U^2 + 4B^2 \cos^2 \frac{\Lambda_2}{2}}$, $\tilde{z}_3 = A - 2\sqrt{U^2 + B^2}$.

In the two-dimensional case the similar results are to occur. We now consider the three-dimensional case. Let v = 3.

Theorem 19 The following statements hold:

a) Let U < 0, and $U < -\frac{2B}{m}$, $m < \frac{2}{3}W$, or U < 0, $U < -\frac{3B}{W}$, $m > \frac{2}{3}W$. Then the essential spectrum of the system second five-electron quartet state operator

 ${}^{2}\widetilde{H}^{d}_{1/2}$ is the union of seven segments:

$$\sigma_{ess}({}^{2}\widetilde{H}^{d}_{1/2}) = [a + c + e, b + d + f] \cup [a + c + \widetilde{z}_{3}, b + d + \widetilde{z}_{3}] \cup$$
$$\cup [a + e + z_{2}, b + f + z_{2}] \cup [a + z_{2} + \widetilde{z}_{3}, b + z_{2} + \widetilde{z}_{3}] \cup$$

 $\cup [c+e+z_1, d+f+z_1] \cup [c+z_1+\widetilde{z}_3, d+z_1+\widetilde{z}_3] \cup [e+z_1+z_2, f+z_1+z_2].$

The discrete spectrum of the operator ${}^{2}\widetilde{H}_{1/2}^{d}$ is consists of no more than one point: $\sigma_{disc}({}^{2}\widetilde{H}_{1/2}^{d}) = \{z_{1} + z_{2} + \widetilde{z}_{3}\}, \text{ or } \sigma_{disc}({}^{2}\widetilde{H}_{1/2}^{d}) = \emptyset.$

Here, $a = 2A - 4B\sum_{i=1}^{3} \cos \frac{\Lambda_1^i}{2}$, $b = 2A + 4B\sum_{i=1}^{3} \cos \frac{\Lambda_1^i}{2}$, $c = 2A - 4B\sum_{i=1}^{3} \cos \frac{\Lambda_2^i}{2}$, $d = 2A + 4B\sum_{i=1}^{3} \cos \frac{\Lambda_2^i}{2}$, e = A - 6B, f = A + 6B, and z_1 is an eigenvalue of the operator $\widetilde{H}_{2\Lambda_1}^4$, and z_2 is an eigenvalue of the operator $\widetilde{H}_{2\Lambda_2}^5$.

b) Let U < 0, $-\frac{3B}{W} \le U < -\frac{2B}{m}$, and $m > \frac{2}{3}W$. Then the essential spectrum of the system second five-electron quartet state operator ${}^{2}\widetilde{H}_{1/2}^{d}$ is the union of four segments:

$$\sigma_{ess}({}^{2}\widetilde{H}^{d}_{1/2}) = [a + c + e, b + d + f] \cup [a + e + z_{2}, b + f + z_{2}] \cup \cup [c + e + z_{1}, d + f + z_{1}] \cup [e + z_{1} + z_{2}, f + z_{1} + z_{2}].$$

The discrete spectrum of the operator ${}^{2}\widetilde{H}^{d}_{1/2}$ is empty: $\sigma_{disc}({}^{2}\widetilde{H}^{d}_{1/2}) = \emptyset$.

c) Let U < 0, $-\frac{2B}{m} \le U < -\frac{3B}{W}$, and $m < \frac{2}{3}W$. Then the essential spectrum of the system second five-electron quartet state operator ${}^{2}\widetilde{H}^{d}_{1/2}$ is the union of two segments:

$$\sigma_{ess}({}^{2}\widetilde{H}^{d}_{1/2}) = [a + c + e, b + d + f] \cup [a + c + \widetilde{z}_{3}, b + d + \widetilde{z}_{3}].$$

The discrete spectrum of the operator ${}^{2}\widetilde{H}^{d}_{1/2}$ is empty: $\sigma_{disc}({}^{2}\widetilde{H}^{d}_{1/2}) = \emptyset$.

d) Let U < 0, $-\frac{2B}{m} \le U < 0$ and $m > \frac{2}{3}W$, or $-\frac{3B}{m} \le U < 0$, and $m < \frac{2}{3}W$. Then the essential spectrum of the system second five-electron quartet state operator ${}^{2}\widetilde{H}_{1/2}^{d}$ is consists of a single segment: $\sigma_{ess}({}^{2}\widetilde{H}_{1/2}^{d}) = [a+c+e, b+d+f]$, and the discrete spectrum of the operator ${}^{2}\widetilde{H}_{1/2}^{d}$ is empty: $\sigma_{disc}({}^{2}\widetilde{H}_{1/2}^{d}) = \emptyset$. Let v = 3.

Theorem 20 The following statements hold:

a) Let U > 0, and $U > \frac{2B}{M}$, $M < \frac{2}{3}W$, or U > 0, and $U > \frac{3B}{W}$, $M > \frac{2}{3}W$. Then the essential spectrum of the system second five-electron quartet state operator ${}^{2}\widetilde{H}^{d}_{1/2}$ is the union of seven segments:

$$\sigma_{ess}(^{2}\widetilde{H}^{d}_{1/2}) = [a + c + e, b + d + f] \cup [a + c + z_{3}, b + d + z_{3}] \cup$$
$$\cup [a + e + \widetilde{z}_{2}, b + f + \widetilde{z}_{2}] \cup [a + \widetilde{z}_{2} + z_{3}, b + \widetilde{z}_{2} + z_{3}] \cup$$

 $\cup [c+e+\widetilde{z}_1,d+f+\widetilde{z}_1] \cup [c+\widetilde{z}_1+z_3,d+\widetilde{z}_1+z_3] \cup [e+\widetilde{z}_1+\widetilde{z}_2,f+\widetilde{z}_1+\widetilde{z}_2].$

The discrete spectrum of the operator ${}^{2}\widetilde{H}^{q}_{1/2}$ is consists of no more than one point: $\sigma_{disc}({}^{2}\widetilde{H}^{d}_{1/2}) = \{\widetilde{z}_{1} + \widetilde{z}_{2} + z_{3}\}, \text{ or } \sigma_{disc}({}^{2}\widetilde{H}^{d}_{1/2}) = \emptyset.$

Here, \tilde{z}_1 is an eigenvalue of the operator $\tilde{H}^4_{2\Lambda_1}$, and \tilde{z}_2 is an eigenvalue of the operator $\tilde{H}^5_{2\Lambda_2}$, and z_3 is an eigenvalue of the operator $\tilde{H}^6_{\Lambda_3}$.

b) Let U > 0, $\frac{3B}{W} \le U < \frac{2B}{M}$, and $M < \frac{2}{3}W$. Then the essential spectrum of the system second five-electron quartet state operator ${}^{2}\widetilde{H}_{1/2}^{d}$ is the union of four segments:

$$\sigma_{ess}(^2\widetilde{H}^d_{1/2}) = [a+c+e,b+d+f] \cup [a+e+\widetilde{z}_2,b+f+\widetilde{z}_2] \cup$$
$$\cup [c+e+\widetilde{z}_1,d+f+\widetilde{z}_1] \cup [e+\widetilde{z}_1+\widetilde{z}_2,f+\widetilde{z}_1+\widetilde{z}_2].$$

The discrete spectrum of the operator ${}^{2}\widetilde{H}^{d}_{1/2}$ is empty: $\sigma_{disc}({}^{2}\widetilde{H}^{d}_{1/2}) = \emptyset$.

c) Let U > 0, $\frac{2B}{M} \le U < \frac{3B}{W}$, and $M > \frac{2}{3}W$. Then the essential spectrum of the system second five-electron quartet state operator ${}^{2}\widetilde{H}_{1/2}^{d}$ is the union of two segments:

$$\sigma_{ess}(^{2}\widetilde{H}^{d}_{1/2}) = [a+c+e,b+d+f] \cup [a+c+z_{3},b+d+z_{3}].$$

The discrete spectrum of the operator ${}^{2}\widetilde{H}_{1/2}^{d}$ is empty: $\sigma_{disc}({}^{2}\widetilde{H}_{1/2}^{d}) = \emptyset$. d) Let $U > 0, 0 < U \leq \frac{3B}{W}$, and $M < \frac{2}{3}W$, or $U > 0, 0 < U \leq \frac{2B}{M}$, and $M > \frac{2}{3}W$. Then the essential spectrum of the system second five-electron quartet state operator ${}^{2}\widetilde{H}_{1/2}^{d}$ is consists of a single segment: $\sigma_{ess}({}^{2}\widetilde{H}_{1/2}^{d}) = [a+c+e, b+d+f]$, and the discrete spectrum of the operator ${}^{2}\widetilde{H}_{1/2}^{d}$ is empty: $\sigma_{disc}({}^{2}\widetilde{H}_{1/2}^{d}) = \emptyset$.

Let $\nu = 3$ and $\Lambda_1 = (\Lambda_1^0, \Lambda_1^0, \Lambda_1^0)$, and $\Lambda_2 = (\Lambda_2^0, \Lambda_2^0, \Lambda_2^0)$.

It is known that the continuous spectrum of $\widetilde{H}_{2\Lambda_1}^4$ is independent of U and coincides with the segment $\sigma_{cont}(\widetilde{H}_{2\Lambda_1}^4) = [2A - 12B\cos\frac{\Lambda_1^0}{2}, 2A + 12B\cos\frac{\Lambda_1^0}{2}].$

Theorem 21 At v = 3 and U < 0 and the total quasimomentum Λ_1 of the system have the form $\Lambda_1 = (\Lambda_1^1, \Lambda_1^2, \Lambda_1^3) = (\Lambda_1^0, \Lambda_1^0, \Lambda_1^0)$. Then the operator $\widetilde{H}_{2\Lambda_1}^4$ has a unique eigenvalue z_1 if $U < -\frac{6B \cos \frac{\Lambda_1^0}{2}}{W}$, that is below the continuous spectrum of operator $\widetilde{H}_{2\Lambda_1}^4$. Otherwise, the operator $\widetilde{H}_{2\Lambda_1}^4$ has no eigenvalue, that is below the continuous spectrum of operator $\widetilde{H}_{2\Lambda_1}^4$

Theorem 22 At v = 3 and U > 0 and the total quasimomentum Λ_1 of the system have the form $\Lambda_1 = (\Lambda_1^1, \Lambda_1^2, \Lambda_1^3) = (\Lambda_1^0, \Lambda_1^0, \Lambda_1^0)$. Then the operator $\widetilde{H}_{2\Lambda_1}^4$ has a unique eigenvalue \widetilde{z}_1 if $U > \frac{6B \cos \frac{\Lambda_1^0}{2}}{W^2}$, that is above the continuous spectrum of operator $\widetilde{H}_{2\Lambda_1}^4$. Otherwise, the operator $\widetilde{H}_{2\Lambda_1}^4$ has no eigenvalue, that is above the continuous spectrum of operator $\widetilde{H}_{2\Lambda_1}^4$.

It is known that the continuous spectrum of $\widetilde{H}_{2\Lambda_2}^5$ is independent of U and coincides with the segment $\sigma_{cont}(\widetilde{H}_{2\Lambda_2}^5) = [2A - 12B\cos\frac{\Lambda_2^0}{2}, 2A + 12B\cos\frac{\Lambda_2^0}{2}].$

Theorem 23 At v = 3 and U < 0 and the total quasimomentum Λ_2 of the system have the form $\Lambda_2 = (\Lambda_2^1, \Lambda_2^2, \Lambda_2^3) = (\Lambda_2^0, \Lambda_2^0, \Lambda_2^0)$. Then the operator $\widetilde{H}_{2\Lambda_2}^5$ has a unique eigenvalue z_2 if $U < -\frac{6B \cos \frac{\Lambda_2^0}{2}}{W}$, that is below the continuous spectrum of operator $\widetilde{H}_{2\Lambda_2}^5$. Otherwise, the operator $\widetilde{H}_{2\Lambda_2}^5$ has no eigenvalue, that is below the continuous spectrum of operator $\widetilde{H}_{2\Lambda_2}^5$.

Theorem 24 At v = 3 and U > 0 and the total quasimomentum Λ_2 of the system have the form $\Lambda_2 = (\Lambda_2^1, \Lambda_2^2, \Lambda_2^3) = (\Lambda_2^0, \Lambda_2^0, \Lambda_2^0)$. Then the operator $\widetilde{H}_{2\Lambda_2}^5$ has a unique eigenvalue \widetilde{z}_2 if $U > \frac{6B \cos \frac{\Lambda_2^0}{2}}{W}$, that is above the continuous spectrum of operator $\widetilde{H}_{2\Lambda_2}^5$. Otherwise, the operator $\widetilde{H}_{2\Lambda_2}^5$ has no eigenvalue, that is above the continuous spectrum of operator $\widetilde{H}_{2\Lambda_2}^5$.

Now, using the obtained results and representation (14), we describe the structure of the essential spectrum and the discrete spectrum of the system second fiveelectron quartet state operator ${}^{2}\widetilde{H}^{d}_{1/2}$:

Let $\nu = 3$ and $\Lambda_1 = (\Lambda_1^0, \Lambda_1^0, \Lambda_1^0)$, and $\Lambda_2 = (\Lambda_2^0, \Lambda_2^0, \Lambda_2^0)$.

Theorem 25 The following statements hold:

a) Let
$$U < 0$$
, $U < -\frac{6B \cos{\frac{\Lambda_1^0}{2}}}{W}$, $\cos{\frac{\Lambda_1^0}{2}} > \cos{\frac{\Lambda_2^0}{2}}$, and $\cos{\frac{\Lambda_1^0}{2}} > \frac{1}{2}$, or $U < 0$,
 $U < -\frac{6B \cos{\frac{\Lambda_2^0}{2}}}{W}$, $\cos{\frac{\Lambda_1^0}{2}} < \cos{\frac{\Lambda_2^0}{2}}$ and $\cos{\frac{\Lambda_2^0}{2}} > \frac{1}{2}$. Then the essential spectrum of the system second five-electron doublet state operator ${}^2\tilde{H}_{1/2}^d$ is consists of the union of seven segments: $\sigma_{ess}({}^2\tilde{H}_{1/2}^d) = [a_1 + c_1 + e_1, b_1 + d_1 + f_1] \cup [a_1 + e_1 + c_2, b_1 + f_1 + z_2] \cup [c_1 + e_1 + z_1, d_1 + f_1 + z_1] \cup [e_1 + z_1 + z_2, f_1 + z_1 + z_2] \cup [a_1 + c_2 + \tilde{z}_3, b_1 + z_2 + \tilde{z}_3] \cup [c_1 + z_1 + \tilde{z}_3, d_1 + z_1 + \tilde{z}_3]$. The discrete spectrum of the operator ${}^2\tilde{H}_{1/2}^d$ is consists of no more than one point: $\sigma_{disc}({}^2\tilde{H}_{1/2}^d) = \{z_1 + z_2 + \tilde{z}_3\}$, or $\sigma_{disc}({}^2\tilde{H}_{1/2}^d) = \emptyset$.

Here and hereafter $a_1 = 2A - 12B\cos\frac{\Lambda_1^0}{2}$, $b_1 = 2A + 12B\cos\frac{\Lambda_1^0}{2}$, $c_1 = 2A - 12B\cos\frac{\Lambda_2^0}{2}$, $d_1 = 2A + 12B\cos\frac{\Lambda_2^0}{2}$, $e_1 = A - 6B$, $f_1 = A + 6B$, and z_1 is an eigenvalue of the operator $\widetilde{H}_{2\Lambda_1}^4$, and z_2 is an eigenvalue of the operator $\widetilde{H}_{2\Lambda_2}^5$, and \widetilde{z}_3 is an eigenvalue of the operator $\widetilde{H}_{\Lambda_3}^6$.

b) Let
$$U < 0$$
, $-\frac{6B\cos\frac{\Lambda_1^0}{2}}{W} \le U < -\frac{6B\cos\frac{\Lambda_2^0}{2}}{W}$, $\cos\frac{\Lambda_1^0}{2} > \cos\frac{\Lambda_2^0}{2}$, and $\cos\frac{\Lambda_2^0}{2} > \frac{1}{2}$,
or $-\frac{6B\cos\frac{\Lambda_2^0}{2}}{W} \le U < -\frac{6B\cos\frac{\Lambda_1^0}{2}}{W}$, $\cos\frac{\Lambda_1^0}{2} < \cos\frac{\Lambda_2^0}{2}$, and $\cos\frac{\Lambda_1^0}{2} > \frac{1}{2}$. Then
the essential spectrum of the system second five-electron doublet state operator
 ${}^2\widetilde{H}_{1/2}^d$ is consists of the union of four segments:
 $\sigma_{ess}({}^2\widetilde{H}_{1/2}^d) = [a_1 + c_1 + e_1, b_1 + d_1 + f_1] \cup [a_1 + e_1 + z_2, b_1 + f_1 + z_2] \cup$
 $[a_1 + c_1 + \tilde{z}_3, b_1 + d_1 + \tilde{z}_3] \cup [a_1 + z_2 + \tilde{z}_3, b_1 + z_2 + \tilde{z}_3]$, or $\sigma_{ess}({}^2\widetilde{H}_{1/2}^d) =$
 $[a_1 + c_1 + e_1, b_1 + d_1 + f_1] \cup [a_1 + e_1 + z_1, b_1 + f_1 + z_1] \cup [a_1 + c_1 + \tilde{z}_3, b_1 + d_1 + \tilde{z}_3] \cup [c_1 + z_1 + \tilde{z}_3, d_1 + z_1 + \tilde{z}_3]$. The discrete spectrum of the operator
 ${}^2\widetilde{H}_{1/2}^d$ is empty: $\sigma_{disc}({}^2\widetilde{H}_{1/2}^d) = \emptyset$.

- c) Let U < 0, $-\frac{6B\cos\frac{\Lambda_1^0}{2}}{W} \le U < -\frac{3B}{W}$, $\cos\frac{\Lambda_1^0}{2} < \cos\frac{\Lambda_2^0}{2}$, and $\cos\frac{\Lambda_1^0}{2} > \frac{1}{2}$, or $-\frac{6B\cos\frac{\Lambda_2^0}{2}}{W} \le U < -\frac{3B}{W}$, $\cos\frac{\Lambda_1^0}{2} > \cos\frac{\Lambda_2^0}{2}$, and $\cos\frac{\Lambda_2^0}{2} > \frac{1}{2}$. Then the essential spectrum of the system second five-electron doublet state operator ${}^2\widetilde{H}_{1/2}^d$ is consists of the union of two segments: $\sigma_{ess}({}^2\widetilde{H}_{1/2}^d) = [a_1 + c_1 + e_1, b_1 + d_1 + f_1] \cup [a_1 + c_1 + \tilde{z}_3, b_1 + d_1 + \tilde{z}_3]$. The discrete spectrum of the operator ${}^2\widetilde{H}_{1/2}^d$ is empty: $\sigma_{disc}({}^2\widetilde{H}_{1/2}^d) = \emptyset$.
- d) Let U < 0, $-\frac{6B\cos\frac{\Lambda_1^0}{2}}{W} \le U < 0$, $\cos\frac{\Lambda_1^0}{2} < \cos\frac{\Lambda_2^0}{2}$ and $\cos\frac{\Lambda_1^0}{2} < \frac{1}{2}$, or $-\frac{6B\cos\frac{\Lambda_2^0}{2}}{W} \le U < 0$, $\cos\frac{\Lambda_1^0}{2} > \cos\frac{\Lambda_2^0}{2}$, and $\cos\frac{\Lambda_2^0}{2} < \frac{1}{2}$. Then the essential spectrum of the system second five-electron doublet state operator ${}^2\widetilde{H}_{1/2}^d$ is consists of a single segments: $\sigma_{ess}({}^2\widetilde{H}_{1/2}^d) = [a_1 + c_1 + e_1, b_1 + d_1 + f_1]$, and discrete spectrum of the operator ${}^2\widetilde{H}_{1/2}^d$ is empty: $\sigma_{disc}({}^2\widetilde{H}_{1/2}^d) = \emptyset$.

Theorem 26 The following statements hold:

a) Let U > 0, $U > \frac{6B\cos\frac{\Lambda_1^0}{2}}{W}$, $\cos\frac{\Lambda_1^0}{2} > \cos\frac{\Lambda_2^0}{2}$, and $\cos\frac{\Lambda_1^0}{2} > \frac{1}{2}$, or U > 0, $U > \frac{6B\cos\frac{\Lambda_2^0}{2}}{W}$, $\cos\frac{\Lambda_1^0}{2} < \cos\frac{\Lambda_2^0}{2}$, and $\cos\frac{\Lambda_2^0}{2} > \frac{1}{2}$. Then the essential spectrum of the system second five-electron doublet state operator ${}^2\tilde{H}_{1/2}^d$ is consists of the union of seven segments: $\sigma_{ess}({}^2\tilde{H}_{1/2}^d) = [a_1 + c_1 + e_1, b_1 + d_1 + f_1] \cup [a_1 + e_1 + \tilde{z}_2, b_1 + f_1 + \tilde{z}_2] \cup [c_1 + e_1 + \tilde{z}_1, d_1 + f_1 + \tilde{z}_1] \cup [e_1 + \tilde{z}_1 + \tilde{z}_2, f_1 + \tilde{z}_1 + \tilde{z}_2] \cup [a_1 + e_1 + c_1 + z_3, b_1 + d_1 + z_3] \cup [a_1 + \tilde{z}_2 + z_3, b_1 + \tilde{z}_2 + z_3] \cup [c_1 + \tilde{z}_1 + z_3, d_1 + \tilde{z}_1 + z_3]$. The discrete spectrum of the operator ${}^2\tilde{H}_{1/2}^d$ is consists of no more than one point: $\sigma_{disc}({}^2\tilde{H}_{1/2}^d) = \{\tilde{z}_1 + \tilde{z}_2 + z_3\}$, or $\sigma_{disc}({}^2\tilde{H}_{1/2}^d) = \emptyset$. Here and hereafter, \tilde{z}_1 is an eigenvalue of the operator $\tilde{H}^4_{2\Lambda_1}$, and \tilde{z}_2 is an eigenvalue of the operator $\tilde{H}^5_{2\Lambda_2}$, and z_3 is an eigenvalue of the operator $\tilde{H}^6_{\Lambda_3}$.

b) Let
$$U > 0$$
, $\frac{6B\cos\frac{\Lambda_1}{2}}{W} \le U < \frac{6B\cos\frac{\Lambda_2}{2}}{W}$, $\cos\frac{\Lambda_1^0}{2} < \cos\frac{\Lambda_2^0}{2}$, and $\cos\frac{\Lambda_1^0}{2} > \frac{1}{2}$. Then the essential spectrum of the system second five-electron doublet state operator ${}^2 \widetilde{H}_{1/2}^{1}$ is consists of the union of four segments:
 $\sigma_{ess}({}^2 \widetilde{H}_{1/2}^{1}) = [a_1 + c_1 + e_1, b_1 + d_1 + f_1] \cup [a_1 + e_1 + \tilde{z}_2, b_1 + f_1 + \tilde{z}_2] \cup [a_1 + c_1 + z_3, b_1 + d_1 + z_3] \cup [a_1 + \tilde{z}_2 + z_3, b_1 + \tilde{z}_2 + z_3], \text{ or } \sigma_{ess}({}^2 \widetilde{H}_{1/2}^{d}) = [a_1 + c_1 + e_1, b_1 + d_1 + f_1] \cup [a_1 + e_1 + \tilde{z}_1] \cup [a_1 + c_1 + z_3, b_1 + d_1 + f_1] \cup [a_1 + e_1 + \tilde{z}_1, b_1 + f_1 + \tilde{z}_1] \cup [a_1 + c_1 + z_3, b_1 + d_1 + z_3] \cup [c_1 + \tilde{z}_1 + z_3, d_1 + \tilde{z}_1 + z_3]$. The discrete spectrum of the operator ${}^2 \widetilde{H}_{1/2}^{d}$ is empty: $\sigma_{disc}({}^2 \widetilde{H}_{1/2}^{d}) = \emptyset$.
c) Let $U > 0$, $\frac{6B\cos\frac{\Lambda_1^0}{W}}{W} \le U < \frac{3B}{W}$, $\cos\frac{\Lambda_1^0}{2} < \cos\frac{\Lambda_2^0}{2}$, and $\cos\frac{\Lambda_2^0}{2} > \frac{1}{2}$. Then the essential spectrum of the system second five-electron doublet state operator ${}^2 \widetilde{H}_{1/2}^{d}$ is consists of the union of two segments:
 $\sigma_{ess}({}^2 \widetilde{H}_{1/2}^{d}) = [a_1 + c_1 + e_1, b_1 + d_1 + f_1] \cup [a_1 + c_1 + \tilde{z}_1, b_1 + d_1 + \tilde{z}_1]$, or $\sigma_{ess}({}^2 \widetilde{H}_{1/2}^{d}) = [a_1 + c_1 + e_1, b_1 + d_1 + f_1] \cup [a_1 + c_1 + \tilde{z}_2, b_1 + d_1 + \tilde{z}_2]$. The discrete spectrum of the operator ${}^2 \widetilde{H}_{1/2}^{d}$ is empty: $\sigma_{disc}({}^2 \widetilde{H}_{1/2}^{d}) = [a_1 + c_1 + e_1, b_1 + d_1 + f_1] \cup [a_1 + c_1 + \tilde{z}_1, b_1 + d_1 + \tilde{z}_2]$. The discrete spectrum of the operator ${}^2 \widetilde{H}_{1/2}^{d}$ is empty: $\sigma_{disc}({}^2 \widetilde{H}_{1/2}^{d}) = \emptyset$.
d) Let $U > 0$, $0 < U \leq \frac{3B}{W}$, $\cos\frac{\Lambda_1^0}{2} < \cos\frac{\Lambda_2^0}{2}$, $(\cos\frac{\Lambda_1^0}{2} > \cos\frac{\Lambda_2^0}{2})$, and $\cos\frac{\Lambda_1^0}{2} > \frac{1}{2}$. $\sigma = 0 < U \leq \frac{6B\cos\frac{\Lambda_1^0}{W}}{W}$, $\cos\frac{\Lambda_2^0}{2} < \cos\frac{\Lambda_2^0}{2} = \frac{1}{2}$. Then the essential spectrum of the system second five-electron doublet state operator ${}^2 \widetilde{H}_{1/2}^{d}$ is consists of a single segments: $\sigma_{ess}({}^2 \widetilde{H}_{1/2}^{d}) = [a_1 + c_1 + e_1, b_1 + d_1 + f_1]$, and disc

References

- 1. Hubbard, J.: Electron correlations in narrow energy band. Proc. R. Soc. A. **276**(1365), 238–257 (1963)
- 2. Gutzwiller, M.C.: Effect of correlation on the ferromagnetism of transition metals. Phys. Rev. Lett. **10**(5), 159–162 (1963)
- 3. Kanamori, J.: Electron correlation and ferromagnetism of transition metals. Prog. Theor. Phys. **30**(3), 275–289 (1963)
- 4. Anderson, P.W.: Localized magnetic states in metals. Phys. Rev. 124(1), 41-53 (1961)
- 5. Shubin, S.P., Wonsowsky, S.V.: On the electron theory of metals. Proc. R. Soc. A. **145**, 159–180 (1934)

- Karpenko, B.V., Dyakin, V.V., Budrina, G.L.: Two electrons in the Hubbard Model. Phys. Met. Metallogr. 61, 702–706 (1986)
- 7. Mattis, D.: The few-body problems on a lattice. Rev. Mod. Phys. 58, 370–379 (1986)
- 8. Lieb, E.: Two theorems on the Hubbard model. Phys. Rev. Lett. 62, 1201–1204 (1989)
- 9. Tsvelick, A.M., Wiegman, P.B.: Exact results in the theory of magnetic alloys. Adv. Phys. **32**, 453–713 (1983)
- Izyumov, Yu.A., Skryabin, Yu.N.: Statistical Mechanics of Magnetically Ordered Systems. Nauka, Moscow (1987, in Russian). Consultants Bureau, New York (1988)
- Tashpulatov, S.M.: Spectral properties of three-electron systems in the Hubbard model. Theor. Math. Phys. 179(3), 712–728 (2014)
- Tashpulatov, S.M.: Spectra of the energy operator of four-electron systems in the triplet state in the Hubbard model. J. Phys. Conf. Ser. 697, 012025 (2016). https://doi.org/10.1088/1742-6596/697/1/012025
- Tashpulatov, S.M.: The structure of essential spectra and discrete spectrum of four-electron systems in the Hubbard model in a singlet state. Lobachevsky J. Math. 38(3), 530–541 (2017)
- Reed, M., Simon, B.: Methods of Modern Mathematical Physics, vol. 1. Functional Analysis, 267 pp. Academic, New York (1978)
- Reed, M., Simon, B.: Methods of Modern Mathematical Physics, vol. 4, 267 pp. Analysis of Operators. Academic, New York (1982)
- Ichinose, T.: Spectral properties of tensor products of linear operators, 1. Trans. Am. Math. Soc. 235, 75–113 (1978)
- Ichinose, T.: Spectral properties of tensor products of linear operators, 2: The approximate point spectrum and Kato essential spectrum. Trans. Am. Math. Soc. 237, 223–254 (1978)
- Ichinose, T.: On the spectral properties of tensor products of linear operators in Banach spaces. Spectral theory. Banach Center Publ. 8, 294–300 (1982). PWN-Polish Scientific Publishers, Warsaw
- 19. Neimark, M.A.: Normed Rings. Nauka, Moscow (1968, in Russian); English transl. prev. ed. Noordhoff, Gronongen (1959)
- 20. Val'kov, V.V., Ovchinnikov, S.G., Petrakovskii, O.P.: The excitation spectra of two-magnon systems in easy-axis quasidimensional ferromagnets. Sov. Phys. Solid State **30**, 3044–3047 (1988)

On Coefficient Inverse Problems of Heat Conduction for Functionally Graded Materials



A. O. Vatulyan and S. A. Nesterov

Abstract The inverse heat conduction problem on the identification of thermophysical characteristics of the functionally graded layer of a two-layer hollow long cylinder is considered. The input information is the measured temperature on the upper surface of the cylinder. The direct problem after the Laplace transform is solved using the Galerkin's method and the inversion of transformants, based on the theory of residues. Two approaches are used to solve the inverse problem. The first approach is the development of a previously developed iterative approach, at each step of which the Fredholm integral equation of the 1st kind is solved. The second approach is based on the algebraization of solution of the direct problem. Specific examples of reconstruction of thermal conductivity laws of change and heat capacity of the cylinder are considered. Two approaches are compared.

Keywords Heat conductivity coefficient \cdot Heat capacity \cdot Long hollow cylinder \cdot Functionally graded materials \cdot Galerkin's method \cdot Inverse coefficient problem \cdot Identification \cdot Iterative scheme \cdot Algebraization

MSC 80A20, 80A23

1 Introduction

The study of heat distribution in cylindrical layered bodies is of great importance in metallurgy, aviation and space technology. For quantitative calculations of heat distribution processes, knowledge of the thermophysical properties of materials is

S. A. Nesterov (🖂) South Mathematical Institute, Vladikavkaz Scientific Center of RAS, Vladikavkaz, Russia

A. O. Vatulyan

South Federal University, Rostov-on-Don, Russia

South Mathematical Institute, Vladikavkaz Scientific Center of RAS, Vladikavkaz, Russia

[©] The Editor(s) (if applicable) and The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

A. G. Kusraev, Z. D. Totieva (eds.), *Operator Theory and Differential Equations*, Trends in Mathematics, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-49763-7_20

required. Typically, layered structures are made from uniform materials. Recently, however, to specify the design of the required properties, one of the layers is increasingly being made from functionally graded materials (FGM). FGM are composites with variable physical properties [1]. But the production of FGM is a complex technological process. Due to the multi-stage technological operations, deviations from the established norms may be present in the final product. The thermophysical characteristics of the FGM can be determined only by solving the coefficient inverse problem (CIP) of heat conduction. The number of works devoted to the reconstruction of the thermophysical properties of materials is quite large [2–17].

Two types of formulation of inverse heat conduction problems are widespread. For the first type, additional information is considered known at the internal points of the body at some point in time [2], for the second type—only on a part of the boundary and at a certain time interval [3]. The second formulation of the problem is experimentally the most feasible in practice. But in the case of the second formulation, CIP is a nonlinear problem. The common approach to solving nonlinear CIP is based on the application of well-established iterative algorithms [2– 12]. For this, the residual functional is composed, to minimize which, as a rule, gradient methods [2–10] or genetic algorithms [11] are used. Alternative noniterative solution methods are also used: the quasi-inversion method [14], the method for the treatment of difference scheme [15], etc. In [12, 16-19] for the solution of inverse heat conduction problems for a rod, a layer and a singlelayer cylinder the iterative process was constructed, at each step of which the linearized Fredholm integral equations of the 1st kind were solved. However, in these works the functions characterizing heterogeneity had either piecewise constant or continuous character. At the same time, the question of the identification of thermophysical characteristics as functions having breakpoints of the 1st kind at the boundary of contact of the layers remained unexplored. In this paper, the formulation of the CIP of heat conduction for a two-layer cylinder is given. After the Laplace transform, the direct problem is solved on the basis of the Galerkin's projection method. To solve the inverse problem, two approaches are used. The first approach is the development of the previously developed iterative approach, at each step of which the Fredholm integral equations of the 1st kind are solved. The second approach is based on the algebraization of the direct problem. Computational experiments on the reconstruction of various laws of changes in thermophysical characteristics are carried out.

2 Statement of the Problem

Consider the problem of heat propagation in a two-layer infinite hollow cylinder thickness h, the inner layer of which is thickness h_1 that is assumed to be made of FGM with characteristics $k_1(r)$, $c_1(r)$, and the outer layer thickness $h_2 = h - h_1$ made of a homogeneous material with constant characteristics k_2 , c_2 . Zero

temperature is maintained on the inner surface of the cylinder r = a, and heat flow $q = q_0 H(t)$ acts on the outer surface r = b. The initial-boundary-value problem has the form [16]:

$$\frac{1}{r}\frac{\partial}{\partial r}(k(r)r\frac{\partial T}{\partial r}) = c(r)\frac{\partial T}{\partial t}, \quad a \le r \le b, \quad t > 0,$$
(1)

$$T(a,t) = 0, \quad -k(b)\frac{\partial T}{\partial r}(b,t) = q_0 H(t), \tag{2}$$

$$T(r,0) = 0.$$
 (3)

Go to (1)–(3) to dimensionless parameters and functions, denoting:

$$z = \frac{r-a}{b-a}, \quad z_0 = \frac{a}{b-a}, \quad \bar{k}(z) = \frac{k(r)}{k_2}, \quad \bar{c}(z) = \frac{c(r)}{c_2},$$
$$\tau = \frac{k_2 t}{c_2 (b-a)^2}, \quad W(z,\tau) = \frac{k_2 T}{q_0 (b-a)}, \quad H_1 = \frac{h_1}{b-a}.$$
(4)

After dimensioning, the initial-boundary-value problem (1)-(3) takes the form:

$$\frac{1}{z+z_0}\frac{\partial}{\partial z}(\bar{k}(z)(z+z_0)\frac{\partial W}{\partial z}) = \bar{c}(z)\frac{\partial W}{\partial \tau}, \quad 0 \le z \le 1,$$
(5)

$$W(0,\tau) = 0, \quad -\bar{k}(1)\frac{\partial W}{\partial z}(1,\tau) = H(\tau)$$
(6)

$$W(z,0) = 0.$$
 (7)

The direct problem of heat conduction is to determine the function of (5)–(7) at known thermophysical characteristics $\bar{c}(z)$, $\bar{k}(z)$.

In the inverse problem, it is required from (5)-(7) to determine one of the thermophysical characteristics of the functionally graded layer of the cylinder.

As additional information, is the temperature, measured on the outer surface of the cylinder z = 1 on the informative time interval $[b_1, b_2]$:

$$W(1, \tau) = f(\tau), \quad \tau \in [b_1, b_2].$$
 (8)

We have two settings of the CIP of heat conduction in dimensionless form:

- 1. from (5)–(7) according to information (8) to find $\bar{c}_1(z)$ under the known law $\bar{k}_1(z)$;
- 2. from (5)–(7) according to information (8) to find $\bar{k}_1(z)$ under the known law $\bar{c}_1(z)$.

3 The Solution of the Direct Problem of Heat Conduction

The solution of the inverse problem depends on the accuracy of the solution of the direct problem. In the case of arbitrary laws of heterogeneity, sufficient accuracy is provided by approximate analytical methods, for example, the Galerkin's projection method [16, 17].

To do this, we apply to (5), (6) the Laplace transform and, taking into account the initial condition (7), we obtain:

$$\frac{1}{z+z_0}\frac{d}{dz}(\bar{k}(z)(z+z_0)\frac{d\tilde{W}}{dz}) = p\bar{c}(z)\tilde{W}(z,p),\tag{9}$$

$$\tilde{W}(0, p) = 0, \quad -\bar{k}(1)\frac{d\tilde{W}}{dz}(1, p) = \frac{1}{p}.$$
 (10)

Here it is indicated: p is the Laplace transform parameter, $\tilde{W}(z, p)$ is the transformant of dimensionless temperature.

In accordance with the Galerkin's method, we present an approximate solution (9), (10) in the form of an expansion in a system of basis functions [16]:

$$\tilde{W}_N(z, p) = \phi_0(z, p) + \sum_{i=1}^N \tilde{a}_i(p)\phi_i(z).$$
(11)

Here $\phi_0(z, p) = -\frac{z}{p}$, is a function, satisfying inhomogeneous boundary conditions (10), $\phi_i(z) = \sin \frac{(2i-1)\pi z}{2}$ are the orthogonal functions satisfying homogeneous boundary conditions.

Requiring orthogonality of the residual

 $\varepsilon_N = \frac{1}{z+z_0} \frac{d}{dz} (\bar{k}(z)(z+z_0) \frac{d\tilde{W}_N}{dz}) - p\bar{c}(z)\tilde{W}_N(z, p)$ to the basis functions ϕ_i , we obtain a system of algebraic equations with respect to $\tilde{a}_i(p)$:

$$\sum_{j=1}^{n} G_{ji} \tilde{a}_{i}(p) = D_{j},$$
(12)

where $G_{ji} = \int_{0}^{1} \frac{1}{z+z_0} \bar{k}(z) \frac{d\phi_i}{dz} \phi_j dz - \int_{0}^{1} \bar{k}(z) \frac{d\phi_i}{dz} \frac{d\phi_j}{dz} dz - p \int_{0}^{1} \bar{c}(z) \phi_i \phi_j dz + \bar{k}(1) \phi_j(1) \frac{d\phi_i}{dz}(1), \quad D_j = \int_{0}^{1} \frac{1}{z+z_0} \bar{k}(z) \frac{d\phi_0}{dz} \phi_j dz - \int_{0}^{1} \bar{k}(z) \frac{d\phi_0}{dz} \frac{d\phi_j}{dz} dz - p \int_{0}^{1} \bar{c}(z) \phi_0 \phi_j dz + \bar{k}(1) \phi_j(1) \frac{d\phi_0}{dz}(1).$

Since $\bar{k}(z)$ and $\bar{c}(z)$ are piecewise continuous functions, in the work the integration interval [0, 1] was divided into sections, corresponding to the individual layers of the cylinder.

After solving system (12), we compose an expression for the temperature transform on the outer surface of the cylinder:

$$\tilde{W}_N(1, p) = \phi_0(1, p) + \sum_{i=1}^N \tilde{a}_i(p)\phi_i(1).$$
(13)

To find the originals of the functions by their transformants, we need to apply the inverse Laplace transform, i.e. calculate the contour Riemann-Mellin's integral by the formula:

$$F(\tau) = \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{a-i\infty}^{a+i\infty} \tilde{F}(p) e^{p\tau} dp,$$
(14)

where the integral is taken along the line p = a > 0. In the case when the integral (14) is an integral of a meromorphic function, it can be transformed using the residue theory, which allows us to obtain an expression for the original by expanding it into series in exponential functions:

$$F(\tau) = \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} res(\tilde{F}(p_j)e^{p_j\tau}), \quad \tau > 0.$$
(15)

Calculations in the Maple showed that function (14) is a fractional-rational function of p and does not have other singular points but real negative poles. Residue theory was used to find the originals of temperature.

The proposed method for solving problem (5)–(8) was tested on the example of a two-layer cylinder with characteristics $\bar{c_1} = 0.5$ ($0 \le z \le 0.5$), $\bar{c_2} = 1$ ($0.5 < z \le 1$), $\bar{k_1} = 0.25$ ($0 \le z \le 0.5$), $\bar{k_2} = 1$ ($0.5 < z \le -1$). It was found that if in the Galerkin's method we restrict ourselves to three coordinate functions N = 3, then the greatest error arises at short times $\tau \in [0, 0.09]$. At the same time $\tau > 0.09$, the error of the Galerkin's method does not exceed 2%. Figure 1 shows a graph of the change in dimensionless temperature from time on the outer surface of the cylinder, obtained analytically (solid line) and by the Galerkin's method at N = 3 (points).

4 The Solution of the Inverse Heat Conduction Problem Based on an Iterative Approach

The inverse problem (5)–(8) is a nonlinear problem. To solve this problem, two approaches are proposed: (1) the iterative process previously developed in [16]; (2) the method of algebraization.



Fig. 1 Temperature change on the outer surface of the cylinder over time

Let us consider in detail the construction of the iterative process of identification of thermophysical characteristics.

The dimensionless thermophysical characteristics of the functionally graded layer of the cylinder $\bar{a}(z)$ ($\bar{c}_1(z)$, $\bar{k}_1(z)$) were restored in two stages.

At the first stage, the initial approximation in the class of positive bounded linear functions $\bar{a}^{(0)}(z) = a_1 z + a_2$ was determined on the basis of minimizing the residual functional, which has the form:

$$J = \int_{b_1}^{b_2} (f(\tau) - W^{(n-1)}(1,\tau))^2 d\tau,$$
(16)

At the second stage, based on the solution of operator equations of the 1st kind, the corrections of the reconstructed functions $\delta \bar{a}^{(n-1)}$ were found, and the iterative process of their refinement was constructed according to the scheme: $\bar{a}^{(n)}(z) = \bar{a}^{(n-1)}(z) + \delta \bar{a}^{(n-1)}(z)$.

The operator equations for finding corrections have the form of Fredholm integral equations of the 1st kind [16]:

$$\int_{0}^{1} \delta \bar{k}^{(n-1)} R_{1}(z,\tau) dz = f(\tau) - W^{(n-1)}(1,\tau), \quad \tau \in [b_{1}, b_{2}],$$
(17)

$$\int_{0}^{1} \delta \bar{c}^{(n-1)} R_2(z,\tau) dz = f(\tau) - W^{(n-1)}(1,\tau), \quad \tau \in [b_1, b_2].$$
(18)

Here, the kernels of integral equations (17), (18) have the form:

$$R_{1}(z,\tau) = \int_{0}^{t} \frac{\partial^{2} W^{(n-1)}(z,\tau_{1})}{\partial z \partial \tau_{1}} (\frac{\partial W^{(n-1)}(z,\tau_{1}-\tau)}{\partial z} - \frac{W^{(n-1)}(z,\tau_{1}-\tau)}{z+z_{0}}) d\tau_{1},$$

$$R_{2}(z,\tau) = \int_{0}^{\tau} \frac{\partial W^{(n-1)}(z,\tau_{1})}{\partial \tau_{1}} \frac{\partial W^{(n-1)}(z,\tau_{1}-\tau)}{\partial \tau_{1}} d\tau_{1}.$$

The solution of integral equations (17), (18) is an ill-posed problem; for its regularization, the Tikhonov's method was used [20].

The exit from the iterative process was carried out when the residual functional (16) reached a threshold value equal to 10^{-6} .

5 The Solution of the Inverse Problem by the Algebraization Method

The application of the method of algebraization will be considered in detail on the example of finding the law of change of specific heat capacity $\bar{c}_1(z)$.

We will seek an approximate solution of the CIP in the form of an expansion:

$$\bar{c}_1(z) = \sum_{j=1}^m g_j \psi_j(z), \quad \psi_i(z) = z^{j-1}, \quad j = 1..m.$$
 (19)

We substitute (19) in the formulas for the coefficients of the system of equations (12) and solve it analytically in the Maple. Further, by the formula (13) we find the expression for the transform of temperature on the outer surface of the cylinder, which has the form:

$$\tilde{W}_N(1, p, g_1, g_2, \dots, g_m) = \frac{A_N(p, g_1, g_2, \dots, g_m)}{B_N(p, g_1, g_2, \dots, g_m)}.$$
(20)

The temperature on the outer surface of the cylinder monotonically increases from zero and eventually reaches a certain limiting value. Therefore, we can approximate additional information (8), measured at time instants $\tau_i = \tau_1 + (i - \tau_1)$ 1) $\Delta \tau$, i = 1..2m + 1, on a time interval $[b_1, b_2]$, in the form of a linear combination of exponential functions:

$$f(\tau) \approx s_0 + s_1 e^{p_1 \tau} + s_2 e^{p_2 \tau} + \dots + s_m e^{p_m \tau},$$
 (21)

where $p_1, p_2, \ldots, p_m, s_1, s_2, \ldots, s_m$ are negative numbers, s_0 is a positive number.

We find the indices of exponents $p_1, p_2, ..., p_m$ in the expansion (21) by the method of Prony [21]. We introduce the quantities $v_i = f(\tau_i) - f(\tau_{i+1})$. Then the indices of exponents $p_1, p_2, ..., p_m$ can be found by the formula:

$$p_j = \frac{1}{\Delta \tau} \ln u_j, \quad j = 1..m, \tag{22}$$

where u_i are the roots of the characteristic equation

$$\alpha_m z^m + \ldots + \alpha_2 z^2 + \alpha_1 z + 1 = 0.$$
 (23)

To find the coefficients α_j , j = 1..m of the characteristic polynomial (23), it is necessary to solve the system of recursive difference equations. So, for example, when m = 3 this system has the form:

$$v_{1} + \alpha_{1}v_{2} + \alpha_{2}v_{3} + \alpha_{3}v_{4} = 0,$$

$$v_{2} + \alpha_{1}v_{3} + \alpha_{2}v_{4} + \alpha_{3}v_{5} = 0,$$

$$v_{3} + \alpha_{1}v_{4} + \alpha_{2}v_{5} + \alpha_{3}v_{6} = 0.$$
 (24)

The numerical values of the parameter p will be the poles of function (20) if they vanish the expression $B_N(p, g_1, g_2, \ldots, g_m)$. Therefore, to find the coefficients of decomposition g_j , j = 1..m, we assume $B_N(p, g_1, g_2, \ldots, g_m) = 0$, and as the values of the parameter p, we use the approximate values of the m first indices of the exponents found by the formula (22). As a result of the substitutions we obtain a system of m nonlinear algebraic equations, the solution of which are m sets of numbers (g_1, g_2, \ldots, g_m) . Further, for each set of numbers (g_1, g_2, \ldots, g_m) , according to formula (19), the function $\bar{c}_1(z)$ was determined. As the first criterion for the selection of a suitable set (g_1, g_2, \ldots, g_m) , we introduce the boundedness of the specific heat capacity of the functionally graded part $0 < c_- < \bar{c}_1(z) < c_+$. From further consideration, we remove those sets of numbers (g_1, g_2, \ldots, g_m) that do not satisfy this criterion. The minimum value of the residual functional (16) acts as the second criterion for skipping a suitable set (g_1, g_2, \ldots, g_m) .

Similarly, based on the algebraization method, the thermal conductivity coefficient $\bar{k}_1(z)$ was determined.

Comment By the formula (22), no more than three indices of exponents can be stably determined, therefore, the algebraization method is limited by the possibility of reconstruction in the form of linear and quadratic functions. In addition, stable

solutions to the inverse problem are obtained if no more than three coordinate functions are used to solve the direct problem by the Galerkin's method. However, in this case, due to the large calculation error at small times, it is necessary to measure additional information at $\tau > 0.09$.

6 Results of Computational Experiments

Computational experiments to reconstruction the thermophysical characteristics of the functionally graded layer of the cylinder are carried out. Only one of the thermophysical characteristics was restored. The second characteristic was assumed to be known, having the same law of heterogeneity as the first. Calculations were made at $z_0 = 1$.

In the first series of experiments, the first approach was used to reconstruction the thermophysical characteristics. The success of the reconstruction depended strongly on the choice of the time interval for the measure of additional information. The most informative is the interval taken in the time zone near the beginning of observation, when the temperature changes most rapidly. It is found that the temperature measurement on the outer surface of the cylinder is most informative in the interval $[b_1, b_2] = [0, 0.8]$. When solving the inverse problem on the basis of the iterative approach, the corrections of the reconstructed coefficients are found from the solution of Fredholm integral equations of the 1st kind, the discretization of which yields a poorly conditioned system of linear algebraic equations. It is enough to know additional information on an informative time interval of 5-8 points in time, since the Tikhonov's method is used to regularize the system of equations [20]. The Tikhonov's method allows solving both underdetermined and overdetermined systems of equations. If we take a large number of points in time, then the volume of calculations increases, but the accuracy of the solution practically does not increase. To satisfy the exit condition, no more than 8 iterations were required. The maximum error in the restoration of monotonic functions did not exceed 4%, and nonmonotonic -7%.

In the second series of experiments, a second approach was used to reconstruct the thermophysical characteristics. The reconstruction took place in the class of quadratic functions (m = 3). Additional information was measured in points $\tau_i =$ 0.1i, i = 1..7. The maximum error of identification of monotonic functions did not exceed 5%, and nonmonotonic -14%.

Figures 2, 3, and 4 show the result of reconstruction of thermophysical characteristics at $z \in [0, 0.5]$. In this case, the solid line shows the exact law, the dots are restored on the basis of the first approach, the dash-dotted lines are restored on the basis of the second approach.

Figure 2 shows the result of reconstruction of an increasing function $\bar{c}_1(z) = 1.2 + 0.8z^2$. In the case of applying the first approach, the maximum error in the recovery of specific heat capacity (6%) arose in the vicinity of z = 0, which is due to the features of the kernel of the integral equation (18). In the case of the second



Fig. 2 Result of reconstruction of increasing function $\bar{c}_1(z) = 1.2 + 0.8z^2$

approach, the error of reconstruction did not exceed 4%. Moreover, in comparison with the first approach, the largest error of reconstruction did not occur in the neighborhood of z = 0.

Figure 3 shows the result of restoring the decreasing function $\bar{k}_1(z) = 0.6 + e^{-z}$. From Fig. 3 it is seen that in the case of restoration of the coefficient of thermal conductivity as a monotone function, the errors of reconstruction for the first and second approaches differ slightly and do not exceed 4%.

Figure 4 shows the result of reconstruction of a nonmonotonic function $k_1(z) = 1 + \sin(2\pi z)$. From Fig. 4 it is seen that the errors of reconstruction of the thermal conductivity as a nonmonotonic function are very different. In the case of applying the first approach, the maximum error of recovery did not exceed 3%. In the case of the second approach, the reconstruction error increased to 13%. For a more successful reconstruction in the case of the second approach, it is necessary to take a larger number of coordinate functions, for example, m = 4. However, this is not always possible due to the instability of determining the indices of exponents by the Prony method.

Using the functions $k_1(z) = 0.6 + e^z$ as an example, we studied the effect of the thickness of the functionally graded layer of the cylinder on the results of reconstruction. It was found that when using both methods of solving CIP, the



Fig. 3 The result of the reconstruction of a decreasing function $\bar{k}_1(z) = 0.6 + e^{-z}$

reconstruction error increases with decreasing thickness of the functionally graded layer. So, for $H_1 = 0.5$, the reconstruction error when using both approaches does not exceed 4%, however, for $H_1 = 0.1$ it increases to 15%, and for $H_1 < 0.03$ reconstruction becomes impossible. This is due to the fact that the solution of the inverse problem strongly depends on the sensitivity of the input information. With a decrease in the layer thickness, where the functions change most strongly with respect to the total thickness, the sensitivity of the input information decreases and, as a result, the reconstruction results deteriorate.

Using the reconstruction of the function $k_1(z) = 0.6 + e^{-z}$ for $H_1 = 0.5$ as an example, we discussed the influence of noise of the input information on accuracy of reconstruction.

The noise of input information was modelled using the ratio:

$$f_{\beta}(\tau) = f(\tau)(1 + \beta\gamma), \qquad (25)$$

where β is the noise value, γ is the random variable with a uniform distribution law on the segment [-1, 1].



Fig. 4 The result of the reconstruction of nonmonotonic function $\bar{k}_1(z) = 1 + \sin(2\pi z)$

In the presence of noise, the error of reconstruction increased with growth β , and at 2% noise modelling the measurement error, it reached 7% in the case of the first approach, and 23% in the case of the second approach. Therefore, in comparison with the second approach, the reconstruction procedure based on the first approach was much more resistant to noise of input information.

7 Conclusions

The coefficient inverse heat conduction problem for a two-layer cylinder with a functionally graded layer is studied. The direct problem of thermal conductivity is solved on the basis of the Galerkin projection method and residue theory. To solve the inverse problem, two approaches are used. The first approach is the development of the previously developed iterative approach, at each step of which the Fredholm integral equations of the 1st kind are solved. The second approach is based on the algebraization of the direct problem.

It was found that the iterative approach provides high accuracy in the case of the reconstruction of both monotonic and nonmonotonic functions. The method of algebraization allows identification with high accuracy only for monotonic functions, but with much less machine time than the iterative approach. For nonmonotonic functions, the solution obtained by the algebraization method can serve as an initial approximation in the iterative process. Using the iterative approach, the maximum error in the reconstruction of specific heat occurred in the vicinity of z = 0, which is associated with the features of the kernel of the integral equation. The algebraization method is deprived of this drawback. However, the reconstruction procedure using the algebraization method turned out to be more sensitive to the noise of input information than using the iterative approach. It was found that with a decrease in the thickness of the functional gradient layer when using both approaches, the error in the reconstruction of thermophysical characteristics increases.

Acknowledgement This work was supported by the South Mathematical Institute VSC of RAS, Vladikavkaz.

References

- Wetherhold, R.C., Seelman, S., Wang, J.: The use of functionally graded materials to eliminated or control thermal deformation. Compos. Sci. Technol. 56, 1099–1104 (1996)
- Chen, W.L., Chou, H.M., Yang, Y.C.: An inverse problem in estimating the space dependent thermal conductivity of a functionally graded hollow cylinder. Composites Part B 50, 112–119 (2013)
- Kabanikhin, S.I., Hasanov, A., Penenko, A.V.: A gradient descent method for solving an inverse coefficient heat conduction problem. Numer. Anal. Appl. 1, 34–45 (2008)
- 4. Alifanov, O.M.: Inverse Heat Transfer Problem, p. 345. Springer, New York (1994)
- 5. Osizik, M.N, Orlande, H.R.B.: Inverse Heat Transfer: Fundamentals and Applications, p. 314. Tailor and Fransis, New York (2000)
- 6. Hao, D.: Methods for Inverse Heat Conduction Problems, p. 249. Peter Lang Pub. Inc., Frankfutr/Main (1998)
- 7. Isakov, V., Bindermann, S.: Identification of the diffusion coefficient in a one dimensional parabolic equation. Inverse Prob. 6, 665–680 (2000)
- 8. Lukasievicz, S.A., Babaei, R., Qian, R.E.: Detection of material properties in a layered body by means of thermal effect. J. Therm. Stresses **26**(1), 13–23 (2003)
- Lesnic, D., Elliot, L., Ingham, D.B., Clennell, B., Knioe, R.J.: The identification of the piecewise homogeneous thermal conductivity of conductors subjected to a heat flow test. Int. J. Heat Mass Transfer 42, 143–152 (1999)
- Haber, E., Ascher, U.M., Oldenburg, D.: On optimization techniques for solving nonlinear inverse problems. Inverse Prob. 16(5), 1263–1280 (2000)
- 11. Divo, E., Kassab, A., Rodriguez, F.: Characterization of space dependent thermal conductivity with a BEM-based genetic algorithm. Numer. Heat Transfer. A **37**, 845–875 (2000)
- Xu, M.H., Cheng, J.C., Chang, S.Y.: Reconstruction theory of the thermal conductivity depth profiles by the modulated photo reflectance technique. J. Appl. Phys. 84(2), 675–682 (2004)
- 13. Kravaris, C., Seinfeld, J.H.: Identification of spatially varying parameters in distributed parameters systems by discrete regularization. J. Math. Anal. Appl. **119**, 128–152 (1986)
- Danilaev, P.G.: Coefficient Inverse Problems for Parabolic Type Equations and Their Applications, p. 115. VSP, Utrecht (2001)

- Yeeng, W.K., Lam, T.T.: Second-order finite difference approximation for inverse determination of thermal conductivity. Int. J. Heat Mass Transfer 39(6), 3685–3693 (1996)
- Nedin, R., Nesterov, S., Vatulyan, A.: On reconstruction of thermalphysic characteristics of functionally graded hollow cylinder. Appl. Math. Model. 40(4), 2711–2719 (2016)
- Nedin, R., Nesterov, S., Vatulyan, A.: Identification of thermal conductivity coefficient and volumetric heat capacity of functionally graded materials. Int. J. Heat Mass Transfer 102, 213– 218 (2016)
- Vatul'yan, A.O., Nesterov, S.A.: A method of identifying thermoelastic characteristics for inhomogeneous bodies. J. Eng. Phys. Thermophys. 87(1), 225–232 (2014)
- Nedin, R., Nesterov, S., Vatulyan, A.: On an inverse problem for inhomogeneous thermoelastic rod. Int. J. Solids Struct. 51(3), 767–773 (2014)
- 20. Tikhonov, A.N., Arsenin, E.A.: Solution of Ill-Posed Problems, p. 259. Winston & Sons, Washington (1977)
- 21. Marple, S.L.: Digital Spectral Analysis with Applications, p. 584. Mir, Moscow (1990, in Russian)

A Study of the Waves Processes in Inhomogeneous Cylindrical Waveguides



A. O. Vatulyan and V. Yurov

Abstract A number of problems on oscillations of a cylindrical waveguide, inhomogeneous in radial direction, in the absence and presence of annular delamination are investigated. A canonical system of the first-order differential equations with respect to the four functions is formulated. In the absence of the defect, a technique for calculating fields based on a combination of the Fourier integral transform and the analysis of the auxiliary Cauchy problems is presented. For a waveguide in the presence of the annular delamination, a scheme for constructing a system of integral equations with difference kernels with respect to the jumps of displacement vector components is presented by means of the analysis of a number of other auxiliary Cauchy problems. The structure of hypersingular kernels is studied, and an approach to solving the system of integral equations based on the boundary element method is proposed. The solution is analyzed depending on the number of elements used. The inverse problem on reconstructing the inhomogeneity laws for piecewise gradient functions is solved.

Keywords Cylindrical waveguide \cdot Inhomogeneity \cdot Delamination \cdot Inverse problem \cdot Fourier integral transform \cdot System of integral equations \cdot Boundary element method

MSC 74B05: Classical linear elasticity

A. O. Vatulyan

Southern Mathematical Institute of the Vladikavkaz Scientific Centre of the RAS, Vladikavkaz, Russia

Southern Federal University, Rostov-on-Don, Russia e-mail: vatulyan@math.rsu.ru

V. Yurov (⊠) Southern Federal University, Rostov-on-Don, Russia

[©] The Editor(s) (if applicable) and The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

A. G. Kusraev, Z. D. Totieva (eds.), *Operator Theory and Differential Equations*, Trends in Mathematics, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-49763-7_21

1 Introduction

Cylindrical structures that are non-uniform in the radial direction have been increasingly used in modelling of real objects (e.g., pipelines, vessels, etc.). In order to describe wave propagation in such structures at high frequencies in a proper way, one needs models taking into account laws of variation of elastic modules inside a body, as far as calculations for structures with averaged characteristics do not often provide correct information. In addition, determination of variation laws for inhomogeneity functions based on the wave fields that are measured at the boundary is a problem of certain importance.

Mathematical aspects of wave propagation in inhomogeneous waveguides require the study of the operator sheaf with two spectral parameters. For homogeneous cylindrical waveguides, dispersion relations are constructed in an analytical form through cylindrical functions and were studied in sufficient detail. One may only an asymptotic or numerical analysis for operators with variable properties. In [1], the authors present a brief review of dispersion characteristics of normal modes in an elastic slab and a cylinder. For 125-year history the key topics of the problem and its modern reflection in the global information space are elucidated. The problem on a thick radially inhomogeneous cylinder is solved in [2]. In [3], the oscillations of a cylinder which is inhomogeneous in the circumferential and radial directions are studied. A numerical method for calculating wave propagation in an infinite laminated cylinder is presented in [4]. In [5], the authors describe an approach to the analysis of forced oscillations of an inhomogeneous waveguide. The waveguide inhomogeneity is associated both with the variability of the elastic moduli and with the presence of variable fields of residual stresses of different structures. The results of these studies indicate that in the low-frequency region, where only one mode propagates (close to the rod's one), the velocities and wave fields are determined only by the average values of the elastic moduli in the cross section.

In problems associated with modelling of waves in bodies containing cracks, two approaches are most often used. The first one is historically related to the reduction of mixed problem to a system of integral equations for displacement jumps (usually with hypersingular kernels) and construction of their solutions either the systems of the second kind Fredholm integral equations with subsequent discretization, or using the direct boundary element method [6]. The second approach, which has been actively used in recent years, is based on the conjugation of analytical solutions for an infinite waveguide and finite element methods to study the vibrations of finite regions containing a defect [7, 8]; note that within such an approach, semi-infinite parts of the waveguide are usually assumed to be homogeneous. The advantages of this approach include the significant arbitrariness of the inhomogeneity and geometry of the finite part, however, the emerging problems of interfacing with analytical solutions can introduce a significant error into the solution.

An important aspect of the problems of inhomogeneous bodies oscillation is inverse identification of the inhomogeneity laws. The works [9, 10] present a study of finite-dimensional inverse problems by means of parametrizing the desired laws of inhomogeneity by a finite number of parameters, based on the use of the popular technique for minimizing the residual functional. An approach to identifying coefficients for elliptic boundary value problems is described, in particular when identifying variable Lame coefficients, the minimization problem is studied in a Banach space, and some stability estimates are given. For numerical research, finite element discretization in combination with regularizing approaches was used. The ability to evaluate rapidly changing or even discontinuous coefficients is demonstrated. The proposed method allows to determine efficiently the Lame parameters in a linear isotropic elastic body.

A plenty of inverse problems were solved by minimizing the residual functional, including those that determined constant characteristics [11, 12], where the elastic modules of an orthotropic composite were determined from additional data on the displacement field of the surface.

The work consists of three parts. The first part is devoted to the study of wave fields of inhomogeneous waveguide with annular cross-section in the case of an arbitrary law of moduli change. In the second part, wave fields at the boundary in the presence of annular delamination in a bounded region are studied, the system of integral equations for displacement jumps and its approximate solution are presented. The third part is concerned with simple inverse problems of inhomogeneity laws identification.

2 Problem for Inhomogeneous Waveguide

Let us consider waves in a cylindrical waveguide with annular cross section $a \le r \le b$, inhomogeneous in radial direction. The internal boundary of the waveguide is free from stresses; on the external boundary of the waveguide r = b, there is a concentrated normal load $\mu_0 \delta(z) \exp(-i\omega t)$ periodic in time with the frequency ω . We consider the steady-state mode of oscillations in the axisymmetric case, assuming that the components of the physical fields do not depend on ϕ .

Let us introduce the following ratios of dimensional and dimensionless parameters and functions: $u_r = bX_1$, $u_z = ibX_2$ are displacement vector components, $\sigma_r = \mu_0 X_3$, $\sigma_{rz} = i\mu_0 X_4$ are components of the Cauchy stress vector, $\lambda = \mu_0 g_1$, $\mu = \mu_0 g_2$ are the Lame parameters that depend on the radial coordinate, $g_1 + 2g_2 = G$ is auxiliary value, $\kappa = \sqrt{\rho_0 \omega^2 b^2 / \mu_0}$ is dimensionless frequency parameter, μ_0 , ρ_0 are characteristic values of shear modulus and density.

Now let us apply the Fourier integral transform along the axial coordinate to the boundary value problem describing steady-state oscillations, entering dimensionless coordinates r = xb, z = yb.

$$\tilde{X}_n(x,\alpha) = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} X_n(x,y) \exp(i\alpha y) \, dy, \quad n = 1..4$$
(1)

Then with respect to the transforms we have an operator sheaf with two spectral parameters (κ , α) of the following form

$$\tilde{\mathbf{X}}' = \left(\mathbf{A}_0 - \kappa^2 \mathbf{A}_{01} - \alpha \mathbf{A}_1 + \alpha^2 \mathbf{A}_2\right) \tilde{\mathbf{X}}, \text{ where } \tilde{\mathbf{X}} = \left(\tilde{X}_1, \tilde{X}_2, \tilde{X}_3, \tilde{X}_4\right)$$
(2)

where the sheaf matrices have the following nonzero components

$$\mathbf{A}_{0}: a_{11}^{0} = \frac{-g_{1}}{xG}, a_{13}^{0} = \frac{1}{G} a_{24}^{0} = \frac{1}{g_{2}}, a_{31}^{0} = \frac{G}{x^{2}} - \frac{g_{1}^{2}}{x^{2}G}, a_{33}^{0} = -\frac{2g_{2}}{xG}, a_{44}^{0} = -\frac{1}{x}.$$

$$\mathbf{A}_{01}: a_{31}^{01} = a_{42}^{01} = 1.$$

$$\mathbf{A}_{1}: a_{12}^{1} = \frac{g_{1}}{G}, a_{21}^{1} = -\frac{g_{2}}{g_{2}}, a_{32}^{1} = -\frac{2g_{1}g_{2}}{xG}, a_{34}^{1} = 1, a_{41}^{1} = -\frac{2g_{1}g_{2}}{xG}, a_{43}^{1} = -\frac{g_{1}}{G}.$$

$$\mathbf{A}_{2}: a_{42}^{2} = G - \frac{g_{1}^{2}}{G}.$$

The boundary conditions will have the form

$$\tilde{X}_{k}(\xi_{0}) = 0, \quad \tilde{X}_{k}(1) = -\delta_{3k}$$
(3)

where $\xi_0 = a/b, k = 3, 4$.

The problem (2)–(3) has a solution for any (κ, α) , except for the points of the dispersion set, and can be solved by the shooting method. Note that construction of analytical solution in the general case is impossible due to significant variability of the matrix components **A**₀, **A**₁, **A**₂. In Fig. 1, the first 4 branches of the real part of the dispersion set are shown for two sets of parameters:

$$1: g_{1} = \begin{cases} 1.4155, \ x < \xi_{1} \\ 0.44, \ x \ge \xi_{1} \end{cases}, g_{2} = \begin{cases} 1, \ x < \xi_{1} \\ 0.44, \ x \ge \xi_{1} \end{cases}, \xi_{1} = 0.95;$$
$$2: g_{1} = \begin{cases} 1.4155, \ x < \xi_{1} \\ 1.4155 - 0.9755 (x - \xi_{1}) (1 - \xi_{1})^{-1}, \ x \ge \xi_{1} \end{cases},$$
$$g_{2} = \begin{cases} 1, \ x < \xi_{1} \\ 1 - 0.56 (x - \xi_{1}) (1 - \xi_{1})^{-1}, \ x \ge \xi_{1} \end{cases}, \xi_{1} = 0.9.\end{cases}$$



Fig. 1 Dispersion curves for different laws of inhomogeneity

Note that the inhomogeneity laws are chosen in such a way that their averaged values in cross-section coincide; dispersion curves show a weak sensibility to the inhomogeneity law in the low-frequency range and rather strong sensibility in the high-frequency range.

To study wave fields, it only remains to find the inverse Fourier transform by the formula

$$X_j(x, y) = \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{\Gamma} \tilde{X}_j(x, \alpha) \exp\left(-i\alpha y\right) d\alpha, \quad j = 1, 2, 3, 4$$
(4)

where the integration is carried out along the contour Γ , which coincides with the real axis everywhere except for the real poles of the transform and envelopes them in accordance with the limit absorption principle; in the normal dispersion case (positive group velocity $\frac{\partial \kappa}{\partial \alpha} > 0$), positive poles are enveloped below, and the negative ones from above; in the abnormal dispersion case $\frac{\partial \kappa}{\partial \alpha} < 0$, the poles are enveloped in the opposite way.

We calculate the inverse Fourier integral transform for all the components of the wave field assuming y > 0. The integrands $\tilde{X}_j(x, \alpha)$ are meromorphic, possessing singularities of the real and complex poles type, which are determined by the dispersion equation, and can be found numerically with the aid of the scheme described above. We also note that with the growth of α , the solution of the boundary value problem (2)–(3) begins to possess a boundary layer structure, and the error of the solution found by the Runge-Kutta method grows.

To find the originals (4), let us consider the following contour integral

$$\frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{L} \tilde{X}_{j}(x,\alpha) \exp(-i\alpha y) d\alpha =$$

$$= \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{L_{0}} \tilde{X}_{j}(x,\alpha) \exp(-i\alpha y) d\alpha + \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{L_{R}} \tilde{X}_{j}(x,\alpha) \exp(-i\alpha y) d\alpha$$
(5)

Here, *L* is a closed contour in the complex plane of the parameter α consisting of two parts $L = L_0 \cup L_R$, where L_0 is the arc of the semicircle Im $\alpha \le 0$ with the radius *R* and the centre at $\alpha = 0$, L_R is a part of the contour Γ , which is placed inside a circle of the radius *R*.

Applying the theory of residues, on the boundary x = 1 of the waveguide we obtain

$$\frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{L} \tilde{X}_{j}(1,\alpha) \exp\left(-i\alpha y\right) d\alpha = -i \sum_{n=1}^{m} \operatorname{Res}\left(\tilde{X}_{j}(1,\alpha_{n}) \exp\left(-i\alpha_{n} y\right)\right),$$

$$j = 1, 2, 3, 4,$$
(6)

where α_n are poles of the first order inside the contour *L*, and *m* is their number.

In accordance with the Jordan lemma, as $R \to \infty$, the integral along the contour L_0 tends to zero, the integral in L_R tends to the integral (4) on the contour Γ , $m \to \infty$. Thus, in accordance with (6), in the regular case it is necessary to sum the residues over all negative real poles and over all complex poles with negative imaginary part.

$$\tilde{X}_{1}^{(1)}(\xi_{0}) = 1, \ \tilde{X}_{2}^{(1)}(\xi_{0}) = 0, \ \tilde{X}_{3}^{(1)}(\xi_{0}) = \tilde{X}_{4}^{(1)}(\xi_{0}) = 0$$
(7)

$$\tilde{X}_{1}^{(2)}(\xi_{0}) = 0, \, \tilde{X}_{2}^{(2)}(\xi_{0}) = 1, \, \, \tilde{X}_{3}^{(2)}(\xi_{0}) = \tilde{X}_{4}^{(2)}(\xi_{0}) = 0$$
(8)

To find the residue at the pole α_n we use the following scheme. While searching for the solution of the problem by the shooting method in the form $\tilde{\mathbf{X}} = c_1 \tilde{\mathbf{X}}^{(1)} + c_2 \tilde{\mathbf{X}}^{(2)}$ where $\tilde{\mathbf{X}}^{(1)}$, $\tilde{\mathbf{X}}^{(2)}$ are solutions (2)–(7) and (2)–(8), and satisfying the boundary conditions for x = 1, we obtain

$$\mathbf{B}(1,\alpha)\mathbf{C}(\alpha) = \mathbf{F}$$
(9)

where **B** (1, α) = $\begin{pmatrix} \tilde{X}_{3}^{(1)}(1, \alpha) & \tilde{X}_{3}^{(2)}(1, \alpha) \\ \tilde{X}_{4}^{(1)}(1, \alpha) & \tilde{X}_{4}^{(2)}(1, \alpha) \end{pmatrix}$, **C** (α) = $\begin{pmatrix} c_{1}(\alpha) \\ c_{2}(\alpha) \end{pmatrix}$, **F** = $\begin{pmatrix} 1 \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}$

Let us decompose the vector function $\mathbf{C}(\alpha)$ and the matrix-valued function $\mathbf{B}(1, \alpha)$ into the Laurent series in the neighborhood of the pole α_n

$$\mathbf{C}(\alpha) = \mathbf{C}_{-1} \frac{1}{\alpha - \alpha_n} + \mathbf{C}_0 + \dots$$

$$\mathbf{B}(1, \alpha) = \mathbf{B}_0(1, \alpha_n) + \mathbf{B}_1(1, \alpha_n)(\alpha - \alpha_n) + \dots, \text{ where } \mathbf{B}_1(1, \alpha_n) = \frac{\partial \mathbf{B}}{\partial \alpha} \Big|_{\substack{\alpha = \alpha_n \\ (10)}}$$

In accordance with the introduced expansions, the solution of the problem (2)–(3) can also be represented as a Laurent series. The coefficient of the Laurent series at $(\alpha - \alpha_n)^{-1}$: $\left[c_{-1}^1 \tilde{X}_j^{(1)}(1, \alpha_n) + c_{-1}^2 \tilde{X}_j^{(2)}(1, \alpha_n)\right]$ defines the residue at the first-order pole and allows one to switch from (6) to the following formula:

$$X_{j}(1, y) = -i \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \left[c_{-1}^{1}(\alpha_{n}) \tilde{X}_{j}^{(1)}(1, \alpha_{n}) + c_{-1}^{2}(\alpha_{n}) \tilde{X}_{j}^{(2)}(1, \alpha_{n}) \right] \exp(-i\alpha_{n} y),$$

$$j = 1, 2, 3, 4$$
(11)

To find the coefficients used in (11), we apply the scheme described in [5].

3 Problem for Inhomogeneous Waveguide with Annular Delamination

Assume that the waveguide under consideration contains annular delamination located on a cylindrical surface $x = \xi_1 \in (\xi_0, 1), y \in [-l_0, l_0]$. The delamination edges do not interact with each other and therefore are free of stresses; hence, the displacements take a jump. The external normal load causing the propagation of waves in the waveguide is applied in the region $x = 1, y \in [l_1, l_2]$, the rest of the external boundary is free of stresses.

We perform the Fourier integral transform along the longitudinal coordinate in regions $S_1 = \{(x, y), \xi_0 \le x \le \xi_1, -\infty < y < \infty\}$, $S_2 = \{(x, y), \xi_1 \le x \le 1, -\infty < y < \infty\}$, provided that the displacement field at the conditional boundary $x = \xi_1$ is known, and each region presents a cylindrical waveguide with an annular cross section. The problem, similar the previous one, is reduced to the vector equation (2). We introduce a number of auxiliary Cauchy problems for the system (2), which differ in initial conditions, allowing to determine the following vectors $\tilde{\mathbf{X}}^{(1)}, \tilde{\mathbf{X}}^{(2)}, \tilde{\mathbf{X}}^{(3)}, \tilde{\mathbf{X}}^{(4)}$.

$$\tilde{X}_{1}^{(1)}(\xi_{0}) = 1, \, \tilde{X}_{2}^{(1)}(\xi_{0}) = 0, \, \tilde{X}_{3}^{(1)}(\xi_{0}) = \tilde{X}_{4}^{(1)}(\xi_{0}) = 0$$
(12)

$$\tilde{X}_{1}^{(2)}(\xi_{0}) = 0, \, \tilde{X}_{2}^{(2)}(\xi_{0}) = 1, \, \tilde{X}_{3}^{(2)}(\xi_{0}) = \tilde{X}_{4}^{(2)}(\xi_{0}) = 0$$
(13)

$$\tilde{X}_{1}^{(3)}(1) = 1, \, \tilde{X}_{2}^{(3)}(1) = 0, \, \tilde{X}_{3}^{(3)}(1) = \tilde{X}_{4}^{(3)}(1) = 0$$
(14)

$$\tilde{X}_{1}^{(4)}(1) = 0, \, \tilde{X}_{2}^{(4)}(1) = 1, \, \tilde{X}_{3}^{(4)}(1) = \tilde{X}_{4}^{(4)}(1) = 0$$
 (15)

The vectors $\tilde{\mathbf{X}}^{(1)}$, $\tilde{\mathbf{X}}^{(2)}$, $\tilde{\mathbf{X}}^{(3)}$, $\tilde{\mathbf{X}}^{(4)}$ are the solutions of Eq. (2) with the conditions (12), (13), (14) and (15), respectively. For their numerical determination, the Runge-Kutta schemes of the 4 order were used.

We find the vectors $\tilde{\mathbf{X}}^{(1)}$, $\tilde{\mathbf{X}}^{(2)}$ in the region $S = S_1 \cup S_2$, compose their linear combination $\tilde{\mathbf{Z}}^{(0)} = q_1 \tilde{\mathbf{X}}^{(1)} + q_2 \tilde{\mathbf{X}}^{(2)}$. Then $\tilde{\mathbf{Z}}^{(0)}$ automatically satisfies the boundary conditions at the boundary $x = \xi_0$. We ensure that the following conditions are met at the border x = 1: $\tilde{Z}_3^{(0)}(1) = 1$, $\tilde{Z}_4^{(0)}(1) = 0$. To do this, we solve the system

$$q_1 \tilde{X}_3^{(1)}(1) + q_2 \tilde{X}_3^{(2)}(1) = 1$$

$$q_1 \tilde{X}_4^{(1)}(1) + q_2 \tilde{X}_4^{(2)}(1) = 0$$
(16)

We compose the following linear combinations $\tilde{\mathbf{Z}}^{(1)} = p_1 \tilde{\mathbf{X}}^{(1)} + p_2 \tilde{\mathbf{X}}^{(2)} + p_3 \tilde{\mathbf{X}}^{(3)} + p_4 \tilde{\mathbf{X}}^{(4)}$, $\tilde{\mathbf{Z}}^{(2)} = d_1 \tilde{\mathbf{X}}^{(1)} + d_2 \tilde{\mathbf{X}}^{(2)} + d_3 \tilde{\mathbf{X}}^{(3)} + d_4 \tilde{\mathbf{X}}^{(4)}$, and assume that $\tilde{\mathbf{X}}^{(1)} = \tilde{\mathbf{X}}^{(2)} \equiv 0$ in S_2/S_1 and $\tilde{\mathbf{X}}^{(3)} = \tilde{\mathbf{X}}^{(4)} \equiv 0$ in S_1/S_2 . Then $\tilde{\mathbf{Z}}^{(1)}$ and $\tilde{\mathbf{Z}}^{(2)}$ satisfy the boundary conditions in the absence of stresses at $x = \xi_0$ and x = 1. We provide a single jump in radial $\tilde{Z}_1^{(1)}$ and longitudinal $\tilde{Z}_2^{(2)}$ displacements at

We provide a single jump in radial $\tilde{Z}_1^{(1)}$ and longitudinal $\tilde{Z}_2^{(2)}$ displacements at the boundary of regions S_1 and S_2 for both solutions $\tilde{\mathbf{Z}}^{(1)}$ and $\tilde{\mathbf{Z}}^{(2)}$, respectively. For

this, we solve the following algebraic systems

$$p_{1}\tilde{X}_{1}^{(1)}(\xi_{1}) + p_{2}\tilde{X}_{1}^{(2)}(\xi_{1}) - p_{3}\tilde{X}_{1}^{(3)}(\xi_{1}) - p_{4}\tilde{X}_{1}^{(4)}(\xi_{1}) = -1$$

$$p_{1}\tilde{X}_{2}^{(1)}(\xi_{1}) + p_{2}\tilde{X}_{2}^{(2)}(\xi_{1}) - p_{3}\tilde{X}_{2}^{(3)}(\xi_{1}) - p_{4}\tilde{X}_{2}^{(4)}(\xi_{1}) = 0$$

$$p_{1}\tilde{X}_{3}^{(1)}(\xi_{1}) + p_{2}\tilde{X}_{3}^{(2)}(\xi_{1}) - p_{3}\tilde{X}_{3}^{(3)}(\xi_{1}) - p_{4}\tilde{X}_{3}^{(4)}(\xi_{1}) = 0$$

$$p_{1}\tilde{X}_{4}^{(1)}(\xi_{1}) + p_{2}\tilde{X}_{4}^{(2)}(\xi_{1}) - p_{3}\tilde{X}_{4}^{(3)}(\xi_{1}) - p_{4}\tilde{X}_{4}^{(4)}(\xi_{1}) = 0$$

$$d_{1}\tilde{X}_{1}^{(1)}(\xi_{1}) + d_{2}\tilde{X}_{1}^{(2)}(\xi_{1}) - d_{3}\tilde{X}_{1}^{(3)}(\xi_{1}) - d_{4}\tilde{X}_{1}^{(4)}(\xi_{1}) = 0$$

$$d_{1}\tilde{X}_{2}^{(1)}(\xi_{1}) + d_{2}\tilde{X}_{2}^{(2)}(\xi_{1}) - d_{3}\tilde{X}_{3}^{(3)}(\xi_{1}) - d_{4}\tilde{X}_{2}^{(4)}(\xi_{1}) = -1$$

$$d_{1}\tilde{X}_{3}^{(1)}(\xi_{1}) + d_{2}\tilde{X}_{4}^{(2)}(\xi_{1}) - d_{3}\tilde{X}_{3}^{(3)}(\xi_{1}) - d_{4}\tilde{X}_{3}^{(4)}(\xi_{1}) = 0$$

$$d_{1}\tilde{X}_{4}^{(1)}(\xi_{1}) + d_{2}\tilde{X}_{4}^{(2)}(\xi_{1}) - d_{3}\tilde{X}_{4}^{(3)}(\xi_{1}) - d_{4}\tilde{X}_{4}^{(4)}(\xi_{1}) = 0$$

$$(18)$$

The linear combinations formed above $\tilde{\mathbf{Z}}^{(0)}(x, \alpha)$, $\tilde{\mathbf{Z}}^{(1)}(x, \alpha)$, $\tilde{\mathbf{Z}}^{(2)}(x, \alpha)$ make it possible to build a solution of the problem in the space of transforms for the waveguide with delamination under the action of an external load of the following form

$$\tilde{\mathbf{Z}}(x,\alpha) = Q(\alpha) \,\tilde{\mathbf{Z}}^{(0)}(x,\alpha) + \tilde{\chi}_1(\alpha) \,\tilde{\mathbf{Z}}^{(1)}(x,\alpha) + \tilde{\chi}_2(\alpha) \,\tilde{\mathbf{Z}}^{(2)}(x,\alpha)$$
(19)

where $Q(\alpha) = \int_{l_1}^{l_2} q(y) e^{i\alpha y} dy$ is the transform of the external normal load, $\tilde{\chi}_1(\alpha)$ and $\tilde{\chi}_2(\alpha)$ are the Fourier transforms from unknown jumps of radial and longitudinal displacements. A simple analysis showed that $\tilde{Z}_3^{(1)}(\alpha)$, $\tilde{Z}_4^{(2)}(\alpha)$ are even by α , $\tilde{Z}_4^{(1)}(\alpha)$, $\tilde{Z}_3^{(2)}(\alpha)$ are odd by α .

Further, to fulfill the conditions of zero stress vector on the delamination edges, it is necessary to find the fields in the actual space, carrying out the Fourier inverse transform

$$\mathbf{Z}(x, y) = \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{\Gamma} Q(\alpha) \, \tilde{\mathbf{Z}}^{(0)}(x, \alpha) \, e^{-i\alpha y} d\alpha + \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{\Gamma} \tilde{\chi}_{1}(\alpha) \, \tilde{\mathbf{Z}}^{(1)}(x, \alpha) \, e^{-i\alpha y} d\alpha + \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{\Gamma} \tilde{\chi}_{2}(\alpha) \, \tilde{\mathbf{Z}}^{(2)}(x, \alpha) \, e^{-i\alpha y} d\alpha$$

$$(20)$$

where
$$\tilde{\chi}_{j}(\alpha) = \int_{-l_{0}}^{l_{0}} \chi_{j}(y) e^{i\alpha y} dy, \quad j = 1, 2$$
 (21)

In accordance with the boundary conditions, the components Z_3 , Z_4 of the solution (20) vanish on the delamination edges. This condition is used further to formulate the operator equations allowing to find the unknown expansion functions $\chi_1(y)$, $\chi_2(y)$.

Taking into account the representation (21), we change the integration order in the second and third terms in (20) and obtain the following system of integral equations for the jumps

$$\int_{-l_0}^{l_0} \chi_j(\eta) \, k_{js}(\eta - y) \, d\eta = f_s(y), s = 3, 4, \, j = 1, 2, \, y \in [-l_0, l_0]$$
(22)

where $f_{s}(y) = -\frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{\Gamma} Q(\alpha) \tilde{Z}_{s}^{(0)}(1, \alpha) e^{-i\alpha y} d\alpha$

We study the components of the introduced vector $k_{js}(t) = \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{\Gamma} \tilde{Z}_{s}^{(j)}(\xi_{1}, \alpha)$ $e^{i\alpha t} d\alpha, j = 1, 2, s = 3, 4$. Due to the fact that $\tilde{Z}_{s}^{(j)}(\xi_{1}, \alpha), j = 1, 2, s = 3, 4$ are non-decreasing functions with the asymptotics $\tilde{Z}_{s}^{(j)}(\xi_{1}, \alpha) = C_{js}^{+} |\alpha| + C_{js}^{-} \alpha + O(1)$ for $\alpha \to \infty$, the integrals in the representation of the kernels are divergent and need to be given a meaning using the theory of generalized functions [13]. By isolating the principal components corresponding to the limiting values of the functions at infinity, it can be shown that the kernels are hypersingular, and the corresponding integrals are understood in the sense of the final Hadamard value [13].

The system of integral equations (22) for finding the expansion functions can be solved by the boundary element method similar to the scheme described in [14]. We divide the integrals over the interval $[-l_0, l_0]$ into the sum of the integrals over the elements $[-l_0, l_0] = \bigcup_{p=1}^{N} \Delta_p$, where $\Delta_p = [-l_0 + (p-1)h, -l_0 + ph]$, $h = 2l_0N^{-1}$; we also introduce the coordinates of the elements ends $\eta_p = -l_0 + (p-1)h$, and the collocation points $y_q = -l_0 + (q-1/2)h$, taking p = 1..N, s = 1..N. We assume that the functions $\chi_1(\xi), \chi_2(\xi)$ are constant on each element and introduce the notation $\chi_j|_{\Delta_p} = \chi_{jp}$. Considering that equations (22) are satisfied in a set of points $\{y_q\}$, we get the following relations

$$\int_{-l_0}^{l_0} \chi_j(\xi) \, k_{js} \left(\eta - y_q \right) d\eta = \sum_{p=1}^N \chi_{jp} \int_{\Delta_p} k_{js} \left(\eta - y_q \right) d\eta = f_s \left(y_q \right)$$
(23)

which can be interpreted as an algebraic system with respect to the nodal values χ_{jp} of the expansion functions

$$\sum_{p=1}^{N} \chi_{jp} H_{pq}^{(js)} = f_{sq}, \, j = 1, 2, s = 3, 4, \, p = 1..N, \, q = 1..2N$$
(24)

where the following notation is introduced for the coefficients of the system

$$H_{pq}^{(js)} = \frac{1}{2\pi} \left(\int_{\Gamma} \frac{\tilde{Z}_{s}^{(j)}(\alpha)}{i\alpha} e^{i\alpha(\eta - y_q)} d\alpha \right) \Big|_{\eta_k}^{\eta_{k+1}} = \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\Gamma} \frac{\tilde{Z}_{s}^{(j)}(\alpha)}{\alpha} E_{pq}(\alpha) d\alpha,$$
$$E_{pq}(\alpha) = \left[e^{i\alpha(\eta_{p+1} - y_q)} - e^{i\alpha(\eta_p - y_q)} \right], j = 1, 2, s = 3, 4.$$

The main difficulty in solving system (24) is to calculate its coefficients. To calculate them, we will single out the main components corresponding to the limit values of the symbols of the kernels at infinity, the remaining components are found numerically based on quadrature formulas. The solution of system (24) allows one to find the nodal values of the disclosure functions and eventually the displacement fields on the surface of the waveguide.

In numerical calculations, the following values of the parameters and variables were selected: $\kappa = 0.5$, $y_0 = 0.3$, $y_1 = -1$, $y_2 = -0.5$, $\xi_0 = 0.75$, $\xi_1 = 0.9$, $g_1 = 1.5g_2 = 1.5\begin{cases} 1, & x < \xi_1 \\ 10, & x \ge \xi_1 \end{cases}$. The selected frequency range corresponds to one propagating wave.

In Fig. 2, the expansion functions are given: the real part of the function $\chi_1(y)$ on the left and the imaginary part $\chi_2(y)$ on the right (N = 600). Under the study of the system solutions with increasing number of elements, numerical calculations showed the presence of internal convergence of the discretization procedure. Computational experiments conducted for different number of elements (N = 30, 60, 90, 270) indicate the convergence of the algorithm at $N \rightarrow \infty$. The results showed that the functions Im $\chi_1(y)$, Re $\chi_2(y)$ represent several orders of



Fig. 2 $\chi_1(y), \chi_2(y)$ for N = 600

magnitude smaller than Re $\chi_1(y)$, Im $\chi_2(y)$, and therefore their graphs are not given. Both functions change the sign once in the selected frequency range. The condition of zero opening functions at the delamination edges is quite accurate, despite a fairly simple approximation of the disclosure functions. According to the results of computational experiments, it is established that the laws of change in the opening functions depend on the external load application area. In particular, for the load located symmetrically relative to the centre of the delamination, the functions $\chi_1(y)$, $\chi_2(y)$ also possess a certain symmetry.

4 Inverse Problem

Now we state the inverse problem when it is required to find the complete vector of the unknowns (X_1, X_2, X_3, X_4) , the transforms of which satisfy the boundary value problem (2)–(3) and functions $g_1(x)$, $g_2(x)$ according to the information on the radial displacement field at the outer boundary of the waveguide in a bounded region $y \in [y_1, y_2]$ far from the oscillation source

$$X_1(1, y) = \Omega(y), \ y \in [y_1, y_2], \ y_1 > 0$$
(25)

We introduce the residual functional

$$J = \max |X_1(1, y) - \Omega(y)|, \ y \in [y_1, y_2]$$
(26)

where in order to calculate $X_1(1, y)$ we use formula (11)

As additional information $\Omega(y)$, we calculate the field of radial displacements for functions describing a homogeneous inner layer and an inhomogeneous outer one

$$g_{1} = \begin{cases} 1.5, & x < \xi_{1} \\ 1.5 + 1.5 (x - \xi_{1}) (1 - \xi_{1})^{-1}, & x \ge \xi_{1} \end{cases},$$
$$g_{2} = \begin{cases} 1, & x < \xi_{1} \\ 1 + 2 (x - \xi_{1}) (1 - \xi_{1})^{-1}, & x \ge \xi_{1} \end{cases}, \xi_{1} = 0.975, \xi_{0} = 0.75$$

Let us minimize the residual functional in a fairly simple class of piecewise constant functions in the framework of the following parameterization containing two parameters F_1 , F_2 :

$$g_1 = \begin{cases} 1.5, \ x < \xi_1 \\ F_1, \ x \ge \xi_1 \end{cases}, g_2 = \begin{cases} 1, \ x < \xi_1 \\ F_2, \ x \ge \xi_1 \end{cases}$$
These functions describe the laws of inhomogeneity variation in a two-layer waveguide: the inner and outer layers are considered to be homogeneous.

As a result of minimization of the functional J, one minimum was found that corresponds to the following parameter values $F_1 = 2.65$, $F_2 = 2.08$.

In the calculations, the following parameter values c = 0.1, d = 1, $\kappa = 15$ were used. The selected frequency parameter corresponds to three propagating modes.

5 Conclusion

A problem of steady-state forced oscillations for a hollow cylindrical inhomogeneous waveguide in the radial direction is solved on the basis of the integral Fourier transform and numerical analysis of auxiliary boundary value problems using the shooting method. The comparative calculations of the dispersion curves for a variety of different inhomogeneity laws of a waveguide are conducted. For a waveguide with an annular delamination, a system of integral equations for radial and longitudinal displacement jumps is formulated. The system is reduced to a linear algebraic system on the basis of ideology of the boundary element method. The opening displacement functions are constructed; the accuracy of their determination depending on the number of boundary elements used is analyzed. A simple inverse problem on reconstruction of two parameters characterizing laws of material inhomogeneity in a two-layer waveguide is solved.

Acknowledgement This work is supported by the Russian Science Foundation, project # 18-11-00069.

References

- Meleshko, V.V., Bondarenko, A.A., Dovgiy, S.A., et al.: Elastic waveguides: history and the state of the art. I. J. Math. Sci. 162, 99–120 (2009). https://doi.org/10.1007/s10958-009-9623-8
- Hasheminejad, S.M., Ahamdi-Savadkoohi, A.: Vibro-acoustic behavior of a hollow FGM cylinder excited by on-surface mechanical drives. Compos. Struct. 92, 86–96 (2010). https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.compstruct.2009.06.014
- El-Raheb, M.: Transient waves in an inhomogeneous hollow infinite cylinder. Int. J. Solids Struct. 42, 5356–5376 (2005). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijsolstr.2005.02.030
- Elmaimouni, L., Lefebvre, J.E., Zhang, V., Gryba, T.: Guided waves in radially graded cylinders: a polynomial approach. NDT&E Int. 38, 344–353 (2005). https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ndteint.2004.10.004
- Vatul'yan, A.O., Yurov, V.O.: Analysis of forced vibrations in a functionally gradient cylindrical waveguide. Acoust. Phys. 64(6), 649–656 (2018). https://doi.org/10.1134/ S1063771019010147
- Vatul'yan, A.O., Yavruyan, O.V.: An asymptotic approach in problems of crack identification. J. Appl. Math. Mech. 70(4), 647–656 (2006). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jappmathmech.2006.09. 015

- Gravenkamp, H., Birk, C., Song, Ch.: Simulation of elastic guided waves interacting with defects in arbitrarily long structures using the Scaled Boundary Finite Element Method. J. Comput. Phys. 295(15), 438–455 (2015). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcp.2015.04.032
- Glushkov, E.V., Glushkova, N.V., Golub, M.V., Zhang, Ch.: Resonance blocking of travelling waves by a system of cracks in an elastic layer. Acoust. Phys. 55(1), 8–16 (2009). https://doi. org/10.1134/S1063771009010023
- Gockenbach, M.S., Jadamba, B., Khan, A.A.: Equation error approach for elliptic inverse problems with an application to the identification of Lamé parameters. Inverse Prob. Sci. Eng., 349–367 (2008). https://doi.org/10.1080/17415970701602580
- Jadamba, B., Khan, A.A., Racity, F.: On the inverse problem of identifying Lamé coefficients in linear elasticity. J. Comput. Math. Appl. 56, 431–443 (2008). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.camwa. 2007.12.016
- Mei, Y., Fulmer, R., Raja, V., Wang, S., Goenezen, S.: Estimating the non-homogeneous elastic modulus distribution from surface deformations. Int. J. Solids Struct. 83, 73–80 (2016). https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.ijsolstr.2016.01.001
- Eremin, A.A., Glushkov, E.V., Glushkova, N.V., Lammering, R.: Evaluation of effective elastic properties of layered composite fiber-reinforced plastic plates by piezoelectrically induced guided waves and laser Doppler vibrometry. Compos. Struct. 125, 449–458 (2015). https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.compstruct.2015.02.029
- 13. Kecs, W., Teodorescu, P.: Introducere in teoria distributiilor cu aplicati in tehnica. Editura Tehnica, Bucuresti (1975)
- 14. Belotserkovsky, S.M., Lifanov, I.K.: Method of Discrete Vortices, vol. 464. CRC Press, New York (1993)

Solution of a Class of First-Order Quasilinear Partial Differential Equations



M. Yu. Zhukov and E. V. Shiryaeva

Abstract A method for constructing a solution for some systems of first-order quasilinear partial differential equations is presented. The type of equations can either be hyperbolic or elliptic. The method is based on the application of the generalized hodograph method, which allows us to write the solution in an implicit form. There is a system of first-order linear partial differential equations that is used for commuting flows in the generalized hodograph method. We discover an analogy between the commuting flows and divided differences for the Hermite polynomial. This analogy allows us to obtain an explicit representation for commuting flows. The introduction of new (Lagrangian) variables, which are conserved on the characteristics of the original system, suggests a way to transform the solution of the Cauchy problem for first-order quasilinear partial differential equations to the solution of the Cauchy problem for ordinary differential equations. Numerical, and in some cases analytical, integration of the Cauchy problem makes it possible to construct explicit solutions of the problem on the level lines (isochrons) of the implicit solution. The method proposed is significantly different from the grid method, finite element method, finite volume method, and, in fact, is more precise. The error of the solution can arise only at the last stage in the numerical integration of the Cauchy problem for ordinary differential equations. Moreover, the method allows us to obtain multivalued solutions, in particular, to study the process of

M. Yu. Zhukov (🖂)

Southern Mathematical Institute of the Vladikavkaz Scientific Center, RAS, Vladikavkaz, Russia

E. V. Shiryaeva

© The Editor(s) (if applicable) and The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

331

The research is supported by the Government of the Russian Federation, contract No. 075-15-2019-1928.

Institute of Mathematics, Mechanics and Computer Science Named After I. I. Vorovich, Southern Federal University, Rostov-on-Don, Russia

Institute of Mathematics, Mechanics and Computer Science Named After I. I. Vorovich, Southern Federal University, Rostov-on-Don, Russia

A. G. Kusraev, Z. D. Totieva (eds.), *Operator Theory and Differential Equations*, Trends in Mathematics, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-49763-7_22

wave breaking in hyperbolic systems. Particular cases of the equations considered here describe diffusion-free approximation in a wide range of mass transport processes in multicomponent mixtures, such as electrophoresis, chromatography, centrifugation. As a simple example, the solution of the electrophoresis problem (separation multicomponent mixture to individual component) is presented.

Keywords Generalized hodograph method \cdot Commuting flows \cdot Divided difference

Mathematical Subject Classification (2000) 35L45, 35L40, 35L65

1 Introduction

PhD thesis [1], in particular, developed the theory of solutions of the Cauchy problem for ε -systems, some class of the hydrodynamic type systems (first-order quasilinear equations). For such systems the implicit solution is constructed with the help of the generalized hodograph method (see, for example, [2]). In particular, the class of ε -systems includes equations written in the Riemann invariants (diagonalized) which have the form

$$\partial_t R^k + \lambda^k (\mathbf{R}) \partial_x R^k = 0, \quad \mathbf{R} = (R^1, \dots, R^n), \quad k = 1, \dots, n.$$

$$\lambda^k = R^k \left(\prod_{i=1}^n R^i\right)^{\varepsilon}.$$

Here, R^k are the Riemann invariants (the superscript corresponds to the number of the invariant, not to its degree), λ^k are the characteristic directions.

The generalized hodograph method allows us to write the solution in an implicit form

$$x - \lambda^i(\mathbf{R})t = w^i(\mathbf{R}), \quad i = 1, \dots, n,$$

where $w^{i}(\mathbf{R})$ are the commuting flows which satisfy to some system of the linear partial differential equations [2]

$$\frac{\partial_i w^k}{w^i - w^k} = \frac{\partial_j \lambda^k}{\lambda^j - \lambda^k}, \quad i \neq j \neq k, \quad \partial_i = \frac{\partial}{\partial R^i}.$$

In general case, the solution of this system is impossible to obtain. However, if the relations

$$\frac{\partial_k \lambda^i}{\lambda^k - \lambda^i} = \frac{\varepsilon}{R^i - R^k}, \quad i \neq k,$$

which are the definition of ε -system, are satisfied, then in the case of integers $\varepsilon = 1, 2...$ the commuting flows w^k have the form

$$w^{k} = \lambda^{k} \frac{\partial H}{\partial R^{k}},$$
$$H(\mathbf{R}) = \frac{1}{(m-1)!} \sum_{j=1}^{n} \frac{\partial^{m-1}}{\partial (R^{j})^{m-1}} \frac{A^{j}(R^{j})}{\prod\limits_{s=1, s \neq j}^{n} (R^{j} - R^{s})^{m}}, \quad m = \varepsilon.$$

where $A^{j}(R^{j})$ are the arbitrary functions defined by initial conditions of the original equations.

The main objective of the paper is to obtain the explicit formulas for functions $A^{j}(R^{j})$ in the case $m \ge 1$. This result generalizes the relations obtained in [3, 4] when m = 1. In addition, a method for solving the Cauchy problem which allows us to construct an explicit solution, at least for isolines of the implicit solution, is presented. For the electrophoresis problem (m = 1) this algorithm was proposed in [4]. Note that systems of quasilinear equations can be of both hyperbolic and elliptic types. For the elliptic type equations the method of constructing solutions for the case m = 2, m = 1 is presented in [5].

The paper is organized as follows. In Sect. 2 the Cauchy problem for the quasilinear equations is formulated. In Sect. 3 for constructing the function $H(\mathbf{R})$ we use an analogy between function $H(\mathbf{R})$ and divided difference for some Hermite polynomial. On the basis of initial data for Cauchy problem we obtain functions $A^k(\mathbf{R}^k)$. In fact, in Sect. 3 an implicit solution of the original Cauchy problem is presented. In Sect. 4 we introduce the Lagrangian variables and present the analytical-numerical method for constructing explicit solutions of the original problem. Section 5 contains an example of the solution for the problem of the mass transfer by an electric field.

2 Cauchy Problem

We consider the Cauchy problem for a system of quasilinear equations

,

$$\partial_{t} R^{k} + \lambda^{k} (\mathbf{R}) \partial_{x} R^{k} = 0, \qquad (1)$$

$$= R^{k} \left(\prod_{j=1}^{n} R^{j} \right)^{m}, \quad k = 1, \dots, n, \quad m = 1, 2, \dots$$

$$R^{k} (x, 0) = R_{0}^{k} (x), \quad k = 1, \dots, n, \qquad (2)$$

where $R_0^k(x)$ are given functions.

 λ^k

Implicit solution of the system (1) can be written as [2]

$$x - \lambda^{i}(\boldsymbol{R})t = w^{i}(\boldsymbol{R}), \quad i = 1, \dots, n,$$
(3)

where $w^i(\mathbf{R})$ are commuting flows which have the form [1]

$$w^{k} = \lambda^{k} \frac{\partial H}{\partial R^{k}},\tag{4}$$

$$H(\mathbf{R}) = \frac{1}{(m-1)!} \sum_{j=1}^{n} \frac{\partial^{m-1}}{\partial (R^{j})^{m-1}} \frac{A^{j}(R^{j})}{\prod\limits_{\substack{s=1\\s \neq j}}^{n} (R^{j} - R^{s})^{m}}.$$
 (5)

Here, $A^{j}(R^{j})$ are the arbitrary functions.

To determine the functions $A^k(r^k)$ we assume t = 0 in (3). Taking into account (4), (5) we obtain the first-order linear partial differential equation system

$$\frac{x}{r^{k}\prod_{s=1}^{n}(r^{s})^{m}} = \frac{\partial H}{\partial r^{k}}, \quad k = 1, \dots, n,$$
(6)
$$H = \frac{1}{(m-1)!} \sum_{k=1}^{n} \frac{\partial^{m-1}}{\partial (r^{k})^{m-1}} \frac{A^{k}(r^{k})}{\prod\limits_{\substack{s=1\\s \neq k}}^{n} (r^{k} - r^{s})^{m}}.$$

Here,

$$r^{k} = R_{0}^{k}(x), \quad \frac{\partial}{\partial r^{k}} = \left. \frac{\partial}{\partial R^{k}} \right|_{t=0}$$

Multiplying each equation (6) by $dr^k(x)/dx$, summing and integrating we get

$$\sum_{k=1}^{n} \frac{x}{r^{k} \prod_{s=1}^{n} (r^{s})^{m}} \frac{dr^{k}}{dx} = \frac{dH}{dx},$$

$$H = -\frac{x}{m \prod_{s=1}^{n} (r^{s}(x))^{m}} + \frac{1}{m} \int_{0}^{x} \frac{d\tau}{\prod_{s=1}^{n} (r^{s}(\tau))^{m}}.$$
(7)

3 Analogy Between Solution and Divided Difference

To solve the system (6) we use the analogy between the function H and divided differences for Hermite polynomial with multiple points. We recall the formula for divided difference (see, e.g., [6, formula (57)])

$$F(\underbrace{z_1, \dots, z_1}_{\alpha_1}, \dots, \underbrace{z_k, \dots, z_k}_{\alpha_k}, \dots, \underbrace{z_n, \dots, z_n}_{\alpha_n}) =$$
(8)
$$= \sum_{i=1}^n \sum_{j=1}^{\alpha_i - 1} \frac{1}{(\alpha_i - 1)!} \frac{d^{\alpha_j - 1}}{dz^{\alpha_j - 1}} \left[\frac{F(z)}{\prod\limits_{s \neq i} (z - z_s)^m} \right]_{z = z_i}.$$

We construct the Hermite interpolation polynomial for function F(r) using *m*-fold points r^k , k = 1, ..., n, and 1-fold point $r^{n+1} = 0$. We assume that at each point r^k the values of the function rA(r) and its derivatives are given as

$$\frac{d^{i}F(r)}{d(r)^{i}}\Big|_{r=r^{k}} = \frac{d^{i}(rA(r))}{d(r)^{i}}\Big|_{r=r^{k}}, \quad k = 1, \dots, n, \quad i = 1, \dots, m.$$
(9)

Then the divided difference constructed on all points r^k , k = 1, ..., n + 1 can be written in the following form

$$F(r^{1}, \dots, r^{1}, \dots, r^{n}, \dots, r^{n}, r^{n+1}) =$$

$$= \frac{m}{(m-1)!} \sum_{k=1}^{n} \frac{\partial^{m-1}}{\partial (r^{k})^{m-1}} \frac{A^{k}(r^{k})}{\prod\limits_{s \neq i} (r^{k} - r^{s})^{m}} + (-1)^{n} \frac{F(0)}{\prod\limits_{s=1}^{n} (r^{s})^{m}}.$$
(10)

The first summand in the right part of (10) coincides with the function H defined by the formula (6). If we select F(0) as

$$F(0) = (-1)^n x,$$
(11)

then the divided difference (10) coincides with (7).

Hence, we have

$$F(r^{1}, \dots, r^{1}, \dots, r^{n}, \dots, r^{n}, r^{n+1}) = \int_{0}^{x} \frac{d\tau}{\prod_{s=1}^{n} (r^{s}(\tau))^{m}}.$$
 (12)

Next, we assume that the function F(z) is a polynomial which naturally coincides with the interpolation Hermite polynomial

$$F(z) = \dots + F(r^{1}, \dots, r^{1}, \dots, r^{n}, \dots, r^{n}, r^{n+1}) \prod_{s=1}^{n} (z - r^{s})^{m} =$$
$$= \sum_{k=0}^{nm} (-1)^{k+n} F_{k}(x) z^{k}.$$

Here F_k are the polynomial coefficients.

In particular, taking into account (12) we get

$$F_{nm}(x) = \int_{0}^{x} \frac{d\tau}{\prod_{s=1}^{n} (r^{s}(\tau))^{m}}, \quad F_{0} = F(0) = (-1)^{n} x.$$

All the other polynomial coefficients can be written with the help of the formula (8) (see for example [4], where the coefficients are given in the case m = 1).

Thus, there is a polynomial F(z), which due to the choice of its values in the interpolation points (9) is associated with system (6) for the determination of $A^k(r^k)$. The relations (6) can be interpreted as the definition of the function $x = x(r^1, ..., r^n)$.

To obtain the functions $A^k(r^k)$ we use formula (9)

$$r^{k}A^{k}(r^{k}) = F(r^{k}) = \sum_{i=0}^{nm} (-1)^{i+n} F_{i}(x(r^{1}, \dots, r^{n}))(r^{k})^{i}.$$

However, A^k depends only on r^k . In other words, the explicit dependence on the variable x for functions $A^k(r^k)$ must be absent, i.e. *partial derivative* of x must be zero

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial x} \left(r^k A^k(r^k) \right) = \sum_{i=0}^{nm} (-1)^{i+n} \frac{dF_i(x)}{dx} (r^k(x))^i \equiv 0, \quad k = 1, \dots, n.$$
(13)

If we interpret r^k as polynomial roots, then the relation (13) is valid only in the case when the polynomial coefficients are its invariants which depends on roots of the polynomial

$$\frac{dF_k(x)}{dx} = I_k(x), \quad k = 0, \dots, nm,$$

where

$$I_0(x) = 1, \quad I_1(x) = m \sum_{k=1}^n \frac{1}{r^k(x)}, \dots$$
$$I_{nm-1}(x) = \frac{m \sum_{k=1}^n r^k(x)}{\prod_{s=1}^n (r^s(x))^m}, \quad I_{nm}(x) = \frac{1}{\prod_{s=1}^n (r^s(x))^m}.$$

Note that for the convenience of computing polynomial invariants with *m*-fold roots one can use 'splitting' of the roots r^k , $r^k + \theta$, ... $r^k + (m - 1)\theta$, compute the usual invariants of the polynomial, and then pass to the limit at $\theta \to 0$.

Finally, the relations for $A^k(r^k)$ have the following form

$$A^{k}(r^{k}(x)) = \frac{1}{r^{k}(x)} \sum_{s=0}^{nm} (-1)^{s+n} (r^{k}(x))^{s} \int_{0}^{x} I_{s}(\tau) d\tau.$$
(14)

We obtain the solution of the Cauchy problem (1), (2) in the implicit form (3), (4), (5) using the changes of variables $r^k(x) = R_0^k(x)$, $x = (r^k(x))^{-1}$ in the formulas (14).

$$A^{k}(R_{0}^{k}(x)) = \frac{1}{R_{0}^{k}(x)} \sum_{s=0}^{nm} (-1)^{s+n} (R_{0}^{k}(x))^{s} \int_{0}^{(R_{0}^{k}(x))^{-1}} I_{s}(\tau) d\tau.$$

Here, $(R_0^k(x))^{-1}$ is the inverse function.

Certainly, the presence of the inverse function imposes significant restrictions on the initial data of the Cauchy problem.

4 Lagrangian Variables

To remove restrictions on the initial data (the existence of inverse functions) we look for an explicit solution of the Cauchy problem (1), (2) in the following form (see [3])

$$R^{k} = R_0^{k}(a^{k}) \equiv r^{k} \equiv r^{k}(a^{k}), \quad k = 1, \dots, n,$$

where a^k are the Lagrangian variables which satisfy the equations

$$a_t^k + \lambda^k(\mathbf{a})a_x^k = 0, \quad \mathbf{a} = (a^1, \dots, a^n), \quad a^k(x, 0) = x, \quad k = 1, \dots, n.$$

For new variables the characteristic directions λ^k and the hodograph method relations (3) have the following form

$$\lambda^{k}(\boldsymbol{a}) = \lambda^{k}(\boldsymbol{r}(\boldsymbol{a})), \quad x - \lambda^{k}(\boldsymbol{r}(\boldsymbol{a}))t = w^{k}(\boldsymbol{r}(\boldsymbol{a})), \quad k = 1, \dots, n.$$
(15)

Taking into account (15), (4), (5) we construct functions $t_k(a)$

$$t_k(\boldsymbol{a}) \equiv \frac{w^{k+1} - w^k}{\lambda^k - \lambda^{k+1}}, \quad k = 1, \dots, n-1.$$

We parametrize the level lines of functions $t_k(a)$ (isochron $t_k(a) = t_*$). Assuming that $a^k = a^k(\mu)$ holds on these lines we obtain the equation system

$$t_* = t_k(\boldsymbol{a}(\mu)), \quad k = 1, \dots, N-1$$

Differentiation of these equations by the parameter μ allows us to obtain the Cauchy problem for the system of ordinary differential equations

$$\frac{da^{i}}{d\mu} = \varphi^{i}(a), \quad a^{i}(\mu_{*}) = a^{i}_{*}, \quad i = 1, \dots, n,$$
(16)

where a_i^* is the value of a_i at some point of isochron $\mu = \mu_*, \varphi^i(a)$ is the eigenvector of the matrix $\partial t_k / \partial a^i$ (an arbitrary multiplier that arises in the determination of eigenvectors can be included in the parameter μ).

Integrating the Cauchy problem (16) allows us to get the solution of the problem on isochron

$$R^k(x, t_*) = R_0^k(a^k(\mu)), \quad k = 1, \dots, n.$$

Integrating the Cauchy problem we choose the function $A^k(r^k)$ in the form (cf. with (14), see also [3])

$$A^{k}(r^{k}(a^{k})) = \frac{1}{r^{k}(a^{k})} \sum_{s=0}^{nm} (-1)^{s+n} (r^{k}(a^{k}))^{s} \int_{0}^{a^{k}} I_{s}(\tau) d\tau.$$

Thus, the introduction of Lagrangian variables allows us to remove restrictions for initial data of the Cauchy problem. In particular, one can construct solutions described by the multivalued functions.

5 Mass Transport by an Electric Field

An example of an applied problem, for which the theory developed in the work is applicable, is the description of mass transport by an electric field, in particular, by electrophoresis. The system of the first-order quasilinear hyperbolic equations (hyperbolic conservation laws), describing diffusion-less approximation of mass transport in multicomponent mixtures, such as electrophoresis, chromatography, centrifugation, sedimentation, in dimensionless variables in the spatially one-dimensional case has the form (see, e.g. [5, 7])

$$\partial_t u^k + \partial_x (\mu^k u^k E) = 0, \quad k = 1, \dots, n,$$
(17)

where $u^k(x, t)$ are the concentrations of mixture components, μ^k are the component velocities, $E(u^1, \ldots, u^n)$ is the intensity of the external field.

A characteristic feature of the system (17) is the dependence of the external field intensity *E* on the 'collective' interaction component

$$E = \frac{1}{1+s}, \quad s = \sum_{k=1}^{n} u^{k}.$$
 (18)

System (17), (18) can by written in the Riemann invariants R^k

$$\partial_t R^k + \lambda^k (\boldsymbol{R}) \partial_x R^k = 0, \quad \boldsymbol{R} = (R^1, \dots, R^n), \tag{19}$$
$$\lambda^k = R^k \prod_{i=1}^n R^i, \quad k = 1, \dots, n.$$

The dependence $R^k(u^1, \ldots, u^n)$ and the inverse dependence $u^k(R^1, \ldots, R^n)$ are defined by the roots of the polynomial L(R) and relations [5, 7, 8]

$$L(R) \equiv \prod_{k=1}^{n} (\mu^{k} - R) - R \sum_{j=1}^{n} u^{j} \prod_{\substack{k=1 \ k \neq j}}^{n} (\mu^{k} - R),$$
$$u^{s} = \frac{\prod_{k=1}^{n} \mu^{k} \prod_{k=1}^{n} (\mu^{s} - R^{k})}{\mu^{s} \prod_{k=1}^{n} R^{k} \prod_{\substack{k=1 \ k \neq s}}^{n} (\mu^{s} - \mu^{k})}.$$

It is obvious that system (19) coincides with (1) at m = 1. For a detailed study of this case with arbitrary n, see in [4]. At n = 2 quasilinear system of equations (17), (18) (including the case of elliptic type equations) are studied in [5].

To illustrate the method proposed we consider the simplest version of the separation problem for a binary mixture. To calculate the function $t_1(a)$ and commuting flows w^1 , w^2 we have the following relations

$$t_1(a^1, a^2) = \frac{w^1(\mathbf{r}) - w^2(\mathbf{r})}{(r^2 - r^1)r^1r^2}, \quad \mathbf{r} = (r^1, r^2).$$

For convenience we introduce the notation

$$P_{1} = \frac{1}{r^{2} - r^{1}}, \quad P_{2} = \frac{1}{r^{1} - r^{2}}.$$

$$F_{k0}(a^{k}) = \int_{a^{k}_{*}}^{a^{k}} \left(\frac{1}{R_{0}^{1}(z)} + \frac{1}{R_{0}^{2}(z)}\right) dz, \quad k = 1, 2.$$

$$F_{k1}(a^{k}) = \int_{a^{k}_{*}}^{a^{k}} \frac{dz}{R_{0}^{1}(z)R_{0}^{2}(z)}, \quad k = 1, 2.$$

Then, the functions A^1 , A^2 and their derivatives can be written as

$$A^{k}(a^{k}) = -\frac{a^{k}}{r^{k}} + F_{k0} - r^{k}F_{k1}, \quad k = 1, 2,$$
$$\frac{dA^{k}(a^{k})}{dr^{k}} = \frac{a^{k}}{(r^{k})^{2}} - F_{k1}, \quad k = 1, 2.$$

Calculating the derivatives of the function H we obtain

$$\frac{\partial H}{\partial r^1} = P_1 \left(\frac{dA^1}{dr^1} + \frac{A^1}{r^2 - r^1} \right) - \frac{A^2}{r^1 - r^2} P_2,$$

$$\frac{\partial H}{\partial r^2} = P_2 \left(\frac{dA_2}{dr^2} + \frac{A^2}{r^1 - r^2} \right) - \frac{A^1}{r^2 - r^1} P_1.$$

Commuting flows have the following form

$$w^{k} = r^{k} r^{1} r^{2} \frac{\partial H}{\partial r^{k}}, \quad k = 1, 2.$$

In case n = 2 the Cauchy problem (16) can be written as

$$\frac{da^1}{d\mu} = \frac{\partial t_1}{\partial a^2}, \quad \frac{da^2}{d\mu} = -\frac{\partial t_1}{\partial a^1}, \qquad a^1(\mu_*) = a_*^1, \qquad a^2(\mu_*) = a_*^2$$

Calculating functions $a^{1}(\mu)$, $a^{2}(\mu)$ we get an explicit solution of the original problem on isochron

$$R^{1}(x, t_{*}) = R^{1}_{0}(a^{1}(\mu)), \quad R^{2}(x, t_{*}) = R^{2}_{0}(a^{2}(\mu)).$$

References

- 1. Pavlov, M.V.: Integrable systems of hydrodynamic type equations. PhD thesis: 01.04.02. P. N. Lebedev Physical Institute of the RAS, Moscow (1992, in Russian), 100 pp.
- 2. Tsarev, S.P.: The geometry of Hamiltonian systems of hydrodynamic type. The generalized hodograph method. Math. USSR-Izvestiya **37**(2), 397–419 (1991)
- Curro, C., Fusco, D., Manganaro, N.: Exact description of simple wave interactions in multicomponent chromatography. J. Phys. A: Math. Theor. 48, 015201, 25 pp. (2015)
- Zhukov, M.Yu., Shiryaeva, E.V., Shchitov, F.A.: Constructing an explicit solution for some class quasilinear equation. In: Proceedings of the XVIII International Conference 'Modern Problems of Continuum Mechanics', pp. 199–204. SFedU, Rostov-on-Don (2016, in Russian)
- 5. Zhukov, M.Yu., Shiryaeva, E.V., Dolgikh, T.F.: Hodograph Method for Solving Hyperbolic and Elliptic Quasilinear Equations, 126 pp. SFedU Press, Rostov-on-Don (2015, in Russian)
- 6. Gelfond, A.O.: Calculus of Finite Difference, 400 pp. Nauka, Moscow (1959, in Russian)
- 7. Zhukov, M.Yu.: Masstransport Under the Action of an Electric Field, 215 pp. RGU Press, Rostov-on-Don (2005, in Russian)
- 8. Ferapontov, E.V., Tsarev, S.P.: Hydrodynamic-type systems arising in gas chromatography. Riemann invariants and exact solutions. Math. Model. **3**(2), 82–91 (1991, in Russian)